

Meridium APM Reliability Analytics

3.6.1.2.0

Copyright and Legal



Meridium APM Reliability Analytics

3.6.1.2.0

Copyright © Meridium, Inc. 2017

All rights reserved. Printed in the U.S.A.

This software/documentation contains proprietary information of Meridium, Inc.; it is provided under a license agreement containing restrictions on use and disclosure. All rights including reproduction by photographic or electronic process and translation into other languages of this material are fully reserved under copyright laws. Reproduction or use of this material in whole or in part in any manner without written permission from Meridium, Inc. is strictly prohibited.

Meridium is a registered trademark of Meridium, Inc.

All trade names referenced are the service mark, trademark or registered trademark of the respective manufacturer.

About This Document

This file is provided so that you can easily print this section of the Meridium APM Help system.

You should, however, use the Help system instead of a printed document. This is because the Help system provides hyperlinks that will assist you in easily locating the related instructions that you need. Such links are not available in a print document format.

The Meridium APM Help system can be accessed within Meridium APM itself or via the Meridium APM Documentation Website (<u>https://www.me</u>-ridium.com/documentation/WebHelp/WebHelpMaster.htm).

Note: If you do not have access to the Meridium APM Documentation Website, contact <u>Meridium Global Support Services</u>.

Table of Contents

Meridium APM Reliability Analytics	1
Copyright and Legal	2
About This Document	
Table of Contents	4
What Is Reliability Analytics?	
Reliability Analytics System Requirements	29
About the Reliability Analytics Data Model	
Production Analysis Data Model	31
Spares Analysis Data Model	32
Reliability Growth Analysis Data Model	34
Reliability Distribution Analysis Data Model	
Probability Distribution Analysis Data Model	
System Reliability Data Model	
Cost of Unreliability Data Model	40
What is Failure Data?	41
Supplying Failure Data to Meridium APM Reliability	42
The Importance of Failure Modes	44
About Failure Probability	45
Accessing Reliability Analytics in the Meridium APM Framework	
Aspects of the Reliability Analytics Start Page	47
First-Time Deployment Workflow	49
Upgrade or Update Reliability Analytics to 3.6.1.2.0	51
Reliability Analytics Security	53
Modifying the Reliability List Queries	58
About Creating a Reliability Analysis from an Associated Page	59
About the Baseline Associated Page Queries	60
Modifying the Associated Page Queries	62
Creating Associated Pages That Can Be Used to Create Analyses	63

What Are Reliability Automation Rules?	66
Reliability Automation Rule Data Model	67
About Creating Queries for Use with the Rule Builder	68
Accessing the List of Reliability Automation Rules	70
Aspects of the Automation Rule List Screen Page	71
Rules List Tasks Menu	73
Common Tasks Menu	74
About Creating a New Reliability Automation Rule	75
Creating a Rule Based on a Query	76
Creating a Rule Based on Equipment/Location-Event Data Structure	
Accessing an Existing Reliability Automation Rule	90
Aspects of the Reliability Automation Rule Summary Screen	91
Rule Tasks Menu	
Common Tasks Menu	94
Displaying a Preview of the Analysis Failure Data	95
Merging Analyses	96
Undoing a Merge	98
Executing Reliability Automation Rules	
Deleting Reliability Automation Rules	100
Parameters for the Reliability Automation Rules URL	101
Examples of Reliability Automation Rules URLs	
About Navigating the Reliability Analytics Module	
Using the Reliability Analytics Site Map	
What is a Production Analysis?	105
Data Used in a Production Analysis	
Production Analysis Workflow	108
Example of a Production Process	109
Using the Production Analysis Builder	110
Creating a Production Analysis from a Query or Dataset	111
Creating a Production Analysis from Manually Entered Data	117

Accessing the List of Production Analyses	
Aspects of the List of Production Analyses	
Plots Menu	
Common Tasks Menu	126
Opening an Existing Production Analysis	
Opening Multiple Existing Production Analyses	
Aspects of the Production Analysis Page	131
Analysis Tasks Menu	132
Analysis Settings Menu	134
Common Tasks Menu	135
Associated Pages Menu	
About the Production Analysis Plot	137
About the Process Reliability Line	139
Defining the Process Reliability Line	
Types of Production Lines	
About the Demonstrated Line	142
About the Nameplate Line	143
About the Custom Line	145
Using Regression Fit	147
Drawing a Line Manually	149
Selecting a Point and Specifying Beta	
Specifying Beta and Eta Values	152
Grouping Production Data	154
What is a Breakpoint?	155
Creating a Breakpoint	157
Removing a Breakpoint	158
About the Edit Production Data Window	
Data Mapped to the Edit Production Data Window	
Accessing the Production Data	
A an a star of the Calit Due due tion Mindow	162

Changing the Minimum Production Output	164
Changing the Unit of Measure	
Changing the Margin Value	
Changing the Margin Currency	167
About the Production Loss Regions Window	
About the Production Lines Window	
Hiding and Displaying the Production Analysis Details	
Ignoring Production Output Values	
Overview of the Production Analysis Report	
Running the Production Analysis Report	
Analysis Summary Section	177
Production Lines Section	
Production Loss Regions Section	
Production Weibull Plot Section	
Production Data Section	
Results of a Production Analysis	
What is a Spares Analysis?	
Spares Analysis Workflow	
Example of a Spares Analysis	
Spares Analysis Example Data	
Spare Analysis Record Data	
Spare Record Data	
Spare Application Record Data	
Spare Application Population Record Data	
Accessing the List of Spares Analyses	
Aspects of the List of Spares Analyses	
Common Tasks Menu	
Opening an Existing Spares Analysis	
Creating a New Spares Analysis	
Aspects of the Spares Analysis Page	

Tools Menu	
Navigation Menu	
Common Tasks Menu	
Associated Pages Menu	210
About the Spares Analysis Workspace	211
Aspects of the Spares Analysis Tree	213
Copying and Pasting Records in the Spares Analysis Tree	214
Deleting a Record from the Spares Analysis Tree	215
Aspects of the Details Area	216
Aspects of the Details Area of a Spares Analysis Record	217
Aspects of the Details Area of a Spare Record	218
Aspects of the Details Area of a Spare Application Record	219
Creating a Spares Analysis Record	
Analysis Section	223
Simulation Options Section	224
Deleting a Spares Analysis	225
Overview of Spare Records	
Creating a Spare Record	227
Aspects of a Spare Record	
Deleting a Spare Record	230
Overview of Spare Application Records	231
Creating a Spare Application Record	
Application Section	234
Failure Distributions Section	
Failure Consequence Section	238
Preventive Maintenance Section	
About Defining Failure Distribution Information	
Defining Failure Distribution Information Manually	
Importing Failure Distribution Information	244
Refreshing Failure Distribution Information	247

Deleting a Spare Application Record	
Overview of Spare Application Population Records	249
Creating a Spare Application Population Record	
Aspects of Spare Application Population Records	251
Deleting a Spare Application Population Record	
About Monte Carlo Simulations	253
Running a Monte Carlo Simulation	255
Interpreting Spares Analysis Results in the Dataset Editor	
Exporting the Analysis Results to a File	260
Overview of the Event Log	
Creating and Saving the Event Log	264
Specifying the Number of Iterations	265
Aspects of the Event Log	
Time Column of the Event Log	
Application Column of the Event Log	
Event Column of the Event Log	
Spares in Stock Column of the Event Log	271
Spares in Order Column of the Event Log	272
Overview of the Spares Analysis Report	273
Running the Spares Analysis Report	274
Analysis Properties Section	
Spare Properties Section	276
About the Application Properties Section	278
Properties Grid	279
Failure Distribution Grid	
Failure Consequence Grid	281
Preventative Maintenance Grid	
Plots Section	
Error Symbol in Spares Analyses	
Interpreting the Spares Analysis Example	

Interpreting the Spare Level Plots	286
Interpreting the Downtime Plots	289
Interpreting the Spare Usage Plots	293
Interpreting the Sensitivity Plots	296
Interpreting the Optimal Holding Plots	299
About the Spares Analysis Plots	302
Spare Level Plot	303
Downtime Plot	305
Spare Usage Plot	307
Sensitivity Plot	309
Optimal Holding Plot	311
What is a Reliability Growth Analysis?	313
Types of Reliability Growth Analyses	314
About Data Used in Reliability Growth Analyses	315
About Reliability Growth	318
Example of an Analysis Using Event Dates	319
Example of an Analysis Using Cumulative Operating Time	321
Example of an Analysis Using Grouped and Non-Event Data	323
Reliability Growth Analysis Workflow	325
Accessing the List of Growth Analyses	326
Aspects of the Growth Analysis List Page	327
Plots Menu	329
Common Tasks Menu	330
Opening an Existing Reliability Growth Analysis	331
Accessing the Reliability Growth Builder	333
Using the Reliability Growth Builder	334
Creating a Growth Analysis Derived from Failure Dates	335
Creating a Growth Analysis Derived From COT	339
Creating a Growth Analysis From Non-Event and Grouped Data (Cost)	343
Creating Reliability Growth Analyses from an Associated Page	347

Welcome Screen	349
Select Data Source Type Screen	
Data Source Screen	
Select Data Format Screen	
Select Data Fields Screen	
Provide Information for Downtime Screen	357
Analysis Start Time Screen	
The <measurement> Data Grid</measurement>	
Aspects of the Reliability Growth Analysis Page (Event-Based)	
Aspects of the Reliability Growth Analysis Page (Non-Event)	
Plots Menu	
Current Analysis Menu	
Common Tasks Menu	
Specifying Time Units	
Specifying the Analysis Period	
Specifying the Data Format for a Reliability Growth Analysis	
Accessing the AMSAA Detailed Results	
AMSAA Detailed Results (Event-Based)	
AMSAA Detailed Results (Non-Event)	
About the Measurement Data Window	
Data Mapped to the <measurement> Grid</measurement>	
Accessing the Measurement Data Window	
Failure Data Using Failure Dates	
Failure Data Using COT	
Cost Data	
Assets Tab	
What are the Results of a Reliability Growth Analysis?	
Accessing the Cumulative <measurement> Plot Page</measurement>	
Cumulative Failure Plot Using Failure Dates	
Cumulative Failure Plot Using COT	

Cumulative Cost Plot	401
Accessing the MTB <measurement> Plot Page</measurement>	403
MTBF Trend Graph Using Failure Dates	404
MTBF Trend Graph Using COT	405
MTBC Trend Graph	
Accessing the <measurement> Rate Plot Page</measurement>	
Failures Rate Trend Graph Using Failure Dates	408
Failures Rate Trend Graph Using COT	
Cost Rate Trend Graph	410
Accessing the Multiple Growth Analyses Page	411
Aspects of the Multiple Growth Analyses Page	413
Plots Menu	415
Common Tasks Menu	416
Goodness of Fit Test for a Growth Analysis	
About the Beta Value and MTBE	421
Splitting an Analysis Into Segments	
Estimating Data in the Future	424
Interpreting Extrapolation Results Using Failure Dates	
Interpreting Extrapolation Results Using COT	
Interpreting Extrapolation Results for Cost	431
Overview of the Reliability Growth Report	433
Running the Reliability Growth Report	434
Analysis Summary Section	436
Growth Model Segments Section	
Assets Section	
<measurement> Data Section</measurement>	
Plots Section	
Overview of Reliability Distribution Analysis	
Weibull Distribution	
Weibull Analysis Information	

Weibull Results Interpretation	451
Goodness of Fit (GOF) Tests for a Weibull Distribution	453
Normal Distribution	454
Lognormal Distribution	455
Exponential Distribution	456
Failure Data	457
Confidence Level and P-Value	458
Accessing the List of Reliability Distribution Analyses	
Aspects of the Reliability Distribution Analysis List	461
Plots Menu	463
Common Tasks Menu	464
Opening an Existing Reliability Distribution Analysis	465
Opening Multiple Existing Distribution Analyses	467
Using the Reliability Distribution Builder	469
Creating a Distribution Analysis from a Query or Dataset	470
Creating a Distribution Analysis from Manually Entered Data	477
Creating Distribution Analyses from an Associated Page	482
Overview of the Reliability Distribution Summary Page	
Analysis Information Section	486
Time to Failure Distribution Section	487
Time to Repair Distribution Section	488
Failure Data Section	489
Plots Menu	490
Tools Menu	491
Analysis Tasks Menu	492
Common Tasks Menu	494
Changing the Failure Type	495
Accessing the Time To Failure Distribution Page	496
Aspects of the Time To Failure Distribution Page	497
Accessing the Time To Repair Distribution Page	499

Aspects of the Time To Repair Distribution Page	500
Accessing the Failure History By Asset Timeline	502
Aspects of the Failure History By Asset Page	503
About the Failure Data Window	504
Data Mapped to the Failure Data Window	505
Accessing the Failure Data for a Distribution Analysis	506
Aspects of the Failure Data for a Distribution Analysis	507
About the Asset Data for a Distribution Analysis	509
Working with PM Optimization	511
Performing a Preventive Maintenance Optimization	512
Aspects of the Preventive Maintenance Optimization Page	514
About Failure Probability Calculations	515
Accessing the Failure Data for an Existing Analysis	516
Aspects of the Probability of Equipment Failure Page	518
Calculating the Drobability of Failure at a Specified Age	520
Calculating the Probability of Pallure at a Specified Age	
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached	521
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots	521
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot	521 522 523
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot	521 522 523 525
Calculating the Probability of Failure at a Specified Age Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot	521 522 523 525 526
Calculating the Probability of Failure at a Specified Age Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot	521 522 523 525 526 528
Calculating the Probability of Failure at a Specified Age Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report	521 522 523 525 526 528 530
Calculating the Probability of Pailure at a Specified Age Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report Running the Reliability Distribution Report	521 522 523 525 526 528 530 531
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report Running the Reliability Distribution Report Analysis Summary Section	521 522 523 525 526 528 530 531 533
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots	521 522 523 525 526 528 530 531 533
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report Running the Reliability Distribution Report Analysis Summary Section Statistical Distribution Information Section Distribution Subsection	521 522 523 525 526 528 530 531 533 535 536
Calculating the Probability of Pailure at a Specified Age Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report Running the Reliability Distribution Report Analysis Summary Section Statistical Distribution Information Section Distribution Subsection Parameters Subsection	521 522 523 525 526 526 530 531 533 535 536 537
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report Running the Reliability Distribution Report Analysis Summary Section Statistical Distribution Information Section Distribution Subsection Parameters Subsection	521 522 523 525 526 526 528 530 531 533 535 536 537 540
Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached About the Distribution Analysis Plots Probability Plot Failure Rate Plot PDF Plot CDF Plot Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report Running the Reliability Distribution Report Analysis Summary Section Statistical Distribution Information Section Distribution Subsection Parameters Subsection Assets Section	521 522 523 525 526 526 528 530 531 533 535 536 536 537 540 541

Plots Section	543
What are the Results of a Reliability Distribution Analysis?	544
Time to Failure	545
What is a Probability Distribution Analysis?	547
Data Used in a Probability Distribution Analysis	548
Accessing the List of Probability Distribution Analyses	549
Aspects of the Probability Distribution Analyses List	550
Plots Menu	552
Common Tasks Menu	553
About the Multiple Distributions Plot Page for a Probability Distribution Analys	is 554
Using the Distribution Builder	555
Creating a Probability Distribution from a Query or Dataset	. 556
Creating a Probability Distribution from Manually Entered Data	560
Opening an Existing Probability Distribution Analysis	564
Overview of the Probability Distribution Results Page	. 566
Analysis Information Section	567
Distribution Section	568
Calculated Parameters Section	569
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Goodness of Fit Test Section	570
Probability Density Function (PDF) Plot Section	571
Cumulative Density Function (CDF) Plot Section	572
Plots Menu	573
Distribution Options Menu	574
Analysis Tasks Menu	575
Common Tasks Menu	576
About the Distribution Data Window	577
Data Mapped to the Distribution Data Window	578
Accessing the Distribution Data Window	579
Aspects of the Distribution Data Window	580
Modifying the Random Variable and Specifying Units	582

About the Probability Distribution Analysis Plots	
Failure Probability Plot	
PDF Plot	586
CDF Plot	
Overview of the Probability Distribution Report	589
Running the Probability Distribution Report	
Analysis Summary Section	
Overview of the Statistical Distribution Information Section	
Distribution Subsection	
Parameters Subsection	595
Goodness of Fit Test Subsection	
Distribution Data Section	
Plots Section	600
Overview of System Reliability Analysis	601
Monte Carlo Simulations: A Simple Example	602
Components in a System Reliability Analysis	604
System Reliability Analysis Workflow	606
About the System Reliability Analysis Example	607
Scenario A Diagram	608
Scenario A Risks	609
Scenario A Actions	610
Scenario B Diagram	611
Scenario B Risks	612
Scenario B Actions	613
Scenario C Diagram	614
Scenario C Risks	615
Scenario C Actions	616
What Conclusions Will We Be Able to Draw from Our Example?	617
About the System Reliability Analysis Example Data	618
Example System Analysis Record Data	619

Example System Scenario Record Data	620
Example System Subsystem Record Data	621
Example System Asset Record Data	623
Example System Buffer Record Data	625
Example System Link Record Data	626
Example System Sensor Record Data	627
Example Switch Element Data	628
Example Risk Data	629
Example Action Data	635
Example System Resource Record Data	637
Example System Resource Usage Record Data	638
Accessing the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List Page	640
Aspects of the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List Page	641
Common Tasks Menu	643
About Navigating System Reliability Features	644
Aspects of the System Reliability Summary Page	645
Aspects of the System Reliability Analysis Definition Page	647
Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram Page	649
Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Actions Page	650
Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Risks Page	651
Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events Page	652
Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Grid Page	653
Aspects of the System Reliability Simulation Results Page	655
Tools Menu	657
Navigation Menu	658
Common Tasks Menu	659
Datasheets in System Reliability Analyses	660
About Saving System Reliability Analyses	661
About Deleting Components in System Reliability Analyses	662
Creating a New System Reliability Analysis	

Defining Analysis Parameters	664
Workflow for Developing a Scenario	665
Creating System Scenario Records	
Creating Copies of System Scenario Records	668
Modifying System Scenario Records	
Deleting System Scenario Records	670
About Building Diagrams	671
Elements of a Diagram	672
Accessing the Diagram Associated with a Scenario	675
Options Available on the Diagram Canvas	676
Displaying an Overview of the Diagram	679
Overview of the Properties Pane	680
About Fields Displayed in the Properties Pane	685
Asset Fields	
Buffer Fields	694
Link Fields	
Sensor Fields	
Subsystem Fields	697
Switch Fields	698
Using the Diagram Hierarchy	701
About the Diagram Palette	703
Hiding and Displaying Panes	704
About Adding Elements	706
Adding an Element from the Diagram Palette Pane	707
Importing Existing Assets	708
Fields Mapped From Equipment or Functional Location Records	711
Importing a Reliability Distribution Analysis	712
Fields Mapped From a Reliability Distribution Analysis	713
Importing a Reliability Growth Analysis	717
Fields Mapped From a Reliability Growth Analysis	718

Using the Import Subsystem Window	720
Importing a Subsystem	722
About Connecting Elements	724
Connecting Elements in a Diagram	725
Deleting Elements from a Diagram	726
Deleting Connections Between Elements	727
Performing Validation	728
Aspects of the Diagram Validation Results Dialog Box	730
Types of Errors	731
Not Reach End Error	732
Not Reach Start Error	733
Isolated Element(s) Error	734
Circular Error	735
About Risks	736
About Potential and Functional Failures	737
Diagram Hierarchy Pane	738
Risks Pane	
Mitigating Actions Pane	741
Accessing the Properties Pane	743
About Fields Displayed on the Properties Pane	744
Risk Fields	745
About Actions and Risks	751
Creating Risks on the Risks Page	752
Creating Risks on the Actions Page	753
Assigning Existing Risks to Actions	755
Options for Modifying Risks	756
Modifying Risks on the Risks Page	757
Modifying Risks Using the Actions Page	758
About Resources for Risks	759
Assigning Resources to Risks	

Modifying Resources Assigned To Risks	762
Removing Resources from Risks	763
About Defining Distribution Data for Risks	765
Defining Distributions Data Manually	766
About Associating Existing Distribution Data with Risks	767
Associating Existing Distribution Data with Risks	768
Opening Associated Analyses	770
Refreshing Distribution Data	771
Removing the Association Between a Risk and a Growth or Distribution Analy	ysis 772
About Resetting Risks	774
Rules for Resetting Risks	776
Selecting Risks to Reset	777
Overview of the Risks to Reset Dialog Box	781
Using the Risks to Reset Dialog Box	783
The Shortcut Menu in the Risks Pane	786
Deleting Risks	787
About Actions	788
Diagram Hierarchy Pane	789
Actions Pane	790
Mitigated Risks Pane	791
Accessing the Properties Pane	793
About Fields Displayed on the Properties Pane	794
Action Fields	795
About Creating System Action Records	799
About the Select Action Type Dialog Box	800
Creating System Condition Monitor Records	802
Creating System Inspection Records	804
Creating System Preventative Maintenance Records	806
Creating System Special Action Records	808
Assigning Existing Actions to Risks	810

Overview of the <special action=""> Window</special>	811
The Mitigated Risks Tab	
Specifying Failure Consequence Values for the Simulation	816
Specifying TTF Distribution Values for the Simulation	818
Options for Modifying Actions	821
Modifying Actions Using the Actions Page	
Modifying Actions Using the Risks Page	
About Resources for Actions	
Assigning Resources to Actions	
Modifying Resource Assigned to Actions	
Removing Resources from Actions	
About Optimizing Actions	
Optimizing a Single Action	
Optimizing Multiple Actions	834
About Applying Optimal Action Intervals	
Applying Optimal Intervals to Actions	838
Deleting Actions	
About Global Events	
About Action-Driven Global Events	
About Date-Driven Global Events	
Global Events Pane	
Actions to Align Pane	844
About Creating Global Events	
Creating System Global Event Records	
About Assigning Actions to Global Events	
Assigning Actions to Global Events	848
Removing Actions from Global Events	
Modifying System Global Event Records	851
Deleting Global Events	
Overview of the System Reliability Scenarios - Grid Page	

By Action	
By Asset	
By Buffer	
By Distribution	
By Link	
By Risk	
By Subsystem	
By Switch	
About Resources	
About Adding Resources to Analyses	
Creating Resources from Scratch	
Importing Existing Resources	
Modifying Resources	
Deleting Resources	
About Running Simulations	874
Running Simulations	
About Event Logs	
Understanding the Content of the Event Log	
Refreshing Multiple Distributions	
About the System Reliability Report	
Running the System Reliability Report	
Summary Section	
Simulation Result Summary	
Plots Section	
Simulation Results - Elements Section	
Simulation Results - Actions Section	
Simulation Results - Resources Section	
What Can You Learn from a System Reliability Analysis?	
Understanding the Analysis Results	
What Is the Average Total?	

What is the Simulation Period?	897
Show Total Check Box	900
Total Cost Tab	902
Total Cost Trend Tab	904
Annual Action Cost Tab	906
Action Cost Trend Tab	908
Resource Occurrence Tab	909
Resource Time Tab	911
Resource Cost Tab	913
Elements Grid	915
Actions Grid	916
Resources Grid	917
About the Histogram Plot	918
Trend Plot	921
Impact Plot	923
Interpreting Simulation Results That Include Source and Additional Risks	924
What is a Cost of Unreliability Analysis?	926
Data Used in a Cost of Unreliability Analysis	927
Accessing the List of Cost of Unreliability Analyses	928
Aspects of the Cost of Unreliability List Page	929
Common Tasks Menu	931
Using the Cost of Unreliability Builder	932
Creating a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from a Query or Dataset	933
Creating a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from Manually Entered Data	938
Accessing the Cost of Unreliability Analysis Summary Page	941
Overview of the Cost of Unreliability Analysis Summary	943
Analysis Information Section	944
Summary Results Section	945
Analysis Options Section	946
Plot Menu	947

Plot Options Menu	948
Analysis Tasks Menu	
Common Tasks Menu	950
About the Failure Data Window	951
Data Mapped to the Failure Data Window	
Accessing the Failure Data for a Cost of Unreliability Analysis	954
Aspects of the Failure Data	955
Aspects of the Asset Data	957
Specifying the Units of Measurement	
Selecting MTBF Calculation Options	961
Total Cost Pareto	962
Mean Time Between Failures Pareto	
Mean Time To Repair Pareto	964
Availability Pareto	965
Number of Failures Pareto	967
Downtime Pareto	
Generating and Viewing a Trend Plot	
Viewing Underlying Plot Data	
Overview of the Cost of Unreliability Report	975
Running the Cost of Unreliability Report	976
Analysis Summary Section	
Assets Section	
Failure Data Section	
Plots Section	
Results of a Cost of Unreliability Analysis	
Saving Changes to an Existing Analysis	984
Copying an Analysis	
Renaming an Analysis	
Setting the Confidence Level for an Analysis	
Changing the Distribution Type	

Modifying the Fit Method	
Changing the Distribution Parameters	
Modifying the Analysis Period	
Choosing the Time Units for an Analysis	994
Modifying Analysis Data via the Failure Data Window	996
Reloading Analysis Data	998
Generating a Report for an Analysis	1000
About Publishing and Unpublishing Analyses	1002
Publishing Analyses	
Unpublishing Analyses	
Customizing the Display of Plots	
Working with Data Censoring in Analyses	
About Reliability Recommendations	
Accessing the Recommendations Page	
Aspects of the Recommendations Page	
About the Task Menus on the Recommendations Page	
Common Tasks Menu	1012
Aspects of the Recommendation Details Page	1013
About the Task Menus on the Recommendation Details Page	
Common Tasks Menu	
Creating a New Reliability Recommendation Record	1017
Fields in Reliability Recommendation Records	
Opening an Existing Reliability Recommendation Record	
Deleting an Analysis	
About the Reliability Analytics Catalog Folder Structure	
Analyses Folder	
Queries Folder	
Reports Folder	
SSRS Folder	
Production Analysis	1034

Production Losses	
Reliability Growth	1040
Growth Model	
Distribution	1051
About System Action Families	
System Condition Monitor	
System Inspection	
System Preventive Maintenance	
System Special Action	
System Analysis	
System Asset	
System Buffer	
System Global Event	
System Link	1109
System Resource	1112
System Resource Usage	1114
System Risk	
System Scenario	1123
System Sensor	1126
System Subsystem	
System Switch	1135
Unreliability Cost	1138
Parameters for the Reliability Production URL	
Examples of the Production Analysis URLs	
Parameters for the Spares Analysis URL	
Examples of the Spares Analysis URLs	1147
Parameters for the Reliability Growth URL	1148
Examples of Reliability Growth URLs	
Parameters for the Reliability Distribution URL	1159
Examples of Reliability Distribution URLs	

Parameters for the Probability Distribution URL	1171
Examples of Probability Distribution URLs	
Parameters for the System Reliability URL	1176
Examples of the System Reliability URL	1178
Parameters for the Cost of Unreliability Analysis URL	1179
Examples of Cost of Unreliability URLs	1182
Action	
Average Total	1184
Confidence Level	1185
Cumulative Operating Time (COT)	1186
Event Log	
Failure	
Global Event	
Goodness of Fit (GOF) Test	1190
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test	1191
Least Squares	1192
Maximum Likelihood Estimators (MLE)	
Reliability	1194
Resources	1195

What Is Reliability Analytics?

The *Reliability Analytics* module is part of the Failure Elimination work process and provides a collection of tools that apply reliability engineering principles to help you make tactical (short term) and strategic (long term) decisions for maintenance and operational equipment management activities. It provides a means for analyzing historical failure data to identify trends and predict future failures, and it provides a mechanism for to simulating *what if* scenarios regarding the reliability of a system to determine if a new or modified strategy will be effective.

The Reliability Analytics module provides the following types of Reliability analyses:

- Production Analysis
- Spares Analysis
- Reliability Growth Analysis
- Reliability Distribution Analysis
- Probability Distribution Analysis
- System Reliability Analysis
- Cost of Unreliability Analysis

Each analysis type provides a unique set of features and tools that allow you to analyze data to develop strategies to improve reliability.

Reliability Analytics System Requirements

The *Reliability Analytics* license is required to take advantage of Reliability Analytics functionality. In addition, your system must contain the basic Meridium APM system architecture.

CEHint: Details on the system requirements for the basic architecture and activating licenses can be found in the Installation, Upgrade, and System Administration section of the Meridium APM Help system.

After you have installed and configured the basic system architecture, you will need to perform some configuration tasks specifically for the Reliability Analytics feature.

About the Reliability Analytics Data Model

The Reliability Analytics module is unique compared to other Meridium APM modules in that you are not required to use all Reliability Analytics features to complete the Reliability Analytics workflow. Rather, each analysis type has its own workflow and can be used independently of all other analysis types. As such, this documentation does not include a comprehensive Reliability Analytics data model and instead includes a data model that is specific to each analysis type:

- Production Analysis Data Model
- Spares Analysis Data Model
- <u>Reliability Growth Analysis Data Model</u>
- <u>Reliability Distribution Analysis Data Model</u>
- <u>Probability Distribution Analysis Data Model</u>
- System Reliability Data Model
- Cost of Unreliability Data Model

Note: The separation of analysis types and their respective data models within this documentation is not meant to indicate that you would *not want* to use more than one analysis type but that you are *not required* to do so. In many cases, you may need to perform more than one type of analysis to get a complete understanding of the data (e.g., the results of a Growth Analysis may indicate that you should perform a Reliability Distribution Analysis).

Production Analysis Data Model

The following diagram shows the Production Analysis entity families and the relationships that exist between them. The shaded boxes represent entity families, and the arrows represent relationship families. You can determine the direction of the each relationship definition from the direction of the arrow head: the box *from* which the arrow originates is the predecessor, and the box *to* which the arrow heard points is the successor.



As you develop a Production Analysis, you will create records in these families and link them together, either manually or automatically via the options in the Meridium APM Framework. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *Production Analysis* to mean the combination of the Production Analysis record and all the records that are linked to it.

A Production Analysis is meant to be conducted at the *unit* level and can be linked to a Functional Location record representing a unit or a Production Unit record representing the same unit. The Production Unit family will be available *only* if the Production Loss Accounting (PLA) module is active.

Spares Analysis Data Model

The following diagram shows the Spares Analysis entity families and the relationships that exist between them. The shaded boxes represent entity families, and the arrows represent relationship families. You can determine the direction of the each relationship definition from the direction of the arrow head: the box *from* which the arrow originates is the predecessor, and the box *to* which the arrow heard points is the successor.



As you develop a Spares Analysis, you will create records in these families and link them together, either manually or automatically via the options in the Meridium APM Framework. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *SparesAnalysis* to mean the combination of the Spares Analysis record and all the records that are linked to it.

Reliability Growth Analysis Data Model

The following diagram shows the Reliability Growth Analysis entity families and the relationships that exist between them. The shaded boxes represent entity families, and the arrows represent relationship families. You can determine the direction of the each relationship definition from the direction of the arrow head: the box *from* which the arrow originates is the predecessor, and the box *to* which the arrow heard points is the successor.



As you develop a Reliability Growth Analysis, you will create records in these families and link them together, either manually or automatically via the options in the Meridium APM Framework. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *Reliability Growth Analysis* to mean the combination of the Reliability Growth record and all the records that are linked to it.

Reliability Distribution Analysis Data Model

The following diagram shows the Reliability Distribution Analysis entity families and the relationships that exist between them. The shaded boxes represent entity families, and the arrows represent relationship families. You can determine the direction of the each relationship definition from the direction of the arrow head: the box *from* which the arrow originates is the predecessor, and the box *to* which the arrow heard points is the successor.



Note: In this image, the *Distribution* box represents one of four Distribution subfamilies in which records can exist: Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull. When you create a Distribution record using the Reliability Distribution Analysis workflow, the specific family to which that Distribution record will belong will depend upon the distribution type that is selected on the <u>Time To Failure Distribution</u> or <u>Time To</u> <u>Repair Distribution page</u>.

As you develop a Reliability Distribution Analysis, you will create records in these families and link them together, either manually or automatically via the options in the Meridium APM Framework. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *Reliability Distribution Analysis* to mean the combination of the Reliability Distribution record and all the records that are linked to it.

Probability Distribution Analysis Data Model

The following diagram shows the Probability Distribution Analysis entity families and the relationships that exist between them. The shaded boxes represent entity families, and the arrows represent relationship families. You can determine the direction of the each relationship definition from the direction of the arrow head: the box *from* which the arrow originates is the predecessor, and the box *to* which the arrow heard points is the successor.



Note: In this image, the *Distribution* box represents one of four Distribution sub-families in which records can exist: Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull.

As you develop a Probability Distribution Analysis, you will create records in these families and link them together, either manually or automatically via the options in the Meridium APM Framework. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *Probability Distribution Analysis* to mean the combination of the Distribution record and all the records that are linked to it.
System Reliability Data Model

The following diagram shows the entity and relationship families that are used in a System Reliability Analysis. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *System Reliability Analysis* to mean the combination of the root System Analysis record and all records that are linked to it. Note that in the following image:

- Black arrows and boxes represent entity families, relationship families, and associated relationship definitions that are configured in the baseline database and do not require customization for the baseline functionality to work.
- **Red arrows and boxes** represent entity families, relationship families, and associated relationship definitions that may require customization.



In this image:

- The *System Action* box represents one of four System Action subfamilies in which records can exist: System Condition Monitor, System Inspection, System Preventive Maintenance, or System Special Action. The specific family that is used will depend upon the type of Action that is created for a given Asset or Switch element.
- The *Distribution* box represents one of four Distribution subfamilies in which records can exist: Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull record. The specific family that is used will depend upon the distribution type selected for the associated Risk.

Cost of Unreliability Data Model

The following diagram shows the Cost of Unreliability Analysis entity families and the relationships that exist between them. The shaded boxes represent entity families, and the arrows represent relationship families. You can determine the direction of the each relationship definition from the direction of the arrow head: the box *from* which the arrow originates is the predecessor, and the box *to* which the arrow heard points is the successor.



As you develop a Cost of Unreliability Analysis, you will create records in these families and link them together, either manually or automatically via the options in the Meridium APM Framework. Throughout this documentation, we use the term *Cost of Unreliability Analysis* to mean the combination of the Unreliability Cost record and all the records that are linked to it.

What is Failure Data?

A *failure* is the inability of a piece of equipment to perform its intended function. A failure may involve the complete loss of function, a partial loss of function, or the potential loss of function.

Reliability describes how likely it is that a piece of equipment will perform its intended function without failure for a given period of time. Reliability is expressed as a percentage and is expressed mathematically as (1 - The Probability of Failure).

The Meridium APM Reliability Analytics module allows you to analyze failure data so that you can draw conclusions and make predictions about the reliability of your equipment and locations. To perform an analysis in Reliability Analytics, you must first collect failure data and store it in Meridium APM. Examples of important data include:

- Equipment type and location.
- Failure modes.
- Failure type, class, repair actions, and cost.
- Design, process, diagnostic, and work order data.

After the data has been collected, you will need to gather the data, format it, and <u>supply</u> <u>it to the Meridium APM Reliability Analytics tools</u>. Throughout this documentation, we assume that you are collecting and can access the data that is necessary to perform a Reliability analysis.

Supplying Failure Data to Meridium APM Reliability

When you create a new analysis in Reliability Analytics, you will need to select a query or dataset on which to base the analysis or manually enter the data that you want to analyze. One of the easiest and most efficient ways to conduct an analysis is to create one based upon a query. The advantage of using queries is that each time you view the analysis, Meridium APM will run the underlying query to retrieve the most current information from the database. Analyses based on datasets and manually entered data, on the other hand, require more manual intervention to reflect updates.

Note: Throughout this documentation, we assume you have entered all important data and will be creating analyses based on queries.

The specific data that you need in order to create an analysis will vary, depending on the type of analysis that you are creating, the specific information that is available, and the results that you want to see. The following information provides a basic example of a query that you might use for collecting data to perform most types of Reliability analyses.



This query returns failure data for Centrifugal Pump PMP-4543. The query results are limited to failures where the Equipment Subunit is *Seals* and the Failure Mode is *Wear*. Running this query will return the results shown in the following image.

A	sset ID	Asset Installation Date	Equipment Subunit	Failure Mode	Failure Date / Time
► PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	11/26/1997
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	9/6/1998
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	5/29/1997
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	12/8/1998
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	3/4/1999
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	1/14/1999
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	8/28/1999
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	6/1/2000
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	9/17/1992
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	2/7/1993
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	7/10/1994
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	6/22/1994
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	8/30/1995
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	12/2/1995
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	12/31/1995
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	3/27/1996
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	4/30/1996
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	12/15/1996
PN	MP-4543	1/1/1963	Seals	Wear	12/3/1996

Note: The type of failure data you collect will influence the conclusions you can make about your equipment. If you have one pump or several pumps with a specific failure mode, then you can perform a very specific analysis. If you have many pumps with many different failure modes, then your analysis will be less specific.

The following columns of information are included in the results:

- Asset ID (from the Pump record)
- Asset Installation Date (from the Pump record)
- Equipment Subunit (from the Failure record)
- Failure Mode (from the Failure record)
- Failure Date/Time (from the Failure record)
- Total Downtime (from the Failure record)
- Lost Profit Opportunity (from the Failure record)
- Total Failure Cost (from the Failure record)

here

The Importance of Failure Modes

It is important that the type of failure data you collect will influence the conclusions you can make about your equipment. If you have one pump or several pumps with a specific failure mode, then you can perform a very specific analysis. If you have many pumps with many different failure modes, then your analysis will be less specific.

For example, if you want to know the chances of a certain part on the pump failing, and in your dataset you have several pumps that have failed in that way, then your analysis will be more accurate than using data with multiple failure modes. If you are analyzing all of the pumps at your site, and you have many different reasons for failure, you will be able to determine overall failure statistics. This analysis, however, will not be particularly useful in determining the probability of failure of a specific piece of equipment.

About Failure Probability

Conditional Reliability is used in Meridium APM's Failure Probability Calculator. The calculator is available for all distribution models and uses conditional probability to compute the probability of failure at time, *t*.

The concept of Conditional Reliability involves the following questions:

• What is the probability of failure given that the item has survived until today?

-or-

• How many days until I reach a certain % probability of failure?

The results of a failure probability calculation in Meridium APM can be a bit confusing. However, the results are correct. For example, the user may find the *current* probability of failure for a given element to be 90% or more after 3 years of operating time. If the user were to calculate the future probability of failure 10 days from the current date, the estimate of future failure probability might be around 1%. This is not incorrect. This often occurs when the future is small compared to the total life experienced by the elements under study.





The Probability of surviving (T + t) days equals the Probability of surviving (T) days and then surviving additional (t) days.

Meridium APM Reliability allows you to specify the operating time and calculate the probability of equipment failure. Or you can choose to specify the probability of equipment failure and then calculate the future age when the specified probability will be reached.

Accessing Reliability Analytics in the Meridium APM Framework

To access Reliability Analytics in the Meridium APM Framework:

• On the Meridium APM Framework main menu, click **Go To**, point to **Failure Elim**ination, and then click **Reliability Analytics**.

The Reliability Analytics Start Page appears.



Aspects of the Reliability Analytics Start Page



The following links appear on the **Reliability Analytics Start Page**:

- **Production Analysis:** Displays the <u>Select a Production Analysis from the List page</u>, where you can view, create, edit, delete, and save Production Analyses. You can also define Reliability, Demonstrated lines, Nameplate lines, and Production lines. In addition, you can set the minimum production value, the unit of measure for production output, the margin value, and the unit of measure for the margin.
- Spares Analysis: Displays the <u>Select a Spares Analysis from the List page</u>, where you can view, create, edit, delete, and save Spares Analyses. You can run a Monte Carlo simulation to view results on the Spare Level Plot, Downtime Plot, Spare Usage Plot, Sensitivity Plot, and Optimal Holding Plot. In addition, you can export the simulation results to a dataset, and save it within the Meridium APM Catalog for future reference.
- Reliability Growth: Displays the <u>Select a Growth Analysis from the List page</u>, where you can view, create, edit, delete, and save Reliability Growth Analyses. You are able to track changes in Mean Time Between Failure (MTBF) over a specified period of time to determine strategies or repairs necessary to increase the

reliability of a product (i.e., element, system, or subsystem).

- Reliability Distribution: Displays the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis from the List</u> <u>page</u>, where you can view, create, edit, delete, and save Reliability Distribution Analyses. You can also view Probability Plots, Failure Rate Plots, Probability Density Function Plots, Cumulative Distribution Function Plots, and Competing Failure Modes Plots. In addition, you can view failure data, calculate the future probability of failure, and calculate the future age when specified probability will be reached. Meridium APM Reliability supports four Distribution types: <u>Weibull</u>, <u>Normal</u>, <u>Lognormal</u>, and <u>Exponential</u>.
- **Probability Distribution:** Displays the <u>Probability Distribution List page</u>, where you can view, create, edit, delete, and save Probability Distribution Analyses. You can also view Probability Plots, Probability Density Function Plots, Cumulative Distribution Function Plots, and Composite Plots. Meridium APM Probability supports four Distribution types: <u>Weibull</u>, <u>Normal</u>, <u>Lognormal</u>, and <u>Exponential</u>.
- System Reliability Analysis: Displays the <u>Select a System Reliability Analysis from</u> <u>the List page</u>, from which you can open or delete an existing analysis or create a new analysis.
- Unreliability Cost of Analysis: Displays the <u>Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis</u> page, where you can view, create, edit, delete, and save Cost of Unreliability Analyses. You can also view Total Cost Plots, Mean Time Between Failures Plots, Mean Time to Repair Plots, Availability Plots, Failure Plots, Downtime Plots, and Trend Plots for Cost of Unreliability Analyses.
- Reliability Automation Rules: Displays the <u>Automation Rules List Screen</u>, where you can search for existing <u>automation rules</u> and create new Reliability Automation Rules. You can also view a preview of the Analysis Failure Data, merge analyses, execute Reliability Automation Rules, and delete Reliability Automation Rules.

Note: You must be a member of the MI Reliability Administrator Security Group or a Super User in order to access the **Automation Rule List Screen** page. If you are not a member of one of these Security Groups, the **Reliability Automation Rules** link will not appear.

First-Time Deployment Workflow

Deploying and configuring Reliability Analytics for the first time includes completing multiple steps, which are outlined in the table in this topic. The steps in this section of the documentation provide all the information that you need to deploy and configure the Reliability Analytics module on top of the basic Meridium APM system architecture.

Whether a step is required or optional is indicated in the **Required/Optional** cell. Steps are marked as *Required* if you must perform the steps to take advantage of Reliability Analytics functionality.

The person responsible for completing each task may vary within your organization. We recommend, however, that the steps be performed in relatively the same order in which they are listed in the table.

Step	Task	Required/Optional	Notes
1	Review the Reliability Analytics data models to determine which relationship defin- itions you will need to modify to include your custom equip- ment and location families. Modify any relationship defin- itions as needed via Configuration Man- ager.	Optional	This task is necessary only if you store equipment and location information in families other than the baseline Equipment and Functional Location families.
2	Assign the desired Security Users to one or more Reliability Analytics Security Groups in Con- figuration Manager.	Required	Users will not be able to access Reliability Analytics unless they have permissions to the Reli- ability Analytics families.
3	Modify Reliability Ana- lytics queries.	Optional	This task is necessary only if you want to change the behavior of the baseline list queries.

First-Time Deployment Workflow

Step	Task	Required/Optional	Notes
4	Configure the ability for users to create Reliability Distribution and Reliability Growth Analyses from Asso- ciated Pages using URL Manager.	Optional	This task is necessary only if you want to implement this func- tionality.
5	Configure Reliability Automation Rules.	Optional	This task is necessary only if you want to use Reliability Auto- mation Rules to create analyses automatically.

Upgrade or Update Reliability Analytics to 3.6.1.2.0

The following tables list the steps that are required to update or upgrade Reliability Analytics to 3.6.1.2.0. This step assumes that you have completed the steps for upgrading the components in the basic Meridium APM system architecture.

Update from any version V3.6.1.0.0 through V3.6.1.1.0

This module will be updated to 3.6.1.2.0 automatically when you update the components in the basic Meridium APM system architecture. No additional steps are required.

Upgrade from any version V3.6.0.0.0 through V3.6.0.12.4

Reliability Analytics will be upgraded to 3.6.1.2.0 automatically when you upgrade the components in the basic Meridium APM system architecture. No additional steps are required.

Upgrade from any version V3.5.1.0.0 through V3.5.1.12.0

Reliability Analytics will be upgraded to 3.6.1.2.0 automatically when you upgrade the components in the basic Meridium APM system architecture. No additional steps are required.

Upgrade from any version V3.5.0 SP1 LP through V3.5.0.1.9.0

Reliability Analytics will be upgraded to 3.6.1.2.0 automatically when you upgrade the components in the basic Meridium APM system architecture. No additional steps are required.

Upgrade from any version V3.5.0 through V3.5.0.0.7.1

Reliability Analytics will be upgraded to 3.6.1.2.0 automatically when you upgrade the components in the basic Meridium APM system architecture. No additional steps are required.

Upgrade from any version V3.4.5 through V3.4.5.0.1.4

Step	Task	Required/Optional	Notes
1	Configure the ability for users to Reliability Dis- tribution and Reliability Growth Analyses from Associated Pages using URL Manager.	Optional	This feature is new in V3.5.0, so even if you have deployed Reli- ability Analytics in V3.4.5, you will not have completed this step. You need to com- plete this task, how- ever, only if you want to implement this func- tionality.

Reliability Analytics Security

The following Security Groups are provided for Reliability Analytics.

- MI Reliability Viewer
- MI Reliability User
- MI Reliability Administrator

These Security Groups are provided as part of the baseline Meridium APM database. In addition to assigning Security Users to the appropriate Security Group, you must assign the appropriate family privileges to any Security User or Security Group who should be able to perform Reliability Analytics tasks. Specifically, you must set family privileges for any custom-defined families that will be used in Reliability Analytics.

The baseline privileges for the baseline Security Groups are listed in the following table.

Family	MI Reliability Viewer	MI Reliability User	MI Reliability Admin- istrator
Analysis	View	View	View
Analysis Link	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Distribution	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Exponential	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Growth Model	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Mitigated TTF Distribution	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Global Events	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Planned Resource Usages	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Recom- mendations	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Reliability	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Resource Usage	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete

Family	MI Reliability	MI Reliability	MI Reliability Admin-
	Viewer	User	istrator
Has Risk Assess-	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
ments		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has Root System	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has Scenarios	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has System	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
Actions		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has System Res-	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
ults		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has System Ele-	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
ments		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has System Optim-	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
ization		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has System	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
Resources		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has System Risks	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Has TTF Dis-	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
tribution		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has Unplanned	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
Resource Usages		Insert, Delete	Delete
Has Unreliability	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
Cost		Insert, Delete	Delete
Lognormal	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Normal	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Production Ana-	View	View, Update,	View, Update, Insert,
lysis		Insert, Delete	Delete
Production Losses	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete

Family	MI Reliability Viewer	MI Reliability User	MI Reliability Admin- istrator	
Reliability Auto- mation Rule			View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Reliability Dis- tribution	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Reliability Growth	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Reliability Recom- mendation	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Spare	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Spares Analysis	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Spare Analysis Chart	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Spare Application	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
Spare Application Population	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Action	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Action Mapping	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Action Optimization	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Action Res- ult	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Analysis	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Asset	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	
System Buffer	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete	

Family	MI Reliability Viewer	MI Reliability User	MI Reliability Admin- istrator		
System Condition Monitor	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Element	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Element Result	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Global Event	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Inspection	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Link	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Pre- ventative Main- tenance	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Reource	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Resource Result	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Resource Usage	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Risk	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Risk Assessment	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Scenario	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Sensor	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Special Action	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		
System Subsystem	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete		

Family	MI Reliability Viewer	MI Reliability User	MI Reliability Admin- istrator
System Switch	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Unreliability Cost	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete
Weibull	View	View, Update, Insert, Delete	View, Update, Insert, Delete

Modifying the Reliability List Queries

The baseline Meridium APM database contains queries that are used to display results on the analysis list pages. If desired, you can modify these queries to customize the lists that are displayed. For example, you may want to customize these queries to add additional prompts or filters. Note that if you modify one of the baseline queries or create your own query to be used for one of the list pages, the query will be used by anyone who accesses the list of analyses.

Before you modify or create Reliability Analytics queries, note the following:

- Meridium APM is hard-coded to look for the Reliability Analytics queries in the folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. Any query that you want to use must exist in this location.
- Meridium APM is hard-coded to look for the query names as they are delivered. If you want to use a customized query, you must modify a query that Meridium APM delivers, or you can rename or delete a query we deliver and add your own query to the same folder using the *exact* name of the delivered query. For example, if you want a query to return a list of Reliability Growth Analyses filtered according to a specific value in the Analysis Start Date field, you would modify the delivered Reliability Growth query or rename or delete this query and add your own Reliability Growth query to the same folder.
- The analysis query source alias must be **analy**, and the automation rule query source alias must be **relrules**.
- The following fields must exist in all queries and must use the aliases as they appear in this list:
 - Analysis ID
 - Published
 - ENTY_KEY
 - LAST_UPBY_SEUS_KEY
 - LAST_UPDT_DT

Note: The Automation Rules query will not contain the Published field. It should contain all other fields in the preceding list.

About Creating a Reliability Analysis from an Associated Page

Within the Reliability Analytics module, you can create a Reliability Growth Analysis from the <u>Reliability Growth Builder</u>, and you can create a Reliability Distribution Analysis from the <u>Reliability Distribution Builder</u>. In addition to these standard features, which require no manual configuration, you also have the option of allowing users to create a <u>Reliability Growth Analysis</u> or <u>Reliability Distribution Analysis</u> from an Associated Page while they are viewing an Equipment or Functional Location record in the Record Manager. If you configure this functionality, when a user creates a new analysis in this way, certain values in the Equipment or Functional Location record will be mapped to the analysis using the parameter values that are defined in the Associated Page's underlying URL.

This feature is supported by two main components:

- The *AutoCreate* parameter value, which is available for the <u>Reliability Growth</u> and <u>Reliability Distribution</u> URLs.
- A query that is required by the AutoCreate parameter value and passes in values that will be used for creating the new analysis.

If you are following the Meridium APM Best Practice and are storing equipment and location data in the baseline Equipment and Functional Location families, in order to take advantage of this functionality, you will need to <u>create an Associated Page on these families manually</u>. You can create this Associate Page using the <u>baseline query that is</u> <u>provided to support this functionality</u> and passing in values to the URL that will cause values returned by the query to be used in the new analysis.

This documentation assumes that you are following the Meridium APM Best Practice and will therefore:

- Use the baseline query.
- Construct your Associated Page URLs based upon the baseline query.

If your equipment and location information is stored in non-baseline families, to take advantage of this functionality, you will need to <u>modify the baseline queries</u> to work with your custom families and then create Associated Page URLs to accommodate those changes. The <u>Reliability Growth</u> and <u>Reliability Distribution URL documentation</u> provide basic information about this URL parameter that should allow you to customize the URLs to suit your needs. Note that even if you are following the Meridium APM Best Practice for storing equipment and location information, you may want to modify the baseline query to provide additional functionality (e.g., additional prompts).

About the Baseline Associated Page Queries

The baseline queries *Equipment - Work History* and *Functional Location - Work History*, which are stored in the Catalog folder \\Publich\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Queries, can be used to <u>create an Associated Page</u> on the Equipment and Functional Location families that will allow users to create Reliability Growth and Reliability Distribution Analyses automatically from Equipment and Functional Location records.

The Equipment - Work History query includes the Equipment and Work History families and returns information about the Work History records that are linked to a given Equipment record. In this query:

- The following fields are included for the Equipment Family:
 - Equipment ID
 - Valid From Date
- The following fields are included from the Work History family:
 - Event Start Date
 - Time to Repair
- The following prompt is defined for the Equipment ID field:

((? :s :caption='Equipment ID' :id=EquipmentID :query='SELECT DISTINCT [MI_ EQUIP000_EQUIP_ID_C] FROM [MI_EQUIP000] ORDER BY [MI_EQUIP000_EQUIP_ID_ C]'))

When the query is run, the value that is passed into this prompt determines the Equipment record for which to return Work History records. Information from those Equipment and Work History records is used to create the analysis.

The Functional Location - Work History query includes the Functional Location and Work History families and returns information about the Work History records that are linked to a given Functional Location record. In this query:

- The following field is included for the Functional Location Family:
 - Location
- The following fields are included from the Work History family:
 - Event Start Date
 - Time to Repair
- The following prompt is defined for the Location field:

((?:s:caption='Functional Location':id=FunctionalLocation:query='SELECT DISTINCT [MI_FNCLOC00_LOCAT_C] FROM [MI_FNCLOC00] ORDER BY [MI_ FNCLOC00_LOCAT_C]'))

When the query is run, the value that is passed into this prompt determines the Functional Location record for which to return Work History records. Information

from those Functional Location and Work History records is used to create the analysis.

Modifying the Associated Page Queries

If you want to use this functionality but do not use the baseline Equipment and Functional Location families to store your equipment and location information or the Work History family to store your failure information, you will need to create your own custom queries or modify the following <u>baseline queries</u>.

If you choose to modify the baseline queries, you will need to:

- Replace the sources families with your own custom families.
- Include the fields whose values you want to map to the analysis.
- Add a prompt to the desired field, similar to the prompt that is provided in the baseline queries.

If you decide to use different queries other than baseline queries or add additional fields to either baseline query, before doing so, you should review the parameters that are required to build a <u>Reliability Growth Analysis</u> or <u>Reliability Distribution Analysis</u> to determine what information you want to map from the query to the analysis. The values that you want to map to the analysis will need to be returned by the fields that you include in the query.

Creating Associated Pages That Can Be Used to Create Analyses

The following instructions provide details on creating an Associated Page link that will allow users to create a Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis while viewing an Equipment or Functional Location record in Record Manager. You may need to repeat these steps multiple times, depending upon how many Associated Pages you want to create.

To create an Associated Page that will allow you to create a Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis from an Equipment or Functional Location record:

- 1. In the Meridium APM URL Manager, on the **Associate Families with URLs** tab, select *Equipment* or *Functional Location* in list of available families.
- 2. Click the **New Menu Item** button.

The **Menu Item Information** dialog box appears.

The Menu Item Information						
Enter me	nu item informat	ion				
Hyperlink	Hyperlink Information					
	Appears On	[Root Menu]				
	Caption	۷				
	URL					
	Apply When	All the time				
	Available in	Meridium APM Framework and Meridium APM Web Framework 💌				
	Make Bold					
C Sub-Menu	Sub-Menu Information					
	Appears On	[Root Menu]				
	Caption					
	Apply When	All the time				
	Available in	Meridium APM Framework and Meridium APM Web Framework				
	Make Bold					
		Save Cancel				

- 3. In the **Caption** text box, type **New Growth Analysis** or **New Distribution Analysis**, depending upon the type of analysis that you want to create.
- 4. In the **URL** text box, type one of the following URLs, depending on which type of analysis you want to create. The syntax provided here assumes that you are using the <u>baseline queries provided to support this functionality</u>.
- Reliability Growth Analysis for the Equipment Family: meridium://Reli-

ability/growth?Action=AutoCreate&QueryPath=Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Queries\Equipment - Work History&AssetIDField=Equipment ID&FailureDateField=Event Start Date&InstallationDateField=Valid From Date&DowntimeField=Time To Repair&EquipmentID=[MI_EQUIP000_EQUIP_ID_C]

 Reliability Distribution Analysis for the Equipment Family: meridium://Reli-

ability/Distribution?Action=AutoCreate&QueryPath=Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Queries\Equipment - Work History&AssetIDField=Equipment ID&FailureDateField=Event Start Date&InstallationDateField=Valid From Date&DowntimeField=Time To Repair&EquipmentID=[MI_EQUIP000_EQUIP_ID_C]

Reliability Growth Analysis for the Functional Location family: meridium://Reli-

ability/growth?Action=AutoCreate&QueryPath=Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Queries\Functional Location - Work History&AssetIDField=Location&FailureDateField=Event Start Date&DowntimeField=Time To Repair&FunctionalLocation=[MI_FNCLOC00_LOCAT_C]

• Reliability Distribution Analysis for the Functional Location family: meridium://Reli-

ability/Distribution?Action=AutoCreate&QueryPath=Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Queries\Functional Location - Work

History&AssetIDField=Location&FailureDateField=Event Start Date&DowntimeField=Time To Repair&FunctionalLocation=[MI_FNCLOC00_LOCAT_C]

5. Click the **Save** button.

The Associated Page is saved.

What Are Reliability Automation Rules?

Reliability Distribution, Reliability Growth, and Cost of Unreliability Analyses can be created interactively or through Reliability Automation Rules, which can generate multiple Reliability analyses for a hierarchy of equipment and location that have related events.

Using Reliability Automation Rules, you can analyze several families in a single step. Based on the parameters that you predefine for the analysis, the system will automatically execute the analysis calculations on the entire population that is valid for the parameters and generate the appropriate reliability document. The results of the analysis calculations are captured in the database against the identified population, providing quick reference to the current reliability.

Note: To generate a Reliability Analysis document, equipment and location families and failure data for the equipment and location must already be defined in the database.

To access the **Reliability Automation Rules** function, you must be a member of the MI Reliability Administrator Security Group or a Super User.

Reliability Automation Rule Data Model

The following diagram shows the entity and relationship families that are used by Reliability Automation Rules.



About Creating Queries for Use with the Rule Builder

On the **Source Data** page of the <u>Reliability Automation Rule Builder</u>, you can select a pre-defined query to provide the data on which auto-generated Reliability Analyses will be built for a query-based Automation Rule. Before you can use the **Reliability Auto-mation Rule Builder**, one or more appropriate queries must be defined. Ideally, these queries will be pre-defined by an administrative user before other users access the system.

Note: After these queries have been created and used to build rules, they should not be deleted. Without the queries, the Automation Rules that are based on them cannot update the analyses that they generated.

Automation Rule queries must contain:

- All of the fields required for mapping to the selected analysis type (Reliability Distribution, Reliability Growth, Cost of Unreliability). For all analysis types, the following fields should be selected:
- Asset ID (required).
- Asset Installation Date (optional).
- Failure Date (required).
- Downtime (optional).
- Maintenance Cost (optional, for Cost of Unreliability Analysis only).
- LPO (optional, for Cost of Unreliability Analysis only).
- The fields that will be used for grouping populations of events (including system fields such as Family ID and Family Key and the entity family caption)
- Filtering criteria.

Note: Filtering is disabled in the **Reliability Automation Rule Builder** if a query is used to build analyses.

We strongly recommended that you use a query that contains the metadata information in the Asset ID and Failure Date fields (which are required fields) and that these two fields are defined in two separate entity families. This precludes the use of **Group By** queries, complex (non metadata-based) queries in the SQL Editor, and system fields or calculated fields for Asset ID and Failure Date information.

The master query cannot contain parameters. The master query should be stored in a public directory in the Catalog and must not be deleted. We recommend that you store this query in the following Catalog folder: \\Public\Meridi-um\Modules\Reliability\Manager.

If you need additional fields for mapping or population grouping in the Reliability Automation Rule, you must change the master query. The master query should be accessible to members of the MI Reliability Administrators Security Group who will be working with Reliability Automation Rules. When the Reliability Automation Rule is executed to generate the analyses, sub-queries will be created using the master query as the source. If the master query is deleted, the sub-queries will cease to operate.

Accessing the List of Reliability Automation Rules

To access the list of Reliability Automation rules:

• In the Meridium APM Framework application, on the <u>Reliability Analytics Start</u> <u>Page</u>, click the **Reliability Automation Rules** link.

Note: You must be a member of the MI Reliability Administrator Security Group or a Super User in order to access the **Automation Rule List Screen** page. If you are not a member of one of these Security Groups, the **Reliability Automation Rules** link will not appear.

谷 Mer	🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Automation Rule List Screen 📃 📼 📼										
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To	<u>T</u> ool	s <u>F</u>	<u>l</u> elp							
😌 Ba	ick 👻 🏐 Forw		% N	/ly Start Page 👻	👘 🏹 New	🔎 Search	🚞 Catalog 🔞	Query 🕶 🛅 Re	port 🔹 🕼 Graph 🚽 🍕 Da	itaset 👻 🎫 Da	shboard •
			Sit	teMap: <u>Reliabili</u>	<u>ty</u> -> <u>Automa</u>	tion					
me	eridil	JM									
Reli	ability Anal	ytics			Select	: an Au	tomation	Generat	ion Rule from	the List	t
Rule	List Tasks	6	2	_	-	-	_	_	_		
-	Execute Rule(s))	La	st Updated By	Ad	ministrator, M	leridium				Run Query
6											
Comr	non Tasks		2								
	New Rule										
220	Open Rule			Rule Name			Δ	Last Updated	Reliability Analysis Type	Updated By	Last Executed
	Save Rule		•	Shell and Tube	HE - Reliabili	ity Distributior	n Automation Rule	3/17/2011	Distribution	Administrato	3/17/2011
	Save Rule As									-	
1 V 2	Delete Rule(s)										
=0	Send to >>										
	Help										
	Guidelines										

The Automation Rule List Screen page appears.

From the **Automation Rule List Screen** page, you can run the Reliability Automation Rule list query to access a list of existing Reliability Automation Rules and then view a summary of any rule.

Aspects of the Automation Rule List Screen Page

😵 Me	The second secon								
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	<u>H</u> elp							
🎨 B	ack 👻 🏐 Forward 👻 🦿	🕯 My Start Page 👻	🔹 🐞 New 🔎 Search 🚞 Catalog) 🝺	Query 🕶 🛅 Re	port 🗸 🔞 Graph 🗸 🧐 Di	ataset 👻 🎫 Da	ashboard -	
	SiteMap: Reliability->Automation								
m	meriaium								
Rel	Reliability Analytics 🛛 🚰 Select an Automation Generation Rule from the List								
Rule	List Tasks 🛛 📚				_	_	_		
-	Execute Rule(s)	Last Updated By	Administrator, Meridium				•	Run Query	
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 😵								
12	New Rule								
,54	Open Rule	Dula Nama			() and () and a local	Delishikty Applying Type	(Undersed Dec	[Last Surgering]	
	Save Rule	Rule Name	HE - Reliability Distribution Automation		2/17/2011	Distribution	Administrato	3/17/2011	
L.	Save Rule As			Truic	5/17/2011	Distribution	Administration	. 5/1/2011	
1 🐼	Delete Rule(s)								
=2	Send to >>								
0	Help								
0	Guidelines								
		1							

The <u>Automation Rule List Screen</u> page lets you run the Automation Rules query to access a list of existing Reliability Automation Rules that meet your query criteria. The Automation Rules query is stored in the Meridium APM Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. While the Automation Rules query can be <u>customized</u> for your specific implementation, the baseline Automation Rules query contains one prompt: Last Updated By. This prompt appears at the top of the page as a drop-down list that contains the following options:

- Your user name, which is selected by default.
- The user name of any user who last updated any Reliability Automation Rule.
- The **[All Users]** option, which lets you retrieve a list of Reliability Automation Rules updated by any user.

Selecting a value from the **Last Updated By** list will cause the list of Reliability Automation Rules to display only the rules that meet that criteria. For example, if you select your name, the query will return a list of all the Reliability Automation Rules that were last updated by you.

After you select the desired criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button, to run the Automation Rules query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page. The default Automation Rules query is configured to display the following columns of information: **Rule Name**, **Last Updated**, **Reliability Analysis Type**, **Updated By**, and **Last Executed**. You can click any hyperlinked **Rule Name** to <u>view the summary</u> of the selected rule. **<u>CE</u>Hint:** If desired, you can customize the column display.

In addition, the **Automation Rule List Screen** page contains two task menus, which you can use to perform functions associated with Reliability Automation Rules.
Rules List Tasks Menu



The **Rule List Tasks** menu on the **Automation Rule List Screen** page contains the following link:

• Execute Rule(s): Executes the selected Reliability Automation Rule(s).

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Automation Rule List Screen** page contains the following links:

- New Rule: Displays the Reliability Automation Rule Builder, which will guide you through the process of creating a new rule.
- **Open Rule:** Displays the **Find a Reliability Automation Rule** window, which you can use to find and open an existing rule.
- **Delete Rule(s):** Deletes the current rule(s) from the database, after asking for confirmation.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let youprovide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Automation Rule List Screen page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

Note: The Save Rule and Save Rule As links are always disabled on the Automation Rule List Screen page.

About Creating a New Reliability Automation Rule

Using the **Reliability Automation Rule Builder**, you can create a new Reliability Automation Rule based either on:

• <u>A query</u>.

Note: To create a Reliability Automation Rule based on a query, the <u>query must</u> <u>exist</u> in the Catalog.

• Equipment, location, and event data.

Note: The equipment, location, and event families and any necessary relationships must already be defined.

Creating a Rule Based on a Query

To create a rule based on a query:

 In the Meridium APM Framework application, on the <u>Automation Rule List Screen</u> page or the <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]</u> page, on the Common Tasks menu, click the New Rule link.

The **Reliability Automation Rule Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Welcome						
meridium	Welcome to the Reliability Automation Rules Builder					
	Meridium allows you to automatically create Reliability Analyses based on the criteria that you provide. In the following screens, you will be asked how the failure data should be extracted and classified in order to generate the most appropriate Reliability Analyses in terms of your needs.					
	Don't show this page again. To continue, click Next.					
< Bac	k Next > Finish Cancel Help					

CE Hint: You can select the **Don't show this page again** check box if you prefer to bypass the Welcome screen in the future.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Choose Reliability Document Type** screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Choose Reliability Document Type				
Choose Reliability Document Type				
C Reliability Growth Analysis				
Reliability Distribution Analysis				
C Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis				
<pre>< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help</pre>				

- 3. Select the option for the type of rule you want to create:
- Reliability Growth Analysis
- Reliability Distribution Analysis
- Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis
- The **Reliability Distribution Analysis** option is selected by default.
- 4. Click the **Next** button.

The **Source Data** screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Source Data
Source Data
Use Query to provide data on top of which all analyses will be built.
C Select entity families that will form an Asset-Event data structure.
<pre>< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help</pre>

- 5. Accept the default selection: **Use a Query to provide data on which the analysis will be built**.
- 6. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Query** screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Select Query						
Select Query						
Query:			В	rowse		
Available Fields:						
< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help		

- 7. Click the **Browse** button to open the Catalog and locate an existing query.
- 8. Select the query, and click the **Open** button.

After you open the query, the **Select Query builder** screen will return to focus, and the name of the query that you selected will appear in the **Query** field. The **Avail-able Fields** list will display the fields in the query.

Note: If you try to create a Reliability Automation Rule based on a query in which at least one field does not have an alias, an error message will appear, and the rule will not be created. Automation rules can be based only on queries that have an alias on every field that will be used in the rule. Otherwise, the fields cannot be properly mapped, and the rule cannot be created.

8. Click the **Next** button.

The Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis						
Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis						
Asset ID						
Asset Installation Date Failure Date						
Downtime						
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help					

- 9. On the **Identify the fields that are necessary for the analysis** screen, select a value for each field. Required fields are labeled with bold text.
- Asset ID: The field from your query that contains the Asset ID.
- Asset Installation Date: The field from your query that contains the date when the piece of equipment was first installed.
- Failure Date: The field from your query that contains the date when the piece of equipment or location failed.
- **Downtime:** The field that contains the downtime. The downtime is the amount of time that an item is not available for any reason.
- Maintenance Cost: The cost of fixing the equipment after a failure occurs. The Maintenance Cost represents both the labor and the material costs. This appears only if you selected **Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis** as the document type.
- Lost Profit Opportunity (LPO) Cost: The field that contains the LPO Cost. The LPO cost is the profit that the company loses when the production fails in an oversold market. It represents the difference between the market price of the product and the cost of producing it. This appears only if you selected **Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis** as the document type.

10. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Population Grouping** screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Select Population Grouping						
Select Population Grouping						
[AQA Reliability Automation Rules Parent].[ID] [AQA Reliability Automation Rules Event].[ID] [AQA Reliability Automation Rules Event].[Failure Mode]						
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help	

- 11. Select the check box(es) next to the fields that will allow you to create populations of events for analyses. Note that you are not required to select any population grouping(s). If you select a population grouping, the data will be filtered by that population into different groups. For example, if you select the Asset ID field to be a population field, a potential analysis will be generated on the **Automation Rule Information** page for every piece of equipment and location. The fields listed on the **Select Population Grouping** screen consist of fields from the equipment/location family, relationship family, and event family selected in the query.
- 12. Click the **Finish** button.

The <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]page</u> appears, displaying a list of failure mode definitions (i.e., the analyses) that will be generated when the rule is saved and executed.

13. To save the rule, on the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Rule link.

Creating a Rule Based on Equipment/Location-Event Data Structure

To create a rule based on equipment/location-event data:

 In the Meridium APM Framework application, on the <u>Automation Rule List Screen</u> page or the <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]</u> page, click the New Rule link on the Common Tasks menu.

The **Reliability Automation Rule Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Welcome							
meridi	um 🏻	Welcome to the Reliability Automation Rules Builder					
	Me th ha th	Meridium allows you to automatically create Reliability Analyses based on the criteria that you provide. In the following screens, you will be asked how the failure data should be extracted and classified in order to generate the most appropriate Reliability Analyses in terms of your needs.					
		- Don't show this page	again				
		o continue, click Next.	-99-01 T				
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help		

CE Hint: You can select the **Don't show this page again** check box if you prefer to bypass the Welcome screen in the future.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The Choose Reliability Document Type screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Choose Reliability Document Type					
Choose Reliability Document Type					
Reliability Growth Analysis					
Reliability Distribution Analysis					
Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis					
< Back Next > Finish	Cancel Help				

- 3. Select the option for the type of rule you want to create:
 - Reliability Growth Analysis
 - Reliability Distribution Analysis
 - Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis
 - The Reliability Distribution Analysis option is selected by default.
- 3. Click the **Next** button.

The **Source Data** screen appears.



- 5. Select the **Select entity families that will form an Asset-Event data structure** option.
- 6. Click the **Next** button.

The **Choose an Asset Family** screen appears.



- 7. In the **Select Asset Family** list, select the desired family. Alternatively, you can click the <u>select a family</u> from the hierarchy or simply type a family name in the text box.
- 8. Determine the level at which to perform the analysis:
- To generate an analysis only for the selected family, accept the default selection, Generate analyses for selected family.
- To include all of the subfamilies of the selected family in the analysis, select the **Generate analyses for selected family and all of its sub-families** option. Note that if you choose to include subfamilies, the check box below this option will become enabled. Select the check box if you want to generate analyses *only* for the sub-families that are located at the bottom of the hierarchy for the selected family.

Note: If you choose this option and then choose to add filters or grouping to the Reliability Automation Rule later in the builder, Meridium APM may incorrectly group or filter data, resulting in analyses based on data that did not match the desired criteria. If this happens, you may need to create automation rules individually for families at the bottom of a family hierarchy.

9. Click the **Next** button.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Cho	ose Relationship and Event Families
Choose Relationship and Event F	amilies
Select Relationship Family: Select Event Family:	▼
T Ind	lude assets even if they do not include event data \cap{black}
< Back Nex	t > Finish Cancel Help

The **Choose Relationship and Event Families** screen appears.

- 10. In the **Select Relationship Family** list, select the relationship family that identifies the relationship that should exist between the family that you selected on the previous screen and the Event family that you will select on this screen.
- 11. In the Select Event Family list, select the desired family. You can choose to include equipment and location in the analysis that do not include event data by selecting the Include assets even if they do not include event data check box. Note that the Select Event Family list is disabled until you select a relationship family in the Select Relationship Family list.
- 12. Click the **Next** button.

The Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis						
Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis						
Asset ID	▼					
Asset Installation Date	•					
Failure Date	▼					
Downtime	•					
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help					

- 13. On the **Identify the fields that are necessary for the analysis** screen, select a value for each field. Required fields are labeled with bold text.
 - Asset ID: The field from your query that contains the Asset ID.
 - Asset Installation Date: The field from your query that contains the date when the piece of equipment was first installed.
 - Failure Date: The field from your query that contains the date when the piece of equipment or location failed.
 - **Downtime:** The field that contains the downtime. The downtime is the amount of time that an item is not available for any reason.
 - **Maintenance Cost:** The cost of fixing the equipment after a failure occurs. The Maintenance Cost represents both the labor and the material costs. This appears only if you selected **Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis** as the document type.
 - Lost Profit Opportunity (LPO) Cost: The field that contains the LPO Cost. The LPO cost is the profit that the company loses when the production fails in an oversold market. It represents the difference between the market price of the product and the cost of producing it. This appears only if you selected **Reliability Cost of Unreliability Analysis** as the document type.

Note: You can click the Finish button on the Identify the Fields that are Necessary for the Analysis screen if you prefer not to define filters.

14. Click the **Next** button.

The **Apply any Desired Filters** screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Apply any Desired Filters						
Apply any D	esired Filters					
				_		
Define Filters:	Field V	Condition	Value	_		
	Match Case?		Add Filter			
Filter Conditions:						
			Remove Filter			
Match:	All conditions	C Any condit	tion			
	< Back	Next > Finish	Cancel	Help		

- 15. In the **Field** list, click the \mathbf{V} button to select a field.
- 16. In the **Condition** list, select one of the field condition operators. The field conditions that you can select are the same as those that are available in the Advanced search. The list of operators will change depending on the type of field that you select (i.e., numeric, character, date, or logical).
- 17. Type the value that should meet the condition in the **Value** text box. When typing dates or a number in this field, insert single quotes around the value.
- 18. Click the **Add Filter** button. The filter criteria will appear in the pane.
- 19. To apply multiple filters, repeat the previous steps. Remember to click the **Add Filter** button each time you specify new filter criteria.

- 20. In the **Match** section, select either the **All conditions (And operator)** option or the **Any condition (Or operator)** option to apply to the filter results.
- 21. Click the **Next** button.

The Select Population Grouping screen appears.

Reliability Automation Rule Builder - Select Population Grouping						
Select Population Grouping						
 [AQA Reliability Automation Rules Parent].[ID] [AQA Reliability Automation Rules Event].[ID] [AQA Reliability Automation Rules Event].[Failure Mode] 						
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help	

- 22. Select the check box(es) next to the fields that will allow you to create populations of events for analyses. You are not required to select any population grouping(s). If you select a population grouping, the data will be filtered by that population into different groups. For example, if you select the Asset ID field to be a population field, a potential analysis will be generated on the **Automation Rule Information** page for every piece of equipment and location. The fields listed on the **Select Population Grouping** screen consist of fields from the equipment/location family, relationship family, and event family that you selected.
- 23. Click the **Finish** button.

The <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule] page</u> appears, displaying a list of failure mode definitions (i.e., the analyses) that will be generated when the rule is saved and executed.

24. To save the rule, on the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Rule link.

Accessing an Existing Reliability Automation Rule

To open an existing Reliability Automation Rule:

- 1. In the Meridium APM Framework application, on the <u>Automation Rule List Screen</u> <u>page</u>, in the Last Updated By list, select the criteria that you want to use for limiting the list of automation rules. The available criteria will vary, depending on how the automation rules list query has been configured.
- 2. Click the **Run Query** button.

The Meridium APM system runs the Reliability Automation Rules list query and displays the results in the grid at the bottom of the page.

3. In the **Rule Name** column, click the hyperlinked name of the rule that you want to open.

Arridium APM Framework - Summary Screen of '3.0.2 SP1 Automation Rule' Automation Rule - • • <u>File Edit Go To Tools H</u>elp 😻 Back + 🦻 Forward + 🏠 My Start Page + 👔 New 🔎 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🔞 Graph + 🍕 Dataset + 💷 Dashboard + . . . Site Map: Reliability->Automation->3.0.2 SP1 Automation Rule meridium **Reliability Analytics Reliability Automation Rules** Rule Tasks × Rule Name: 3.0.2 SP1 Automation Rule -View Rule List Execute Rule Rule Description: 嚂 Merge Analyses... Automation Rule Criteria 調 Unmerge Analyses.. Update Rule Information. This Automation Rule will be used to create Distribution analyses. The Rule will analyze the 'Fan' family only using the 'Work Order' family for events based upon the 'Asset Has Maintenance' relationship. There are groupings being applied in this rule. Common Tasks ۲ 1 New Rule Automation Rule Information 😼 Open Rule Save Rule This Automation Rule has never been executed. Below is a list of potential analyses based upon the filters and grouping specified. 5 analyses will be created the next time this rule is executed. 0 analyses have less than 2 failure events and will not be created. Save Rule As You can select one and view its details or you can select multiple analyses and merge them × Delete Rule Analysis Name Number of Assets Number of Failure Events Ξ**Ω** Send to >> Fan Bearing Failure 10 80 10 10 Fan Misalignment Help 0 10 10 Fan Motor Failure 0 Guidelines 10 52 Fan PM - No Failure 10 20 Fan Unbalance 5 records found

The <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule] page</u> appears.

Aspects of the Reliability Automation Rule Summary Screen

The **Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]** page displays information about the selected Reliability Automation Rule. You can access the summary screen from the <u>Automation Rules List Screen page</u>. This screen also appears when you <u>create a new</u> <u>Reliability Automation Rule</u>.



The **Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]** page contains the following items, which provide details about the Reliability Automation Rule:

- Rule Name: The name of the rule that you selected.
- Rule Description: A short description of the rule that you selected.
- Automation Rule Criteriasection: Displays a description of the criteria that identify the rule, including the type of analysis that will be generated from the rule. In addition, this section contains the name of the family to which the analyzed events belong, along with the relationship between the family and events. If filters or groupings have been applied to the rule, they will be noted in this section. You can click the Update RuleInformation link to display the Reliability Automation Rule Builder, which will be populated with the information you entered when you created the rule. You can modify the rule by making different selections in the

builder.

- Automation Rule Information section: Lists the potential analyses that are based upon the filters and groupings specified. A Reliability Analysis will be created for each potential analysis that contains at least the <u>minimum number of failure</u> <u>events</u> required for the analysis the next time you execute the rule. You can click any name in the list to <u>view a preview</u> of the data that will be included in the analysis.
 - For Reliability Automation Rules based on an Equipment/Location-Event data structure, the name of the analysis is populated automatically by the Meridium APM system based on the name of the equipment/location family that you selected on the Choose an Asset Family builder screen.
 - If you made no selections on the Select Population Grouping screen, the Meridium APM system will use only the equipment/location family name as the name of the analysis.
 - If you make Group By selections on the Select Population Grouping screen, the Meridium APM system will append the name of each member of the selected population group(s) on this screen to the name of the analysis.
 - For Reliability Automation Rules based on a query, the name of the analysis is populated automatically using values that correspond to the fields you selected on the Select Population Grouping screen. If you did not select any groupings, the new analysis will be named New Analysis.

For example, suppose that *Equipment* is the name of the selected equipment/location family. If you selected the Manufacturer field for population grouping, the name of each manufacturer is listed next to the Equipment family name.

In addition, the **Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]** page also contains two task menus: <u>Rule Tasks</u> and <u>Common Tasks</u>.

Rule Tasks Menu



The **Rule Tasks** menu on the **Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]** page contains the following links:

- View Rule List: Displays the <u>Automation Rule List Screen page</u>.
- Execute Rule: Executes the rule that is currently displayed.
- Merge Analyses: <u>Merges</u> the selected analyses. This link is enabled only when more than one analysis is selected in the Automation Rule Information list.
- Unmerge Analyses: Displays the Unmerge Analyses dialog box, where you can select the merged analyses that you want to <u>unmerge</u>. This link is enabled only when one or more merged analyses exist.

Note: You can merge only analyses that share similar characteristics.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]** page contains the following links:

- New Rule: Displays the Reliability Automation Rule Builder, which lets you <u>create</u> <u>a new Reliability Automation Rule</u>.
- **Open Rule:** Displays the **Find a Reliability Automation Rule** window, which you can use to find and open an existing rule.
- Save Rule: Saves the currently displayed Reliability Automation Rule.
- Save Rule As: Saves the currently saved analysis with a different name.
- **Delete Rule:** Deletes the current rule(s), after asking for confirmation.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Summary Screen of [Automation Rule]page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

Displaying a Preview of the Analysis Failure Data

Based on the selections that you choose in the <u>Reliability Automation Rule Builder</u>, a query is generated for analysis. From the <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule] page</u>, you can access the query containing the failure data for the analysis that will be generated when the Reliability Automation Rule is executed.

To display a preview of the analysis failure data:

• In the Meridium APM Framework application, in the **Automation Rule Information** section, click the name of the desired analysis in the **Analysis Name** column.

😵 Analysis Failure Data Details 🧾							
View Query and Failure Data							
Analysis Failure Data Query:							
SELECT "Equipment Technical Number" "Map0", "Event Start Date" "Map2", "Mechanical Down Time" "Map3" FROM (! 'Public\Meridium\Solution Content\Reliability Analytics\Reliability Automation Rule Query - Shell and Tube HE') InnerQuery WHERE ("Equipment Technical Number"='E0001- 002' AND "Maintainable Item Descripti"='INTERNAL - TUBES')							
	Asset ID	Failure Date	Down Time				
►	E0001-002	7/17/2003	3552				
	E0001-002	7/5/2003	672				
	E0001-002	10/15/1999	180	=			
	E0001-002	8/6/2002	144				
	E0001-002	2/7/2004	122.4				
	E0001-002	3/22/1999	234				
	E0001-002	2/19/2003	183.6				
	E0001-002	5/26/2009	40.8				
	E0001-002	9/9/2009	72				
	F0001-002	9/29/1999	198				
	15 records found						
	OK Help						

The Analysis Failure Data Details dialog box appears.

The **Analysis Failure Data Details** dialog box displays the query that is being used to retrieve the failure data for the selected analysis, and a grid displays the result set of the query based on the mapping fields you selected in the **Reliability Automation Rule Builder**.

Note: You cannot edit the fields listed in the query results.

Merging Analyses

If two or more analyses share similar characteristics, you may find it useful to merge them and produce one analysis instead of separate analyses. Also, if an analysis does not have the minimum number of failure events required in order to create an analysis, you can merge it with another analysis.

Note: You can merge analyses only if they contain the same equipment and population groupings.

To merge two analyses:

1. In the Meridium APM Framework application, on the <u>Summary Screen of [Auto-</u> <u>mation Rule] page</u>, in the Automation Rule Information section, select the rows containing the analyses that you want to merge.

When you select more than one analysis, the **Merge Analyses** link becomes enabled on the **Rule Tasks** menu.

2. Click the Merge Analyses link.

The Merge Analysis Grouping Fields dialog box appears.

See Analysis Grouping Fields				
Merge Fields for Grouping Selection				
[Work Order].[Failure Mode]				
Bearing Failure				
Misalignment				
	OK Cancel Help			

The groupings for the selected analyses are listed in the list at the top of the dialog box.

3. Click a grouping in the first list to select it.

The lower list is populated with the fields belonging to that grouping.

- 4. Click a field in the second list to select it as the reference field. The field(s) that you do not select are the alternate field(s).
- 5. Click OK.

The reference field now contains the values for the alternate field, and one analysis will be generated based on the reference field when the rule is executed. The system updates the list of analyses in the **Automation Rule Information** section.

Undoing a Merge

To undo the merge of two or more analyses to create separate analyses:

- 1. In the Meridium APM Framework application, on the <u>Summary Screen of [Auto-</u> <u>mation Rule] page</u>, in the Automation Rule Information section, select the desired analysis.
- 2. On the **Rule Tasks** menu, click the **Unmerge Analyses** link. Note that this link is enabled only if the selected analysis has been merged.

The Unmerge Analyses dialog box displays a list of existing merge conditions.

3. Select the desired merge condition(s), and click OK.

A prompt appears, asking if you really want to delete the selected merge condition (s).

4. Click the **Yes** button.

The merge conditions are deleted, and the system updates the list of analyses in the grid in the **Automation Rule Information** section. The separate analyses appear in the list.

Executing Reliability Automation Rules

You can execute Reliability Automation Rules either from the <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule] page</u> (to execute the currently displayed rule) or from the <u>Automation</u> <u>Rules List Screenpage</u> (to execute one or more selected rules). Either procedure produces the same results.

When a rule is executed, only the potential analyses that contain the minimum number of failure points for an analysis will be created or updated. The following number of failure points is required for each analysis that can be created from a Reliability Automation Rule.

- Reliability Growth Analysis: 3 failure points
- Reliability Distribution Analysis: 2 failure points
- Cost of Unreliability Analysis: 1 failure point

If the potential analysis does not contain the corresponding number of failures or more, when the rule is executed, the analysis will not be created.

Note:Before you use a rule to create an analysis, you should review the data required for the type of analysis you are creating. If you use invalid data, the analysis will still be created, but the results will not be valid.

To execute a Reliability Automation Rule:

• On the <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule] page</u>, on the Rule Tasks menu, click the Execute Rule link.

-or-

On the <u>Automation Rules List Screen page</u>, in the list of rules, select one or more rules that you want to execute. Then, on the **Rule Tasks List** menu, click the **Execute Rule(s)** link.

The system executes the rule(s) and generates the resulting analysis.

Deleting Reliability Automation Rules

To delete one or more Reliability Automation Rules:

1. On the <u>Summary Screen of [Automation Rule] page</u>, on the Common Tasks menu, click the Delete Rule link.

-or-

On the <u>Automation Rules List Screen page</u>, in the list of rules, select one or more rules that you want to delete. Then, on the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Delete Rule** link.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the rule.

2. Click the **Yes** button.

The rule is deleted from the database.

Parameters for the Reliability Automation Rules URL

The URL for accessing Reliability Automation rules, **meridium://Reliability/Automation**, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the Page parameter.

Note: Some parameter values for the Reliability Automation Rules URL are case sensitive. When constructing URLs for Reliability Automation Rules, use the exact case that appears in the following table.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
EntyKey	Specifies which automation rule you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired automation rule.	You can use this parameter in con- junction with the Summary, Pare- toPlot, or PlotData parameter.
Page	Specifies whether to display the list of existing rules or a specific rule.	List Summary	 List:Displays the Automation Rule List Screenpage. Summary: Displays the Summary Screen for [Automation Rule]page for the automation rule specified by the EntyKey parameter.

Examples of Reliability Automation Rules URLs

meridium://Reliability/Automation?Page=List

Displays the Automation Rule List Screen page.

meridium://Reliability/Automation?Page=Summary&EntyKey=1234567

Displays the **Summary Screen for [Automation Rule]** page for the automation rule with the Entity Key 1234567.

About Navigating the Reliability Analytics Module

Within the Meridium APM Framework application, the Reliability Analytics module provides the following navigational tools:

- A <u>start page</u> with links that provide access to the Reliability analyses and their various features and tools.
- <u>A Site Map that you can use to navigate within the Reliability Analytics module</u>. The Site Map indicates your current location and shows the typical path for arriving there. To access a previous page, you can click its hyperlinked name in the Site Map.

Using the Reliability Analytics Site Map

The Site Map in Reliability Analytics allows you to navigate from the current page to other pages in Reliability Analytics. The **Reliability** link, which provides access to the **Reliability Analytics Start Page**, will always be available. Links to other pages may also be available depending upon your location in the application. You can click any link that is available to access the corresponding page.

The following image shows an example of what the Site Map looks like on the **Pro-duction Analytics** page. A red outline has been added to the image to highlight the Site Map.



What is a Production Analysis?

Meridium APM Reliability Analytics offers various tools that help you analyze the reliability of your equipment and locations so that you can make decisions about when to repair and replace those pieces of equipment and locations. For example, a Reliability Distribution Analysis lets you analyze historical failure data to help predict future failures. Based upon those predictions, you can make plans for replacing equipment and making repairs to prevent future failures. Predicting failures and replacing equipment will ensure profitability, however, only if equipment failures are primarily responsible for your lost profit opportunities.

Often, a large amount of profit is lost due to production problems, rather than equipment or location problems. Therefore, analyzing losses due to operational problems is necessary for conducting a comprehensive analysis of production losses. To quantify losses due to operational problems, in addition to analyzing individual equipment and locations, you must also analyze the process in which they are involved. To do this, you can use a *Production Analysis*.

Production Analyses allow you to evaluate the reliability of the process in which individual pieces of equipment and locations are involved. Instead of analyzing the failure data, Meridium APM Production Analyses analyze production output data to help you see patterns in the output and determine the reliability of the process as a whole. Production Analyses provide a visual representation of production output and allow you to quantify production losses and the cost associated with them. With regular use of Production Analyses, your company can determine where you are losing the most money and then take corrective actions that will help yield higher production and earn larger profits.

Within a Production Analysis, you can plot production output data and then:

- Define the *observed* production rate with a Demonstrated Line.
- Determine the reliability of the production process by defining a <u>Process Reliability Line</u>.
- Define the *ideal* production output capacity with a <u>Nameplate Line</u>.
- Compare the expected output to the ideal output to <u>calculate the efficiency and</u> <u>utilization costs</u>.
- Draw one or more <u>Custom Lines</u> to exhibit losses and gains compared to other observed production output or based upon theoretical scenarios.

Data Used in a Production Analysis

To create a Production Analysis, you must collect production output information, which consists of numeric values representing the output of a process over some period of time. How you collect the output data and how often you collect it is up to you and may be determined based upon a variety of factors, including the type of process, how often the process produces measurable output, and how often you want to record it. While the amount of time between output readings is up to you, note that to create a meaningful analysis, the output data must be collected at *regular* intervals (e.g., hourly, daily, weekly, or monthly) so that the output values can be compared to one another.

When you create a Production Analysis from within the Production Analysis module, you can supply data to the analysis using a <u>Meridium APM query or dataset</u>, or <u>you can</u> <u>enter data manually using a grid</u> provided for that purpose. To use a query as the basis for your analysis, the production output data must be stored in the Meridium APM database so that it can be queried. For example, you might store production data in custom Production Output records that you create and associate with the systems for which you record regular output readings.

You can also create a Production Analysis from within the Production Loss Accounting (PLA) module. PLA allows you to create production plans and then record daily production output against the plan. If desired, you can use these production output values as the starting point for a Production Analysis.

Note: If you are using PLA to collect production data, Meridium provides the *Production Data* family to store the output readings.

Keep in mind that production output data is collected for a <u>process</u>, not for individual pieces of equipment. A single process may involve one or more pieces of equipment. Throughout this documentation and in the Meridium APM Production Analysis tool, we refer to this collection of equipment as the production *unit*. The term *unit* is simply a way for us to refer to the process and all the pieces of equipment involved in it. It does not imply a Meridium APM family or a specific record in the database.

Note: If you are using PLA to collect production data, Meridium provides the *Production Unit* family for use within the PLA workflow.

If you are using a query or dataset to store production output data, the following table lists the fields whose values you can provide to the analysis (through the <u>Production Analysis Builder</u>). The source data *must* include *at least* production output values.

Data	Description	Notes
Production Output	Values representing the amount of output produced by the unit during the specified period of time (e.g., hourly, daily, weekly, or monthly).	These values must be numeric. You can define the units of measure for the out- put values after you create the analysis. Production out- put values are required for creating a Production Ana- lysis.
Production Date	The date on which the production output value was recorded. If you have a date field within your query or dataset and you choose not to map it to the Production Analysis Builder , you can see the dates used to build the analysis in the <u>Edit Pro- duction Data grid</u> .	Production Dates are optional.
Unit ID	A value that describes the production unit, which consists of the individual pieces of equipment that work together to produce the production output. You may have more than one Unit ID value within the Production Analysis and may group your datapoints by that specific value.	Units are optional.

Production Analysis Workflow

After you gather production output data and use it to create a Production Analysis, you will need to perform a number of tasks within the analysis in order to analyze the data. You are not required to perform these tasks in any particular order. In this topic, how-ever, we provide a workflow that we recommend you use for conducting a complete Production Analysis the first time. Following this workflow will ensure that you complete all the tasks that are necessary to conduct a complete analysis and will give you an overview of the analysis process. After you have learned how to perform a full analysis using this recommended workflow, you can adjust the order of the steps, omit steps, or repeat steps to suit your specific needs.

Performing a Production Analysis consists of completing the following main steps:

- 1. **Collect production output data**. Before you can create a Production Analysis, you first must <u>collect production output data</u>, which are numeric values representing the output of a process over some period of time.
- 2. Use the data to create a new Production Analysis. You can create a new Production Analysis from a Meridium APM <u>query or dataset</u> or from <u>manually entered</u> <u>data</u>.
- 3. **Define the unit of measure for your output data**. Unit of measure is not taken into account when you first create the analysis, even if a unit of measure is associated with your production output values. After the analysis has been created, however, you can label the production output data with the appropriate unit by <u>setting the unit of measure</u> for the analysis.
- Adjust the cost value for your unit of measure. To calculate the cost of your production losses, you will need to <u>define the cost associated with each unit of</u> <u>output</u>.
- 5. **Draw the** <u>Demonstrated Line</u>, which represents the production output when the unit is operating at its observed rate of capability.
- 6. Draw the <u>Process Reliability Line</u>, which is the first point at which output suddenly changes and the datapoints begin to deviate significantly from the Demonstrated Line.
- 7. Draw the <u>Nameplate Line</u>, which represents the ideal production output of the unit under ideal conditions.
- 8. Draw one or more <u>Custom Lines</u>, which let you make a visual comparison between your demonstrated production rate and other observed or theoretical production rates.
- **9. Evaluate the results** by viewing the calculations on the **Production Loss Regions** pane.
Example of a Production Process

To make this documentation easier to follow and to help explain how Production Analyses can be used to evaluate production processes, in this topic, we provide an example of a simple production process. We will refer to this example throughout the Production Analysis documentation as necessary.

Consider the process of manufacturing bottled water, which might consist of the following steps:

- 1. Collect water from spring.
- 2. Fill bottles.
- 3. Attach labels.
- 4. Attach caps.
- 5. Sort bottles, discard any that fail quality inspection, and package for shipping.

All of these steps must be completed in order to produce a finished product. In our example, the production unit consists of the individual pieces of equipment that together perform the steps in the process. The production output of this unit is a bottle of water ready to be sold.

For our example, we will assume that we collect production output as the number of bottles produced per day. We will also assume that we began producing bottled water on January 1, 2000. Once a year we generate a Production Analysis to evaluate the actual production output, to calculate losses compared to the <u>ideal production output</u>, and to <u>establish goals for improving production the following year</u>.

Note: This example is extended in the Production Loss Accounting (PLA) documentation. The PLA documentation assumes that a separate facility has production units that create bottles, labels, and caps and distributes them to the facility that performs the process described above.

Using the Production Analysis Builder

Using the **Production Analysis Builder**, you can create a new Production Analysis:

- Based on a new or existing query or dataset.
 - -or-
- From manually entered data.

You can access the **Production Analysis Builder** from the <u>Select a Production Analysis</u> <u>from the List page</u> or the **Production Analysis** page.

Creating a Production Analysis from a Query or Dataset

To create a new Production Analysis based on a new or existing query or dataset:

1. On the <u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>, click the **Production Analysis** link.

The Select a Production Analysis from the List page appears.



2. On the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The Production Analysis Builder appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Production Analysis Builder - W	Production Analysis Builder - Welcome						
meridium	Welcome to the Production Analysis Builder						
	In the next few steps you will create a new Production Analysis. You will be able to base the analysis on production data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.						
	Don't show this page again.						
	To continue, click Next.						
[< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help						

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

3. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.

Production Analysis Builder - Select Data Source Type									
Select Data Source	Select Data Source Type								
Query Based									
Production	data will be loaded	l using an existing Q	uery.						
C I will create	a new Query and u	ise it to load produ	ction data.						
Dataset Based									
O Production	data will be copied	from an existing Da	taset.						
O I will create	a new Dataset and	l use its contents as	production data.						
No Data Source	No Data Source								
C I will manua	C I will manually enter production data.								
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help				

- 4. Select one of the following options:
 - Production data will be loaded using an existing Query. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired query in the Catalog.
 - I will create a new Query and use it to load the production data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, theQuery Builder will appear so that you can design a new query. Click the Help button in the Query Builder for details on building a new query.
 - Production data will be copied from an existing Dataset. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired dataset in the Catalog.
 - I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as production data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, theDataset Builder will appear so that you can design a new dataset. Click the Help button in the Dataset Builder for details on building a new dataset.

After you have selected or created the desired query or dataset and clicked the **Next** button, it appears on the **Select** screen of the **Production Analysis Builder**.

Production Analysis Builder -	Select Query				
Select Query					
Query: AvailableFields:	Public\Meridium\Sol Equipment Technicc Equipment ID Functional Location Name Last Reading Date Alert Level Acknowledged EQ_ENTY_KEY FL_ENTY_KEY	ution Content\AHI\Q al Number	ueries\All E Brow	se	
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

5. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Production Fields** screen appears. The **Production Output** list and the **Production Date** list are populated automatically.

Production Analysis Builder - Select Production Fields						
Select Production F	ields					
Production Output						
Production Output			•			
Production Date:	Last Reading D	ate	•			
Unit ID:			•			
			1			
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help	

- 6. In the **Production Output** list, select the field that stores values representing the production amount that you want to use in your analysis. The list displays all the numeric fields that exist in your query or dataset; the first numeric field is selected by default. This field is required.
- 7. In the **Production Date** list, select the field that will be used as the date of production for the analysis. The list displays all date fields that exist in your query or dataset, the first date field is selected by default. This field is optional.
- 8. In the **Unit ID** field, select the field that stores values identifying the production unit for which the production data has been recorded. The list displays all character fields but is not populated automatically. This field is optional.
- 9. Click the **Finish** button.

Note: If the query returns or the dataset contains any null production values, a warning message appears, notifying you that all null production values will be converted to a value of zero within the analysis. Click **OK**.

If Meridium APM finds zeros or negative numbers for the **Production Output** value in the dataset or the query results, the **Minimum Production Output** dialog box appears.

Creating a Production Analysis from a Query or Dataset

See Minimum Production Output						
Set Minimum Production Output						
Min Production Output:	0.01					

10. In the **Min Production Output** text box, type the value that you want to use to replace zero and negative production output values. The suggest value is calculated based on the highest production output. Zero and negative values cannot be plotted and will instead be plotted using the value specified here. You can also <u>change the Minimum Production value</u> after the Production Analysis has been created.

Note: To determine the suggested value, 0.00001 is multiplied by the highest production output value and then rounded down. For example, if the highest production output value is 823, that value is multiplied by .00001 to equal .00823. That value is then rounded down to one at the first non-zero decimal place, or .001 in this example, to become the default value in the Minimum Production Output dialog box.

11. Click **OK**.

The **Production Analysis** page appears, displaying the results of the analysis.



12. Click the **Save Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to save the analysis results. After you have created a new analysis, our first step will be to <u>draw the</u> <u>Demonstrated Line</u>.

Creating a Production Analysis from Manually Entered Data

To create a new Production Analysis based on manually entered data:

1. On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Production Analysis** link.

The Select a Production Analysis from the List page appears.



2. On the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link

The Production Analysis Builder appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Production Analysis Builder - W	Production Analysis Builder - Welcome						
meridium	Welcome to the Production Analysis Builder						
	In the next few steps you will create a new Production Analysis. You will be able to base the analysis on production data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.						
	Don't show this page again.						
	To continue, click Next.						
[< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help						

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

3. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select the Data Source Type** screen appears.

Production Analysis Builder - Select Data Source Type							
Select Data Source Type							
Query Based							
Production	data will be loaded	l using an existing Q	uery.				
O I will create	a new Query and u	ise it to load produ	ction data.				
Dataset Based							
O Production	data will be copied	from an existing Da	ataset.				
🔘 I will create	a new Dataset and	l use its contents as	production data.				
No Data Source	•						
C I will manually enter production data.							
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help		

- 4. Select the I will manually enter production data option.
- 5. Click the Finish button

The **Edit Production Data** grid appears, displaying a single empty row.

4	Edit Production Da	ata								×
	Production Output	Date	Ignore	Product	Production C	omments (
		-								
						OF	Cance		Help	
Т	otal Rows: 0 Ignor	ed Row	s: 0 To	tal Produ	ction: 0.00					

6. In the **Production Output** cell of the first row, type the first production output value. This field is required.

Note: If you do not have any data for a given date, you must type**0**(zero). Null values are not allowed.

- 7. In the **Date** cell of the first row, if you want to enter a date:
 - Click the substant data and use the Calendar to select a date associated with the first production output value.

-or-

• Type the first production date.

The date is optional.

8. In the **Ignore** cell of the first row, select the check box if you want to exclude this output value from calculations performed by the Production Analysis. The

datapoint will be plotted but will be displayed as an X.

- 9. In the **Product** cell of the first row, type the name of the product. This field is optional.
- 10. In the **Production Comments** cell of the first row, type any additional comments. This field is optional.
- 11. Repeat steps 6-10 until all production data has been entered.
- 12. Click **OK**.

The **Edit Production Data** grid closes. If you entered zeros or negative numbers for the production output values, the <u>Minimum Production Output dialog box</u> appears.

See Minimum Production Output	×					
Set Minimum Production Output						
Min Production Output: 0.01						
OK Cancel Help]					

13. In the Min Production Output text box, type the value that you want to use to replace zero and negative production output values. The suggest value is 0.00001, but is calculated based on the highest production output. Zero and negative values cannot be plotted and will instead be plotted using the value specified here. You can also change the Minimum Production value after the Production Analysis has been created.

Note: Note: The value .00001 is multiplied by the highest production output value and then rounded down. For example, if the highest production output value is 823, that value is multiplied by .00001 to equal .00823. That value is then rounded down to the nearest tenth decimal place, or .001 in this example, to become the suggested value in the Minimum Production Output dialog box.

14. Click OK.

The **Production Analysis** page appears, displaying the results of the analysis.



15. Click the **Save Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to save the analysis results. After you have created a new analysis, our first step will be to <u>draw the</u> <u>Demonstrated Line</u>.

Accessing the List of Production Analyses

To display the list of existing Production Analyses:

• On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Production Analysis** link.

The Select a Production Analysis from the List page appears.



When you first access the **Select a Production Analysis from the List** page, Meridium APM runs the Production Weibull query to display all the Production Analyses that were updated by the Meridium APM user who is currently logged in. From the **Select a Pro-duction Analysis from the List page**, you can:

- Click any hyperlinked analysis in the results list to access that analysis. Note that you can also select more than one analysis, and click the **Multiple Analyses**link on the**Plots**menu to view multiple Production Analyses on the Multiple Production Analyses Plot.
- Select different criteria and rerun the **Production Weibull** query to view a different list of Production Analyses and then access any analysis in that list.
- Click the **New Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to begin the process of creating a new Reliability Production Analysis.

Aspects of the List of Production Analyses

The **Select a Production Analysis from the List** page lets you run the Production Weibull query to view a list of existing Production Analyses that meet your query criteria.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Select a Production Analysis from the List 📃 💷 🕰						
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp						
😻 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔑 Search 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Query	🔹 🛅 Report 🛛 🚱 Graph 🕶 🧐 Dataset 🕶 🖬 Dashboard 🕶					
Site Map: Reliability->Production Analysis						
meridium 📑						
Reliability Analytics	vsis from the List					
Multiple Analyses Last Updated By Administrator, Meridium	✓ Run Query					
Common Tasks 😽						
a New Analysis						
Den Analysis						
Save Analysis ID Last Updated Updated By						
🔓 Save Analysis As						
X Delete Analyses						
<i>≡Ω</i> Send To >>						
🕢 Help						

The Production Weibull query is stored in the Meridium APM Catalog in the folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. The baseline Production Weibull query contains one prompt: **Last Updated By**. This prompt appears at the top of the page as a drop-down list that contains the list of users.

The Last Updated By list contains the following options:

- Your user name, which is selected by default and will cause the query to return only the Production Analyses that were last updated by you.
- The user name of any user who last updated any Production Analysis, which will cause the query to return only the Production Analyses that were last updated by that user.
- The **[All Users]** option, which will cause the query to return a list of Production Analyses updated by any user.

Each time you access the <u>Select a Production Analysis from the List page</u>, the value that appears by default in the prompt will be used to filter the list. After you select different

criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button to run the Production Weibull query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page.

Note: Although the results are returned by the Production Weibull query, query page size is ignored. The entire list of analyses is displayed at once.

The default Production Weibull query is configured to display the following columns of information: **Analysis ID**, **Last Updated**, and **Updated By**. You can click any hyperlinked Analysis ID to view the associated Production Analysis summary. In addition, you can use the options on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to perform various tasks for the analyses in the list.

Plots Menu



The **Plots** menu on the **Select a Production Analysis from the List** page contains the following link:

• **Multiple Analyses:** Displays the datapoints of <u>multiple existing Production Ana-</u><u>lyses</u> on the Multiple Production Analyses Plot.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Select a Production Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the <u>Production Analysis Builder</u>, which will guide you through the process of creating a new Production Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Opens the **Find Items** window, which lets you search for an existing Production Analysis.
- Delete Analyses: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Select a Production Analysis from the List page.

Note: The **Save Analysis** and **Save Analysis As** links are always disabled on the **Select a Production Analysis from the List** page.

Opening an Existing Production Analysis

To open a Production Analysis:

1. On the **Select a Production Analysis from the List** page, in the **Last Updated By** list, select the user for which you want to return a list of Production Analyses.

Note: Additional fields may appear if the baseline query has been modified. If additional fields are available, use them to limit the query results as desired.

2. Click the **Run Query** button.

Meridium APM runs the Production Weibull query and displays the results in the grid in the main display area.

Sit	SiteMap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>ProductionAnalysis</u>					
		Select a Production Analysis from the List				
La	st Updated By	Demo, Jo	e	•	Run Query	
	Analysis ID	Last Updated	Updated By	[
►	2006 Unit 1	6/24/2010	Demo, Joe			
	Gasoline - B	9/7/2010	Demo, Joe			

3. In the **Analysis ID** column, click the analysis ID of the analysis that you want to open.

The **Production Analysis** page appears.



When you open an existing analysis, the analysis will display the data and calculations that were last saved with the analysis. If you want to reload the underlying query or dataset and update calculations based on any changes to the underlying data, you must <u>reload the analysis</u> after opening it.

Opening Multiple Existing Production Analyses

To open multiple existing Production Analyses:

1. On the <u>Select a Production Analysis from the List page</u>, in the Last Updated By list, select the user for which you want to return a list of Production Analyses.

Note: Additional fields may appear if the baseline query has been modified. If additional fields are available, use them to limit the query results as desired.

2. Click the **Run Query** button.

Meridium APM runs the Production Weibull query and displays the results in the grid in the main display area.

Sit	SiteMap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>ProductionAnalysis</u>						
		Select a Production Analysis from the List					
La	st Updated By	Demo, Jo	e	Run Query			
	Analysis ID	Last Updated	Updated By				
►	2006 Unit 1	6/24/2010	Demo, Joe				
	Gasoline - B	9/7/2010	Demo, Joe				

- 3. Select the rows containing the Production Analyses that you want to open.
- 4. On the **Plots** menu, click the **Multiple Analyses** link.

The selected analyses appear on the **Multiple Production Analyses Plot** page, displaying the datapoints, <u>Process Reliability Lines</u>, and <u>Production Lines</u> for each analyses. Each separate analysis and the lines associated with it appear in coordinating colors. The legend appears to the right of the plot by default to display which colors represent what for the different analyses.



Note that even though the Process Reliability Lines are represented as a dotted, horizontal line on the **Multiple Production Analyses Plot**, they are not represented in the legend.

From the Multiple Production Analyses Plot page, you can:

- Pause on a defined analysis or Production Line in the legend to highlight the associating analysis or Production Line in the plot area.
- View the details of a specific analysis by clicking a datapoint, reliability line, or production line to open *that* analysis on the **Production Analysis** page.
- View the details of a datapoint, reliability line, or production line by pausing on a datapoint, reliability line, or production line.
- Customize the **Multiple Production Analysis Plot** using the standard graph toolbar or the annotation toolbar.
- Click the New Analysis, Open Analysis, Send To, or the Help links on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>.

Aspects of the Production Analysis Page

The **Production Analysis** page displays the <u>Production Analysis Plot</u> as datapoints on a graph. The dates for which the datapoints represent are displayed as a subtitle above the graph. There are two windows that appear below the analysis by default and display the values from defining the <u>Process Reliability line</u>, the <u>Demonstrated Line</u>, the <u>Nameplate Line</u>, and the <u>Production Line</u>:

• Production Loss Regions pane

Production Loss Regions		▼ Ф	×
Name	Quantity (Tons x1000)	Cost (\$)	*
Total Loss	338,226.07	1,691,130	
Reliability Loss	224,543.09	1,122,715	=
Sub Reliability Loss 65.60% ~ 95.71%	186,875.59	934,378	
Sub Reliability Loss 95.71% ~ 99.81%	37,667.50	188,337	
Efficiency/Utilization Loss	113,682.98	568,415	-

• Production Lines pane

Production Lines			•	ņ	×	
	Name	Beta	Eta			
►	Demonstrated Line	17.7262		316	2.5	140
	Nameplate Line	100.0000		340	0.0	000

The **Production Analysis** page contains the following task menus: <u>Analysis Tasks</u>, <u>Analysis Settings</u>, <u>Common Tasks</u>, and <u>Associated Pages</u>. These task menus give you quick access to common tasks associated with Production Analyses.

The **Production Analysis** page provides a standard graph toolbar, where only some of standard toolbar options are available. The standard graph toolbar for a Production Analysis contains an additional **Zoom in** feature, which allows you to zoom in on any selected area. A **Zoom out** feature is also available to let you revert to the original view of the Production Analysis. The annotation toolbar for a Production Analysis allows you to customize the plot with features such as shapes and text boxes.

Analysis Tasks Menu



The **Analysis Tasks** menu on the **Production Analysis** page contains the following links:

- **Define DL:** Displays a submenu that lets you define the <u>Demonstrated Line</u> using the following options: Regression Fit, Draw Line, Select Point and Specify Beta, or Specify Beta and Eta.
- **Define Reliability:** Allows you to draw the <u>Process Reliability Line</u>, which defines the reliability of the process as a percentage.
- **Define NL:** Displays a submenu that lets you define the <u>Nameplate Line</u> using the following options: Regression Fit, Draw Line, Select Point and Specify Beta, or Specify Beta and Eta.
- Create CL: Displays a submenu that lets you define a <u>Custom Line</u> using the following options: Regression Fit, , Draw Line, Select Point and Specify Beta, or Specify Beta and Eta.
- Edit Data: Displays the Edit Production Data window, where you can view and edit the production data.
- **Reload Data:** <u>Reloads the data</u> stored in the database after asking for confirmation to overwrite any existing data. This link appears only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- View Data Source: Displays the data that serves as the source of the analysis. This link appears only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- If the analysis is based on a query, this link will open the query results.
- If the analysis is based on a dataset, this link will open the dataset.
- Group Data By: Displays a submenu that allows you to <u>separate datapoints into</u> <u>groups</u> using the values in a selected field. Each group will be identified on the

Production Analysis with a different color.

- Generate Report: Displays the Report Options dialog box, where you can <u>select</u> <u>the elements of the analysis</u> that you want to include in a report.
- **Rename Analysis:** Displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>change the name and description of the analysis</u>. Note that changes to the name and description take effect immediately, but you must save the analysis to save the changes.
- View Recommendations: Allows you to <u>view and edit recommendations</u> related to the current analysis. This link is enabled only if you are viewing a saved analysis.

Analysis Settings Menu



The **Analysis Settings** menu on the **Production Analysis** page contains the following links:

- Show/Hide: Displays a submenu, where you can choose to show or hide the <u>Pro-</u><u>duction Lines pane</u> and the <u>Production Loss Regions pane</u>.
- Min Production: Displays the Minimum Production Output dialog box, where you can change the minimum value used by the current analysis.
- Unit of Measure: Displays the Unit of Measure dialog box, where you can <u>change</u> the units of measure for the production output.
- Margin Value: Displays the Margin Value dialog box, where you can <u>define the</u> <u>cost associated with each unit of output</u>.
- Margin Currency: Displays the Margin Currency dialog box, where you can <u>change the cost currency of the analysis</u>.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Production Analysis** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the <u>Production Analysis Builder</u>, which will guide you through the process of creating a new Production Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Items** window, which you can use to locate ad open an existing Production Analysis.
- Save Analysis: Saves the currently displayed analysis. If you are viewing a brand new analysis that has not yet been saved, this link will display the Save Analysis dialog box, where you can <u>save the analysis</u>. If you are viewing an existing analysis, when you click this link, Meridium APM will save any changes that you made to the analysis since it was last saved.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save this Analysis dialog box, where you can choose to save it with a different name.
- Delete Analysis: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the **Production Analysis** page.

Associated Pages Menu

The **Associated Pages** menu on the **Production Analysis** page displays only links that have been configured for the Production Analysis family. For details on configuring items to appear on the **Associated Pages** menu, see the URL Manager Help.

About the Production Analysis Plot

When you create a Production Analysis, Meridium APM plots the production output values. The output values themselves are plotted along the x-axis, and the Reliability Percentage values for each datapoint are plotted along the y-axis. The Reliability Percentage is calculated by first determining the median rank of each output value and then using the median rank in a second equation that converts it to the Reliability Percentage. The following simplified equation can be used to determine an approximated median rank for each output value:

Median Rank=1-(i-.3)/(N+.4)

...where:

- **i** = The order of each datapoint with respect to other datapoints. To determine the **i** value of each datapoint, the output values are sorted from highest to lowest. The highest output value is assigned a value of **i=1**. The second-highest value is assigned **i=2**, and so on until all the output values have been numbered.
- N = The number of output values. For example, if your Production Analysis has a year's worth of datapoints, then N=365. If your Production Analysis has only a month's worth of datapoints, then N=31 or N=30, depending on what month you are using.

After the median rank has been calculated, the Reliability Percentage is calculated using the following equation and then plotted along the y-axis:

Reliability Percentage=100-(Median Rank*100)

The general shape of the plot can provide you with basic information about your production process:

- Ideally, the datapoints will be plotted to form a vertical line at the highest possible X-value. This would mean that your process is producing the highest rate of output at all times, with no variation, and that you have no reliability or process problems. While this scenario is not realistic, visualizing the ideal plot compared to your actual plot can be useful in understanding how far your actual data deviates from ideal data.
- If the datapoints are plotted in a straight, diagonal line that slopes downward from right to left with no sharp change in production rate, then any variation in output is due to process problems; you have no equipment/location reliability problems.
- If the datapoints show a sharp change in production, then you have both process problems and equipment/location reliability problems. You will <u>draw your Process</u> <u>Reliability</u> where you notice this sharp change in production output.
- Within the <u>reliability loss region</u>, you may notice distinct areas where the production output varies greatly from the rest of the datapoints in the region. These variations may be due to different types of reliability problems, such as system shutdowns, intentional cutbacks, and equipment/location failures. You can <u>create</u>

breakpoints to divide the reliability loss region into separate areas where you notice these changes.

About the Process Reliability Line

An ideal process will produce the maximum possible output at all times, but actual processes demonstrate variation in output over time. The variation in output can be caused by various factors, including process problems, equipment and location problems, shutdowns, and cutbacks.

The Process Reliability Line marks the location at which datapoints begin to trend away from the <u>Demonstrated Line</u>. This is the location at which variation in output shifts from being attributed to production losses to being attributed to reliability losses and defines the reliability of the process, expressed as a percentage. It is the point at which the process shifts from being fairly reliable to being unreliable.

For example, in the following Production Analysis, notice the Process Reliability Line for the <u>bottled water production process</u>.



Reading the analysis from *right to left*, notice that the output closely follows the Demonstrated Line until the production output is around 3000 bottles per day. The output then decreases and begins to trend away from the Demonstrated Line toward a lower Reliability rate. We have <u>drawn the Process Reliability Line</u> where we observed this distinct change.

Notice that the line is labeled **Process Reliability: 65.15%**. This means that our process is reliable 65.15% of the time. The other 34.85% of the time, production loss is due to equipment/location failures, downtime, or intentional cutbacks in production.

The decision of where to draw the Process Reliability Line is somewhat subjective and will be determined by how your datapoints look after they have been plotted and how you interpret the plot. If your datapoints do not exhibit a distinct trend away from the Demonstrated Line, and are plotted in a fairly, straight, diagonal line, it may not be appropriate to draw the Process Reliability Line at all.

Defining the Process Reliability Line

To create a Process Reliability line on a Production Analysis:

- 1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Define Reliability** link.
- 2. Select the point on the analysis at which datapoints begin to trend away from the Demonstrated Line.

A dotted line appears and is labeled **Process Reliability: [Percentage]**, where **[Percentage]** indicates the reliability of the process, represented as a percentage.

3. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link to save the changes.

Note: To delete the Process Reliability Line, right-click the line, and then click **Delete Reliability Line**.

Types of Production Lines

When viewing the results of a Production Analysis, you can define the following types of lines:

- **Demonstrated Line**: Represents the production output when the unit is operating at its observed rate of its capability. The region between the Demonstrated Line and the Nameplate Line is represented as the **Efficiency/Utilization Loss** region on the **Production Loss Regions** pane.
- Nameplate Line: Represents the most ideal production output of the unit.
- <u>Custom Line</u>: Provides a visual comparison between the Demonstrated Line and other observed or theoretical production rates. You can have more than one Custom Line per analysis.

All of these lines can be drawn by:

- Using <u>Regression Fit</u>.
- <u>Selecting a point and specifying the Beta value</u>.
- <u>Drawing the line</u> manually.
- Specifying Beta and Eta values.

Note: To delete any of the lines, right-click the line, and then click Delete Line.

About the Demonstrated Line

Somewhere on the Production Analysis you should be able to identify a group of datapoints that represent your typical output. Consider again our example of the <u>bottled</u> <u>water production process</u>. In the Production Analysis plot, notice the group of datapoints between 3000 and 4000 bottles per day. Within this range, the variation in number of bottles produced is relatively small. This is the *demonstrated* production output of our production process, where the production unit produces the same amount on a regular basis. Therefore, we have defined the Demonstrate Line along these datapoints.



The Demonstrated Line extends beyond the plotted datapoint to show what the production would have been if the production rate had not started to drop off due to reliability problems, such as equipment and location failures, cutbacks, and downtime.

CE Hint: Drawing the Demonstrated Line *first* can help you determine where to draw the Process Reliability Line. You will want to draw the Process Reliability Line where the datapoints begin to deviate from the Demonstrated Line.

About the Nameplate Line

Every process will have both *ideal* output value and *actual* output values. Ideally, a process should always produce the maximum possible output. The maximum possible output is determined by a variety of factors and is often influenced most significantly by manufacturer specifications. Many manufacturers specify a *nameplate* value for their equipment to indicate the highest capacity of a given piece of equipment under ideal operating conditions. Together, the nameplate values for the individual pieces of equipment can help you determine the nameplate value for the entire unit, which is the maximum production output for the process under ideal operating conditions.

After you have plotted your production data, you will want to draw a Nameplate Line on the Production Analysis Plot to indicate the ideal output. Meridium APM will calculate the difference between the ideal output and your <u>observed output values</u> (represented by the Demonstrated Line) to determine your Efficiency/Utilization Losses.

Note that it may not always be appropriate to use the manufacturers' nameplate value as the nameplate value for your process. The maximum production capacity based upon manufacturers' specifications may be unrealistic if you intentionally operate under conditions that do not meet those specifications. For example, you may operate at a lower temperature due to environmental constraints. If you calculate your production losses based upon an impossible goal, your losses may appear inflated. In this case, you may want to consider these factors into account to determine a more realistic nameplate value: one that actually can be achieved.

Consider again our example of the <u>bottled water production process</u>. On the Production Analysis Plot, notice that on October 18, 2006, the bottled water production process produced 4100 bottles of water, the highest observed value all year. In this example, we have drawn the Nameplate Line (green) through the highest *actual* production value, which we consider our ideal value. This will help us determine the efficiency and utilization losses by comparing the ideal production output to the <u>observed production output</u>.



Alternatively, your process may be operating precisely according to the manufacturers' specifications. In this case, you may want to draw your Nameplate Line at a location determined by the manufacturers' nameplate values. In this case, the location of the Nameplate Line may or may not correspond to any actual output values that have been plotted. Even though the manufacturers' specifications are being followed, the process may still be operating well below its maximum capacity, in which case the Nameplate Line may be drawn above your first observed output value.
About the Custom Line

After you have drawn the Demonstrated Line, the Process Reliability Line, and the Nameplate Line, you can optionally draw one or more additional Custom Lines to compare historical or projected production rates to the observed production rate. For example, you might draw a Custom Line:

- To compare the current year's production to the previous year's production.
- To compare your company's production rates with the production rates of another company that is using the same process.
- To project how much more you could produce the next year if you improved your process to achieve a projected production rate.

Again, consider our example of the <u>bottled water production process</u>. To increase our profits, we want to have a higher rate of production in 2007 than we did in 2006. To set a stretch goal for 2007, we have drawn a Custom Line using the Beta and Eta values that we want to achieve for 2007.



To draw the line, we used the <u>Specify Beta and Eta</u> option and chose the Eta value of **3368.8576**, which is the same as the Demonstrated Line for 2006, and a Beta value of **25** to project *less* production variation than shown by the Demonstrated Line. After we have evaluated the differences in the current 2006 production rate and the anticipated

2007 production rate, we can begin determining what actions we need to take to achieve that goal for the following year.

Using Regression Fit

The **Regression Fit** option lets you select a group of datapoints and then calculates the best-fit method to draw a line for that set of datapoints. For the following example, we will draw a Demonstrated Line using the **Regression Fit** option.

To draw a line using the Regression Fit:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Define DL** link.

A submenu appears.

Regression Fit
Draw Line
Select Point and Specify Beta
Specify Beta and Eta

2. Click Regression Fit.

The pointer changes to a cross + , indicating that you can begin selecting a group of datapoints.

3. Click and drag the pointer to create a box around at least two datapoints.

Note:If you attempt to draw a regression fit around datapoints where the Beta value will be close to zero and Eta will be too large, an error message appears, explaining that Eta is out of range.

Meridium APM draws the line through the area of selected datapoints using the best-fit method, and the pointer reverts back to an arrow. The following image shows a magnified example of a line drawn using the Regression Fit method.



Drawing a Line Manually

The **Draw Line**option allows you to draw a line manually anywhere on the current analysis. For example, we will show you how to draw a Nameplate Line using the Draw option.

To draw a line manually:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Define NL** link.

A submenu appears.

Regression Fit
Draw Line
Select Point and Specify Beta
Specify Beta and Eta

2. Click Draw Line.

The pointer changes to a pencil $\ensuremath{\mathbb{N}}$, indicating that you can draw the line manu-

ally anywhere on the Production Analysis.

3. Click and drag the pointer where you want the line to appear.

The line appears, and the pointer reverts back to an arrow. In the following image, we show an example of a Nameplate Line drawn using the Draw Line option.



Selecting a Point and Specifying Beta

The **Select Point and Specify Beta** option allows you to select a datapoint for a line to pass through and <u>enter the Beta value</u> to determine the slope of the line. For the following example, we will draw a Nameplate Line using the **Select Point and Specify Beta** option.

To draw a line by selecting a point and specifying the Beta value:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Define NL** link.

A submenu appears.

Regression Fit
Draw Line
Select Point and Specify Beta
Specify Beta and Eta

- 2. Click Select Point and Specify Beta.
- 3. Click the datapoint through which you want the line to pass.

The D	Define	Nameplate	Line	dialog	box	appears.
--------------	---------------	-----------	------	--------	-----	----------

😩 Define Nameplate Line								
Enter Beta								
Beta:	10							
	OK Cancel Help							

- 4. In the **Beta** text box, type the desired Beta value. If a Nameplate Line does not currently exist, the value for Beta is set by default to **10** but can be changed to any number between .001 and 1000. If a Nameplate Line does exist, the value for Beta is set to the value of that line but can be changed to any number between .001 and 1000. Keep in mind that the higher the Beta value, the more vertical the line will be.
- 5. Click OK.

The line is drawn through the selected datapoint with the slope designated by the specified Beta value. The following image shows a magnified view of a line that was drawn using a Beta value of **50**.



Specifying Beta and Eta Values

The **Specify Beta and Eta** option allows you to draw a line by entering both the Beta and Eta values. This tool may be useful when you create a Custom Line to indicate the production rate of output used in another Production Analysis. Simply copy the Beta and Eta values for the Demonstrated Line from that analysis and then provide them when using this option. In the following example, we will create a Custom Line.

To draw a Custom Line by specifying Beta and Eta values:

 On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the Create CL link.

A submenu appears.

Regression Fit
Draw Line
Select Point and Specify Beta
Specify Beta and Eta

2. Click Specify Beta and Eta.

The **Create Custom Line** dialog box appears.

😵 Create Custom Line 🧧								
Enter Beta a	nd Eta							
Beta:	10							
Eta:	1							
Oł	Cancel Help							

- 3. In the **Beta** text box, type the desired Beta value. The Beta value is set to **10** by default but can be changed to any number between .001 and 1000.
- 4. In the **Eta** text box, type the desired Eta value. The Eta value is set to **1** by default but can be changed to any number less than 100000000.
- 5. Click **OK**.

The line appears and intersects the production output where the Reliability Percentage is 36.8% with a slope designated by the specified Beta value. The Beta and Eta values specified appear on the <u>Production Lines pane</u>. In the following example, the Beta value is set to **25** and the Eta value is set to **3368.8576**. These



are the values we chose to use for the <u>Custom Line</u> in our <u>bottled water pro-</u><u>duction process example</u>.

Grouping Production Data

When a Production Analysis has been created using fields in addition to Production Output and Date, you can color code the datapoints according to the values in any of those fields.

Consider again our example of the bottled water production process. The dataset used to create our Bottled Water Production Analysis contains three columns: Date, Production, and Category. We used the Category field to record the reasons for the Production Output on a given day, such as Equipment Failure, Process Variability, Budgeted Maintenance, and so on. We can use the Group By feature to color code our datapoints for each of these categories.

To group the data by a field:

1. On the Analysis Tasks menu, click the Group By link.

A submenu appears with the fields available in the query or dataset.



2. Select the field that you want to use for color coding.

The datapoints within the Production Analysis change color to correspond to the values in the field. A different color is assigned automatically to each unique value.

Note:The legend will not appear automatically. You can enable the legend using the standard graph toolbar.

By grouping our example analysis by the **Category** field, we can see which datapoints are associated with each category.

(E Hint: You can hover over a datapoint on the Production Analysis to highlight all the datapoints in the same group.

What is a Breakpoint?

On a Production Analysis Plot, you will draw the Process Reliability Line to identify your Reliability Loss Region. Datapoints below the Process Reliability Line help make up the Reliability Loss Region.

Typically, the Reliability Loss Region will show large variations in output that can be attributed to problems that impact the production process significantly, such as equipment and location failures, system shutdowns, and intentional cutbacks. For example, if you collect production output data daily and the system is shut down completely for five days during your collection period, then five datapoints will have near-zero values. These values should be easily distinguishable from the rest of the values in the Reliability Loss Region.

To calculate your Reliability Losses accurately, you may want to separate the datapoints associated with shutdowns from the datapoints where losses are attributed to actual equipment slowdowns or intentional cutbacks. You can use the breakpoint tool to separate the Reliability Loss Region into these categories. The breakpoints will be taken into account in calculations so that your Reliability Losses represent losses due to actual equipment and location problems. Breakpoints also can be used to identify areas of distinct change in output when you do not know the reason for the change.

Consider again our example of a <u>bottled water production process</u>. In the following example, we have circled the datapoints associated with unplanned shutdowns due to uncontrollable issues (e.g., lack of raw material), where the production output is near zero.



To separate this region from the rest of the reliability losses, we can <u>create a breakpoint</u> on the highest Reliability value within that distinct region. After the breakpoint has been



created, Meridium APM automatically shades the different regions of production output.

CE Hint: You can change the color of any region by right-clicking the shaded region and clicking **Set Region Color**. A color template window will appear where you can select the desired region color.

Now *two* shaded Reliability Loss regions are visible on the Production Analysis Plot. The gray area represents losses associated with unplanned and planned shutdowns, and the purple area represents the losses due to equipment and location failures and intentional cutbacks. All reliability losses will be calculated for *each* region and will appear as Sub Reliability Loss regions on the <u>Production Loss Regions</u> pane.

Note: You can <u>create more than one breakpoint</u> when your production output displays more than two regions of shutdowns, equipment and location failures, intentional cutbacks, or other unknown variations.

Creating a Breakpoint

To create a breakpoint for a Production Analysis:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, right-click the datapoint where you want to insert the breakpoint.

A shortcut menu appears.



2. Click Break.

Meridium APM separates the **Reliability Loss** region into two shaded regions. The <u>Production Loss Regions pane</u> includes the values for the **Sub Reliability Loss** regions and the total **Reliability Loss** region.

3. Repeat steps 1 and 2 until all desired breakpoints have been created.

EHint:If the datapoints are close together, you may need to zoom in before creating a breakpoint.

Removing a Breakpoint

To remove a breakpoint and the associated region:

1. On the **Production Analysis** page, right-click the desired region.

A shortcut menu appears.



2. Click Delete Region.

The region is removed, along with the associated breakpoint.

CE Hint: You can also delete a breakpoint by right-clicking on the desired datapoint and clicking **Break**. A box around the **Break** icon indicates that this is a breakpoint.

About the Edit Production Data Window

The <u>Edit Production Data window</u> allows you to view the data associated with a Production Analysis. Some of the fields on the **Edit Production Data** window correspond to values that were used to create the analysis. For input fields:

- For an analysis based upon a query, the **Edit Production Data** window displays the information returned by the query.
- For an analysis based upon a dataset, the **Edit Production Data** window displays the information stored in the dataset.
- For an analysis based upon manually-entered data, the **Edit Production Data** window displays the information that you entered when you create the analysis.

Other fields show values that are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are readonly. All values in the **Edit Production Data** window are stored in the Production Data field in the Production Analysis record.

You can modify certain values via this window in order to update data. In most cases, however, you would not want to change the data unless there was an error in the original data source. Some values are calculated by the Meridium APM system and cannot be modified.

۲	Edit Production Da	ita					
	Production Output	Date	Ignore	(Influence)	(Category)	(Sub-Category)	A
	3159.6591796875	1/1/2006 💌		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		=
	3111.89923095703	1/2/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3114.1201171875	1/3/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3056.81982421875	1/4/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	2784.6298828125	1/5/2006		Process/Operations	Utility Systems		
	3143.7744140625	1/6/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3168.990234375	1/7/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3116.2498626709	1/8/2006		Equipment Failure	Instrument Equi	Analyzers	
	3174.65804672241	1/9/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	2859.80693435669	1/10/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3177.93174362183	1/11/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3172.7841796875	1/12/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	2928.67465209961	1/13/2006		Process/Operations	Utility Systems		
	3124.13999998569	1/14/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		
	3066.35879976628	1/15/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		-
					ОК	Cancel	Help
To	otal Rows: 365 Igno	ored Rows: 0	Total P	Production: 886,405	41		.::

The following image shows an example of the **Edit Production Data** window.

Data Mapped to the Edit Production Data Window

When you create a Production Analysis from a query or dataset, the **Production Analysis Builder** will prompt you to map values from columns in the query or dataset to certain values in the Production Analysis. The values that you select to map on the **Select Production Fields** screen in the **Production Analysis Builder** will then appear in the associated columns in the **Edit Production Data** window.

Note: If the analysis is based on a query or a dataset and contains additional columns that are not mapped to columns in the analysis dataset, those columns will appear in the **Edit Production Data** window with the column name in parentheses.

The following chart displays which columns are mapped from fields in the **Production Analysis Builder** to columns in the **Edit Production Data** window.

Production Analysis Builder Screen	Production Analysis Builder Field	Edit Production Data Win- dow Column
Select Production Fields	Production Output	Production Output
Select Production Fields	Production Date	Date

Accessing the Production Data

To view and modify the production data:

• On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, click the **Edit Data** link on the <u>Analysis Tasks</u> <u>menu</u>.

The Edit Production Data window appears.

4	B	Edit Production Da	ita					- • •	J
		Production Output	Date	Ignore	(Influence)	(Category)	(Sub-Category)	A	
Ī	Þ	3159.6591796875	1/1/2006 💌		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		=	
		3111.89923095703	1/2/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
		3114.1201171875	1/3/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
		3056.81982421875	1/4/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		2784.6298828125	1/5/2006		Process/Operations	Utility Systems			
Ī		3143.7744140625	1/6/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3168.990234375	1/7/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
		3116.2498626709	1/8/2006		Equipment Failure	Instrument Equi	Analyzers		
Ī		3174.65804672241	1/9/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		2859.80693435669	1/10/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3177.93174362183	1/11/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3172.7841796875	1/12/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		2928.67465209961	1/13/2006		Process/Operations	Utility Systems			
Ī		3124.13999998569	1/14/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3066.35879976628	1/15/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ľ									
					[ОК	Cancel	Help	
ſ	Тс	otal Rows: 365 Igno	ored Rows: 0	Total F	Production: 886,405	.41		.:	

Aspects of the Edit Production Window

The **Edit Production Data** window displays columns that are specific to the fields in the query or the dataset. If there are any additional values that are not mapped to either the **Production Output** or **Date** column, they will appear in parentheses along the top of the grid.

(8	Edit Production Da	ita						
		Production Output	Date	Ignore	(Influence)	(Category)	(Sub-Category)	A	·
	Þ	3159.6591796875	1/1/2006 💌		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error		-	4
Ī		3111.89923095703	1/2/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
		3114.1201171875	1/3/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3056.81982421875	1/4/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		2784.6298828125	1/5/2006		Process/Operations	Utility Systems			
Ī		3143.7744140625	1/6/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3168.990234375	1/7/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3116.2498626709	1/8/2006		Equipment Failure	Instrument Equi	Analyzers		
		3174.65804672241	1/9/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		2859.80693435669	1/10/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3177.93174362183	1/11/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		3172.7841796875	1/12/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ī		2928.67465209961	1/13/2006		Process/Operations	Utility Systems			
Ī		3124.13999998569	1/14/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
		3066.35879976628	1/15/2006		Process/Operations	Maintenance Error			
Ē	_								
					[ОК	Cancel	Help	
Γ	To	otal Rows: 365 Igno	ored Rows: 0	Total F	Production: 886,405	.41			::

CEHint: You can sort the data on the Edit Production Data grid.

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid on the **Edit Production Data** window:

- **Production Output:** The production amounts you are using to create the analysis. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Date:** The date the corresponding production amount was record. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Ignore:** A value that indicates whether or not the data on the selected row is *ignored*, meaning excluded from the analysis calculations and plots. When *selected*, the data in the associated row will be excluded from the analysis. When *cleared*, data in the selected row will be included in the analysis. You can modify this value manually.

- Total Rows: The total number or rows in the Edit Production Data window.
- **Ignored Rows:** The total number of rows in the **Edit Production Data** window in which the **Ignore** check box is selected.
- Total Production: The sum of the values in the Production Output column.

Note: If you change any values in the **Edit Production Data** window, after you click **OK**, the changes will be reflected in your Production Analysis but will not be saved until you click the **Save** link on the **Common Tasks** menu. Also, if you change any values in the **Edit Production Data** window to 0 or negative values, after you click **OK**, if there were no prior 0 or negative values then the <u>Minimum Production Output dialog box</u> will appear.

Changing the Minimum Production Output

The Minimum Production Output is the value used to replace all zeros and negative numbers in the Production Analysis. When you create a new analysis, if the source data contains zeros or negative numbers, you will be prompted to specify a Minimum Production Output value. You will also be prompted to set the Minimum Production Output value if you modify or reload the data to contain zeros and negative numbers in an existing analysis that did not previously contain zeros or negative numbers. You can use the following instructions to modify the value that currently is saved with the analysis.

To change the Minimum Production Output:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Settings menu</u>, click the **Min Pro**duction link.

The **Minimum Production Output** dialog box appears. The **Min Production Output** value is set by default to the value that was selected when the analysis was last saved.

Sea Minimum Production Output									
Set Minimum Production Output									
Min Production Output: 0.01									
OK Cancel Help]								

- 2. In the **Min Production Output** text box, type the value that you want to use to replace zeros and negative numbers.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The Production Analysis is generated with the new Minimum Production Output value.

4. On the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>, click the Save Analysis or Save Analysis As link to save all changes.

Note: The **Min Production** link is always enabled, regardless of whether or not the production output data includes zero or negative values.

Changing the Unit of Measure

When viewing the results of a Production Analysis, the Production Output is characterized along the x-axis and in the **Production Loss Regions** pane. The unit of measure is taken into account for production data when the analysis is first created if the data is from a query. If the data is from a dataset or manually entered data, then there is no unit of measure associated with the Production Analysis and it has to be set. After the analysis exists, you can label the output for the production data with the appropriate unit by setting the unit of measure.

To set a unit of measure:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Settings menu</u>, click the Unit of Measure link.

—
Cancel Help

The Unit of Measure dialog box appears.

- 2. In the **Unit of Measure** text box, type the value that characterizes the unit of measure used to collect the data for the Production Analysis.
- 3. Click OK.

The Production Analysis is generated, and the unit of measure is displayed on the x-axis and on the <u>Production Loss Region pane</u> on the **Quantity** column header. Note that the values in the **Quantity** column change appropriately.

Changing the Margin Value

On the **Production Loss Regions** pane, the **Cost** column is displayed. The **Cost** represents the expense associated with the production loss. By default, Meridium APM assumes a one-to-one ratio of lost production to cost. For example, if your production loss data is recorded in tons, then Meridium APM assumes one dollar of cost for every ton of lost production. To make the Cost value accurate, you may want to change the default loss-to-cost ratio.

To change the Margin Value:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Settings menu</u>, click the Margin Value link.

🍄 Margin Value	
Enter Margin Value	
Margin Value:	1
ОК	Cancel Help

The Margin Value dialog box appears.

- 2. In the **Margin Value** text box, type the value by which Meridium APM will multiply the production loss to determine the cost. For example, if each ton of lost production costs two dollars, type **2** in the **Margin Value** text box.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The **Production Loss Regions** pane displays the new calculations for the Cost values.

Changing the Margin Currency

On the <u>Production Loss Regions pane</u>, the **Cost** column that is displayed and represents the cost associated with the calculated production losses. For the cost calculations to be accurate, they must be displayed in the correct currency. If you want to modify the currency that is currently saved with the analysis, you can change it on the **Margin Currency** dialog box.

Note: When you create a new Production Analysis, if you are logged in an as a user with a Meridium APM Culture setting that has an associated currency, the Margin Currency will be set by default to that currency and saved with the analysis. If you have no Meridium APM Culture setting defined, or if your Meridium APM Culture setting has no currency associated with it, the Margin Currency will be set by default to the currency associated with your Window Regional and Language Options. Other users will see the currency that was last saved with the analysis, regardless of their Meridium APM Culture or Windows Regional and Language Options settings.

To change the margin currency:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Settings menu</u>, click the Margin Currency link.

Search Margin Currency	×
Set Margin Currency	
Margin Currency:	
ОК	Cancel Help

The Margin Currency dialog box appears.

- 2. In the **Margin Currency** text box, type the desired currency code.
- 3. Click OK.

The <u>Production Loss Regions pane</u> displays the new currency code in the **Cost** column header.

About the Production Loss Regions Window

The **Production Loss Regions** pane can optionally appear on the **Production Analysis** page.

Production Loss Regions 🔹 📮 🗙					
Name	Quantity (Tons x1000)	Cost (\$)	*		
Total Loss	338,226.07	1,691,130			
Reliability Loss	224,543.09	1,122,715	=		
Sub Reliability Loss 65.60% ~ 95.71%	186,875.59	934,378			
Sub Reliability Loss 95.71% ~ 99.81%	37,667.50	188,337	_		
Efficiency/Utilization Loss	113,682.98	568,415	•		

The **Production Loss Regions** pane displays the calculations that summarize your Reliability Losses and your Efficiency and Utilization Losses. The **Production Loss Regions** pane contains various rows, depending on which lines have been created on the analysis.

- Total Loss: The sum of the Reliability Loss and the Efficiency/Utilization Loss.
- **Reliability Loss:** The sum of the production loss is the region that lies between the Minimum Production Output value and the <u>Demonstrated Line</u>, below the Process Reliability Line. If breakpoints exist, then the **Reliability Loss** is also the sum of all the **Sub Reliability Loss** regions.
- Sub Reliability Loss: For the first Sub Reliability Loss row, the sum of the losses between the Demonstrated Line and the first breakpoint, below the Process Reliability Line. For subsequent Sub Reliability Loss rows, the sum of the losses between the previous breakpoint and the next breakpoint, below the Process Reliability Line.

Note: Sub Reliability Loss rows will appear only if <u>breakpoints exist on the Pro-</u> <u>duction Analysis</u>. The number of **Sub Reliability Loss** rows will correspond to the number of breakpoints that have been inserted.

Because all Reliability Losses are calculated below the Process Reliability Line, the values for the **Quantity** and **Cost** will change if you change the location of the Process Reliability Line.

• Efficiency/Utilization Loss: The sum of the production losses between the Demonstrated Line and the Nameplate Line.

For each row on the **Production Loss Regions** pane, the following columns are displayed:

- Name: The name of the production loss region.
- **Quantity:** A value representing the total production loss for each region. To specify the units used to calculate these losses, you can <u>change the unit of measure</u>.

• **Cost:** A value representing the amount of profit that was lost due to the production loss in each region. This value is always rounded up to the nearest dollar. To specify the currency, you can <u>change the margin currency</u>.

CE Hint: To export the data from the **Production Loss Regions** pane, right-click the window and click **Copy Production Loss Regions Data**. After the values have been copied, they can be pasted into other applications, such as Microsoft Excel.

About the Production Lines Window

The **Production Lines** pane can optionally appear on the **Production Analysis** page.

Pro	oduction Lines		→ ∓ X
	Name	Beta	Eta
►	Demonstrated Line	17.7262	3162.5140
	Nameplate Line	100.0000	3400.0000
	Custom Line	50.0000	3160.0000

The **Production lines** pane contains various rows, depending on how many lines have been created. The color of each label corresponds to the color of the line on the analysis. For example, our <u>bottled water production process</u> has the following lines specified on the analysis, therefore:

- **Demonstrated:** The Demonstrated Line for the current analysis.
- **Custom:** The Custom Line that represents the projected goal in 2007 for the current analysis.
- **Nameplate:**The Nameplate Line for the current analysis.

For each row, the **Production Lines** pane provides the following columns:

- Name: The names of the production lines that exist in the analysis.
- **Beta:** The Beta value for the line. In a Production Analysis, the Beta value indicates how reliable the production process is. The closer the line is to vertical, the higher the Beta value. AhigherBeta value indicates*less*variation in the production process (more reliable); *alower*Beta value indicates*more*variation in the production process (less reliable). You can use the following general guidelines to evaluate the production process according to the Beta value.
 - Beta = 5: Large variation in production output; a very poor production process.
 - Beta = 10: Moderate variation in production output; a fair production process.
 - **Beta = 25:** Some variation in production output; a good production process.
 - Beta = 50: Minimal variation in production output; a very good production process.
 - Beta = 100: Only minor variations in production output; an excellent production process.
 - Beta = 200: Almost no variation in production output; an outstanding production process.

• **Eta:** The Eta value for the line. In a Production Analysis, the Eta value represents where the line crosses the y-axis at 36.8% Reliability.

You can manually change the Beta and Eta values by clicking in any Beta and Eta value field, deleting the current value, and defining a different one.

CE Hint: To export the data from the **Production Lines** pane, right-click the window and click **Copy Production Lines Data**. After the values have been copied, they can be pasted into other applications, such as Microsoft Excel.

Hiding and Displaying the Production Analysis Details

The Production Analysis details appear automatically below the analysis after you <u>create</u> <u>a new Production Analysis</u>. The analysis details are separated into the <u>Production Loss</u> <u>Regions pane</u> and <u>Production Lines pane</u>.

To hide the Production Analysis details if they are currently displayed:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the Analysis Settings menu, click the Show/Hide link.

A submenu appears, displaying two options: <u>Production Lines</u> and <u>Production</u> <u>Regions</u>. If a window is displayed, a check mark appears next to the window name.

2. Click the name of the window that you want to hide.

The submenu closes and the specified window is hidden. When the **Show/Hide** submenu is opened again, that option will not be selected.

To display the Production Analysis details when they are hidden:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the **Analysis Settings** menu, click the **Show/Hide** link.

A submenu appears, displaying two options: <u>Production Lines</u> and <u>Production</u> <u>Regions</u>. If a window is displayed, a check mark appears next to the window name.

2. Click the name of the window that you want to show.

The submenu closes and the specified window appears. When the **Show/Hide** submenu is opened again, that option will be selected.

To move the Production Lines or Production Loss Regions pane:

• On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, click and drag the menu bar of the desired window to the area you want the window to be placed.

If you are <u>opening an existing Production Analysis</u>, the details may or may not appear in another area of the analysis, depending on the last saved changes.

Ignoring Production Output Values

Certain production output may be inaccurate or invalid for your Production Analysis. For example, if there is a planned shutdown for three days, there will be three near-zero production output values that you will not want to include in the production loss calculations. You may want to include this data in your production data for record purposes, but you may not want it to affect the calculations of the reliability losses. In this case, you can ignore individual production output datapoints from the analysis.

You can ignore any datapoints for any reason. Keep in mind, however, that the goal is to ignore datapoints that would inaccurately skew your Reliability Loss calculations. For instance, you may want to ignore datapoints associated with planned shutdowns because they represent planned, intentional losses. You would not, however, want to ignore datapoints associated with unplanned shutdowns, which represent unplanned, reliability losses due to equipment and location problems.

To ignore datapoints from the analysis calculations:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Edit Data** link.

*	Edit Production	Data				
	Production Output	Date	Ignore	Product	Production Comments	[
►	1	-				
	2					
	3					
	4					
	5					
	6					
*						
					01	Cancel Help
To	otal Rows: 6 Ignored	d Rows:	0 Total	Production	n: 21.00	
<u> </u>	in the second second		e , rotai			

The Edit Production Data grid appears.

- 2. Locate the row containing the production data that you want to ignore.
- 3. In the **Ignore** cell of that row, select the check box.
- 4. Repeat these steps for any additional datapoints that you want to ignore.

Note: To include a datapoint for which the **Ignore** flag has been selected, clear the check box.

5. Click OK.

Meridium APM recalculates the losses on the **Production Loss Regions** pane, taking the ignored datapoints into account. The ignored datapoints are still plotted on the analysis but are represented by an **X**.

CHint:You can also right-click any datapoint and click **Ignore Point** to omit that datapoint from calculations.

Overview of the Production Analysis Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the Production Analysis Report, which you can use to view a summary of the results of a Production Analysis. When you run the Production Analysis Report, it will appear on the **Report Viewer** page.

The Production Analysis Report is built from the following Catalog items:

- The main report, *ProductionAnalysisReport*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\SSRS.
- The subreport, *SubreportProductionAnalysis*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The supporting queries that supply data in the main report and subreport, which are stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports. The following supporting queries are available:
 - Production Analysis Query
 - Production Analysis Query Lines: Provides the information that is displayed in the <u>Analysis Summary</u>, <u>Production Lines</u>, <u>Production Weibull Plot</u>, and <u>Production Data</u> sections of the Production Analysis Report.
 - Production Analysis Query Regions: Provides the information that is displayed in the Production Loss Regions section of the Production Analysis Report.

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreport, and the supporting queries collectively as the *Production Analysis Report*.

The Production Analysis Report contains a prompt on the ENTY_KEY field in the Production Analysis family. When you run the Production Analysis Report via the Production Analysis module, the ENTY_KEY of the Production Analysis record associated with the current analysis is passed automatically to the prompt, and the results for the current Production Analysis are displayed. If you run the main report or any of the queries in the preceding list directly from the Catalog, however, you will need to supply the ENTY_KEY of a Production Analysis record manually to retrieve results. The subreport (i.e., Catalog item *SubreportProductionAnalysis*) cannot be run directly from the Catalog.

The Production Analysis Report contains the following sections:

- Analysis Summary
- Production Lines
- Production Loss Regions
- Production Weibull Plot
- Production Data

Running the Production Analysis Report

You can run the Production Analysis Report to view a summary of the results of a Production Analysis.

To run the Production Analysis Report:

1. On the <u>Production Analysis page</u>, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Generate Report** link.

The **Report Options** dialog box appears. The following image shows what the **Report Options** dialog box looks like by default.

😤 Report Options	
Select Elements to Inc	lude in the Report
Cover Page	✓ Production Loss Regions
Analysis Summary	Production Weibull Plot
Production Lines	Production Data
	OK Cancel Help

2. Select the desired elements to be included in the report, and click **OK**.

The Production Analysis Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.

Analysis Summary Section

The **Analysis Summary** section of the Production Analysis Report displays information that is stored in the Production Analysis record.

Analysis Summary			
Analysis Name:	2006 Unit 19 Production		
Analysis Description:	Production Analysis for Unit 19		
Analysis Start Date:	1/1/2006		
Analysis End Date:	12/31/2006		
Process Reliability:	53.28%		
Total Data Points:	365		
Ignored Data Points:	0		
Min Production:	0.01		
Unit of Measure:	Tons x1000		
Margin:	\$ 5		
Last Modified:	11/3/2011		
Modified By:	Administrator, Meridium		

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Summary** section and the corresponding Production Analysis record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Production Analysis Field
Analysis Name	Analysis ID
Analysis Description	Short Description
Analysis Start Date	Analysis Start Date
Analysis End Date	Analysis End Date
Process Reliability	Pro Reliability
Total Data Points	Total Points
Ignored Data Points	Ignored Points
Min Production	Min Production
Unit of Measure	Unit of Measure

Report Item	Production Analysis Field	
Margin	Margin Value	
Last Modified	LAST_UPDT_DT	
Modified By	LAST_UPBY_SEUS_KEY	
	Note: The name of the Security User associated with this value is displayed in the report.	

Production Lines Section

The **Production Lines** section of the Production Analysis Report contains a grid that displays information that is stored in the Weibull records that are linked to the Production Analysis record. Each row in the grid represents one Weibull record that is linked to the Production Analysis record.

Production Lines					
	Name	Beta	Eta	R ²	Goodness of Fit
	Demonstrated Line	2.80	4.52	1.00	True
	Nameplate Line	7.14	5.92	[

The following table lists each column in the grid in the **Production Lines** section and the corresponding Weibull record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Column	Weilbull Field
Name	Analysis ID
Beta	Beta
Eta	Eta
R2	R-Squared
Goodness of Fit	Passed

Production Loss Regions Section

The **Production Loss Regions** section of the Production Analysis Report contains a grid that displays information that is stored in the Production Losses records that are linked to the Production Analysis record. Each row in the grid represents one Production Losses record that is linked to the Production Analysis record.

Production Loss Regions				
Name	Region Start	Region End	Quantity	Cost
Total Loss			1,365,881.22	1,365,881
Reliability Loss	55.65%		172,266.65	172,267
Sub Reliability Loss	55.65%	82.57%	52,511.37	52,511
Sub Reliability Loss	82.57%	91.61%	63,589.09	63,589
Sub Reliability Loss	91.61%	93.80%	15,530.59	15,531
Sub Reliability Loss	93.80%	97.63%	26,475.09	26,475
Sub Reliability Loss	97.63%	99.81%	14,160.51	14,161
Efficiency/Utilization Loss			1,193,614.58	1,193,615

The following table lists each column in the grid in the **Production Loss Regions** section and the corresponding Production Losses record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Column	Production Losses Field
Name	Losses Type
Region Start	Area Start
Region End	Area End
Quantity	Production Losses
Cost	Losses Cost
Production Weibull Plot Section

The **Production Weibull Plot** section of the Production Analysis Report displays the Production Weibull Plot that is displayed on the <u>Production Analysis page</u>.



Production Data Section

The **Production Data** section of the Production Analysis Report contains a grid that displays information that is stored in the Production Data field in the Production Analysis record.

Production Data			
Production Output	Date	Ignored	
2106.44	1/1/2006	False	
2074.60	1/2/2006	False	
2076.08	1/3/2006	False	
2037.88	1/4/2006	False	
1856.42	1/5/2006	False	
2095.85	1/6/2006	False	
2112.66	1/7/2006	False	
2077.50	1/8/2006	False	
2116.44	1/9/2006	False	
1906.54	1/10/2006	False	
2118.62	1/11/2006	False	
2115.19	1/12/2006	False	
1952.45	1/13/2006	False	
2082.76	1/14/2006	False	

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid in the **Production Data** section. The values displayed in these columns are stored in the Production Data field in the Production Analysis record:

- Production Output
- Date
- Ignored

Results of a Production Analysis

After you have <u>created your Production Analysis</u>, defined your <u>production lines</u>, defined a <u>Process Reliability Line</u>, created any desired <u>breakpoints</u>, and customized the analysis to your liking, you can interpret the results to determine where to take corrective actions. Consider the following completed Production Analysis for our <u>bottled water process</u>.



In the previous image, we have labeled three shaded regions:

- Sub Reliability Loss Region 1(gray): The area between the first datapoint *above* the breakpoint datapoint and the Demonstrated Line, below the Process Reliability Line. This represents the production from all unintentional equipment slowdowns and intentional cutbacks.
- Sub Reliability Loss Region 2 (purple): The area between the breakpoint datapoint *below*the breakpoint datapoint and the Demonstrated Line, below the Process Reliability Line. This represents the production from all intentional and unintentional shutdowns.
- Efficiency/Utilization Losses (pink): The area between the Demonstrated Line (blue) and the Nameplate Line (green).

Each area represents the production losses associated with the corresponding set of datapoints. The losses are calculated and appear on the <u>Production Loss Regions pane</u>. In the following table, we list our losses from *least* to *greatest*.

Region	Quantity Lost	Cost
Efficiency/Utilization Losses	279,586.89	\$838,762
Sub Reliability Loss Region 1	214,000.54	\$642,002
Sub Reliability Loss Region 2	31,447.89	\$94,344

Note: The shaded regions in the plot can sometimes be misleading. For example, in this case the **Sub Reliability Loss Region 2** is the largest region on the graph. If you look at the loss calculations, however, this region is associated with the second *least* amount of loss. You should always refer to the loss calculations to determine which region is responsible for the highest loss.

The loss calculations can help you determine where to focus your attention to make improvements. You should focus *first* on the area that is responsible for the *greatest* amount of loss.

Many companies automatically focus their attention on equipment and location failures. In this example, however, equipment and location reliability problems account for *less* loss than process problems. Therefore, in this case, we should focus on improving the process before we focus on improving equipment and location reliability. The analysis indicates that even if we repair the equipment, we will probably still experience losses due to process problems.

If, as in our example, your analysis indicates that you should focus on correcting process problems, the steps you take will vary, depending upon the process itself and what you suspect the problems to be. For example, if we suspect that poor employee performance is the cause of our process problems, attempts at lowering the process problems for our bottled water process example might begin with monitoring the employees and possibly creating individual Production Analyses with production output for each employee every month. Also, we might ask a manager to monitor the work of our employees and report any observed problems. Employees might need to be replaced based on production numbers and observations. This would be the first step in helping us achieve our stretch goal for the end of 2007.

If, on the other hand, the analysis indicated that equipment and location problems were responsible for the *greatest* production loss, then conducting a Reliability Distribution Analysis on the piece of equipment or location may be useful to predict the next Time to Failure and make repairs or replacements before failures occur.

What is a Spares Analysis?

Meridium APM Reliability Analytics offers various tools that help you analyze the reliability of your equipment and locations so that you can make decisions about when to repair and replace those pieces of equipment and locations. For example, a Reliability Distribution Analysis lets you analyze historical failure data to help predict future failures. Based upon those predictions, you can make plans for replacing equipment and making repairs to prevent future failures. As part of making plans to replace equipment in the future, you will want to make sure that you have an adequate number of spare parts available. Having spare parts on hand will help reduce the amount of downtime associated with unplanned failures.

The key to a successful spares program is maintaining a balance between:

- Optimizing the spares level so that you have enough spare parts to handle unplanned failures.
- Not having a surplus of parts that are not actually needed.

To help you maintain the optimal number of spare parts, Meridium APM provides Spares Analysis, which is a tool that uses delivery time and cost, downtime, lost production costs, and failure and repair data to calculate how many spare parts should be kept on hand at any given time.

You can modify the input data for a Spares Analysis to evaluate the potential savings or losses associated with changing the spares level. For example, if you currently keep three spare seals for a pump, you could use a Spares Analysis to determine whether it would benefit your company financially to store either more or fewer spare seals instead.

After creating a Spares Analysis, you can:

- Run a Monte Carlo simulation.
- View the cost differences between spare levels on the Spares Analysis plots.
- View the results of the Monte Carlo simulation in a dataset.
- Export a log of events from the Monte Carlo simulation to a text file.

Spares Analysis Workflow

To create a full Spares Analysis, you need to complete each step in the following work-flow:

- 1. <u>Create a Spares Analysis record</u>. The Spares Analysis record contains data about the analysis.
- 2. <u>Create a Spare record</u>. The Spare record contains data about the spare part that you want to analyze.
- 3. <u>Create a Spare Application record</u>. The Spare Application record contains the failure and repair data for the spare part that you want to analyze.
- 4. <u>Create a Spare Application Population record</u>. The Spare Application Population record contains age data for the equipment that contains the spare part that you are analyzing.
- 5. <u>Run the Monte Carlo simulation</u> to calculate analysis results.
- 6. <u>View the results of the Monte Carlo simulation</u>.

After these initial steps have been performed, you can modify existing records, add additional records, rerun the Monte Carlo simulation, and view the updated results as needed.

Example of a Spares Analysis

To make this documentation easier to follow and to help explain how Spares Analyses can be used to evaluate spare parts, in this topic, we provide an example of a Spares Analysis that analyzes the spare parts associated with a group of eqipment. We will refer to this example throughout the Spares Analysis documentation as necessary.

For our example, we will create a Spares Analysis for a group of pumps, which contain seals, bearings, and impellers, each of which can fail. Because we may need to replace seals, bearings, and impellers on the pumps when they fail, we want to use a Spares Analysis to determine the optimal level for each spare part. Currently, one spare seal, one spare bearing, and no spare impellers are stored in the warehouse. By conducting a Spares Analysis, we can determine if this number of spare parts is appropriate.

In the Spares Analysis, we will include failure data for each part of the pump, run the Monte Carlo simulation, and then view the plots to see the optimal level of each spare part. By implementing the recommended spare level, we will be able to limit the amount of downtime and reduce failure costs.

The following records will be defined for our Spares Analysis example. Note that data that exists within each record in the Spares Analysis example can be found in the Spares Analysis Example Data tables.

- 🔁 Spares Analysis Example (Spares Analysis record)
- Seals (Spare record)

When Higour Apprication (Spard Application see that each spare record is linked to the Spares Application Population record is linked to a Spare Application record, and each Spare Application Population record is linked to a Spare Application record. Indoor Population 2 (Spare Application Population record)

This example represents only one approach to creating a Spares Analysis. Note that numerous after hate working we could be used for developing a Spares Analysis. For exam Bearings (Spare Feedbald Spares Aliantists) at the plint feed (e.g., the equipment level), pontorial poincian a star and the st are families wetothattenctionality of also areas Analysis using this example, you can imple-ment any workflow that works best for your organization record) Indoor Population 2 (Spare Application Population record)

- 🔁 Outdoor Application (Spare Application record)
- Outdoor Population 1 (Spare Application Population record) -61
- 👘 Alurdoodr applationa 2 (Apple Apple Application device a police to record)
- 🗊
- Butto BPPUlatian (Spara APA lightian BAPPUlatian of received)
- 🗊 Pump Population 2 (Spare Application Population record)
- 👘 **Pump Population 3** (Spare Application Population record)
- 🗊 **Pump Population 4** (Spare Application Population record)

Spares Analysis Example Data

The following topics contain details on the specific data that is used in our Spares Analysis example:

- Spare Analysis Record Data
- Spare Record Data
- Spare Application Record Data
- Spare Application Population Record Data

Spare Analysis Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the Spares Analysis record for our Spares Analysis example.

Record	Section	Values Specified
Spares Analysis Example	Analysis	Name: Spares Analysis Example
		Description: This is a sample Spares Ana- lysis example.
		Simulation Start Date: 1/1/2008
		Simulation End Date: 1/1/2018
		Currency: \$
Spares Analysis Example	Simulation Options	Number of Iterations: 100
		Random Seed: No
		Enable Event Log: No

Spare Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the Spare records that are included in our Spares Analysis example.

Record	Section	Values Specified
Seals	Spare	Name: Seals
		On-Site Delivery Time: 4 Hours
		Normal Order Time: 25 Days
		Normal Cost: 100
		Expedited Order Time: 3 Days
		Expedited Cost: 300
		Holding Cost Rate: 20 per Year
		Min Inventory Level: 0
		Max Inventory Level: 10
		Current Holding Level: 1
Bearings	Spare	Name: Bearings
		On-Site Delivery Time: 4 Hours
		Normal Order Time: 25 Days
		Normal Cost: 100
		ExpeditedOrderTime: 3 Days
		Expedited Cost: 300
		Holding Cost Rate: 20 per Year
		Min Inventory Level: 0
		Max Inventory Level: 10
		Current Holding Level: 1

Record	Section	Values Specified
Impellers	Spare	Name: Impellers
		On-Site Delivery Time: 4 Hours
		Normal Order Time: 25 Days
		Normal Cost: 100
		Expedited Order Time: 3 Days
		Expedited Cost: 300
		Holding Cost Rate: 20 per Year
		Min Inventory Level: 0
		Max Inventory Level: 10
		Current Holding Level: 0

Spare Application Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the Spare Application record that are included in our Spares Analysis example.

Section	Values Specified
Seals - Indoor Applica	ition
Application	Name:Indoor Application
Failure Distribution	Distribution Name: Failure Distribution
	Distribution Description: Manually entered based on man- ufacturer data.
	Units: Months
	Distribution Type: Exponential
	MTBF: 60
Failure Con-	Preparation Time: 4 Hours
sequence	Repair Time: 8 Hours
	Total Correction Time: 12 Hours
	Labor Cost: 1000
	Fixed Lost Production Cost: 0
	Variable: Lost Production Cost Rate: 100000 per Day
	# of Required Spares: 1
Preventive Main- tenance	Enable Preventive Maintenance: No
	Time-based Replacement Interval: No
	Labor Cost: No
	Downtime: No
Seals - Outdoor Appli	cation
Application	Name: Outdoor Application

Section	Values Specified
Failure Distribution	Distribution Name: Failure Distribution
	Distribution Description: Manually entered based on man- ufacturer data.
	Units: Months
	Distribution Type: Exponential
	MTBF: 48
Failure Con-	Preparation Time: 4 Hours
sequence	Repair Time: 8 Hours
	Total Correction Time: 12Hours
	Labor Cost: 1000
	Fixed Lost Production Cost: 0
	Variable: Lost Production Cost Rate: 100000perDay
	# of Required Spares: 1
Preventive Main-	Enable Preventive Maintenance: No
tenance	Time-based Replacement Interval: No
	Labor Cost: No
	Downtime: No
Bearings - Indoor App	lication
Application	Name: IndoorApplication
Failure Distribution	Distribution Name: FailureDistribution
	Distribution Description: Manuallyentered based on man- ufacturer data.
	Units: Months
	Distribution Type: Exponential
	MTBF: 60

Section	Values Specified	
Failure Con- sequence	Preparation Time: 4Hours	
	Repair Time: 4 Hours	
	Total Correction Time: 8Hours	
	Labor Cost: 500	
	Fixed Lost Production Cost: 0	
	Variable: Lost Production Cost Rate: 100000perDay	
	# of Required Spares: 1	
Preventive Main-	Enable Preventive Maintenance: No	
tenance	Time-based Replacement Interval: No	
	Labor Cost: No	
	Downtime: No	
Bearings - Outdoor A	pplication	
Application	Name: OutdoorApplication	
Failure Distribution	Distribution Name: FailureDistribution	
	Distribution Description: Manually entered based on man- ufacturer data.	
	Units: Months	
	Distribution Type: Exponential	
	MTBF: 48	
Failure Con-	Preparation Time: 4Hours	
sequence	Repair Time: 4Hours	
	Total Correction Time: 8Hours	
	Labor Cost: 500	
	Fixed Lost Production Cost: 0	
	Variable: Lost Production Cost Rate: 100000perDay	
	# of Required Spares: 1	

Section	Values Specified
Preventive Main- tenance	Enable Preventive Maintenance: No
	Time-based Replacement Interval: No
	Labor Cost: No
	Downtime: No
Impellers - All Applica	tions
Application	Name: AllApplications
Failure Distribution	Distribution Name: FailureDistribution
	Distribution Description: Manually entered based on man- ufacturer data.
	Units: Months
	Distribution Type: Exponential
	MTBF: 72
Failure Con- sequence	Preparation Time: 4Hours
	Repair Time: 4Hours
	Total Correction Time: 8Hours
	Labor Cost: 500
	Fixed Lost Production Cost: 0
	Variable: Lost Production Cost Rate: 100000perDay
	# of Required Spares: 1
Preventive Main- tenance	Enable Preventive Maintenance: No
	Time-based Replacement Interval: No
	Labor Cost: No
	Downtime: No

Spare Application Population Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the Spare Application Population records that are included in our Spares Analysis example.

Population Name	Values Specified
Seals - Indoor Application	
Indoor Population 1	Population Size: 2
	Age Value: 2 Years
Indoor Population 2	Population Size: 1
	Age Value: 4 Years
Seals - Outdoor Application	
Outdoor Population 1	Population Size: 4
	Age Value: 2Years
Outdoor Population 2	Population Size: 2
	Age Value: 3Years
Outdoor Population 3	Population Size: 1
	Age Value: 5Years
Bearings - Indoor Application	
Indoor Population 1	Population Size: 2
	Age Value: 2Years
Indoor Population 2	Population Size: 1
	Age Value: 4Years
Bearings - Outdoor Application	
Outdoor Population 1	Population Size: 4
	Age Value: 2Years
Outdoor Population 2	Population Size: 2
	Age Value: 3Years
Outdoor Population 3	Population Size: 1
	Age Value: 5Years

Population Name	Values Specified
Impellers - All Applications	
Pump Population 1	Population Size: 6
	Age Value: 2Years
Pump Population 2	Population Size: 1
	Age Value: 4Years
Pump Population 3	Population Size: 2
	Age Value: 3Years
Pump Population 4	Population Size: 1
	Age Value: 5Years

Accessing the List of Spares Analyses

To access the list of existing Spares Analyses:

• On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Spares Analysis** link.

Meridium APM runs the Spares query and displays the results on the **Select a Spares Analysis from the List** page.

Seridium APM Framework	- Select a Spares Analysis from the List
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	Неір
😻 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🏈	My Start Page 👻 🎉 New 🔎 Search 🚔 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🕼 Graph + 🍕 Dataset + 📼 Dashboard +
Reliability Analytics	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Spares Analysis</u> Select a Spares Analysis from the List
🛅 New Analysis	Published Analyses Any (%)
📁 Open Analysis	Last Updated By (All Licens)
analyses 🔁 Publish Analyses	(All USE S)
X Delete Analyses	
≡? Send To >>	Analysis TD Last Lindated Lindated By
🕐 Help	Poil Pump Analysis 3/17/2011 Administrato
	Spares Analysis Example 12/1/2009 Demo, Joe

Aspects of the List of Spares Analyses

The **Select a Spares Analysis from the List** page lets you run the Spares query to view a list of existing Spares Analyses that meet your query criteria.

See Meridium APM Framework - Select a Spares Analysis from the List							
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	Help						
🍣 Back 👻 🏵 Forward 👻 🏠	My Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔎 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🗓 Report + 🕼 Graph + 🥰 Dataset + 📼 Dashboard +						
	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Spares Analysis</u>						
meridium	0A						
Reliability Analytics	Select a Spares Analysis from the List						
Common Tasks 📎							
🛅 New Analysis	Published Analyses Any (%)						
📁 Open Analysis	Last Updated By (All Users)						
and Publish Analyses							
X Delete Analyses							
€ Send To >>	Analysis ID Last Updated Updated By						
🕐 Help	Oil Pump Analysis 3/17/2011 Administrato						
	Spares Analysis Example 12/1/2009 Demo, Joe						
 ➢ Delete Analyses ☑ Send To >> ☑ Help 	Analysis ID Last Updated Updated By Oil Pump Analysis 3/17/2011 Administrato Spares Analysis Example 12/1/2009 Demo, Joe						

The Spares query is stored in the following Catalog folder: \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. The baseline Spares query contains two prompts: **Published Analyses** and **Last Updated By**. These prompts appear at the top of the page as drop-down lists that contain various options.

The **Published Analyses** list contains the following options:

- Any (%): Will cause the query to return all Spares Analyses, either published or unpublished.
- Yes (Y): Will cause the query to return only published Spares Analyses.
- No (N): Will cause the query to return only unpublished Spares Analyses.

The Last Updated By list contains the following options:

- Your user name, which is selected by default and will cause the query to return only the Spares Analyses that were last updated by you.
- The user name of any user who last updated any Spares Analysis, which will cause

the query to return only the Spares Analyses that were last updated by that user.

• The **[All Users]** option, which will cause the query to return a list of Spares Analyses updated by any user.

Each time you access the **Select a Spares Analysis from the List** page, the values that appear by default in the prompts will be used to filter the list. After you select different criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button to run the Spares query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page.

Note: Although the results are returned by the Spares query, query page size is ignored. The entire list of analyses is displayed at once.

The default Spares query is configured to display the following columns of information:**Analysis ID**, **Last Updated**, and **Updated By**. You can click any hyperlinked analysis ID to view the **Spares Analysis** page.

CEHint: If desired, you can customize the column display.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Select a Spares Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the Spares Analysis page, where you can begin creating a new Spares Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Opens the **Find Items** window, which lets you search for an existing Spares Analysis and open it on the **Spares Analysis** page.
- **Publish Analyses:** <u>Publishes</u> the selected analysis or analyses. If you select one or more analyses that are already published, this link will read **Unpublish Analyses** and will <u>unpublish</u> the selected analyses.
- **Delete Analyses:** Deletes the analysis that is currently displayed.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Select a Spares Analysis from the List page.

Opening an Existing Spares Analysis

To open an existing Spares Analysis:

- 1. On the <u>Select a Spares Analysis from the List page</u>, in the **Published Analyses** list, select one of the following options:
 - Any(%): Will cause the query to return all Spares Analyses, either published or unpublished.
 - Yes(Y): Will cause the query to return only published Spares Analyses.
 - No(N): Will cause the query to return only unpublished Spares Analyses.
- 2. In the **Last Updated By** list, select the user who last modified the Spares Analysis that you want to open. Note that you can select the **(All Users)** option, which will cause the query to return a list of Spares Analyses that were updated by any user.
- 3. Click the **Run Query** button.

The Meridium APM system runs the Spares query and displays the results in the grid in the main display area.

Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Spar</u>	es Analysis			
Sele	ct a Spare	es Analysis from th	ne List	
Published Analyses	Any (%)			Run Query
Last Updated By	(All Users)		_	
Analysis ID	Last Updated	Updated By	[
Oil Pump Analysis	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium		
Spares Analysis Example	12/1/2009	Demo, Joe		

4. In the **Analysis ID** column, click the hyperlinked analysis ID of the analysis that you want to open.

The **Spares Analysis** page appears.

Spare Meridium APM Framework - Spare	es Analysis - Spares Analysis Exar	mple	_					
<u>File Edit Golo Iools H</u> elp	p							
🍣 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My S	Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔑 Sear	rch 🚞 Catalog 🔞	Query 👻 🛅 Rej	port 👻 🕼 Graph 👻 <table-cell></table-cell>	🖁 Dataset -	🗖 🖬 Dashboard 🗸		
SiteM	1ap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Spares Analysis</u> -:	>Spares Analysis Exar	mple					
meriaium								
Reliability Analytics	Spares Ana	alysis						
Tools 🛛 😸 📥								
🛐 Run Simulation	Spares Analysis Example	Analysis						
Export Results	Indoor Application	Name	Spares Analysis E	xample				
Generate Report	Outdoor Application	Description	This is a sample S	ipares Analysis example	2			
View Recommen	BEARINGS		made by SE Meridium					
	Outdoor Application		Juan Garcia					
Navigation 😵								-
Analysis Definition		Simulation Start Data	1/1/2000		5	mulation End Data 1/1/2010		
Spare Level Plot		Sinulation Start Date	1/1/2009		31		•	
Downtime Plot		Currency	\$					
Spare Usage Plot	2	Simulation Options						
Sensitivity Plot		Spares						
Optimal Holding			1		1		1	
		Name		Current Level		Min Inventory Level	Max Inventory Level	
Common Tasks 🛛 😸		BEADINGS			1)	10
Image: New Analysis		IMPELLER			1)	10
🔎 Open Analysis								
Save Analysis								
🔓 Save Analysis As								
analysis 📃								
X Delete Analysis								
🖅 Send To >>			ļ	Add Spare		Remove	Selected Spare(s)	
A Help								

Creating a New Spares Analysis

To create a new Spares Analysis you must complete the following steps:

- 1. <u>Create a Spares Analysis record</u>.
- 2. <u>Create one or more Spare records</u>.
- 3. <u>Create one or more Spare Application records</u>.
- 4. Create one or moreSpare Application Populationrecords.

Note that before you can <u>run a Monte Carlo simulation</u>, a Spares Analysis must contain at least one Spare record, one Spare Application record, and one Spare Application Population record. If the analysis does not meet this minimum requirement, when you attempt to run the Monte Carol simulation, an error message appears, explaining which record(s) are missing.

Additionally, most fields in each record within a Spares Analysis are required. Note that each field that is required contains a default value when you first create the record. You can modify the default values, but if you delete the value completely, the <u>symbol</u> appears to the left of the field. If you do not want to specify a value for a field that contains a default value of 0 (zero), make sure to at least leave the default value in the field.

Aspects of the Spares Analysis Page

The **Spares Analysis** page appears when you <u>create a new Spares Analysis</u> or <u>open an</u> <u>existing Spares Analysis</u>.

Seridium APM Framework	- Spares Analysis - Spares Analysis E	kample						
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	<u>H</u> elp							
😵 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🔮	🕯 My Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔎 Se	arch 🚞 Catalog 🔞) Query 🕶 🛅 Re	port 👻 🕜 Graph 👻 🍕	💈 Dataset 🛛	🕶 💶 Dashboard 🗸		
	SiteMap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>SparesAnalysi</u>	<u>s</u> -> <u>Spares Analysis Exa</u>	ample					
meridium	О́да,							
Reliability Analytics	Spares An	alysis						
Tools 🛛 😂 📥								
Run Simulation	Spares Analysis Example	Analysis						
Export Results	Indoor Application	Name	Spares Analysis E	xample				
Generate Report	Outdoor Application	Description	This is a sample s	Spares Analysis exampl	e			
View Recommen	🖨 🗊 BEARINGS		made by SE Meridium					
	Outdoor Application		Juan Garcia					
Navigation 🛛 😵								-
Analysis Definition	All Applications	Simulation Start Data	1/1/2000		c.	mulation End Data 1/1/2010		
Spare Level Plot		Simulation Start Date	1/1/2009		51	mulauon end bate 1/1/2019		
Downtime Plot		Currency	\$					
Spare Usage Plot		Simulation Options						
Sensitivity Plot		Spares						
Optimal Holding			1		1			
		Name		Current Level		Min Inventory Level	Max Inventory Level	
Common Tasks 🛛 😵		BEARINGS			1	0		10
🛅 New Analysis		IMPELLER			1	0		10
🕫 Open Analysis								
Save Analysis								
Save Analysis As								
an Publish Analysis								
X Delete Analysis								
=⑦ Send To >>				Add Spare		Remove Se	elected Spare(s)	
🖉 Heln 🎽								

The Spares Analysis page is divided in two sections:

- Task Menus: Displays the <u>Tools menu</u>, <u>Navigation menu</u>, <u>Common Tasks menu</u>, and the <u>Associated Pages menu</u>, which you can use to navigate throughout Spares Analysis and to perform various tasks.
- Workspace: Displays the main display area for the link that is selected in the Navigation menu. For example, if you click the Spare Level Plot link, the Spares Analysis page will display the Spare Level Plot workspace. If you click the Analysis Definition link, the Spares Analysis page will display the Spares Analysis workspace. Note that a green arrow will appear next to the link that is currently selected on the Navigation menu.

Tools Menu



The Tools menu on the Spares Analysis page contains the following links:

- **Refresh Distributions:** After prompting you for confirmation, refreshes all the distribution data associated with the Spares Analysis by replacing the current TTF and TTR distributions with the most recently saved TTF and TTR distributions from the source distribution.
- **Run Simulation:** Displays the **Simulation Progress** window while Meridium APM runs a Monte Carlo simulation for the current analysis. Note that when the simulation is complete, the **Spare Analysis** page will appear, displaying the last record or plot that you were viewing prior to running the simulation.
- **Export Results:** Displays the **Export Analysis Results** dialog box, where you can save the results of the Monte Carlo simulation to a MS Excel, text, or XML file. This link becomes enabled *after* you run a Monte Carlo simulation.
- **Generate Report:** Displays the **Report Viewer** page, where you can view the <u>report</u> for the current Spares Analysis. This link becomes enabled *after* you save the Spares Analysis. If you have not saved the Spare Analysis, a message appears, asking you to save the changes before generating a report.
- View Recommendations: Displays the <u>Recommendations page</u>, where you can <u>view</u> and <u>create</u> Recommendation records that are linked to the current Spares Analysis record. This link becomes enabled *after* you save the Spares Analysis.

Navigation Menu

Using the links on the **Navigation** menu, you can navigate between various workspaces that appear on the **Spares Analysis** page, including the plots that Meridium APM provides for viewing the results of the Monte Carlo simulation. Note that a green arrow appears next to the link that is associated with the page or plot that you are currently viewing.



The Navigation menu on the Spares Analysis page contains the following links:

- Analysis Definition: Displays the analysis summary in the <u>Spares Analysis</u> workspace, where you can create, view, and modify any record for a Spares Analysis.
- Spare Level Plot: Displays the <u>Spare Level Plot</u> workspace, where you can view the costs associated with each possible spare level included in the inventory range, which is specified in the **Spares** section of the appropriate Spare record (specified in the **Min Inventory Level** and **Max Inventory Level** text boxes in the<u>Analysis section</u>). This link is enabled*after* you run a Monte Carlo simulation.
- **Downtime Plot:** Displays the <u>Downtime Plot</u> workspace, where you can view the downtime for the analysis period associated with each number of spares. This link is enabled *after* you run a Monte Carlo simulation.
- **Spare Usage Plot:** Displays the <u>Spare Usage Plot</u> workspace, where you can view the projected yearly spare usage assuming that you store the recommended number of spares. This link is enabled *after* you run a Monte Carlo simulation.
- Sensitivity Plot: Displays the <u>Sensitivity Plot</u> workspace, where you can compare the cost effects of maintaining the recommended number of spares, one spare less than the recommended number of spares, and one spare more than the recommended number of spares. This link is enabled*after* you run a Monte Carlo simulation.
- **Optimal Holding Plot:** Displays the <u>Optimal Holding Plot</u> workspace, where you can view the recommended level of spares for each year in the analysis period. This link is enabled *after*you run a Monte Carlo simulation.

Note: The **Spare Level Plot**, **Downtime Plot**, **Spare Usage Plot**, **Sensitivity Plot**, and **Optimal Holding Plot** workspaces will always display the results of the simulation that was *last* run. If you modify data in the Spares Analysis that will affect the simulation

results, a message will appear at the top of any plot that you are viewing, indicating that you need to re-run the Monte Carlo simulation to update the plots.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Spares Analysis** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays a new Spares Analysis record in the <u>Spares Analysis work</u>-<u>space</u>.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Items** window, which you can use to locate and open an existing Spares Analysis.
- Save Analysis: Saves the currently displayed analysis. If you are viewing an analysis that has not yet been saved, this link will display the Save Analysis dialog box, where you can save the analysis. If you are viewing an existing analysis, when you click this link, Meridium APM will save any changes that you made to the analysis since it was last saved.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save this Analysis dialog box, where you can choose to <u>save the current Spares Analysis with a different name</u>. This link is enabled only when you are viewing a *saved* analysis.
- **Delete Analysis:** Deletes the analysis that is currently displayed. This link is enabled only when you are viewing a *saved* analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link on the current page to your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page. This link will become enabled whenever you are viewing a saved analysis.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Spares Analysis page.

Associated Pages Menu

The **Associated Pages** menu on the **Spares Analysis** page displays Associated Pages that have been configured for the Spares Analysis family via the URL Manager. This menu always displays Associated Pages that are configured for the *Spares Analysis* family, regardless of which record is selected in the Spares Analysis tree. For details on configuring Associated Pages, see the URL Manager Help.

About the Spares Analysis Workspace

The **Spares Analysis** workspace of the **Spares Analysis** page is divided in two sections:

• <u>Spares Analysis tree</u>: Displays a hierarchical view of a single Spares Analysis and all the Spare and Spare Application records that are linked to that analysis.

SiteMap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>SparesAnalysis</u> ->	Spares Analysis Example	1					
Spares Anal	ysis						
😑 📾 Spares Analysis Example	Analysis						
ー・⑦ SEALS ⑦ Indoor Application	Name	Spares Analysis	Example				
Outdoor Application Gamma EEARINGS Gamma EEARINGO Gamma EEARINGO Gamma EEARINGO Gamma EEARINGO Dutdoor Application Gamma EEARING Gamma EE	Description Simulation Start Date Currency Simulation Options	This is a sample made by SE Meridium, Juan Garcia 1/1/2009 \$	Spares Analysis example	Simulation End Date	1/1/2019	Y	
	Spares						
	Name ► <u>SEALS</u> <u>BEARINGS</u>		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	0	Max Inventory Level	10 10
			Add Spare		0 Remove S	elected Spare(s)	10

• **Details area**: Displays the details of the record that is selected in the Spares Analysis tree, where you specify or modify values for the Spares Analysis.

SiteMap: <u>Reliability->Spares Analysis->S</u> Spares Analy	spares Analysis Example YSIS	2				
🖃 📾 Spares Analysis Example	Analysis					-
: SEALS	Name	Spares Analysis	Example			
	Description	This is a sample made by SE Meridium, Juan Garcia	Spares Analysis example			
	Simulation Start Date	\$		Simulation End Date 1/1/2019		
	Simulation Options					
	Spares					
	Name		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	Max Inventory Level	
	▶ <u>SEALS</u>		1		0	10
	BEARINGS		1		0	10
			1		0	10
			Add Spare	Remove	Selected Spare(s)	

Note that when you are viewing the **Spares Analysis** workspace, a green arrow will appear next to the **Analysis Definition** link on the <u>Navigation menu</u>.

Aspects of the Spares Analysis Tree

The Spares Analysis tree displays a hierarchical view of a single Spares Analysis and all the Spare and Spare Application records that are involved in that analysis.

- The Spares Analysis record is always the root record in the Spares Analysis tree.
- The Spare records are always the second level of the Spares Analysis tree.
- The Spare Application records are always the third level of the Spares Analysis tree.

🖃 🝘 Spares Analysis Example
😑 💼 Seals
🛅 Indoor Application
😑 👘 Bearings
🛅 Indoor Application
📴 👘 Impellers
III All Applications

Note that the Spare Application Population records are not displayed in the Spares Analysis tree. When you select a Spare Application record, the Spare Application Population records appear in the details area to the right of the analysis tree.

You can click any record within the Spares Analysis tree to display the details of the record in the details area. If you right-click any of the records in the Spares Analysis tree, a shortcut menu will appear with options that let you:

- Create a record.
- <u>Copy and paste existing records</u> within the Spares Analysis.
- Delete an existing record.

Copying and Pasting Records in the Spares Analysis Tree

To copy and paste records in the Spares Analysis tree:

- 1. Open the desired Spares Analysis.
- 2. Right-click the record in the Spares Analysis tree that you want to copy, and click **Copy**. Note that if the record that you copy is linked to any other records, the linked records will also be copied.
- 3. Navigate to the record where you want to paste the copied record. Note that if you copied a Spare record, you can paste it *only* to a Spares Analysis record. If you copied a Spare Application record, you can paste it *only* to a Spare record.
- 4. Right-click the record to which you want to paste the copied record, and click **Add Copied <Node>**.

The copied record and any linked records appear under the selected record.

Deleting a Record from the Spares Analysis Tree

In the Spares Analysis tree, you can delete a Spare record or a Spare Application record. When you delete a Spare record, Meridium APM will delete the Spare record, and also any associated Spare Application records and Spare Application Population records. When you delete a Spare Application record, Meridium APM will delete the Spare Application record, and also any associated Spare Application Population records.

Note: Spares Analysis records cannot be deleted via the Spares Analysis tree. To delete a Spares Analysis record, use the **Delete Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks</u> <u>menu</u>.

To delete a record from the Spares Analysis tree:

- 1. Open the desired Spares Analysis.
- 2. Right-click the record that you want to delete, and click **Delete**.

The selected record and all associated records are deleted.

Aspects of the Details Area

Within the **Spares Analysis** workspace, the area to the right of the Spares Analysis tree displays the details of the record that is selected in the Spares Analysis tree and is referred to as the *details area* throughout this documentation.

Analysis						-
Name	Spares Analysis	Example				
Description	This is a sample made by SE Meridium, Juan Garcia	Spares Analysis example				4
Simulation Start Date	1/1/2009	•	Simulation End Date 1/1/2	2019	~	
Currency	\$					
Simulation Options						
Simulation Options Spares						
Simulation Options Spares Name		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	[Max Inventory Level	
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	0	Max Inventory Level	E 10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	0	Max Inventory Level	10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS IMPELLER		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	0	Max Inventory Level	10 10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS IMPELLER		Current Level	Min Inventory Level	0	Max Inventory Level	10 10 10

Note that the content of the details area will change depending on the record that is selected in the Spares Analysis tree. The following details areas may appear in the **Spares Analysis** workspace:

- Details area of a Spares Analysis record
- Details area of a Spare record
- Details area of a Spare Application record

Note: The details of a Spare Application Population record appears in the **Populations** section of the <u>details area of the linked Spare Application record</u>.
Aspects of the Details Area of a Spares Analysis Record

When you select a Spares Analysis record in the Spares Analysis tree, the following sections appear in the details area of the **Spares Analysis** workspace for the selected Spares Analysis record: **Analysis**, **SimulationOptions**, and **Spares**.

Analysis						-
Name	Spares Analysis	Example				
Description						
Description	made by SE	Spares Analysis example				^
	Meridium, Juan Garcia					
	Saarroarca					
Simulation Start Date	art Date 1/1/2009 Simulation End Date 1/1/2019					
Currency	ė					
Currency	\$					
Simulation Options						
Simulation Options	;					
Simulation Options	;					
Simulation Options	;	Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	1	Max Inventory Level	
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS	5	Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	1	Max Inventory Level	
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS	3	Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	I 0 0	Max Inventory Level	10 10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS IMPELLER	3	Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	I 0 0 0	Max Inventory Level	10 10 10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS IMPELLER		Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	I 0 0	Max Inventory Level	10 10 10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS IMPELLER		Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	0	Max Inventory Level	10 10 10
Simulation Options Spares Name SEALS BEARINGS IMPELLER		Current Level	Min Inventory Leve	I O O O Remove S	Max Inventory Level	10 10 10

The <u>Analysissection</u> and <u>Simulation Optionssection</u> lets you view and modify values for the Spares Analysis record.

The **Spares** section displays a list of any Spare records that are included in the Spares Analysis. The **Spares** section will be empty until you have created a Spare record.

Using the buttons at the bottom of the details area for the Spares Analysis record, you can either <u>create a new Spare record</u> that will be linked to the current Spares Analysis record or <u>delete a Spare record</u> from the list in the **Spares** section.

Aspects of the Details Area of a Spare Record

When you select a Spare record in the Spares Analysis tree, the following sections appear in the details area of the **Spares Analysis** workspace for the selected Spare record: **Spare** and **Applications**.

Spare					
Name	SEALS				
On-site Delivery Time	4	Hours]		
Normal Order Time	25	Days	Normal Cost (\$)	100	
Expedited Order Time	3	Days	Expedited Cost (\$)	300	
Holding Cost Rate (\$)	20	Per Year]		
Min Inventory Level	0		Max Inventory Level	10	
Current Holding Level	1				
Applications					
Application Name			Population Size		
Indoor Application	1				3
Outdoor Application	on				7
			Add Application	Remove Selected Application(s)	

The **Spare**section lets you view and modify values for the selected Spare record.

The **Applications** section displays a list of any Spare Application records that are linked to the currently displayed Spare record. The **Application** section will be empty until you have <u>created a Spare Application record</u>.

Using the buttons at the bottom of the details area for the Spare record, you can either <u>create a new Spare Application record</u> that will be linked to the current Spare record or <u>delete a Spare Application record</u> from the list in the **Spares** section.

Aspects of the Details Area of a Spare Application Record

When you select a Spare Application record in the Spares Analysis tree, the following sections appear in the details area of the **Spares Analysis** workspace for the selected Spare record:

- Application
- Populations
- FailureDistributions
- FailureConsequence
- Preventive Maintenance

Application					
Name	Indoor Application	n			
Populations					
Population Name	Population	Size	Age Value	Age U	nit
Population 1		2	2	2 Years	
Population 2		1	L	4 Years	
			Add P	opulation	Remove Selected Population(s)
Failure Distributions					5
Name Dist	ibution Type	Time Unit	Parameter 1	Parameter 2	Parameter 3
Failure Distribution Expo	nential	Months	60 (MTBF)	
Refresh All Distributions			Add From Ar	nalysis Add N	lew Remove Selected
Failure Consequence					
Prenaration Time	4	Hours			
Repair Time	8	Hours			
Total Correction Time	12	Hours	–		
Labor Cost (\$)	1000				
Fixed Lost Production Cost (\$)	0				
Variable Lost Production Cost Rate (5) 100000	Per Day	-		
# of Required Spares	1				
Preventive Maintenance					
Enable Preventive Maintenance					
Time-based Replacement Interval	1	Days	V		
Labor Cost (\$)	0				
Devertiere		Deur			

The <u>Application</u>, <u>Failure Distributions</u>, <u>Failure Consequence</u>, and <u>Preventive Main-tenance</u> sections let you view and modify values for the Spare Application record.

The **Populations** section displays a list of any Spare Application Population records that are linked to the selected Spare Application record. The **Populations** section will be empty until you have created a Spare Application Population record.

Using the buttons in the **Populations** section of the details area for the Spare Application record, you can either <u>create a new Spare Application Population record</u> that will be linked to the current Spare Application record or <u>delete a Spare Application Pop-</u> <u>ulation record</u>.

Creating a Spares Analysis Record

To create a Spares Analysis record:

1. On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Spares Analysis** link.

The Select a Spares Analysis from the List page appears.

Seridium APM Framework	k - Select a Spares Analysis from the List	- • •
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	s <u>H</u> elp	
🍣 Back 👻 🏐 Forward 👻 🦿	🏠 My Start Page 🔹 р New 🎤 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🛅 Report 🕫 🔞 Graph 🕶 🍕 Dataset 🕶	💶 Dashboard -
Reliability Analytics	Site Map: <u>Reliability->Spares Analysis</u> Select a Spares Analysis from the List	
🛅 New Analysis	PublishedAnalyses Any (%)	Run Ouerv
🔎 Open Analysis	Lact Indated By	
and Publish Analyses	(All Users)	
X Delete Analyses		
₹ Send To >>	Analysis ID Last Updated Updated By	
🕐 Help	▶ Oil Pump Analysis 3/17/2011 Administrato	
	Spares Analysis Example 12/1/2009 Demo, Joe	

2. On the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The **Spares Analysis** page appears, displaying the <u>details area of a new Spares Analysis</u> record in the **Spares Analysis** workspace.

Meridium APM Framework - Spares Analysis - N	ew Analysis 1			
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp				
🈻 Back 👻 🏐 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻	🎽 New 🔎 Search 🍺	🝃 Catalog 🔞 Query 🗸 🛅 Report 🗸 🕻] Graph 🕶 🥰 Dataset 👻 🎫 Dashboar	d v
Site Map: Reliability	> <u>Spares Analysis</u> -> <u>New</u>	Analysis 1		
meridium ora				
Reliability Analytics	pares Analys	is		
lools 😵 🔤	1 Analysis			
🐑 Run Simulation	News	New Applusia 1		
Export Results	Name	New Analysis 1		
Generate Report	Description			^
View Recommen				
Navigation 😵				
Analysis Definition				
Spare Level Plot	Simulation Start Dat	ie 1/1/2012 🔻	Simulation End Date 1/1/2022	T
Downtime Plot	Currency	\$		
Spare Usage Plot	Simulation Option	15		
Sensitivity Plot				
Optimal Holding	Spares			
	Name	Current Level	Min Inventory Level	Max Inventory Level
Common Tasks 😵				
ia New Analysis				
🗊 Open Analysis				
Save Analysis				
Save Analysis As				
an Publish Analysis				
X Delete Analysis		Add Spare	Remove	Selected Spare(s)
E/P Send To >>	4			

- 3. Specify the properties in the **Analysis** section.
- Note that the Simulation Options section is collapsed by default. If you want to modify any information in the Simulation Options section, click the
 ■ button to the right of the section. If you do not want to modify any information in the Simulation Options section, proceed to step 6.

 Simulation Options
 Image: Constraint of Sector

 Number of Iterations
 1000

 Random Seed
 Image: Constraint of Sector

 Image: Enable Event Log
 Image: Constraint of Sector

The **Simulation Options** section is expanded.

- 5. Specify the properties in the **Simulation Options** section.
- 6. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link.

The Spares Analysis record is saved. At this point, you need to <u>add a Spare record</u> to the Spares Analysis. Note that after you <u>create a Spare record</u>, the name of that Spare record will appear in the **Spares** section of the linked Spares Analysis record.

Analysis Section

Analysis	
Name	New Analysis 1
Description	
Simulation Start Date	1/1/2011 Simulation End Date 1/1/2021 \$ \$

In the **Analysis** section in the <u>details area of a Spares Analysis record</u>, you can insert or modify the following values:

- Name: The name of the Spares Analysis. When you create a new analysis, New Analysis 1 appears in the Name text box by default. You can modify the value in this text box to change the name of the existing analysis.
- **Description:** Any additional information about the Spares Analysis.
- Simulation Start Date: A date that defines the beginning of the analysis period. When you create a new analysis, the start date is set by default to the first day of the current year. For example, for the analyses created in the year 2010, the start date will be set to 1/1/2010 by default. If desired, you can type or select a different start date. Note that if the start date is *after* the specified end date, an error message appears when you attempt to save the analysis.
- Simulation End Date: A date that defines the end of the analysis period. When you create a new analysis, the end date of the analysis is set by default to the first day of the year that is 10 years after the current date. For example, if the start date is 1/1/2010 by default, then the end date will be set to 1/1/2020 by default. If desired, you can type or select a different end date. The end date must be after the start date. If the end date is *before* the specified start date, an error message appears when you attempt to save the analysis.
- Currency: The currency that will be used as a label throughout the Spares Analysis for all cost text boxes and in the plots. You can type symbols and text in the Currency text box. For example, you can type the symbol for U.S. currency, \$, or you can type text for U.S. currency, US Dollars. Note that any data that you type in the cost text boxes throughout the analysis must be appropriate for the type of currency that you type in the Currency text box.

Simulation Options Section

Simulation Options	
Number of Iterations 1000	
Random Seed	
Enable Event Log	

In the **Simulation Options** section in the <u>details area of a Spares Analysis record</u>, you can insert or modify the following values:

- Number of Iterations: A number that represents the number of times that Meridium APM will perform calculations on the Spares Analysis data when you run the Monte Carlo simulation. When you create a new Spares Analysis record, the Number of Iterations is set to 1000 by default. If desired, you can type a different number of iterations. Note that the larger the number of iterations, the longer it will take for the simulation to run and the more accurate the Monte Carlo results will be.
- **Random Seed:** Specifies whether or not you want to run the Monte Carlo simulation for random results. Note that if you select the **Random Seed** check box, you will generate *different* results each time that you run the Monte Carlo simulation.
- Enabled Event Log: Specifies whether or not you want a log of the events determined by the Monte Carlo simulation to be saved. When this check box is selected, the Save Simulation As dialog box will appear after the Monte Carlo simulation is complete, where you can navigate to the location where you want to <u>save the</u> <u>Event Log</u>.

Deleting a Spares Analysis

When you delete a Spares Analysis, Meridium APM will delete the Spares Analysis record, and all associated Spare, Spare Application, and Spare Application Population records.

To delete a Spares Analysis:

- 1. Open the Spares Analysis that you want to delete.
- 2. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Delete Analysis** link.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the analysis.

3. Click the Yes button.

The Spares Analysis record and all associated Spare, Spare Application, and Spare Application Population records are deleted.

Overview of Spare Records

A Spare record is used to define delivery time, cost, and spare level data for the spare part that you are analyzing. There might be more than one Spare record to represent each spare part involved in a piece of equipment.

For the <u>Spares Analysis example</u> that is presented in this documentation, we will create the following Spare records:

- Seal Spare record
- Bearing Spare record
- Impeller Spare record

Creating a Spare Record

To create a Spare record:

- 1. Open a Spares Analysis, and select the Spares Analysis record in the analysis tree.
- 2. At the bottom of the details area, click the Add Spare button.

A new Spare record appears in the details area of the Spares Analysis workspace.

SiteMap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>SparesAnalysis</u> -> <u>Spare</u>	es Analysis Example				
Spares Analysi	is				
🖃 🗊 Spares Analysis Example	Spare				
🖨 🗊 SEALS					
	Name	Spare 1			
Outdoor Application	On-site Delivery Time	0	Days 🔻		
BEARINGS				10.10	
Outdoor Application	Normal Order Time	U	Days	Normal Cost (ș)	0
IMPELLER	Expedited Order Time	0	Days 👻	Expedited Cost (\$)	0
all Applications	Holding Cost Data (¢)	0	Por Voor		
i Spare 1	Holding Cost Rate (\$)	0			
	Min Inventory Level	0		Max Inventory Level	0
	Current Holding Level	0			
	Applications				
	Application Name	1	Population	1 Size	
			Add App	lication	Remove Selected Application(s)

- 3. Specify the properties in the **Spare** section.
- 4. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link.

The Spare record is saved. At this point, you can:

• Repeat these steps to create another Spare record.

-or-

• <u>Create a Spare Application record</u> for the Spare record that you just created. Note that after you <u>create a Spares Application record</u>, the name of that Spare Application record will appear in the **Applications** section of the linked Spare record.

Aspects of a Spare Record

Spare				
Name	Spare 1			
On-site Delivery Time	0	Days		
Normal Order Time	0	Days	Normal Cost (\$)	0
Expedited Order Time	0	Days	Expedited Cost (\$)	0
Holding Cost Rate (\$)	0	Per Year 💌		
Min Inventory Level	0		Max Inventory Level	0
Current Holding Level	0			

In the **Spare** section in the <u>details area of a Spare record</u>, you can insert or modify the following values:

- Name: The name of the Spare record. When you create a new Spare record, Spare n appears in the Name text box by default, where n represents the sequential order of the new Spare record. For example, the name of the first Spare record that you create for a Spares Analysis will be *Spare 1*, the name of the second Spare record that you create will be *Spare 2*, and so on. If desired, you can type a different name for the Spare record. Note that the name of each Spare record must be unique to the root Spares Analysis. If you type a name that already exists for another Spare record associated with the current Spares Analysis, the symbol appears to the left of the text box, and you will not be able to navigate out of the text box until you have specified a unique name for the record.
- **On-site Delivery Time:**The amount of time that it takes to have the spare part transferred from where it is stored on-site (e.g., warehouse) to the repair location. The list to the right of the **On-site Delivery Time** text box lets you define the unit of measure for the specified period of time.
- Normal Order Time: The amount of time that it takes to order the spare part from the manufacturer and receive it at the location where it is stored on-site (i.e., warehouse). The list to the right of the Normal Order Time text box lets you define the unit of measure for the specified period of time.
- Normal Cost(\$): The cost associated with a standard (i.e., not expedited) order for the spare part. The normal cost must be less than or equal to the expedited cost. If you type a value in the Normal Cost (\$) text box that is *greater* than the value in the Expedited Cost (\$) text box, the Expedited Cost (\$) text box will be updated automatically with the value in the Normal Cost (\$) text box.

For example, if the **Expedited Cost (\$)** text box contains the value *1000* and you type **1500** in the **Normal Cost (\$)** text box, the value in the **Expedited Cost (\$)** text box will be set automatically to *1500*.

• **Expedited Order Time:** The amount of time it will take to place a rush order for the part and receive it at the location where it is stored on-site (i.e., warehouse). The list to the right of the **Expedited Order Time** text box lets you define the unit

of measure for the specified period of time.

- Expedited Cost(\$): The cost associated with placing a rush order for the spare part. The expedited cost must be greater than the normal cost. If you type a value in the Expedited Cost (\$) text box that is *less* than the value in the Normal Cost (\$) text box, an error message will appear, and the value in the Expedited Cost (\$) text box will revert back to the value that existed before you modified it.
- Holding Cost Rate(\$): The cost of storing the spare part for the amount of time selected in the Perlist.
- **Per:** The unit of measure that applies to the value in the **Holding Cost Rate** text box.
- Min Inventory Level: The minimum number of spare parts that you want to analyze using the Spares Analysis. The minimum inventory level must be less than or equal to the maximum inventory level. If you type a value in the Min Inventory Level text box that is greater than the value in the Max Inventory Level text box, the Max Inventory Level text box will be updated automatically with the value in the Min Inventory Level text box.

For example, if the **Max Inventory Level** text box contains the value *3* and you type **4** in the **Min Inventory Level** text box, the value in the **Max Inventory Level** text box will be set automatically to *4*.

- Max Inventory Level: The maximum number of spare parts that you want to analyze using the Spares Analysis. The maximum inventory level must be greater than the minimum inventory level. If you type a value in the Max Inventory Level text box that is *less* than the value in the Min Inventory Level text box, an error message will appear, and the value in the Max Inventory Level text box will revert back to the value that existed before you modified it.
- Current Holding Level: The *actual* number of spare parts that you are currently storing. The current holding level must be greater than or equal to the minimum inventory level but less than or equal to the maximum inventory level. If you type a value in the Current Holding Level text box that is *less* than the value in the Min Inventory Level text box or *greater* than the value in the Min Inventory Level text box, an error message appears and the value in the Current Holding Level text box reverts back to the original value.

Deleting a Spare Record

Deleting a Spare record will cause Meridium APM to delete that Spare record, and any associated Spare Application records and Spare Application Population records.

To delete a Spare record:

- 1. Open the Spares Analysis from which you want to delete a Spare record.
- 2. If it is not already selected, select the Spares Analysis record in the Spares Analysis tree.
- 3. In the <u>details area of the Spares Analysis record</u>, locate the **Spares** section, which displays a list of all existing Spare records.

s	pa	res			
		Name	Current Level	Min Inventory Level	Max Inventory Level
	F	SEALS	1	0	10
		BEARINGS	1	0	10
		IMPELLER	1	0	10
		Spare 1	0	0	0
ľ					
			Add Spare	Remove S	elected Spare(s)

- 4. Select the row(s) containing the Spare record(s) that you want to delete.
- 5. Click the Remove Selected Spare(s) button.

The selected Spare record(s) and any associated Spare Application records and Spare Application Population records are deleted.

Overview of Spare Application Records

A Spare Application record stores failure and repair data for the spare part that you are analyzing. You might have more than one Spare Application record for each Spare record. For example, a spare part might be used in a piece of equipment that is located in an indoor environment, and the same type of spare part might be used in another piece of equipment located in an outdoor environment. The failure data and repair data might be different for both spare parts. Therefore, you would want to create one Spare Application record for the spare part that is used in the indoor environment and another Spare Application record for the spare part that is used in the outdoor environment.

Creating a Spare Application Record

To create a Spare Application record:

- 1. On the <u>Spares Analysis page</u>, in the analysis tree, select the Spare record for which you want to create a new Spare Application record.
- 2. In the <u>Applications section</u>, click the **Add Application** button.

The <u>details area of the Spare Application record</u> appears in the **Spares Analysis** workspace.

Application						E 4
Name	Application 1					
Populations						
Population Name	Population	Size	Age Value		Age Unit	
				Add Population	Bemov	e Selected Population(s)
				Add Population	Kelliov	
Failure Distributions						
Name Distr	ibution Type	Time Unit	Parameter 1	Parameter	2 [P	arameter 3
Refresh All Distributions			A	dd From Analysis	Add New	Remove Selected
Failure Consequence						•
Preparation Time	0	Days	T			
Repair Time	0	Days	T			
Total Correction Time	0	Days	T			
Labor Cost (\$)	0					
Fixed Lost Production Cost (\$)	0					
Variable Lost Draduction Cost Date (#)	<u>د</u>	Der De				
variable Lost Production Cost Rate (\$			y 💌			
# of Required Spares	1					
Preventive Maintenance						A
Enable Preventive Maintenance						
Time-based Replacement Interval	1	Days	T			
Labor Cost (\$)	0					

- 3. Specify the properties in the <u>Application section</u>.
- 4. Specify the properties in the **Failure Distributions** section.
- 5. Specify the properties in the Failure Consequencesection.

- 6. If desired, specify the properties in the **Preventive Maintenance** section.
- 7. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link.

A new Spare Application record is created and linked to the Spare record. At this point, you can:

• Repeat these steps to create another Spare Application record.

-or-

• <u>Create a Spare Application Population record</u> for the Spare Application record that you created.

Application Section

In the **Application** section in the <u>details area of a Spare Application record</u>, you can specify the name of the Spare Application record. In the following image, you can see that the name of the Spare Application record is *Spare Application 1*.

Application	
Name	Spare Application 1

When you create a new Spare Application record, *Application n* appears in the **Name** text box by default, where *n* represents the sequential order of the new Spare Application record. For example, the name of the first Spare Application record that you create for a Spares Analysis will be *Application 1*, the name of the second Spare Application record that you create will be *Application 2*, and so on. If desired, you can type a different name for the Spare Application record. The name of each Spare Application record must be unique to the root Spare record, and if you type a name that already exists for another Spare Application record that is linked to the same Spare record, the symbol appears to the left of the text box. You will not be able to navigate out of that text box until you have specified a unique name for the record.

Failure Distributions Section

In the **Failure Distributions** section in the <u>details area of a Spare Application record</u>, you can <u>specify failure distribution information</u> for a Spare Application record. The following image shows an example of the **Failure Distributions** section.

F	ailure Distributions					
	Name	Distribution Type	Time Unit	Parameter 1	Parameter 2	Parameter 3
	Manually Entered TTF Distribution	Exponential	Days	1 (MTBF)		
	1041828 Exchanger U-Bend - Internal Tubes	Weibull	Days	0.8576 (Beta)	1523.5244 (Eta)	0 (Gamma)
	E0004-090 INTERNAL - TUBES	Weibull	Days	1 (Beta)	1 (Eta)	0 (Gamma)
Refresh Distributions Add F				Add From Analysis	Add New	Remove Selected

The grid in the Failure Distributions section contains the following columns:

- **Name:** Displays the name of the failure distribution, according to the following guidelines:
 - For <u>failure distribution information that you have imported</u>, displays the hyperlinked value that is stored in the Analysis ID field in the Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth record from which you imported failure distribution information. You can click the hyperlink to open the analysis.
 - For <u>failure distribution information that you want to define manually</u>, you can type a name in the Name cell. New TTF Distribution is displayed in the Name cell box by default.
- **Distribution Type:** Displays the distribution type, according to the following guidelines:
 - For <u>failure distribution information that you have imported</u>, this column displays the read-only distribution type of the analysis from which you have imported failure distribution information.
 - For <u>failure distribution information that you want to define manually</u>, a list appears, where you can select the desired value. The value is set to *Exponential* by default, but you can select any of the following additional distribution types:
 - Weibull
 - Normal
 - Logonormal
- **Time Unit:** Displays the unit of measure that applies to the distribution type that appears in the **Distribution Type** column, according to the following guidelines:
 - For <u>failure distribution information that you have imported</u>, this column displays the read-only unit of measure used in the analysis from which you have imported failure distribution information.
 - For <u>failure distribution information that you want to define manually</u>, a list appears, where you can select the desired value. The value is set to *Days* by

default, but you can select any of the following additional units of measure:

- Hours
- Weeks
- Months
- Years
- **Parameter 1:** Displays one of the following parameters, depending upon the distribution type:
 - For a Weibull distribution, displays the Beta value.
 - For an Exponential distribution, displays the MTBF value.
 - For a Normal distribution, displays the Mean value.
 - For a Logonormal distribution, displays the Mu value.

By default, *up to* four decimal places are displayed for values in the **Parameter** 1 column. If you select a cell in the **Parameter 1** column for a parameter that can be modified, all decimal places for the value will be displayed.

- **Parameter 2:** Displays one of the following parameters, depending upon the distribution type:
 - For a Weibull distribution, displays the Eta value.
 - For an Exponential distribution, nothing is displayed. The MTBF value that is displayed in the Parameter 1 column is the only parameter in an Exponential distribution
 - For a Normal distribution, displays the Standard Deviation value.
 - For a Logonormal distribution, displays the Sigma value.

By default, *up to* four decimal places are displayed for values in the **Parameter 2** column. If you select a cell in the **Parameter 2** column for a parameter that can be modified, all decimal places for the value will be displayed.

- **Parameter 3:** Displays one of the following parameters, depending upon the distribution type:
 - For a Weibull distribution, displays the Gamma value.
 - For an Exponential distribution, nothing is displayed. The MTBF value displayed in the Parameter 1 column is the only parameter in an Exponential distribution.
 - For a Normal distribution, nothing is displayed. The Mean and Standard Deviation values that are displayed in the Parameter 1 and Parameter 2 columns are the only parameters in a Normal distribution.
 - For a Logonormal distribution, displays the Gamma value.

By default, *up to* four decimal places are displayed for values in the **Parameter 3** column. If you select a cell in the **Parameter 3** column for a parameter that can be modified, all decimal places for the value will be displayed.

The following buttons appear below the grid in the **Failure Distributions** section:

- **Refresh Distributions:** After displaying a confirmation message, refreshes all the failure distribution information that you have imported from Reliability Growth and Reliability Distribution Analyses for the Spare Application record that is currently selected in the Spares Analysis tree.
- Add From Analysis: Displays the Find Items window, where you can search for a Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analyses from which you want to <u>import failure distribution information</u> for the Spare Application record that is currently selected in the Spares Analysis tree.
- Add New: Creates an additional row in the grid, where you can <u>enter failure dis</u>-<u>tribution information manually</u> for the Spare Application record that is currently selected in the Spares Analysis tree.
- **Remove Selected:** Deletes the selected row of failure distribution information from the Spare Application record that is currently selected in the Spares Analysis tree.

When you right-click a row in the grid, a short cut menu appears, containing various options, depending upon the source of the failure distribution information in that row:

- If the row contains <u>manually defined failure distribution information</u>, the shortcut menu contains the following option:
 - Replace with Analysis: Opens the Find Items window, where you can search for an existing Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis whose failure distribution information you want to use to replace the data for the selected row.
- If the row contains <u>imported failure distribution information</u>, the shortcut menu contains the following options:
 - Refresh Distribution: Refreshes the failure distribution information that was imported from a Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analyses and was used to create the values for the selected row.
 - Replace with Analysis: Opens the Find Items window, where you can search for an existing Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis whose failure distribution information you want to use to replace the data in the selected row.
 - Remove Association: Removes the connection between the following records:
 - The Distribution record to which the Spare Application record is linked.

-and-

• The Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution record from which you <u>imported failure distribution information</u>.

When you select this option, you can modify the failure distribution information.

Failure Consequence Section

In the **Failure Consequence** section in the <u>details area of a Spare Application record</u>, you can enter and modify failure consequence information for the Spare Application record.

Failure Consequence		▲
Preparation Time	0	Days 💌
Repair Time	0	Days 💌
Total Correction Time	0	Days 🚽
Labor Cost (\$)	0	
Fixed Lost Production Cost (\$)	0	
Variable Lost Production Cost Rate (\$)	0	Per Day 💌
# of Required Spares	1	

The Failure Consequence section contains the:

- **Preparation Timetext box:** The amount of time it takes to prepare for a repair of the part. Preparation tasks might include setting up equipment that may be used for the repair or disassembling any equipment. Note that spare parts are not required to be in stock for preparation tasks to occur. This value is stored in the Preparation Time Value field in the Spare Application record.
- **Preparation Time list**: A list containing units of measure. In the list, you can select the unit of measure that corresponds to the value in the **Preparation Time** text box. The unit of measure *Days* is selected by default. This value is stored in the Preparation Time Unit field in the Spare Application record.
- **Repair Time text box:** The amount of time it takes to complete the actual repair of the part. This value is stored in the Repair Time Value field in the Spare Application record.
- **Repair Time list:** A list containing units of measure. In the list, you can select the unit of measure that corresponds to the value in the **Repair Time** text box. The *Days* unit of measure is selected by default. This value is stored in the Repair Time Unit field in the Spare Application record.
- Total CorrectionTime text box: The sum of the values in the Preparation Time and Repair Time text boxes. This text box is populated automatically after you enter values in the Preparation Time and Repair Time text boxes. This value is not stored in the Spare Application record; it appears only in the Failure Consequence section of the details area of the Spare Application record.
- Total Correction Time list: A list containing units of measure. The list is populated automatically with the unit of measure that is the *largest* between the selections in

the **Preparation Time** and **Repair Time** lists. If the units of measure that are selected in the **Preparation Time** and **Repair Time** lists are the *same*, that unit of measure will appear in the **Total Correction Time** list. This value is not stored in the Spare Application record; it appears only in the **Failure Consequence** section of the <u>details area of the Spare Application record</u>.

- Labor Cost(\$) text box: The cost of the labor associated with the value in the Total Correction Timetext box. This value is stored in the Repair Labor Cost field in the Spare Application record.
- Fixed Lost Production Cost(\$) text box: The lost production cost that is incurred each time the piece of equipment fails, regardless of the length of downtime. For example, when the piece of equipment fails, there might be incomplete products that must be thrown away, therefore costing your organization a total of \$20,000 each time the piece of equipment fails. This value is stored in the Fixed Lost Production Cost field in a Spare Application record.
- Variable Lost Production Cost Rate(\$) text box: For a piece of equipment failure, the lost production cost per unit of downtime. For example, your organization might lose \$100,000 per day that the piece of equipment is down. This value is stored in the Variable Lost Production Cost field in the Spare Application Record.
- Variable Lost Production Cost Rate(\$) list: A list containing units of measure. In the list, you can select the unit of measure that corresponds to the value in the Variable Lost Production Cost Rate (\$) text box. The unit of measure *Day* is selected by default. This value is stored in the Variable Lost Production Unit field in the Spare Application record.
- **# of Required Spares:** The number of spare parts that will be used for this particular repair. This value is stored in the Required Spares field in the Spare Application record.

Preventive Maintenance Section

In the **Preventive Maintenance** section in the <u>details area of a Spare Application record</u>, you can specify preventive maintenance information for the Spare Application Record. The following image shows the **Preventive Maintenance**section.

Preventive Maintenance					
Enable Preventive Maintenance					
Time-based Replacement Interval	1 Days 🔽				
Labor Cost (\$)	0				
Downtime	0 Days 🔽				

The **Preventive Maintenance** section contains the following fields:

- Enable Preventive Maintenance: A check box that indicates whether or not you want to include any preventive maintenance work that is done for the spare part(s) in the calculations of the Monte Carlo simulation. When you select this check box, the analysis results will include a calculation of the preventive maintenance cost based upon the values that you specify in the **PreventiveMaintenance** section. This selection is stored in the Enable Preventive Maintenance field in the Spare Application record.
- **Time-based Replacement Interval text box:** The operational time between subsequent planned maintenance activities. This text box becomes enabled *only* if you selected the **Enable Preventive Maintenance** check box. This value is stored in the PM Interval Value field in the Spare Application record.
- Time-based Replacement Interval list: A list containing units of measure. In this list, you can select the unit of measure that corresponds to the value in the Time-based Replacement Interval text box. The unit of measure *Days* is selected by default. This value is stored in the PM Interval Unit field in the Spare Application record.
- Labor Cost(\$): The cost of labor for each time the maintenance work is performed on the spare part(s). This option becomes enabled *only* if you selected the **Enable Preventive Maintenance** check box. This value is stored in the PM Labor Cost field in the Spare Application record.
- **Downtime text box:** The amount of time that the piece of equipment is not functional during the preventive maintenance work. This value is stored in the PM Downtime Value field in the Spare Application record. When you run the Monte Carlo simulation, the Meridium APM system will use this value and the values that you specify in the Variable Lost Production Cost Rate and # of Required Spares text boxes in the Failure Consequence section to calculate the cost of the preventive maintenance activity.
- **Downtime list:** A list containing units of measure. In this list, you can select the unit of measure that corresponds to the value in the **Downtime** text box. The unit

of measure *Days* is selected by default. This value is stored in the PM Downtime Unit field in the Spare Application record.

About Defining Failure Distribution Information

When you define failure distribution information for a Spare Application record, you are defining the ways in which a spare part can fail, requiring a replacement (or repaired to as good as new) spare part. You can define one or multiple failure distributions for a Spare Application record, and you can <u>define the failure distribution manually</u> or by <u>importing the information from an existing Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis</u>.

When you define multiple failure distributions for a Spare Application record:

- After a failure occurs and a replacement (or repaired to as good as new) spare part is put into service, the time in-service for the spare part is reset to zero (0) for ALL the failure distributions defined for that Spare Application record to reflect that a replacement (or repaired to as good as new) spare part is placed into service.
- After you complete preventive maintenance on a spare part to mitigate one failure, the time in service for the spare part is reset to zero (0) for ALL the failure distributions defined for that Spare Application record to reflect that conducting preventive maintenance on a spare part is equivalent to replacing (or repairing to as good as new) the spare part.

Defining Failure Distribution Information Manually

The following instructions assume that you are viewing the Spares Analysis containing the Spare Application record for which you want to define failure distribution information.

To define failure distribution information manually:

- 1. On the **Spares Analysis** page, in the Spares Analysis tree, select the Spare Application record for which you want to define failure distribution information.
- 2. In the <u>details area of the Spares Application record</u>, in the grid in the <u>Failure Dis</u>-<u>tributions section</u>, click the **Add New** button.

A new row is added to the grid in the **Failure Distributions** section. The row outlined in red in the following image shows what the new row looks like, by default.

F	Failure Distributions						
		Name	Distribution Type	Time Unit	Parameter 1	Parameter 2	Parameter 3
	F	1041828 Exchanger U-Bend - Internal Tubes	Weibull	Days	0.8576 (Beta)	1523.5244 (Eta)	0 (Gamma)
		1041828 Exchanger U-Bend Growth Analysis	Exponential	Days	542.1817 (MTBF)		
		New TTF Distribution	Exponential	Days	1 (MTBF)		
[Refresh All Distributions Add From Analysis Add New Remove Selected						

- 3. In the **Name** cell, type the desired name.
- 4. In the Distribution Type cell, select the desired distribution type from the list.
- 5. In the **Time Unit** cell, in the list, select the desired unit of measure to be applied to the distribution.
- 6. In the following cells, type the <u>parameters that are used for the distribution type</u> that you selected:
 - Parameter 1
 - Parameter 2
 - Parameter 3
- 7. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link.

A Distribution record containing the information you defined is created and linked to the Spare Application record. The Distribution record is created in a subfamily of the Distribution family, where the subfamily is determined by the value that you select in the **Distribution Type** cell.

Importing Failure Distribution Information

If an existing Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis contains failure distribution information for the piece of equipment that you are analyzing in a Spares Analysis, you can import that failure distribution information into the Spare Application record. Note that for our <u>Spares Analysis example</u>, we <u>enter failure distribution inform-</u> <u>ation manually</u>.

The following instructions assume that you are viewing the Spares Analysis containing the Spare Application record for which you want to import failure distribution information.

Note: You cannot import an analysis that uses the unit of measure Quarters.

To import failure distribution information from an existing Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis:

- 1. On the **Spares Analysis**page, in the Spares Analysis tree, select the Spare Application record for which you want to import failure distribution information.
- 2. In the <u>details area of the Spares Application record</u>, in the <u>Failure Distributions sec-</u> <u>tion</u>, click the Add From Analysis button.

The Find Items window appears.

🔎 Find Items	
meridium	Simple Search
Search Type Simple search	Search In: Find Now Look For: Stop Match Case? New Search
	Open Cancel

3. Specify the search criteria that will return the Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis containing the failure distribution information that you want to import, and click the **Find Now** button.

🔑 Find Items			×
meridium	Simple Search		
Search Type 😵	Search In: Reliability Growth	-	Find Now
🗊 Advanced search	Match Case?		Stop New Search
	Family	Record ID	A
	Reliability Growth Reliability Growth	1032920 Exchanger U-Bend G 1041828 Exchanger U-Bend G	rowth Analysis rowth Analysis
	Reliability Growth	1051700 Centrifugal Pump Gro	wth Analysis
	Reliability Growth Reliability Growth	1054406 Exchanger U-Bend G All Heat Exchanger Failures	rowth Analysis
	4		
	Page: 1 of 1 5 records found	«« First « Previous	Page Size: 1000
	Open		Cancel

The search results appear in the grid below the search criteria.

4. Select the row containing the analysis with the failure distribution information that you want to import into the Spares Analysis, and click the **Open** button.

The failure distribution information from the selected analysis appears automatically in the <u>Failure Distributions section</u> in the <u>details area of the Spare Applic-</u> <u>ation record</u>.

Note: If you selected a row containing an analysis that uses the unit of measure *Quarters*, an error message appears, indicating that the unit of measure *Quarters* is not supported in Spares Analysis, and the failure distribution information for that Analysis is not added to the **Failure Distributions** section in the details area of the Spare Application record.

5. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link.

A Distribution record is created and linked to the Spare Application record. The Distribution record is created in a subfamily of the Distribution record, where the subfamily is determined by the distribution type that was selected when the Reli-

ability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis from which you imported the failure distribution information was created.

Refreshing Failure Distribution Information

After you have imported failure distribution information from an existing Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis, if the source analysis is modified, you can refresh the distributions in order to retrieve the latest data. If you are viewing a Spare Application record on the **Spares Analysis** page, you can refresh the failure distribution information for that record only using the **Refresh Distributions** button in the <u>Failure</u> <u>Distributions section</u>. The following instructions assume that you want to refresh the distributions for *all* Spare Application records in a Spares Analysis.

To refresh failure distribution information in all Spare Application records in a Spares Analysis:

1. On the **Spares Analysis** page, on the **Tools** menu, select the **Refresh Distributions** link.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to refresh all distributions in the current analysis.

2. Click OK.

The failure distribution information is refreshed.

Deleting a Spare Application Record

When you delete a Spare Application record, any Spare Application Population records to which it is linked will also be deleted.

The following instructions assume that you are viewing the Spares Analysis containing the Spare Application record that you want to delete.

To delete a Spare Application record:

- 1. On the **Spares Analysis**page, in the Spares Analysis tree, select the Spare record containing the Spare Application record that you want to delete.
- 2. In the <u>details area of the Spare record</u>, in the <u>Applications section</u>, select the row containing the Spare Application record that you want to delete.
- 3. Click the Remove Selected Application(s) button.

The selected Spare Application record and any Spare Application Population records to which it is linked are deleted.

Overview of Spare Application Population Records

A Spare Application Population record is used to record the *population age* of a group of equipment that together use the data in the Spare Application record to which it is linked. An analysis might have more than one group of equipment with different ages using the same failure and repair data from the linked Spare Application record.

Consider the age data for our Spares Analysis example:

- One pump is four years old.
- Two pumps are three years old.
- Six pumps are two years old.
- One pump is five years old.

Note: The population age is an *operational* age rather than a *Calendar* age.

Note that a Spare Application Population record does not have an associated details area on the **Spares Analysis** page. All Spare Application Population records in a Spares Analysis are located in the **Populations** section of the linked Spare Application record.

Creating a Spare Application Population Record

To create a Spare Application Population record:

- 1. Open a Spares Analysis.
- 2. In the analysis tree, select the Spare Application record for which you want to create a new Spare Application Population record.
- 3. In the **Populations** section of the <u>details area</u>, click the **Add Population** button.

A new Spare Application Population record appears in the **Populations** section of the <u>details area of the Spare Application record</u>.

P	ор	ulations			•
		Population Name	Population Size	Age Value	Age Unit
	►	Population 1	2	2	Years 💌 =
		Population 2	1	4	Years
		Population 3	1	0	Years
				Add Population	Remove Selected Population(s)

- 4. Specify values for the properties in the **Populations** section.
- 5. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link.

The Spare Application Population record is saved. At this point, you can:

• Repeat these steps to create another Spare Application Population record.

-or-

• Run a Monte Carlo simulation.

Aspects of Spare Application Population Records

Рор	oulations			
	Population Name	Population Size	Age Value	Age Unit
	Population 1	4	2	Years =
	Population 2	2	3	Years
Þ	Population 3	1	5	Years 💌 👻
	•		Add Population	Remove Selected Population(s)

The following columns are located in the **Populations** section on a Spare Application Population record:

• **Population Name:** The name of the Spare Application Population record. When you create a new Spare Application Population record, **Population n** appears in the **Population Name** cell by default, where **n** represents the sequential order of the new Spare Application Population record. For example, the name of the first Spare Application Population record that you create for a Spares Analysis will be Population 1, the name of the second Spare Application Population record that you create will be Population 2, and so on.

If desired, you can type a different name for the Spare Application Population record. Note that the name of each Spare Application Population record must be unique to the root Spare Application record. Note that if you type a name that already exists for another Spares Application Population record that is linked to the same Spare Application record, the same Spare Application record, the same spare text box. Note that you will not be able to navigate out of the text box until you have specified a unique name for the record.

- **Population Size:** The number of pieces of equipment that share the same age.
- Age Value: The operational age of the population of equipment that is associated with the data in the linked Spare Application record and Spare record. In other words, the amount of time that the population has been in use.
- Age Unit: The unit of measure associated with the Age Value. The Age Unit list is set to Years by default. If desired, you can change the value by using the value by using the button.

Deleting a Spare Application Population Record

To delete a Spare Application Population record:

- 1. Open the Spares Analysis from which you want to delete a Spare Application Population record.
- 2. If it is not already selected, select the Spare Application record in the Spares Analysis tree.

In the <u>details area of the Spare Application record</u>, locate the **Populations** section, which displays a list of all existing Spare Application Population records.

Pop	pulations			
	Population Name	Population Size	Age Value	Age Unit
	Population 1	4	2	Years =
	Population 2	2	3	Years
Þ	Population 3	1	5	Years 💌 👻
			Add Population	Remove Selected Population(s)

- 3. Select the row(s) containing the Spare Application Population record(s) that you want to delete.
- 4. Click the Remove Selected Population(s) button.

The selected Spare Application Population record(s) are deleted.
About Monte Carlo Simulations

There are some instances in which conditions are too complex to use the typical analytical methods to answer certain questions. Monte Carlo simulations can be used to predict results in these situations. Consider the following simple questions with seemingly unpredictable answers:

- How many people will be in the check-out line at the grocery store at 7 P.M. on Wednesday?
- How many cars will be on Main Street at 9 P.M. on Friday?
- When will the next power outage occur in our neighborhood?

The answers to these questions vary based on a number of factors, including:

- The probability of previous occurrences in these situations.
- Actual conditions leading up to the event.
- Variable values that provide inputs to calculated outputs.

Now, consider the following more complex questions:

- How long will the piece of equipment continue to operate before the next failure?
- How many spare parts should be stored to handle unplanned failures but not result in a surplus of parts that are not needed?

When these types of questions arise, a Monte Carlo simulation can be run to look at the random variables and probability for a complex piece of equipment to calculate the most predictable results. A number of iterations can be specified to indicate the amount of times that you want the Monte Carlo simulation to run. Note that the larger the number of iterations, the more accurate the Monte Carlo results will be.

For example, suppose you want to determine the probability of rolling a seven using two dice with values one through six. There are 36 possible combinations for the two dice, six of which will total seven, which means that mathematical probability of rolling a seven is six in 36, or 16.67 percent.

But is the mathematical probability the same as the *actual* probability? Or are there other factors that might affect the mathematical probability, such as the design of the dice themselves, the surface on which they are thrown, and the technique that is used to roll them?

To determine the *actual* probability of rolling a seven, you might physically roll the dice 100 times and record the outcome each time. Assume that you did this and rolled a seven 17 out of 100 times, or 17 percent of the time. Although this result would represent an actual, physical result, it would still represent an *approximate* result. If you continued to roll the dice again and again, the result would become less and less approximate.

A Monte Carlo simulation is the mathematical representation of this process. It allows you to simulate the act of physically rolling the dice and lets you specify how many

times to roll them. Each roll of the dice represents a single iteration in the overall simulation; as you increase the number of iterations, the simulation results become more and more accurate. For each iteration, variable inputs are generated at random to simulate conditions such as dice design, rolling surface, and throwing technique. The results of the simulation would provide a statistical representation of the physical experiment described above.

Running a Monte Carlo Simulation

When you run a Monte Carlo simulation, calculations are performed on the delivery time, downtime, lost production costs, and failure and repair data to determine how many spare parts should be kept on hand at any given time. A Monte Carlo simulation performs these calculations for every spare part many times. The exact number of times the calculations are performed is determined by the value in the **Number of Iterations** text box in the <u>Simulation Options section</u> of the **Spares Analysis** workspace. After a Monte Carlo simulation has been run, you can view its results on any of the <u>Spares Analysis</u>.

Note that the plots will contain results from the last time the Monte Carlo simulation was run. Therefore, if you edit any data on any record that might affect the results of the Monte Carlo simulation, you should re-run the simulation before viewing the plots. Otherwise, the plots might contain results that do not match the most current data. A message will appear at the top of the plots indicating if the simulations need to be rerun.

You can run only one simulation at a time. While a simulation is running, however, you can continue working in other areas of the Meridium APM Framework by:

• Clicking anywhere on the Meridium APM Framework main window outside the **Run Simulation** dialog box. When you do so, the simulation will continue to run in the background, and the dialog box will be hidden behind the Meridium APM Framework window. When the simulation finishes, the dialog box will be returned to focus automatically.

-or-

• Clicking either the minimize or the close button on the **Run Simulation** dialog box. When you do so, the simulation will continue to run in the background, and the minimized dialog box will appear on your Windows taskbar. When the simulation finishes, the dialog box will be maximized and returned to focus automatically.

To run a Monte Carlo simulation:

- 1. After you have <u>created a Spares Analysis</u>, on the <u>Tools menu</u>, click the **Run Sim**ulation link.
- 2. The **Browse For Folder** window appears, where you can select or create a folder in which to store the Event Logs.

Browse For Folder
Please select a folder to save event logs.
⊿ j ∰ Computer ▲
Floppy Disk Drive (A:)
🛛 🚨 Local Disk (C:)
DVD RW Drive (D:)
▷ 🙀 CurrentHelp (\\Devbuildvs1) (T:)
▷ 🙀 Live (\\Plaza3\Documentation) (U:)
▷ 🙀 Releases (\\Devbuildvs1) (V:)
▷ 🙀 RCMO_HELP (\\Plaza3) (W:)
▷ 🙀 Releases (\\Devtermvs) (X:)
Documentation (\\Library\USERS\ALL) (Y:
Make New Folder OK Cancel

Note: If the **Enable Event Log** check box is cleared in the Simulation Options section of the Spares Analysis, the **Browse For Folder** dialog box will not appear.

- 3. Navigate to the location where you want to save the Event Logs.
- 4. Click OK.

The **Run Simulation** dialog box appears, displaying a progress bar that indicates the progress of the simulation.

🕙 Run Simulation - 3.2.3 Spares Analysis 📃 📼 💌						
Simulation is running. Please do not change your analysis.						
Current Spare Number 1	Total Spares	1				
Current Inventory Level Number 2	Total Inventory Levels	5				
Current Iteration Number 101	Total Iterations	1000				
Simulation Time 00:00:06	Remaining Time	00:00:23				
<u>C</u> ancel	<u>G</u> o to Analysis	Discard and Close				

Note: If there are already Event Logs files in the folder that you select, a warning message will appear, indicating that any existing Event Log files may be overwritten.

- 5. After the progress bar reaches the end, the **Go to Analysis** and **Discard and Close** buttons become enabled. If you do not want to view the results, you can click the **Discard and Close** button to close the **Run Simulation** dialog box. These instructions assume that you want to view the results.
- 6. Click the **Go to Analysis** button.

The **Run Simulation** window closes, and the links on the **Navigation** menu become enabled.



6. Click the link on the Navigation menu for the plot whose results you want to see.

The workspace for the selected plot appears on the **Spares Analysis** page, and the green arrow appears next to the corresponding link on the **Navigation** menu.

Interpreting Spares Analysis Results in the Dataset Editor

Consider the following image of the exported results of our <u>Spares Analysis example</u> in a dataset. Note the <u>values that were specified for the following fields within our Spares</u> <u>Analysis</u>:

- Simulation Start Date
- Simulation End Date
- Min Inventory Level
- Max Inventory Level

[Spare Name	Minimum Holding Level		Year	Labor Cost	Normal Order Cost	Lost Production Cost	Ware Housing Cost	Total Cost	PM Spare Usage	Unplanr 📤
	5eals	/	0	1/1/2008 12:00 AM	2500	0	605000	7.78434463881032	607987.784344639	0	
	5eals		0	1/1/2009 12:00 AM	2150	0	722500	0.401805517703349	725265.401805518	0	=
	5eals		0	/1/2010 12:00 AM	2510	0	878500	0.0231021682451892	881763.023102168	0	
	5eals	1	0	/1/2011 12:00 AM	2550	0	892500	0.0231963470319743	895815.023196347	0	
	5eals	1	0	/1/2012 12:00 AM	2310	0	808500	0.0213698630137087	811503.021369863	0	
	5eals		0	/1/2013 12:00 AM	2460	0	861000	0.0221917808219151	864198.022191781	0	
	5eals	1	0	1/1/2014 12:00 AM	2300	0	805000	0.0211872146118525	807990.021187215	0	
	5eals	1	0	/1/2015 12:00 AM	2510	0	878500	0.0227397260273762	881763.022739726	0	
	5eals		0	/1/2016 12:00 AM	2390	0	836500	0.021461187214592	839607.021461187	0	
	5eals		0	1/1/2017 12:00 AM	2400	0	840000	0.0222739156131147	843120.022273916	0	
	5eals	l l	Ø	1/1/2018 12:00 AM	2370	0	829500	0.0219269976288536	832587.021926998	0	
	5eals	(î\:	1/1/2008 12:00 AM	2580	224	241436.148080753	17.1306288443994	244359.278709597	0	
	5eals		1	1/1/2009 12:00 AM	2180	196	178575.169993852	17.3538311466578	181034.523824999	0	
	5eals		1	l/1/2010 12:00 AM	2450	213	223568.43736817	17.0978057532293	226344.535173923	0	
	5eals		1	/1/2011 12:00 AM	2550	223	226860.891163288	16.9806154809339	229746.871778769	0	
	5eals		1	/1/2012 12:00 AM	2350	201	229031.802534199	17.3026189198615	231702.105153118	0	
	5eals	-	1	/1/2013 12:00 AM	2490	212	236602.961611792	17.1887015345028	239433.150313326	0	
	5eals		1	/1/2014 12:00 AM	2370	204	228605.276879527	17.1515163449757	231295.428395872	0	
	5eals		1	/1/2015 12:00 AM	2410	210	216215.213505287	17.1554924847696	218945.368997772	0	
	5eals		1	/1/2016 12:00 AM	2490	218	226070.399065419	17.180813165922	228888.579878585	0	
	5eals		1	1/1/2017 12:00 AM	2270	205	194097.485292169	16.9625353091388	196655.447827479	0	
	5eals		1	1/1/2018 12:00 AM	2310	194	234684.678831355	14.8608543773691	237314.539685732	0	
	5eals	/	ă:	1/1/2008 12:00 AM	2580	356	135247.538992613	35.3828599783752	138224.921852591	0	
	5eals		2	1/1/2009 12:00 AM	2190	217	115500	37.0536325962022	117950.053632596	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2010 12:00 AM	2460	243	132000	36.7030004364061	134748.703000436	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2011 12:00 AM	2540	251	136000	36.5940347114306	138836.594034711	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2012 12:00 AM	2350	233	127359.556060422	36.938514155753	129985.494574578	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2013 12:00 AM	2500	246	137000	36.6912861109415	139794.691286111	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2014 12:00 AM	2350	232	131466.318819328	36.7474965698244	134094.066315897	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2015 12:00 AM	2430	239	134614.208188264	36.7800794292094	137331.988267694	0	
	5eals		2	/1/2016 12:00 AM	2470	246	126500	36.84237459635	129255.842374596	0	
	5eals		2	1/1/2017 12:00 AM	2290	227	125793.92336126	36.4778876899476	128353.40124895	0	
	5eals		2	1/1/2018 12:00 AM	2290	221	141428.572945091	32.0266373639549	143995.599582455	0	
	5eals	j	3 :	1/1/2008 12:00 AM	2580	457	132114.547296128	54.0474406077717	135208.594736736	0	
	5eals	:	3	1/1/2009 12:00 AM	2170	217	108500	57.0292214530934	110944.029221453	0	
	5eals	:	3 :	1/1/2010 12:00 AM	2470	247	123500	56.6583789933117	126273.658378993	0	-

Note that since the analysis period of our Spares Analysis example is 10 years, the first 10 rows of the results display data that corresponds to an inventory level of 0 (zero) for the Seals Spare record, meaning that no spare seals are in stock. The next 10 rows display data that corresponds to an inventory level of 1 for the Seals Spare record, and so on for each of the 11 inventory levels for each year in the analysis period. Note that

since the inventory range specified was **0** to **10**, there are 11 inventory levels because it counts **0** as an inventory level.

After each of the 11 inventory levels for each of the 10 years are indicated for the Seals Spare record in the dataset, you can scroll down to see this repeated for each of the 11 inventory levels for each of the 10 years for the Bearings Spare record. And, it will be repeated for each of the 11 inventory levels for each of the 11 inventory levels for each of the 10 years for the Bearings Spare record.

Exporting the Analysis Results to a File

After a Monte Carlo simulation has been run, results are created from calculations for each Spare record for every year included in the analysis period of the Spares Analysis. These results can be saved as an MS Excel, text, or XML file.

To save the results of the Monte Carlo simulation as a file:

1. After the Monte Carlo simulation is complete, on the <u>Tools menu</u>, click the **Export Result** link.

🐴 Export Analysis Res	ults	
Export Analysis R	esults	
File Type:	MS Excel	
		Export Cancel Help

The **Export Analysis Results** dialog box appears.

- 2. In the File Type list, select MS Excel, Text, or XML.
- 3. Click the **Export** button.

The **Export to File** dialog box appears.

Export to File						
Compute	er ► Local Disk (C:) ► -	4 7	Search Local Disk (C:)	٩		
Organize 🔻 New fold	er		:==	• 🕡		
 Saved Games Searches Searches Computer Floppy Disk Dri Local Disk (C:) DVD RW Drive DVD RW Drive CurrentHelp (\\ CurrentHelp (\\ Live (\\Plaza3\[Releases (\\Dev 	Name inetpub MSOCache MyData PerfLogs Program Files Program Files (x86) ProgramData		Date modified 8/1/2011 8:48 AM 7/29/2011 3:34 PM 8/30/2011 11:45 AM 7/13/2009 11:20 PM 8/1/2011 11:41 AM 8/19/2011 9:15 AM 8/3/2011 3:06 AM 8/2/2011 2:02 PM	Type File folder File folder File folder File folder File folder File folder File folder		
 ▶ RCMO_HELP (\ ▶ Releases (\\Dev ▲ Pocumentation ↓ 345 TM Secur 	Users Windows		8/2/2011 2:03 PM 8/19/2011 9:15 AM	File folder File folder		
Jie name: expo	د الله الله الله الله الله الله الله الل			+		
Save as type: Excel	files (*.xls)			-		
Hide Folders			Save	Cancel		

4. Navigate to the location where you want to save the file, type a unique name in the **Filename** text box, and click the **Save** button.

The file is saved to the specified location.

Overview of the Event Log

When you <u>run a Monte Carlo simulation</u>, the failure predictions and hypothetical repair scenarios can be <u>saved as text files</u> for later reference. These text files are referred to as the *Event Logs*.

Event Logs are optional for Spares Analyses. If you enable Event Logs for a Spares Analysis with a large number of iterations, a large number of Event Logs will be created, and the simulation will take a long time to complete. Therefore, when you enable Event Logs for a Spares Analysis, we recommend lowering the number of iterations so that only a few Event Logs are created at a time. If you do not enable Event Logs for a Spares Analysis, you can continue to run the simulation with a high number of iterations.

For each holding level for every Spare in each iteration in the Spares Analysis, one Event Log file will be created that records every event that happens in that iteration. Each file is named **<Spare Name>-<Current Holding Level>-<Iteration Number>.txt** where:

- **<Spare Name>** is the name of the Spare in the Spares Analysis.
- **<Current Holding Level>** is the number of spare parts that you are storing.
- <lteration number> is the number of the iteration that is detailed in the file.

Each Event Log displays hypothetical scenarios that you can expect to occur based on the information included in the analysis, including but not limited to:

- The analysis period.
- The spare parts inventory range.
- The number of pieces of equipment in the analysis population and the age of each of those pieces of equipment.
- The failure data for each piece of equipment in the population, such as MTBF.
- The correction time for each piece of equipment in the population.
- The data associated with ordering and receiving spare parts.

For each piece of equipment in the analysis population, the Event Log includes a predication about when you can expect:

- The piece of equipment to operate at normal capacity.
- The piece of equipment to fail.
- The preparation for the repair to begin.
- The actual repairs to begin.
- The spare part to be ordered.
- The spare part to be received.
- The spare part to be used.
- The maintenance work to begin.

- The maintenance work to be completed.
- The repairs to be completed.

To understand the Event Logs, you will need to understand how the <u>scenarios are displayed in the text file</u>.

CE Hint: Although the Event Logs are saved as text files, you may want to open them in Microsoft Excel so that they are easier to read and interpret.

Creating and Saving the Event Log

The following instructions provide details on enabling the creation of Event Logs and saving them to the location of your choice when you run the simulation.

To create the Event Log:

1. Open the desired Spares Analysis, and navigate to the Spares Analysis record.

In the <u>Simulation Options section</u> in the Spares Analysis record, select the **Enable Event Log** check box.

- 2. If the Number of Iterations text box has a value greater than one, when you select the Enable Event Log check box, a message will appear stating that due to the amount of data that will be logged, the number of iterations will be changed to one. If you click OK, the Number of Iterations text box will be populated automatically with the value 1. If you click Cancel, the value in the Number of Iterations text box will stay the same and the Enable Event Log check box remains selected, but if there is too much data the simulation may not complete.
- 3. Run the Monte Carlo simulation.

The Browse for Folder dialog box appears.

Browse For Folder
Please select a folder to save event logs.
📃 Desktop
▲ Comparises
a 🗈 Documents
🔺 📗 My Data
🌗 Adobe Scripts
Description of the second s
DataModels
Excel Sheets
Integration Services Script Componen
🛛 🖟 Integration Services Script Task 🛛 👻
H H
Make New Folder OK Cancel

4. Navigate to the location where you want to save the Event Log files, and click **OK**.

An Event Log is created for each holding level for every Spare for each iteration and is saved to the location that you specified.

Specifying the Number of Iterations

An Event Log is created for each holding level for every Spare for each iteration in a Spares Analysis. If you enable Event Logs for a Spares Analysis with a large number of iterations, a large number of Event Logs will be created, and the simulation will take longer to complete. When you enable Event Logs, you should change the number of iterations to a small number (i.e., one) so a small number of Event Log files will be created and the simulation will run in the shortest amount of time. The following instructions assume that the **Enable Event Log** check box is already selected.

To specify the number of iterations for a simulation with Event Logs:

- 1. In the <u>Simulation Options section</u> in the Spares Analysis record, in the **Number of Iterations** text box, type the number of iterations you want the simulation to run for the Spares Analysis.
- 2. If you change the value in the Number of Iterations text box to a number greater than 1, a message will appear stating that due to the amount of data that will be logged, the number of iterations will be changed to one. If you click OK, the Number of Iterations text box will be populated automatically with the value 1. If you click Cancel, the value in the Number of Iterations text box will stay the same and the Enable Event Log check box remains selected, but if there is too much data the simulation may not complete.

-or-

If you change the value in the **Number of Iterations** text box to *1*, when you run the simulation, one Event Log will be created and the simulation will complete in the shortest amount of time possible.

Aspects of the Event Log

Consider the following images from our Spares Analysis example. Note that the following images of the Event Log have been opened in Microsoft Excel and contain only a piece of the whole log.

Spare Name:	Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Inde:	x: 55		
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
0		None	1	0
290.638251	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0
290.638251	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0
290.804918	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
291.138251	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0
310.6149	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 5 - 0	Fail	0	0
310.6149	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 5 - 0	BeginUnplannedCorrection	0	1
313.6149		None	1	0
313.781567	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 5 - 0	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
314.1149	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 5 - 0	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0

Spare Name:	Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Inde:	x: 56		
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
0		None	1	0
116.02159	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 1	Fail	1	0
116.02159	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0
116.188257	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
116.52159	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0
146.442973	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 3	Fail	0	0
146.442973	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 3	BeginUnplannedCorrection	0	1
149.442973		None	1	0
149.60964	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 3	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
149.942973	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 3 - 3	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0

Spare Name:	Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Inde	x: 57		
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
0		None	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0
174.937356	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
175.270689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0
507.232746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	Fail	0	0
507.232746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	BeginUnplannedCorrection	0	1
510.232746		None	1	0
510.399413	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
510.732746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0

The Event Log is divided into numerous groups and columns, which will be highlighted in red in the later examples to make the event log easier to explain. Each group contains a set of values for each unique combination of:

- A spare part included in the Spares Analysis. For example, if an analysis contains three Spare records, then each group within the Event Log will contain values for only one of those Spare records (e.g., Spare record 1).
- An inventory level within the analysis inventory range (determined by the values in the Min Inventory Level and Max Inventory Level text boxes in the <u>Spare section</u>) for each spare part. For example, if the inventory range is from 0 to 3, each group

within the Event Log will contain values for only one of those inventory levels (e.g., 0 spare parts).

• An iteration number less than or equal to the value specified in the **Number of Iterations** text box in the <u>Simulation Options section</u>. For example, if the Number of Iterations is **5**, each group in the Event Log will contain a set of values that resulted from only one iteration. The Event Log as a whole represents all iterations included in the analysis.

If an analysis is based on only one spare part, one inventory level, and one iteration number, then the Event Log will contain only one group of values. If an analysis is based on more than one spare part, inventory level, or iteration number, then the Event Log will contain more than one group.

In the following example, the first row of a group indicates that the values below the heading corresponds to the Seals spare part, an inventory level of 0 (zero), and an iteration of 0 (zero).

Spare Name: Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Index: 0

After the information for this scenario appears, another group will appear, corresponding to the Seals spare part, an inventory level of 0 (zero), and an iteration of 1, and so on until values associated with all spare parts, inventory levels, and iteration numbers appear.

Note: There is an additional row after the last event with the value **None** in the **Event** column, and the number of days associated with that event is always past the Simulation End Date. The simulation stops at the first event *after* the Simulation End Date, and this additional event indicates when the simulation actually stopped but is not included in the Monte Carlo simulation results.

Additionally, each group in the Event Log contains the following columns of data:

- <u>Time</u>
- Application
- Event
- Spares in Stock
- Spares in Order

Time Column of the Event Log

The value in the **Time** column indicates the number of days that have passed since the piece of equipment began operating. You can think of the Time value as the analysis period. For example, if the Simulation Start Date is **1/1/2008** and the Simulation End Date is **1/1/2018**, then the analysis period, or Time, would be 10 years, or 3,650 days.

As you proceed down the **Time** column, the value will begin to increase. Where the value in the **Time** column exists in the same row as an event, you can infer that the event will occur **n** number of days after the piece of equipment began operating, where **n** is the value in the **Time** cell.

For example, in the following image, you can see that a failure will occur approximately 175 days after the piece of equipment begins operating, as indicated by the value **174.770689**.

Spare Name:	Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Inde			
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
0		None	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0

Application Column of the Event Log

The text in the **Application** column indicates the Spares Application associated with the piece of equipment that failed. For example, in the following image, **OutdoorApplication - Pump Population 4 - 1** appears in the **Application** column for the first failure in the first group of scenarios.

Spare Name: Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Index: 57					
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order	
0		None	1	0	
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0	
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0	
174.937356	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0	
175.270689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0	
507.232746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	Fail	0	0	
507.232746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	BeginUnplannedCorrection	0	1	
510.232746		None	1	0	
510.399413	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0	
510.732746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0	
533.744839	Indoor Application - Pump Population 1 - 0	Fail	0	0	
533.744839	Indoor Application - Pump Population 1 - 0	BeginUnplannedCorrection	0	1	
536.744839		None	1	0	

The first part of the example value, **Outdoor Application**, is the name of the Spare Application record that is associated with the failure that occurred (specified in the **Name** text box in the **Application** section).

The second part of the example value, **Pump Population 4 - 1**, represents the piece of equipment that failed that exists within the population that is associated with the Spare Application. **Pump Population 4** is the name of the Spare Application Population record (specified in the **Population** cell in the **Populations** section), and **1** is the actual piece of equipment that failed. Note that the pieces of equipment are numbered beginning with zero (e.g., 0,1,2,3). For example, the value for the *second* piece of equipment will be **1**.

For example, since our Spares Analysis example contains the Spare Application Population record Pump Population 4 with a Population Size of 2 (specified in the **Population Size** cell in the **Populations** section), two pieces of equipment exist in that population. So, when a failure occurs on the first piece of equipment in Pump Population 4, then the value in the **Application** column of the Event Log will be **Outdoor Application - Population 4 - 0**, where **0** represents the first piece of equipment.

Event Column of the Event Log

The text in the **Event** column indicates the type of event that will occur. The following list explains the event names that can appear within an Event Log:

- None: Indicates that the piece of equipment is operating at normal capacity. Note that when this value appear in the **Event** column, it could indicate any of the following options:
 - The simulation begins.
 - The simulation ends.
 - A spare part is ordered.
 - An order for a spare part is received.
- Fail: Indicates that the piece of equipment fails.
- **BeginUnplannedCorrection:** Indicates that the preparation work to repair the failed piece of equipment begins.
- **ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare:** Indicates that the repair work to repair the failed piece of equipment begins.
- EndUnplannedCorrection: Indicates that the preparation work and repair work is completed, and the piece of equipment is operating normally again.
- **BeginPreventiveMaintainance:** Indicates that the maintenance work begins.
- **ConsumePreventiveMaintainanceSpare:** Indicates that the maintenance work is completed.

Consider the following image.

Spare	Name:	Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Inde:			
Time		Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
	0		None	1	0
174.	770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0
174.	770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0
174.	937356	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
175.	270689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0

In this example:

- The piece of equipment is operating at normal capacity until almost the 175th day, at which it fails.
- The moment that the piece of equipment fails, preparation to repair the failure begins, as indicated in the **Event** column by the text **BeginUnplannedCorrection**.
- A little more than an hour later, the spare part that is indicated in the **Spares in Stock** column is used to repair the failure, as indicated in the **Event** column by the text **ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare**.
- About three hours later, the repair is complete, as indicated in the **Event** column by the text **EndUnplannedCorrection**.

Spares in Stock Column of the Event Log

The value in the **Spares in Stock** column indicates the number of spare parts that are being stored during each type of event within the Event Log.

In the following image, you can see that one spare seal is being stored until the piece of equipment fails. After the piece of equipment fails, when the repair begins, the spare part is used for the repair, meaning that no spare seals are being stored any longer.

Spare Name: Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Index: 57				
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
0		None	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0
174.937356	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
175.270689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0

Spares in Order Column of the Event Log

The value in the **Spares in Order** column indicates the number of spare parts that have been ordered and that you are waiting to receive in the storage location (i.e., warehouse) before beginning the necessary repairs on the piece of equipment.

In the following image, a spare seal is not ordered until the second failure occurs. Since no spare seals are in stock at the time of the second failure, one is ordered to repair that failure.

Spare Name: Seals, Minimum Holding Level: 0, Iteration Index: 57				
Time	Application	Event	Spares in Stock	Spares in Order
0		None	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	Fail	1	0
174.770689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	BeginUnplannedCorrection	1	0
174.937356	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
175.270689	Outdoor Application - Pump Population 4 - 1	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0
507.232746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	Fail	0	0
507.232746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	BeginUnplannedCorrection	0	1
510.232746		None	1	0
510.399413	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	ConsumeUnplannedCorrectionSpare	0	0
510.732746	Indoor Application - Pump Population 2 - 0	EndUnplannedCorrection	0	0
533.744839	Indoor Application - Pump Population 1 - 0	Fail	0	0

Overview of the Spares Analysis Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the Spares Analysis Report, which you can use to view a summary of the results of a Spares Analysis. When you run the Spares Analysis report, it will appear on the **Report Viewer** page.

The Spares Analysis Report is built from the following Catalog items:

- The main report, *SparesAnalysis*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *Spares*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *SparesApplication*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *SparesChart*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The supporting queries that supply data in the main report and subreports, which are stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports. The following supporting queries are available:
 - Spares Analysis Applications
 - Spares Analysis Charts
 - Spares Analysis ChartsMain
 - Spares Analysis Main
 - Spares Analysis Spares
 - Spares Analysis SparesMain

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreports, and the supporting queries collectively as the *Spares Analysis Report*.

The Spares Analysis Report contains the following sections:

- Analysis Properties
- Spare Properties
- <u>Application Properties</u>
- <u>Plots</u>

Running the Spares Analysis Report

Note: You cannot run a Spares Analysis report directly from the Meridium APM Catalog. To generate a report successfully, you must use the **Generate Report** link on the **Tools** menu on the **Spares Analysis** page.

To run the Spares Analysis Report:

• On the Spares Analysis page, on the **Tools** menu, click the Generate Report link.

The Spares Analysis Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.



Analysis Properties Section

The **Analysis Properties** section of the Spares Analysis Report displays information that is stored in the Spares Analysis record. The name of the analysis, which is stored in the Analysis ID field of the Spares Analysis record, is displayed in blue at the top of the **Analysis Properties** section.

Spares Analysis Example

Analysis Properties			
Description	This is a sample Spares Analysis Example.		
Start Date	Start Date 1/1/2008 12:00:00 AM		
End Date	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM		
Currency	\$		
Simulation Options			
Iteration #	100		
Random Seed	False		
Events logged	False		

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Properties** section and the corresponding Spares Analysis record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)	
Analysis Properties		
Description	Short Description	
Start Date	Analysis Start Date	
End Date	Analysis End Date	
Currency	Currency	
Simulation Options		
lteration	Iteration Number	
Random Seed	Random Seed	
Events Logged	Enable Event Log	

Spare Properties Section

Each Spare Analysis record can be linked to multiple Spare records. In the Spares Analysis report, a **Spare Properties** section will appear for each Spare record that is linked to the Spare Analysis record. The name of the spare, which is stored in the Spare ID field of the Spare record, is displayed in blue at the top of each **Spare Properties** section.

Spare 1

Spare Properties		
On-site delivery time	2 Hours	
Normal order time	5 Days	
Expedited order time	3 Days	
Normal cost	\$ 2500	
Expedited cost	\$ 5000	
Holding cost rate	\$ 250 / Year	
Inventory level range	1 to 5	
Current holding level	2	

The following table lists each item in the **Spare Properties** section and the corresponding Spares Analysis record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)
On-site deliver time	Onsite Delivery Time Value
	Onsite Delivery Time Unit
Normal order time	Normal Order Time Value
	Normal Order Time Unit
Expedited order time	Expedited Order Time Value
	Expedited Order Time Unit
Normal cost	Normal Cost
Expedited cost	Expedited Cost
Holding cost rate	Holding Cost Rate
	Holding Cost Unit
Inventory level range	Min Inventory Level
	Max Inventory Level

Report Item	Record field(s)
Current holding level	Current Holding Level

About the Application Properties Section

Spare records can be linked to multiple Spare Application records. For each Spare record in the Spares Analysis report, there can be multiple **Application Properties** sections. The **Application Properties** section contains the following grids:

- Populations
- Failure Distribution
- Failure Consequence
- Preventative Maintenance

The name of the corresponding Application, which is stored in the Application ID field of each Spare Application record, is displayed at the beginning of each **Application Prop**erties section.

Properties Grid

The **Properties** grid displays information stored in Spare Application Population records. There can be multiple Spare Application Population records linked to each Spare Application record. For each Spare Application Population record, one row exists in the **Populations** grid.

Application 1

Populations			
Population Name	Population Size	Population Age	
Population 1	5	0 Years	
Population 2	5	250 Days	

The following table lists each item in the **Properties** grid and the corresponding Spare Application Population record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)
Population Name	Name
Population Size	Population Size
Population Age	Age
	Age Time Unit

Failure Distribution Grid

The **Failure Distribution** grid displays information that is stored in Distribution records that are linked to the Spare Application record. There can be multiple Distribution records linked to each Spare Application record. For each Distribution record, one row exists in the **Failure Distribution** grid.

Failure Distribution					
Name	Distribution Type	Time Unit	Parameter1	Parameter2	Parameter3
TTF Distribution for Spares Analysis	Exponential	Days	375 (MTBF)		

The following table lists each item in the **Failure Distribution** grid and the corresponding Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report. The values in the **Para-meter 1,Parameter 2**, and **Parameter 3**columns will be different depending on whether the Distribution record is a Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull distribution.

Report Item	Family	Record field(s)	Notes
Name	Distribution	Short Description	None
Distribution Type	Distribution	Distribution Type	None
Time Unit	Distribution	Units	None
Parameter 1	Exponential	MTBF	None
	Lognormal	Mu	
	Normal	Fix Mean	
	Weibuill	Beta	
Parameter 2	Lognormal	Sigma	If the Distribution
	Normal	Fix Standard Devi-	nential, no value is
	Weibuill	ation	displayed.
		Eta	
Parameter 3	Lognormal	Gamma	If the Distribution
	Weibull	Gamma	nential or Normal,
			played.

Failure Consequence Grid

The **Failure Consequence** grid displays information stored in the Spare Application record.

Failure Consequence		
Preparation Time	4 Hours	
Repair Time	1 Days	
Labor Cost	\$ 1200	
Fixed Lost Production Cost	\$ 3000	
Variable Lost Production Cost Rate	\$ 5000/Day	
# of Required Spaces	1	

The following table lists each item in the **Failure Consequence** grid and the corresponding Spare Application record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)
Preparation Time	Preparation Time Value
	Preparation Time Unit
Repair Time	Repair Time Value
	Repair Time Unit
Labor Cost	Repair Labor Cost
Fixed Lost Production Cost	Fixed Lost Production Cost
Variable Lost Production Cost Rate	Variable Lost Production Cost
	Variable Lost Production Unit
# of Required Spaces	Required Spares

Preventative Maintenance Grid

The **Preventative Maintenance** grid displays information stored in the Spare Application record.

Preventive Maintenance		
Time-based Replacement Interval	400 Days	
Labor Cost	\$ 1200	
Downtime	1 Days	

The following table lists each item in the **Preventative Maintenance** grid and the corresponding Spare Application record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)
Time-based Replacement Interval	PM Interval Value
	PM Interval Unit
Labor Cost	PM Labor Cost
Downtime	PM Downtime Value
	PM Downtime Unit

Plots Section

If you have <u>run a Monte Carlo simulation</u>, the <u>Spares Analysis plots</u> will appear in the Spares Analysis report with the results from the last simulation that was run. The following image displays an example of the **Spares Level Plot** graph.

SparesLevel - Spare 1



Error Symbol in Spares Analyses

Rather than displaying a pop-up error message, to the left of any text box where an error occurred, the \bigotimes symbol appears to the left of the text box where the error occurred in the following circumstances:

- You try to type a name for a Spare, Spare Application, or Spare Application Population record that is not unique to the root record.
- You delete a value from a required text box. If you do not want to type a value in a text box, you must at least leave the default value of 0 (zero) in the text box.
- You type an invalid value in any field. For example, if you type **abc** in the **Number** of **Iterations** text box, the **3** symbol will appear.

You can then pause on the 😵 symbol to display a detailed error message.

For example, if you type the name of an existing Spares Application record in the **Name** text box of a new Spares Application record that is linked to the same Spares record, then you will see this:

🕴 Application 1

If you pause on the symbol, then the following error message will appear: *Invalid value*.

The error message displays the error that occurred on that particular text box, and you will not be able to navigate out of that text box until you have specified a unique name for the record.

Interpreting the Spares Analysis Example

After you have <u>created a Spares Analysis</u> and <u>run a Monte Carlo simulation</u>, you can interpret the results to determine if the current storing level of spare parts is appropriate. Consider the completed Spares Analysis from our <u>example</u>.

Currently, one spare seal, one spare bearing, and no spare impellers are stored in the warehouse. After completing a Spares Analysis, we can view the results of the Monte Carlo simulation in the following <u>Spares Analysis plots</u> for *each* spare part to determine if any changes need to be made to the current holding level of seals, bearings, or impellers to avoid excessive costs and downtime:

- Spare Level Plot
- Downtime Plot
- Spare Usage Plot
- Sensitivity Plot
- Optimal Holding Plot

Interpreting the Spare Level Plots

The following Spare Level Plots display the optimal level of each spare part included in the Spares Analysis example and the cost difference between what we are currently storing and what is recommended that we store. The Spare Level Plot displays the cost of each spare level within the inventory range (determined by the values in the **Min Inventory Level** and **Max Inventory Level** text boxes in the **Spare section**) for the analysis period (determined by the values in the **Simulation Start Date** and **Simulation End Date** boxes in the **Analysis section**).

• Seals



By comparing the current holding level of one seal and the optimal level of four spare seals, we can determine how much money our organization is losing every 10 years by not storing more spare seals. The benefit of storing more spare seals is calculated using the following equation:

Benefit = Current Level – Optimal Level

Consider the following values from our example:

- Current Level = 2,250,944
- Optimal Level = 1,233,955

Given these values:

Benefit = 2,250,944 – 1,233,955

Benefit = 1,106,989

• Bearings



By comparing the current holding level of one bearing and the optimal level of three spare bearings, we can determine how much money our organization is losing every ten years by not storing more spare bearings. The benefit of storing more bearings is calculated using the following equation:

Benefit = Current Level – Optimal Level

Consider the following values from our example:

- Current Level = 1,831,910
- Optimal Level = 821,440

Given these values:

Benefit = 1,831,910 – 821,440

Benefit = 1,010,470

Impellers



By comparing the current holding level of no impellers and the optimal level of two spare impellers, we can determine how much money our organization is losing every ten years by not storing more spare impellers. The benefit of storing more impellers is calculated using the following equation:

Benefit = Current Level – Optimal Level

Consider the following values from our example:

- Current Level = 5,513,206
- Optimal Level = 591,089

Given these values:

Benefit = 5,513,206 - 591,089

Benefit = 4,922,117
Interpreting the Downtime Plots

The following Downtime Plots display the specific downtime associated with each spare part included in the Spares Analysis example:

• Seals



In this image, we can determine that the downtime associated with our current holding level of one spare seal has a total of about 22 days. If we store the optimal spare level (specified in the <u>Spare Level Plot</u>) of four seals, we can determine that there will be a total of only about 12 days of downtime.

Bearings



In this image, we can determine that the downtime associated with our current holding level of one spare bearing has a total of about 18 days. If we store the optimal spare level (specified in the <u>Spare Level Plot</u>) of four bearings, we can determine that there will be a total of only about eight days of downtime.

• Impellers



In this image, we can determine that the downtime associated with our current holding level of 0 (zero) spare impellers has a total of 72 days. If we store the optimal spare level (specified in the <u>Spare Level Plot</u>) of three impellers, we can determine that there will be a total of only about eight days of downtime.

Based on the results for the seals, bearings, and impellers in the Downtime Plots shown above, we can use the following equation to determine the optimal amount of downtime:

Current Holding Level = Σ Current Holding Level Downtime for All Spares

Consider the following values from our example:

- Total Seals Downtime (current holding level) = 22 days
- Total Bearings Downtime (current holding level) = 18 days
- Total Impellers Downtime (current holding level) 72 days

Given these values:

Current Holding Level Downtime = 22 + 18 + 72

Current Holding Level Downtime - 112 days

Optimal Holding Level = Σ Optimal Holding Level Downtime for All Spares

Consider the following values from our example:

- Total Seals Downtime (optimal holding level) = 12 days
- Total Bearings Downtime (optimal holding level) = 8 days
- Total Impellers Downtime (optimal holding level) = 8 days

Given these values:

Optimal Holding Level Downtime = 12 + 8 + 8 Optimal Holding Level Downtime = 28 days

```
Overall Downtime (optimal) = \Sigma Current Holding Level Downtime – \Sigma Optimal Holding Level Downtime
```

Consider the following values from our example:

- Current Holding Level Downtime = 112 days
- Optimal Holding Level Downtime = 28 days

Given these values:

Overall Downtime (optimal) = 112 - 28

Overall Downtime (optimal) = 84 days

Interpreting the Spare Usage Plots

The following Spare Usage Plots display the annual spare usage for each year within the analysis period, assuming that we are storing the optimal level of spare parts.



• Seals

The Spare Usage Plot shows the number of spare parts that will be used for each year within the analysis period. Using the preceding image, if we add the spare usage for each year, we can determine that a total of about 24 spare seals will be used during the entire analysis period.

Bearings



The Spare Usage Plot shows the number of spare parts that will be used for each year within the analysis period. Using the preceding image, if we add the spare usage for each year, we can determine that a total of about 24 spare seals will be used during the entire analysis period.

• Impellers



The Spare Usage Plot shows the number of spare parts that will be used for each year within the analysis period. Using the preceding image, if we add the spare usage for each year, we can determine that a total of about 21 spare seals will be used during the entire analysis period.

Based on the results for the seals, bearings, and impellers in the Spare Usage Plots shown above, we can use the following equation to how many spares we will use during the 10-year analysis period if we store the optimal level of each spare part:

Total Spares Used = Spare Seals + Spare Bearings + Spare Impellers

Consider the following values from our example:

- Spare Seals = 24
- Spare Bearings = 24
- Spare Impellers = 21

Given these values:

Total Spares Used = 24 + 24 + 21

Total Spares Used = 69 spare parts

Interpreting the Sensitivity Plots

The following Sensitivity Plots display the cost associated with holding the optimal number of spare parts, the cost of holding one less spare part than the optimal number, and the cost of holding one more spare part than the optimal number during each year within the analysis period.



Seals

In this image, we can determine that there is a minimal cost difference between storing the optimal level of four spare seals (specified in the <u>Spare Level Plot</u>) and either five spare seals or only three spare seals within the 10-year analysis period.

• Bearings



In this image, we can determine that there is a minimal cost difference between storing the optimal level of four spare bearings (specified in the <u>Spare Level Plot</u>) and five spare bearings or three spare bearings within the 10-year analysis period.

• Impellers



In this image, we can determine that there is a minimal cost difference between storing the optimal level of three spare impellers (specified in the Spare Level Plot) and either four spare impellers and a slightly greater cost difference with storing only two spare impellers. Additionally, we can determine that in 2008, there is a greater cost to hold spare impellers.

Based on the results for the seals, bearings, and impellers in the Sensitivity Plots shown above, we can estimate that, if desired, we can store one less or one more of each spare part with only a minimal cost effect. Seals

Interpreting the Optimal Holding Plots

The following Optimal Holding Plots display the best possible spare level for each year within the analysis period.

Seals Bearings Impellers All Spares 🚨 🖻 🇁 🖲 🔣 🔹 🎘 📲 🤁 🗇 🕀 🌈 🔝 🖑 🗒 🖪 🐼 🚿 Optimal Holding Plot 10.00 9.00 8.00 7.00 6.00 Minimum Holding Level 5.00 Optimal Spare Level (Whole Period) 4.00 3.00 2.00 1.00 0.00 2015 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Year 2014 2016 2017

The optimal spare level of four seals was shown in the Spare Level Plot. From the Optimal Holding Plot we can determine that although the most conservative optimal holding level for the whole period is four, we can store three seals until 2012.

Bearings



The optimal spare level of four seals was shown in the Spare Level Plot. From the Optimal Holding Plot we can determine that although the most conservative optimal holding level for the whole period is four, we can store three seals until 2012.

• Impellers



The optimal spare level of four seals was shown in the Spare Level Plot. From the Optimal Holding Plot we can determine that although the most conservative optimal holding level for the whole period is four, we can store three seals until 2011.

Based on the results for the seals, bearings, and impellers in the Optimal Holding Plots shown above, we can determine that the most conservative optimal holding level for the whole analysis period is four spares. However, around 2011 it is important to refer back to the graphs to determine the optimal level for that year.

About the Spares Analysis Plots

While viewing the **Spares Analysis** page, you can access any of the following plots from the links on the **Navigation** menu:

- Spare Level Plot
- Downtime Plot
- Spare Usage Plot
- Sensitivity Plot
- Optimal Holding Plot

When you run the Monte Carlo simulation for a Spares Analysis, each of the plots will be generated for each Spare record in the analysis. If more than one Spare record exists in the Spares Analysis, each plot will be generated multiple times, according to the number of Spare records in the analysis. When you are viewing any one plot type (e.g., Down-time Plot), the plot for each Spare record will be displayed on a separate tab.

Consider our <u>Spares Analysis example</u> that contains three Spare records that represent three spare parts: Seals, Bearings, and Impellers. When you click the **Spare Level Plot** link, four tabs will appear, one for each Spare record and one for all Spare records, as shown in the following image.

Seals Bear	ings Impel	lers All Spares
------------	------------	-----------------

Each plot displays astandard graph toolbar by default, where some standard options are available. The annotation toolbar for a Spares Analysis allows you to customize the plot with features such as shapes and text boxes. Note that the annotation toolbar does not appear by default. To display the annotation toolbar, right-click the plot, point to the **Toolbars** option, and click **Annotation Toolbar**.

The green arrow in the <u>Navigation menu</u> appears next to the plot that you are currently viewing. To return to the **Spares Analysis** workspace from a plot, you can click the **Ana-Iysis Definition** link on the **Navigation** menu at any time.

Spare Level Plot

The Spare Level Plot is a bar graph that displays the cost associated with each possible spare level included in the range between the Min Inventory Level and Max Inventory Level values, which were specified in the <u>Spares section</u> of the appropriate Spare record.



For this image, the Min Inventory Level is **0** (zero) and the Max Inventory Level is **10**. The x-axis displays the number of spare levels, and the y-axis displays the cost associated with each spare level. Additionally, the current holding level, the optimal spares level, and the potential savings amounts are displayed above the Spares Level Plot.

By default, each bar in the Spares Level Plot is divided into the following cost categories, which are shaded with different colors that are represented in the legend to the right of the plot:

- Warehousing Cost: The cost of storing the spare parts between failures.
- Labor Cost: The total cost of labor associated with every spare level.
- Lost Production Cost (Stock-Out): The total lost production cost accrued as a result of waiting for the spare to arrive when one must be ordered.
- Lost Production Cost (Corrective): The total lost production cost accrued as a result of the downtime due to preparation and repair after a failure.

- Lost Production Cost (PM): The total cost of lost production cost accrued as a result of the preventive maintenance activities. Note that if the Enable Preventive Maintenance check box is selected in the Preventive Maintenance section, values from the Preventive Maintenance section will be included in this cost category.
- Normal Order Cost: The total cost of all normal orders placed for the spare parts.
- **Expedited Order Cost:** The total cost of all rushed orders placed for the spare parts.

EHint: If you select the **Show Total Only** check box in the upper-right corner of the plot, you can view the *total* costs associated with each spare level.

In addition to providing a Spare Level Plot for each Spare record in the analysis, Meridium APM also displays the **AllSpares** tab, which compares all Spare records according to the cost associated with each possible spare level. By looking at the **AllSpares** tab, you can estimate how much money your company might lose by not storing the optimal level of spare parts. The following image shows an example of the Spare Level Plot for All Spares.



Downtime Plot

The Downtime Plot is a bar graph that displays the specific downtime during which the piece of equipment is not operating during the analysis period. The Downtime Plot displays the specific downtime associated with each spare level in the range indicated in the <u>Spares section</u> of the appropriate Spare record.



This image is based on a Min Inventory Level of **0** (zero) and a Max Inventory Level of **10**. The x-axis displays the number of spare levels, and the y-axis displays the downtime in days for each spare level.

By default, each bar in the Downtime Plot is divided into the following downtime categories, which are shaded with different colors that are represented in the legend to the right of the plot:

- PM Downtime: The downtime that results from performing preventive maintenance. PM Downtime is calculated only if the Enable Preventive Maintenance check box is selected in the<u>Preventive Maintenancesection</u>. If the Enable Preventive Maintenance check box is not selected, PM Downtime will always be zero.
- Corrective Downtime: The sum of the time spent preparing for the repair of the piece of equipment and actually repairing the piece of equipment (specified in the Preparation Time, Repair Time, and Total Correction Time cells in the <u>Failure Con-</u> sequence section).
- Stock-Out Downtime: The time period during which there was no spare part

available for the necessary repair. For example, if you do not have any spare parts stored when a piece of equipment fails, you will need to order a spare part. If the sum of the Normal Order Time and the On-site Delivery Time (both specified in the <u>Spare section</u>) takes longer than the Preparation Time (specified in the <u>Failure Consequence section</u>), then there will be a period of *stock-out* downtime while you wait for the spare part(s) to arrive at the repair site.

CE Hint: If you select the **Show Total Only** check box in the upper-right corner of the plot, you can view the *total* downtime associated with each spare level.

In addition to providing a Downtime Plot for each Spare record in the analysis, Meridium APM also displays the **AllSpares** tab, which compares all Spare records according to the amount of downtime associated with each possible spare level. By looking at the **AllSpares** tab, you can estimate how many days of downtime you might have per possible spare level for each piece of equipment. The following image shows an example of the Downtime Plot for All Spares.



Spare Usage Plot

The Spare Usage Plot is a bar graph that displays the spare usage for each year in the analysis period, assuming that you store the optimal level of spare parts.



In this image, the Simulation Start Date is **1/1/2008**, and the Simulation End Date is **1/1/2018**. The x-axis displays the years for the analysis period, and the y-axis displays the number of spares used in that year when you store the optimal spare level.

By default, each bar in the Spare Usage Plot is divided into the following spare usage categories, which are shaded with different colors that are represented in the legend to the right of the plot:

- PM Usage: The total number of spare parts used for Preventive Maintenance (specified in the # of Required Spares cell in the Failure Consequence section). Note that if the Enabled Preventive Maintenance check box in the Preventive Main-tenance section is not selected, PM Usage will not be included in this graph.
- **Corrective Usage:** The total number of spare parts used for repairing equipment failures (specified in the Failure Distribution section).

CE Hint: If you select the **Show Total Only** check box in the upper-right corner of the plot, you can view the *total* usage associated with each year in the analysis period.

In addition to providing a Spare Usage Plot for each Spare record in the Analysis, Meridium APM displays the **AllSpares** tab, which compares all Spare records according to the spare usage for each year. Assuming that you are storing the optimal level of each spare part, by looking at the Spare Usage Plot for All Spares, you can estimate how many of each spare part you might need each year.



Sensitivity Plot

The Sensitivity Plot is a line graph that displays for each year in the analysis period:

- The cost associated with holding the optimal number of spare parts.
- The cost of holding one less spare part than the optimal number.
- The cost of holding one more spare part than the optimal number.

For example, if the optimal level determined by the Monte Carlo simulation is three, then the Sensitivity Plot will display the cost associated with holding three spare parts, two spare parts, and four spare parts.



In this image, the Simulation Start Date is **1/1/2008**, and the Simulation End Date is **1/1/2018**. The x-axis displays the years for the analysis period, and the y-axis displays the costs that you can expect to incur in each year.

By default, each line in the Sensitivity Plot is divided into the following cost categories, which are shaded with different colors that are represented in the legend to the right of the plot:

- Total Cost (+): The total cost when storing one spare part *more* than the recommended number of spare parts.
- Total Cost (Optimal): The total cost when storing the recommended number of

spare parts. Note that the Optimal Spare Level, or recommended number of spare parts, is located at the top of the <u>Spare Level Plot</u>.

• Total Cost (-): The total cost when storing one spare part *less* than the recommended number of spare parts.

Note: If the Min Inventory Level is **0** (zero), the Max Inventory Level is **1**, and the Optimal Spare Level is 1, then the **Total Cost (+)** line will not appear on the Sensitivity Plot. With this inventory range specified on the Spare record, the Total Cost (+) line would represent the holding level of two spare parts, and that value is not within the inventory range.

In addition to providing a Sensitivity **Plot** for each Spare record in the analysis, Meridium APM displays the **AllSpares** tab, which compares all Spare records according to the cost of storing the optimal amount of the spare part, one spare part more than the optimal amount, and one spare part less than the optimal amount. By looking at the **AllSpares** tab, you can estimate the cost of storing the optimal amount, one more than the optimal amount, and one less than the optimal amount of each spare part during analysis period. The following image shows an example of the Sensitivity Plot for All Spares.



Optimal Holding Plot

The optimal spare level is determined as the most conservative value over the entire analysis period. Because failure data might change each year, the optimal inventory level might change for each year within the analysis period. The Optimal Holding Plot displays the optimal spare level for the whole period and for each individual year of the analysis period.

Consider the following Optimal Holding Plot from the data used in the <u>Spares Analysis</u> example.



In this image, the Simulation Start Date is set to **1/1/2008**, and the Simulation End Date is set to **1/1/2018** in the <u>Analysis section</u> of the Spares Analysis record. The x-axis displays the years included in the analysis period, and the y-axis displays the inventory level associated with the lowest cost of spares levels for each year.

By default, each bar in the Optimal Holding Plot is divided into the following cost categories, which are shaded with different colors that are represented in the legend to the right of the plot:

- Optimal Spare Level (Yearly): The lowest cost of spare levels associated with each year included in the analysis period.
- **Optimal Spare Level (Whole Period):** The recommended number of spare parts associated with the*entire* analysis period.

In addition to providing an Optimal Holding Plot for each Spare record in the analysis, Meridium APM displays the **AllSpares** tab, which compares all Spare records according to the optimal holding level for the whole period and for each individual year during the analysis period. The following image shows an example of the Optimal Holding Plot for All Spares, which you can use to compare the optimal holding levels for each piece of equipment.



What is a Reliability Growth Analysis?

A Reliability Growth Analysis can help you make strategic decisions by indicating whether your data measurements are random or if they follow a trend. The graphs produced by a Reliability Growth Analysis will show any time-dependent trends, allowing you to make decisions based on past behavior and predict how your data will behave in the future.

When you view the results of a Reliability Growth Analysis, if you see the data is trending in one direction until a certain point in time and then begins trending in another direction, you can examine what changed at the point in time when the trend shifted to determine the impact of those changes. In addition, if you make a strategy change and then examine whether the data worsens or begins to improve at that point, you can determine the impact of the strategy change. For example, a distinct change in a Mean Time Between Failures (MTBF) plot can identify the point at which improved maintenance strategies were put into place for a piece of equipment.

Similarly, when you observe data that is trending at the same rate over time without distinct changes, you can use those trends to predict the data's future behavior. For example, if you are tracking the cost associated with running a piece of equipment over a certain period of time, and the cost is consistently higher during winter months, you can predict how much more it will cost to run the piece of equipment in December than it will in July.

Trend charts generated by Reliability Growth Analyses can also show outlying events that may have had significant effects on the overall trend of strategy effectiveness. For example, a thunderstorm that results in a two-day power outage at a plant should not reflect poorly on a piece of equipment's reliability. Reliability Growth Analyses allow you to ignore these types of events.

You can perform a Reliability Growth Analysis and examine trend charts for one piece of equipment or location a group of similar pieces of equipment or locations. For example, you may want to examine trends for one pump that is constantly breaking down, or you may want to examine trends for a set of pumps to detect any improvement after you installed a new maintenance strategy.

Types of Reliability Growth Analyses

Before you can perform a Reliability Growth Analysis, you first must collect data, or numeric values representing some variable's performance, over some period of time. All data that you collect will be:

• Based on an event (e.g., a failure).

-or-

• not based on an event (e.g., repair cost).

Both data that is event-based and not event-based will also be:

• Grouped (i.e., datapoints represent multiple measurements or an amount).

-or-

• Non-grouped (i.e., datapoints represent a single measurement).

By default, the Meridium APM system assumes that your data is not grouped. You can specify that your analysis includes grouped data by including the amount of data per datapoint on the <u>Select Data Fields screen</u> in the **Reliability Growth Analysis Builder**. Data that is not event-based typically measures an amount (e.g., repair cost) and is grouped data.

Event-based data can be derived from:

- Failure Dates: specific dates on which failures occurred. (e.g., 1/3/2012)
- <u>Cumulative Operating Time</u>: An amount of time that has passed since the piece of equipment was put into service (e.g., 10 days).

Data that is not event-based is usually derived from cumulative operating time.

About Data Used in Reliability Growth Analyses

The following table lists the data you need to collect in order to conduct a Reliability Growth Analysis.

Data Needed	Description	Notes
Asset ID	An ID that uniquely describes a piece of equip- ment or location, such as Asset ID or Tag ID . Reli- ability Growth Analyses can be conducted on any number of equipment or locations.	This field is required and must be a character field. If the value in this field is blank, a blank Asset ID will be assigned to the data.
Cumulative Operating Time	The total amount of time that has passed since the piece of equipment or loc- ation was placed into ser- vice.	This field is required for an analysis based on cumulative operating time.
Downtime	The amount of time the piece of equipment or loc- ation is not in operation. You can use the date a piece of equipment or loc- ation is repaired or the day it returns to service to help estimate downtime. If this information is avail- able, it can be used to make the analysis more accurate.	This field is optional for an analysis based on fail- ure dates. Downtime is not used by analyses based on cumulative operating time.
Downtime Units	The downtime units.	This field is used only by analyses based on fail- ure dates that are using downtime. This field must be in calendar time.

Data Needed	Description	Notes
Failure Date	The date on which the piece of equipment or loc- ation failed. This data can have many different descriptions such as Out of Service Date, Shutdown Date, or Failure Date.	This field is required for an analysis based on fail- ure dates and optional for an analysis based on cumulative operating time. For an analysis based on cumulative operating time:
		 All failures must have a failure date, or no dates will appear in the ana- lysis.
		 Failure dates should be in the same order as cumulative oper- ating time.
Installation Date	The date on which the piece of equipment or loc- ation was installed.	This field is optional.
Operating Time Units	The operating time units.	For an analysis based on failure dates, this field must be in calendar time.
		For an analysis based on cumulative operating time, you can use cus- tom time units, such as miles.
Measurement Name	The type of the meas- urements you are col- lecting (e.g., failures, safety events, or cost). Throughout the doc- umentation, we use the term <i>measurement</i> to rep- resent the pieces of data that are being collected.	This value is required for all analyses.

Data Needed	Description	Notes
Number of Failures	The number of failures or amount of data that is recorded at each meas- urement.	This field is optional. If no data is provided for this field, the Meridium APM system will assume there is one failure for each datapoint. If you are using grouped data, this field is required.

About Reliability Growth

To make this documentation easier to follow and to help explain how Reliability Growth Analyses can be used as an evaluation tool in different scenarios, we provide some examples that could benefit from a Reliability Growth Analysis.

- Example 1: Demonstrates a scenario where you would create a Reliability Growth Analysis with event-based data that is measured using failure dates.
- Example 2: Demonstrates a scenario where you would create a Reliability Growth Analysis with event-based data that is measured using cumulative operating time.
- Example 3: Demonstrates a scenario where you would create a Reliability Growth Analysis with grouped data that is not event-based that is measured using cumulative operating time.

Example of an Analysis Using Event Dates

If you track events (e.g., safety events or failures) by specific date, then you can create a Reliability Growth Analysis using event-based data that is measured using failure dates.

Example 1: Failure Dates

Centrifugal Pump 1051700 was installed at the Springfield plant on July 20, 1998. Since its installation, the pump has failed several times, and each time the pump fails it is repaired immediately without any significant downtime. You have collected data noting which days the pump failed. You want to use the following data to perform a Reliability Growth Analysis to determine the mean time between pump failures.

Failure Dates	Number of Failures
12/14/1998	1
2/7/1999	1
6/26/1999	1
8/1/1999	1
9/5/1999	1
1/1/2001	1
1/2/2001	1
2/7/2002	1
7/11/2002	1
12/10/2002	1
5/12/2003	1
7/2/2003	1
11/28/2005	1
1/30/2006	1

In this case, you would use event-based data derived from failure dates to determine:

- The date that the pump will fail next.
- How many times the pump will fail by a certain date.
- If the number of failures increased or decreased as a result of a strategy change

(e.g., a new preventative maintenance schedule), which was implemented after the failure on September 5, 1999.

Example of an Analysis Using Cumulative Operating Time

Sometimes the specific days on which a piece of equipment or location fails may not be available, or the piece of equipment or location may not operate for the same amount of time every day. In these cases, it would be more valuable to determine future failures using cumulative operating time (COT), or the amount of time the piece of equipment or location has been in operation.

Example 2: Cumulative Operating Time

Haul Truck 1 was purchased for a shipping firm as a used vehicle with 11,028 miles. The truck now runs varied routes depending on the number of shipments to which it is assigned. Because the truck does not always travel the same number of miles each day, you collect the data representing the mileage points at which the truck broke down. You want to use the following data to perform a Reliability Growth Analysis to determine the mean operating time (i.e., number of miles) between failures.

Cumulative Operating Time (Miles)	Number of Failures
27,393	1
41,675	1
60,400	1
66,128	1
72,132	1
77,314	1
113,888	1
146,671	1
205,424	1
224,624	1
243,841	1
260,828	1
279,951	1
303,156	1

In this case, you would use event-based data derived from cumulative operating time to determine:

- The mileage point at which the next failure will occur.
- How many failures will occur by a certain point (e.g., five failures will have occurred after 1,000 miles).
- If the number of failures increased or decreased as a result of a strategy change (e.g., more routine oil changes), which was implemented after the failure at 77,314 miles.

Example of an Analysis Using Grouped and Non-Event Data

In Examples 1 and 2, each datapoint represents a single measurement or failure. In some datasets, each datapoint may represent *more than one* measurement, or an *amount* of data. Throughout this documentation, this type of data is referred to as *grouped data*. To perform Reliability Growth Analyses on grouped data, when you create a dataset, you must use datapoints that represent multiple measurements or an amount of data. Datasets containing grouped data can be based on either failure dates or cumulative operating time.

For example, if you want to analyze a pump for which you record data every six months and every time you record data you record multiple failures (one datapoint represents multiple failures), you would create a Reliability Growth Analysis based on event-based, grouped data that is derived from cumulative operating time.

In Examples 1 and 2, each datapoint was also based on an event. Examples of eventbased failures include equipment or location failures, safety incidents, or equipment or location repairs. Sometimes, you may want to perform a Growth Analysis on a variable that does not measure a specific event (e.g., an amount). For the correct labels to appear throughout the analysis, these datasets should be entered as non-event data. Datasets containing non-event data can be based on either failure dates or cumulative operating time.

Using a Reliability Growth Analysis to measure cost is the most common examples of evaluating grouped data and non-event data.

Example 3: A Reliability Growth Analysis Using Cost

You want to measure the cost of equipment failures at the Springfield plant in order to determine how you should plan a budget for that plant in the future. Individual pieces of equipment fail at different rates, so you measure the total cost of replacement parts and mechanic labor for the entire plant every few months. You want to use the following data to perform a Reliability Growth Analysis to view the cost trends at this plant.

Cumulative Operating Time (Months)	Cost
6.5	1,120
13	996
17	1,052
23	1,085
37	1,075
49.5	1,096

Cumulative Operating Time (Months)	Cost
62	1,001

In this case, you would use non-event, grouped data that is derived from cumulative operating time to determine:

- The repair costs that the plant will incur by some point in the future.
- If the repair costs have increased or decreased as a result of a strategy change (e.g., changing the mechanic who replaces parts), which was implemented after 23 months.
Reliability Growth Analysis Workflow

After you gather data for a Reliability Growth Analysis, you must perform a number of tasks to analyze the data. Following this workflow will ensure that you complete all the tasks that are necessary to conduct a complete analysis and will give you an overview of the analysis process.

- 1. **Collect data**. Before you can create a Reliability Growth Analysis, you first must <u>collect data</u> for the elements you wish to analyze.
- 2. **Create a new Reliability Growth Analysis**. You can create a new Reliability Growth Analysis from a query, dataset, or manually entered data.
- 3. Evaluate the results in the following ways using the features of the Reliability Growth Analysis tool.
 - Determine whether the data follows a trend using the <u>Goodness of Fit test</u>.
 - Predict how the data will look in the future by <u>using the extrapolation tool</u>.
 - Determine at what point in time trends in the data changed in the data by <u>using the segment tool</u>.

Accessing the List of Growth Analyses

To display a list of the Reliability Growth Analyses that currently exist in the database:

• On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Reliability Growth** link.

The Select a Growth Analysis from the List page appears.

Section APM Framework - Select a Growth Analysis from the List								
<u>File Edit G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp								
😤 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🎉 New 🔎 Search 🎽 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛚 🗓 Report 🛯 🖓 Graph 🗉 🍕 Dataset 🛛 📟 Dashboard 🕶								
	Site Map: <u>Reliability->Growth</u>							
Reliability Analytics								
DNI MTE	BE Plot	Pul	hlished Analyses	1 (0()				
	nulative Plot	r u	Dilancu Analysica	Any (%)				Run Query
	nalidave Plot	La	st Updated By	(All Users)			-	
	e Plot							
Common	Tasks 🔇							
i Nov			Analysis ID		Last Updated	Updated By	Final MTBF	
	v Analysis		v3.4.4 Growth Analysis	from ma	1/6/2012	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
pa ope	en Analysis		v3.4.3 Growth Analysis	from ma	7/1/2011	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
Sav	e Analysis		v3.4.2 Growth Analysis	from ma	4/27/2011	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
Sav	e Analysis As		v3.4.1 Growth Analysis	from ma	12/2/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
alian 🔓 Pub	lish Analyses		v3.4.0 Growth Analysis	from ma	5/13/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
🗙 Del	ete Analyses		v3.3.3 Growth Analysis	from ma	4/7/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
🖅 Ser	ıd To >>		v3.3.2 SP2 Growth Ana	alysis fro	11/13/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
🕖 Heli	D		v3.3.2 Growth Analysis	from ma	7/17/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
	delines		v3.3.1 Growth Analysis	from ma	2/6/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
	dennes		v3.3.0 Growth Analysis	from ma	11/7/2008	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
			v3.2.3 Growth Analysis	from ma	5/22/2008	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
			v3.2.2 Growth Analysis	from ma	1/23/2008	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
			v3.2.1 Growth Analysis	from ma	1/29/2007	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
			v3.2.0 Growth Analysis	from ma	10/17/2006	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
			v3.1.0 Growth Analysis	from ma	2/8/2006	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	15082268
			v3.0.2 SP3 Growth Ana	alysis fro	1/25/2005	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	5082268
			v3.0.2 SP1 Growth Ana	alysis fro	8/5/2004	Clingenpeel,	619.22404	5082268

Aspects of the Growth Analysis List Page

You can use the <u>Select a Growth Analysis from the List page</u> to select a Reliability Growth Analysis to open on the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Select a Growth Analysis from the List 📃 💷 📧								
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp								
😻 Back 🔹 🤌 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻 🏂 New 🔎 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🖷 Report 🛛 🕅 Graph 🛛 🧐 Dataset 🕶 🖬 Dashboard 🗸								
	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Growth</u>							
Reliability Analytics								
MTBE Plot	Published Analyses			Run Query				
Cumulative Plot				- Hundaciy				
Rate Plot	Last Updated By (All Users)			•				
Common Tasks 😵								
🛅 New Analysis	Analysis ID	Last Updated	Updated By	Final MTBF				
Open Analysis	▶ <u>v3.4.4 Growth Analysis from ma</u>	1/6/2012	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Save Apalysis	v3.4.3 Growth Analysis from ma	7/1/2011	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Save Analysis	v3.4.2 Growth Analysis from ma	4/27/2011	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Save Analysis As	v3.4.1 Growth Analysis from ma	12/2/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Publish Analyses	v3.4.0 Growth Analysis from ma	5/13/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
X Delete Analyses	V3.3.3 Growth Analysis from ma	4///2010	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Image: Send To >>	v3.3.2 SP2 Growth Analysis from me	7/17/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
🕖 Help	v2.2.1 Crowth Analysis from ma	7/17/2009	Clingenpeel,	610.224045092268				
② Guidelines	v3.3.1 Growth Analysis from ma	11/7/2008	Clingenpeel	619 224045082268				
	v3.2.3 Growth Analysis from ma	5/22/2008	Clingenpeel	619.224045082268				
	v3.2.2 Growth Analysis from ma	1/23/2008	Clingenpeel	619.224045082268				
	v3.2.1 Growth Analysis from ma	1/29/2007	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.2.0 Growth Analysis from ma	10/17/2006	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.1.0 Growth Analysis from ma	2/8/2006	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.0.2 SP3 Growth Analysis fro	1/25/2005	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.0.2 SP1 Growth Analysis fro	8/5/2004	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				

The Select a Growth Analysis from the List page contains the following items:

- Published Analyseslist: Displays the following values:
 - Yes (Y): Will cause the query to return only published Reliability Growth Analyses.
 - No (N): Will cause the query to return only unpublished Reliability Growth Analyses.
 - Any (%): Will cause the query to return all Reliability Growth Analyses, both published and unpublished.
- Last Updated By list: Displays the following values:
 - The last and first name associated with your Security User account: This value is selected by default. When you select this value, the query will return Reliability Growth Analysis records that were last updated by you.

- The last and first name of any Security user who last updated any Reliability Growth Analysis record: When you select one of these values, the query will return Reliability Growth Analysis records that were last updated by the selected Security User.
- [All Users]: When you select this value, the query will return all Reliability Growth Analysis records in the database.
- **Run Query button:** Runs the Reliability Growth query and populates the results area based upon your selections in the **Published Analyses** and **Last Updated By** lists.
- Query results grid: This grid is populated when you click the Run Query button. The grid contains the following columns that displays Reliability Growth Analysis values:
 - Analysis ID
 - Last Updated
 - Updated By
 - Final MTBF
- Task Menus: Menus that provide access to specific functionality. The following menus are available: Plots and Common Tasks.

Plots Menu



The **Plots** menu on the **Select a Growth Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- MTBE Plot: Displays the MTBE Trend Plot page for the selected analyses.
- Cumulative Plot: Displays the Cumulative Plot page for the selected analyses.
- Rate Plot: Displays the Rate Trend Plot page for the selected analyses.

Note:The links on the**Plots**menu are enabled when one or more records are selected in the query results grid on the**Select a Growth Analysis from the List**page.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Select a Growth Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the <u>Reliability Growth Builder</u>, which you can use to create a new Reliability Growth Analysis record.
- **Open Analysis:** Opens the **Find Reliability Growth Analysis** window, which you can use to search for an existing **Reliability Growth Analysis** record.
- Save Analysis: This link is always disabled.
- Save Analysis As: This link is always disabled.
- **Publish Analyses:** <u>Publishes</u> the selected Reliability Growth Analysis record(s). If you select one or more records that are already published, this link will be labeled **Unpublish Analyses** and will <u>unpublish</u> the selected records.
- **Delete Analyses:** After asking for confirmation, deletes the selected Reliability Growth Analysis record(s) from the list.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Select a Growth Analysis from the List page.
- Guidelines: Displays overview information about the Reliability Analytics module.

Opening an Existing Reliability Growth Analysis

To open an existing Reliability Growth Analysis:

1. On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Reliability Growth** link.

The Select a Growth Analysis from the List page appears.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Select a Growth Analysis from the List								
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp								
😵 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🎉 New 🔎 Search 🚎 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🗓 Report 🗸 🕼 Graph 🗸 🍕 Dataset 🛛 📟 Dashboard 🗸								
Site Map: Reliability->Growth								
meridium	meridium							
Deliebility Applytics	Select a G	rowth Analys	is from (the List				
Reliability Analytics	Jelecta	nowen Analys						
Plots 😻								
MTBE Plot	Published Analyses Any (%)			▼ Bun	Query			
Cumulative Plot					quory			
Rate Plot	Last Updated By (All Users)			•				
Common Tasks 🛛 😻		1	1					
🛅 New Analysis	Analysis ID	Last Updated	Updated By	Final MTBF				
🗊 Open Analysis	V3.4.4 Growth Analysis from ma	1/6/2012	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Save Analysis	v3.4.2 Growth Analysis from ma	4/27/2011	Clingenpeel	619.224045082266	=			
Save Analysis As	v3.4.1 Growth Analysis from ma	12/2/2010	Clingenpeel,	619,224045082268				
Publish Analyses	v3.4.0 Growth Analysis from ma	5/13/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
X Delete Analyses	v3.3.3 Growth Analysis from ma	4/7/2010	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Send To >>	v3.3.2 SP2 Growth Analysis fro	11/13/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Help	v3.3.2 Growth Analysis from ma	7/17/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Guidelines	v3.3.1 Growth Analysis from ma	2/6/2009	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
Guidelines	v3.3.0 Growth Analysis from ma	11/7/2008	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.2.3 Growth Analysis from ma	5/22/2008	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.2.2 Growth Analysis from ma	1/23/2008	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.2.1 Growth Analysis from ma	1/29/2007	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	V3.2.0 Growth Analysis from ma	10/1//2006	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.0.2 SP3 Growth Analysis from ma	2/0/2000	Clingenpeel,	619.224045082268				
	v3.0.2 SP1 Growth Analysis fro	8/5/2004	Clingenpeel	619.224045082268				
	VOID 2 OF 1 GLOW OF ANALYSIS IT OF T	0/0/2004	cangeripeely	013.22-073002200	-			

- 2. In the Published Analyses list, select a value.
- 3. In the Last Updated By list, select a value.
- 4. Click the **Run Query** button.

The Meridium APM system runs the Reliability Growth query and the results are displayed in the query results grid.

5. In the **Analysis ID** column, click the analysis ID of the analysis that you want to open.

The <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u> appears, displaying a summary of the analysis.



Note that when you open an existing analysis, the analysis will use the data and calculations that were last <u>saved</u> with the analysis. If you want to reload the underlying query or dataset and update calculations based on any changes to the underlying data, you must <u>reload the data</u> after opening the analysis.

Accessing the Reliability Growth Builder

To access the Reliability Growth Builder:

- 1. Access one of the following pages:
 - Select a Growth Analysis from the List page
 - Reliability Growth Analysis page
 - AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page
- 2. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **New Analysis** link.

The **Reliability Growth Builder** appears, displaying the **Welcome** screen.

Reliability Growth Builder - Welcome							
meridium	Welcome to the Reliability Growth Builder						
	In the next few steps you will create a new Reliability Growth Analysis. You will be able to base the analysis on data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.						
	 Don't show this page again. To continue, click Next. 						
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help						

Using the Reliability Growth Builder

You can use the **Reliability Growth Builder** to create a Reliability Growth Analysis from data that is manually entered or contained in queries or datasets. This data can be:

• Based on an event (e.g., a failure).

-or-

 not based on an event (e.g., repair cost). In <u>Example 3</u>, we create an analysis using non-event, grouped data.

In addition, event or non-event data can be measured using:

• Failure dates. In <u>Example 1</u>, we will create an analysis using event-based data derived from failure dates.

-or-

• Cumulative operating time. In <u>Example 2</u>, we will create an analysis using eventbased data derived from cumulative operating time.

The **Reliability Growth Builder** displays various screens containing various options that you can used to create a Reliability Growth Analysis. This section of the documentation provides details on each of these screens and how you can use them to create a Reliability Growth Analysis.

- Welcome screen
- Select Data Source Type screen
- Select Data Source screen
- Select Data Format screen
- Select Data Fields screen
- Provide Information for Downtime screen
- Analysis Start Time screen

Creating a Growth Analysis Derived from Failure Dates

If you record event-based data that uses failure dates (e.g., a failure was recorded on 5/5/10), then you can create a Reliability Growth Analysis using event-based data and data containing dates.

To create a Reliability Growth Analysis based on a query or dataset:

- 1. Access the Reliability Growth Builder.
- 2. On the <u>Welcome screen</u>, click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source Type						
Select Data Source Type	il					
Query Based						
• Data will be loaded using an existing Query.						
I will create a new Query and use it to load data.						
Dataset Based						
O Data will be copied from an existing Dataset.						
C I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as data.						
No Data Source						
 I will manually enter data. 						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help						

On the <u>Select Data Source Type screen</u>, specify the source of the data for your analysis, and click the Next button. These instructions assume that you have selected one of the Query Based or Dataset Based options. If you selected the I will manually enter data option, after the Select Data Format screen, click the Finish button, and the <u><Measurement> Data</u> grid appears.

The Select Data Sourcescreen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source							
Select Data Source							1
Query: Available Fields	: Fail Dov Mai LPC	v Query					Browse
	Back	Next >	Fi	nish		Cancel	Help

4. On the <u>Select Data Source screen</u>, select the query or dataset you will use for the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Format** screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Format						
Select Data Format	i					
Time Data Format						
 Data contains dates 						
O Data contains cumulative operating time						
Measurement Data Format						
 Data is event count (e.g., # of failures) 						
O Data is not event count (e.g., cost)						
Measurement Name: Failures						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel	Help					

5. On the <u>Select Data Format screen</u>, specify the time data format, the measurement data format, and the name of the measurement you will use throughout the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the Next button. These instructions assume you are creating an analysis similar to <u>Example 1</u>, and will select the Data contains dates option and the Data is event count option, and leave the Measurement Name text box with the default value *Failures*.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Fields							
Select Data Fields				1			
Asset ID:				-			
Installation Date:							
nistaliation Date.							
Date:							
Failures:				•			
< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help			

The Select Data Fields screen appears.

On the <u>Select Data Fields screen</u>, select the query or dataset columns that you want to map for the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the **Next** button.

6. The **Provide Information for Downtime** screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Provide Information for Downtime							
Provide Information for Downtime							
Downtime Field:		•					
Time Units:	Days	_					
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel	Help					

- 7. On the **Provide Information for Downtime screen**, in the **Downtime Field** list, select the query or dataset column that contains downtime values.
- 8. In the **Time Units** list, select the time units associated with downtime from the following options:
 - Hours
 - Days
 - Weeks
 - Months
 - Quarters
 - Years
- 9. Click the**Finish**button.

The Meridium APM system generates the analysis, and the **Reliability Growth Ana-Iysis** page appears, displaying the analysis results.

10. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link to <u>save the analysis</u>.

Creating a Growth Analysis Derived From COT

If you record event-based data using operating time instead of failure dates (e.g., a failure occurred after the piece of equipment was running for 10 days), then you can create a Reliability Growth Analysis using event-based data and cumulative operating time (COT).

To create a Reliability Growth Analysis based on a query or dataset:

- 1. Access the Reliability Growth Builder.
- 2. On the <u>Welcome screen</u>, click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source Type						
Select Data Source Type]					
Query Based						
Oata will be loaded using an existing Query.						
I will create a new Query and use it to load data.						
Dataset Based						
C Data will be copied from an existing Dataset.						
C I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as data.						
No Data Source						
I will manually enter data.						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help						

On the <u>Select Data Source Type screen</u>, specify the source of the data for your analysis, and click the Next button. These instructions assume that you have selected one of the Query Based or Dataset Based options. If you selected the I will manually enter data option, after the Select Data Format screen, click the Finish button, and the <Measurement> Data grid appears.

The Select Data Source screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source							
Select Data Sc	urce						
Query: Available Fields:	New Query Asset ID Failure Date Downtime Maintenance Cost LPO	Browse					
< Bac	k Next > Finish	Cancel Help					

4. On the <u>Select Data Source screen</u>, select the query or dataset you will use for the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Format** screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Format						
Select Data Format	11					
Time Data Format						
 Data contains dates 						
O Data contains cumulative operating time						
Measurement Data Format						
Data is event count (e.g., # of failures)						
O Data is not event count (e.g., cost)						
Measurement Name: Failures						
< Back Next > Finish Cancel He	lp					

5. On the <u>Select Data Format screen</u>, specify the time data format, the measurement data format, and the name of the measurement you will use throughout the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the Next button. These instructions assume you are creating an analysis similar to <u>Example 2</u>, and will select the Data contains cumulative operating time option, and the Data is event count option, and leave the Measurement Name text box with the default value *Failures*.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select D	ata Fields				
Select Data Fields					đ
Cumulative Operating Time					-
Time Units:	Days		•		
Asset ID:					-
Date:	_				-
Failures:					-
< Back	Next >	Finish		Cancel	Help

The Select Data Fields screen appears.

6. On the <u>Select Data Fields screen</u>, select the query or dataset columns that you want to map for the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the **Next** button.

The Analysis Start Time screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Analysis Start Time	
Analysis Start Time	
Start Time I want to use the time of the first data point as the start time for this analysis. Days	
<pre>< Back Next > Finish Cancel He</pre>	elp

7. On the <u>Analysis Start Time screen</u>, specify the start time of the analysis, and click the **Finish** button.

Note: If you did not select a field in the **Date** list on the**Select Data Fields**screen or if you selected a field that did not contain a date in every row, a message will appear, stating that one or more failure dates are missing and that dates will not be estimated in the analysis.

The Meridium APM system generates the analysis, and the **Reliability Growth Ana-Iysis** page appears, displaying the analysis results.

8. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link to <u>save the analysis</u>.

Creating a Growth Analysis From Non-Event and Grouped Data (Cost)

If you record data that is not associated with an event (e.g., repair cost) you would create a Reliability Growth Analysis from data that is not event-based. If you record more than one measurement per datapoint or record an amount of data, you should create a Reliability Growth Analysis using grouped data.

Using a Reliability Growth Analysis to measure cost is the most common example of evaluating grouped data and non-event data.

To create a Reliability Growth Analysis based on a query or dataset:

- 1. Access the Reliability Growth Builder.
- 2. On the <u>Welcome screen</u>, click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.

Reliability 0	Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source Type				
Select	Select Data Source Type			il.	
Quer	r y Based Data will be loade	d using an existing	Query.		
0	C I will create a new Query and use it to load data.				
Data	set Based				
0	O Data will be copied from an existing Dataset.				
0	I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as data.				
No D	ata Source				
 I will manually enter data. 					
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

On the <u>Select Data Source Type screen</u>, specify the source of the data for your analysis, and click the Next button. These instructions assume that you have selected one of the Query Based or Dataset Based options. If you selected the I will manually enter data option, after the Select Data Format screen, click the Finish button, and the <u><Measurement> Data</u> grid appears.

The Select Data Source screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source					
Select	: Data Sou	rce			1
Query: Availabl	leFields:	New Query Asset ID Failure Date Downtime Maintenance Cost LPO			Browse
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

4. On the <u>Select Data Source screen</u>, select the query or dataset you will use for the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Format** screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Format	
Select Data Format	1
Time Data Format	
Data contains dates	
O Data contains cumulative operating time	
Measurement Data Format	
 Data is event count (e.g., # of failures) 	
 Data is not event count (e.g., cost) 	
Measurement Name: Failures	
< Back Next > Finish Cancel	Help

5. On the <u>Select Data Format screen</u>, specify the time data format, the measurement data format, and the name of the measurement you will use throughout the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the Next button. These instructions assume you are creating an analysis similar to <u>Example 3</u>, and will select the Data contains cumulative operating time option and the Data is not event count option, and enter *Cost* in the Measurement Name text box.

Reliability Growth Builder - Sel Select Data Fields	ect Data Field	5				1
Cumulative Operating 1	ïme:					•
Time Units:	Days			•		
Asset ID:						•
Date:						•
Cost:						•
< Back	Next >		Finish		Cancel	Help

The Select Data Fields screen appears.

6. On the <u>Select Data Fields screen</u>, select the query or dataset columns that you want to map for the Reliability Growth Analysis, and click the **Next** button. To ensure that your analysis includes grouped data, you must map a column to the **Cost** field.

The Analysis Start Time screen appears.

Reliability Growth Builder - Analys	is Start Time		
Analysis Start Time			1
Start Time I want to use the O	ne time of the first data point as the Months	he start time for this anal	ysis.
< Back	Next > Finish	Cancel	Help

7. On the <u>Analysis Start Time screen</u>, specify the start time of the analysis, and click the **Finish**button.

Note: If you did not select a field in the **Date** list on the **Select Data Fields** screen, or if you selected a field that did not contain a date in every row, a message will appear stating that one or more failure dates are missing and dates will not be estimated in the analysis.

The Meridium APM system generates the analysis, and the **Reliability Growth Ana-Iysis** page appears, displaying the analysis results.

8. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link to <u>save the analysis</u>.

Creating Reliability Growth Analyses from an Associated Page

The following instructions assume that an administrative user has already <u>created an</u> <u>Associated Page</u> that can be used to create a Reliability Growth Analysis from an Equipment or Functional Location record.

To create a Reliability Growth Analysis from an Associated Page:

1. In the Meridium APM Framework, open an Equipment or Functional Location record in the Record Manager.

Aridium APM Framework -	Record Manager - SB0001-104 ~ MISC	ELLANOUS FIXED EOUIPMENT	~ 000000000001062185 (Equipment)		
File Edit Go To Tools	Help		(
A Pack - S Forward - A		-h 🛸 Catalog 🗟 Queny - 🕅	Papart - 🖓 Graph - 🤗 Datarat - 🕅	Dashboard -	
S Dack • S Tolward • 🖬	iniy statt Page + 🎽 New 🔑 Sean	in 👝 catalog 👩 Query - 🛄			
Record Manager	Record Explorer × SB0001-104 ~ MISCELLANC SB0001-104 ~ MISCELLANC Asset Corrosion Analysis Corrosion Analysis Setti Corrosion Analysis RCA Analysis CA Tradking Item	Record Manager Add, Edit, and Delete record SB0001-104 ~ MISCELLANOUS Datasheet Equipment Foundment Identification Foundment Identification	s, Link records together using the explore 5 FIXED EQUIPMENT ~ 00000000010	r. 62185 (Equipment) ሷ 🎯 🔯 🖏	
😼 New	Reliability Distribution			Description	
Save	Reliability Growth	L En innert ID	Value(s)	MISCELLANOUS ETVED FOUTPMENT	
Save and New	 Reliability Recommenda Thickness Measurement 	Fequipment ID	SB0001-104	HISCEER NOOSTINED EQUITMENT	
Y Delete	AMS Asset	Equipment Technical Number	M	MISCELLANEQUIS	
	AMS Asset Recommend	SAP Category	0014	MISCELLANEOUS	
ца Сору	 Asset Criticality Analysi: Asset Strategy 	SAP Class	ETVMISMIS	Miscellaneous Eived	
🍓 Print	Criticality RBI Compone	Equipment Type	INST	Phateinaneous Fixed	
😡 Documents	Criticality RBI Compone	Equipment Status	1031		
Send To >>	Criticality RBI Compone	Long Description	MPD-POA-PEEN-PE104-SB0001-104	SOOT BLOWER - ECC NORTH BOILER	
(i) Help	Criticality RBI Compone	Maintenance Direct		SOOT BEOWER THE NORTH BOILER	
	Criticality RBI Compone	Maintenance Plant			_ =
Associated Pages 🛛 😵	Equipment	Criticality Indicator			
Create Calibration >>	Calibration, Analog	Sort Field	DIAMOND		
Create Task	Calibration, Analyzer Si	Manutacturer			
Create Template >>	Calibration, Discrete	Model Number	1K-525		
MacroTest	Calibration, Weight Sca	Part Number			
New Growth Analysis	Risk	Equipment Serial Number			
	E Functional Location	Inventory Number			
-	Meridium General Recor	Vendor			
	 Hazards Analysis Cause Hazards Analysis Safen 	Purchase Order Number			
	Health Indicator	Purchase Date			
	Independent Layer of P	Year Constructed			
	General Inspection	Warranty Expired Date			
	Full Inspection	Valid From Date	1/1/2004 12:00:00 AM		
	< +	Equipment Size			
	 All Families Displayed 	Construction Type			
	An Fammes Displayed	Technical Drawing Number			

2. On the Associated Pages menu, click the New Growth Analysis link.

The **Enter parameter values** dialog box appears. If you are viewing an Equipment record, the **Enter parameter values** dialog box displays the value in the Equipment ID field of the current record. If you are viewing a Functional Location record, the **Enter Parameter values** dialog box displays the value in the Location field of the current record.

Enter parameter values	
Equipment ID	0000000001062185 -
	OK Cancel

3. Click OK.

The Reliability Growth Analysis is created, and the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page appears.

Welcome Screen

When you access the Reliability Growth Builder, the Welcome screen is displayed.

Reliability Growth Builder - Welcome						
meridiu	Welcom Growth	Welcome to the Reliability Growth Builder				
	In the next few will be able to l or manually en	steps you will create base the analysis on tered data.	a new Reliability G data obtained from	rowth Analysis. You a query, a dataset,		
	Don't show To continue, d	/ this page again. lick Next.				
< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help		

The **Don't show this page again** check box is displayed on the **Welcome** screen. When this check box is selected, the **Welcome** screen will not be displayed the next time you access the builder. When this check box is clear, the **Welcome** screen will be displayed the next time you access the builder.

Select Data Source Type Screen

Your selection on the **Select Data Source Type** screen determines the source of the data for your analysis.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source Type	
Select Data Source Type	
Query Based	
Data will be loaded using an existing Query.	
O I will create a new Query and use it to load data.	
Dataset Based	
O Data will be copied from an existing Dataset.	
O I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as data.	
No Data Source	
O I will manually enter data.	
< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help	

Choose from the following options that are displayed on the **Select Data Source Type** screen:

- Data will be loaded using an existing Query: If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired query in the Meridium APM Catalog.
- I will create a new Query and use it to load data: If you select this option, when you click the Next button, the Query Builder will appear so that you can design a new query.
- Data will be copied from an existing Dataset: If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired dataset in the Meridium APM Catalog.
- I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as data: If you select this option, when you click the Next button, the Dataset Builder will appear so that you can design a new dataset.
- I will manually enter data: If you select this option, when you click the Next button, the Select Data Format screen will appear. After you click the Finish button on the Select Data Format screen, the <u><Measurement> Data grid</u> will appear, in which you can enter your data manually.

Data Source Screen

The **Select Data Source** screen allows you to choose the query or dataset you will use for the Reliability Growth Analysis. This screen appears only if you selected one of the following options on the **Select Data Source Type** screen:

- Data will be loaded using an existing Query
- Data will be copied from an existing Dataset

The following image shows an example of the screen where a query has been selected as the datasource.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Source				
Select Data Sou	ırce			
Query: AvailableFields:	New Query Browse Asset ID Follow Date			
Available relas.	Failure Date Downtime Maintenance Cost LPO			
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help			

Click the **Browse** button to search for an existing query or dataset in the Meridium APM Catalog. After you select the desired datasource from the Catalog:

• If you are using an existing query as your datasource, the name of the query will be displayed in the **Query** text box.

-or-

If you are using an existing dataset as your datasource, the name of the query will be displayed in the **Dataset** text box.

• The fields that exist for the selected query or dataset appear in the **Available Fields** list.

Select Data Format Screen

The **Select Data Format** screen allows you to specify the time data format, the measurement data format, and the name of the measurement you will use throughout the Reliability Growth Analysis.

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Data Format	
Select Data Format	d
Time Data Format Data contains dates Data contains cumulative operating time	
Measurement Data Format	
Data is event count (e.g., # of failures)	
O Data is not event count (e.g., cost)	
Measurement Name: Failures	
< Back Next > Finish Cancel H	lelp

You can choose from the following options on the Select Data Format screen:

- Time Data Format
 - Data contains dates: Indicates that the datasource contains <u>data that contains specific event dates</u> (e.g., 5/5/2012).

-or-

- Data contains cumulative operating time: Indicates that the datasource contains data the contains operation time values (e.g., 10 days).
- Measurement Data Format
 - Data is event count: Indicates that the datasource contains data that contains event counts, such as number of equipment failures, safety incidents, or equipent repairs.

-or-

 Data is not event count: Indicates that the datasource contains data that does <u>not contain event counts</u> but contains an amount, such as cost or hours. • **Measurement Name:** The name of the data you are measuring throughout the analysis (e.g., cost, events). This value is required. By default, this value is *Failures.* The measurement name that you select will be displayed throughout the analysis results.

Select Data Fields Screen

The **Select Data Fields** screen allows you to select columns from your query or dataset to map to the Reliability Growth Analysis. This screen will look different, depending on whether your analysis contains failure dates or cumulative operating time.

The following image displays the **Select Data Fields** screen for an analysis containing failure dates.

Reliability Growth Builder - Se	lect Data Fields			
Select Data Fields				1
Asset ID:				•
Installation Date:				•
Date:				•
Failures:				•
< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

Select a column from your query or dataset containing dates to map to the following fields on the **Select Data Fields** screen:

- Asset ID: Select the query or dataset column that contains the IDs of the failed equipment or locations. This value is required, and you must select a column that contains alphanumeric values.
- **Installation Date:** Select the query or dataset column that contains the installation dates of the equipment or locations. This field appears only for an analysis based on failure dates, and the value is optional.
- **Date:** Select the query or dataset column that contains the failure date of the equipment or locations. This value is required.
- **<Measurement>:** Select the query or dataset column that contains the number of failures recorded at each measurement. If you do not select a value from the list, the Meridium APM system will assume that one failure exists for each datapoint. If the number of failures is 1, the calculation will be based on an event-terminated or time-terminated analysis. If the number of failures is more than 1, the

calculation will be based on a grouped-data analysis. For <u>Example 3</u>, we are using grouped data and need to define a column for this field.

Note: The name of the last list is dependent on the value you chose in the **Measurement Name** text box on the **Select Data Format** screen. In <u>Example 1</u> and <u>Example 2</u>, we accepted the default value *Failures*, so the last list is named *Failures*. In <u>Example 3</u>, we entered the value *Cost*, so this list would be named *Cost*.

The following image displays the **Select Data Fields** screen for an analysis containing cumulative operating time:

Reliability Growth Builder - Select Dat	a Fields				
Select Data Fields					i
Cumulative Operating Time:					•
Time Units:	Days		-		
Asset ID:					-
Date:	_				-
Failures:	_				•
< Back Ne	xt >	Finish		Cancel	Help

Select a column from your query or dataset containing cumulative operating time to map to the following fields on the **Select Data Fields** screen:

- **Cumulative Operating Time:** Select the query or dataset column that contains the piece of equipment's or location's cumulative operating time, or the time that has passed since it was placed into service. This field appears only for an analysis based on cumulative operating time, and the value is required.
- Time Units: Select the units for cumulative operating time from the following options: Hours, Days, Weeks, Months, Quarters, Years, or Custom. If you select *Custom*, the second text box is enabled and you can specify any units you desire (e.g., miles). This field appears only for an analysis based on cumulative operating time, and the value is required.
- Asset ID: Select the query or dataset column that contains the IDs of the failed equipment or locations. This value is optional.

- Date: Select the query or dataset column that contains the failure date of the equipment or locations. This value is optional, but if you do not select a field in the Date list, all labels in the Reliability Growth Analysis will display cumulative operating time only, and you will be able to extrapolate based on time only, not date.
- <Measurement>: Select the query or dataset column that contains the number of failures recorded at each measurement. If you do not select a value from the list, the Meridium APM system will assume that one failure exists for each datapoint. If the number of failures is 1, the calculation will be based on an event-terminated or time-terminated analysis. If the number of failures is more than 1, the calculation will be based on a grouped-data analysis. For Example 3, we are using grouped data and need to define a column for this field.

Note: The name of the last list is dependent on the value you chose in the **Measurement Name** text box on the **Select Data Format** screen. In <u>Example 1</u> and <u>Example 2</u>, we accepted the default value *Failures*, so the last list is named *Failures*. In <u>Example 3</u>, we entered the value *Cost*, so this list would be named *Cost*.

Provide Information for Downtime Screen

The **Provide Information for Downtime** screen allows you to selected the desired query or dataset columns that you want to map for downtime for failed equipment or locations. This screen appears in the **Reliability Growth Builder** only when you select the **Data contains dates** option on the <u>Data Format screen</u>.

Reliability Growth Builder - Provide Information for Downtime						
Provi	de Informatio	in for Downt	ime			1
Dowr	ntime Field:					_
Time	Units:	Days				•
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Can	cel	Help

Select a column from your query or dataset to map to the following fields on the **Provide Information for Downtime Screen:**

- **Downtime Field list:** Select the query or dataset column that contains downtime values for the failed equipment or locations (e.g., Total Time to Repair). This value is optional but must be numeric.
- Time Units list: Select the time units associated with the selected downtime (i.e., Hours, Weeks, Months, Quarters, or Years). The value *Days* is selected by default.

Analysis Start Time Screen

The Analysis Start Time screen allows you to specify the start time for the analysis. This screen appears only when you are creating a Reliability Growth Analysis that is based on cumulative operating time.

Reliability (Growth Builder - A	nalysis Start Time			
Analys	is Start Time				á
	Start Time	use the time of the f	first data point as th Days	e start time for this a	analysis.
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

On this screen:

• Select the I want to use the time of the first data point as the start time for the analysis check box if you want to treat the first failure datapoint as the start time for the analysis. If you choose this option, the cumulative time for all other rows will be calculated by subtracting this value.

-or-

• If you want to specify a different cumulative operating time as the start time for the analysis, clear the check box and type a value in the text box. The cumulative time of all rows will be calculated by subtracting this value from cumulative operating time. The units for this text box are populated automatically with the time units that you selected on the **Select Data Fields** screen.

The <Measurement> Data Grid

If you choose to enter failure data manually, at the end of the **Reliability Growth Builder**, the **<Measurement> Data** grid will appear, where you can enter data. The **<Measurement> Data** grid will look different depending on whether your analysis is using <u>failure dates</u> or <u>cumulative operating time</u>. The following images show examples of the **<Measurement>** tab and **Assets** tab for an analysis based on failure dates.

Note: The name of the window is dependent on the value you chose in the **Measurement Name** text box on the **Select Data Format** screen. In <u>Example 1</u> and <u>Example</u> 2, we accepted the default value *Failures*, so the window is named *Failures* Data. In <u>Example 3</u>, we entered the value *Cost*, so the window is named *Cost Data*.

The **<Measurement**>tab:

Failures Data							. • 💌
	(r. (r.)	1	1 = 1	1-			10
Asset ID Date	Time (Days)	Downtim	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulative Time (Days)	Segment
▶ (none)							
4							۱.
					ОК	Cancel	Help

The **Assets** tab:

凌 Failure Data						
Failures Assets						
Asset ID	Installati	Last Rep	[
				ОК	Cancel	Help

The **<Measurement> Data** grid allows you to enter the information about the equipment, locations, and failures that you want to include in the analysis. To enter data, you can manually type the data in the cells, or you can use the cut, copy, and paste functions to transfer data to the grid from other applications. A minimum of three failure datapoints is required to perform a calculation.

Note: If you enter any downtime values that exceed the next failure date, the Meridium APM system will highlight the downtime values on the **<Measurement> Data** window. The cumulative time between failures will be calculated assuming that the downtime is not accurate and that the failure dates are accurate. When you close the **<Measurement> Data** window, an error message will appear. The same error message will also appear in the **Analysis Information** section.
Aspects of the Reliability Growth Analysis Page (Event-Based)

The **Reliability Growth Analysis** page is divided into two sections: **Analysis Information** and **Reliability Growth Model**. This page will look different depending on the type of data that you use for your analysis. The following image shows the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page for <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis that is created from event-based data that is derived from failure dates:



The Analysis Information section contains the following items:

- Analysis Name: The ID of the selected Reliability Growth Analysis. You can click the Rename link in this section or on the Current Analysis menu if you want to change either the name or the description of the analysis.
- **Description:** A description of the analysis, as defined when the analysis was saved. You can click the **Rename** link in this section or on the **Current Analysis** menu if you want to <u>change either the name or the description of the analysis</u>.
- Analysis Period: The start and end dates of the analysis. If the analysis is based on <u>cumulative operating time</u>, it will be the start and end times of the analysis (e.g., 11,000 miles 303,000 miles).

- Total Operating Time: The total amount of cumulative time that the equipment or locations are in operation during the specified analysis period. For example, if you run one piece of equipment for 10 days, the total operating time is 10 days. If multiple pieces of equipment or locations are included in the analysis, their operating time will be added together. So two pieces of equipment running for 10 days would have a total operating time of 20 days.
- **Number of Assets:** The number of pieces of equipment or locations included in the analysis.
- **Total <Measurement>:** The total number of measurements (e.g., failures, cost) for all pieces of equipment and locations in the analysis. The caption of this item will change depending on the <u>measurement name</u>.
- Initial MTBF: The Mean Time Between Failures at the beginning of the analysis. This item is displayed only for analyses using event-based data.
- Final MTBF: The Mean Time Between Failures at the end of the analysis. This item is displayed only for analyses using event-based data.
- Last Event Date: The last failure date in the analysis. This item appears only for an analysis using event-based data.
- Next Estimated Event Date: The next estimated failure date, calculated by the Meridium APM system. This item only appears for an analysis using on event-based data.
- **Rename:** A link that displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can rename the analysis.

The **Reliability Growth Model** section displays the following items:

- Preview of the Cumulative Failures Plot: A read-only view of the <u>Cumulative Failures Plot</u>. You can click on the graph or click the Failures Plot link on the Plots menu to display the Cumulative Failures Plot page.
- Preview of the MTBF Trend Plot: A read-only view of the MTBF Trend graph. You can click on the graph or click the MTBF Plot link on the Plots menu to display the MTBF Plot page. This plot is displayed only for analyses using event-based data.
- **Grid:** A grid containing detailed information for the segments that are included in the analysis. One row is displayed for each segment in the analysis. The grid displays the following columns of information:
 - Segment: Displays a hyperlinked segment number, which you can click to view the <u>details for the AMSAA model</u> on the AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page, which describes how the calculations were performed to generate the model and lists calculated analysis values.
 - Start Date: The start date for the segment. For the first segment, this is the same as the analysis start date. For subsequent segments, this is the end date of the previous segment.
 - End Date: The end date for the segment. For the last segment, this date is the same as the analysis end date. For multi-segment analyses, the end date of one segment is always the start date of the next segment.

Note: For a Reliability Growth Analysis based on cumulative operating time, the **Start Date** and **End Date** columns will be **Start Time <units>** and **End Time <units>**.

Termination Type: A value that indicates whether the end date is eventbased, time-based or grouped data. If you select the Time-Based option on the Analysis Period dialog box, the value in the Termination Type column will be *Time-Based*. Likewise, if you select the Event-Based option on the Analysis Period dialog box, the value in the Termination Type column will be *Event-Based*. If the analysis contains grouped data, the value in the Termination Type column will be*Grouped-Data*.

Note: If the **Cumulative Failures Plot** graph contains more than one segment, the termination type may vary between segments. If the analysis is *Event-Based*, all segments will be event-based. If the analysis is *Time-Based*, however, the last segment will be *Time-Based*, but the termination type for all other segments will be *Event-Based*.

- Beta: A value representing the slope of the line in the <u>Cumulative Failures</u> <u>Plot</u>. The <u>Beta value</u> helps serve as an indicator of whether the MTBF is increasing, decreasing, or staying the same.
- Lambda: A scale parameter that equals the Y-intercept of the <u>Cumulative Failures Plot</u> at time t= 1.
- GOF Statistic: A value calculated by a Cramer-von Mises or Chi-squared test that indicates the preciseness of the fit.
- Critical Value: A standard value used to determine whether the analysis passes the goodness of fit (GOF) test.
- Passed GOF: A value that indicates whether the segment passes the GOF test.
 - The analysis *passes* the GOF test (i.e., the **Passed GOF** check box is selected) when the GOF Statistic is lower than the Critical Value.
 - The analysis *fails* the GOF test (i.e., the **Passed GOF** check box is cleared) when the GOF Statistic is *higher* than the Critical Value.

Aspects of the Reliability Growth Analysis Page (Non-Event)

The **Reliability Growth Analysis** page is divided into two sections: **Analysis Information** and **Reliability Growth Model**. This page will look different depending on whether or not your analysis data is event-based and the <u>value you enter in the Measurement</u> <u>Name dialog box</u>. The following image shows the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page for <u>Example 3</u>, an analysis using grouped data that is not based on events, is derived from cumulative operating time, and has the measurement name *Cost*.



The **Reliability Growth Analysis** page for an analysis that is not event-based will appear mostly the same as the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis</u> page for an event-based analysis, with the following exceptions.

The Analysis Information section contains the following items:

• Initial Cost Rate: The cost rate at the beginning of the analysis, per day. This item appears only for an analysis using non-event data.

• Final Cost Rate: The cost rate at the end of the analysis, per day. This item appears only for an analysis using non-event data.

The **Reliability Growth Model** section displays the following items:

• Preview of the Cost Rate Trend Plot: A read-only view of the Cost Rate Trend plot. You can click on the graph or click the Cost Rate Plot link on the Plots menu to display the actual Cost Rate Plot page. This plot is displayed only for analyses that are not using event-based data.

The following items are not displayed:

- Initial MTBF
- Final MTBF
- Last Event Date
- Next Estimated Event Date
- Preview of the MTBF Trend Plot

Plots Menu



The Plots menu on the Reliability Growth Analysis page contains the following links:

- <Measurement> Plot: Displays the <u>Cumulative <Measurement> Plot graph</u>, where <measurement> corresponds with the value specified in the Measurement Nametext box on theData Formatdialog box for the analysis. In the above image, the link is labeled Failures Plot.
- MTB<Measurement> Plot: Displays the <u>MTB<Measurement> Trend graph</u>, where <measurement> corresponds with the first letter of the value specified in the Measurement Name text box on the Data Format dialog box for the analysis. In the above image, the link is labeled *MTBF Plot*.
- <Measurement> Rate Plot: Displays the <<u>Measurement> Rate Trend graph</u>, where <measurement> corresponds with the value specified in the Measurement Name text box on the Data Format dialog box for the analysis. In the above image, the link is labeled *Failures Rate Plot*.

Current Analysis Menu



The **Current Analysis** menu on the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page contains the following links:

- **Confidence Level:** Displays the **Confidence Level** dialog box, which you can use to <u>specify the confidence level</u>.
- Analysis Period: Displays the Analysis Period dialog box, where you can <u>modify</u> the start date, start time, end date, and end time of the analysis period.
- Extrapolate: Displays the Extrapolation dialog box, where you can <u>specify how you</u> want to estimate the number of measurements (e.g., failures, cost) that will have occurred by a future date or after a certain amount of time.
- Time Units: Displays the Time Units dialog box, where you can specify the operating time. If the analysis is based on dates, you can also use this dialog box to specify downtime units.
- Data Format: Displays the Data Format dialog box, where you can <u>specify whether</u> or not the analysis uses event-based data and the measurement name that will be used throughout the analysis.
- View Data Source: Displays the data that serves as the source of the analysis. This link is displayed only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- If the analysis is based on a query, this link will open the query results.
- If the analysis is based on a dataset, this link will open the dataset.
- **Reload Data:** After asking for confirmation, <u>reloads the analysis data</u> that is stored in the database. This link is displayed only if the data source for the analysis is a query or dataset.

- View Data: Displays the <u><Measurement> Data window</u>, where <Measurement> corresponds with the value specified in the Measurement Nametext box on theData Formatdialog box for the analysis, which you can used to view the analysis data.
- Generate Report: Displays the Report Options dialog box, where you can select the elements of the analysis that you want to include in a report.
- View Analysis List: Displays the <u>Select a Growth Analysis from the List page</u>, which displays a list of the existing Reliability Growth Analyses.
- **Rename:** Displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>modify the</u> <u>name and description of the analysis</u>. Changes to the name and description of an analysis are applied immediately, but are not saved until you save the analysis.
- View Recommendations: Displays the <u>Recommendations page</u>, where you can view and manage the Recommendation records associated with the analysis.

Common Tasks Menu



The**Common Tasks** menu on the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the Reliability Growth Builder, which guides you through the process of creating a new Reliability Growth Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Reliability Growth Analysis** window, where you can search for an existing Reliability Growth Analysis to open on the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page.
- Save Analysis: Saves the analysis. If you are viewing an analysis that has not yet been saved, when you click this link, the Save Analysis dialog box appears, where you can <u>specify a name and description for the analysis</u>. If you are viewing an existing analysis, when you click this link, the Meridium APM system will save any changes that you made to the analysis since it was last saved.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save this Analysis dialog box, where you can <u>save</u> the analysis with a different name.
- Delete Analysis: After asking for confirmation, deletes the analysis.
- **Send To:** Displays a submenu with options that let youprovide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Reliability Growth Analysis page.
- Guidelines: Displays overview information about the Reliability Analytics module.

Specifying Time Units

Time units are used in Reliability Growth Analysis calculations and on the plots that display the results of the analysis. You will initially specify time units in the **New Analysis Builder** when you create the analysis, but you can later change them via the **Time Units** dialog box.

To change the time units for an analysis:

1. On the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page, on the **Current Analysis** menu, click the **Time Units** link.

The **Time Units** dialog box appears. If your analysis is based on dates, the **Time Units** dialog box will look like the following image.

Time Units			
Select Time Units for	· Analysis Results		
Operating Time Units	Days	<u> </u>	
Downtime Units	Days	•	
		OK Cancel H	lelp

If your analysis is based on cumulative operating time, the **Time Units**dialog box will look different.

Time Units		X
Select Time Units	s for Analysis Results	
Operating Time Units	Custom	Miles
		OK Cancel Help

The **Time Units**dialog box for an analysis that based on cumulative operating time contains a **Custom** option in the **Operating Time Units** list. If you select the **Custom** option, in the second text box, type the value that represents the units that you want to use for the analysis. The units do not have to be time-based. In **Example 2**, we used the custom time units of miles.

2. In the **Operating Time Units** list, select **Days**, **Years**, **Quarters**, **Months**, **Weeks**, or **Hours**.

- 3. In the **Downtime Units** list, select **Days**, **Years**, **Quarters**, **Months**, **Weeks**, or **Hours**. This list only appears for analyses that are based on dates.
- 4. Click OK.

The Meridium APM system recalculates the analysis automatically based on the new time units and displays the new units on the plot pages and the summary page.

Specifying the Analysis Period

When you create an analysis, by default, the start date is set to the earliest date in the failure data and the end date is set to the last failure date. You can adjust the analysis period to focus the analysis on a specific period of time. Note that failures that are outside the analysis period will be ignored in the analysis.

To specify the analysis period for a Reliability Growth Analysis:

1. On the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u>, on the Current Analysis menu, click the Analysis Period link.

The **Analysis Period** dialog box appears. The following images displays an example of the **Analysis Period** dialog box for an analysis that contains dates. If your analysis does not contain dates, the **Analysis Period** dialog box will look different.

Analysis Period			—
Analysis	Period		
Start Time			
✓ I want to use th	e time of the first dat	ta point as the start time	for this analysis.
11028	Miles		,,
End Time			
• Event-Based	C Time-Based	303156	Miles
		OK Cancel	Help

Instead of a date field, the **Analysis Period**dialog box for an analysis that does not contain dates displays a text box in which you can enter a start or end time instead of a start or end date. In Example 2, the analysis date contains cumulative operating time with the units of miles, so you can enter the mileage at which the analysis will start and end.

谷 Analysis Period		
Analysis	Period	
Start Date	e date of the first data point	as the start date for this analysis.
7/20/1998 9:36:00		
End Date	Event-Based	C Time-Based
🔽 I wantto use to	day's date as the end date fo	orthis analysis.
5/4/2012 11:13:45	AM 🔽	
	ОК	Cancel Help

2. If you want the start date to be the first datapoint, select the **I want to use the first** data point as the start date for this analysis check box. When this check box is selected, the corresponding date field is disabled automatically and displays the date on which the first event occurred.

-or-

If you want the start date to be different than the first datapoint, clear the check box, and then type or select the desired date and time.

Note: To ensure that all failure dates appear on the plots, make sure the start date is *before* the date associated with of the first datapoint. Only failures that occur *after* the start date will appear on the plots.

3. If you want the end date to correspond with the last event (i.e., datapoint) in the analysis, select the Event-Based option. When this option is selected, the I want to use today's date as the end date for the analysis check box is selected and disabled automatically. The corresponding date field is also disabled automatically and displays the date on which the last event occurred.

-or-

If you want the end date to correspond with a certain time, select the **Time-Based** option. If you do not want today's date to be the end date, clear the **I want to use today's date as the end date for this analysis** check box, and then type or select the desired date and time.

Note: An Event-Based end time occurs when the last event and the end of the observation period (i.e., the end date) are the same. Note that if some time has accumulated since the last event, this time is not included in the reliability

model. If you want to include that time in the reliability model, you should select a Time-Based end time and enter the latest time in the observation period.

4. Click OK.

The Meridium APM system recalculates the analysis using the dates that you selected for the analysis period.

Note: If you have not included enough failures to calculate the results, a warning message will appear. A minimum of three failures must exist for each segment in the specified analysis period.

Specifying the Data Format for a Reliability Growth Analysis

When you create an analysis, you will choose whether or not your data is event-based and select the measurement name that will be used throughout the analysis via the **Select Data Format** screen in the **Reliability Growth Builder**. By default, the **Measurement Name** will be set to *Failures*.

Via the **Data Format** dialog box, you can change whether or not your measurement data is event-based, and you can change the value that corresponds with the type of data that is used in the analysis.

To specify the data format for a Reliability Growth Analysis:

- 1. On the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u>, on the Current Analysis menu, click the Data Format link.
- 2. The Data Format dialog box appears.

😵 Data Format	— X
Data Format	
Measurement Data Format	
O Data is event count (e.g., #	¢ of failures)
O Data is not event count (e.	g., cost)
Measurement Name: Faile	ures
	OK Cancel Help

- 3. If desired, select a different data format from one of the following options:
- Data is event count: The data you are measuring is based on events, such as failures, safety incidents, or equipment repairs.
- Data is not event count: The data you are measuring is <u>not an event</u>, but an amount, such as cost or hours.
- 4. In the Measurement Name text box, type a value that corresponds with the type ofdata used in the analysis (e.g., cost, events). By default, this text box contains the measurement value you entered on theSelect Data Format screen in theReliability Growth Builder when you created the analysis. If you modify this value, labels

throughout the analysis will change automatically (e.g., the name of the **Measurement > Data** window).

5. Click OK.

The**Reliability Growth Analysis** page appears, displaying the Reliability Growth Analysis with updated data or measurement labels, as appropriate.

Accessing the AMSAA Detailed Results

To display the details of the AMSAA Growth model:

• On the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u>, in the grid in the **Reliability Growth Model** section, in the **Segment** column, click a hyperlinked segment number.

The AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page appears.



AMSAA Detailed Results (Event-Based)

The AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page displays the formulas and results of the Reliability Growth Analysis calculations. If the Reliability Growth Analysis has been split into multiple segments, a separate set of results will be displayed for each segment. The labels on the AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page will look different depending on whether or not the analysis contains event-based data. If the data is event-based, certain labels will also look different depending on whether or not the data contains dates.

The following image displays <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis that uses event-based data containing failure dates.



The AMSAA Reliability Growth Modelpage displays the following information:

- **Beta** (β): A value representing the slope of the line in the <u>Cumulative Failures Plot</u>. The <u>Beta value</u> helps serve as an indicator of whether the MTBF is increasing, decreasing, or staying the same.
- Lambda (λ): A scale parameter that equals the Y-intercept of the <u>Cumulative Failures Plot</u> at time *t*= 1. This value is used to calculate the time to next measurement (e.g., failure, cost).
- Initial MTBF: The mean time between failures that was calculated at the beginning of the analysis, or the beginning of the segment.

• Final MTBF: The mean time between failures that was calculated at the end of the analysis, or end of the segment.

Additionally, for analyses based upon event-based data that do not include dates, references to dates will be displayed as the <u>time units you chose for your analysis</u> (e.g., At 303,156.00 Miles, the MTBF is 20,757.81 Miles).

AMSAA Detailed Results (Non-Event)

The AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page displays the formulas and results of the Growth Analysis calculations. If the Reliability Growth Analysis has been split into multiple segments, a separate set of results will be displayed for each segment. If the analysis contains grouped data, the formulas used to calculate Beta (β) and Lambda (λ) are different than the formulas used for non-grouped data.

The following image shows the **AMSAA Reliability Growth Model** page for <u>Example 3</u>, an analysis based upon grouped, non-event data.



The **AMSAA Reliability Growth Model** page for an analysis based upon non-event data will look mostly the same as the <u>AMSAA Reliability Growth Model</u> page for an eventbased analysis. Instead of showing the Initial MTBF and Final MTBF, however, the following items will be displayed:

- Initial Cost Rate: The cost rate, calculated from when the first datapoint is recorded for the segment.
- Final Cost Rate: The cost rate at the end of the segment.

Additionally, for an analysis that is based upon data that includes cumulative operating time and does not include dates, references to dates will be displayed as the <u>time units</u> <u>you chose for your analysis</u> (e.g., At 62 Months, the Cost Rate is 83.7040 Per Month).

About the Measurement Data Window

The <u><Measurement> Data window</u> allows you to view the data associated with a Reliability Growth Analysis. Most of the fields on the **<Measurement> Data** window correspond to <u>values that were used to create the analysis</u>. For input fields:

- For an analysis based upon a query, the **<Measurement> Data** window displays the information returned by the query.
- For an analysis based upon a dataset, the **<Measurement> Data** window displays the information stored in the dataset.
- For an analysis based upon manually-entered data, the **<Measurement> Data** window displays the information that you entered when you create the analysis.

Other fields show values that are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are readonly. All values in the **<Measurement> Data** window are stored in the <u>Failures field</u> in the Reliability Growth record.

You can modify certain values on this window in order to update data. In most cases, however, you would not want to change the data unless there was an error in the original data source. Some values are calculated by the Meridium APM system and cannot be modified.

The name of the **<Measurement> Data** window will vary, depending upon how the analysis has been configured. **<Measurement>** will be replaced with the value that you specified in the **Measurement Name** text box on the **Data Format** window. The following image shows an example where this window is labeled *Failures Data*.

About the Measurement Data Window

e	🖉 Failures Data									
F	ailures Assets									
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Date	Time (Da	Downtim	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulati	Segment
Þ	view	000000000	9/2/1992	0	0	1	✓		0	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	2/26/1995	0	0	1	✓		0	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	7/20/1998	0	0	1			0	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	12/14/1998	147	0	1			147	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	2/7/1999	202	0	1			202	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	6/26/1999	341	0	1			341	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	8/1/1999	376.7	0	1			376.7	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	9/5/1999	411.8	0	1			411.8	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/1/2001	895.8	0	1			895.8	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/2/2001	896.6	0	1			896.6	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	2/7/2002	1297.6	0	1			1297.6	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	7/11/2002	1451.9	0	1			1451.9	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	12/10/2002	1603.6	0	1			1603.6	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	5/12/2003	1756.6	0	1			1756.6	
	view	00000000	7/2/2003	1807.6	0	1			1807.6	
	view	00000000	11/28/2005	2687.6	0	1			2687.6	
	view	00000000	1/30/2006	2750.6	0	1			2750.6	
*	view	(none)								
	0									
							0	K Cance	l He	р

Data Mapped to the <Measurement> Grid

When you create a Reliability Growth Analysis from a query or dataset, the **Reliability Growth Builder** will prompt you to map values from columns in the query or dataset to certain values in the Reliability Growth Analysis. The values that you select to map on the **Select Data Fields** and **Provide Information For Downtime** screens in the **Reliability Growth Builder** will then appear in the associated columns in the **<Measurement> Data** window.

Note: If the analysis is based on a query or a dataset and contains additional columns that are not mapped to columns in the analysis dataset, those columns will appear in the **<Measurement> Data** window with the column name in parentheses.

The following chart displays which columns are mapped from fields in the **Reliability Growth Builder** to columns in the **<Measurement> Data** window:

Reliability Growth Builder Screen	Reliability Growth Builder Field	<measurement> Data Window Tab</measurement>	<measurement> Data Window Column</measurement>
Select Data Fields	Asset ID	<measurement></measurement>	Asset ID
Select Data Fields	Date	<measurement></measurement>	Date
Select Data Fields	Cumulative Oper- ating Time	<measurement></measurement>	COT (units)
Provide Inform- ation for Down- time	Downtime Field	<measurement></measurement>	Downtime

Reliability Growth Builder Screen	Reliability Growth Builder Field	<measurement> Data Window Tab</measurement>	<measurement> Data Window Column</measurement>
Select Data Fields	<measurement></measurement>	<measurement></measurement>	<measurement></measurement>
Select Data Fields	Installation Date	Assets	Installation Date

Accessing the Measurement Data Window

To access the measurement data for a Reliability Growth Analysis:

 On the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u>, on the Current Analysis menu, click the View Data link.

The **<Measurement> Data** window appears, where **<Measurement>** is the value specified in the **Measurement Name** text box on the **Data Format** window for the analysis. The following image shows an example where this window is labeled *Failures Data*.

0	Pailures Data										
Fa	ilures Assets										
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Date	Time (Da	Downtim	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulati	Segment	
Þ	<u>view</u>	000000000	9/2/1992	0	0	1	✓		0		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	2/26/1995	0	0	1	✓		0		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	7/20/1998	0	0	1			0		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	12/14/1998	147	0	1			147		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	2/7/1999	202	0	1			202		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	6/26/1999	341	0	1			341		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	8/1/1999	376.7	0	1			376.7		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	9/5/1999	411.8	0	1			411.8		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	1/1/2001	895.8	0	1			895.8		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/2/2001	896.6	0	1			896.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	2/7/2002	1297.6	0	1			1297.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	7/11/2002	1451.9	0	1			1451.9		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	12/10/2002	1603.6	0	1			1603.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	5/12/2003	1756.6	0	1			1756.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	7/2/2003	1807.6	0	1			1807.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	11/28/2005	2687.6	0	1			2687.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/30/2006	2750.6	0	1			2750.6		
*	<u>view</u>	(none)									
4											
							0	K Cance	l Hel	p	

The **<Measurement> Data** window contains two tabs: **<Measurement>** and **Assets**. The <u><Measurement> tab</u> provides information about the event data. The <u>Assets tab</u> provides information about the equipment or locations that are included in the analysis.

Failure Data Using Failure Dates

The following image displays data for <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis using data that is eventbased and contains failure dates.

6	Failures Data										
Fa	ilures Assets										
L	Datasheet	Asset ID	Date	Time (Da	Downtim	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulati	Segment	
Ŀ	<u>view</u>	00000000	9/2/1992	0	0	1	✓		0		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	2/26/1995	0	0	1	✓		0		
	view	00000000	7/20/1998	0	0	1			0		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	12/14/1998	147	0	1			147		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	2/7/1999	202	0	1			202		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	6/26/1999	341	0	1			341		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	8/1/1999	376.7	0	1			376.7		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	9/5/1999	411.8	0	1			411.8		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/1/2001	895.8	0	1			895.8		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/2/2001	896.6	0	1			896.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	2/7/2002	1297.6	0	1			1297.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	7/11/2002	1451.9	0	1			1451.9		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	12/10/2002	1603.6	0	1			1603.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	5/12/2003	1756.6	0	1			1756.6		
	<u>view</u>	000000000	7/2/2003	1807.6	0	1			1807.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	11/28/2005	2687.6	0	1			2687.6		
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/30/2006	2750.6	0	1			2750.6		
*	<u>view</u>	(none)									
	1									Þ	
							0	K Cance	l Hel	p	

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid on the **Failures Data** window:

- **Datasheet:** The text *view*, which appears as a hyperlink that displays the datasheet associated with the event (e.g., a Work History record). This column only appears when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- Asset ID: The ID of the piece of equipment or location that failed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Date:** The date on which the failure occurred. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis and is required. If you delete a value in the **Date** column for an event-based analysis that is based on dates, when you click **OK**, an error message will appear.
- **Time <units>:** The Time to Failure, which is the amount of time between the date the piece of equipment or location was put into service until the date that it failed.

If the data includes an installation date for the piece of equipment or location, this value is calculated from the installation date. If the data does not include an installation date, this value is calculated from the first failure. **<Units>** corresponds with the value selected in the **Operating Time Units** list on the **Time Units** dialog box for the analysis. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only.

The pump in Example 1 was placed into service on July 20, 1998. In the above image, the value in the **Time** column for each subsequent failure date is the number of days that have passed since the installation date (July 20, 1998). The first failure was on December 14, 1998, 147 days after the pump was placed into service, so the Time value for that failure is *147*.

- Downtime <units>: The amount of time that passed from the time the piece of equipment or location failed until it was returned to service. This information helps determine the total operating time of a piece of equipment or location.
 <Units> corresponds with the value selected in the Downtime Units list on the Time Units dialog box for the analysis. In Example 1, the pump was returned to service immediately, and no downtime occurred. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- Failures: The number of failures represented by each datapoint. Cells in this column will contain the value 1 (one) by default, which indicates that the analysis data is not grouped, and one datapoint represents one failure. A value that is not equal to 1 (one) indicates that the analysis data is grouped, and each datapoint represents more than one failure or an amount of data. This value can optionally be mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.

Note: The name of this column depends on the <u>measurement name</u> you are using for your analysis.

- **Ignore check box:** A value that indicates whether or not the data on the selected row is *ignored*, meaning excluded from the analysis calculations and plots. When *selected*, the data in the associated row will be excluded from the analysis. When *cleared*, data in the selected row will be included in the analysis. You can modify this value manually.
- **Remarks:** Comments about the failure. You can enter a value in this column manually.
- **Cumulative Time:** The Cumulative Time to Failure, which is the total runtime for a population of equipment or locations at the moment that a failure occurs in one of them. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only.

Note: If your analysis includes multiple pieces of equipment or locations, the Cumulative Time will be the sum of the runtime for all pieces of equipment or locations. For example, if at the time of failure *Pump 1* has run for 30 days and *Pump 2* has run for 30 days, the Cumulative Time would be 60 days.

• **Segment:** The segment to which the data belongs. In Example 1, the analysis has been <u>split into two segments</u> to point out a change in the data trend. Values displayed in this column are read-only.

Failure Data Using COT

The **Failures** tab on the **Failures Data** window for an event-based analysis containing cumulative operating time looks mostly the same as the <u>Failures tab for an event-based</u> <u>analysis derived from failure dates</u>, with a few exceptions. The following image displays data for <u>Example 2</u>, an analysis using data that is event-based and derived from cumulative operating time.

0	🗞 Failures Data										
Fa	ailures Assets										
	Asset ID	Date	COT (Miles)	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulative Time (Miles)	Segment			
Þ	Haul Tru 💌		11028	1			0	1			
	Haul Truck		27393	1			16365	1			
	Haul Truck		41675	1			30647	1			
	Haul Truck		60400	1			49372	1			
	Haul Truck		66128	1			55100	1			
	Haul Truck		72132	1			61104	1			
	Haul Truck		77314	1			66286	1			
	Haul Truck		113888	1			102860	1			
	Haul Truck		146671	1			135643	1			
	Haul Truck		163669	1			152641	1			
L	Haul Truck		165105	1			154077	1			
	Haul Truck		205424	1			194396	1			
	Haul Truck		224634	1			213606	1			
	Haul Truck		243841	1			232813	1			
	Haul Truck		260828	1			249800	1			
	Haul Truck		279951	1			268923	1			
	Haul Truck		303156	1			292128	1			
*	(none)										
						OK	Cancel	Help			

The following columns of information behave differently for an analysis based on cumulative operating time:

• Date: The date on which the failure occurred. This value is optional, but in order for dates to be displayed throughout the analysis, ALL failures must have a failure date. If one or more failure dates are missing, then no dates will be shown in the analysis; only cumulative operating time will be shown. For instance, in Example 2, the data does not include dates on which the haul truck broke down, so the analysis results will be able to predict the next failure in cumulative operating times only (e.g., the next failure will occur at 324,001 miles).

• **COT <units>:** The Cumulative Operating Time, which is the total amount of time that has passed since the piece of equipment or location was placed into service. <Units> corresponds with the value selected in the **Operating Time Units** list on the **Time Units** dialog box for the analysis. This column is sorted in ascending order by default. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis, and is required.

Note: For analyses based on cumulative operating time, if the values in the **Failure Date** column are not in the same order as the values in the **COT (units)** column (e.g., if the Failure Date 1/1/2012 has a COT of 1000 and the Failure date 1/2/2012 has a COT of 990), when you click **OK**, a message will appear, stating that sorting cumulative operating time values from smallest to largest will result in failure dates that are not in order from earliest to latest. As a result, no dates will be shown in the analysis results; only cumulative operating time will be shown.

- **Downtime <units>:** This column is not displayed for an analysis based on cumulative operating time.
- **Cumulative Time <units>:** The Cumulative Time to Failure, which is the total runtime for a population of equipment and locations at the moment that a failure occurs in one of them. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only.

Note: The Cumulative Time is the total runtime for a piece of equipment or location after the analysis has started. This may be different from the COT, which is the total runtime of the piece of equipment or location since it was created. In our example, the haul truck has a mileage of 11,028 before the analysis starts, and fails at a mileage of 27,393. The COT is the total mileage on the truck, 27,293. The Cumulative Time is the mileage the truck has run since the analysis started (27,393-11,028=16,365). If the piece of equipment or location is brand new (i.e., the truck has a mileage of 0), the Cumulative Time and the COT will be the same.

Cost Data

The **Cost** tab on the **Cost Data** window displays a grid containing information about costs associated with equipment and locations in the analysis. The grid appears mostly the same as the **Failures** tab for an event-based analysis derived from cumulative operating time, with a few exceptions. The following image displays data for Example 3, an analysis using grouped data that is not event-based and derived from cumulative operating time.

0	Cost Data									
Γ	Asset ID	Date	COT (Mo	Cost	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulati	Segment		
			6.5	1120			0	1		
			13	996			6.5	1		
			17	1052			10.5	1		
			23	1085			16.5	1		
			37	1075			30.5	2		
			49.5	1096			43	2		
			62	1001			55.5	2		
Ŀ	(none) 💌									
						ок	Cancel	Help		

The following column of information behaves differently for an analysis that is not based on events and uses grouped data:

• **Cost:** The cost measured at each datapoint. For grouped data, values in this column represent the amount of data (e.g., cost) recorded between that datapoint and the previous datapoint. For non-grouped data, which is used in Examples 1 and 2, the values in this field are always *1* (one). For grouped data, the values can be greater than or less than *1* (one) but must be greater than *0* (zero). This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.

Note: The name of this column depends on the <u>measurement name</u> you are using for your analysis.

Assets Tab

The **Assets** tab of the **<Measurement> Data** window displays a grid containing information about each piece of equipment or location that is related to a measurement. In the following example, the Reliability Growth Analysis was performed for one piece of equipment only, so only one piece of equipment appears on the **Assets** tab.

Failure Data					
	ailures Assets				
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Installation Date	Last Replacement	
	view	00000000001051700		1/30/2006 12:00:00 AM	
ŀ	* <u>view</u>				
				OK	Cancel Help

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid on the Assets tab:

- **Datasheet:** The text *view*, which appears as a hyperlink that displays the datasheet associated with the piece of equipment or location. This link is displayed only when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- Asset ID: The Record ID of the piece of equipment or location that is being analyzed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- Installation Date: The date on which the piece of equipment or location was installed. This column appears only for analyses based on failure dates. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- Last Replacement: The last date or time at which the piece of equipment or

location failed. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only. For data that contains cumulative operating time, this column is **Last Replacement <Measurement>**.

What are the Results of a Reliability Growth Analysis?

Reliability Growth Analysis results are made up of a multiple parts that together demonstrate an overall picture of your data. You can view the results in graphical form, use calculated values to interpret the results, and perform additional tasks to help you determine the trends in your data and whether they are getting better or worse.

Viewing the Data Trends

The following list gives a brief description of the graphs that display the data:

- <u>Cumulative <Measurement> Plot graph</u>: Displays the number of measurements recorded for the piece of equipment or location as a function of time. Since the log (cumulative measurement) versus the log (cumulative time) is linear, the plot line is a straight line. You can use this plot to see how your data is trending over time.
- Mean Time Between <Measurement> Trend graph: Reflects how frequently measurements are being record for pieces of equipment or locations (e.g., failures, cost) as a function of time (cumulative operating time). If the trend in this plot is:
 - Increasing, measurements are being recorded less often (e.g., if a measurement is taken every time the piece of equipment or location fails, the piece of equipment or location is failing less often). This indicates that the pieceof equipment or location is becoming *more reliable*.
 - Decreasing, measurements are being recorded more frequently (e.g., if a measurement is taken every time the piece of equipment or location fails, the piece of equipment or location is failing more often). This indicates that the piece of equipment or location is becoming *less reliable*.
- <u><Measurement> Rate Trend graph</u>: Reflects the rate of your measurements (e.g., failures, cost). This plot can tell you a measurement per time unit, so that you can see per day or per month when measurements increase or decrease.

Interpreting the Data Trends

The following list gives a brief description of the values calculated by the Meridium APM system that you can use to interpret trends within your data:

- <u>Goodness of Fit</u>: Helps you determine if the measurements are following a pattern or occurring at random.
- **Confidence:** Indicates the percentage of uncertainty of the Goodness of Fit method. The <u>confidence level you select for your data</u> helps determine whether or not the data will pass the Goodness of Fit test.
- The Beta Value: Helps you <u>interpret the MTB<Measurement> Trend plot</u>. This value is displayed on the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u>.

- Next Estimated Event Date: Provides an estimate of the amount of time you can expect to pass before the next event will occur for the piece of equipment or location. The value is calculated using the last datapoint and the MTBF or measurement rate. The approximate date (or time) when the next event will occur is displayed on the Reliability Growth Analysis page.
- Initial and Final MTBF or Initial or Final <Measurement> Rate: Helps you compare how the piece of equipment or location is behaving at the beginning of the analysis versus the end of the analysis. Using these values, you can determine if the piece of equipment's or location's measurement rate has improved or gotten worse over the analysis period. These values are displayed on the <u>Reliability</u> <u>Growth Analysis page</u>.

Additionally, you can view the **AMSAA Reliability Growth Model** page for an overview of the formulas used by the Meridium APM system to calculate the model results.

Using Tools to Enhance Results

The following tools can further assist you in interpreting and applying analysis results:

- **Splitting an analysis:** Allows you to <u>divide an analysis</u> into multiple parts so that you can see multiple trends in the data (e.g., data before and after a strategy change).
- <u>Extrapolation</u>: Allows you to estimate the number of measurements (e.g., failures, amount of cost) that will have occurred by some point in the future.

Based on the analysis results, you can generate recommendations for the maintenance and reliability activities that should be executed in the future to maintain best practices in your organization.
Accessing the Cumulative <Measurement> Plot Page

To access the Cumulative <Measurement> Plot Page:

- 1. Access the Reliability Growth Analysis page.
- 2. On the Plots menu, click the <Measurement> Plot link.

-or-

In the **Reliability Growth Model** section, click the preview of the **Cumulative <Measurement> Plot**graph.

The **Cumulative <Measurement> Plot** page appears, displaying the **Cumulative <Measurement> Plot**graph. The following image displays the **Cumulative <Measurement> Plot**page for Example 1.



Cumulative Failure Plot Using Failure Dates

The **Cumulative Failures Plot** page contains a graph with a log-log plot with data overlay, which means it uses logarithmic scales on both the horizontal and vertical axes. The graph represents the cumulative failures as a function of the cumulative time (Cumulative Failures vs. Cumulative Operating Time), which is the total amount of time the piece of equipment or location has been in operation since the start of the analysis.



The following image shows the **Cumulative Failures Plot** graph for <u>Example 1</u>.

On the **Cumulative Failures Plot** graph, the x-axis shows the cumulative operating time, and the y-axis shows the total number of failures. For a single piece of equipment or location operating continuously, cumulative operating time is simply the total amount of time the piece of equipment or location has been in operation. For a group of equipment or locations, the cumulative operating time is the total amount of operating time multiplied by the number of pieces of equipment or locations. For example, ten pieces of equipment operating for a time period of one year results in ten years of cumulative operating time. The units for the x-axis can be changed.

While viewing the graph, you can:

- Click the plot line to display the AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page.
- Click any datapoint to view the failure data.

- Determine whether the analysis passed the GOF test by the color of the plot line. If the plot line is blue, it passed the GOF test. If the plot line is orange, it failed the GOF test.
- Split the analysis into segments.
- Estimate how many failures will have occurred at some date in the future.

Cumulative Failure Plot Using COT

The **Cumulative Failures Plot** page for an analysis containing cumulative operating time contains a graph is a log-log plot with data overlay, which means it uses logarithmic scales on both the horizontal and vertical axes. It is used in the same way as the **Cumu-lative Failures Plot** containing failure dates, except that the x-axis is measured in cumulative operating time instead of dates.



The following image shows the **Cumulative Failures Plot** graph for Example 2.

On the **Cumulative Failures Plot** graph, the x-axis shows cumulative time to failure, and the y-axis shows the total number of failures. The cumulative time to failure represents the total amount of time that a piece of equipment or location had been in operation when a failure occurred.

The same options are available while viewing the **Cumulative Failures Plot** page for an analysis based on cumulative operating time as for an <u>analysis based on failure dates</u>. Instead of displaying the number of failures over calendar time, however, the plot displays the number of failures over the <u>time units you specified for your analysis</u>. In Example 2, we used the custom units of *miles*, so failures are displayed at the mileage point they occurred instead of the date they occurred.

Cumulative Cost Plot

The **Cumulative Cost Plot** page contains a graph with a log-log plot with data overlay, which means it uses logarithmic scales on both the horizontal and vertical axes. When the cost data is based on cumulative operating time, the graph represents the cumulative cost as a function of the cumulative time. In Example 3, the **Cumulative Cost Plot** displays how much money is spent to repair a piece of equipment or location over time.

The following image shows an example of the **Cumulative Cost Plot** graph for <u>Example</u> <u>3</u>, which contains grouped data that is not based on events.



On the **Cumulative Cost Plot** graph, the x-axis shows cumulative time, and the y-axis shows cumulative cost. For a single piece of equipment or location, cumulative time is the total amount of time the piece of equipment or location has been in operation.

The same options are available while viewing the **Cumulative Failures Plot** page for an analysis with grouped data that is not based on events and derived from cumulative operating time the same way you can for <u>an event-based analysis derived from cumulative operating time</u>. For grouped data, however, each datapoint will represent an amount of data or multiple failures instead of just one failure point. In addition, because the data is not event-based, the datapoints represent your custom meas-

urement instead of the <u>default event-based measurement of failures</u>. In Example 3, the first datapoint represents a cost of 1,000 dollars instead of 1,000 failures.

Accessing the MTB<Measurement> Plot Page

To access the MTB<Measurement> Plot Page:

- 1. Access the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page.
- 2. On the Plots menu, click the MTB<Measurement> Plot link.

-or-

In the **Reliability Growth Model** section, click the preview of the **MTB<Meas**urement> Trend graph.

Note: A preview of the**MTB**<**Measurement> Trend** graph appears in the **Reliability Growth Model** section*only* if the analysis is based on event count data. Otherwise, a preview of the<**Measurement> Rate Trend** graph appears.

The **MTB<Measurement> Plot** page appears, displaying the **MTBF Trend** graph. The following image displays the **MTB<Measurement> Plot** page for Example 1:



MTBF Trend Graph Using Failure Dates

The **MTBF Trend** graph shows how the Mean Time Between Failures (MTBF) changes over time. MTBF is calculated from the distribution of the failures over time. The datapoints represent observed failure dates included in the analysis.



The following image shows the **MTBF Trend** graph for Example 1.

On the **MTBF Plot** page, the x-axis displays the calendar time, and the y-axis displays the MTBF and its units. The datapoints represent observed failure dates included in the analysis.

MTBF Trend graphs are used in the following ways:

- To show how MTBF has decreased or increased over time.
- To show that strategy changes have improved MTBF. In <u>Example 1</u>, notice that the MTBF is decreasing until the fifth failure. At that point in time, a strategy change was made to increase inspection rounds, resulting in an increase in MTBF.

While viewing the graph, you can:

- Click any datapoint to view the failure data.
- Estimate how many failures will have occurred (and what the MTBF would be) at some date in the future.

MTBF Trend Graph Using COT

The **MTBF Trend** graph shows how the Mean Time Between Failures (MTBF) changes over time. MTBF is calculated from the distribution of the failures over time. The datapoints represent observed failure times included in the analysis.



The following image shows the MTBF Trend graph for Example 2.

On the **MTBF Plot** page, the x-axis displays cumulative operating time if the analysis does not contain dates and displays calendar time if the analysis does contain dates. In this example, the analysis does not contain dates, so cumulative operating time is displayed. The y-axis displays the MTBF and its units. The datapoints represent observed failures included in the analysis.

The same options are available while viewing the **MTBF Trend** graph for an analysis based on cumulative operating time as for an <u>analysis based on failure dates</u>. Instead of displaying the mean time between failures using calendar time, however, the graph displays the mean time between failures using the <u>time units you specified for your analysis</u>. In Example 2, we used the custom units of *miles*, so the average number of miles between each failure is displayed on the **MTBF Plot** page.

MTBC Trend Graph

The **MTBC Trend** graph shows how the Mean Time Between Cost (MTBC) changes over time. MTBC is calculated from the distribution of cost over time. The datapoints represent cost measurements included in the analysis.



The following image shows the **MTBC Trend** graph for Example 3.

On the **MTBC Plot** page, the x-axis displays the cumulative operating time, and the y-axis displays the MTBC.

For Example 3 and other analyses using cost, the MTBC trend displays how much time lapses between spending. If cost is directly tied to failures, this plot may be useful to see the amount of time between failures of a piece of equipment or location. But if the cost measurements are not necessarily tied to failures (e.g., general maintenance, miscellaneous costs), then this plot only shows you the amount of time in between expenditures, which is not necessarily patterned behavior. In this case, it might be more helpful to view data using the <u>Cost Rate Trend graph</u>.

In general, MTBC plots are used to show how MTBC has changed over time. As with an MTBF plot, you can click any datapoint to view the <u>cost data</u> and <u>estimate the amount of</u> <u>cost incurred at some time in the future</u>.

Accessing the <Measurement> Rate Plot Page

To access the <Measurement> Rate Plot Page:

- 1. Access the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page.
- 2. On the Plots menu, click the <Measurement> Rate Plot link.

-or-

In the **Reliability Growth Model** section, click the preview of the **<Measurement> Rate Trend** graph.

Note:A preview of the<**Measurement> Rate Trend** graph appears in the **Reliability Growth Model**section*only* if the analysis is based on non-event count data. Otherwise, a preview of the**MTB<Measurement> Trend** graph appears.

The **<Measurement> Rate Plot** page appears, displaying the **<Measurement> Rate Trend** graph. The following image displays the **<Measurement> Rate Plot** page for Example 1:



Failures Rate Trend Graph Using Failure Dates

The **Failures Rate Trend** graph shows how the failure rate of a piece of equipment or location changes over time. This graph is the inverse of the **MTBF Trend** graph. The datapoints represent observed failure dates included in the analysis.



The following image shows the Failures Rate Trend graph for Example 1.

On the **Failures Rate Trend** graph, the x-axis displays the calendar time, and the y-axis displays the failure rate and its units. The datapoints represent observed failure dates in the analysis.

You can use the Failure Rate Trend graph to:

- View changes in the rate that failures are occurring.
- View the number of failures occurring per day, rather than the number of days between failures.

While viewing the graph, you can:

- Click any datapoint to view the failure data.
- Estimate how many failures will have occurred at some date in the future.

Failures Rate Trend Graph Using COT

The **Failures Rate Trend** graph shows how the failure rate of a piece of equipment or location changes over time. This graph is the inverse of the **MTBF Trend** graph. The datapoints represent observed failures included in the analysis.



The following image shows the Failures Rate Trend graph for Example 2.

On the **Failures Rate Trend** graph, the x-axis displays cumulative operating time, and the y-axis displays the Failure Rate and its units. The datapoints represent observed failure times in the analysis.

The same options are available while viewing the **Failures Rate Trend** graph for an analysis based on cumulative operating time as for an <u>analysis based on failure dates</u>. Instead of displaying the failure rate using calendar time (per day), however, the plot displays the failure rate using the <u>time units you specified for your analysis</u>. In Example 2, we used the custom units of *miles*, so failures are displayed per mile.

Cost Rate Trend Graph

The **Cost Rate Trend** graph shows how the cost rate of a piece of equipment or location changes over time. This graph is the inverse of the **MTBC Trend** graph. The datapoints represent cost amounts included in the analysis.



The following image shows the **Cost Rate Trend** graph for **Example 3**.

On the **Cost Rate Trend** graph, the x-axis displays cumulative operating time, and the yaxis displays the cost rate and its units. The datapoints represent times when cost was incurred.

You can use the Cost Rate Trend graph to:

- View changes in the rate that money is being spent.
- Determine if strategy changes have changed the amount of money being spent over time.
- Estimate how much money is being spent per time unit (e.g., month).

As with a **Failure Rate Trend** graph, you can click any datapoint to view the <u>cost data</u> and <u>estimate the amount of cost incurred at some time in the future</u>.

Accessing the Multiple Growth Analyses Page

You can view multiple analyses on the same plot by displaying them on the **Multiple Growth Analyses** page.

To access the Multiple Growth Analyses page:

- 1. On the **Select a Growth Analyses from the List** page, select the analyses that you want to view on one plot.
- 2. On the **Plots** menu, click one of the following links, depending upon the plot that you want to view:
 - MTBE Plot link.
 - Cumulative Plot link.
 - Rate Plot link.

Note: If you selected more than 20 analyses to be shown on the **Multiple Growth Analyses** page, a warning message appears, indicating that the plot may take a long time to load and that interpretation will be difficult. You can click the **Yes** button to continue or the **No** button to return to the **Select a Growth Analysis from the List** page.

The <u>Multiple Growth Analyses page</u> appears, displaying the selected analyses on one plot.



Aspects of the Multiple Growth Analyses Page

The **Multiple Growth Analyses** page allows you to view the MTBE Trend, Cumulative, or Rate Trend graphs for more than one Reliability Growth Analysis at once. The following image displays an example of the **Multiple Growth Analyses** page displaying the **MTBE Trend** graph.



A plot displaying multiple analyses looks similar to a plot that displays a single analysis. Because the analyses may not be in the same units, however, some conversions must be made to allow the data to be compared more easily. When you are viewing multiple analyses on a single graph:

- On the**MTBE Trend** graph the y-axis label is*MTBE* if the analyses use different time units or*MTBE* <*units*>if all analyses use the same time unit.
- On the**Rate Trend** graph, the y-axis label is*Rate*if the analyses use different time units and *Rate <unit*>if all analyses use the same time unit.
- On the**Cumulative** graph, the y-axis label is*Cumulative*.
- On all graphs, the x-axis label is *Cumulative Time* if the analyses use different time

units and *Cumulative Time <units>* if all analyses use same time unit.

- If the analyses use different time units, the data is converted to the *smallest* unit. For example, if one analysis uses weeks and another uses days, the units for the former analysis are converted to days.
- If one or more analyses use custom units, no conversion is made, and the x-axis and y-axis have no units.
- If one or more analyses use custom units and one or more analyses use non-custom units on the same graph, the x-axis and y-axis have no units, and the data for the analyses with non-custom units will be converted to the *smallest* unit.
- You can hide datapoints and extrapolation on all graphs.
- If you pause on one of the analysis plot lines, that line is highlighted while the other plot lines are dimmed. If you click one of the analysis plot lines, the **Reliability Growth Analyses** page appears for that analysis.

Plots Menu



The Plots menu on the Multiple Growth Analyses page contains the following links:

- MTBE Plot: Displays the <u>MTBE Trend graph</u> for the analyses you accessed on the Multiple Growth Analyses page.
- Cumulative Plot: Displays the <u>Cumulative graph</u> for the analyses you accessed on the Multiple Growth Analyses page.
- Rate Plot: Displays the <u>RateTrend graph</u> for the analyses you accessed on the **Mul**tiple Growth Analyses page.

Note: If you click the link that corresponds with the plot that you are currently viewing on the **Multiple Growth Analyses** page, nothing will happen, and the plot that you are currently viewing will continue to be displayed.

- **Hide Datapoints:** Hides datapoints if they are currently displayed. If datapoints are currently hidden, this link will be labeled *Show Datapoints*, and clicking it will cause the datapoints to reappear.
- Hide Extrapolation: Hides extrapolation if it is currently displayed. If extrapolation is hidden, this link will be labeled *Show Extrapolation*, and clicking it will cause the extrapolation to reappear.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Multiple Growth Analyses** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the Reliability Growth Builder, which guides you through the process of creating a new Reliability Growth Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Reliability Growth Analysis** window, which you can use to search for existing Reliability Growth Analysis records.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Multiple Growth Analyses page.
- Guidelines: Displays overview information about the Reliability Analytics module.

Goodness of Fit Test for a Growth Analysis

A *Goodness of Fit* (GOF) test determines how well your analysis data fits the calculated data model.

- If your data *passes* the GOF test, your data follows the data model closely, and you can rely on the predictions made by model.
- If your data *fails* the GOF test, it may not follow the model closely enough to confidently rely on model predictions.

On the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page, in the **Segment** grid, the <u>Passed GOF check</u> <u>box</u> is selected when your data passes the test and cleared when your data fails the test.

To determine whether the data passes the GOF test, the Meridium APM system uses the following values:

- **GOF Statistic:** Determines how precisely the data fits the model. This value is calculated from a Cramer-von Mises or Chi-squared test and is displayed in the <u>GOF</u> <u>Statistic</u> column in the **Segment** grid on the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page.
- Alpha Value: Determines what critical value to use for the GOF test. This value depends on the <u>Confidence Level</u> you select for the analysis.
- Critical Value: Determines whether the data passes the GOF test. This standard value depends on the number of datapoints included in the analysis and the alpha value. It is displayed in the <u>Critical Value</u> column in the <u>Segment</u> grid on the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis</u> page.

Test Statistic

Two different methods are used for calculating GOF for Reliability Growth Analyses, depending upon whether or not the analyses use grouped data.

Goodness of Fit (GOF) for a Reliability Growth Analyses based on data that is not grouped is calculated using the Cramer-von Mises test.

• For analyses whose <u>end date is time-based</u>, Cramer-von Mises test uses the following formula to calculate the GOF Statistic:

$$C_{M}^{2} = \frac{1}{12N} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left[\left(\frac{t_{i}}{T} \right)^{\hat{\beta}} - \frac{2i-1}{2N} \right]^{2}$$

• For analyses whose <u>end date is event-based</u>, Cramer-von Mises test uses the following formula to calculate the GOF statistic:

$$C_{M}^{2} = \frac{1}{12(N-1)} + \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \left[\left(\frac{t_{i}}{t_{N}} \right)^{\hat{\beta}} - \frac{2i-1}{2(N-1)} \right]^{2}$$

Goodness of Fit for a Reliability Growth Analysis based on grouped data is calculated using a Chi-squared test. This test uses the following formula to calculate a test statistic:

$$\chi^2 = \sum_{i=1}^k \frac{(n_i - \hat{\theta}_i)^2}{\hat{\theta}_i}$$

Critical Value: Cramer-Von Mises Test

For non-grouped data, the Cramer-von Mises test is used to determine whether the data passes the GOF test. This test compares the GOF Statistic to a Critical Value. The Critical Value depends on two values:

- Alpha = 1- Confidence Level
- **N** = The number of datapoints in the population.

Alpha is determined using the Confidence Level, which <u>you can define manually for each</u> <u>analysis</u>. The Confidence Level indicates the percentage of uncertainty of the Goodness of Fit method. This percentage is usually determined by experience or an industry standard and limits how closely the data must fit the model in order for it to pass the Goodness of Fit test. The higher the Confidence Level, the easier it will be for your data to pass the Goodness of Fit test. The lower the Confidence Level, the harder it will be for your data to pass the Goodness of Fit test. If the data does pass, however, the data will be a very close fit to the model.

Note: When you <u>select a Confidence Level</u>, you must specify 80, 90, 95, or 98 percent. If you do not modify the confidence level, alpha is automatically set to 0.1 (i.e., a confidence level of 90%).

After a Confidence Level has been determined, the Meridium APM system uses the following *Critical Values for Cramer-von Mises Test* chart to find the Critical Value. The chart displays critical values at four confidence levels (80%, 90%, 95% and 98%) which in turn calculate 4 alpha values (0.2, 0.1, 0.05, 0.02).

$N \setminus \alpha$	0.2	0.15	0.1	0.05	0.01
2	0.138	0.149	0.162	0.175	0.186
3	0.121	0.135	0.154	0.184	0.23
4	0.121	0.134	0.155	0.191	0.28
5	0.121	0.137	0.16	0.199	0.3
6	0.123	0.139	0.162	0.204	0.31
7	0.124	0.14	0.165	0.208	0.32
8	0.124	0.141	0.165	0.21	0.32
9	0.125	0.142	0.167	0.212	0.32
10	0.125	0.142	0.167	0.212	0.32
11	0.126	0.143	0.169	0.214	0.32
12	0.126	0.144	0.169	0.214	0.32
13	0.126	0.144	0.169	0.214	0.33
14	0.126	0.144	0.169	0.214	0.33
15	0.126	0.144	0.169	0.215	0.33
16	0.127	0.145	0.171	0.216	0.33
17	0.127	0.145	0.171	0.217	0.33
18	0.127	0.146	0.171	0.217	0.33
19	0.127	0.146	0.171	0.217	0.33
20	0.128	0.146	0.172	0.217	0.33
30	0.128	0.146	0.172	0.218	0.33
60	0.128	0.147	0.173	0.22	0.33
100	0.129	0.147	0.173	0.22	0.34

Note: If the number of datapoints in your analysis is between two rows in the chart (e.g., 22). the smaller value (e.g., 20) is used. If the number of datapoints is greater than 100, 100 is used.

Critical Value: Chi-squared Test

For grouped data, the Chi-squared test is used to determine whether the analysis passed the GOF test. This test uses Degrees of Freedom (i.e., the number of datapoints - 2) and the <u>Confidence Level</u> to calculate a Critical Value, which is then compared to the GOF Statistic to determine whether the analysis passed the GOF test. The Confidence Level is defined the same way it is in the Cramer-von Mises test (i.e., it indicates the percentage of uncertainty of the Goodness of Fit method).

The following formula is used to calculate the Chi-squared distribution.

$$F(x; k) = \frac{\gamma(\frac{k}{2}, \frac{x}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{k}{2})} = P\left(\frac{k}{2}, \frac{x}{2}\right)$$

In the formula, k is degrees of freedom and F(x;k) is the Confidence Level. These values are used to find the Critical Value, x.

Determining the Results

For both the Cramer-von Mises test and the Chi-squared test, if the GOF statistic is greater than the Critical Value at the chosen Confidence Level, the data fails the GOF test. This means the data does not follow the analysis pattern closely enough to confidently predict future measurements. If the GOF Statistic is lower than the Critical Value, the population passes the test, which means data is more likely to occur in a pattern and therefore is more predictable.

For example, if you run a Reliability Growth Analysis on a set of failure data, and the data fails the GOF test, it may mean that the piece of equipment or location does not fail in a predictable pattern (i.e., the piece of equipment or location fails at random). If this is the case, any predictions you make based on this data will not be as reliable as predictions made against data that has passed the GOF test.

If the analysis fails a GOF test, it does not necessarily mean that you cannot use the data model. The Reliability Growth Analysis might fail a GOF test because there is more than one trend within the data. If you suspect this is the case, you can <u>spilt the analysis into</u> <u>segments</u> at the points where it looks like a change occurred. Afterwards, the separate segments may individually pass the GOF test because they have been split up into multiple failure patterns.

Additionally, if the analysis fails the GOF test, you should also check for a visual goodness of fit. Models can sometimes still be used even if the analysis does not pass the GOF test.

About the Beta Value and MTBE

The **Reliability Growth Analysis** page displays the Beta and Lambda values as calculated by the application based on your data. The Beta value indicates whether MTBE is increasing, decreasing, or remaining constant.

Beta Value	MTBF	Equipment Reliability
β = 1	Unchanging MTBE (pre- dictable failures)	If the Beta value is equal to or close to one (1), then the reliability is <i>con- stant</i> , and time is not a major factor.
β<1	Increasing MTBE (improving reliability)	If the value of Beta is <i>less than</i> one, the reliability of the equipment is <i>improving</i> over time.
β>1	Decreasing MTBE (deteri- orating reliability)	If the value of Beta is <i>greaterthan</i> one (1), then the reliability of the equip- ment is <i>deteriorating</i> over time.

If the Beta value indicates that the MTBE is increasing or decreasing, you can try splitting the failure data up by time, failure mode, operating time, or some other appropriate value to create a set of data where the Beta value is closer to one. If you choose to split the data into time periods, you might try using the feature that lets you <u>split a single analysis into multiple segments</u>.

Splitting an Analysis Into Segments

In some cases, a Reliability Growth Analysis may indicate that your data is trending in an undesirable direction (e.g., failures are occurring very often, costs are too high). In these cases, you will probably decide to make significant adjustments to your work process in order improve the results. You can create a Reliability Growth Analysis that is split into segments to represent periods of time before and after you made changes to improve the reliability of your equipment and locations.

When you generate a report for an analysis that has been split into segments, the report will contain information about each segment and the analysis as a whole.

To split an analysis into segments:

- 1. Access the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page for an existing Reliability Growth Analysis.
- 2. On the Plots menu, click the <Measurement> Plot link.
- 3. On the <u>Cumulative <Measurement> Plot page</u>, locate the datapoint that represents the *last* measurement recorded before you made a significant change to your work process.
- 4. Right-click the datapoint, and click Split on the shortcut menu.

Note: The **Split** option is enabled only if there are at least three datapoints to the left and to the right of the datapoint you selected.



The plot line bends at the datapoint you selected, representing two segments instead of one.



Although the analysis still has an overall Initial and Final MTBF, each individual segment now also has its own Initial and Final MTBF. The **AMSAA Reliability Growth Model** page will also display different information for each segment. Each segment is colored according to whether it passed the GOF test. If the segment is blue, it passed the GOF Test. If the segment is orange, it failed the GOF test.

If desired, you can merge the segments back into one by right-clicking on a segment and clicking **Merge With Previous Segment** on the shortcut menu.

Note: When you split the analysis manually via the **Cumulative <Measurement>** plot, the **MTBE Trend** plot and the **<Measurement> Rate** plot will also reflect the split.



Estimating Data in the Future

You might want to estimate the number of events that will have occurred or the amount of non-event data (e.g., cost) that has been incurred at some point in the future. This estimation assumes that you do not plan to make any additional changes in your piece of equipment, location, or work process.

To estimate data measurements in the future:

 On the Cumulative <Measurement> Plot, the MTB<Measurement> Plot, or the <Measurement> Rate Plot pages, on the Current Analysis menu, click the Extrapolate link.

Extrapolation			
Define Extrapolation Length			
⊙ No Extrap	olation		
🔿 Date	12/22/2009		
⊖ Time	960975.15 Days		
	OK Cancel Help		

The **Extrapolation** dialog box appears.

If you have not yet extrapolated the analysis, the **No Extrapolation** option is selected by default.

- 2. To estimate the number of failures that will have occurred:
 - By a specific date, select the **Date** option. In the list to the right of the **Date** option, select the date on which you want to know how many failures will have occurred.

Note: You can extrapolate by date only if your analysis data contains dates. If the analysis does not contain dates, the **Date** option will not appear, and you will not be able to extrapolate based on dates.

• After a certain amount of time, select the **Time** option. In the text box to the right of the **Time** option, specify the number of time units at which you want to know how many failures will have occurred. The unit of measure to the right of the text box corresponds with the value that you selected in the **Time Units** dialog box.

Note: The date or time that you specify must be greater than the default date or time, which is the analysis end date or time.

3. Click OK.

The plot returns to focus, and <u>several lines have been added</u> based on the extrapolation specification.

Interpreting Extrapolation Results Using Failure Dates

After you select an extrapolation method (by date or by amount of time), for each segment in the analysis, a dotted green line extends from the last failure date for that segment to the specified date in the future. The future date is calculated based on the date or time units you provided in the **Extrapolation** dialog box. At the end of the dotted green line, a number appears, representing the estimated number of failures that would have occurred at that point in time.

A solid green line also intersects the end date for each segment, and the cumulative operating time at the end of that segment appears on the solid green line.

For Example 1, suppose you suggested to increase inspections rounds for a pump in order to slow the growing failure rate. This strategy was implemented on September 5, 1999. Several years later, you create a graph using the extrapolation tool to display to management the number of failures that have been prevented and will continue to be prevented as a result of the strategy.



In this example, the analysis is <u>split into two segments</u> at the fifth failure, which took place on *9/5/1999*, the day on which the strategy was implemented. The first segment represents the data without the strategy change, and the second segment represents the date with the strategy change. The dotted green extrapolation lines display the

future data trend of each segment until the extrapolation date *1/30/2010*, which was specified using the **Extrapolation** dialog box.

The solid green lines display the date and cumulative time at the end of each segment and at the extrapolation date. In this example, these lines represent the date of the strategy change, the current date, and the future date, respectively.

The following chart displays the number of failures at each solid green line, which are represented in the graph by a gray number where the solid green line intersects a segment or extrapolation line.

Strategy	# of Failures on 9/5/1999 (date of strategy change)	# of Failures on 1/30/2006 (current date)	# of Failures on 1/30/2010 (extrapolation date)
Segment 1 (Without Strategy Change)	5	Not Displayed	158
Segment 2 (With Strategy Change)	5	14	20

At the extrapolation date for the first segment the number *158* is displayed, which means that if you had not made the strategy change, you could have expected 158 failures by January 30, 2010.

At the extrapolation date for the second segment the number *20* is displayed, which means that if you do not make any changes from your last failure date (January 30, 2006) until the future date (January 30, 2010), you can expect 20 failures by that date.

Assuming the failure trend continues as expected, an observation can be made that a strategy change introduced on September 5, 1999 allowed you to prevent *138* failures between September 5, 1999 and January 30, 2010 (i.e., 158 - 20).

Interpreting Extrapolation Results Using COT

After you select an Extrapolation method (by date or by time period), for each segment in the analysis, a dotted green line extends from the last failure date for that segment to the specified date in the future (calculated based on the date or time units you provided in the **Extrapolation** dialog box). At the end of the dotted green line, a number appears, representing the estimated number of failures that would have occurred at that point in time.

A solid green line also intersects the end date for each segment, and the cumulative operating time at the end of that segment appears on the solid green line.

For Example 2, suppose you began changing a haul truck's oil more frequently in order to slow its growing failure rate. This strategy was implemented after the truck had traveled 77,314 miles. After the truck has logged some miles using the new strategy, you create a graph to display to management the number of failures you will have prevented after the haul truck has logged 750,000 miles.



This image represents the extrapolation results for <u>Example 2</u>, where we extrapolated using time. The x-axis represents the cumulative time, or the total runtime for a piece of equipment or location after the analysis has started, using the units of miles.

The analysis is <u>split into two segments</u> at the sixth failure, which took place on *77,314* miles, the mileage at which the strategy was implemented. The first segment represents the data without the strategy change, and the second segment represents the date with the strategy change. The dotted green extrapolation lines display the future data trend of each segment until the extrapolation time of *750,000* miles, which was specified using the **Extrapolation** dialog box.

The solid green lines display the cumulative operating time (i.e., the total mileage for the truck) and the cumulative time (i.e., the truck's mileage since the analysis has started) at the end of each segment and the at extrapolation date. In this example, these lines represent the mileage of the truck at the strategy change, the current mileage, and the future mileage, respectively.

Note: In our example, the haul truck has a mileage of 11,028 before the analysis started. Therefore, the cumulative time and the cumulative operating time will always be 11,028 miles apart. If the piece of equipment or location is brand new (i.e., the truck has a mileage of 0 when the analysis started), the cumulative time and the cumulative operating time will be the same.

The following chart displays the number of failures at each solid green line, which are represented in the graph by a gray number where a solid green line intersects a segment or extrapolation line.

Strategy	# of Failures at 77,314 miles (time of strategy change)	# of Failures at 303,156 miles (current mileage)	# of Failures at 750,000 miles (extrapolation mileage)
Segment 1	6	Not Displayed	205
(Without Strategy Change)			
Segment 2	6	16	44
(With Strategy Change)			

At the extrapolation time for the first segment the number *205* is displayed, which means that if you had not made the strategy change, you could have expected 206 failures by the time the truck traveled 750,000 miles.

At the extrapolation time for the second segment the number *44* is displayed, which means that if you do not make any changes from your last failure time (303,156 miles) until the future failure time (750,000 miles), you can expect 44 failures by that time.

Finally, an observation can be made that the change introduced at 77,314 miles allowed you to prevent *161* failures between a mileage of 77,314 and 750,000 (i.e., 205 - 44).

Interpreting Extrapolation Results for Cost

After you select an Extrapolation method, for each segment in the analysis, a dotted green line extends from the last failure date for that segment to the specified date in the future (calculated based on the date or time units you provided in the **Extrapolation** dialog box). At the end of the dotted green line, a number appears, representing the estimated number of failures that would have occurred at that point in time.

A solid green line also intersects the end date for each segment, and the cumulative operating time at the end of that segment appears on the solid green line.

For Example 3, suppose you changed mechanics to try to curb the growing cost of repairing equipment. This strategy was implemented after 23 months. After a few years have passed, you want to create a graph using the extrapolation tool to display to management the amount of money you have saved using this strategy after a period of 10 years.



This image represents the extrapolation results for <u>Example 3</u>, where we extrapolated using time. The x-axis represents the cumulative time, or the amount of time cost has been measured, using the units of months.

In this example, the analysis is <u>split into two segments</u> at the third failure, which occurred at *23* months, the time at which the strategy was implemented. The first segment represents the data without the strategy change, and the second segment represents the date with the strategy change. The dotted green extrapolation lines display the future data trend of each segment until the extrapolation time of *120* months, which was specified using the **Extrapolation** dialog box.

The solid green lines display the cumulative operating time (i.e., the total amount of time that cost has been measured) and the cumulative time (i.e., the amount of time that has passed since the analysis started) at the end of each segment and the extrapolation date. In this example, these lines represent the cost that had been incurred at the strategy change, the current amount of cost that has been incurred, and the future cost, respectively.

The following chart displays the amount of cost at each solid green line, which is represented in the graph by a gray number where a solid green line intersects a segment or extrapolation line.

Strategy	Cost at 23 months (time of strategy change)	Cost at 62 months (current time)	Cost at 120 months (extrapolation time)
Segment 1 (Without Strategy Change)	\$3,133	Not Displayed	\$28,840
Segment 2 (With Strategy Change)	\$3,133	\$6,305	\$11,314

At the extrapolation time for the first segment the number *28,840* is displayed, which means that if you had not made any changes after 23 months, you could have expected repairs to cost 28,840 dollars by the time 120 months had passed.

At the extrapolation time for the second segment the number *11,314* is displayed, which means that if you do not make any changes from your last cost measurement (62 months) until the future time (120 months), you can expect *11,314* dollars in cost to accumulate by that date.

Finally, an observation can be made that the change introduced at 23 months saved you *17,526* dollars between the time of 23 months and 120 months (i.e., 28,840 - 11,314).
Overview of the Reliability Growth Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the Reliability Growth Report, which you can use to view a summary of the results of a Reliability Growth Analysis. When you run the Reliability Growth Report, it will appear on the **Report Viewer** page.

The Reliability Growth Report is built from the following Catalog items:

- The main report, *GrowthAnalysisReport*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *AssetsubreportGrowth*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *FailuresubreportGrowth,* which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The supporting query that supplies data in the main report and subreports, *GrowthAnalysisQuery*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreports, and the supporting query collectively as the *Reliability Growth Report*.

The Reliability Growth Report contains a prompt on the ENTY_KEY field in the Reliability Growth family. When you run the Reliability Growth Report while viewing a Reliability Growth Analysis, the ENTY_KEY of the Reliability Growth record associated with the current analysis is passed automatically to the prompt, and the results for the current Reliability Growth Analysis are displayed. If you run the main report (i.e., *GrowthAnalysisReport*) or the supporting query (i.e., *GrowthAnalysisQuery*) directly from the Catalog, however, you will need to supply the ENTY_KEY of a Reliability Growth record manually to retrieve results. The subreports (i.e., Catalog items Asset-subreportGrowth and FailuresubreportGrowth) cannot be run directly from the Catalog.

The Reliability Growth Report contains the following sections:

- Analysis Summary
- Growth Model Segments
- Assets
- <<u>Measurement> Data</u>
- Plots

Running the Reliability Growth Report

You can run the Reliability Growth Report to view a summary of the results of a Reliability Growth Analysis.

To run the Reliability Growth Report:

1. On the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page, on the**Current Analysis** menu, click the**Generate Report** link.

The **Report Options** dialog box appears. The following image shows what the **Report Options** dialog box looks like by default.

Report Options						
Select Elements to Include in the Report						
 Cover Page Analysis Summary Growth Model Segments Assets Eailures Data 	 ✓ Plots ✓ MTBF ✓ Failures ✓ Failures Rate 					
	OK Cancel Help					

Note:The option labels displayed on this window may look different from this image, depending on the measurement name you selected on the **Select Data Format** screen of the**Reliability Growth Builder**.

2. Select the elements that you want to include in the report, and click OK.

The Reliability Growth Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.



Analysis Summary Section

The **Analysis Summary** section of the Reliability Growth Report displays information that is stored in the Reliability Growth record and the Growth Model record that is linked to the Reliability Growth record. The **Analysis Summary** section will look different depending on whether or not your analysis data is event-based and the <u>value you enter</u> <u>in the Measurement Name dialog box</u>. Also, the values in the **Analysis Summary** section will come from different fields in the Reliability Growth and Growth Model records depending on whether the analysis is based on dates or cumulative operating time.

Analysis Summary	
Analysis Name:	1051700 Centrifugal Pump Growth Analysis
Analysis Description:	-
Analysis Start:	7/20/1998 9:36:00 AM
Analysis End:	1/30/2006
Number of Assets:	1
Total Failures:	14
Time Units:	Days
Observation Time:	2750.60 Days
Initial MTBF:	91.41 Days
Final MTBF:	248.78 Days
Next Estimated Event Date:	10/5/2006
Use Confidence	False
Confidence:	
Last Modified:	3/17/2011
Modified By:	Administrator, Meridium

The following image displays the **Analysis Summary** section for <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis based on dates that contains event-based data.

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Summary** section for an analysis based on dates that contains event-based data and the corresponding Reliability Growth or Growth Model record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Reliability Growth or Growth Model record	Record field(s)	Notes
Analysis Name	Reliability Growth	Analysis ID	None

Report Item	Reliability Growth or Growth Model record	Record field(s)	Notes
Analysis Descrip- tion	Reliability Growth	Short Description	None
Analysis Start	Reliability Growth	Analysis Start Date	If the analysis is based on cumu- lative operating time, the report will used the value in the field Ana- lysis Start Time.
Analysis End	Reliability Growth	Analysis End Date	If the analysis is based on cumu- lative operating time, the report will use the value in the field Ana- lysis End Time.
Number of Assets	Reliability Growth	Assets	None
Total <meas- urement></meas- 	Growth Model	Number of Fail- ures	None
Time Units	Reliability Growth	Time Units	None
Observation Time	Growth Model Reliability Growth	Total Observation Time Time Units	None
Initial MTBF	Reliability Growth	Initial MTBF	None
		Time Units	
Final MTBF	Reliability Growth	Final MTBF	None
		Time Units	
Next Estimated	Reliability Growth	TTNF	None
		Time Units	
Use Confidence	Reliability Growth	Use Confidence	None
Confidence	Reliability Growth	Confidence Level	None

Report Item	Reliability Growth or Growth Model record	Record field(s)	Notes
Last Modified	Reliability Growth	LAST_UPDT_DT	None
Modified By	Reliability Growth	LAST_UPBY_SEUS_ KEY	The name of the Security User asso- ciated with this value is displayed in the report.

The **Analysis Summary** section for an analysis that is not event-based will appear mostly the same as the **Analysis Summary** section for an analysis that is event-based, with the following exceptions.

- The Next Estimated Event Date field will not be displayed in the **Analysis Summary** section.
- The Initial MTBF and Final MTBF fields will be labeled *Initial <Measurement> Rate* and *Final Measurement Rate*, respectively.

Note: Although the values used in the report are stored in Reliability Growth or Growth Model records, the report contains additional logic in order to display the values in this format. In other words, the values in the records are not in the exact form in which they appear in the report.

Growth Model Segments Section

The **Growth Model Segments** section of the Reliability Growth Report displays information that is stored in the Reliability Growth record or the Growth Model record that is linked to the Reliability Growth record. The **Growth Model Segments** section will look different depending on whether the analysis is based on dates or cumulative operating time. The following image displays the **Growth Model Segments** section for <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis based on dates.

Growth Model Segments								
Segment	Start Date	End Date	Termination Type	Beta	Lambda	Statistic	Critical Value	Passed
1	7/20/1998 9:36:00 AM	9/5/1999 4:48:00 AM	Event-Based	1.49	0.00	0.05	0.16	True
2	9/5/1999 4:48:00 AM	1/30/2006	Event-Based	1.04	0.00	0.10	0.17	True

The following table lists each item in the **Growth Model Segments** section for an analysis based on dates and the corresponding Reliability Growth or Growth Model record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Reliability Growth or Growth Model record	Record field(s)	Notes
Segment	Growth Model	Sequence	None
Start Date	Growth Model	Model Start Date	None
End Date	Reliability Growth	Analysis End Date	None

Report Item	Reliability Growth or Growth Model record	Record field(s)	Notes
Termination Type	Reliability Growth	ls Grouped Data Time Terminated	If the value in the Is Grouped Data field is <i>True</i> , the Termination Type is Grouped-Data. If the value is <i>False</i> , the Ter- mination Type depends on the value in the Time Terminated field. If the value in the Time Terminated field is <i>False</i> , the Termination Type is Event-Based. If the value in this field is <i>True</i> , the
			Termination Type is Time-Based.
Beta	Growth Model	Beta	None
Lambda	Growth Model	Lamda	None
Statistic	Growth Model	GOF Statistic	None
Critical Value	Growth Model	GOF P-Value	None
Passed	Growth Model	Passed GOF	None

The **Growth Model Segments** section for an analysis that contains cumulative operating time will appear mostly the same as the **Growth Model Segments** section for an analysis that contains dates, with the following exceptions.

- The Start Date and End Date fields will not be displayed in the **Growth Model Seg**ments section.
- The Growth Model Segments section will display the following fields.

Report Item	Reliability Growth or Growth Model record	Record field(s)
Start Time	Reliability Growth	Analysis Start Time
End Time	Reliability Growth	Analysis End Time

Assets Section

The **Assets** section of the Reliability Growth Report displays values that are stored in the Failures field in the Reliability Growth record. The **Assets** section will look different depending on whether the analysis is based on dates or cumulative operating time. The following image displays the **Assets** section for <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis based on dates.

Assets							
Asset ID	Installation Date	Last Replacement					
0000000001051700		1/30/2006					

The following columns in the **Assets** section contain data that is stored in the <u>Failures</u> <u>field</u> in the Reliability Growth record:

- Asset ID
- Installation Date

Note: The Installation Date column appears only for analyses based on dates.

Last Replacement

Failures Data

<Measurement> Data Section

The **<Measurement> Data** section of the Reliability Growth Report displays information that is stored in the Failures field of the Reliability Growth record. The **<Measurement> Data** section will look different depending on whether the analysis is based on dates or cumulative operating time. It will also look different depending on the <u>value you enter in</u> the <u>Measurement Name dialog box</u>. The following image displays the **<Measurement> Data** section for <u>Example 1</u>, an analysis based on dates that has a measurement name of *Failures*.

Tanures Data							
Asset ID	Date	Time	Downtime	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulative Time
000000000 01051700							
[9/2/1992 2:24:00 AM	0.00	0.00	1	true	[0
	2/26/1995 4:48:00 AM	0.00	0.00	1	true		0
	7/20/1998 9:36:00 AM	0.00	0.00	1	false		0
	12/14/1998 9:36:00 AM	147.00	0.00	1	false		147
	2/7/1999 9:36:00 AM	202.00	0.00	1	false		202
	6/26/1999 9:36:00 AM	341.00	0.00	1	false		341
	8/1/1999 2:24:00 AM	376.70	0.00	1	false		376.7
	9/5/1999 4:48:00 AM	411.80	0.00	1	false		411.8
[1/1/2001 4:48:00 AM	895.80	0.00	1	false		895.8
	1/2/2001	896.60	0.00	1	false		896.6
	2/7/2002	1297.60	0.00	1	false		1297.6
	7/11/2002 7:12:00 AM	1451.90	0.00	1	false		1451.9
	12/10/2002	1603.60	0.00	1	false		1603.6
[5/12/2003	1756.60	0.00	1	false	[1756.6
	7/2/2003	1807.60	0.00	1	false		1807.6
	11/28/2005	2687.60	0.00	1	false		2687.6
[1/30/2006	2750.60	0.00	1	false		2750.6

The following columns in the **<Measurement> Data** section contain data that is stored in the <u>Failures field</u> in the Reliability Growth record:

- Asset ID
- Date
- Time

Note: The Time column appears only for analyses based on dates.

• Downtime

Note: The Downtime column appears only for analyses based on dates.

• COT

Note: The **COT** column appears only for analyses based on cumulative operating time.

- <Measurement>
- Ignore
- Remarks
- Cumulative Time

Plots Section

The **Plots** section of the Reliability Growth Report displays the graphs that are accessed via the **Plots** menu on the <u>Reliability Growth Analysis page</u>. The following image displays an example of the **MTBF Trend** graph.



The **Plots** section contains the following graphs:

- MTB<Measurement> Trend
- <u>Cumulative <Measurement> Plot</u>
- <a>Add text <a>Add text<

Overview of Reliability Distribution Analysis

A Reliability Distribution Analysis allows you to describe the Time to Failure (TTF) as a statistical distribution, which is usually characterized by a specific pattern. Four distribution types are supported: <u>Weibull</u>, <u>Normal</u>, <u>LogNormal</u>, and <u>Exponential</u>.

The Distribution Analysis characterizes how failures are distributed over the life of equipment. Analyzing the distribution of failures means examining a particular failure mode over one or multiple pieces of equipment. Generating a Distribution Analysis will help you find the answers to the following questions:

- Do most of the equipment failures occur early on?
- Does the equipment fail more at the end of its span of service?
- Are the failures fairly evenly distributed throughout the life of the equipment or randomly occurring?

In a Distribution Analysis, you are trying to determine the probability of failure at a certain point in time. The model assumes that the shape of the distribution is not changing over time. A Distribution Analysis can help you determine the pattern of failures, and the results can be compared to industry data.

If Time to Repair (TTR) information is available, a Distribution Analysis also will be calculated to describe the maintainability of the piece of equipment. PM Optimization and Failure Probability calculations can be performed on any piece of equipment that has a valid Time to Failure (TTF) distribution.

Weibull Distribution

A Weibull Distribution describes the type of failure mode experienced by the population (infant mortality, early wear out, random failures, rapid wear-out). Estimates are given for Beta (shape factor) and Eta (scale). MTBF (Mean Time Between Failures) is based on characteristic life curve, not straight arithmetic average.

A Weibull Distribution uses the following parameters:

- **Beta:** Beta, also called the shape factor, controls the type of failure of the element (infant mortality, wear-out, or random).
- **Eta:** Eta is the scale factor, representing the time when 63.2 % of the total population is failed.
- **Gamma:** Gamma is the location parameter that allows offsetting the Weibull distribution in time. The Gamma parameter should be used if the datapoints on the Weibull plot do not fall on a straight line.

If the value of Beta is greater than one (1), you can perform Preventative Maintenance (PM) Optimizations. A Gamma different from a value zero (0) means that the distribution is shifted in order to fit the datapoints more closely.

Note: This is an advanced feature and should be used in the proper context and with a good understanding of how to apply a three-parameter Weibull distribution.

Weibull Analysis Information

You can use the following information to compare the results of individual Weibull analyses. The following results are for *good* populations of equipment.

Beta Values Weibull Shape Factor								
Components	Low	Typical	High	Low (days)	Typical (days)	High (days)		
Ball bearing	0.7	1.3	3.5	583	1667	10417		
Roller bearings	0.7	1.3	3.5	375	2083	5208		
Sleeve bearing	0.7	1	3	417	2083	5958		
Belts drive	0.5	1.2	2.8	375	1250	3792		
Bellows hydraulic	0.5	1.3	3	583	2083	4167		
Bolts	0.5	3	10	5208	12500	4166667		
Clutches friction	0.5	1.4	3	2792	4167	20833		
Clutches magnetic	0.8	1	1.6	4167	6250	13875		
Couplings	0.8	2	6	1042	3125	13875		
Couplings gear	0.8	2.5	4	1042	3125	52083		
Cylinders hydraulic	1	2	3.8	375000	37500	8333333		
Diaphragm metal	0.5	3	6	2083	2708	20833		
Diaphragm rubber	0.5	1.1	1.4	2083	2500	12500		
Gaskets hydraulics	0.5	1.1	1.4	29167	3125	137500		
Filter oil	0.5	1.1	1.4	833	1042	5208		
Gears	0.5	2	6	1375	3125	20833		
Impellers pumps	0.5	2.5	6	5208	6250	58333		
Joints mechanical	0.5	1.2	6	58333	6250	416667		
Knife edges fulcrum	0.5	1	6	70833	83333	695833		
Liner recip. comp. cyl.	0.5	1.8	3	833	2083	12500		
Nuts	0.5	1.1	1.4	583	2083	20833		
"O"-rings elastomeric	0.5	1.1	1.4	208	833	1375		
Packings recip. comp. rod	0.5	1.1	1.4	208	833	1375		
Pins	0.5	1.4	5	708	2083	7083		
Pivots	0.5	1.4	5	12500	16667	58333		
Pistons engines	0.5	1.4	3	833	3125	7083		
Pumps lubricators	0.5	1.1	1.4	542	2083	5208		
Seals mechanical	0.8	1.4	4	125	1042	2083		
Shafts cent. pumps	0.8	1.2	3	2083	2083	12500		
Springs	0.5	1.1	3	583	1042	208333		

Beta Values Weibull Shape Factor							
Vibration mounts	0.5	1.1	2.2	708	2083	8333	
Wear rings cent. pumps	0.5	1.1	4	417	2083	3750	
Valves recip comp.	0.5	1.4	4	125	1667	3333	
Equipment Assemblies	Low	Typical	High	Low (days)	Typical (days)	High (days)	
Circuit breakers	0.5	1.5	3	2792	4167	58333	
Compressors centrifugal	0.5	1.9	3	833	2500	5000	
Compressor blades	0.5	2.5	3	16667	33333	62500	
Compressor vanes	0.5	3	4	20833	41667	83333	
Diaphgram couplings	0.5	2	4	5208	12500	25000	
Gas turb. comp. blades/vanes	1.2	2.5	6.6	417	10417	12500	
Gas turb. blades/vanes	0.9	1.6	2.7	417	5208	6667	
Motors AC	0.5	1.2	3	42	4167	8333	
Motors DC	0.5	1.2	3	4	2083	4167	
Pumps centrifugal	0.5	1.2	3	42	1458	5208	
Steam turbines	0.5	1.7	3	458	2708	7083	
Steam turbine blades	0.5	2.5	3	16667	33333	62500	
Steam turbine vanes	0.5	3	3	20833	37500	75000	
Transformers	0.5	1.1	3	583	8333	591667	
Instrumentation	Low	Typical	High	Low (days)	Typical (days)	High (days)	
Controllers pneumatic	0.5	1.1	2	42	1042	41667	
Controllers solid state	0.5	0.7	1.1	833	4167	8333	
Control valves	0.5	1	2	583	4167	13875	
Motorized valves	0.5	1.1	3	708	1042	41667	
Solenoid valves	0.5	1.1	3	2083	3125	41667	
Transducers	0.5	1	3	458	833	3750	
Transmitters	0.5	1	2	4167	6250	45833	
Temperature indicators	0.5	1	2	5833	6250	137500	
Pressure indicators	0.5	1.2	3	4583	5208	137500	
Flow instrumentation	0.5	1	3	4167	5208	416667	
Level instrumentation	0.5	1	3	583	1042	20833	
Electro-mechanical parts	0.5	1	3	542	1042	41667	
Static Equipment	Low	Typical	High	Low (days)	Typical (days)	High (days)	
Boilers condensers	0.5	1.2	3	458	2083	137500	
Pressure vessels	0.5	1.5	6	52083	83333	1375000	
Filters strainers	0.5	1	3	208333	208333	8333333	

Beta Values Weibull Shape Factor							
Check valves	0.5	1	3	4167	4167	52083	
Relief valves	0.5	1	3	4167	4167	41667	
Service Liquids	Low	Typical	High	Low (days)	Typical (days)	High (days)	
Coolants	0.5	1.1	2	458	625	1375	
Lubricants screw compr.	0.5	1.1	3	458	625	1667	
Lube oils mineral	0.5	1.1	3	125	417	1042	
Lube oils synthetic	0.5	1.1	3	1375	2083	10417	
Greases	0.5	1.1	3	292	417	1375	

Weibull Results Interpretation

Meridium APM Reliability shows the failure pattern of a single piece of equipment or groups of like equipment using Weibull analysis methods. This helps the user to determine the appropriate repair strategy to improve reliability.

Is the Probability Plot a good fit?

Follow these steps to determine whether or not the plot is a good fit:

- Identify Beta (slope) and its associated failure pattern
- Compare Eta (characteristic life) to standard values
- Check goodness of fit, compare with Weibull database
- Make a decision about the nature of the failure and its prevention

The following chart demonstrates how to interpret the Weibull analysis data using the Beta parameter, Eta parameter and typical failure mode to postulate a failure cause.

Weibull Results	Interpretation			
Beta	Eta	Typical Failure Mode	Failure Cause	
Greater than 4	Low compared with standard val- ues for failed parts (less than 20%)	Old age, rapid wear out (sys- tematic, regular)	Poor machine design	
Greater than 4	Low compared with standard val- ues for failed parts (less than 20%)	Old age, rapid wear out (sys- tematic, regular)	Poor material selection	
Between 1 and 4	Low compared with standard val- ues for failed parts (less than 20%)	Early wear out	Poor system design	
Between 1 and 4	Low	Early wear out	Construction prob- lem	
Less than 1 Low		Infant Mortality	Inadequate main- tenance pro- cedure	

Weibull Results	Interpretation		
Between 1 and 4	Between 1 and 4	Less than man- ufacturer recom- mended PM cycle	lnadequate PM schedule
Around 1	Much less than	Random failures with definable causes	Inadequate oper- ating procedure

Goodness of Fit (GOF) Tests for a Weibull Distribution

A Goodness of Fit test is a statistical test that determines whether the analysis data follows the distribution model.

- If the data passes the Goodness of Fit test, it means that it follows the model pattern closely enough that predictions can be made based on that model.
- If the data fails the Goodness of Fit test, it means that the data does not follow the model closely enough to confidently make predictions and that the data does not appear to follow a specific pattern.

Weibull results are valid if Goodness of Fit (GOF) tests are satisfied. Goodness of Fit tests for a Weibull distribution include the following types:

- **R²Linear regression (least squares):** An R-Squared test statistic greater than 0.9 is considered a good fit for linear regression.
- Kolmogorov-Smirnov: The Meridium APM system uses confidence level and P-Value to determine if the data is considered a good fit. If the P-Value is greater than 1 minus the confidence level, the test passes.

Note:The R-Squared test statistic is calculated only for reference. The Meridium APM system uses the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test as the Goodness of Fit test.

Normal Distribution

A Normal Distribution describes the spread of data values through the calculation of two parameters: mean and standard deviation. When using the Normal Distribution on time to failure data, the mean exactly equals MTBF and is a straight arithmetic average of failure data. Standard deviation (denoted by sigma) gives estimate of data spread or variance.

A Normal Distribution uses the following parameters:

- Mean: The mean is the arithmetic average of the datapoints.
- **Standard Deviation:** The Standard Deviation value represents the scatter (how tightly the datapoints are clustered around the mean).

Lognormal Distribution

In Lognormal Distributions of failure data, two parameters are calculated: Mu and Sigma. These do not represent mean and standard deviation, but are used to calculate MTBF. In Lognormal analysis, the median (antilog of mu) is often used as the MTBF. The standard deviation factor (antilog of sigma) gives the degree of variance in the data.

A Lognormal Distribution uses the following parameters:

- Mu: Mu presents the logarithmic average for the Distribution function.
- Sigma: Sigma represents the scatter.
- Gamma: Gamma is a location parameter.

Exponential Distribution

An Exponential Distribution is a mathematical distribution that describes a purely random process. It is a single parameter distribution where the mean value describes MTBF (Mean Time Between Failures). It is simulated by the Weibull distribution for value of Beta = 1. When applied to failure data, the Exponential distribution exhibits a constant failure rate, independent of time in service. The Exponential Distribution is often used in reliability modeling, when the failure rate is known but the failure pattern is not.

An Exponential Distribution uses the following parameter:

• **MTBF:** The Exponential Distribution is a single parameter distribution where the mean value describes MTBF.

Failure Data

The following table shows the typical data required for building a Reliability Distribution Analysis in Meridium APM.

Data Needed	Description	Notes
Asset ID	Select a field that uniquely describes a piece of equipment, such as <i>Equipment ID</i> . Reliability analysis can be conducted on any number of equipment.	Select a text field. This is a required field.
Installation Date	Select the field that contains the date on which the piece of equipment was installed.	This field is optional. Select a date field.
Failure Date	Select the field that contains the last date on which the piece of equipment failed. This data can have many dif- ferent descriptions (e.g., Out of Service Date, Shutdown Date, or Failure Date).	Select a text field. This is a required field.
Failure Mode	Sometimes users put failed parts in this field, or even a description like "worn out" or "broke down". These descriptions can be very useful when deciding to include or not include a particular failure in the failure history for purposes of censoring.	Needed for Distribution analysis only.
Downtime	If this information is available, it can be used to make the estimation more accurate. Fields like "return to service date" or "date repaired" can be used to estimate down- time.	This field is optional.
Time Units	Select the Downtime time units.	

Confidence Level and P-Value

In a Distribution Analysis, the Confidence Level and the P-Value are used to determine whether the data passes the Goodness of Fit test.

The Confidence Level indicates the percentage of uncertainty of the Goodness of Fit method. This percentage is usually determined by experience or an industry standard and limits how closely the data must fit the model in order for it to pass the Goodness of Fit test. The higher the Confidence Level, the farther apart your confidence bounds will be, and the easier it will be for your data to pass the Goodness of Fit test. The lower the Confidence Level and the closer together the bounds are, the harder it will be for your data to pass the Goodness of Fit test. If the data does pass, however, the data will be a very close fit to the model.

Note: When you <u>enter a Confidence Level</u>, you must specify a value that is greater than one (1) but less than one hundred (100).

The following images show examples of the same graph with a Confidence Level of 90% and 10%, with the confidence bounds represented by green lines. At a 90% confidence level the confidence bounds are father apart, most of the data falls inside the bounds, and the GOF test is passed. At a 10% confidence level, the confidence bounds are closer together, most of the data falls outside the bounds, and the GOF test is failed.

Confidence Level = 90%



Confidence Level = 10%



The P-value indicates the probability that the data fits the selected model. If you have a P-value of *0.01*, then there is a 1% probability that the data is compatible with the model, or conversely, that there is a 99% probability that the model is not in agreement with the data. If you have a P-value of *0.95*, there is a 95% probability that the model is appropriate.

To calculate whether the Goodness of Fit test has passed or failed, you need both the confidence level and the P-value. If the P-value is less than or equal to 1 minus the confidence level, the fit test has failed and you should reject the distribution model at the chosen confidence level. Otherwise, the fit is successful and you should accept the distribution model at the chosen confidence level.

For example, suppose you have a P-Value of 99% (i.e., 0.99) and a confidence level of 90% (i.e., 0.90). The following equation demonstrates that the Goodness of Fitness test is passed.

P-Value > 1 - confidence level

0.99 > 1-0.90

.99 > 0.10

Accessing the List of Reliability Distribution Analyses

To display the list of existing Reliability Distribution Analyses:

• On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Reliability Distribution** link.

The Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page appears.



From the **Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page**, you can run the Reliability Distribution query to view a list of existing Reliability Distribution Analyses and then access the summary for any analysis. Alternatively, you can click the **New Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to begin the process of <u>creating a new</u> <u>Reliability Distribution Analysis</u>.

Aspects of the Reliability Distribution Analysis List

The <u>Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page</u> lets you run the Reliability Distribution query to access a list of existing Reliability Distribution Analyses that meet your query criteria.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Select a Distribution Analysis from the List									
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp									
😻 Back 🗸 🐵 Forward 🗵 🏠 My Start Page 🗸 🎽 New 🔎 Search 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 📓 Report 🗸 🕼 Graph – 🥳 Dataset 🖛 Dashboard 🗸									
	Site Map: Reliability->Distribution								
m	meridium								
Dal	Select a Distribution Analysis from the List								
Rei	iadility Analytics	Ľ		I Allalysis		SL			
Plots	s 😵	L	<u> </u>		_	_			
DX	Probability	Put	blished Analyses				Rup Query		
	Failure Rate						Run Query		
	PDF	Las	st Updated By (All Users)			•			
	CDE								
	CDF								
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 😽		Analysis ID	Last Up ∇	Updated By	MTBF			
*	New Applysis	▶	G0014-037 Seal Failures	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	727.298793498901			
	New Analysis	L	E0035-023 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	227.274685240284			
	Open Analysis	L	E0321-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	2582.2307891736			
21	Save Analysis	L	E0319-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
L.	Save Analysis As	L	E0317-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
۵.	Publish Analyses	L	E0315-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
X	Delete Analyses	L	E0313-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	1543.97211501119			
=0	Send To >>	L	E0201-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
	Help	L	E0139-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
		L	E0136-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
	Guidelines		E0135-094 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
			E0124-050 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
			E0124-050 EXTERNAL - CHANNEL	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0			
			E0122-050 INTERNAL - TUBES	3/17/2011	Administrator, Meridium	0	-		

The Reliability Distribution query is stored in the Meridium APM Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. While the Reliability Distribution query can be <u>customized</u> for your specific implementation, the baseline Reliability Distribution query contains two prompts: **Published Analyses** and **Last Updated By**. These prompts appear at the top of the page as drop-down lists that contain the various options.

The **Published Analyses** list contains the following options:

- Any (%): Will cause the query to return all Reliability Distribution Analyses, either published or unpublished.
- Yes (Y): Will cause the query to return only published Reliability Distribution Analyses.
- No (N): Will cause the query to return only unpublished Reliability Distribution Analyses.

The Last Updated By list contains the following options:

- Your user name, which is selected by default and will cause the query to return only the Reliability Distribution Analyses that were last updated by you.
- The user name of any user who last updated any Reliability Distribution Analysis, which will cause the query to return only the Reliability Distribution Analyses that were last updated by that user.
- The **[All Users]** option, which will cause the query to return a list of Reliability Distribution Analyses updated by any user.

Each time you access the **Select a Distribution Analysis from the List** page, the values that appear by default in the prompts will be used to filter the list. After you select different criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button to run the Reliability Distribution query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page.

Note: Although the results are returned by the Reliability Distribution query, query page size is ignored. The entire list of analyses is displayed at once.

The default Reliability Distribution query is configured to display the following columns of information: **Analysis ID**, **Last Updated**, **Updated By**, and **MTBF**. You can click any hyperlinked analysis ID to view the associated analysis summary. In addition, you can use the option on the <u>Plots menu</u> and the **Common Tasks** menu to perform various tasks for the analyses in the list.

CEHint: If desired, you cancustomize the column display.

Plots Menu



The **Plots** menu on the **Select a Distribution Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- **Probability:** If you select a single analysis, this link displays the <u>Probability Plot</u> of that analysis on the **Probability Plot**page. If you selected multiple analyses, this link displays the Probability Plots of those analyses on the**Multiple Distributions Plot** page.
- Failure Rate: If you select a single analysis, this link displays the <u>Failure Rate Plot</u> of that analysis on the **Probability Density Function** page. If you selected multiple analyses, this link displays the Failure Rate Plots of those analyses on the **Multiple Distributions Plot** page.
- **PDF:** If you select a single analysis, this link displays the <u>Probability Density Func-</u> <u>tion Plot</u> of that analysison the **Probability Density Function** page. If you selected multiple analyses, this link displays the Probability Density Function Plots of those analyses on the **Multiple Distributions Plot** page.
- **CDF:** If you select a single analysis, this link displays the <u>Cumulative Density Func-</u> <u>tion Plot</u> of that analysis on the **Probability Density Function** page. If you selected multiple analyses, this link displays the Cumulative Density Function Plots of those analyses on the **Multiple Distributions Plot** page.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Select a Distribution Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the Reliability Distribution Builder, which guides you through the process of creating a new Reliability Distribution Analysis.
- Open Analysis: Lets you locate an existing Reliability Distribution analysis using the Find a Reliability Distribution Analysis window.
- Publish Analyses: Publishes the selected analysis or analyses. If you select one or more analyses that are already published, this link reads Unpublish Analyses and will <u>unpublish</u> the selected analysis.
- Delete Analyses: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

Note: The Save Analysis and Save Analysis As links are always disabled.

Opening an Existing Reliability Distribution Analysis

To open a Reliability Distribution Analysis summary:

1. On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start Page</u>**, click the **Reliability Distribution** link.

The Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page appears.



- 2. At the top of the page, in the fields provided, select the criteria that you want to use for limiting the list of Distribution Analyses. The available criteria will vary, depending on how the Reliability Distribution query has been configured.
- 3. Click the **Run Query** button.

Meridium APM runs the Reliability Distribution query and displays the results in the grid at the bottom of the page.

4. In the **Analysis ID** column, click the analysis ID of the analysis that you want to open.

The Reliability Distribution Summary page appears.



When you open an existing analysis, the analysis will display the data and calculations that were last <u>saved</u> with the analysis. If you want to reload the underlying query or dataset and update calculations based on any changes to the underlying data, you must <u>reload the analysis</u> after opening it.

Opening Multiple Existing Distribution Analyses

To open multiple existing Distribution Analyses:

1. On the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page</u>, at the top of the page, in the Last Updated By list, select the user for which you want to return a list of Production Analyses.

Note: Additional fields may appear if the baseline query has been modified. If additional fields are available, use them to limit the query results as desired.

2. Click the **Run Query** button.

Meridium APM runs the **Reliability Distribution** query and displays the results in the grid in the main display area.

- 3. Select the rows containing the Distribution Analyses that you want to open.
- 4. On the **Plots** menu, click the link for the desired graph for which you want to view the selected analyses:
 - Probability plot
 - Failure Rate plot
 - PDF plot
 - <u>CDF plot</u>

The selected analyses appear on the **Multiple Distributions Plot** page, displaying the corresponding plot for which you selected.



From the Multiple Distributions Plot page, you can:

- View the details of a specific analysis by clicking the desired plot and *that* analysis will open on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page.
- Point to a plot to display the name of the analysis that the plot represents, the distribution type, MTBF, Beta, Eta, gamma, and R2.
- Customize the **Multiple Distributions Plot** page using the standard graph toolbar or the annotation toolbar.
- Click the link to another corresponding plot on the **Plots** menu for which you want to view the same highlighted Distribution analyses.
- Click the **Show Failures** link on the **Plots** menu to view the failure dates for each analysis. You can then pause on a failure datapoint to view the name of the analysis, name of the piece of equipment, date of the failure, and the TTF.
- Click the New Analysis, Open Analysis, Send To, Help, or the Guidelines links on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>.
Using the Reliability Distribution Builder

Using the **Reliability Distribution Builder**, you can create a new Distribution Analysis:

- Based on a new or existing query or dataset.
- From manually entered data.

You can access the **Reliability Distribution Builder** from the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis from the List</u> page or the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>.

Creating a Distribution Analysis from a Query or Dataset

To create a new Distribution analysis based on a new or existing query or dataset:

1. On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u> or the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis</u> <u>from the List</u> page, on the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The **Reliability Distribution Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Reliability Distribution Buil	der - Welcome
meridium	Welcome to the Reliability Distribution Builder
	In the next few steps you will create a new Reliability Distribution Analysis. You will be able to base the analysis on failure data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.
	Don't show this page again. To continue, click Next.
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time that you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.

Reliability	y Distribution B	uilder - Select D	ata Source Type		
Select	Select Data Source Type			2	
Que	ry Based				
۲	Failure data will be	loaded using an exis	ting Query.		
0	I will create a new (Query and use it to l	oad failure data.		
Dataset Based					
C Failure data will be copied from an existing Dataset.					
I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as failure data.					
No Data Source					
0	I will manually ente	r failure data.			
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

- 3. Select one of the following options:
 - Failure data will be loaded using an existing Query. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired query in the Catalog.
 - I will create a new Query and use it to load the failure data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, theQuery Builder will appear so that you can design a new query. Click the Help button in the Query Builder for details on building a new query.
 - Failure data will be copied from an existing Dataset. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired dataset in the Catalog. Note that if the dataset you choose was created from a query that included installation, failure dates, or TTF data you will not be able to select either of those columns in the analysis. To avoid this problem, run the query in unformatted mode and then export to a dataset.
 - I will create a new Dataset and use it to load the failure data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, the Dataset Builder will appear so that you can design a new dataset. Click the Help button in the Dataset Builder for details on building a new dataset.

After you have selected or created the desired query or dataset, it appears on the **Select** screen of the **Reliability Distribution Builder**.

4. Click the **Next** button.

The Select Data Format screen appears.



5. If the failure data contains failure dates, select the **Failure data contains failure dates** option.

-or-

If the failure data contains numbers representing the time to failure, select the **Failure data contains time to failure** option.

6. Click the **Next** button.

The Failure Type screen appears.



7. If the piece of equipment is replaced after each failure, select the **I have failures** with replacement (as good as new) option.

-or-

If the piece of equipment is not replaced after each failure, select the **I have failures without replacement (as good as old)** option. In other words, select this option if a failure does not require replacement of the entire unit (e.g., for heat exchangers, boiler tubes, or piping).

8. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Failure Fields** screen appears. Note that this screen will look different depending on the option that you selected on the previous screen.

Reliability Distribution Select Failure Fig	Builder - Select Failure Fields Ids
Asset ID: Installation Date:	•
Failure Date:	
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help

- 9. In the **Asset ID** list, select the name of the field that contains the IDs of the failed entities. This is required and must be a character field.
- 10. In the **Installation Date** list, select the field that contains the Installation Date, which is the date when the piece of equipment was installed. This field is optional.
- 11. In the **Failure Date** list, select the field that contains the Failure Date, which is the date on which the failure events occurred (e.g., the Out of Service date). This field is required.
- 12. If you selected the **I have failures without replacement (as good as old)**, complete the following additional fields, which appear only when you have made this selection:
 - Number of Subcomponents: The name of the field that contains the number of subcomponents contained by the piece of equipment that you selected in the Asset ID field.

Note: If this field is not mapped, you will receive a warning message notifying you that the number of subcomponents must be entered for every analyzed piece of equipment. You must enter those values in the **Asset** tab of the **Failure Data** grid in order to take into account non-failed elements. Moreover, failure probability cannot be calculated if this value is left blank.

• **Number of Failures:** The name of the field that contains the number of failed elements at each failure event.

- **Replacement?:** The field that indicates whether replacement is made following each equipment failure. It needs to be mapped to a field of type **Logical**. A replacement causes the entire piece of equipment to be renewed, thus resetting calculation of the time to failure.
- 13. Click the **Next** button.

-or-

If the selected query or dataset does not include downtime data, click the **Finish** button and skip to the end of these instructions.

The **Provide Information for Downtime** screen appears.

Reliabilit	y Distribution B	uilder - Provide	Information fo	or Downtime	
Provi	de Informatio	on for Downti	me		2
Dowr	ntime Field:				
Time	Units:	Days			•
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

- 14. In the **Downtime Field** list, select the desired field (e.g., Total Time to Repair). This field is optional but must be numeric.
- 15. In the **Time Units** list, select the time units associated with the selected the down-time (Hours, Weeks, Months, Quarters, or Years).

Note: The time units that you select here will apply to *downtime* only. Operating time will be set by default to *days*. After the analysis has been created, you can change the units for both downtime and operating time <u>via the **Time Units** dialog box</u>.

16. Click the **Finish** button.

The system validates the field mappings and generates the analysis. The summary page displays the results of the analysis.

17. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link to save the analysis results.

Creating a Distribution Analysis from Manually Entered Data

To create a new Distribution analysis by entering failure data manually:

1. On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u> or the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis</u> <u>from the List</u> page, on the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The **Reliability Distribution Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Reliability Distribution Buil	der - Welcome
meridium	Welcome to the Reliability Distribution Builder
	In the next few steps you will create a new Reliability Distribution Analysis. You will be able to base the analysis on failure data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.
	Don't show this page again. To continue, click Next.
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time that you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.



3. Select the I will manually enter failure data option.

The Select Data Format screen appears.

Reliability Distribution Builder - Select Data Format	
Select Data Format	
Failure data contains failure dates	
C Failure data contains time to failure	
<back next=""> Finish Cancel</back>	Help

4. If the failure data contains failure dates, select the first option on the **Select Data Format** screen.

-or-

If the failure data contains Time to Failure values, select the second option on the **Select Data Format** screen.

5. Click the **Next** button.

The Failure Type screen appears.

Reliability Distribution Builder - Failure	Туре		
Failure Type			
I have failures with replacement (as good	od as new)		
I have failures without replacement (as	good as old)		
<back next=""></back>	Finish	Cancel	Help

6. If a replacement is made following each failure, select the **I have failures with** replacement(as good as new) option.

-or-

If no replacement is made following each failure select the **I have failures without replacement (as good as old)** option.

7. Click the **Finish** button.

A blank **Failure Data** grid appears. To enter data, you can manually type the data in the cells or you can use the clipboard operations (cut, copy, paste) to transfer data to the grid from other applications.

😼 Failure Data	1							
Failures Assets								
Asset ID	Failure D	TTF	Downtime	Ignore	Remarks	Censored	[
▶ (none) 🔻								
						ОК	Cancel	Help

- 8. Enter the information about the failures and equipment that you want to include in the analysis. Note that:
 - A minimum of three failure datapoints is required to perform a calculation.
 - If you enter downtime values that exceed the next failure date, the Meridium APM system will highlight the downtime values in the Failure Data window. When you close the Failure Data window, an error message appears in the Analysis Information section.
 - The units of days will be assumed for both downtime and operating time for the data that you enter. After you create the analysis, you can change the time units via the**Time Units** dialog box.
- 10. Click **OK**.

Note: A minimum of three failure datapoints is required to perform a calculation or a warning message will be displayed.

The system generates the analysis. The **Failure Data** grid closes and the system displays a summary of the analysis.

11. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link to save the analysis results.

Creating Distribution Analyses from an Associated Page

The following instructions assume that an administrative user has already <u>created an</u> <u>Associated Page</u> that can be used to create a Reliability Distribution Analysis from an Equipment or Functional Location record.

To create a Reliability Distribution analysis from an Associated Page:

1. In the Meridium APM Framework, open an Equipment or Functional Location record in the Record Manager.

Aridium APM Framework -	Record Manager - SB0001-104 ~ MIS	CELLANOUS FIXED EOUIPMENT	~ 000000000001062185 (Equipment)		×
File Edit Go To Tools	Help		(
A Pack - A Forward - A		ch 🚞 Catalog 🗟 Queru- 🖩	Report - 🙆 Graph - 🤗 Dataset - 🛤	Dashboard -	
S Dack + S Tolward + en			Report • 📑 Graph • 😋 Dataset • 🖬		
moridium	Record Explorer	 Record Manager 	. Link records to gether using the evolution		
menulum	SB0001-104 ~ MISCELLANC A	Add, Edit, and Deleteretord	s. Link records together using the explore		
Record Manager	Corrosion Analysis Setti	SB0001-104 ~ MISCELLANOUS	5 FIXED EQUIPMENT ~ 000000000000	62185 (Equipment)	
	RCA Analysis	Datasheet Equipment	· 🕞 🔞 🔓 😽 🗙	🛍 🍯 💆 🐯	
Common Tasks 🛛 😻	RCA Tracking Item	Equipment Identification Equipr	nent Taxonomy		
💫 New	Reliability Distribution		(Velve (e)	Description	
	Reliability Growth	Equipment ID	Value(s)	MISCELLANOUS ETXED FOUTPMENT	
Save and New	Thickness Measurement	Equipment Technical Number	SB0001-104		
Y Delete	AMS Asset E	Equipment recrinical Number	M	MISCELLANEOLIS	
	AMS Asset Recommend	SAP Class	9914	MISCELLANEOUS	
ц сору	Asset Criticality Analysi:	Equipment Type	EIXMISMIS	Miscellaneous Fixed	
ig Print	Criticality RBI Compone	Equipment Status	INST		
😡 Documents	Criticality RBI Compone	Long Description			
🖅 Send To >>	Criticality RBI Compone	Eunctional Location	MRD-ROA-REFN-RF104-SB0001-104	SOOT BLOWER - FCC NORTH BOILER	
🕐 Help	Criticality RBI Compone	Maintenance Plant			_
	Criticality RBI Compone	Criticality Indicator			
Associated Pages 🛛 😂	Calibration, Analog	Sort Field			
Create Calibration >>	Calibration, Analyzer M	Manufacturer	DIAMOND		
Create Task	Calibration, Analyzer Si	Model Number	1K-525		
Create Template >>	Calibration, Weight Sca	Part Number			
New Distribution Anal	Work History	Equipment Serial Number			
	Risk	Inventory Number			
	Meridium General Recor	Vendor			
-	Hazards Analysis Cause	Purchase Order Number			
	Hazards Analysis Safeg	Purchase Date			
_	· Independent Layer of F	Year Constructed			
	General Inspection	Warranty Expired Date			
	Bundle Inspection	Valid From Date	1/1/2004 12:00:00 AM		
	< III →	Equipment Size			
	- All Camilias Displayed	Construction Type			
	All Families Displayed	Technical Drawing Number			-

2. On the Associated Pages menu, click the New Distribution Analysis link.

The **Enter parameter values** dialog box appears. If you are viewing an Equipment record, the **Enter parameter values** dialog box displays the value in the Equipment ID field of the current record. If you are viewing a Functional Location record, the **Enter Parameter values** dialog box displays the value in the Location field of the current record.

Enter parameter values	
Equipment ID	0000000001062185 🗸
	OK Cancel

3. Click OK.

The Reliability Distribution Analysis is created, and the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page appears.

Overview of the Reliability Distribution Summary Page

The **Reliability Distribution Summary** page contains a summary of the selected Distribution Analysis. The summary information is divided into four sections, which appear in the main display area:

- Analysis Information
- <u>Time to Failure Distribution</u>
- <u>Time to Repair Distribution</u>
- Failure Data



The **Reliability Distribution Summary**page also contains four task menus: <u>Plots</u>, <u>Tools</u>, <u>Analysis Tasks</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>. These task menus give you quick access to common tasks associated with Distribution analyses.

Analysis Information Section

 Analysis Information
 Rename

 Name:
 P-100

 Period:
 The analysis includes data for the period from 7/9/2000 to 1/11/2011.

 Description:
 This analysis was automatically generated by Automation Rule '3.3.3 Automation Rule Based on a Query.'

The **Analysis Information** section contains information that identifies the current analysis, including the following information:

- Analysis Name: The ID of the selected Reliability Distribution Analysis.
- Analysis Period: The start and end dates and times for the analysis. The Analysis Period description also includes the total operating time, the number of observed failures, and the number of pieces of equipment used in the analysis. The total (or cumulative) operating time is the total amount of time that the pieces of equipment are in operation during the specified analysis period.
- **Description:** The description of the analysis as defined when the analysis was saved. Click the **Rename** link located in this section or the **Current Analysis** menu if you want to change either the name or the description of the analysis.
- **Rename:** A link that displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>rename the analysis</u>.

Time to Failure Distribution Section

The **Time to Failure Distribution** section provides a summary of details for the Time to Failure (TTF) distribution, which calculates the time from when an item was placed into service until it fails.



TTF may be expressed as days, hours, cycles, units processed, and so on. This section includes the following information:

- Distribution Type: The type of distribution used in the analysis.
- MTBF:Mean Time Between Failures defined for the analysis.

Note: MTBF is not applicable, and therefore not calculated, if the failure type is **Failures Without Replacement**. Click the **Details** link to view the detailed results of the TTF Distribution.

• Parameters: The parameters defined for the analysis.

Note: You will receive an error message in the **Distribution Parameters** section on this screen if the distribution parameters could not be calculated. There must be a minimum of two datapoints in the failure data in order for the system to fit a distribution.

You can click the **Details** link in the Time to Failure Distribution section to <u>view addi-</u> <u>tional information</u> about the distribution parameters, the distribution properties, and the results of the Goodness of Fit (GOF) tests.

This section also displays a small image of the Probability Plot and Failure Rate Pot. You can click the images to view the plots on a separate screen.

Time to Repair Distribution Section

The **Time to Repair Distribution** section provides a summary of the details for the Time to Repair (TTR) distribution, which calculates the average amount of time that passes before an element must have some type of maintenance performed on it.

Time To Repair Distribution		
Distribution Type:	Lognormal	Details
MTTR:	2.10 Days	

This time is generally referred to as the time from when an item fails to when it is returned to productive service. This section includes the following information:

- Distribution Type: The type of distribution used in the analysis.
- MTTR: Mean Time to Repair defined for the analysis.

The **Time to Repair Distribution** section also contains a **Details** link, which you can click to <u>view additional information</u> about the Time to Repair Distribution.

Failure Data Section

The **Failure Data** section lists the number of failures contained in the Failure Data that were used to generate MTBF, the number of the failures from the data that were censored when the calculations were last performed, and the number of pieces of equipment contained in the Failure Data.

Failure Data
This analysis is based on 6 failures. Components are always replaced after each failure. 1 failures are censored. A total of 1 assets were used to perform the analysis.

The failure type that was selected upon the creation of the analysis is also listed in this section.

 If the analysis is based on the Failures With Replacements failure type, the following information is displayed: Components are always replaced after each failure.

Details

 If the analysis is based on the Failures Without Replacements failure type, the following information is displayed: Components are not automatically replaced after each failure.

In this section, you can click the **Details** link to <u>view the Failure History By Asset</u> <u>Timeline</u>.

Plots Menu



The **Plots** menu on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page contains the following links:

- **Probability:** Displays the **Probability plot**.
- Failure Rate: Displays the Failure Rate plot.
- **PDF:** Displays the <u>Probability Density Function plot</u>.
- CDF: Displays the Cumulative Distribution Function plot.

Tools Menu

Tool	5	۲
Ħ	PM Optimization	
Ħ	Failure Probability	

The **Tools** menu on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page contains the following links:

- PM Optimization: Displays the optimal preventive maintenance interval and a graphical plot of the Planned Cost, Unplanned Cost, and Total Cost if a PM Optimization has been previously performed. Or, displays the <u>Preventive Maintenance</u> <u>Optimization dialog box</u>, which will prompt you to enter the cost data. The Optimal Value inflection point is identified on the total cost curve.
- Failure Probability: Takes you to the <u>Probability of Equipment Failure page</u> for the current analysis.

Analysis Tasks Menu



The **Analysis Tasks** menu on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page contains the following links:

- **Confidence Level:** Displays the **Confidence Level** dialog box, which lets you select to use confidence and <u>specify the confidence level</u>.
- Analysis Period: Displays the Analysis Period dialog box, where you can <u>change</u> the Start Date and End Date of the analysis period.

Note: The **Analysis Period** link is not available if you entered raw Time to Failure (TTF) values on the **Failure Data** grid to create the analysis.

- Time Units: Displays the Time Units dialog box, where you can <u>specify the oper-</u> ating time units and the downtime units.
- Failure Type: Displays the Select the Failure Type dialog box, where you can <u>specify</u> whether or not the piece of equipment is replaced after each failure.
- View Data Source: Displays the data that serves as the source of the analysis. This link appears only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- If the analysis is based on a query, this link will open the query results.
- If the analysis is based on a dataset, this link will open the dataset.
- **Reload Data:** <u>Reloads the data</u> stored in the database. This link appears only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- View Failure Data: Displays the Failure Data grid.
- Generate Report: Displays the Report Options dialog box, where you can select the elements of the analysis that you want to include in a report.

Note: You must save the analysis before you can generate a report.

- View Analysis List: Displays the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page</u>, which displays a list of the existing Reliability Distribution analyses.
- View Recommendations: Displays the <u>Recommendations page</u>, where you can view and manage the Recommendation records associated with the analysis.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the Reliability Distribution Builder, which guides you through the process of creating a new Reliability Distribution Analysis.
- Open Analysis: Lets you locate an existing Reliability Distribution Analysis using the Find a Reliability Distribution Analysis window.
- Save Analysis: Save the currently displayed analysis. If you are viewing a new analysis that has not yet been saved, this link will display the Save Analysis dialog box, where you can save the analysis. If you are viewing an existing analysis, when you click this link, Meridium APM will save any changes that you made to the analysis since it was last saved.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save this Analysis dialog box, where you can choose to save it with a different name.
- Delete Analysis: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the **Reliability Distribution Sum**mary page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

Changing the Failure Type

When you create a Reliability Distribution Analysis, you establish the failure type in the **Reliability Distribution Builder**. After the analysis is created, if you forgot which option you chose or accidently chose the wrong option and want to change it, you can do so via the **Failure Type** dialog box.

To change the failure type:

1. On the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Failure Type** link.

The Failure Type dialog box appears.

🍄 Failure Type				
Select the Failure Type				
 Failures with replacement (as good as new) Failures without replacement (as good as old) 				
ОК	Cancel			

2. If the piece of equipment is replaced after each failure, select the **Failures with** replacement (as good as new) option.

-or-

If the piece of equipment is not replaced after each failure, select the **Failures without replacement (as good as old)** option. In other words, select this option if a failure does not require replacement of the entire piece of equipment (e.g., for heat exchangers, boiler tubes, or piping).

3. Click OK.

The analysis is recalculated based on the selected failure type.

Note: If you are viewing the **Preventive Maintenance Optimization** page and you change the failure type to the **Failures without replacement (as good as old)** option, a red label appears on the page warning you that PM Optimization calculations are not supported for failures without replacement and that the results are not valid.

Accessing the Time To Failure Distribution Page

To access the Time To Failure Distribution page:

 On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>, in the <u>Time to Failure Distribution</u> section, click the <u>Details</u> link.

The **Time To Failure Distribution** page appears.



Aspects of the Time To Failure Distribution Page

The following information is displayed on the Time To Failure Distribution page:

Distribution Parameters

Distribution Parameters							
Туре	Weibull	Low	High				
Beta	10.9044	10.9044	10.9044				
Eta	761.7708	761.7708	761.7708				
Gamma	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000				

• **Type:** The distribution type, which affects the distribution parameters. You can <u>change the distribution type</u> by clicking the **Distribution Type** link on the **Analysis Tasks** menu.

Change

• **Parameters:** The distribution parameters, which are determined by the distribution type. You can <u>change the distribution parameters</u> by clicking the **Change** link in the upper, right corner of this section.

Distribution Properties



• **Mean:** The average point of distribution. This value is calculated using parameters in the **Distribution Parameters** section, which vary depending on the distribution type. For example, the following formula is used to calculate the mean for a Weibull Distribution:

$$Mean = Eta \times Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{Beta})$$

- **Standard Deviation:** Indicates how tightly the datapoints are clustered around the mean in a set of failure data.
- Fit Method: The curve-fitting estimation method used to estimate the parameters for the distribution. The method of fit for a Distribution Analysis can be either Least Squares or Maximum Likelihood Estimators (MLE).

Goodness of Fit Results



- Test Name: The name of the fit test that was performed on the data.
- **Statistic:** A value that indicates how exact the fit is. Typically, the lower the number is, the better the fit.
- **P-Value:** A value that is calculated by the Meridium APM system. The P-value is interpreted as the probability that the test statistic is due to random error.

Typically, the higher the P-value, the more likely the model is appropriate and the more likely that the fit will pass the test.

Passed Goodness of Fit: A value of Yes or No that indicates if the fit test (listed next to the Test Name) was successful (the distribution fits the data based on the test performed). If the P-value is less than or equal to 1 minus the confidence level, the fit test has failed and you should reject the distribution at the chosen significance level. Otherwise, the fit is successful and you should accept the distribution at the chosen significance level.

Accessing the Time To Repair Distribution Page

To access the Time To Repair Distribution page:

• On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>, in the Time to Repair Distribution section, click the **Details** link.

The **Time To Repair Distribution** page appears.



Aspects of the Time To Repair Distribution Page

The following information is displayed on the **Time to Repair Distribution** page for the Time to Repair Distribution:

Distribution Parameters

Distribution Parameters					
Туре	Weibull	Change			
Beta	0.9494				
Eta	230.3154				
Gamma	0.0000				

- **Type:** The distribution type, which affects the distribution parameters. You can <u>change the distribution type</u> by clicking the **Distribution Type** link on the **Analysis Tasks** menu.
- **Parameters:** The distribution parameters, which are determined by the distribution type. You can <u>change the distribution parameters</u> by clicking the **Change** link in the upper, right corner of this section.

Distribution Properties



• **Mean:** The average point of distribution. This value is calculated using parameters in the **Distribution Parameters** section, which vary depending on the distribution type. For example, the following formula is used to calculate the mean for a Weibull Distribution:

$$Mean = Eta \times Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{Beta})$$

- **Standard Deviation:** The scatter (i.e., how tightly the datapoints are clustered around the mean).
- Fit Method: The curve-fitting estimation method used to estimate the parameters for the distribution. The method of fit for a Distribution Analysis can be either Least Squares or Maximum Likelihood Estimators(MLE).

Goodness of Fit Results



- Test Name: The name of the fit test that was performed on the data.
- **Statistic:** A value that indicates how exact the fit is. Typically, the lower the number is, the better the fit.
- P-Value: A value that is calculated by the Meridium APM system. The P-value is

interpreted as the probability that the test statistic is due to random error. Typically, the higher the P-value, the more likely the model is appropriate and the more likely that the fit will pass the test.

• Passed Goodness of Fit: A value of *Yes* or *No* that indicates if the fit test (listed next to the **Test Name**) was successful (the distribution fits the data based on the test performed). If the <u>P-value is less than or equal to 1 minus the confidence</u> <u>level</u>, the fit test has failed and you should reject the distribution at the chosen significance level. Otherwise, the fit is successful and you should accept the distribution at the chosen significance level.

Accessing the Failure History By Asset Timeline

If the data for an analysis contains failure dates for one or more pieces of equipment, you can view a timeline that shows when each failure occurred for each piece of equipment.

To access the Failure History By Asset Timeline:

• On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>, in the Failure Data section, click the **Details** link.

- - X Meridium APM Framework - Failure History By Asset - P-100 😻 Back + 🔅 Forward + 🏠 My Start Page + 🎉 New 🔎 Search 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🔞 Graph + 🍕 Dataset + 💷 Dashboard + Site Map: Reliability->Distribution->P-100->Time Line meridium 8.8 1 Failure History By Asset Reliability Analytics Plots ۲ Probability Analysis Period Start Date | Analysis Period End Date | Restart Failure O Censored 🔡 🛛 Failure Rate 🛤 PDF CDF P-100 Tools ۲ 11 PM Optimization Eailure Probability 12/3/2011 12/5/2002 12/5/2003 12/4/2004 12/4/2009 12/4/2006 12/4/2007 12/3/2009 12/3/2010 12/5/2000 12/5/200 12/3/200 alysis Tasks * Confidence Level Analysis Period 3 Time Units E Failure Type 6 View Data Source

The Failure History by Asset page appears.

Aspects of the Failure History By Asset Page

For each piece of equipment included in your analysis, the **Failure History by Asset** timeline shows when each failure occurred. The pieces of equipment are listed along the y-axis of the timeline. Dates are listed along the x-axis. The timeline is intended to illustrate the general distribution of failures over time for the pieces of equipment included in the analysis. It can also be used as a tool for identifying which pieces of equipment do not fit the normal failure distribution pattern. The timeline is not intended to provide specific information about failures and dates.

The range of dates displayed along the x-axis is determined by the failure dates that exist. The timeline will always include *all* failure dates, including those that occurred outside the <u>Analysis Period</u>. For example, in the following figure, the Analysis Period ends in February 1996, but failures that occurred after February 1996 are still shown on the timeline.



The start date of the analysis period is always designated on the timeline by a green line. If the start date is the same as the first failure date, the green mark will appear directly on the y-axis, as shown in the figure able. The end date of the analysis period is indicated on the timeline by a green line if it is set to a specific date. The end date is not shown on the timeline if you have selected the option I want to use today's date as the end date for this analysis.

About the Failure Data Window

The **Failure Data** window allows you to view the data associated with a Reliability Distribution Analysis. Most of the fields on the **Failure Data** window correspond to <u>values</u> that were used to create the analysis. For input fields:

- For an analysis based upon a query, the **Failure Data** window displays the information returned by the query.
- For an analysis based upon a dataset, the **Failure Data** window displays the information stored in the dataset.
- For an analysis based upon manually-entered data, the **Failure Data** window displays the information that you entered when you create the analysis.

Other fields show values that are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are readonly. All values in the **Failure Data** window are stored in the Failure Data field in the Production Analysis record.

You can modify certain values on this window in order to update data. In most cases, however, you would not want to change the data unless there was an error in the original data source. Some values are calculated by the Meridium APM system and cannot be modified.

0	🕞 Failure Data 💼 💷 💌									
Failures Assets										
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Failure D	TTF	Downtime	Ignore	Remarks	Censored	(Taxono	(Maintai
►	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	2/25/2001	0	126			✓	Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	5/18/2001	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/19/2001	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	9/3/2001	0	216	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/3/2002	0	54	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	4/16/2002	0	456	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/7/2002	0	0	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	8/1/2002	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/21/2003	689.45	20.4				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	3/21/2003	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	6/3/2003	0	244.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/27/2003	0	285.6	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/29/2003	0	72	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	11/11/2004	659.05	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	2/26/2005	0	144	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/5/2006	679	168				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/11/2007	0	162	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/25/2009	836	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
*	<u>view</u>	(none)								
	OK Cancel Help									

The following image shows an example of the Failure Data window.
Data Mapped to the Failure Data Window

When you create a Reliability Distribution Analysis from a query or dataset, the **Reliability Distribution Builder** will prompt you to map values from columns in the query or dataset to certain values in the Reliability Distribution Analysis. The values that you select to map on the **Select Failure Fields** and **Provide Information For Downtime** screens in the **Reliability Distribution Builder** will then appear in the associated columns in the **Failure Data** window.

Note: If the analysis is based on a query or a dataset and contains additional columns that are not mapped to columns in the analysis dataset, those columns will appear in the **Failure Data** window with the column name in parentheses.

The following chart displays which columns are mapped from fields in the **Reliability Distribution Builder** to columns in the **Failure Data** window:

Reliability Dis- tribution Builder Screen	Reliability Dis- tribution Builder Field	Failure Data Win- dow Tab	Failure Data Win- dow Column		
Select Failure Fields	Asset ID	Failures	Asset ID		
Select Failure Fields	Failure Date	Failures	Failure Date		
Provide Inform- ation for Down- time	Downtime Field	Failures	Downtime		
Select Failure Fields	Number of Fail- ures	Failures	Number of Fail- ures		
Select Failure Fields	Replacement?	Failures	Replaced		
Select Failure Fields	Installation Date	Assets	Installation Date		
Select Failure Fields	Number of Sub- components	Assets	Number of Sub- components		

Accessing the Failure Data for a Distribution Analysis

To view the failure data on the Failure Data window:

• On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **View Failure Data** link.

The Failure Data window appears.

👩 Failure D	🔁 Failure Data 📃 📼 💌								
Failures As	sets								
Datashe	et 🛛 Asset ID	Failure D	TTF	Downtime	Ignore	Remarks	Censored	(Taxono	(Maintai
▶ <u>view</u>	G0014-037	2/25/2001	0	126			✓	Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
view	G0014-037	5/18/2001	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
view	G0014-037	7/19/2001	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
view	G0014-037	9/3/2001	0	216	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
view	G0014-037	1/3/2002	0	54	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
view	G0014-037	4/16/2002	0	456	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
view	G0014-037	7/7/2002	0	0	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
view	G0014-037	8/1/2002	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	1/21/2003	689.45	20.4				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	3/21/2003	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	6/3/2003	0	244.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	7/27/2003	0	285.6	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	10/29/2003	0	72	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	11/11/2004	659.05	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	2/26/2005	0	144	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	10/5/2006	679	168				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
view	G0014-037	10/11/2007	0	162	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
view	G0014-037	1/25/2009	836	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
* <u>view</u>	(none)								
	OK Cancel Help								

The failure data is divided into two tabs: **Failures** and **Assets**. The <u>Failures tab</u> provides information about the failures. The <u>Assets tab</u> provides information about the pieces of equipment that are involved in the failures.

Aspects of the Failure Data for a Distribution Analysis

è	🔁 Failure Data 👘 📼									
Fa	ailures Assets									
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Failure D	TTF	Downtime	Ignore	Remarks	Censored	(Taxono	(Maintai
Þ	view	G0014-037	2/25/2001	0	126			✓	Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	5/18/2001	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/19/2001	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	9/3/2001	0	216	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/3/2002	0	54	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	4/16/2002	0	456	~			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/7/2002	0	0	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	8/1/2002	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/21/2003	689.45	20.4				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	3/21/2003	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	view	G0014-037	6/3/2003	0	244.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/27/2003	0	285.6	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/29/2003	0	72	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	11/11/2004	659.05	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	2/26/2005	0	144	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/5/2006	679	168				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	view	G0014-037	10/11/2007	0	162	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/25/2009	836	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
*	• <u>view</u>	(none)								
	OK Cancel Help									

CEHint: You can group, filter, and sort the data on the Failure Data window.

By default, the following information is provided for each failure belonging to a Reliability Distribution Analysis on the **Failures** tab of the **Failure Data** window:

- **Datasheet:** A link that displays the datasheet associated with the failure event. This column appears only when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- Asset ID: The ID of the piece of equipment that failed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset. For manually entered data, you can click the first cell in the column and select the Asset ID belonging to the piece of equipment that you added on the Assets tab or type the ID in the cell.
- **Failure Date:** The date on which the failure of the piece of equipment occurred. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis and is required.
- **TTF:** The Time to Failure is the duration of time from when the piece of equipment is placed into service until it fails. TTF may be expressed in terms of days, hours, cycles, units processed, etc. TTF values are calculated by the Meridium APM system based on the failure dates and are shown in gray to indicate that they are read-only.

- **Downtime:** The amount of corrective maintenance time for the piece of equipment after the failure occurs. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Ignore check box:** When selected, excludes the data in the associated row from the analysis calculations and plots. When cleared, includes the data in the associated row in the analysis calculations. You can modify this value manually.
- **Remarks:** Additional comments about the failure. You can enter a value in this column manually.
- **Censored check box:** A value that indicates whether or not the data point is *censored*, meaning the datapoint is excluded as a failure but included in the operating time of the piece of equipment. Select the check box if you want to <u>censor</u> the data in the selected row. When you create a Reliability Distribution Analysis using a query or dataset as the data source, the Meridium APM system automatically censors time values from the beginning of the Analysis Period to the first event and the time value from the last event to the end of the analysis. After the calculations for the analysis have been performed, each time that the query or dataset is refreshed, the censoring settings will be reset using the default criteria. Therefore, note that if you select a check box and refresh the page, the check boxes will no longer be selected.

Regardless of the data source you use, you can censor any failure data. Note that:

- For Maximum Likelihood Estimators (MLE), the maximum number of censored datapoints is one (1) less than the total number of datapoints.
- For Least Squares estimation, the maximum number of censored datapoints is two (2) less than the total number of datapoints.
- Number of Failures: The number of failed elements at each failure event. This column appears only when the failure type is Failures Without Replacements. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Replaced:** A value that indicates whether replacements were made following each equipment failure. A replacement causes the entire piece of equipment to be renewed, thus resetting calculation of the time to failure. This column appears only when the failure type is **Failures Without Replacements**. This value is mapped from a logical field in a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.

About the Asset Data for a Distribution Analysis

0	Failure Data							- • •
Fa	ilures Assets							
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Installati	Last Rep	Present	Future Age	Present	Future F
Þ	<u>view</u>	G0014-037		1/25/2009	0	0	0	0
*	<u>view</u>							
					(ОК	Cancel	Help

By default, the following information is provided on the **Assets** tab of the **Failure Data** window for each piece of equipment belonging to a Reliability Distribution Analysis:

- **Datasheet:** A link that displays the datasheet associated with the failure event. This column appears only when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- Asset ID: The ID of the piece of equipment that failed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis and is required.
- Installation Date: The date on which the piece of equipment was installed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis and is optional.
- Last Replacement: The last date on which the failed piece of equipment was replaced. This field is calculated by the Meridium APM system and values are read-only.
- Number of Subcomponents: This field is displayed on the grid only when the failure type is Failures Without Replacements. A piece of equipment can contain multiple subcomponents, such as tubes in a heat exchanger bundle. The Number of

Subcomponents column contains the number of subcomponents contained by the piece of equipment that is selected in the **Asset ID** column. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.

- **Present Age:** The current age of the piece of equipment. This field is calculated by the Meridium APM system and values are read-only.
- **Future Age:** The future age of the piece of equipment. This field is calculated by the Meridium APM system by adding the specified operating time to the current age of the piece of equipment. Values in this field are read-only.
- **Present Failure Probability:** The current probability of failure for each piece of equipment. This field is calculated by the Meridium APM system based on the present age of the piece of equipment and is read-only.
- Future Failure Probability: The future probability of equipment failure. This field is calculated by the Meridium APM system using the specified operating time. Values in this field are read-only.

Note that you can <u>specify the future time to calculate the future probability of fail-</u><u>ure</u>.

Working with PM Optimization

Preventative Maintenance (PM) Optimization uses the results of a Distribution Analysis to measure the optimum time to perform a Planned (Restorative) Maintenance (PM) procedure on a piece of equipment. PM Optimization does not calculate minor maintenance schedules, but determines the optimal time to perform major repairs or replace a piece of equipment to there is a minimal amount of cost and risk. PM Optimization is only valid for *wear-out* failure modes and will not give accurate results for a Weibull analysis where Beta is less than 1.

A PM Optimization is composed of the following steps:

- 1. The calculation model is configured to acquire the necessary parameters, including Mean Time Between Failures (MTBF). MTBF is used to determine the probability that a piece of equipment will fail.
- 2. The cost ratio is determined. This ratio is the cost of planned Preventative Maintenance (PM) events versus the cost of unplanned maintenance events. You can manually enter the cost or select an existing query as the source of the cost data.
- 3. Based upon the MTBF and the calculation of the ratios, the Meridium APM system estimates the optimum time (interval) to maintain equipment. The cost per piece of equipment based on the Optimized Preventative Maintenance Interval is also displayed.
- 4. The Meridium APM system creates optimization graphs, which gives the analyst the optimum time to conduct a repair or overhaul based upon the ratio of planned to unplanned repair costs. This ensures that repairs are conducted in a cost-effective manner, minimizing risk while maximizing time in service.

The limitation to using a PM Optimization is it will always give a result for the statistical distribution on which it is based. This does not mean that it will always make sense to do a PM at the interval specified. In particular, design flaws that manifest themselves as poor reliability can more effectively be addressed through redesign rather than PM.

Performing a Preventive Maintenance Optimization

A <u>PM Optimization</u> involves several steps. Based upon the MTBF and the calculation of the ratios, the system estimates the optimum time interval to maintain equipment.

Note: This option is available only if **Failures With Replacements** was selected as the failure type via the **Reliability Distribution Analysis Builder**or the **Failure Type** dialog box. PM Optimization is not available when Beta is less than or equal to one (Beta <= 1).

To perform a PM Optimization:

1. From the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>, on the **Tools** menu, click the **PM Optimization** link.

The Preventative Maintenance Optimization dialog box appears.

Preventive Maintenance C	ptimization
Enter Mainter	ance Costs
My planned cost is:	Query
My unplanned cost is:	Query
My currency UOM is:	
	OK Cancel Help

Note: If a PM Optimization has been performed previously, the **Preventive Maintenance Optimization** dialog box displays the results of the previous calculation.

2. Enter the planned maintenance cost and the unplanned maintenance cost. You can manually enter the cost or you can select a query and use it to populate a cost box.

To select an existing query stored in the catalog that contains the data that you want to use to populate a cost field:

a. Click the **Query** button located next to the cost box.

The **Find Query** dialog box appears.

b. Navigate to the desired query and select it.

Note: If you attempt to select a query that does not have any numeric fields, you will receive an error message.

The cost box on the **Preventive Maintenance Optimization** dialog box is populated with the name of the query you selected.

- 3. If desired, repeat steps a and b to select a query for the second cost field.
- 4. If desired, specify a currency UOM in the **My currency UOM is** text box to display values in a currency *other than* the default UOM.
- 5. Click **OK** to perform the calculations for the first time or to recalculate the PM Optimization to include the new data you just entered.

The system validates the data, and the **Preventive Maintenance Optimization** page displays the <u>results</u>.

Section APM Framework - Preventi	ve Maintenance Optimization - Baseline Analysis from 3.0.2
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp	
😵 Back 👻 🍥 Forward 👻 🏠 My Star	t Page 👻 🕅 New 🔎 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🕼 Graph + 🧐 Dataset + 🔚 Dashboard +
Site Map	Reliability->Distribution->Baseline Analysis from 3.0.2->PM Optimization
meriaium Pr	eventive Maintenance Optimization
Reliability Analytics	
Preven	tive Maintenance Parameters
Planned Drahability Unplan	/ Cost: \$1000.00 Change ned Cost: \$3000.00
Failure Rate Using t	his interval your maintenance cost is estimated at \$16.67 per Day for each asset.
PDF Your or	timel proventive maintenance in 09 E1 Dave
	rama preventive manifematice is 50.51 Days.
	Optimal PM
Tools 😵 390.	00 -
■ PM Optimization = 360.	00 -
Failure Probability 330.	- 00
Analysis Tasks 😵	- 00
Confidence Level	- 00
Analysis Period	
Time Units	00 Pianneo - Unplanned
Failure Type	Optimal Value
View Data Source	
Reload Data 90.0	
View Failure Data 60.0	
Generate Report 30.0	- 04
View Analysis List	
View Recommen	0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200 220 240 260 280 Time (Days)

Aspects of the Preventive Maintenance Optimization Page

Site Map:Re	eliability->Dist	ribution->A	iqa pm c	optimizatio	n Baseline	Calculatio	on Test->P	M Optimiz	ation							
Pre	ventiv	e Mair	ntena	ince (Optin	nizati	on									
Preventiv	ve Mainter	ance Par	ameters	;												
Planned C	ost:		\$1.00													Change
Unplanned	d Cost:		\$10.00													
Using this	interval your	maintenano	te cost is	estimated	at \$0.10 p	per Day to	r each asse	et.								
Your optim	nal preventive	maintenan	ce is 41.0	5 Days.												
							Optima	al PM								
0.40															_	
0.38 -																
0.36 -																
0.34 -																
0.32 -																
0.30 -																
0.28 -																
0.26 -																
କ୍ଥ 0.24 -																T -4-1
l ∛ 0.22 -																- lotai - Planned
e 0.20 -																
50.18 - 18 -																Optimal Value
^о 0.16 -																
0.14 -																
0.12 -																
0.10 -		-														
0.08 -																
0.06 -	X															
0.04 -	$/$ \setminus															
0.02 -																
0.00 () N	20	40	60	80	100	120	140	160	180	200	220	240	260	280	300	
	20	10	00	00	100	120	Time (I	Days)	100	200	220	210	200	200	000	

The following information appears on the **Preventive Maintenance Optimization** results screen:

- Planned Cost: The planned maintenance cost you entered on the Preventative Maintenance Optimization dialog box.
- Unplanned Cost: The unplanned maintenance cost you entered on the Preventative Maintenance Optimization dialog box.
- **Optimal Preventative Maintenance Interval:** The optimum interval during which you should perform maintenance on the piece of equipment you are analyzing.
- Estimated Maintenance Cost: The estimated maintenance cost per day for each piece of equipment during the optimal PM interval.
- Optimal Value inflection point: A value identified on the total cost curve.

About Failure Probability Calculations

The Meridium APM system can perform calculations on the data used in a Reliability Distribution Analysis to estimate how likely it is that a piece of equipment will fail today. Then, using future values that you supply, the Meridium APM system can calculate how likely it is that a piece of equipment will fail at some point in the future.

- The *current* failure probability is based on the current age of the piece of equipment, which is the amount of time that has passed between the last replacement date (i.e., the last failure date) and the End Date of the <u>Analysis Period</u>.
- Two options are available for calculating *future* failure probability calculations:
 - You can <u>specify an operating time</u> to define a future age for the piece of equipment, and then the Meridium APM system will determine how likely it is that a piece of equipment will fail when it has reached that age.
 - You can <u>specify a failure probability</u>, and the Meridium APM system will determine the age at which the piece of equipment will reach that likelihood of failing.

Failure probability calculations can be performed on the <u>Probability of Equipment Failure page</u>. Probability of failure can be calculated for all Distribution models. The Meridium APM system uses the following formula to determine failure probability:

$$P(t1|t0) = 1 - \frac{(1 - D(t1))^n}{(1 - D(t0))^n}$$

Where:

- *P(t1|t0)* is the failure probability at any given time assuming that the equipment has not yet failed at the current age. If you <u>specify a failure probability</u>, the Meridium APM system will use this value to calculate the future age of the equipment.
- *D(t)* is the cumulative distribution function, or the failure probability at time *t* for a new piece of equipment. The curve in the <u>CDF plot</u> represents this function.
- *t0* is the current age of the piece of equipment.
- *t1* is the future age of the piece of equipment. If you specify an operating time, this value is determined by adding the <u>that time</u> to the current age of the piece of equipment, and the resulting value is then used to calculate the failure probability.
- *n* is the number of subcomponents the piece of equipment contains (e.g., tubes in a heat exchanger bundle). If the failure type of the Reliability Distribution Analysis is *Failure with replacement*, the number of subcomponents is 1. If the failure type is *Failure without replacement*, this value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the Reliability Distribution Analysis. The number of subcomponents appears in the Number of Subcomponents column on the Assets tab of the Failure Data window.

Accessing the Failure Data for an Existing Analysis

When you access the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page for an analysis for the first time, the system will require you to specify an operating time that will be used for performing calculations. The operating time that you specify will be added to the Analysis Period to determine Future Age for which to calculate the probability of failure. After you access the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page, you will have the option of <u>changing the operating time or specifying a future probability</u>.

The following instructions assume that you are accessing the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page for a new analysis *for the first time*. If you have accessed the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page previously, you will not be prompted to supply an operating time, as described in the instructions. Instead, the <u>Probability of Equipment Failure</u> <u>page</u> will appear immediately after you click the **Failure Probability** link and will display the results of the last calculation.

To access the Probability of Equipment Failure page for an analysis:

1. On the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>, on the **Tools** menu, click the **Failure Probability** link.

The Failure Probability Calculation dialog box appears.

Failure Probability Calculation						
Enter Future Age						
Operating Time: Days						
OK Cancel Help						

2. In the **Operating Time** text box, type a value that indicates the desired operating time. The value that you specify here will be added to the Present Age of the piece of equipment to determine the Future Age for calculating the failure probability. For example, if the Present Age of the piece of equipment is 365 days, if you specify an operating time of 365 days, Meridium APM will determine how likely it is that the piece of equipment will fail when it has reached an age of 730 days, or two years.

Note: The unit of time corresponds to the <u>Time Units</u> that you have defined for the Operating Time in the analysis.

3. Click OK.

The system performs calculations and displays them on the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page.

😵 Me	Meridium APM Framework - Probability of Equipment Failure - P-100										
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> o	<u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp									
🎯 B	😻 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🍷 🎽 New 🔎 Search 🚞 Catalog 🐌 Query 📲 Report 🕫 Graph 🗸 🍕 Dataset 🛛 🔚 Dashboard 🗸										
	Site Map: <u>Reliability->Distribution->P-100</u> ->Failure Probability										
m	neridium 📊										
Rel	liability Analytic	5		Probability	y of Equipm	ent Failure	9				
DL L											
Plots	s 😵		Constitued On King								
	Probability		Specified Option	1: Ope	F 00 Dave						
	Failure Rate		value:	30	55.00 Days						
	PDF CDE	=	Asset ID	Installation Date	Last Replacement	Present Age	Future Age	Present Failure Probability	Euture Failure Probability		
623	CDI			Instantion parce	Labertepiscement		- darenge				
Tool	s 😵		▶ P-100	1/1/2000	7/27/2001	3878.66671474856	4243.66671474856	99.9999935960386	73.7278951029573		
	PM Optimization										
	Failure Probability										
	Specify Time										
	Specify Probability										
0	kusia Taraha 🛛 🔗										
Anal											
	Confidence Level										
9	Analysis Period								Develophete		
9	Time Units	-							Recalculate		

Aspects of the Probability of Equipment Failure Page

The **Probability of Equipment Failure** page displays the probability of equipment failure, which is calculated by the system using the Future Age that you specify and the information available for the Distribution Analysis. The upper portion of the window displays two values, as shown in the following image.

Specified Option:	Operating Time
Value:	100.00 Days

- Specified Option: Indicates the selected option, either Operating Time or Future Probability.
- Value: Displays the value that you specified on the Failure Probability Calculation dialog box for the Specified Option.

Below these two values, a grid appears, displaying the following columns of information.

	Asset ID	Installation Date	Last Replacement	Present Age	Future Age	Present Failure Probability	Future Failure Probability	Δ
	Baseline-101	1/1/1990	1/24/1999	4383.58304398148	4483.58304398148	100		100
Γ	Asset-202	1/1/2000	11/27/2000	3710.58304398148	3810.58304398148	100		100
Γ	HX-123	1/1/2003	8/27/2003	2707.58304398148	2807.58304398148	100		100

- Asset ID: The Asset ID for each piece of equipment included in the analysis.
- **Installation Date:** The initial date that the piece of equipment was installed.
- Last Replacement: The date the piece of equipment last failed and, as a result, was replaced.
- Present Age: The current age of the piece of equipment. The value in the Present Age column represents the amount of time between the date in the Last Replacement column and the end date of the <u>Analysis Period</u>, expressed in the <u>Time Units</u> selected for the analysis.
- Future Age: The age that is used for determining the value in the Future Failure Probability column. The value in the Future Age column is determined by adding the <u>Operating Time you specified</u> to the Present Age of the piece of equipment.
- **Present Failure Probability:** The current probability of failure for each piece of equipment based on the present age of the piece of equipment.
- Future Failure Probability: The probability that the piece of equipment will fail between the present time and the value in the Future Age column. The Future Failure Probability is based on the assumption that at the Present Age the piece of equipment has not failed.

A **Recalculate** button appears below the grid in the bottom, right corner of the page. You can click this button to recalculate values in the grid based on changes you make to any editable field. Note that when you <u>change the Time Units</u>, <u>change the operating time</u> via the **Failure Probability Calculation** dialog box, or <u>change the probability</u> via the **Failure Probability Calculation** dialog box, the values in the grid are recalculated automatically.

Note: Since pieces of equipment contain multiple sub-elements, probability of failure calculations will be affected when the failure type is *Failures Without Replacements*.

Calculating the Probability of Failure at a Specified Age

After you have <u>accessed the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page</u>, you can change the operating time to modify the Future Age and then recalculate the future probability of failure based on those changes.

Note: The following instructions provide details on changing the Future Age for *all* equipment in the analysis. You can recalculate failure probability for one or more pieces of equipment individually by modifying the Future Age in the grid and then clicking the **Update** button.

To change the future age and recalculate the future probability of failure:

1. On the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page, on the **Tools** menu, click the **Specify Time** link.

The **Failure Probability Calculation** dialog box appears. The **Operating Time** field displays the value that was last used to perform the calculation. The unit of time corresponds to the <u>Time Units</u> that you have defined for the Operating Time in the analysis. The Operating Time that you specify is how much time that will be added to the Present Age in order to determine the Future Age for which the failure probability will be calculated.

Failure Probability Calculation					
Enter Future Age					
Operating Time: 365 Days					
OK Cancel Help					

- 2. Modify the value in the **Operating Time** text box. For example, if you want to calculate the failure probability of a piece of equipment when it is two years older than its Present Age, you would set the operating time to **2 years**.
- 3. Click OK.

The system recalculates the future probability of failure values and displays them for each piece of equipment in the grid on the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page.

Calculating the Age When a Certain Probability of Failure will be Reached

After you have <u>accessed the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page</u>, you can choose a specific probability of failure, and the system will calculate the future age at which that probability of failure will be reached.

Note: The following instructions provide details on changing the failure probability for *all* equipment in the analysis. You can recalculate failure probability for one or more pieces of equipment individually by modifying the probability in the grid and then clicking the **Update** button.

To calculate the future age when the specified probability will be reached:

1. On the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page, on the **Tools** menu, click the **Specify Probability** link.

Failure Probability Calculation		
Enter Probability of Failure		
Probability of Failure:	0 %	
	OK Cancel Help	

The Failure Probability Calculation dialog box appears.

- 2. In the **Probability of Failure** text box, type a value that represents the desired probability of failure. For example, type **50** to calculate the age at which a piece of equipment has a 50 percent chance of failing.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The system recalculates the future probability of failure values and displays them for each piece of equipment in the grid on the **Probability of Equipment Failure** page.

Note: When using the **Failures Without Replacements** failure type, *Present Failure Probability* and *Future Failure Probability* will only be calculated for pieces of equipment that have a value greater than zero defined for the number of sub-elements. A value of 1 is assumed for the number of sub-elements for each piece of equipment when using the **Failures With Replacement** failure type.

About the Distribution Analysis Plots



On the <u>Plots menu</u> on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page, you can view any of the following plots by clicking the associating link:

- Probability Plot
- Failure Rate Plot
- PDF Plot
- CDF Plot

Note that when you view any of the plots, Meridium APM displays automatically-censored datapoints that represent the analysis End Dates for the defined piece of equipment.

While viewing any of the plots, you can:

- Click any datapoint to view the failure data.
- <u>Censor a datapoint</u> by right-clicking it and then clicking **Censored**.
- Customize the appearance of the plot by using standard graph features.
- Pause on the distribution plot line to view summary details about the Distribution Analysis, including the type of distribution and the distribution parameters. The value of R2 is also listed. This value indicates the strength of a linear model. R² measures how closely the points fall to the least squares line, providing an indication of how confident one can be of predictions made with the line.

Probability Plot

The Probability plot is a log-log with data overlay and confidence limits. It displays the probability (expressed as a percentage) that a failure will occur over a certain time period (CDF Occurrence % vs. time). CDF Occurrence % used here is numerically equal to the value from the cumulative distribution. Time used here refers to life data, not Calendar data.



The Probability plot provides the same data as the <u>CDF plot</u>, just represented in a loglog format. It reflects the standard technique for representing Weibull Distribution. Loglog format Data overlay gives a visual estimate of goodness of fit. Data overlay also gives clues to the presence of multiple failure modes. If a single or multiple inflection points exist in the data, then there is a possibility of multiple failure modes.

Note: If you selected to use a <u>Confidence Level</u>, confidence intervals are included in the analysis calculations and the upper and lower limits appear on the plot.

Failure Rate Plot

The Failure Rate plot shows the instantaneous failure rate of the population.

- If the function is increasing, the equipment is wearing out.
- If the function is decreasing, the equipment is subject to infant mortality.



PDF Plot

The Probability Density Function (PDF) plot is a log-log plot that counts the number of failures between certain time periods, creating a curve that estimates how many failures you can expect to occur at a given number of time units. This plot shows Probability vs. time. The term *Probability* is used here to describe the percent of the population that failed at the particular value of time (t). A PDF plot helps you to answer a question such as, "What is the chance of a member of the population failing at exactly the time in question?"



PDF shows the curve fit of the data. It answers the question, "Based on the curve fit, what is the probability that failure will occur below or above a certain value?" The chart is a graphical representation of the data. It shows the variance or spread of the data, but it is not used often for analysis.

CDF Plot

The Cumulative Distribution Function (CDF) Plot shows the probability of a piece of equipment failing over time, as shown in the following figure. The dotted line illustrates that at a given time, you can determine the probability of failure or unreliability.



Here, the term *Probability* is used in this instance to describe the percent of the total population that will fail by time (t). *Time* used here refers to life data, not Calendar data. The plot type is lin-lin with data overlay and confidence limits.

The reliability of a piece of equipment can be evaluated by subtracting the Probability of Failure from 1 (R = 1-P). The Probability of Failure Plot shows the probability that the unit will survive up to a given age. The Failure Rate Plot displays the Failure Rate for a given system based on the System Reliability calculations.

Cumulative Distribution Plot answers the question, "What is the probability of failure at time(t)?" The CDF curve is the area under the PDF curve. The CDF accumulates all probability of failure up to the point in time in question. Since the number of failures increases with increasing time, the slope of the curve is always positive, always increasing.

In addition, you can select one or more Reliability Distribution Analyses from the list of analyses and generate a composite plot in order to compare the competing failure modes. Competing failure modes occur when the failure pattern, due to one type of fault, dominates the survivor population from another type of fault. If the failure patterns overlap like this, then they are said to be competing failure modes.

Note: If you selected to use a <u>Confidence Level</u>, confidence intervals are included in the analysis calculations and the upper and lower limits appear on the plot.

Overview of the Reliability Distribution Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the Reliability Distribution Report, which you can use to view a summary of the results of a Reliability Distribution Analysis. When you run the Reliability Distribution Report, it will appear on the **Report Viewer** page.

The Reliability Distribution Report is built from the following Catalog items:

- The main report, *DistributionAnalysisReport*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\SSRS.
- The subreport, *SubreportDistributionAnalysis*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *assetSubreportDistribution*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The supporting queries that supply data in the main report and subreports, which are stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports. The following supporting queries are available:
 - ReliabilityDistributionQuery
 - ReliabilityDistributionTTR
 - ReliabilityExponentialTTF
 - ReliabilityExponentialTTR
 - ReliabilityLognormalTTF
 - ReliabilityLognormalTTR
 - ReliabilityNormalTTF
 - *ReliabilityNormalTTR*
 - ReliabilityWeibullTTF
 - ReliabilityWeibullTTR

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreports, and the supporting queries collectively as the *Reliability Distribution Report*.

The Probability Distribution Report contains the following sections:

- Analysis Summary
- Statistical Distribution Information
- Assets
- Failure Data
- Plots

Running the Reliability Distribution Report

To run the Reliability Distribution Report:

1. While viewing the desired Reliability Distribution Analysis on any page, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Generate Report** link.

The **Report Options** dialog box appears. The following image shows what the **Report Options** dialog box looks like by default.

Report Options		
Select Elements to Include in the Report		
☑ Cover Page	☑ TTF Distribution Plots	
Analysis Summary	✓ Probability	
Statistical Distribution Information	☑ Failure Rate	
☑ Assets	Probability Density Function	
Failure Data	Cumulative Distribution Function	
	OK Cancel Help	

Select the desired elements to be included in the report, and click OK.
 The Reliability Distribution Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.



Analysis Summary Section

The **Analysis Summary** section of the Reliability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in the Reliability Distribution record and Distribution records that are linked to the Reliability Distribution record.

Analysis Summary	
Analysis Name:	1041828 Exchanger U-Bend - Internal Tubes
Analysis Description:	1041828 Exchanger U-Bend Distribution Analysis
Analysis Start:	3/3/2005 4:48:00 AM
Analysis End:	8/15/2012 10:27:58 AM
Number of Assets:	1
Number of Failures:	3
Censored Failures:	1
MTBF:	1,648.41 Days
MTTR:	5.00 Days
Use Confidence:	False
Confidence Level:	
Last Modified:	10/29/2009
Modified By:	Demo, Joe

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Summary** section and the corresponding Reliability Distribution or Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Reliability Dis- tribution or Dis- tribution record	Record Field	Notes
Analysis Name	Reliability Dis- tribution	Analysis ID	None
Analysis Descrip- tion	Reliability Dis- tribution	Short Description	None
Analysis Start	Reliability Dis- tribution	Analysis Start Date	None

Report Item	Reliability Dis- tribution or Dis- tribution record	Record Field	Notes
Analysis End	Reliability Dis- tribution	Analysis End Date	None
Number of Assets	Reliability Dis- tribution	Assets	None
Number of Fail- ures	Reliability Dis- tribution	Number of Fail- ures	None
Censored Failures	Reliability Dis- tribution	Censored Failures	None
MTBF	Reliability Dis- tribution	MTBF	None
MTTR	Reliability Dis- tribution	MTTR	None
Use Confidence	Reliability Dis- tribution	Use Confidence	None
Confidence Level	Distribution	Confidence Level	None
Last Modified	Reliability Dis- tribution	LAST_UPDT_DT	None
Modified By	Reliability Dis- tribution	LAST_UPBY_SEUS_ KEY	The name of the Security User asso- ciated with this value is displayed in the report.

Statistical Distribution Information Section

The **Statistical Distribution Information** section of the Reliability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in each Distribution record that is linked to the Reliability Distribution record. Each Distribution record is a member of one of four Distribution subfamilies in which records can exist: Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull. The following image displays the statistical distribution information for a Weibull record.

Distribution Type:	Weibull			
Operating Time Units:	Days			
Fit Method:	Least Squares			
R ² :	1.00			
Mean:	1648.41	1648.41		
Standard Deviation:	1929.37			
Median:	993.69			
arameters				
arameters Name	Value	Low	High	Calculated
arameters Name Beta	Value 0.86	Low 0.86	High 0.86	Calculated Yes
arameters Name Beta Eta	Value 0.86 1523.52	Low 0.86 1523.52	High 0.86 1523.52	Calculated Yes Yes
arameters Name Beta Eta Gamma	Value 0.86 1523.52 0.00	Low 0.86 1523.52 0.00	High 0.86 1523.52 0.00	Calculated Yes Yes No
arameters Name Beta Eta Gamma podness of Fit Test	Value 0.86 1523.52 0.00	Low 0.86 1523.52 0.00	High 0.86 1523.52 0.00	Calculated Yes Yes No
arameters Name Beta Eta Gamma oodness of Fit Test Name	Value 0.86 1523.52 0.00 Statistic	Low 0.86 1523.52 0.00 P-Value	High 0.86 1523.52 0.00 Passed	Calculated Yes Yes No

The following subsections are displayed for *each* Distribution record that is linked to the Reliability Distribution:

- Distribution
- Parameters
- Goodness of Fit

Distribution Subsection

The **Statistical Distribution Information** section contains the **<Variable>Distribution** subsection, where **<Variable>** is the value that is stored in the Variable field in the Distribution record that is linked to the Reliability Distribution record. Throughout the documentation, we will refer to this subsection as the **Distribution** subsection.

Time To Failure Distribution	
Distribution Type:	Weibull
Operating Time Units:	Days
Fit Method:	Least Squares
R ² :	1.00
Mean:	1648.41
Standard Deviation:	1929.37
Median:	993.69

The following table lists each item in the **Distribution**subsection and the corresponding Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Distribution Field
Distribution Type	Distribution Type
Operating Time Units	Units
Fit Method	Fit Method
R ²	R-Squared
Mean	Mean
Standard Deviation	Standard Deviation
Median	Median

Parameters Subsection

The **Statistical Distribution** section contains the **Parameters** subsection, which contains information stored in a Distribution record (i.e., Weibull, Lognormal, Exponential, or Normal record). The Weibull, Lognormal, Exponential, or Normal record is linked to the Reliability Distribution record. The items that appear in the **Parameters** subsection will be different, depending on the type of Distribution record. The following image displays an example of the **Parameters** subsection for a Weibull record.

Parameters

Name	Value	Low	High	Calculated
Beta	0.86	0.86	0.86	Yes
Eta	1523.52	1523.52	1523.52	Yes
Gamma	0.00	0.00	0.00	No

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters**subsection for a Weibull record whose data is displayed in the report. For a Weibull record, one row is displayed for each of the following field captions: Beta, Eta, and Gamma.

Report Item	Weibull Field
Beta	
Value	Beta
Low	Beta Low
High	Beta High
Calculated	Beta Fixed
Eta	
Value	Eta
Low	Eta Low
High	Eta High
Calculated	Eta Fixed
Gamma	
Value	Gamma
Low	Gamma Low
High	Gamma High
Calculated	Gamma Fixed

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for a Lognormal record whose data is displayed in the report. For a Lognormal record, one row is displayed for each of the following field captions: Mu, Sigma, and Gamma.

Report Item	Lognormal Field
Mu	
Value	Mu
Low	Mu Low
High	Mu High
Calculated	Mu Fixed
Sigma	
Value	Sigma
Low	Sigma Low
High	Sigma High
Calculated	Sigma Fixed
Gamma	
Value	Gamma
Low	Gamma Low
High	Gamma High
Calculated	Gamma Fixed

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for an Exponential record whose data is displayed in the report. For an Exponential record, one row is displayed for the field caption MTBF.

Report Item	Exponential Field
MTBF	
Value	MTBF
Low	MTBF Low
High	MTBF High
Calculated	MTBF Fixed

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for a Normal record whose data is displayed in the report. For a Normal record, one row is displayed for each of the following field captions: Mean, Standard Deviation.

Report Item	Normal Field	
Mean		
Value	Mean	
Low	Mean Low	
High	Mean High	
Calculated	Fix Mean	
Standard Deviation		
Value	Standard Deviation	
Low	Standard Deviation Low	
High	Standard Deviation High	
Calculated	Fix Standard Deviation	

Goodness of Fit Subsection

The **Statistical Distribution Information** section contains the **Goodness of Fit Test** subsection, which displays information from the corresponding Distribution record.

Goodness of Fit Test

Name	Statistic	P-Value	Passed
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test	0.03	0.00	True

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test is the only test used to measure goodness of fit, so the **Name** column in the report is populated automatically with the value *Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test*. The following table lists each remaining item in the **Goodness of Fit Test** subsection and the corresponding Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Distribution Field
Statistic	GOF Statistic
P-Value	GOF P-Value
Passed	Passed
Assets Section

The **Assets** section of the Reliability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in the Failure Data field in the Reliability Distribution record.

ts						
Asset ID	Installation Date	Last Replacement	Present Age	Future Age	Present Future Probability	Future Failure Probability
00000000 00010418 28		11/30/2007	697.69	1062.69	40.06%	19.94%

The following values are displayed in the **Assets** section, and they are stored in the Failure Data field in the Reliability Distribution record:

- Asset ID
- Installation Date
- Last Replacement
- Present Age
- Future Age
- Present Future Probability
- Future Failure Probability

Failure Data Section

The **Failure Data** section of the Reliability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in the Failure Data field in the Reliability Distribution record.

Failure Data

Asset ID	Failure Date	TTF	Downtime	Ignore	Censored	Remarks
00000000 00010418 28						
	4/24/1998	0	6	False	True	
	3/3/2005 4:48:00 AM	2499.2	2.4	False	False	
	5/3/2007 7:12:00 PM	789.2	4.8	False	False	
	11/30/2007	205.4	6	False	False	

The following values are displayed in the **Failure Data** section, and they are stored in the Failure Data field in the Reliability Distribution record:

- Asset ID
- Failure Date
- TTF
- Downtime
- Ignore
- Censored
- Remarks

Plots Section

The **Plots** section of the Reliability Distribution Report displays the graphs that are displayed on the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u> or accessed via the **Plots** menu on the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>. The following image shows an example of the Probability Plot.



The **Plots** section displays the following graphs:

- Probability Plot
- Failure Rate Plot
- <u>Probability Density Function Plot</u>
- <u>Cumulative Distribution Function Plot</u>

What are the Results of a Reliability Distribution Analysis?

After you have created a Reliability Distribution Analysis, the following options are available:

- Analysis results can include confidence intervals and parameters for the selected Distribution and goodness of fit measures.
- Distribution fitting can be done by Least Squares or Maximum Likelihood (MLE).
- The four different types of Reliability plots (Probability of Failure, Failure Rate, Probability Density Function, and Cumulative Distribution Function) can be displayed. In addition, you can select between 2 and 10 Distribution analyses and choose to view and compare all four of the plot types for the selected analyses using the Competing Failure Plots feature.
- Reliability Distribution Analyses can support Failures without Replacement, which are needed to calculate reliability for heat exchangers, boiler tubes, piping, and other pieces of equipment where a repair does not necessarily involve changing the whole unit.
- The Preventive Maintenance Optimization calculator can utilize the results of the Distribution analysis and allow you to input the estimated costs of an unplanned repair versus a planned repair. Based on the MTBF and the ratio of unplanned cost to planned cost, the system calculates the optimal time to maintain equipment.
- A Failure Probability calculator can utilize the results of a Distribution Analysis; based upon MTBF, Beta, and the last Failure Date, the system calculates the probability of equipment failure at the time in the future that you specify. The system also provides the capability to calculate future life based upon a failure probability that the user specifies.
- Based on the analysis results, you can generate recommendations for the maintenance and reliability activities that should be executed in the future to maintain best practices in your organization.

Time to Failure

The most important piece of data for distributions is Time to Failure (TTF), which is also sometimes known as Time to Event (TTE) or Time Between Failures (TBF).

Suppose that you have the following timeline, where each number represents the amount of time that passes between failures.

Installation	5	11	23	38	16	22	44	32	Out of Service
--------------	---	----	----	----	----	----	----	----	----------------

You could fit a Weibull Distribution to this data. A Probability Density Function (PDF) is similar to a histogram of the raw TTF data:



The distribution shows:

- One failure occurring between time 0 & 10.
- Two failures occurring between time 11 & 20.
- Three failures occurring between time 21 & 30.
- Two failures occurring between time 31 & 40.
- One failure occurring between time 41 & 50 (Out of service).

This type of graph counts the number of failures between certain periods. This creates a curve, which you can examine and ask: At 15 time units, how many failures can I expect to have? The answer: Between two and three failures. You are distributing the failures over the life of the equipment so that at any given point in that life, you can calculate the probability that the equipment will fail. This calculation is generated based on the area under the curve, as shown in the previous graphic. In practice, the PDF is adjusted in such a way that the area under the curve is exactly one, and the number on the y-axis represents the number of failures per time unit.

You select your historical data: other pieces of equipment by the same manufacturer, other pieces of equipment in the same location, other pieces of equipment of the same type, etc. For example, suppose that you want to buy a new pump. You could perform a Distribution Analysis on the other pumps of the same model to predict the reliability of the new pump.

What is a Probability Distribution Analysis?

Based on a query, dataset, or data that you manually enter, you can pull in an independent variable to generate a Probability Distribution analysis. This type of analysis allows you to describe the Time to Failure (TTF) as a statistical distribution, which usually is characterized by a specific pattern. Meridium APM Reliability supports four Distribution types: <u>Weibull</u>, <u>Normal</u>, <u>Lognormal</u>, and <u>Exponential</u>.

Data Used in a Probability Distribution Analysis

The following table shows the typical data required for building and analyzing Reliability Distribution documents in Meridium APM.

Data Needed	Description	Notes
Value	Select the field that con- tains the value you want to analyze.	Select a numeric field. This is a required field.
Censored	If desired, select a field provides censoring information. Select the field from the data source that contains a value that indicates cen- sored values, i.e. not included in the Prob- ability Distribution ana- lysis calculations.	Select a logical field. This field is optional.
Random Variable	If the data source is a query, the name of the random variable and the units of measure will be pre-populated based on the selection you made in the Value field on the pre- vious screen. If you selec- ted a different data source, type the name of the random variable in the Random Variable field and the units of measure for the random variable in the Units field.	This field is optional.
Units	Select the units of meas- ure for the random vari- able.	This field is optional.

Accessing the List of Probability Distribution Analyses

To load a list of existing Probability Distribution Analyses:

• On the Reliability Start Screen, click the Probability Distribution link.

The **Probability Distribution List** page appears.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Probability Distribution List 📃 💷 📧			
<u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	<u>H</u> elp		
ack 👻 🏐 Forward 👻 🦿	My Start Page 👻 🐞 New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catal	og 🔞 Query 🔹 🛅 Report 🛛 🕼 Graph 🕶 🍕 Dataset 🕶 Dashboard 🕶	
	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Probability Distribution</u>		
eridium			
iability Analytics	🛂 Select a Probabili	ty Distribution Analysis from the List	
×.			
Probability	Published Analyses Any (%)	Run Query	
PDF	Last Updated By Administrator, Meridium	*	
CDF			
mon Tasks 🛛 😻			
New Analysis	Analysis ID 🛆 🛛 Last Updated 🛛 Updated By		
Open Analysis			
Save Analysis			
Save Analysis As			
Publish Analyses			
Delete Analyses			
Send To >>			
Help			
Guidelines			
	ridium APM Framework - Edit Go To Jools ack Forward Forward	ridium APM Framework - Probability Distribution List Edit Go To Jools Help ack • • Forward • • • My Start Page • • New • Search • Catal ericicum iability Analytics • • Probability Probability PDF CDF New Analysis Open Analysis Save Analysis Save Analysis Save Analysis Send To >> Help Guidelines	

From the **Probability Distribution List** page, you can run the Probability Distribution query to retrieve a list of Probability Distribution Analyses that exist in the database. From the list of analyses, you can access the analysis summary for any analysis. Alternatively, you can click the **New Analysis** link on the <u>Common</u> <u>Tasks menu</u> to begin the process of <u>creating a new Probability Distribution analysis</u>.

Aspects of the Probability Distribution Analyses List

The <u>Probability Distribution List page</u> lets you run the Probability Distribution query to access a list of existing Probability Distribution Analyses that meet your query criteria.

🐉 Meridium APM Framework - Probability Distribution List 💿 💿 💽			
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp			
👻 Back 🔹 🗧 Forward 👻 🐔 My Start Page 🔹 🎽 New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🛅 Report 👻 🕼 Graph 🕶 😴 Dataset 🖬	🔽 Dashboard -		
Site Map: Reliability->Probability Distribution			
meriaium 📑			
Reliability Analytics 🛛 🖉 Select a Probability Distribution Analysis from th	ne List		
Probability Published Analyses Any (%)	 Run Query 		
Last Updated By Administrator, Meridium	•		
Common Tasks 😵			
Rew Analysis Analysis ID △ Last Updated Updated By			
🕫 Open Analysis			
Save Analysis			
Save Analysis As			
Publish Analyses			
X Delete Analyses			
Image: Send To >>			
🕐 Help			
Guidelines			

The Probability Distribution query is stored in the Meridium APM Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. While the Probability Distribution query can be <u>customized</u> for your specific implementation, the baseline Probability Distribution query contains two prompts: **Published Analyses** and **Last Updated By**. These prompts appear at the top of the page as drop-down lists that contain the various options.

The **Published Analyses** list contains the following options:

- Any (%): Will cause the query to return all Probability Distribution Analyses, either published or unpublished.
- Yes (Y): Will cause the query to return only published Probability Distribution Analyses.
- No (N): Will cause the query to return only unpublished Probability Distribution Analyses.

The Last Updated By list contains the following options:

- Your user name, which is selected by default and will cause the query to return only the Probability Distribution Analyses that were last updated by you.
- The user name of any user who last updated any Probability Distribution Analysis, which will cause the query to return only the Probability Distribution Analyses that were last updated by that user.
- The **[All Users]** option, which will cause the query to return a list of Probability Distribution Analyses updated by any user.

Each time you access the **Probability Distribution List** page, the values that appear by default in the prompts will be used to filter the list. After you select different criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button to run the Probability Distribution query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page.

Note: Although the results are returned by the Probability Distribution query, query page size is ignored. The entire list of analyses is displayed at once.

The default Probability Distribution query is configured to display the following columns of information: **Analysis ID,Last Updated**, and **Updated By**. You can click any hyperlinked analysis ID to view the associated <u>Probability Distribution Analysis summary</u>. In addition, you can use the options on the <u>Plots</u> and <u>Common Tasks</u> menus to perform various tasks for the analyses in the list.

CEHint: If desired, you cancustomize the column display.

Plots Menu

Plots	5	۲
	Probability	
≅ ×	PDF	
	CDF	

The **Plots** menu on the **Probability Distribution List** page contains the following links:

- Probability: Displays a Probability Plot for the selected analysis.
- **PDF:** Displays a <u>Probability Density Function Plot</u> for the selected analysis.
- **CDF:** Displays a <u>Cumulative Distribution Function Plot</u> for the selected analysis.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Probability Distribution List** page contains the following links:

- **New Analysis:** Displays the <u>Distribution Builder</u>, which will guide you through the process of creating a new Probability Distribution Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Lets you locate an existing Probability Distribution Analysis using the **Find a Reliability Distribution Analysis** window.
- **Publish Analyses:** <u>Publishes</u> the selected analysis or analyses. If you select one or more analyses that are already published, this link reads **Unpublish Analyses** and will <u>unpublish</u> the selected analysis.
- Delete Analysis: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- **Send To:** Displays a submenu with options that let youprovide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Probability Distribution List page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

Note: The Save Analysis and Save Analysis As links are always disabled.

About the Multiple Distributions Plot Page for a Probability Distribution Analysis

You can select one or more Probability Distribution Analyses (a minimum of 2 analyses and a maximum of 10 analyses) from the list of existing analyses, select the desired plot type on the <u>Plots menu</u>, and generate a composite plot in order to compare the distribution curves. The composite plot appears on the **Multiple Distributions Plot** page.

From this page, you can do the following:

- To display the selected Distribution Analyses as datapoints on the plot, click the **Show Failures** link on the **Plots** menu. A **Hide Datapoints** link now appears on the **Plots** menu.
- Pause on the distribution plot line to display a tool tip that shows summary details about the Distribution Analysis, including the type of distribution and the distribution parameters.
- Click the distribution plot line to access the **Probability Distribution Results** page for a distribution.
- To return to the list of Distribution Analyses, click the**Back** button.

Using the Distribution Builder

Using the **Distribution Builder**, you can create a new Probability Distribution Analysis:

- Based on a <u>new or existing query or dataset</u>.
- By manually entering failure data.

You can access the Distribution Builder either from the <u>Probability Distribution List</u> page or from the <u>Probability Distribution Results page</u>.

Creating a Probability Distribution from a Query or Dataset

To create a new Probability Distribution Analysis based on a new or existing query or dataset:

1. On the <u>Probability Distribution List</u> page or on the <u>Probability Distribution Results</u> page, on the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **New Analysis** link.

The **Distribution Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Distribution Builder - Welcome		
meridium	Welcome to the Distribution Builder	
	You will be able to base the analysis on failure data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.	
	Don't show this page again.	
	To continue, click Next.	
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help	

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time that you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears, displaying the options that are available for entering the data for analysis in the Reliability Manager application.

Distribution Builder - Select Data Source Type			
Select Data Source Type			
Query Based			
• Data will be loaded using an existing Query.			
I will create a new Query and use it to load data.			
Dataset Based			
C Data will be copied from an existing Dataset.			
I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as data.			
No Data Source			
🔿 I will manually enter data.			
<pre>< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help</pre>			

- 3. Select one of the following options:
 - Failure data will be loaded using an existing Query. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired query in the Catalog.
 - I will create a new Query and use it to load the failure data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, the Query Builder will appear so that you can design a new query. Click the Help button in the Query Builder for details on building a new query.
 - Failure data will be copied from an existing Dataset. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired dataset in the Catalog. Note that if the dataset you choose was created from a query that included installation or failure dates you will not be able to select either of those columns in the analysis. To avoid this problem, run the query in unformatted mode and then export to a dataset.
 - I will create a new Dataset and use it to load the failure data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, the Dataset Builder will appear so that you can design a new dataset. Click the Help button in the Dataset Builder for details on building a new dataset.

After you have selected or created the desired query or dataset, it appears on the **Select** screen of the **Distribution Builder**.

4. Click the **Next** button.

The Select Data Fields screen appears.

Distribution Builder -	Select Data Fields
Select Data Field	İs
¥alue:	
Censored:	•
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help

- 5. In the **Value** list, select a numeric value from the list. This is a required field. A random variable associates a numerical value with every event. It describes a (possibly infinite) set of different events having a related probabilistic structure. The probability distribution of the random variable is a function that maps each possible value of the random variable to a particular probability.
- 6. If desired, in the **Censored** list, select a field that indicates censored values (i.e., not included in the Probability Distribution Analysis calculations). The selected field must be a logical field.
- 7. Click the **Next** button.

The Specify Random Variable and Its Units screen appears.

Distribution Builder -	Specify Random Variable and Its Units		
Specify Random	Specify Random Variable and Its Units		
Random Variable: Units:			
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help		

Note that the name of the random variable and the units of measure are pre-populated based on the selection you made in the **Value** selection box on the previous screen.

8. Click the **Finish** button.

The system validates the field mappings and generates the analysis. The **Probability Distribution Results** page displays the results of the analysis.

9. On the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>, click the Save Analysis link to save the analysis results.

Creating a Probability Distribution from Manually Entered Data

To manually enter the data for a Probability Distribution Analysis:

1. On the <u>Probability Distribution List</u> page or on the <u>Probability Distribution Results</u> page, on the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **New Analysis** link.

The **Distribution Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Distribution Builder - Welcome		
meridium	Welcome to the Distribution Builder	
	You will be able to base the analysis on failure data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.	
	Don't show this page again.	
	To continue, click Next.	
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help	

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time that you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears, displaying the options that are available for entering the data for analysis in the Reliability Manager application.



3. Select the I will manually enter data option, and click the Finish button.

The **Distribution Builder** closes, and a blank **Distribution Data** grid appears.

🔜 Distribution	n Data				×
[x	Censored	Ignore	Remarks	-	
►					
					_
			OK	Cancel Help	

- 4. Enter the information about the random variables that you want to include in the analysis. By default, the following properties are listed on the grid:
- X: The value of the random variable.
- Censored: Select the check box to censor data.
- **Ignore:** Select the check box if you do not want to include the data on the selected row in the calculations.
- **Remarks:** Comments about the event.

To enter data, you can manually type the data in the cells or you can use the clipboard operations (cut, copy, paste) to transfer data to the grid from other applications. 5. Click **OK** to save the data and generate the analysis. Note that a minimum of three failure data points is required to perform a calculation or you will receive a warning message and the analysis will not be generated.

The **Distribution Data** grid closes, and the system generates the analysis and displays the summary page.

6. On the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>, click the Save Analysis link to save the analysis results.

Opening an Existing Probability Distribution Analysis

To open an existing Probability Distribution analysis:

1. On the Reliability Start Screen, click the Probability Distribution link.

The **Probability Distribution List** page appears.

😵 Me	🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Probability Distribution List 📃 💷 📧				
<u>F</u> ile	<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp				
😌 B	👻 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🎽 New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🗉 🛅 Report 🕫 🕼 Graph 🛛 🧐 Dataset 🖛 Dashboard 🕫				
	Site Map: Reliability->Probability Distribution				
m					
Rel	Reliability Analytics Select a Probability Distribution Analysis from the List				
DI-1-					
PIOL	v				
	Probability	PublishedAnalyses	Any (%) 👻	Run Query	
- E2	PDF	Last Updated By	Administrator, Meridium 👻		
- HKI	CDF				
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 😵				
1	New Analysis	🛛 🗌 Analysis ID 🛆 🔹 Las	t Updated Updated By		
j=	Open Analysis				
21	Save Analysis				
D _n	Save Analysis As				
â	Publish Analyses				
×	Delete Analyses				
=2	Send To >>				
0	Help				
0	Guidelines				

- 2. At the top of the page, in the fields provided, select the criteria that you want to use for limiting the list of Probability Distribution Analyses. The available criteria will vary, depending on how the Probability Distribution query has been configured.
- 3. Click the **Run Query** button.

Meridium APM runs the Probability Distribution query and displays the results in the grid at the bottom of the page.

4. In the **Analysis ID** column, click the analysis ID of the analysis that you want to open.

The **Probability Distribution Results** page appears, displaying the selected analysis.

Note that when you open an existing analysis, the analysis will display the data and calculations that were last <u>saved</u> with the analysis. If you want to reload the underlying query or dataset and update calculations based on any changes to the underlying data, you must <u>reload the analysis</u> after opening it.

Overview of the Probability Distribution Results Page

Note: Depending on the type of Distribution Analysis that is selected, different types of information will be available on the **Probability Distribution Results** page.

The **Probability Distribution Results** page contains the following sections of information:

- Analysis Information
- **Distribution**
- Calculated Parameters
- Kolmogorov-Smirnov Goodness of Fit Test
- Probability Density Function (PDF) Plot
- <u>Cumulative Density Function (CDF) plot</u>

In addition, the **Probability Distribution Results** page provides the following task menus: <u>Plots</u>, <u>Distribution Options</u>, <u>Analysis Tasks</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>.

Analysis Information Section

```
      Analysis Information
      Rename

      Name
      temp test for 3.2.0 upgrade - SAVE - with units
      Rename

      Description
      temp test for 3.2.0 upgrade - SAVE - with units
      Rename

      Random Variable
      Downtime
      Units
      TWC Units
```

The **Analysis Information** section contains information that identifies the current analysis, including the following:

- Analysis Name: The ID of the selected Probability Distribution Analysis.
- **Description:** The description of the analysis as defined when the analysis was saved.
- **Random Variable:** The name of the random variable, which associates a numerical value with every event and describes a (possibly infinite) set of different events having a related probabilistic structure. You can <u>change the random variable and specify units</u>.
- Units: The units that are used to measure the random variable. You can <u>change</u> <u>the random variable and specify units</u>.
- **Rename:** Displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>rename the</u> <u>analysis</u>.

Distribution Section

Distribution	
Type	Weibull
Fit Method	Least Squares
Confidence Level	90.00 %
Mean	9.2958
Standard Deviation	6.0884
Median	8.1768
R²	0.7747

The **Distribution** section contains details about the selected distribution type. It includes the following information:

- Type: The type of Distribution.
- **Fit Method:** The curve-fitting estimation method used to estimate the parameters for the distribution. The method of fit for a Probability Distribution Analysis can be either Least Squares or Maximum Likelihood Estimators.
- **Confidence Level:** If you selected to use confidence, the selected confidence level percentage is listed here. The confidence level is used to indicate that you want the model to fit with a particular level of certainty.
- **Mean:** The average point of the distribution. This value is calculated using parameters in the **Calculated Parameters** section, which vary depending on the distribution type. For example, the following formula is used to calculate the mean for a Weibull Distribution:

$$Mean = Eta \times Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{Beta})$$

- **Standard Deviation:** The variability of the random variable around the mean.
- **Median:** The middle point of the distribution. This value is calculated using parameters in the **Calculated Parameters** section, which vary depending on the Distribution Type. For example, the following formula is used to calculate the Median for a Weibull Distribution:

 $Median = Eta \times (Ln(2))^{(\frac{1}{Beta})}$

• **R2:** The R-Squared Correlation Coefficient, which describes the strength of a linear model. It measures how closely the points fall to the least squares line, providing an indication of how confident one can be of predictions made with the line.

Calculated Parameters Section

The **Calculated Parameters** section contains the parameters that correspond to the selected distribution type.

Calculated Parameters					
		Low	High	Change	
Beta	1.5599	1.3916	10.7160		
Eta	10.3425	4.9762	13.7657		
Gamma	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000		

If confidence was selected, the upper and lower bounds are listed for each parameter.

Kolmogorov-Smirnov Goodness of Fit Test Section

Kolmogorov-Smi	rnov Goodness of Fit Test
Statistic	0.1025
P-Value	0.0000 %
Passed	Yes

The **Kolmogorov-Smirnov Goodness of Fit Test** section contains the results of the Goodness of Fit (GOF) test.

- **Statistic:** A value that indicates how exact the fit is. Typically, the lower the number is, the better the fit.
- **P-Value:** A value that is calculated by the Meridium APM system. The P-value is interpreted as the probability that the test statistic is due to random error. Typically, the higher the P-value, the more likely the model is appropriate and the more likely that the fit will pass the test.
- Passed Goodness of Fit: A value of *Yes* or *No* that indicates if the fit test (listed next to the **Test Name**) was successful (the distribution fits the data based on the test performed). If the <u>P-value is less than or equal to 1 minus the confidence level</u>, the fit test has failed and you should reject the distribution at the chosen significance level. Otherwise, the fit is successful and you should accept the distribution at the chosen significance level.

Probability Density Function (PDF) Plot Section

The **Probability Density Function (PDF) Plot** section contains a preview of the Probability Density Function (PDF) plot.



To view the actual PDF plot:

• Click the plot, or on the **Plots** menu, click the **PDF** link.

Cumulative Density Function (CDF) Plot Section



The **Cumulative Density Function (CDF) plot** section contains a preview of the Cumulative Density Function (CDF) plot.

To view the actual CDF plot:

• Click the plot, or on the <u>Plots menu</u>, click the **CDF** link.

Plots Menu

Plots	5	۲
	Probability	
	PDF	
1	CDF	

The **Plots** menu on the **Probability Distribution Results** page contains the following links:

- **Probability:** Displays the **Probability plot**.
- PDF: Displays the Probability Density Function plot.
- **CDF:** Displays the <u>Cumulative Distribution Function plot</u>.

Note: You can also <u>select multiple distributions from the list and generate a composite plot</u>.

Distribution Options Menu



The **Distribution Options** menu on the **Probability Distribution Results** page contains the following links:

- **Distribution Type:** Displays the **Distribution Type** dialog box, where you can <u>select</u> <u>a distribution type</u>.
- **Parameters:** Displays the **Distribution Parameters** dialog box, where you can <u>select the distribution parameters</u>.
- Fit Method: Displays the Fit Method dialog box, where you can <u>select the Fit</u> <u>Method</u>.
- **Confidence Level:** Displays the **Confidence Level** dialog box, where you can select to use confidence and specify the confidence level.

Analysis Tasks Menu



The **Analysis Tasks** menu on the **Probability Distribution Results** page contains the following links:

- Change Units: Displays the <u>Random Variable dialog box</u>, where you can specify the name of the random variable that is being analyzed and the units used to measure it.
- Edit Data: Displays the Distribution Data grid.
- Generate Report: Displays the Report Options dialog box, where you can select the elements of the analysis that you want to include in a report.

Note: You must save the analysis before you can generate a report.

- Create Task: Displays the New Task Builder, where you can create a new task for the current analysis.
- View Tasks: Displays the Task List page in Task Management, which shows a list of all the Task records that exist for the current Equipment record.
- View Analysis List: Displays the list of all existing analyses.
- **Rename:** Displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>enter a new</u> <u>name and description for the analysis</u>.
- View Recommendations: Displays the <u>Recommendations page</u>, where you can view and manage the Recommendation records associated with the analysis.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Probability Distribution Results** page contains the following links:

• New Analysis: Displays the <u>Distribution Builder</u>, which will guide you through the process of creating a new Probability Distribution Analysis.

Note: If you create a new Probability Distribution Analysis from the summary page of an existing Probability Distribution Analysis that has not been saved, the charts and data on the summary page that appears for the new analysis will contain the data from the existing analysis. To avoid this problem, save the existing analysis before creating a new analysis.

- **Open Analysis:** Lets you locate an existing Probability Distribution Analysis using the **Find a Reliability Distribution Analysis** window.
- Save Analysis: Saves the currently displayed analysis. If you are viewing a brand new analysis that has not yet been saved, this link will display the Save Analysis dialog box, where you can save the analysis. If you are viewing an existing analysis, when you click this link, Meridium APM will save any changes that you made to the analysis since it was last saved.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save this Analysis dialog box, where you can choose to save it with a different name.
- Delete Analysis: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Probability Distribution Results page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.
About the Distribution Data Window

The **Distribution Data** window allows you to view the data associated with a Probability Distribution Analysis. Some of the fields on the **Distribution Data** window correspond to values that were used to create the analysis. For input fields:

- For an analysis based upon a query, the **Distribution Data** window displays the information returned by the query.
- For an analysis based upon a dataset, the **Distribution Data** window displays the information stored in the dataset.
- For an analysis based upon manually-entered data, the **Distribution Data** window displays the information that you entered when you create the analysis.

Other fields show values that are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are readonly. All values in the **Distribution Data** window are stored in the Data field in the Distribution record.

You can modify certain values on this window in order to update data. In most cases, however, you would not want to change the data unless there was an error in the original data source. Some values are calculated by the Meridium APM system and cannot be modified.

•	Distribution D)ata				×		
	Datasheet	x	Censored	Ignore	Remarks			
Þ	<u>view</u>	2449787						
	<u>view</u>	2449787						
	<u>view</u>	2449787						
	<u>view</u>	2506281						
	<u>view</u>	2506281						
	<u>view</u>	2512779						
	<u>view</u>	2512799						
*	<u>view</u>							
			(ОК	Cancel Help			
						//		

The following image shows an example of the **Distribution Data** window.

Data Mapped to the Distribution Data Window

When you create a Probability Distribution Analysis from a query or dataset, the **Distribution Builder** will prompt you to map values from columns in the query or dataset to certain values in the Probability Distribution Analysis. The values that you select to map on the **Select Data Fields** screen in the **Distribution Builder** will then appear in the associated columns in the **Distribution Data** window.

Note: If the analysis is based on a query or a dataset and contains additional columns that are not mapped to columns in the analysis dataset, those columns will appear in the **Distribution Data** window with the column name in parentheses.

The following chart displays which columns are mapped from fields in the **Distribution Builder** to columns in the **Distribution Data** window.

Distribution Builder Screen	Distribution Builder Field	Distribution Data Window Column
Select Data Fields	Value	X
Select Data Fields	Censored	Censored

Accessing the Distribution Data Window

To access the Distribution Data window:

• On the **Probability Distribution Results** page, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Edit Data** link.

•	Distribution D)ata				x
	Datasheet	x	Censored	Ignore	Remarks	[]
Þ	<u>view</u>	2449787				
	<u>view</u>	2449787				
	<u>view</u>	2449787				
	<u>view</u>	2506281				
	<u>view</u>	2506281				
	<u>view</u>	2512779				
	<u>view</u>	2512799				
*	<u>view</u>					
				ОК	Cancel Help	

The **Distribution Data** window appears.

Aspects of the Distribution Data Window

•	Distribution D)ata				×
	Datasheet	x	Censored	Ignore	Remarks	
►	<u>view</u>	2449787				
	<u>view</u>	2449787				
	<u>view</u>	2449787				
	<u>view</u>	2506281				
	<u>view</u>	2506281				
	<u>view</u>	2512779				
	<u>view</u>	2512799				
*	<u>view</u>					
				ок с	Cancel Help	

Note: You can group, filter, and sort the data on the Distribution Data window.

By default, the following information is provided for a Probability Distribution Analysis on the **Distribution Data** window:

- Datasheet: The text *view*, which appears as a hyperlink that displays the datasheet associated with the event (e.g., a Work History record). If you have the appropriate privileges, after you click the **View** link, you can edit the data and click the **Save** button to save any changes. This column only appears when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- X: The value of the random variable. This value can be mapped from a query or dataset using the or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Censored:** A value that indicates whether or not the data on the selected row is *censored*, meaning the datapoint is excluded as a failure but included in the operating time of the piece of equipment of location. *Select* the check box if you want to <u>censor the data</u> on the selected row. When you create a Probability Distribution Analysis using a query or dataset as the data source, the system automatically censors time values from the beginning of the Analysis Period to the first event and the time value from the last event to the end of the analysis. After the calculations for the analysis have been performed, each time that the query or dataset is refreshed, the failure data will be automatically censored.

Regardless of the data source you use, you can censor any event. Note that:

- For MLE (Maximum Likelihood Estimators), the maximum number of censored datapoints is one (1) less than the total number of datapoints.
- For Least Squares estimation, the maximum number of censored datapoints is two (2) less than the total number of datapoints.
- **Ignore:** A value that indicates whether or not the data on the selected row is *ignored*, meaning excluded from the analysis calculations and plots. When *selected*, the data in the associated row will be excluded from the analysis. When *cleared*, data in the selected row will be included in the analysis. You can modify this value manually.

Note: A minimum of three datapoints is required to perform a calculation. If you exceed the maximum number of ignored datapoints, the application will display a warning message after you click **OK**. The events marked as ignored will not appear on the plots.

• **Remarks:** Comments about the event. You can click the **Remarks** cell to enter a value manually via the text editor.

Modifying the Random Variable and Specifying Units

To change the random variable and specify the appropriate units:

1. On the **Probability Distribution Results** page, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Change Units** link.

The Random Variable dialog box appears.

Random Variable							
Specify the	Random Variable						
Random Variable Units							
	OK Cancel	Help					

- 2. Type the name of the random variable in the **Random Variable** text box.
- 3. Type the corresponding units in the **Units** text box.
- 4. Click OK.

The system recalculates the Probability Distribution using the new random variable.

About the Probability Distribution Analysis Plots



On the <u>Plots menu</u> on the **Probability Distribution Results** page, you can view any of the following plots by clicking the associating link:

- Failure Probability Plot
- PDF Plot
- CDF Plot

While viewing any of the plots, you can:

- Click any datapoint to view the failure data.
- Censor a datapoint by right-clicking it and then clicking **Censored**.
- Customize the appearance of the plot by using standard graph features.
- Pause on the distribution plot line to view summary details about the Distribution Analysis, including the type of distribution and the distribution parameters. The value of R² is listed also. This value indicates the strength of a linear model. R² measures how closely the points fall to the least squares line, providing an indication of how confident one can be of predictions made with the line.

Failure Probability Plot

The Probability plot is a log-log with data overlay and confidence limits that graphically displays the probability (expressed as a percentage) of each possible value of the random variable (CDF Occurrence % vs. time). *CDF Occurrence* % used here is numerically equal to the value from the cumulative distribution. *Time* used here refers to life data, not Calendar data.

Probability Plot							
	Prol	bability Plot					
					8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9		
0000							10000
		Prol	Probability Plot				000 Probability Plot

This plot shows the same data as CDF, just represented in a log-log format, which is the standard technique for representing Weibull Distribution. Log-log format Data overlay gives a visual estimate of goodness of fit (GOF). Data overlay also gives clues to the pres-

ence of multiple failure modes. If a single or multiple inflection points exist in the data, then there is a possibility of multiple failure modes.

PDF Plot

The Probability Density Function (PDF) plot is a lin-lin plot that counts the number of failures between certain time periods, creating a curve that estimates how many failures you can expect to occur at a given number of time units. This plot shows Probability vs. time. The term *Probability* is used here to describe the percent of the population that failed at the particular value of time (t). A PDF plot helps you to answer a question such as, "What is the chance of a member of the population failing at exactly the time in question?"



PDF shows the curve fit of the data. It answers the question "Based on the curve fit, what is the probability that failure will occur below or above a certain value?" The chart

is a graphical representation of the data. It shows the variance or spread of the data, but it often is not used for analysis.

CDF Plot

The CDF plot is a lin-lin plot with data overlay and confidence limits. It shows Probability vs. time. The term *Probability* is used in this instance to describe the percent of the total population that will fail by time (t). *Time* refers to life data, not Calendar data.



Cumulative Distribution Function answers a different question than PDF: "What is the probability of failure at time(t)?" The CDF curve is the area under the PDF curve. The CDF accumulates all probability of failure up to the point in time in question. Since the number of failures increases with increasing time, the slope of the curve is always positive, always increasing.

Overview of the Probability Distribution Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the Probability Distribution Report, which you can use to view a summary of the results of a Probability Distribution Analysis. When you run the Probability Distribution Report, it will appear on the **Report Viewer** page.

The Probability Distribution Report is built from the following Catalog items:

- The main report, *ProbDistReport*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\SSRS.
- The subreport, *SubReportProbDist*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The supporting queries that supply data in the main report and subreport, which are stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports. The following supporting queries are available:
 - ProbabilityDistributionQuery
 - Weibull Distribution Query
 - Lognormal Distribution Query
 - Normal Distribution Query
 - Exponential Distribution Query

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreport, and the supporting queries collectively as the *Probability Distribution Report*.

The Probability Distribution Report contains a prompt on the ENTY_KEY and Distribution Type fields in the Distribution family. When you run the Probability Distribution Report via the Probability Distribution module, the ENTY_KEY and Distribution Type of the Distribution record associated with the current analysis is passed automatically to the prompt, and the results for the current Probability Distribution Analysis are displayed. If you run the main report or any of the queries in the preceding list directly from the Catalog, however, you will need to supply the ENTY_KEY and Distribution Type of a Distribution record manually to retrieve results. The subreport (i.e., Catalog item *SubReportProbDist*) cannot be run directly from the Catalog.

The Probability Distribution Report contains the following sections:

- Analysis Summary
- Statistical Distribution Information
- Distribution Data
- Plots

Running the Probability Distribution Report

You can run the Probability Distribution Report to view a summary of the results of a Probability Distribution Analysis.

To run the Probability Distribution Report:

1. On the **Probability Distribution Results** page, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Generate Report** link.

The **Report Options** dialog box appears. The following image shows what the **Report Options** dialog box looks like by default.

Report Options						
Select Elements to Include in the Report						
☑ Cover Page	Plots					
Analysis Summary	Probability					
Distribution Data	Probability Density Function					
	Cumulative Distribution Function					
	OK Cancel Help					

2. Select the desired elements to be included in the report, and click **OK**.

The Probability Distribution Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.



Analysis Summary Section

The **Analysis Summary** section of the Probability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in a Distribution record. Distribution records are categorized into one of four Distribution subfamilies: Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull.

Analysis Summary					
Analysis Name:	Prob. Dist. Analysis 44				
Analysis Description:	Distribution using the Variable X.				
Random Variable:	Downtime				
Units:	Days				
Last Modified:	8/15/2012				
Modified By:	Administrator, Meridium				

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Summary** section and the corresponding Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Distribution Field	Notes
Analysis Name	Analysis ID	None
Analysis Description	Short Description	None
Random Variable	Random Variable Field	None
Units	Units	None
Last Modified	LAST_UPDT_DT	None
Modified By	LAST_UPBY_SEUS_KEY	The name of the Security User associated with this value is displayed in the report.

Overview of the Statistical Distribution Information Section

The **Statistical Distribution Information** section of the Probability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in the Distribution record (i.e., Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, or Weibull record). The following image displays an example of the statistical distribution information for a Weibull record.

istribution Type:	Weibull	Weibull						
it Method:	Least Squares							
se Confidence:	True	True						
onfidence Level:	90.00%							
ean:	9.30							
tandard Deviation:	6.09							
	8 1 8							
ledian:	0.10							
Parameters	0.84							
Parameters	0.84 Value	Low	High	Calculated				
Parameters Name Beta	0.84 Value 1.56	Low 1.31	High 10.72	Calculated Yes				
Parameters Name Beta Eta	0.84 Value 1.56 10.34	Low 1.31 4.53	High 10.72 13.61	Calculated Yes Yes				
Parameters Parameters Beta Eta Gamma	0.84 Value 1.56 10.34 0.00	Low 1.31 4.53 0.00	High 10.72 13.61 0.00	Calculated Yes Yes No				
Parameters Parameters Name Beta Eta Gamma Goodness of Fit Test Name	0.84 Value 1.56 10.34 0.00 t Statistic	Low 1.31 4.53 0.00 P-Value	High 10.72 13.61 0.00 Passed	Calculated Yes Yes No				

The following subsections are displayed within the **Statistical Distribution Information**section:

- Distribution
- Parameters
- Goodness of Fit

Distribution Subsection

The **Statistical Distribution Information** section contains the **DistributionType** subsection, which displays information that is stored in the Distribution record. Throughout the documentation, we will refer to this subsection as the **Distribution** subsection. The following image displays an example of the **Distribution** subsection for a Weibull record.

Statistical Distribution Information					
Distribution Type:	Weibull				
Fit Method:	Least Squares				
Use Confidence:	True				
Confidence Level:	90.00%				
Mean:	9.30				
Standard Deviation:	6.09				
Median:	8.18				
R ² :	0.84				

The following table lists each item in the **Distribution** section and the corresponding Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Distribution Field
Distribution Type	Distribution Type
Fit Method	Fit Method
Use Confidence	Use Confidence
Confidence Level	Confidence Level
Mean	Mean
Standard Deviation	Standard Deviation
Median	Median
R ²	R-Squared

Parameters Subsection

The **Statistical Distribution** section contains the **Parameters** subsection, which contains information stored in the Distribution record. The type of information that appears in the **Parameters** subsection depends on the <u>distribution type</u> (i.e., Weibull, Lognormal, Exponential, or Normal). The following image displays an example of the **Parameters** section for a Weibuill record.

Parameters

Name	Value	Low	High	Calculated
Beta	1.56	1.31	10.72	Yes
Eta	10.34	4.53	13.61	Yes
Gamma	0.00	0.00	0.00	No

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for a Weibull record whose data is displayed in the report. One row is displayed for each of the following field captions: Beta, Eta, and Gamma.

Report Item	Weibull Field	
Beta		
Value	Beta	
Low	Beta Low	
High	Beta High	
Calculated	Beta Fixed	
Eta		
Value	Eta	
Low	Eta Low	
High	Eta High	
Calculated	Eta Fixed	
Gamma		
Value	Gamma	
Low	Gamma Low	
High	Gamma High	
Calculated	Gamma Fixed	

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for a Lognormal record whose data is displayed in the report. For a Lognormal record, one row is displayed for each of the following field captions: Mu, Sigma, and Gamma.

Report Item	Lognormal Field	
Mu		
Value	Mu	
Low	Mu Low	
High	Mu High	
Calculated	Mu Fixed	
Sigma		
Value	Sigma	
Low	Sigma Low	
High	Sigma High	
Calculated	Sigma Fixed	
Gamma		
Value	Gamma	
Low	Gamma Low	
High	Gamma High	
Calculated	Gamma Fixed	

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for an Exponential record whose data is displayed in the report. For an Exponential record, one row is displayed for the field caption MTBF.

Report Item	Exponential Field	
MTBF		
Value	MTBF	
Low	MTBF Low	
High	MTBF High	
Calculated	MTBF Fixed	

The following table lists each item in the **Parameters** subsection for a Normal record whose data is displayed in the report. For a Normal record, one row is displayed for each of the following field captions: Mean, Standard Deviation.

Report Item	Normal Field	
Mean		
Value	Mean	
Low	Mean Low	
High	Mean High	
Calculated	Fix Mean	
Standard Deviation		
Value	Standard Deviation	
Low	Standard Deviation Low	
High	Standard Deviation High	
Calculated	Fix Standard Deviation	

Goodness of Fit Test Subsection

The **Statistical Distribution Information** section contains the **Goodness of Fit Test** subsection, which displays information from the Distribution record.

Goodness of Fit Test

Name	Statistic	P-Value	Passed
Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test	0.10	0.00	True

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test is the only test used to measure goodness of fit, so the **Name** column in the report is populated automatically with the value *Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test*. The following table lists each remaining item in the **Goodness of Fit Test** subsection and the Distribution record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Weibull Field
Statistic	GOF Statistic
P-Value	GOF P-Value
Passed	Passed

Distribution Data Section

The **Distribution Data** section of the Probability Distribution Report displays information that is stored in the Data field in the Distribution record.

istribution Data				
x	Median Rank	Censored	Ignored	Remarks
10.0	0.61	False	False	
3.0	0.16	False	False	
8.0	0.39	False	False	
14.0	0.84	False	False	

The following values are displayed in the **Distribution Data** section, and they are stored in the Data field in the Reliability Distribution record:

- X (i.e., the Random Variable)
- Median Rank
- Censored
- Ignored
- Remarks

Plots Section

The **Plots** section of the Probability Distribution Report displays the graphs that are displayed on the <u>Probability Distribution Results page</u> or accessed via the <u>Plots menu</u> on the **Probability Distribution Results** page. The following image shows an example of the Probability Plot graph.



The **Plots** section displays the following graphs:

- Probability Plot
- <u>Probability Density Function Plot</u>
- <u>Cumulative Distribution Function Plot</u>

Overview of System Reliability Analysis

System Reliability is a feature of Meridium APM Reliability Analytics that allows you to <u>model different system scenarios</u> and then run <u>Monte Carlo simulations</u> to simulate the behavior of the system so that you can predict the cost and reliability of the system and its elements.

System Reliability can be a useful tool in various situations:

- When you are constructing a new system from scratch, you can use a System Reliability Analysis to model various options for the construction of the system and then choose the option that is the most reliable and cost-effective.
- For existing systems, you can use a System Reliability Analysis to evaluate how the system could be modified to increase reliability and production output.

Using a System Reliability Analysis, you can:

- Estimate the overall reliability and cost of a system, including the estimated reliability for each of the included equipment and locations.
- Use equipment and location information that is already stored in the database or create new equipment and locations to use in the analysis.
- Add maintenance and downtime to the system and recalculate the effects of additions.
- View a graphical summary of the cost and reliability predictions for a system.
- Model different scenarios to compare reliability and cost across multiple systems.

Monte Carlo Simulations: A Simple Example

Meridium APM System Reliability Analysis uses Monte Carlo simulations to predict the reliability of a system. Monte Carlo methods offer a common statistical model for simulating physical systems and are especially useful for modeling systems with variable and uncertain inputs. When you create a System Reliability Analysis, you will specify certain values that will serve as inputs to the simulation. Other inputs will be generated at random to simulate possible conditions. Outputs will be generated based upon the inputs and combined to provide a summary the projected system reliability.

Consider a simple example of rolling dice. Assume that you want to determine the probability of rolling a seven using two dice with values one through six. There are 36 possible combinations for the two dice, six of which will total seven, as shown in the following image.



This means that mathematical probability of rolling a seven is six in 36, or 16.67 percent.

But is the mathematical probability the same as the *actual* probability? Or are there other factors that might affect the mathematical probability, such as the design of the dice themselves, the surface on which they are thrown, and the technique that is used to roll them?

To determine the *actual* probability of rolling a seven, you might physically roll the dice 100 times and record the outcome each time. Assume that you did this and rolled a seven 17 out of 100 times, or 17 percent of the time. Although this result would represent an actual, physical result, it would still represent an *approximate* result. If you continued to roll the dice again and again, the result would become less and less approximate.

A Monte Carlo simulation is the mathematical representation of this process. It allows you to simulate the act of physically rolling the dice and lets you specify how many times to roll them. Each roll of the dice represents a single iteration in the overall simulation; as you increase the number of iterations, the simulation results become more and more accurate. For each iteration, variable inputs are generated at random to

simulate conditions such as dice design, rolling surface, and throwing technique. The results of the simulation would provide a statistical representation of the physical experiment described above.

Components in a System Reliability Analysis

A System Reliability Analysis is made up of records and links as defined by the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability data model</u>. But beyond understanding a System Reliability Analysis at the entity level, it is helpful to visualize it at a conceptual level, where groups of records and links make up the main elements of the analysis, as defined in the following list:

- System Reliability Analysis: A collection of Scenarios, Resources, and simulation results that make up a given analysis. A System Reliability Analysis is represented by a <u>System Analysis record</u>, which stores identifying information about the analysis and is linked to other records that make up the analysis.
- Scenario: A representation of one design option for a given system. A Scenario is represented by a <u>System Scenario record</u>, which contains all the identifying information for the Scenario and is linked to other records that help define the Scenario. Each Scenario can contain the following components:
 - Diagram: A logical, visual representation of the physical structure of a system, including all the elements in the system and the connections between them. A Diagram might be the representation of a system as it physically exists at your work site, or it might represent a variation of a physical system developed for the purpose of analyzing how changes to the system could impact maintenance and production costs. Each Scenario contains one Diagram.

A Diagram is represented by a <u>System Subsystem record</u>, which can be linked to <u>System Subsystem</u>, <u>System Sensor</u>, <u>System Buffer</u>, <u>System Link</u>, <u>System Asset</u>, and <u>System Switch</u> records. The items that these records represent are referred to as *elements*, which are simply the components that make up the Diagram itself.

- Risk: A component that identifies a specific way that a piece of equipment or location can fail and specifies the consequences of the failure and includes Time to Failure (TTF) and Time to Repair (TTR) distribution data. A Risk is represented by a System Risk record, which contains all of the identifying information for the Risk.
- Action: A component that identifies a specific operation that can be performed against a piece of equipment or location. Actions include condition-based maintenance, procedures, redesigns, time-based maintenance, and training, and may or may not mitigate Risks. Actions are represented by records in the <u>System Condition Monitor</u>, <u>System Inspection</u>, <u>System Preventive Maintenance</u>, or <u>System Special Action</u> families, which contain all the identifying information for the Action.
- Global Event: A component that groups together Actions that require a system shutdown. Scheduling a Global Event can make a system more efficient by providing more time in which to run the system while still allowing maintenance and other Actions to take place. A Global Event is represented by a <u>System Global</u> <u>Event record</u>, which contains all the identifying information for the Global Event.
- **Resource:**A component of a System Reliability Analysis that associates a cost with an occurrence of an Action or Risk. Resources are defined for a System Reliability Analysis and are represented by a <u>System Resource record</u>.

• Simulation Results: The outcome of running a simulation against all Scenarios included in a given System Reliability Analysis. Simulation results are stored in System Element Result, System Action Result, or System Resource Result records, which are linked to the root System Analysis record.

System Reliability Analysis Workflow

To develop a System Reliability Analysis, you will need to complete the following steps:

1. Develop Scenarios.

To develop a Scenario, you must <u>create a System Scenario record</u> and then <u>build a</u> <u>Diagram</u> for the Scenario. You can create multiple Scenarios to model different design options for a single system. For each Scenario, you can define <u>Risks</u>, <u>Actions</u>, and <u>Global Events</u>.

2. Run simulations.

You can perform a <u>Monte Carlo simulation</u> of a System Scenario to calculate the availability and cost of failure for an entire system and the individual elements included in each Scenario.

3. Evaluate results.

Running the simulation will result in the generation of various calculations and plots. By evaluating the results, you will be able to determine the cost and reliability of each Scenario relative to other Scenarios in the analysis.

4. Modify Scenarios and rerun simulations.

By modifying Scenarios and rerunning the simulation, you can determine the impact of those changes to the overall cost and reliability of the system. You can complete this step as many times as needed until you feel that the analysis cannot be refined any further.

5. Make recommendations.

After you have modified the Scenarios and have rerun the simulation various times, you should be able to identify the conditions that will result in the lowest cost and the highest reliability. You can then make recommendations about measures that should be implemented based upon the analysis results.

About the System Reliability Analysis Example

To make this documentation easier to follow and to help explain how System Reliability Analyses can be created and used, in this area of the documentation, we provide an example of a System Reliability Analysis. We will refer to this example as necessary throughout the System Reliability Analysis documentation.

Our System Reliability Analysis Example involves a water bottling facility, which contains a system that performs the following steps in the water bottling process:

- 1. Collects water from a source via a pump.
- 2. Runs the water through a bottling subsystem, which fills bottles and attaches caps and labels to the bottles.

Note: In this example, we assume that the bottles, labels, and caps are produced at a separate facility and utilized in this process.

For our example, we will use three different Scenarios to evaluate the reliability and cost associated with three different models for this system:

- Scenario A.
- <u>Scenario B</u>.
- Scenario C.

In addition to these Scenarios, we will define the following Resources for our System Reliability Analysis Example:

- Bearing: A replacement bearing.
- Seal: A replacement seal.
- Mechanic: A mechanic who will perform needed maintenance.
- Vibration Technician: A professional who will perform vibration analysis.

Scenario A Diagram



Scenario A represents the current structure of the system as shown in this image. The physical model for Scenario A includes the following components:

- Water Source: Produces water that can be used in the water bottling process. For our example, we will assume that the Water Source is a naturally occurring spring. This component is represented by an Asset element in the Diagram for Scenario A.
- Water Pump: Pulls water from the Water Source and into the Buffer. This component is represented by an Asset element in the Diagram for Scenario A.
- Water Tank: Stores water and feeds it into the Bottling Subsystem. This component is represented by a Buffer element in the Diagram for Scenario A.
- **Bottling Subsystem:** Fills bottles and attaches labels and caps. This subsystem is comprised of three Asset elements (Bottling Line 1, Bottling Line 2, and Bottling Line 3) and a Link. This component is represented by a Subsystem element in the Diagram for Scenario A.
- Link: Combines and manages the production of the Bottling Lines within the Bottling Subsystem. The Link specifies that two of the three Bottling Lines must be running for the entire Subsystem to run. This component is represented by a Link in the Diagram for Scenario A.

Scenario A Risks

When the Water Pump element fails due to a Risk, the entire system will fail and accrue lost production costs. The following Risks are assigned to the Water Pump element in Scenario A:

- Seal Failure.
- Bearing Failure.
- Impeller Failure.

Every time the Water Pump experiences an *unplanned* Bearing Failure, the correction will require the use of the Bearing, Mechanic, and Seal Resources. If the Water Pump requires a bearing replacement as the result of a *planned* correction, only the Bearing and Mechanic Resources will be needed. Therefore, the following Resources have been assigned to the Bearing Failure Risk:

- Unplanned Resources: Mechanic, Bearings, and Seal.
- Planned Resources: Mechanic and Bearings.

Scenario A Actions

There are no Actions defined for Scenario A.

Scenario B Diagram



The physical model for Scenario B is shown in this image. It is identical to Scenario A, but Actions and additional Resources have been assigned to the Water Pump in this Scenario to mitigate Risks.

Scenario B Risks

The same Risks are defined for Scenario B as are defined for Scenario A. The same Resources are assigned to these Risks.
Scenario B Actions

For Scenario B, the following Actions have been defined for the Water Pump:

- **Replace Seal:** A time-based maintenance Action that mitigates the Seal Failure Risk.
- Vibration Analysis: An inspection or periodic condition-based maintenance Action that mitigates the Bearing Failure Risk. The Vibration Technician Resource has been assigned to the Vibration Analysis Action.
- Redesign Impeller: A redesign Action that mitigates the Impeller Failure Risk.

Scenario C Diagram



The physical model for Scenario C is shown in this image. It is similar to Scenario A but contains the following additional components:

- Water Pump 2: Pulls water from the Water Source and into the Water Tank. Water Pump 2 serves as a backup or standby for Water Pump 1 and is represented by an Asset element in the Diagram for Scenario C.
- Sensor 1: Monitors Water Pump 1 for failure. When Water Pump 1 fails, Sensor 1 activates Switch 2, indicating that Water Pump 2 will start running, and deactivates Switch 1 to indicate that Water Pump 1 has stopped running. Sensor 1 is represented by a Sensor element in the Diagram for Scenario C.
- Sensor 2: Monitors Water Pump 2 for failure. When Water Pump 1 fails, Water Pump 2 will start running and will continue to run until it fails. When Water Pump 2 fails, Sensor 2 will activate Switch 1, indicating that Pump 1 is running, and will deactivate Switch 2 to indicate that Water Pump 2 has stopped running. Sensor 2 is represented by a Sensor element in the Diagram for Scenario C.
- Switch 1: Is initially set to *On*, indicating that Water Pump 1 is initially running. When *activated* by Sensor 1, *connects* the Water Source and Water Pump 1 so that Pump 1 will feed water into the Water Tank. When *deactivated* by Sensor 1, Switch 1 *disconnects* Water Source and Water Pump 1. Switch 1 is represented by a Switch element in the Diagram for Scenario C.
- Switch 2: Is initially set to *Off*, indicating that Pump 2 is not running initially. When *activated* by Sensor 2, *connects* the Water Source and Water Pump 2 so that Pump 2 will feed water into the Water Tank. When *deactivated* by Sensor 2, Switch 2 *disconnects* Water Source and Water Pump 2. Switch 2 is represented by a Switch element in the Diagram for Scenario C.

Scenario C Risks

The same Risks are defined for Scenario C as are defined for Scenarios A and B. The same Resources are assigned to these Risks.

Scenario C Actions

There are no Actions defined for Scenario C.

What Conclusions Will We Be Able to Draw from Our Example?

By comparing Scenario A, Scenario B, and Scenario C, we will be able to view each Scenario's reliability and cost and identify the Scenario that has the highest reliability and lowest cost associated with it. Scenario A represents the current design, and both Scenario B and Scenario C represent modifications to the original design. These modifications support different hypotheses about modifying our current system:

- Scenario B proposes that by implementing certain Actions that mitigate Risks associated with the Water Pump, we may be able to increase the reliability and decrease the cost of the system.
- Scenario C proposes that by introducing an additional Water Pump, which will prevent a full system failure when Water Pump 1 fails, we may be able to increase the reliability and decrease the cost of the system.

By modeling and comparing the three different Scenarios, we should be able to draw conclusions and make recommendations about changes that should be implemented to improve the reliability of the system.

Note that this example is fairly simple and is limited to three Scenarios. As you develop a System Reliability Analysis, you may want to develop additional Scenarios that model other variations to the system. As we continue to use this example throughout the System Reliability documentation, we will provide suggestions for where you might modify or extend our example to take advantage of the System Reliability features to create a more complex, in-depth analysis.

About the System Reliability Analysis Example Data

In this area of the documentation, we list the specific data used in our <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Analysis Example</u>. This information is provided for your reference. As we use our example throughout the System Reliability Analysis documentation, you may need to refer to the data that we have used to fully understand the effect that certain inputs have on the analysis results.

Note: In these topics, we list only the fields that contain a value. In the case of numeric fields, this includes fields that contain a value of zero (0). Fields that contain NO value are not listed here.

The following topics contain details on the specific data in our System Reliability Analysis Example:

- Example System Analysis Record Data.
- Example System Scenario Record Data.
- Example System Subsystem Record Data.
- Example System Asset Record Data.
- Example System Buffer Record Data.
- Example System Link Record Data.
- Example System Sensor Record Data.
- Example Switch Element Data.
- Example Risk Data.
- Example Action Data.
- Example System Resource Record Data.
- Example System Resource Usage Record Data.

Example System Analysis Record Data

Like all System Reliability Analyses, our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> contains one root System Analysis record. The following values exist in the fields of that record:

- Name: System Reliability Analysis Example
- Currency: \$
- Start Date: 1/1/2010 12:00:00 AM
- Period: 7 Years
- Iterations: 1000
- Time Analysis Type: Yearly
- Confidence (%): 90
- Histogram Bins: 20
- Enable Event Log: False
- Random Seed:True

Example System Scenario Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the System Scenario records in our <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Scenario	Values Specified		
Scenario A	Name: Scenario A		
	Description: Current Structure		
Scenario B	Name: Scenario B		
	Description: Current Structure With Actions		
Scenario C	Name: Scenario C		
	Description: Redesigned Structure With Backup Pump		

Example System Subsystem Record Data

Each Scenario in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> contains two System Subsystem records. One System Subsystem record contains the Diagram structure for each Scenario, and the other System Subsystem record contains the Bottling Lines, which are used in all three Scenarios. The following table lists the data that exist in each record.

Subsystem	Values specified		
Diagram for Scen-	Name: Diagram for Scenario A		
ario A	Production Contribution: 100		
	Fixed Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day		
	Lost Production Cost: 100000		
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day		
Diagram for Scen-	Name: Diagram for Scenario B		
ario B	Production Contribution: 100		
	Fixed Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day		
	Lost Production Cost: 100000		
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day		
Diagram for Scen-	Name: Diagram for Scenario C		
ario C	Production Contribution: 100		
	Fixed Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day		
	Lost Production Cost: 100000		
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day		

Subsystem	Values specified
Bottling Sub-	Name: Bottling Subsystem
system	Production Contribution: 100
	Fixed Cost: 0
	Variable Cost: 0
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day

Example System Asset Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the System Asset records in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>. The light blue row identifies the Scenario(s) in which each Asset element is used.

Asset	Values Specified
All Scenarios	
Water Source	Name: Water Source
	Production Contribution: 100
	Fixed Cost: 0
	Variable Cost: 0
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day
Bottling Line	Name: <bottling 1,="" 2,="" 3="" bottling="" line="" or="">¹</bottling>
	Production Contribution: 40
	Fixed Cost: 0
	Variable Cost: 0
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day
Scenario A	
Water Pump	Name: Water Pump
	Production Contribution: 100
	Fixed Cost: 5000
	Variable Cost: 50
	Variable Cost Units: Per Hour
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day
Scenario B	

Asset	Values Specified
Water Pump	Name: Water Pump
	Production Contribution: 100
	Fixed Cost: 5000
	Variable Cost: 50
	Variable Cost Units: Per Hour
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day
Scenario C	
Water Pump 1	Name: Water Pump 1
	Production Contribution: 100
	Fixed Cost: 5000
	Variable Cost: 50
	Variable Cost Units: Per Hour
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day
Water Pump 2	Name: Water Pump 2
	Production Contribution: 100
	Fixed Cost: 5000
	Variable Cost: 50
	Variable Cost Units: Per Hour
	Lost Production Cost: 0
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day

Example System Buffer Record Data

The following data is stored in the System Buffer record for our <u>System Reliability Ana-</u><u>lysis Example</u>:

- Name: Water Tank
- Production Contribution: 100
- Initial Quantity in Percentage:50
- Time to Empty: 0.5
- Time to Empty Units: Days
- Time to Refill: 5
- Time to Refill Units: Days

Example System Link Record Data

The following data is stored in the System Link record for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>.

- Name: Link
- Minimum Predecessors: 2

Example System Sensor Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the System Sensor records for our <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Sensor	Values Specified			
	Name: Sensor 1			
Soncor 1	Monitored Elements: Water Pump 1			
Sensor	Activated Switches: Switch 2			
	Deactivated Switches: Switch 1			
	Name: Sensor 2			
Soncor 2	Monitored Elements: Water Pump 2			
Sensor 2	Activated Switches: Switch 1			
	Deactivated Switches: Switch 2			

Example Switch Element Data

The following table shows the data stored in the System Switch records in our <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Element	Values Specified			
	Name: Switch 1			
	Is Initially On: Yes			
	Product Contribution: 100			
Switch 1	Fixed Cost: 0			
Switch	Variable Cost: 0			
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day			
	Lost Production Cost: 0			
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day			
	Name: Switch 2			
	Is Initially On: No			
	Product Contribution: 100			
Switch 2	Fixed Cost: 0			
Switch 2	Variable Cost: 0			
	Variable Cost Units: Per Day			
	Lost Production Cost: 0			
	Lost Production Cost Units: Per Day			

Example Risk Data

The following table shows the data for the Risks used in our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>.

Note: The Source column identifies the entity family name of the record in which the associated data is stored. The data from all source records is combined to create the comprehensive Risk data.

Risk	Assigned To	Source	Values Specified
Water	Water Source Asset in all Scenarios	System Risk Record	Name: Water Source Failure
Source Failure			Last Failure: 1/1/1999 12:00:00 AM
			Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost: 0
			Variable Unplanned Correction Cost: 0 Per Day
			Planned Correction Cost: 0
			Planned Correction Duration: 0 Hours
			ls Active : True
			ls Latent: False
			Failure Without Replacement: False
			Number of Subcomponents: 1
			PF Interval: 0 Days
			Repair Immediately: True
			Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
		Exponential	Name: TTF Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Years
			MTBF: 20
			Enable Distribution Association: No
		Exponential	Name: TTR Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Weeks
			MTBF: 2
			Enable Distribution Association: No

Risk	Assigned To	Source	Values Specified
Bottling	Bottling Line Asset in all Scenarios	System Risk Record	Name: Bottling Line Failure
Line Fail- ure			Last Failure: 1/1/1999 12:00:00 AM
			Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost: 0
			Variable Unplanned Correction Cost: 0 Per Day
			Planned Correction Cost: 0
			Planned Correction Duration: 0 Hours
			ls Active: True
			ls Latent: False
			Failure Without Replacement: False
			Number of Subcomponents: 1
			PF Interval: 0 Days
			Repair Immediately: True
			Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
		Exponential Normal	Name: TTF Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Months
			MTBF: 12
			Enable Distribution Association: No
			Name: TTR Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Days
			MTTR: 1
			Enable Distribution Association: No

Risk	Assigned To	Source	Values Specified
Seal Fail-	• Water	System Risk Record	Name: Seal Failure
ure	Pump Asset in		Last Failure: 1/1/1999 12:00:00 AM
	Scenario A and B		Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost: 1500
	Water Pump 1 and Water		Variable Unplanned Correction Cost: 1000 Per Day
	Pump 2		Planned Correction Cost: 1000
	Scenario C		Planned Correction Duration: 4 Hours
			ls Active : True
			ls Latent: False
			Failure Without Replacement: No
			Number of Subcomponents: 1
		Weibull	PF Interval: 30 Days
			Repair Immediately: True
			Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
			Name: TTF Distribution
			Distribution Type: Weibull
			Time Unit: Years
			Beta: 4
			Eta: 3
			Gamma: 0
			Enable Distribution Association: No
			Name: TTR Distribution
			Distribution Type: SingleValue
			Time Unit: Hours
			Value: 12
			Enable Distribution Association: No

Risk	Assigned To	Source	Values Specified
Bearing	 Water Pump Asset in Scenario A and B Water Pump 1 and Water Pump 2 	System Risk Record	Name: Bearing Failure
Failure			Last Failure: 1/1/1999 12:00:00 AM
			Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost: 2000
			Variable Unplanned Correction Cost: 1000 Per Day
			Planned Correction Cost: 1000
	Scenario C		Planned Correction Duration: 4 Hours
			ls Active : True
			ls Latent: False
		Exponential Exponential	Failure Without Replacement: False
			Number of Subcomponents: 1
			PF Interval: 6 Weeks
			Repair Immediately: True
			Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
			Name: TTF Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Months
			MTBF: 60
			Enable Distribution Association: No
			Name: TTR Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Hours
			MTTR: 8
			Enable Distribution Association: No

Risk	Assigned To	Source	Values Specified
Impeller	• Water	System Risk Record	Name: Impeller Failure
Failure	Pump Asset in		Last Failure: 1/1/1999 12:00:00 A.M.
	Scenario A and B		Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost: 1500
	Water Pump 1 and Water		Variable Unplanned Correction Cost: 1000 Per Day
	Pump 2		Planned Correction Cost: 1000
	Assets in Scenario C		Planned Correction Duration: 4 Hours
			ls Active: True
			ls Latent: False
			Failure Without Replacement: False
		Exponential Normal	Number of Subcomponents: 1
			PF Interval: 0 Days
			Repair Immediately: True
			Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
			Name: TTF Distribution
			Distribution Type: Exponential
			Time Unit: Months
			MTBF:24
			Enable Distribution Association: No
			Name: TTR Distribution
			Distribution Type: Single Value
			Time Unit: Hours
			Value: 12
			Enable Distribution Association: No

Example Action Data

The following table shows the data used in the Actions in our System Reliability Analysis Example. This information defines the properties of the Actions associated with the Water Pump element in Scenario B.

Note: The Source column identifies the entity family name of the record in which the associated data is stored. The data from all source records is combined to create comprehensive Action data.

Action	Mitigated Risk	Source	Value Specified	
Redesign Impellers	Impeller Failure	System Special Action Record	Name: Redesign Impellers	
			Action Cost: 1600	
			Interval: 2 Years	
			Duration: 2 Days	
			Shutdown Required:True	
			One Time Action: True	
			Replace Failure Consequence: True	
			Replace TTF Distribution: True	
		System Risk Assessment	Mitigated Unplanned Correction Cost: 1000 ¹	
		Weibull	Name:New TTF Distribution	
			Distribution Type: Weibull	
		Time Unit: Months		
			Beta: 4	
			Eta: 48	
		Gamma: 0		

Action	Mitigated Risk	Source	Value Specified	
Replace Seals	Seal Fail- ure	System Pre- ventive Main- tenance Record	Name: Replace Seals	
			Action Type: Time-Based Main- tenance (Preventive) (PM)	
			Action Cost: 2000	
			Interval: 2 Years	
			Duration: 4 Hours	
			Shutdown Required: True	
			One Time Action: False	
Vibration	Bearing	System Inspec- tion Record	Name: Vibration Analysis	
Analysis	Failure		Action Type: Condition-Based Main- tenance (Predictive) (CM)	
			Condition Monitoring Type: Periodic	
			Action Cost: 0	
			Interval: 3 Weeks	
			Duration: 1 Hours	
			Shutdown Required: False	
			One Time Action: False	
			Detection Probability (%): 90	

Example System Resource Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the System Resource records in our <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Resource	Values Specified		
Bearing	Name: Bearing		
	Fixed Cost: 200		
	Variable Cost: 0 Per Day		
	Count Occurrences: True		
Mechanic	Name: Mechanic		
	Fixed Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost: 100 Per Hour		
	Count Occurrences: False		
Seal	Name: Seal		
	Fixed Cost: 250		
	Variable Cost: 0 Per Day		
	Count Occurrences: True		
Vibration Technician	Name: Vibration Technician		
	Fixed Cost: 0		
	Variable Cost: 100 Per Hour		
	Count Occurrences: False		

Example System Resource Usage Record Data

The following table shows the data stored in the System Resource Usage records in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>:

Resource	Linked To	Values Specified
Vibration Technician	Vibration Analysis	Resource: Vibration Technician
	Action	Quantity: 1
		Duration: 1
		Duration Units: Hours
Mechanic	Bearing Failure Risk	Planned Resource Usage
		Resource: Mechanic
		Quantity: 1
		Duration: 4
		Duration Units: Hours
		Unplanned Resource Usage
		Resource: Mechanic
		Quantity: 1
		Duration: 8
		Duration Units: Hours

Resource	Linked To	Values Specified
Bearing	Bearing Failure Risk	Planned Resource Usage
		Resource: Bearing
		Quantity: 2
		Duration: 0
		Duration Units: Hours
		Unplanned Resource Usage
		Resource: Bearing
		Quantity: 2
		Duration: 0
		Duration Units: Hours
Seal	Bearing Failure Risk	Unplanned Resource Usage
		Resource: Seal
		Quantity: 1
		Duration: 0
		Duration Units: Hours

Accessing the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List Page

The **Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List** page provides access to all existing System Reliability Analyses.

To access the list of existing System Reliability Analyses:

• On the **<u>Reliability Analytics Start page</u>**, click the **System Reliability Analysis** link.

The Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List page appears.

😵 Meridium APM Framework -	Select a System Reliability	Analysis from the List			- • ×	
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	<u>H</u> elp					
😻 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🎽 New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🗉 Report 🕫 Graph 🛛 🧐 Dataset 🕶 Dashboard 🕶						
	Site Map: Reliability->System Reliability					
meriaium	9-9L					
Reliability Analytics	🖻 🗾 Sele	ct a System Relia	bility Analysis fro	m the List		
Common Tasks 🛛 😵						
i New Analysis	Published Analyses	Any (%)		• [Run Query	
🗩 Open Analysis	Last Lodated By			L		
and Publish Analyses	Last opuated by	Administrator, Meridium		•		
🗙 Delete Analysis		1		1		
≡? Send To>>	Analysis ID	Last Updated	Published	Updated by		
🕖 Help						

Aspects of the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List Page

The <u>Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List page</u> lets you run the System Reliability query to access a list of existing Reliability System Analyses that meet your query criteria.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List 📃 💷 📧					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
🍣 Back 🔹 🍥 Forward 🔹 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🏂 New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🛅 Report 🕫 🖓 Graph 🖉 🚱 Dataset 🖬 Dashboard 🕶					
	Site Map: <u>Reliability->System Reliability</u>				
meriaium	<u>₩</u>				
Reliability Analytics	🔊 🛃 Sele	ct a System Relia	bility Analysis fron	n the List	
Common Tasks 🛛 🔊					
The New Apalycis	Published Analyses	A			
Open Analysis	Publianeu Andrysea	Any (%)		Kun Query	
Publish Analyses	Last Updated By	Administrator, Meridium		•	
X Delete Analysis					
≡_? Send To>>	Analysis ID	Last Updated	Published	Updated by	
🕖 Help					

The System Reliability query is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. While the System Reliability query can be <u>cus</u>tomized for your specific implementation, the baseline System Reliability query contains two prompts: **Published Analyses** and **Last Updated By**. These prompts appear at the top of the page as drop-down lists that contain various options.

The **Published Analyses** list contains the following options:

- Any (%): Will cause the query to return ALL analyses, either published or unpublished.
- Yes (Y): Will cause the query to return*only*published analyses.
- No (N): Will cause the query to return*only*unpublished analyses.

The Last Updated By list contains the following options:

- Your user name, which will cause the query to return only the Reliability System Analyses that were last updated by you.
- The user name of any user who last updated any System Reliability Analysis, which will cause the query to return only the Reliability System Analyses that were last updated by that user.
- The (All Users) option, which will cause the query to return a list of Reliability System Analyses updated by ANY user.

Each time you access the **Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List** page, the values that appear by default in the prompts will be used to filter the list. After you select different criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button to run the Systems Reliability query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page.

Note: Although the results are returned by the System Reliability query, query page size is ignored. The entire list of analyses is displayed at once.

The default Systems Reliability query is configured to display the**Analysis ID**, **Last Updated**, **Published**, and **Updated By** columns. After you run the query, you can click any hyperlinked Analysis ID to view the associated <u>System Reliability Analysis summary</u>. In addition, you can use the options on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to perform tasks associated with the analyses in the list.

CEHint: If desired, you cancustomize the column display of the results grid.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the System Reliability Analysis Definition page, where you can begin the process of creating a new System Reliability Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Items** window, which you can use to find and open an existing System Reliability Analysis. Note that you can also open an existing System Reliability Analysis by clicking any hyperlinked value in the Analysis ID column.
- Publish Analyses: After asking for confirmation, <u>publishes the selected analysis or</u> <u>analyses</u>.

Note: If you have selected a published Analysis, this link will become **Unpublish Analyses**. After asking for confirmation, this link <u>unpublishes the selected ana-</u> <u>lysis or analyses</u>. If you select a combination of published and unpublished analyses, the name of the link will be appropriate for the last analysis in the list. Clicking the link will perform that action for all the analyses. For example, to publish multiple analyses, you should select only unpublished analyses.

- **Delete Analyses:** After asking for confirmation, deletes the selected analysis or analyses.
- **Send To:** Displays a submenu with options that let youprovide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the current page.

About Navigating System Reliability Features

From the **Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List** page, you can open an existing System Reliability Analysis or create a new one. When you do so:

- If you are creating a new analysis or opening an existing analysis for which the simulation results have not yet been saved, the <u>System Reliability Analysis Definition</u> <u>page</u> will be displayed.
- If you are opening an existing analysis for which the simulation results have been saved, the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u> will be displayed.

In either case, after you have accessed an analysis, you can use the task menus to perform tasks and access additional pages and features related to that analysis. This section of the documentation provides an overview of those tasks, pages, and features.

Note: Each page title is prefixed with the text *System Reliability* and appended with the name of the System Reliability Analysis. For example, if you are viewing the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> on the <u>System Reliability Summary</u> page, the full page title would be <u>System Reliability Summary</u> - <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>. Throughout the documentation, we refer to the page names *without* the text *System Reliability* or the analysis name. Continuing with the example, we would refer to this page simply as the *System Reliability Summary* page.

Aspects of the System Reliability Summary Page

The **System Reliability Summary** page displays a summary of the simulation results that currently exist for a given System Reliability Analysis.



The System Reliability Summary page contains the following features:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: <u>Tools</u>, <u>Navigation</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>.
- System Reliability Summary workspace: Displays the simulation results on seven tabs:
 - Total Cost: Displays the Total Cost graph that exists for the System Reliability Analysis.
 - Total Cost Trend: Displays the Total Cost Trend graph that exists for the System Reliability Analysis.
 - <u>Annual Action Cost</u>: Displays the Annual Action Cost graph that exists for the System Reliability Analysis.
 - Action Cost Trend: Displays the Action Cost Trend graph that exists for the

System Reliability Analysis.

- <u>Resource Occurrence</u>: Displays the Resource Occurrence graph that exists for the System Reliability Analysis.
- <u>Resource Time</u>: Displays the Resource Time graph that exists for the System Reliability Analysis.
- <u>Resource Cost</u>: Displays the Resource Cost graph that exists for the System Reliability Analysis.

You can right-click a graph to display a submenu of options that you can use to customize the graph.

Note: If values that will affect the simulation results have been modified since the simulation was last run, a message will be displayed at the top of the page indicating that the simulation must be rerun. Whenever this message appears, we recommend that you rerun the simulation to ensure that valid results are displayed.

Aspects of the System Reliability Analysis Definition Page

The **System Reliability Analysis System Definition** page contains features that allow you to <u>define basic properties of a given System Reliability Analysis</u> and manage Scenarios associated with it.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Analysis Definition - SubSystem					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
🈻 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🏂 New 🎤 Search 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Query × 🛅 Report 🕫 Graph + 🍕 Dataset + 📟 Dashboard +					
Reliability Analytics Tech System Reliability -> SubSystem					
Validate Diagrams					
Run Simulation					
Coptimize Actions Name: SubSystem					
🖓 Resources					
Generate Report Description:					
Recommendations					
A Refresh Distribu Currency: \$					
Start Date: 4/12/2010 11:54:12 AM ▼ Period: 1	Years 💌				
Navigation V Iterations: 1000 Time Analysis Type: Yearly					
Summary					
Analysis Definition					
Diagram Enable Event Log: Random Seed:					
Actions Scenarios					
Risks					
Global Events Name Description					
Grid View Scenario 1					
Simulation Results					
Common Tasks 😵					
in New Analysis					
5 Open Analysis					
Save Analysis					
Cape Add Scenario Edit Scenario Copy Scenario	Delete Scenario				

The System Reliability Analysis Definition page is divided into the following areas:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: Tools, Navigation, and Common Tasks.
- Analysis Parameters section: Displays <u>fields that you can use to define the prop</u>erties of a System Reliability Analysis. The content of this pane is controlled by the default datasheet that is defined for the System Analysis family.
- Scenarios section: Contains a grid and buttons that you can use to manage the <u>Scenarios</u> associated with a System Reliability Analysis. The grid displays the following columns of information, which display values from the following fields in System Scenario records:

- Name
- Description

Note: The **Name** and **Description** columns are the only fields of the <u>System Scenario record</u> that are available to view in the <u>Scenarios</u> grid. Additional fields exist in the <u>System Scenario record</u> but cannot be added to the **Scenarios** grid.

Below the Scenarios grid, the following buttons appear:

- Add Scenario: Displays the Add New Scenario dialog box, where you can create a new System Scenario record to link to the current System Analysis record.
- Edit Scenario: Displays a dialog box where you can <u>modify the properties of the</u> <u>System Scenario record</u> that is currently selected in the Scenarios grid.
- Copy Scenario: <u>Creates a copy of the System Scenario record</u> that is currently selected in the Scenarios grid. The copy includes the System Scenario record itself and the System Subsystem records that are linked to it.
- Delete Scenario: After asking for confirmation, <u>deletes the System Scenario</u> record that is currently selected in the Scenarios grid.

Note that if you want to collapse the **Analysis Parameters** or **Scenarios** section, you can click the section in the section header. To expand the section again, click the section ton.
Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram Page

The **System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram** page displays the Diagram that is associated with a given Scenario.



The System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram page contains the following features:

- **Task menus:** Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: <u>Tools</u>, <u>Navigation</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>.
- System Reliability Scenarios Diagram workspace: Serves as the main display area and contains the following features:
- Scenario list: Contains the names of the System Scenario records that are associated with the current System Reliability Analysis. You can select any name in the list to view the Diagram associated with that Scenario.
- <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>: Provides a hierarchical view of the elements included in the Diagram.
- Diagram Canvas: Serves as an interactive drawing interface where you can build a Diagram. You can drag elements from the Diagram Palette pane to the Diagram Canvas to display the elements and their links within the Diagram. You can then rearrange the elements by dragging them to different locations on the Diagram Canvas.
- <u>Diagram Palette pane</u>: Displays the available Diagram elements that you can drag onto the Diagram Canvas to include in the Diagram.
- Properties pane: Displays the information associated either with the entire Diagram or a selected element. Confidential and Proprietary Information of Meridium, Inc. • Page 649 of 1195

Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios -Actions Page

The **System Reliability Scenarios - Actions** page lets you view and <u>manage the Actions</u> that exist for a given Scenario in a System Reliability Analysis.

🎱 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Scenarios - Actions - SubSystem 🕞 📧 📧				
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp				
😻 Back 👻 🍭 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻 🏂 New 🔎	Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query - 🛅 Report - 🕼 Graph - 🍕 Dataset - 📼	Dashboard -		
Reliability Analytics	Reliability Scenarios - Actions			
Tools Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>System Relia</u>	bility->SubSystem->Scenario 1			
🗸 Validate Diagrams	Scenario: Scen	nario 1		
🐑 Run Simulation				
Diagram Hierarchy	Actions			
Resources	Name Description	Resource Usages		
Generate Report	Redesign Impellers	Resource Usages		
Recommendations Bottling Line 1	Replace Seals	Resource Usages		
Refresh Distribu 🖗 Water Source	Vibration Analysis	Resource Usages		
Navigation		les_		
Summary				
Analysis Definition	Add Action	Delete Action Optimize		
Diagram	Mitigated Risks			
Actions	Name Description TTF TTR Plann	ed R Unplanned Risks to Reset		
Risks	Impeller Failure TTF Distribution TTR Distribution Planne	ad Reso Unplanned Re 0		
Global Events		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Grid View				
Simulation Results				
Common Tasks 😻				
I New Analysis	Assign New Risk	Assign Existing Risks		

The System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page contains the following features:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: <u>Tools</u>, <u>Navigation</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>.
- System Reliability Scenarios Actions workspace: Displays the following sections:
 - Scenario list: Contains the names of the System Scenario records that are associated with the current System Reliability Analysis. You can select any name in the list to view the Actions associated with that Scenario.
 - <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>: Displays the elements that can have Actions associated with them.
 - <u>Actions pane</u>: Displays a grid that you can use to view Actions associated with the selected element in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane and buttons that you can use to perform various operations against those Actions.
 - <u>Mitigated Risks pane</u>: Displays a grid that you can use to view Risks that have been mitigated by the selected Action in the Actions pane and buttons that you can use to perform various operations against those Risks.

Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Risks Page

The **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page lets you view and <u>manage the Risks</u> that exist for a given Scenario in a System Reliability Analysis.

Meridium APM Framework	🖻 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Scenarios - Risks - System Reliability Analysis Example 📃 💷						×		
Eile <u>É</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>I</u> cols <u>H</u> elp									
🍪 Back 👻 🏵 Forward 👻 🦿	My Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔎 Sea	rch 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Q	uery 👻 🛅 Rep	oort 👻 🚯 Graph 👻 🤇	😸 Dataset 🕶 🗔 Da	shboard -			
meridium Reliability Analytics	Reliability Analytics System Reliability Scenarios - Risks								
Tools 😵	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> ->SystemReliability	ty->System Reliability An	alysis Example	-> <u>Scenario forDiagn</u>	am B				
🎺 Validate Diagrams						Scenario: Scenario f	or Diagram B		•
Run Simulation									1-
Coptimize Actions	Name A	Risks							Vater
Resources	Scenario for Diagram B	Name △	Description	TTF	TTR	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	Risks to Reset	Pum
Generate Report	Bottling Subsystem	Bearing Failure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	0	p's Pr
Recommendations	Bottling Line 1	Seal Failure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	0	opert
Refresh Distributions	Bottling Line 3			THE DISTRIBUTION		<u>Harres Reborce obdeo</u>	onponneo recoorec obdeco	¥	ies i
Navigation 😵	- 🖗 Water Pump								
Summary	🗑 Water Tank								
Analysis Definition									
Diagram									
Actions			Add Risk	Associat	e Distribution	Open Analysis	Refresh Distribution	Delete Risk	
i Risks									
Global Events		Mitigating Actions							
Grid View		Name			Description		Resource Usages		
Simulation Results									
Common Taska									
New Analysis									
Den Analysis									
Save Analysis									
Save Analysis AS									
Send To>>		l							
Help						Assign Ne	ew Action Ass	ign Existing Actions	
									1J

The System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page contains the following features:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: Tools, Navigation, and Common Tasks.
- System Reliability Scenarios Risks workspace: Displays the following sections:
 - Scenario list: Contains the names of the System Scenario records that are associated with the current System Reliability Analysis. You can select any name in the list to view the Risks associated with that Scenario.
 - <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>: Displays the elements that can have Risks associated with them.
 - <u>Risks pane</u>: Displays a grid that you can use to view Risks associated with the selected element in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane and buttons that you can use to perform various operations against those Risks.
 - Mitigating Actions pane: Displays a grid that you can use to view Actions that will mitigate the Risk selected in the Risks pane and buttons that you can use to perform various operations against those Actions.

Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Global **Events Page**

The **System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events** page lets you view and manage the Global Events that exist for a given Scenario in a System Reliability Analysis.

😵 Me	🍄 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events - SubSystem 📃 💷 📧					
<u>F</u> ile	<u>File E</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>I</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
🔅 B	ack 👻 🛞 Forward 🚽	6	My Start Page 👻 🐞 New 🔎 Search 🗯 Catal	og 🔞 Query - 🛅 Report - 🕼 Graph -	🥰 Dataset 🕶 🖼 Dashboard 🗸	
m Rel	Reliability Analytics System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events					
Tool	s 😵	<u> </u>	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>System Reliability</u> -> <u>SubSystem</u>	n-> <u>Scenario 1</u>		
1	Validate Diagrams			Scenario:	Scenario 1	
1	Run Simulation					
2-	Optimize Actions		Global Events			
- 49	Resources		Name	Description	Driver Type	
1	Generate Report		Global Event			
	Recommendations					
- 💁	Refresh Distribu	_				
Navi	gation 😵					
	Summary			Add Global Event	Delete Global Event	
	Analysis Definition		Actions to Alian			
	Diagram		Actions to Alight			
	Actions		Name	Is Driver		
	Risks		SubSystem			
I ⇒	Global Events	-	Water Pump			
	Grid View					
	Simulation Results					
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 😣				Assign Actions	
1	New Analysis	-				

The System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page contains the following features:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: Tools, Navigation, and Common Tasks.
- System Reliability Scenarios Global Events workspace: Displays the following sections:
- Scenario list: Contains the names of the System Scenario records that are asso-Actions to Align paper: Bisslays Republic Avalysis. You tan sevent any standigh the with the Given a contained with the sector and the sector of the sevent sevent and the sector of the sec Global Events pane: Displays a grid that you can use to view Global Events asso-
- ciated with the selected Scenario and buttons that you can use to perform actions related to Global Events.

Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Grid Page

The **System Reliability Scenarios - Grid** page displays the *grid view* of a given Scenario. The grid view facilitates a global view of the entire Scenario and its properties.

😵 Me	🍄 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Scenarios - Grid - SubSystem 📃 💷 📧										
<u>F</u> ile	<u>File E</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp										
📀 B	ack 🚽 🛞 Forward ୟ	- 🏠	My S	itart Pa	ige 🚽 🎽 New 🌡	🛡 Search D Catalo	og 🔞 Que	ry 🗸 🛅 Repoi	rt 👻 🚺 Graph 🗸	🥪 Dataset 🗸 💷 Da	ashboard -
m Rel	eridiun iability Analytic	n 5	2	@] •	System	Reliability	Scena	rios - G	rid		
Tool	s 😽	<u></u>	Site M	ap: <u>Re</u>	liability-> <u>SystemRe</u>	liability->SubSystem	-> <u>Scenario</u> 1	L			
	Validate Diagrams								Scenario:	Scenario 1	•
	Run Simulation										,
2	Optimize Actions								Filter	: Asset	•
1	Resources			Name		Production Contri	Fixed C	Variable C	Variable Cos	Lost Production C	Lost Production Cos
ii	Generate Report		•		SubSystem	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
	Recommendations			-	Water Source	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
	Refresh Distribu				Water Pump	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
		=		E	Subsystem	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
Navi	gation 😽				Bottling	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
	Summary				Botting	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
	Analysis Definition										
	Diagram										
	Actions										
	Risks										
	Global Events	4									
l ⇒	Grid View										
	Simulation Results										
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 😵										
ਿ	New Analysis	-									

Note: The **System Reliability Scenarios - Grid** page displays Assets, Buffers, Distributions, Links, Risks, Subsystems, and Switches. Sensors can be viewed only on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram page</u>. Global Events can be viewed only on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page</u>.

The System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page contains the following features:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: Tools, Navigation, and Common Tasks.
- <u>System Reliability Scenarios Grid workspace</u>: Serves as the main display area and contains the following features:
- Scenario list: Contains the names of the System Scenario records that are associated with the current System Reliability Analysis. You can select any name in the list to view the grid associated with that Scenario.
- Filter list: Contains a list of Scenario elements that you can select and view a specialized display of the Diagram that focuses on detailed information related to the selected Filter option in the <u>grid view</u>. You can select any of the following Filter options:
- Action Confidential and Proprietary Information of Meridium, Inc. • Page 653 of 1195
- <u>Asset</u>
- <u>Buffer</u>

Aspects of the System Reliability Scenarios - Grid Page

- <u>Subsystem</u>
- <u>Switch</u>
- **Grid:** Provides a <u>grid view</u> of the Scenario.

Aspects of the System Reliability Simulation Results Page

The **System Reliability Simulation Results** page displays the simulation results that currently exist for a given System Reliability Analysis.

Meridium APM Framework -	🏖 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Simulation Results - v3.4.3 Sys. Model with DB component						
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	Eile Edit GoTo Iools Help						
🤹 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠	n My Start Page 🔹 👔 New 🔑 Search 🚔 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🗓 Report + 🕼 Graph + 😚 Dataset + 🖼 Dashboard +						
meridium	Sector Della bille Charlester Develo						
Reliability Analytics	System Reliability Simulation Results						
Reliability Analytics	She Mara Bullakilla ya Gutan Bullakilla ya 2.4.500 Madalakik DB ana ya sa						
Tools 😵	Site Map: <u>Keilability->Wstem Keilability->Wstas Wst. Model with Db Component</u>						
Validate Diagrams	Elements Actions Resources						
Run Simulation							
Optimize Actions	Letement △ I Fallure's Downtime (Days) Cost (\$) Reliability Availability INEXT Fallure (Days)	.00					
Generate Report	Baseline-101 3.06 30.27 0 0.000% 91.71% 0.0	.00					
Recommendations	v3.10 Rel. Di 3.06 30.27 0 0.00 % 91.71 % 0.	.00					
Refresh Distributions							
Navigation 🛛 📚							
Summary							
Analysis Definition							
Diagram							
Actions							
Risks							
Global Events							
Grid View	3.3 Sys. Model with DB component (Scenario 3.3 Sys. Model with DB component (Scenario v3.3.3 Sys. Model with DB component (Scenario)						
Simulation Results	600						
Common Tasks 🛛 😵	2.10 - 2.70 -						
i New Analysis	1.80 - 2.40 -						
🕫 Open Analysis	400 - 2.10 -						
Save Analysis	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2						
🔓 Save Analysis As	률 300 - 클 1.20 - 클 1.50 -						
🗙 Delete Analysis	200 - 0.90 - 1.20 -						
🖅 Send To>>	0.60 - 0.90 -						
创 Help	100 - 0.30 -						
	0.30						
	2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50 4.00 4.50 5.00 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8						

The System Reliability Simulation Results page contains the following features:

- Task menus: Displays the task menus that are common to most pages in System Reliability: <u>Tools</u>, <u>Navigation</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>.
- **Tabbed grid:** Appears at the top of the System Reliability Simulation Results workspace and contains detailed simulation results on three tabs:
 - <u>Elements grid</u>: Displays detailed simulation results for the components in the System Reliability Analysis.
 - <u>Actions grid</u>: Displays detailed simulation results for the Actions associated with the System Reliability Analysis.
 - <u>Resources grid</u>: Displays detailed simulation results for the Resources associated with the System Reliability Analysis.

- **Plots area:** Displays plots for the Scenario that is currently selected in the grid at the top of the workspace. As you select different cells in the grid, the plots will be updated to display information that is specific to that element. The following plots are displayed.
 - <u>Histogram Plot</u>: Provides a visual representation of the frequency distribution of the result that appears in the grid.
 - Trend Plot: Provides the average value for each analysis time interval, as defined by the value in the Time Analysis Type field in the root <u>System Analysis record</u>, of the result that appears in the grid.
 - Impact Plot: Provides the average values that are combined to make up the average value of the result that appears in the grid.

Note: If values that will affect the simulation results have been modified since the simulation was last run, a message will be displayed at the top of the page indicating that the simulation must be rerun. Whenever this message appears, we recommend that you rerun the simulation to ensure that valid results are displayed.

Tools Menu



The **Tools** menu contains the following links:

- Validate Diagrams: Evaluates the Diagrams in the System Reliability Analysis and provides feedback on whether or not the Diagrams are valid. If any of the Diagrams are invalid, <u>detailed results</u> will be displayed on the Diagram Validation Results dialog box.
- **Run Simulation:** Validates the Diagrams in the System Reliability Analysis and, if the models are valid, shows the progress of the simulation and then displays the results on the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u>. If the Diagram for any Scenario is invalid, detailed results will be displayed on the **Diagram Validation Results** dialog box and the simulation cannot run.
- Optimize Actions: Displays the Multiple Action Interval Optimization window, where you can <u>run a simulation to find the optimal interval to perform Actions</u> that have been assigned to a Scenario.
- **Resources:** Displays the **Resources** window, where you can <u>define Resources</u> for the System Reliability Analysis.
- Generate Report: Runs a report and displays the results on the Report Viewer page. If changes have been made to the System Reliability Analysis, you will be prompted to save your changes before the report results can be generated.
- Recommendations: Displays the Recommendations page, which shows the Reliability Recommendation records that are associated with the current System Reliability Analysis. If changes have been made to the System Reliability Analysis, you will be prompted to save your changes before the Recommendations page will be displayed.
- **Refresh Distributions:** After prompting you for confirmation, refreshes all the distribution data associated with the System Reliability Analysis by replacing the current TTF and TTR distributions with the most recently saved TTF and TTR distributions from the source distribution.

Navigation Menu

The **Navigation** menu contains links that allow you to navigate throughout the various views and elements of a System Reliability Analysis.

Navigation 😵				
-	Summary			
	Analysis Definition	.		
	Diagram			
	Actions			
	Risks			
	Global Events			
	Grid View			
	Simulation Results			

The **Navigation** menu contains the following links:

- Summary: Displays the System Reliability Summary page.
- Analysis Definition: Displays the System Reliability Analysis Definition page.
 - Diagram: Displays the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Diagram page</u>.
 - Actions: Displays the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Actionspage</u>.
 - Risks: Displays the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Risks page</u>.
 - Global Events: Displays the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Global Events</u> page.
 - Grid View: Displays the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Grid page</u>.
- Simulation Results: Displays the System Reliability Simulation Results page.

Note: As you navigate through pages that are accessible from the Navigation menu, keep in mind that clicking the Back button will take you to the page you were on immediately before you accessed the current System Reliability Analysis. For example, if you open a System Reliability Analysis from the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List page, causing the System Reliability Summary page to be displayed, if you then navigate to the System Reliability Analysis from the List page and then click theBack button, the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List page will be displayed, not the System Reliability Summary page.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the System Reliability Analysis Definition page, where you can begin the process of creating a new System Reliability Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Items** window, which you can use to find and open an existing System Reliability Analysis.
- Save Analysis: Saves all changes that you have made to the current System Reliability Analysis. This link is enabled only if the analysis contains unsaved changed.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save Analysis As dialog box, where you can choose to save the current analysis with a different name. This will create a copy of the current analysis with the new name.
- **Delete Analysis:** After asking for confirmation, deletes the current analysis and then displays the **Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List** page.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the current page.

Datasheets in System Reliability Analyses

In a System Reliability Analysis, the content of many of the windows and panes is driven by custom-layout datasheets. In most cases, however, the datasheet toolbar is not displayed, so it is not obvious which datasheet you are viewing.

The following table, therefore, lists the items whose content is controlled by a customlayout datasheet, the datasheet that controls the content, and the family for which the datasheet is defined.

Item	Datasheet	Family
Analysis Parameters pane	System Analysis	System Analysis
Add New Scenario win- dow	System Scenario	<u>System Scenario</u>
New Inspection window	System Inspection	System Inspection
New Preventive Main- tenance window	System Preventive Main- tenance	System Preventive Main- tenance
New Condition Monitor window	System Condition Mon- itor	System Condition Monitor
New Special Action win- dow	System Special Action	System Special Action
Add New Risk window	System Risk	System Risk
<u>New Global Event win</u> - <u>dow</u>	System Global Event	System Global Event
Add New Resource win- dow	System Resource	System Resource

About Saving System Reliability Analyses

A System Reliability Analysis consists of multiple records that are linked together to make up the entire analysis. As you navigate through the pages in System Reliability, you will add and modify records belonging to the analysis. Rather than saving these records individually, you will need to save the entire analysis in order to retain the changes that you have made to individual records.

You can save a System Reliability Analysis by clicking the **Save Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> on any page in System Reliability. Clicking this link will save the root System Analysis record and ALL records that are linked to it, either directly or indirectly. In other words, when you save a System Reliability Analysis, the following analysis components will also be saved:

- Scenarios
- Diagrams
- Resources
- Risks
- Actions
- Global Events
- Simulation Results

If you make changes to any of the components in the preceding list and do not save the analysis, your changes will be discarded. You will know that the analysis contains unsaved changes if the **Save Analysis** link is enabled on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>. Additionally, when you navigate away from System Reliability, if the analysis contains unsaved changes, you will be prompted to save those changes.

About Deleting Components in System Reliability Analyses

A System Reliability Analysis consists of multiple records that are linked together to make up the entire analysis. These records represent components in the analysis. As you navigate through the pages in System Reliability, you can manage the components that belong to an analysis, including adding, modifying, and deleting components.

Note: If you delete a Scenario, any components or elements that are linked to that Scenario will be deleted. If you delete an Asset or Switch element, the Actions and Risks that are associated with that element are deleted as well. If you delete a Resource, any linked System Resource Usage records will be deleted as well.

Any of the following components can be deleted from an analysis:

- Scenarios
- Elements
- Resources
- Risks
- Actions
- Global Events

When you delete a component from a System Reliability Analysis, that component will be *removed* from the grid or pane in which it is displayed, but the record that stores the information about the component will not be deleted from the database until you save the analysis. In other words, when you delete a component from an analysis, it is considered an unsaved change. The record that represents the component in the analysis will only be deleted if you save the change. If you delete a component and do not save the analysis, your deletion will be discarded.

Note: You will know that the analysis contains unsaved changes, which may include deletions, if the **Save Analysis** link is enabled on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>. Additionally, when you navigate away from System Reliability, if the analysis contains unsaved changes, you will be prompted to save those changes.

Creating a New System Reliability Analysis

Developing a System Reliability Analysis consists of multiple steps, as defined in the System Reliability Analysis workflow. In this topic, we provide details on performing the first step in the process.

To begin the process of creating a new System Reliability Analysis:

• On the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List page, on the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The <u>System Reliability Analysis Definition page</u> appears, displaying a new analysis. From here, you can complete the process of building a new analysis.

😵 Me	Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Analysis Definition - New Analysis 1						
<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp						
🔅 B	🍲 Back 🔹 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔑 Search 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🗓 Report + 🕼 Graph + 🍕 Dataset + 💷 Dashboard +						
Rel	Reliability Analysis Definition						
	Validate Diagrams		Analusia Davanatara				
	Run Simulation		Analysis Parameters				
	Optimize Actions		Name:	New Analysis 1			
-	Resources		Description:				
E	Generate Report		beschption				
	Recommendations		Currency:	\$			
- 🔬	Refresh Distribu		Start Date:	1/26/2012 4:09:14 PM 🔻	Period:	1	Years 💌
Navi	gation 😵		Iterations:	1000	Time Analysis Type:	Yearly	
	Summary	=	Confidence (%):	90	Histogram Bins:	20	
⇒	Analysis Definition		Enable Event Log:		Random Seed:		
	Diagram						
	Actions		Scenarios				
	Risks		Name		Desc	ription	
	Global Events		New Scenario 1				
	Grid View						
	Simulation Results						
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 😵						
	New Analysis						
厚	Open Analysis			Add Scenario	Edit Scenario	Copy Scenario	Delete Scenario
2	Save Analysis	-					

Defining Analysis Parameters

The parameters of a System Reliability Analysis are defined in a <u>System Analysis record</u>, which is the root record in the analysis. The values that you define for the analysis parameters will serve as inputs to the simulation and will affect the simulation results. You can modify the analysis parameters and rerun the simulation to see the effect that they have on the results.

To define the analysis properties:

• On the **System Reliability Analysis Definition** page, in the **Analysis Parameters** pane, specify the desired values for the available fields.

4	Analysis Parameters						
	Name:	New Analysis 2					
	Description:						
	Currency:	\$					
	Start Date:	9/7/2011 1:50:37 PM 🔹	Period:	1		Years	-
	Iterations:	1000	Time Analysis Type:	Yearly			-
	Confidence (%):	90	Histogram Bins:	20			
	Enable Event Log:		Random Seed:				

After you have defined the desired parameters, you can <u>save your changes</u> or <u>run</u> <u>the simulation</u> to see the effect of the changes you made.

Workflow for Developing a Scenario

To develop a Scenario, you must complete the following steps:

- 1. <u>Create a System Scenario record</u>.
- 2. Develop a Diagram for the Scenario.

After you have created the Diagram, you can <u>add Risks</u>, <u>Actions</u>, and <u>Global Events</u> to the Scenario, if desired.

Creating System Scenario Records

Creating a <u>System Scenario record</u> is the first step in the process of <u>developing a Scen</u>ario.

Note: When you create a new System Reliability Analysis, one System Scenario record will be created automatically and identified by the value *New Scenario 1* in the Name field. You can <u>modify the Scenario</u> and include it in your System Reliability Analysis, or you can <u>delete the Scenario</u> and create a new one. Each System Reliability Analysis must contain at least one Scenario.

To create a new System Scenario record:

- 1. <u>Access the System Reliability Analysis Definition page</u> for the System Reliability Analysis for which you want to create a new Scenario.
- 2. In the Scenarios section, below the grid, click the Add Scenario button.

Add New Scenario
Add New Scenario
Name: New Scenario 2

Description:

OK Carcel

The Add New Scenario dialog box appears.

The content of the **Add New Scenario** dialog box is controlled by the default datasheet defined for the System Scenario family.

- 3. Define the properties of the System Scenario record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

The System Scenario record is created, and the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Dia</u>gram page appears so that you can begin building a Diagram for the Scenario.



Creating Copies of System Scenario Records

When you create a copy of a Scenario, you are copying the System Scenario record itself and all the components that are included in that Scenario (e.g., all Sensor elements, Switch elements, and Asset elements).

To copy a Scenario:

- 1. <u>Access the System Reliability Analysis Definition page</u> for the System Reliability Analysis containing the Scenario that you want to copy.
- 2. In the grid within the **Scenarios** section, select the row containing the System Scenario record that you want to copy.
- 3. Click the Copy Scenario button.

The Scenario is copied and appears in the grid in the **Scenarios** section with the value **Copy of <Scenario Name>** in the Name column, where **<Scenario Name>** is the name of the System Scenario record that you copied.

	Name	Description
	New Scenario 1	
Þ	Copy of New Scenario 1	
	Add Scenario Edit Scena	ario Copy Scenario Delete Scenario

Modifying System Scenario Records

To modify a System Scenario record:

- 1. <u>Access the **System Reliability Analysis Definition** page</u> for the System Reliability Analysis containing a Scenario that you want to modify.
- 2. In the grid within the **Scenarios** section, select the row containing the System Scenario record that you want to modify.
- 3. Click the Edit Scenario button.

The **<Scenario Name>** dialog box appears, where **<Scenario Name>** is the value in the Name field of the System Scenario record that you selected. The content of this dialog box is controlled by the default datasheet defined for the System Scenario family.

🖳 Test Scena	io	×
Test	Scenario	
Name:	Test Scenario	
Description:		••••
		Close

- 4. Modify the properties of the System Scenario record as desired.
- 5. Click **OK**.

Your changes are applied.

Deleting System Scenario Records

Deleting a Scenario from a System Reliability Analysis will delete the System Scenario record and all Diagrams that are associated with it.

To delete a Scenario from a System Reliability Analysis:

- 1. <u>Access the System Reliability Analysis Definition page</u> for the System Reliability Analysis containing a Scenario that you want to delete.
- 2. In the grid within the **Scenarios** section, select the row containing the scenario that you want to delete.
- 3. Click the **Delete Scenario** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the Scenario.

4. Click the **Yes** button.

The Scenario is removed from the grid in the **Scenarios** section.

About Building Diagrams

A Diagram represents one option for the physical layout and construction of a system. A Diagram consists of a root System Subsystem record, which is linked to System Subsystem, System Sensor, System Buffer, System Link, System Asset, and System Switch records that together make up the Diagram.

When you create a System Scenario record, a System Subsystem record is created automatically and linked to the System Scenario record. Therefore, after you have created a Scenario, there is no manual step required for *creating* a Scenario Diagram. You simply must *build* out the Scenario Diagram by adding the necessary elements and connections.

You can view and build a Diagram on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram page</u>. You can also view the elements of a Diagram on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Grid** page.

Elements of a Diagram

The following table lists the elements that are available in a Diagram and the associated records that are created automatically in the Meridium APM database when you add each element to the Diagram.

Icon	Element	Record	Description
• •	Start	None	Represents the starting point for all paths in the Diagram. This element is created by default when you create a new Diagram. You cannot enter data for this element in the Prop- erties grid because no record is associated with this element.
•●	End	None	Represents the ending point for all paths in the Diagram. This element is created by default when you create a new Diagram. You cannot enter data for this element in the Prop- erties grid because no record is associated with this element.
•@•	<u>Asset</u>	System Asset	Represents a piece of equipment or location in the system. An Asset element can either be imported from an Equipment or Functional Location record that exists within the Meridium APM database, or it can be <u>created</u> <u>from scratch</u> .

lcon	Element	Record	Description
•	<u>Buffer</u>	System Buffer	Represents an intermediate storage container between two other elements. For example, consider <u>Scenario A</u> in our <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Analysis Example</u> without a Water Tank ele- ment. The Water Pump produces output (water) that is fed into the Bottling Subsystem. If the Water Pump were to fail, the Bottling Subsystem would not receive any input (water) and the entire system would fail. Similarly, if the Bottling Subsystem were to fail, then the output of the Water Tank would have nowhere to go, and the entire system would fail.
			Alternatively, and as is constructed in the Scen- arios in our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u> , a Buffer element (Water Tank) is inserted between the Water Pump and the Bot- tling Subsystem. If the Water Pump were to fail, the Bottling Subsystem could continue to function as long as input (water) was available from the Water Tank. If the Bottling Sub- system were to fail, the Water Tank could serve as storage for output (water) until the Bottling Subsystem could be restored or until the Water Tank could accept no more addi- tional output. In either case, a failure of the entire system could be avoided or minimized.
•	<u>Link</u>	System Link	Connects other elements that work together to produce output. For example, consider the Bottling Subsystem in our <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Analysis Example</u> . Each of the three Bottling Lines produces bottles filled with water. In the Link element, the Bottling Lines combine their respective outputs into one stream of output for further use beyond our example. A Link represents the "hub" where the outputs of equipment and locations meet before con- necting to the rest of the Diagram.

lcon	Element	Record	Description
Ģ	<u>Sensor</u>	System Sensor	Detects the failure of a piece of equipment or location and notifies Switches of the failure. A Sensor cannot be connected to any other ele- ments in the Diagram. If an Asset element in the Diagram fails, the Sensor that is mon- itoring that element will activate designated Switches to start elements running and deac- tivate other Switches to put other elements in standby. If the Asset element is deleted from the Diagram, then the connection between the Asset element and the Sensor will be deleted as well.
			For example, consider <u>Scenario C</u> in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> . Sensor 1 monitors Water Tank 1 for failures. When a failure is detected, Sensor 1 deactivates Switch 1, which deactivates the failed Water Tank 1, and activates Switch 2, which activates the available Water Tank 2.
•@•	<u>Switch</u>	System Switch	Represents a component that is activated or deactivated by a Sensor when a failure occurs. Switches allow you to connect or disconnect an entire branch of the Diagram when failures are detected.
			For example, consider <u>Scenario C</u> in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> . Switch 1 is deactivated by Sensor 1 when a failure of Water Pump 1 is detected.
	<u>Subsystem</u>	System Subsystem	Represents an entire system of equipment and locations. You can build Subsystems within other Subsystems within the main Dia- gram to model production units. For each Dia- gram:
			 The root Subsystem, like <i>Diagram for</i> Scenario A in <u>Scenario A</u>, is represented by this icon:
			 Other Subsystem elements, like the Bot- tling Line in all of the scenarios in the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>, are represented by this icon: •

Accessing the Diagram Associated with a Scenario

To access the Diagram associated with a Scenario:

- 1. <u>Access the System Reliability Analysis Definition page</u> for the System Reliability Analysis containing the Scenario whose Diagram you want to access.
- 2. In the grid in the **Scenarios** section, click the hyperlinked name of the Scenario whose Diagram you want to access.

The **System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram** page appears.



Options Available on the Diagram Canvas

The Diagram Canvas on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram** page is the main area that you will use for building a Diagram. When the Diagram is complete, the Diagram Canvas will contain a visual representation of the elements and connections in the physical system. The Diagram is interactive and can be modified using tools that are available on the Diagram Canvas itself, including the following features.

Drag-and-Drop

Click any element on the Diagram Canvas to make a green box appear around it, then hold your mouse button down, and drag the element to the desired location.

Shortcut Menus

Right-click any blank area on the Diagram Canvas to see the following menu:

Import •
Zoom In
Zoom Out
Fit
Original
Show Overview
Hide Grid
Snap to Grid
Paste

The shortcut menu contains the following options:

- Import: Displays a submenu with the following options:
- **Reliability Growth:** Displays the **Find Items** window, which you can use to search for a Reliability Growth Analysis to import into the Diagram.
- **Reliability Distribution:** Displays the **Find Items** window, which you can use to search for a Reliability Distribution Analysis to import into the Diagram.
- Asset: Displays the Find Items window, which you can use to search for an existing record to import into the Diagram.
- Subsystem: Displays the Find Items window, which you can use to search for a System Subsystem record to import into the Diagram.
- Zoom In: Zooms in on the Diagram by 10 percent of the current zoom level.
- Zoom Out: Zooms out from the Diagram by 10 percent of the current zoom level.
- Fit: Fits the entire Diagram within the space available on the Diagram Canvas.
- Original: Returns the Diagram to the original zoom level, which is the zoom level

that is shown when you first access the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram</u> <u>page</u>.

- Show Overview: Opens the Overview window.
- Hide Grid: Removes the grid lines from the Diagram Canvas. This option appears on the menu only when the grid lines are displayed.

Note: When the grid lines are hidden, the **Hide Grid** option is replaced by the **Show Grid** option. This option will display the grid lines on the Diagram Canvas.

- Snap to Grid: Allows you to position elements only at intersections. In other words, you will not be able to position elements between lines. This option appears on the menu only when the grid lines are displayed.
- **Paste:** Pastes the element that was last copied. This option appears on the menu only when an element has been copied.

Right-click any element on the Diagram Canvas to see options available for that element:

Refresh Distributions		
Import	I	
View Datasheet		
Сору		
Paste		
Delete		

The shortcut menu contains the following options:

- **Refresh Distributions:** Refreshes the distribution data for the selected element by importing the most current information from the associated Reliability Distribution Analysis or Reliability Growth Analysis.
- Import: Displays a submenu with the following options:
 - Reliability Growth: Displays the Find Items window, which you can use to search for a Reliability Growth Analysis to import.
 - Reliability Distribution: Displays the Find Items window, which you can use to search for a Reliability Distribution Analysis to import.

Note: The **Import** option appears on the shortcut menu only when you select an Asset or Subsystem element.

- View Datasheet: Displays the datasheet associated with the currently selected record. This menu option appears only when you right-click an imported element.
- **Copy** (Ctrl+C): Creates a copy of the selected element.
- **Paste** (Ctrl+V): Pastes the element that was last copied.
- **Delete** (Delete): Deletes the selected element from the Diagram.

Note: When you select a connection, **Delete** is the only available option. When you select the Start or End element, NO options will appear on the shortcut menu.

Displaying an Overview of the Diagram

If the Diagram you are currently viewing exceeds the size of the Diagram Canvas on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram** page, you can use the overview feature to display a more compact view of the Diagram.

To display an overview of a Diagram:

- 1. Right-click any blank space on the Diagram Canvas.
- 2. Click Show Overview.

The **Overview** window appears, displaying a blue locator box that highlights the section of the Diagram that is currently shown on the Diagram Canvas.



You can click another location within the **Overview** window to move the locator box to that location. As you do so, the view on the Diagram Canvas will change to reflect your location within the Diagram on the **Overview** window.

Overview of the Properties Pane

The **Properties** pane lets you view and modify the properties of the element that is currently selected on the <u>Diagram Canvas</u>. The header text of the **Properties** pane will indicate which element is selected by showing **<Name>'s Properties**, where **<Name>** is the value in the Name field of the record that is associated with the selected element. For example, in the following image, the value in the Name field is *Asset*, so the **Properties** pane is titled *Asset's Properties*. Throughout this documentation, we refer to this area of the screen generically as the **Properties** pane.

Asset's Properties				
+ +	₹↓			
	General			
	Name	Asset		
	Description			
	Production Contribution	100		
	Financial Consequences			
	Fixed Cost	0		
	Variable Cost	0		
	Variable Cost Units	Per Day		
	Lost Production Cost	0		
	Lost Production Cost Un	Per Day		
	Actions			
	Number of Actions	0		
	Risks			
	Number of Risks	1		
	Distributions			
	TTF Distribution	TTF Distribution		
	Name	TTF Distribution		
	Description			
	Distribution Type	Exponential		
	Time Unit	Days		
	MTBF	Infinity		
	TTR Distribution	TTR Distribution		
	Name	TTR Distribution		
	Description			
	Distribution Type	Exponential		
	Time Unit	Days		
	MTTR	0		
	Reference Data			
	Equipment Type			
Description Description of the currently selected element.				

The **Properties** pane contains multiple rows, where most of the rows represent fields in the record that is associated with the selected element. For each row, you will see a label on the left and a text box on the right. The label on the left is the field caption, and the value in the text box is the value in that field.

For example, in the following image, you can see that in this row, the label is *Name*, and the value in the text box is *Asset*.

Asset's Properties			
🔄 General			
Name	Asset		

You can conclude, therefore, that in the record that is associated with the selected element, the value in the *Name* field is *Asset*.

You can view the fields in the **Properties** pane in one of two ways:

 Alphabetically, where the fields are listed in ascending alphabetic order according to the text box label. To view the fields alphabetically, you can click the The following image shows the **Properties** pane where the fields are listed alphabetically.

Asset's Properties			
Description			
Equipment Type			
Fixed Cost	0		
Lost Production Cost	0		
Lost Production Cost Units	Per Day		
Name	Asset		
Number of Actions	0		
Number of Risks	1		
Production Contribution	100		
TTF Distribution	TTF Distribution		
Name	TTF Distribution		
Description			
Distribution Type	Exponential		
Time Unit	Days		
MTBF	Infinity		
TTR Distribution	TTR Distribution		
Name	TTR Distribution		
Description			
Distribution Type	Exponential		
Time Unit	Days		
MTTR	0		
Variable Cost	0		
Variable Cost Units	Per Day		
Description Description of the currently selected element.			

• Categorically, where the fields are listed under category headings. To view the fields categorically, you can click the substitution. Each category can be collapsed by clicking the minus sign (-) or expanded by clicking the plus sign (+). The following image shows the **Properties** pane where the fields are listed categorically.

Asset's Properties			
.			
- General		• •	
Name		Asset	
Descriptio	on Cashikatian	100	
Productio	on Contribution	100	
Eived Co	onsequences	0	
Variable (Su	0	
Variable	Cost Upita	o Bor Dou	
Variable -		Per Day	
Lost Proc	Juction Cost	U Dev Devi	
Lost Proc	Juction Cost Un	Per Day	
- Actions		-	
Number of	of Actions	0	
– Risks			
Number of	of Risks	1	
Distributio	ins		
TTF Distr	ibution	TTF Distribution	
Name		TTF Distribution	
Descr	iption		
Distrib	oution Type	Exponential	
Time l	Jnit	Days	
MTBF		Infinity	
📃 TTR Distr	ribution	TTR Distribution	
Name		TTR Distribution	
Descr	iption		
Distrib	oution Type	Exponential	
Time l	Jnit	Days	
MTTR		0	
- Reference	Data		
Equipmer	nt Type		
Description Description of the currently selected element.			

Note: If you select an Asset in the Diagram Canvas that has more than one System Risk or System Action record associated with it, the **Distributions** category does not appear.

The **Properties** pane works much like a standard datasheet, where you can place your cursor in a text box and then modify the value in the associated field. If a value already exists in a field, it will be displayed in the appropriate text box. At the bottom of the **Properties** pane, any help text that is defined for the selected field will be displayed. For

example, in the following image, the help text that is defined for the Description field is *Description of the currently selected element*.

Asset's Properties				
•				
Ξ	General			
	Name	Asset		
	Description			
	Production Contribution	100		
	Financial Consequences			
	Fixed Cost	0		
	Variable Cost	0		
	Variable Cost Units	Per Day		
	Lost Production Cost	0		
	Lost Production Cost Un	Per Day		
	Actions			
	Number of Actions	0		
	Risks			
	Number of Risks	1		
	Distributions			
	TTF Distribution	TTF Distribution		
	Name	TTF Distribution		
	Description			
	Distribution Type	Exponential		
	Time Unit	Days		
	MTBF	Infinity		
	TTR Distribution	TTR Distribution		
	Name	TTR Distribution		
	Description			
	Distribution Type	Exponential		
	Time Unit	Days		
	MTTR	0		
E	Reference Data			
	Equipment Type			
Description				

Description of the currently selected element.
About Fields Displayed in the Properties Pane

Different fields are displayed in the **Properties** pane depending upon the element that is selected on the Diagram Canvas. When you select an element, the **Properties** pane will display the fields that belong to the record that is associated with the selected element. You can select any of the following elements to view the fields in the associated record in the **Properties** pane:

- <u>Asset</u>
- Buffer
- Link
- <u>Sensor</u>
- Subsystem
- <u>Switch</u>

Asset Fields

When you select an Asset on the Diagram Canvas, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Asset. The following table lists:

• The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select an Asset on the Diagram Canvas. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a *categorized* view.

Note: In the table, the **Distributions** category displays in alphabetical order ALL of the fields that can be displayed in the **Distributions** category in the **Properties** pane. In some cases, depending upon which Asset you select on the Diagram Canvas, not all of these fields will appear in the **Properties** pane. You can use the **Notes** column in the table to view any exceptions.

- The family caption of the family containing the record whose value is displayed in that row. Note that if the value in a row is not stored in a record, the table contains the following text: *This row does not display values from a record*.
- The field caption of the field whose value is displayed in that row. Note that if the value in a row is not stored in a field, the table contains the following text: *This row does not display any values from a field*.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
General			
Name	System Asset	Name	None
Description	System Asset	Description	None
Production Con- tribution	System Asset	Production Con- tribution	None
Financial Consequences			
Fixed Cost	System Asset	Fixed Cost	None
Variable Cost	System Asset	Variable Cost	None
Variable Cost Units	System Asset	Variable Cost Units	None
Lost Production Cost	System Asset	Lost Production Cost	None
Lost Production Cost Units	System Asset	Lost Production Cost Units	None

• Notes that provide more information about the value in a row.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Actions			
Number of Actions	This row does not display values from a record.	This row does not display values from a field.	This row displays the number of Sys- tem Action records that are linked to the selec- ted System Asset record. When you click inside the Number of Actions cell, the Description appears, which you can click to dis- play the <u>Action</u> <u>Editor window</u> , where you can cre- ate, modify, or delete System Action records that are linked to the System Asset record.
Risks			

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Number of Risks	This row does not display values from a record.	This row does not display values from a field.	This row displays the number of Sys- tem Risk records that are linked to the selected Sys- tem Asset record. When you click inside the Number of Risks cell, the of Risks cell, the contexponent button appears, which you can click to dis- play the <u>Risk</u> <u>Editor window</u> , where you can cre- ate, modify, or delete System Risk records that are linked to the Sys- tem Asset record.
Distributions 1			
Beta	Weibull	Beta	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Weibull.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Distribution Type	Distribution	Distribution Type	The row displays a list containing the available selec- tions for the dis- tribution types for the Distribution record that is linked to the selec- ted System Asset record. The list contains the fol- lowing values: Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, SingleValue, and Weibull.
Eta	Weibull	Eta	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Weibull.
Gamma	Lognormal	Gamma	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Lognormal.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Gamma	Weibull	Gamma	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Weibull.
Mean	Normal	Mean	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Normal.
MTBF	Exponential	MTBF	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Exponential.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
MTTR	Exponential	MTBF	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Exponential.
Mu	Lognormal	Mu	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Lognormal.
Name	Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, SingleValue, or Weibull	Name	None
Sigma	Lognormal	Sigma	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Lognormal.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Standard Devi- ation	Normal	Standard Devi- ation	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is Normal.
Time Unit	Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, SingleValue, or Weibull	Units	None
Value	Normal	Value	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Dis- tribution record whose Dis- tribution Type is SingleValue, whose distribution data is stored in a Normal record.
Reference Data			
Equipment Type	System Asset	Equipment Type	None

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Water Source element in Scenario A.

Water Source's Properties	<mark>ዋ</mark>			
General				
Name	Water Source			
Description				
Production Contribution	100			
Financial Consequences				
Fixed Cost	0			
Variable Cost	0			
Variable Cost Units	Per Day			
Lost Production Cost	0			
Lost Production Cost Units	Per Day			
Actions				
Number of Actions	0			
🔄 Risks				
Number of Risks	1			
Distributions				
TTF Distribution	TTF Distribution			
Name	TTF Distribution			
Description				
Distribution Type	Exponential			
Time Unit	Years			
MTBF	20			
TTR Distribution	TTR Distribution			
Name	TTR Distribution			
Description				
Distribution Type	Exponential			
Time Unit	Weeks			
MTTR	2			
Reference Data				
Equipment Type				

Buffer Fields

When you select a Buffer on the Diagram Canvas, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Buffer. The following table lists:

- The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select a Buffer on the Diagram Canvas. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a *categorized* view.
- The field caption of the field in the associated System Buffer record whose value is displayed in that row.

Row Label	System Buffer Field
General	
Name	Name
Description	Description
Production Contribution	Production Contribution
Buffer	
Initial Quantity in Percentage	Initial Quantity in Percentage
Time to Empty	Time to Empty
Time to Empty Units	Time to Empty Units
Time to Refill	Time to Refill
Time to Refill Units	Time to Refill Units

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Water Tank element in Scenario A.

Wa	Water Tank's Properties 🛛 📮			
+ +	a↓			
	General			
	Name	Water Tank		
	Description			
	Production Contribution	100		
- Buffer				
	Initial Quantity in Percentage	50		
	Time to Empty	0.5		
	Time to Empty Units	Days		
	Time to Refill	5		
	Time to Refill Units	Days		

Link Fields

When you select a Link on the Diagram Canvas, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Link. The following table lists:

- The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select a Link on the Diagram Canvas. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a *categorized* view.
- The field caption of the field in the associated record whose value is displayed in that row.

Row Label	System Link Field
General	
Name	Name
Description	Description
Minimum Predecessors	Minimum Predecessors

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Link element in Scenario A.

Lin	k's Properties	<mark>.</mark>
• •	₹↓	
Ξ	General	
	Name	Link
	Description	
	Minimum Predecessors	2

Sensor Fields

When you select a Sensor on the Diagram Canvas, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Sensor. The following table lists:

- The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select a Sensor on the Diagram Canvas. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a *categorized* view.
- The field caption of the field in the associated System Sensor record whose value is displayed in that row.

Row Label	System Sensor Field	
General		
Name	Name	
Description	Description	
Detail		
Monitored Elements	Monitored Elements	
Deactivated Switches	Deactivated Switches	
Activated Switches	Activated Switches	

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Sensor 1 element in Scenario C.

Sei	nsor 1's Properties	<mark>ዋ</mark>
+ +	21	
	General	
	Name	Sensor 1
	Description	
	Detail	
	Monitored Elements	Water Pump 1
	Deactivated Switches	Switch 1
	Activated Switches	Switch 2

Subsystem Fields

When you select a Subsystem on the Diagram Canvas, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Subsystem. The following table lists:

- The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select a Subsystem on the Diagram Canvas. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a *categorized* view.
- The field caption of the field in the associated System Subsystem record whose value is displayed in that row.

Row Label	System Subsystem Field	
General		
Name	Name	
Description	Description	
Production Contribution	Production Contribution	
Financial Consequences		
Fixed Cost	Fixed Cost	
Variable Cost	Variable Cost	
Variable Cost Units	Variable Cost Units	
Lost Production Cost	Lost Production Cost	
Lost Production Cost Units	Lost Production Cost Units	

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Diagram for Scenario A subsystem in Scenario A.

Diagram for Scenario A's Properties		
+ +	2↓	
Ξ	General	
	Name	Diagram for Scenario A
	Description	
	Production Contribution	100
	Financial Consequences	
	Fixed Cost	0
	Variable Cost	0
	Variable Cost Units	Per Day
	Lost Production Cost	100000
	Lost Production Cost Units	Per Day

Switch Fields

When you select a Switch on the Diagram Canvas, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Switch. The following table lists:

- The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select a Switch on the Diagram Canvas. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a categorized view.
- The name of the record whose value is displayed in that row. Note that if the value in that row is not stored in a record, the table displays the following text: *This row does not display values from a record.*
- The field caption of the field whose value is displayed in that row. Note that if the value in a row is not stored in a field, the table displays the following information: *This row does not display values from a field.*

Row Label	System Record	System Field	Notes		
General					
Name	System Switch	Name	None		
Description	System Switch	Description	None		
ls Initially On	System Switch	ls Initially On	None		
Production Con- tribution	System Switch	Production Con- tribution	None		
Financial Consequer	nces				
Fixed Cost	System Switch	Fixed Cost	None		
Variable Cost	System Switch	Variable Cost	None		
Variable Cost Units	System Switch	Variable Cost Units	None		
Lost Production Cost	System Switch	Lost Production Cost	None		
Lost Production Cost Units	System Switch	Lost Production Cost Units	None		
Actions	Actions				

• Notes that provide more information about the value in that row.

Row Label	System Record	System Field	Notes
Number of Actions	This row does not display values from a record.	This row does not display values from a field.	This row displays the number of Sys- tem Action records that are linked to the selec- ted Switch record. When you click inside the Number of Actions cell, the of Action s cell, the solution s that are linked to the selected Switch record.
Risks	L		
Number of Risks	This row does not display values from a record.	This row does not display values from a field.	This row displays the number of Sys- tem Risk records that are linked to the selected Switch record. When you click inside the Number of Risks cell, the of Risks cell, the

Row Label	Row Label System Record		Notes
Reference Data			
Equipment Type	System Switch	Equipment Type	None

The following image shows the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Switch 1 element in Scenario A.

	Switch 1's Properties					
+= +=	₽≣ 2↓					
Ξ	General					
	Name	Switch 1				
	Description					
	Is Initially On	✓				
	Production Contribution	100				
	Financial Consequences					
	Fixed Cost	0				
	Variable Cost	0				
	Variable Cost Units	Per Day				
	Lost Production Cost	0				
	Lost Production Cost Units	Per Day				
	Actions					
	Number of Actions	0				
Ξ	- Risks					
	Number of Risks 0					
	- Reference Data					
	Equipment Type					

Using the Diagram Hierarchy

The **Diagram Hierarchy** pane on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram** page provides a hierarchical view of the elements in a Diagram. This view is especially useful when you are viewing a complex system containing multiple subsystems.

Consider <u>Scenario C</u> in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>. In this case, the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane would look like this:



You can click any element in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane to display that element on the Diagram Canvas. For example, if you clicked **Bottling Line 1**, the element that represents Bottling Line 1 would be displayed on the Diagram Canvas as shown in the following image.



About the Diagram Palette

On the **System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram** page, the **Diagram Palette** pane contains icons that represent the physical <u>elements</u> of the Diagram. You can select an element from the palette and drag it onto the Diagram Canvas to define its properties and include it in the Diagram. The following icons are available.



Hiding and Displaying Panes

If you are working with a large Diagram, you may want to increase the display area of the Diagram Canvas. You can do so by hiding the **Diagram Hierarchy**, **Diagram Palette**, and **Properties** panes.

To hide a pane:

• In the upper, right corner of the pane header, click the $_{I\!I}$ button.

The pane closes and is identified by a tab that appears in the pane's original position. For example, the following image shows the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane after it has been hidden. Note the **Diagram Hierarchy** tab that appears on the left side of the screen.



To display a hidden pane:

• Place your pointer over the tab that identifies the pane you want to display.

The pane reappears. If you move your pointer off the pane, the pane will disappear again. You can lock the pane back into the display position by clicking the p button again.

About Adding Elements

After a Scenario has been created, you can build the Diagram by adding <u>elements</u> and <u>connections</u>. You have two options for adding elements to a Diagram:

- You can create new elements from scratch by using the Diagram Palette pane. When you add an element in this way, the Meridium APM system will create a new record to store information for that element. The new record will be linked to the System Subsystem that represents the Diagram.
- You can create new elements by importing records that already exist in the Meridium APM database. When you add an element in this way, the Meridium APM system will use the information in the existing record to populate information in a new record to represent the appropriate Diagram element. The original record will continue to exist in the Meridium APM database. The new record will be linked to the System Subsystem record that represents the Diagram.

After you add elements to a Diagram, you can <u>create connections</u> between them to indicate their relationship to one another and their physical arrangement within the system.

Adding an Element from the Diagram Palette Pane

To add a new element to the Diagram from the Diagram Palette pane:

1. Click the desired element in the **Diagram Palette** pane.

Diagram Palet	te					<mark>.</mark>
●ŵ●	●∰●	● ≣ ●	●23●	●∰●	ے	
Asset	Subsystem	Buffer	Link	Switch	Sensor	

2. Hold your mouse button down, drag the element to the Diagram Canvas, and then release your mouse button to drop it in the desired location.

The element appears on the Diagram Canvas. It is selected automatically, so the **Properties** pane displays the properties of the new element. When you save the System Reliability Analysis, the appropriate record will be created in the Meridium APM database to store information for that element.



Importing Existing Assets

You can create new Asset elements by importing existing Equipment and Functional Location records into a Diagram. You can import one or more records in a single operation. One Asset element will be created for each record that you import, and a new System Asset record will be created to store information for that element. Fields from the Equipment or Functional Location record will be <u>mapped to the System Asset record</u>.

You can also choose to import the Reliability Distribution Analysis or Reliability Growth Analysis associated with the Equipment or Functional Location record that you selected. Values from fields in the Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution record will be mapped to System Risk and Distribution records, which are created when the corresponding record is imported and linked to the System Asset record.

To create Asset elements by importing data from existing records:

1. Right-click the Diagram Canvas, point to Import, and then click Asset.

🔑 Find Items	
meridium	Simple Search
Search Type Simple search	Search In: Find Now Look For: Stop Match Case? New Search
	Open Cancel

The Find Items window appears.

- 2. In the Search In list, select Equipment or Functional Location.
- 3. Click the **Find Now** button.

The search results appear at the bottom of the **Find Items** window.

Find Items		
meridium	Simple Search	
Search Type Simple search	Search In: Equipment Look For: Match Case?	Find Now Stop New Search
	Include Search Fields	*]
	Family	Record ID
	Equipment	~ ~
	Equipment	1RL0019-093 ~ 0000000001052539 ~ WATER INJECTION
	Equipment	A0001-017 ~ 00000000001008994 ~ MIXER - TANK 824 ~ Mixer ~
	Equipment	A0001-104 ~ 00000000001060792 ~ CONVEYOR - BELT
	Equipment	A0001-117 ~ 00000000001071109 ~ MIXER - TANK 717 ~ Mixer ~
	Equipment	A0001A-074 ~ 0000000001041617 ~ MIXER - ALKY ~ Mixer ~
	Equipment	A0001B-074 ~ 00000000001041618 ~ MIXER - ALKY ~ Mixer ~
	4	b
	Page: 1 Display record count «« First	« Previous <u>Next »</u> Last »» Page Size: 1000
		Open Cancel

- 4. Select the record(s) that you want to import.
- 5. Click the **Open** button.

The **Import Asset** window appears.

Import Asset			
Import Asset			
Assets IRL0019-093 ~ WATER INJECTION 2104E0013 Options	3B ~ 000000000001052539		
 Import Distribution Analysis(es) Import Growth Analysis(es) 	Name		[Include
		ОК	Cancel Help

The **Assets** pane displays a list of records that you selected from the search results. The **Options** pane allows you to import the Reliability Distribution Analyses or Reliability Growth Analyses associated with the Equipment or Functional Location records that you selected, if desired.

Note:If no Reliability Distribution Analyses or Reliability Growth Analyses are associated with the selected Equipment or Functional Location records, the**Options**pane will be disabled.

- 6. Select the desired import options.
- 7. Click **OK**.

A new Asset element is added to the Diagram for each selected Equipment or Functional Location record.

Fields Mapped From Equipment or Functional Location Records

When you import an existing Equipment or Functional Location record into the Diagram, a new <u>System Asset record</u> is created, and information from the imported record is mapped to the System Asset record.

The following chart displays the values that are imported from fields in Equipment or Functional Location records and the System Analysis record and field to which they are mapped. All other values in System Analysis records are populated automatically with default values.

Equipment or Func- tional Location Record Field	System Analysis Record	System Analysis Record Field	Notes
ID	System Asset	Name	None

When you are importing an Equipment or Functional Location record, if you choose to import the Reliability Distribution Analysis or Reliability Growth Analysis associated with the Equipment or Functional Location record that you selected, values from records in Reliability Distribution Analyses or Reliability Growth Analyses will also be mapped to records in the System Reliability Analysis.

The values that will be mapped are the *same values* that are mapped when a <u>Reliability</u> <u>Distribution Analyses</u> or <u>Reliability Growth Analyses</u> is imported *without* an Equipment or Functional Location record, with the following exception:

• The value in the ID field of the Equipment or Functional Location record will be mapped to the Name field in the System Asset record. The values in the Analysis ID field in the Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution record will *not* be mapped to the System Asset record.

Importing a Reliability Distribution Analysis

You can create new Asset elements by importing existing Reliability Distribution Analyses into a Diagram. You can import one or more analyses in a single operation. One Asset element will be created for each record that you import, and a new System Asset record will be created to store information for that element. Fields from the Reliability Distribution record will be mapped to the System Asset record.

To import a Reliability Distribution Analysis into a Diagram:

1. Right-click the Diagram Canvas, point to **Import**, and then click **Reliability Distribution**.

The **Find Items** window appears, displaying the Reliability Distribution family in the **Search In** list.

🕗 Find Items		X
meridium	Simple Search	
Search Type Image: Search Image: Simple search Image: Search Image: Advanced search Image: Search	Search In: Reliability Distribution	Find Now Stop
		New Search
	Open	Cancel

2. Click the Find Now button.

The search results appear at the bottom of the Find Items window.

- 3. Select the Reliability Distribution Analysis that you want to import. You can select multiple Reliability Distribution Analyses, if desired.
- 4. Click the **Open** button.

A new Asset element is added to the Diagram for each selected Reliability Distribution Analysis.

Fields Mapped From a Reliability Distribution Analysis

When you import an existing Reliability Distribution record into the Diagram, a new <u>System Asset record</u> is created, and information from the imported record is mapped to the System Asset record. Information is also mapped to System Risk and Distribution records, which are created when a record is imported and linked to the System Asset record.

The following chart displays the values that are imported from fields in records from a Distribution Analysis and the System Analysis record and field to which they are mapped. All other values in System Analysis records are populated automatically with default values.

Note: If you <u>import an Equipment or Functional Location record</u> and import the Reliability Distribution Analysis associated with that record, all of the fields in the following chart will be mapped *except* the Analysis ID field will not be mapped to the Name field in the System Asset record.

Reliability Distribution Analysis Record	Reliability Dis- tribution Ana- lysis Record Field	System Ana- lysis Record	System Ana- lysis Record Field	Notes
Reliability Distribution	Analysis ID	System Asset	Name	None
Reliability Distribution	Analysis ID	System Risk	Name	None
Reliability Distribution	Failures Without Replacement	System Risk	Failure Without Replacement	None
Distribution	Short Descrip- tion	Distribution	Short Description	This value is mapped from the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the corresponding TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records that are linked to the System Risk records.

Fields Mapped From a Reliability Distribution Analysis

Reliability Distribution Analysis Record	Reliability Dis- tribution Ana- lysis Record Field	System Ana- lysis Record	System Ana- lysis Record Field	Notes
Distribution	Distribution Type	Distribution	Distribution Type	This value is mapped from the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the corresponding TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records that are linked to the System Risk records.
Distribution	Units	Distribution	Units	This value is mapped from the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the corresponding TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records that are linked to the System Risk records.

Reliability Distribution Analysis Record	Reliability Dis- tribution Ana- lysis Record Field	System Ana- lysis Record	System Ana- lysis Record Field	Notes
Exponential	MTBF	Exponential	MTBF	This value is mapped from the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Exponential</i> that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Exponential</i> that are linked to the System Risk records.
Lognormal	Mu	Lognormal	Mu	This value is
	Sigma		Sigma	TTF and TTR Dis-
	Gamma		Gamma	tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Lognormal</i> that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Lognormal</i> that are linked to the System Risk records.

Fields Mapped From a Reliability Distribution Analysis

Reliability Distribution Analysis Record	Reliability Dis- tribution Ana- lysis Record Field	System Ana- lysis Record	System Ana- lysis Record Field	Notes
Normal	Mean Standard Devi- ation	Normal	Mean Standard Deviation	This value is mapped from the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Normal</i> that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Normal</i> that are linked to the System Risk records.
Weibull	Beta	Weibull	Beta	This value is
Weibuli		Weibuli		mapped from the
	Eta Gamma		Eta Gamma	TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records
	Gamma		Gamma	with a Distribution Type of <i>Weibull</i> that are linked to the Reliability Dis- tribution record to the TTF and TTR Dis- tribution records with a Distribution Type of <i>Weibull</i> that are linked to the System Risk records.

Importing a Reliability Growth Analysis

You can create new Asset elements by importing existing Reliability Growth Analyses into a Diagram. You can import one or multiple analyses in a single operation. One Asset element will be created for each record that you import, and a new System Asset record will be created to store information for that element. Fields from the Reliability Growth record will be <u>mapped to the System Asset record</u>.

To import a Reliability Growth Analysis into a Diagram:

1. Right-click the Diagram Canvas, point to Import, and then click Reliability Growth.

The **Find Items** window appears, displaying the Reliability Growth family in the **Search In** list.

Find Items		×
meridium	Simple Search	
Search Type S Simple search Advanced search	Search In: Reliability Growth Look For: Match Case?	Find Now Stop New Search
	Open	Cancel

2. Click the Find Now button.

The search results appear at the bottom of the Find Items window.

- 3. Select the Reliability Growth Analysis that you want to import. You can select multiple Reliability Growth Analyses, if desired.
- 4. Click the **Open** button.

A new Asset element is added to the Diagram for each selected Reliability Growth Analysis.

Fields Mapped From a Reliability Growth Analysis

When you import an existing Reliability Growth record into the Diagram, a new <u>System</u> <u>Asset record</u> is created, and information from the imported record is mapped to the System Asset record. Information is also mapped to System Risk and Distribution records, which are created when a record is imported and linked to the System Asset record.

The following chart displays the values that are imported from fields in a Reliability Growth record and the System Analysis record and field to which they are mapped. All other values in System Analysis records are populated automatically with default values.

Note: If you <u>import an Equipment or Functional Location record</u> and import the Reliability Growth Analysis associated with that record, all of the fields in the following chart will be mapped *except* the Analysis ID field will not be mapped to the Name field in the System Asset record.

Reliability Growth Record Field	System Analysis Record	System Analysis Record Field	Notes
Analysis ID	System Asset	Name	None
Analysis ID	System Risk	Name	None
Short Descrip- tion	Distribution	Short Descrip- tion	This value is mapped to the TTF Distribution record that is linked to the System Risk record and appears in the TTF column on the Sys- tem Reliability Scenarios - Risks page.
Final MTBF	Exponential	MTBF	This value is mapped to the TTF Distribution record that is linked to the System Risk record and appears in the TTF column on the System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page.

Fields Mapped From a Reliability Growth Analysis

Reliability Growth Record Field	System Analysis Record	System Analysis Record Field	Notes
Time Units	Distribution	Units	This value is mapped to the TTF Distribution record that is linked to the System Risk record and appears in the TTF column on the System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page.

Using the Import Subsystem Window

The <u>Import Subsystem window</u> contains a grid that displays a list of all records belonging to the System Subsystem family. These records can be imported into the Diagram to create a new Subsystem element.

Import Subsystem					×
Import Subsystem					
impore subsystem					
Search					
	t	1 .	1	1	
Subsystem Name	Scenario Name	Analysis ID	Modified By	Modified Date	
V3.1.0 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.2.0 Sys. Analysis with DB component	Clingenpeel,Tim	10/17/2006	
v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cqWT000	35360) Scenario 1	v3.3.0 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	11/7/2008	
v3.0.2 SP3 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.0.2 SP3 Sys. Analysis with DB comp	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/25/2005	
v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cqWT000	35360) Scenario 1	v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/29/2007	
v3.1.0 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.1.0 Sys. Analysis with DB component	Clingenpeel,Tim	2/8/2006	
v3.3.2 Parent System all elements	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	7/17/2009	
v3.3.2 SubSystem	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	7/17/2009	
v3.3.2 Test for restarting a system (cqWT000	35360) Scenario 1	v3.3.2 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	7/17/2009	
New System 2	Scenario 1	Test Change to Failure Rate Calc (cqW	Clingenpeel,Tim	2/22/2006	
v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cqWT000	35360) Scenario 1	v3.2.2 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/23/2008	
v3.0.2 SP1 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.0.2 SP1 Sys. Analysis from existing	Clingenpeel,Tim	8/5/2004	
v3.3.1 SubSystem	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/20/2010	
v3.3.1 Parent System all elements	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/20/2010	
v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cqWT000	35360) Scenario 1	v3.2.3 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	5/22/2008	
v3.3.2 SubSystem	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test - Analysis	Clingenpeel,Tim	3/1/2010	
3.4.0 Upgrade Test - Model	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test - Analysis	Clingenpeel,Tim	3/1/2010	
v3.0.2 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.0.2 Sys. Analysis from existing model	Clingenpeel,Tim	5/27/2004	
v3.3.2 SP2 Parent System all elements	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 SP2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	11/13/2009	
v3.3.2 SP2 SubSystem	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 SP2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	11/13/2009	-
			OK	Cance	

The grid displays the following columns:

- **Subsystem Name:** The value stored in the Name field of the System Subsystem record.
- Scenario Name: The value stored in the Name field of the System Scenario record to which the System Subsystem record is linked.
- Analysis ID: The value stored in the Analysis ID field of the System Analysis record to which the System Subsystem record is linked.
- **Modified By:** Displays the name of the Security User who last modified the System Analysis record to which the System Subsystem record is linked, as identified by the value in the LAST_UPBY_SEUS_KEY field in the System Analysis record.
- Modified Date: Displays the date when the analysis was last modified, as identified by the value stored in the LAST_UPDT_DT field in the System Analysis record to which the System Subsystem record is linked.
You can type a keyword or phrase in the **Search** text box to filter the list of System Subsystem records that is displayed.

Importing a Subsystem

You can create new Subsystem elements by importing existing System Subsystem records into the Diagram. You can import one or multiple records in a single operation. For each System Subsystem record:

- An element will be created in the diagram.
- A copy of the record will be created and linked to the System Analysis record.
- All related records within the subsystem (e.g., System Asset records) will also be imported. An element and copy of each record will be created for each related record.

To import a Subsystem into the Diagram:

1. Right-click the Diagram Canvas, point to Import, and then click Subsystem.

The **Import Subsystem** window appears, displaying a list of all records belonging to the System Subsystem family.

Im	Import Subsystem											
	Import Subsystem											
Se	Search											
	Subsystem Name	Scenario Name	Analysis ID	Modified By	Modified Date							
lŀ	v3.1.0.Svg. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.2.0.Svs. Analysis with DB component	Clingenneel Tim	10/17/2006	-						
ŀ	v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (rgWT00035360)	Scenario 1	v3.3.0 Test for restarting a system (co	Clingenpeel Tim	11/7/2008							
	v3.0.2 SP3 Svs. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.0.2 SP3 Svs. Analysis with DB comp	Clingenpeel Tim	1/25/2005							
	v3.0.2 3F3 5ys. Hodel with Db component	Scenario 1	v2.2.1 Test for restarting a system (ca	Clingenpeel, Tim	1/20/2007	- 1						
	v3.1.0 Sva. Model with DR semanant	Scenario 1	v3.2.1 rest for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel, Tim	2/29/2007	- 1						
	v3.2.2 Beaut Sustan all classests	Scenario 1	v3.1.0 Sys. Analysis with DB component	Clingenpeel, Tim	2/0/2000	- 1						
	v3.3.2 Parent System all elements	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel, Tim	7/17/2009	- 1						
	v3.3.2 SubSystem	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	7/17/2009	_						
	v3.3.2 Test for restarting a system (cqWT00035360)	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	7/17/2009	4.11						
	New System 2	Scenario 1	Test Change to Failure Rate Calc (cqW	Clingenpeel,Tim	2/22/2006							
	v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cqWT00035360)	Scenario 1	v3.2.2 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/23/2008							
	v3.0.2 SP1 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.0.2 SP1 Sys. Analysis from existing \ldots	Clingenpeel,Tim	8/5/2004							
	v3.3.1 SubSystem	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/20/2010							
	v3.3.1 Parent System all elements	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test	Clingenpeel,Tim	1/20/2010							
	v3.2.1 Test for restarting a system (cqWT00035360)	Scenario 1	v3.2.3 Test for restarting a system (cq	Clingenpeel,Tim	5/22/2008							
	v3.3.2 SubSystem	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test - Analysis	Clingenpeel,Tim	3/1/2010							
	3.4.0 Upgrade Test - Model	Scenario 1	3.4.0 Upgrade Test - Analysis	Clingenpeel,Tim	3/1/2010							
	v3.0.2 Sys. Model with DB component	Scenario 1	v3.0.2 Sys. Analysis from existing model	Clingenpeel,Tim	5/27/2004							
	v3.3.2 SP2 Parent System all elements	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 SP2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	11/13/2009							
	v3.3.2 SP2 SubSystem	Scenario 1	v3.3.2 SP2 Parent System all elements	Clingenpeel,Tim	11/13/2009	-						
				OK	Cance							

2. In the **Search** text box, type a keyword or phrase to filter the list of System Subsystem records displayed, if desired.

- 3. Select the row containing the System Subsystem record that you want to import. You can select multiple records, if desired.
- 4. Click OK.

The **Import Subsystem** window closes and a new Subsystem element is added to the Diagram for each selected System Subsystem record.

About Connecting Elements

After you add elements to a Diagram, you must connect the elements to create the Diagram. Depending on the structure of the system for which you are creating a Diagram, you will want to connect elements to each other *in a series* or *parallel to* one another.

Elements Connected in a Series

When you connect elements to each other in a series, every element has one preceding connection and one succeeding connection, with only one path from the Start element to the End element. For example, in the following image of <u>Scenario A</u> in the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>, the elements in the Diagram for Scenario A root subsystem are connected in a series: every element between the Start and End elements has one connection from an element and one connection to an element, and you can reach the End element from the Start element in only one way.



Elements Connected in Parallel

When you connect elements in parallel to one another, one or more elements will be connected to multiple elements, and there will be multiple paths from the Start element to the End element. For example, in the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>, the Bottling Line elements in the Bottling Subsystem root subsystem are connected in parallel. In this case, the Start element and the Link element are connected to three Subsystem elements: Bottling Line 1, Bottling Line 2, and Bottling Line 3. Therefore, there are three different paths from the Start element to the End element, depending on which of the three Bottling Lines that you pass through.



Connecting Elements in a Diagram

To connect two elements in a Diagram:

1. Using your pointer, for the desired element, point to the black circle on the side from which you want to start the connection.



2. Click the port and drag your pointer in the direction that you want to create the connection.

An arrow will be drawn automatically in the direction that you drag your pointer.



3. Continue dragging your pointer until the arrow reaches the desired destination (i.e., the circle on the element that will serve as the end of the connection). The connection will be completed automatically.



4. Release your mouse button to set the connection.

Deleting Elements from a Diagram

If desired, you can delete any element from a Diagram. As you delete elements from a Diagram, note that:

- If you delete an Asset element that was created by importing an Equipment or Functional Location record, when you delete the Asset element, *only*the Asset element will be deleted. The source record will not be deleted. Additionally, if the source record is linked to the System Analysis record, the link will ALSO be deleted.
- You cannot delete the Start or the End node.

To delete an element from a Diagram:

1. Right-click the element that you want to delete, and then click **Delete**.

-or-

Select the element that you want to delete, and press the Delete key on your keyboard.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the element.

2. Click the Yes button.

The element is deleted from the Diagram.

Deleting Connections Between Elements

To delete a connector between two elements in the Diagram:

1. Click the connector to select it.



Note: This image shows the Canvas Diagram with <u>Hide Grid</u> option selected.

2. Right-click the connection, and then click **Delete**.

-or-

Press the Delete key on your keyboard.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the connection.

3. Click the Yes button.

The connection is deleted from the Diagram.

Performing Validation

For the Meridium APM system to run simulations, the elements within Diagrams must be connected correctly. Problems within a Diagram, such as isolated elements, broken connections, and circular connections will cause a Diagram to fail validation. When you perform a validation, the Meridium APM system will validate ALL Diagrams associated with any Scenario in a given System Reliability Analysis.

The validation process evaluates each Diagram in two directions:

- From the Start element to the End element.
- From the End element to the Start element.

If an error is found along either path, it will be reported in the validation results. An error that is found along *both* paths will be reported twice.

To validate the Diagrams within an analysis:

- While viewing a System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the <u>Tools menu</u>, click the **Validate Diagrams** link.
- If all Diagrams are valid, the Diagram Validation Results dialog box will display a me Diagram Validation Results

ne	Diagram Validation Results
	System diagrams are Valid!
	ОК

 If any Diagrams are invalid, the <u>Diagram Validation Results dialog box</u> will be displayed, where you can view the <u>results of the validation</u>.

Diagrar	Diagram Validation Results							
Di	Diagram Validation Results							
Scena	ario △ Error Type △							
Error		Location						
Sce	enario: Test Scenario							
	Error Type: Not Reach End Error							
	Asset=>?	Default System						
	Error Type: Not Reach Start Error							
	?=>End	Default System						
	0	K Copy Details Help						

Aspects of the Diagram Validation Results Dialog Box

The **Diagram Validation Results** dialog box displays all the errors that exist in any of the Diagrams within a System Reliability Analysis.

Diagram Validation Results							
Diagram Validation Results							
Error	Location						
😑 Scenario: Scenario A							
Error Type: Isolated Element(s) Error							
Asset	Diagram for Scenario A						
🖃 Scenario: Scenario B							
Error Type: Circular Error							
Water Pump =>Water Pump	Diagram for Scenario B						
Water Tank =>Water Tank	Diagram for Scenario B						
📃 Scenario: Scenario C							
Error Type: Not Reach End Error							
Water Pump 1=>?	Diagram for Scenario C						
Switch 2=>?	Diagram for Scenario C						
Error Type: Not Reach Start Error							
?=>Water Pump 2	Diagram for Scenario C						
ОК	Copy Details Help						

The **Diagram Validation Results** dialog box displays the **Error** grid, which displays error information, organized first by Scenario and then by error type.

Below the Error grid, the following buttons appear:

- OK: Closes the Diagram Validation Results dialog box.
- **Copy Details:** Copies the content of the **Error** grid so that you can paste the error information into another application or file, such as a Microsoft Word or Microsoft Excel document. You can use this method to view the Diagram Canvas and error information simultaneously while you correct the errors.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Diagram Validation Results dialog box.

Types of Errors

If you validate System Reliability Analysis Diagrams and Meridium APM indicates that any Diagram is invalid, the <u>Diagram Validation Results dialog box</u> will be displayed, where you can view the results of the validation.

Diagram Validation Results								
Diagram Validation Results								
Error	Location							
😑 Scenario: Scenario A								
Error Type: Isolated Element(s) Error								
Asset	Diagram for Scenario A							
😑 Scenario: Scenario B								
Error Type: Circular Error								
Water Pump =>Water Pump	Diagram for Scenario B							
Water Tank =>Water Tank	Diagram for Scenario B							
🖃 Scenario: Scenario C								
Error Type: Not Reach End Error								
Water Pump 1=>?	Diagram for Scenario C							
Switch 2=>?	Diagram for Scenario C							
Error Type: Not Reach Start Error								
?=>Water Pump 2	Diagram for Scenario C							
ОК	Copy Details Help							

The **Diagram Validation Results** dialog box can display any of the following error messages, depending upon the conditions that are found within the Diagram:

- Not Reach End Error.
- Not Reach Start Error.
- Isolated Element(s) Error.
- Circular Error.

Not Reach End Error

Error Type: Not Reach End Error

Water Pump 1=>?

A *Not Reach End Error* in a System Reliability Analysis Diagram results from a Diagram configuration where the End element cannot be reached from the Start element when following connections in the Diagram. Each Diagram must be connected such that a path exists from the Start element to the End element. If this path does not exist, the simulation will not run. You must correct this error before you can run the simulation.

The following images show a Not Reach End Error in <u>Scenario C</u> and the corresponding error message in the <u>Diagram Validation Results dialog box</u>.



Diagram for Scenario C

Not Reach Start Error

A *Not Reach Start Error* in a System Reliability Analysis results from a Diagram configuration where the Start element cannot be reached from the End element by following connections in the Diagram. Each Diagram must be connected such that a path exists from the End element to the Start element. If this path does not exist, the simulation will not run. You must correct this error before you can run the simulation.

The following images show a Not Reach Start Error in <u>Scenario C</u> and the corresponding error message in the <u>Diagram Validation Results</u> dialog box.



Scenario: Scenario C						
	Error Type: Not Reach End Error					
:	Start=>?	Diagram for Scenario C				
	Error Type: Not Reach Start Error					
	?=>Water Source	Diagram for Scenario C				

Note: This broken connection produced both a <u>Not Reach End Error</u> and a Not Reach Start Error because there is not a complete connection anywhere in the Diagram.

Isolated Element(s) Error

An *Isolated Element(s) Error* in System Reliability Analysis results from a Diagram configuration where an element is not connected, on one or both sides, to the elements that run from the Start element to the End element in the Diagram. This type of error will not prevent the simulation from running, but the element that is missing the connection(s) will be ignored by the simulation.

The following images show an isolated element error in <u>Scenario A</u> and the corresponding error message in the <u>Diagram Validation Results dialog box</u>.

_			→• □•→	•
Start	Water Water Pump Source	Water Tank	Bottling Subsystem	End

 Scenario: Scenario A

 Error Type: Isolated Element(s) Error

 Asset
 Diagram for Scenario A

Circular Error

A *Circular Error* in a System Reliability Analysis Diagram results from a Diagram configuration where an element in the series has a connection to an earlier element in the series in the Diagram. This will prevent the simulation from running and you must repair the connection so that it starts at the Start element and ends at the End element.

The following images show a circular error in <u>Scenario B</u> and its corresponding error message in the <u>Diagram Validation Results</u> dialog box.

Start	Water Water Pump Water Source	Tark <u>Bottling</u> End Subsystem

- Scenario: Scenario B						
Ξ	Error Type: Circular Error					
	Water Pump =>Water Pump	Diagram for Scenario B				
	Water Tank =>Water Tank	Diagram for Scenario B				

About Risks

In System Reliability, a Risk identifies one way in which a piece of equipment or location can fail. If the Risk occurs, then the piece of equipment or location will fail, and the system cannot run. In System Reliability Analyses, Risks are stored in System Risk records, which can be linked to <u>System Asset</u> and <u>System Switch records</u>.

A piece of equipment or location may have multiple Risks to represent multiple ways in which that piece of equipment or location can fail. As such, System Asset and System Switch records can be linked to multiple System Risk records.

Each Risk has a characteristic pattern of causing a piece of equipment or location to fail as defined by its TTF distribution data or maximum operating time. Risks also have TTR distribution data, which characterizes the time required to correct the failure that occurs as the result of the Risk and get the system running again. This distribution data is stored in Distribution records, which are linked to Risk records.

About Potential and Functional Failures

A Risk identifies a way in which a piece of equipment o rlocation can fail but does not necessarily indicate that a failure will absolutely occur or will occur immediately. For example, a piece of equipment might fail if a bearing wears out. Through an inspection, we may notice that the bearing is beginning to wear thin and determine that it will last only about two more months before it wears out completely and causes the piece of equipment to shut down. In this scenario:

- The *Risk* is a bearing failure.
- The *potential failure* is identified when an inspection detects a thin bearing.
- The *functional failure* occurs when the bearing completely wears out, causing the piece of equipment to shut down.

The time between when a potential failure is detected and when a functional failure occurs is the *P-F Interval*. In this example, the P-F Interval is two months. Before the P-F Interval, defects are small and are unlikely to be detected. After the P-F Interval is reached, defects can be found using proper inspection techniques. The following image demonstrates how the P-F Interval is connected to the piece of equipment failure.



Using this information, we can determine a repair strategy for our example. If inspections were not properly conducted and we did not find the bearing defect, potential failures would not have been detected, and a functional failure would eventually occur, requiring the immediate replacement of the defective bearing. But in this case, the inspection identified a potential failure, so instead of replacing the bearing immediately, we can determine a percentage of the P-F interval at which to replace the bearing sometime before the piece of equipment fails while still preventing the eventual equipment failure.

Diagram Hierarchy Pane

The **Diagram Hierarchy** pane on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u> displays the elements in the Diagram that you have defined on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios -</u> <u>Diagram page</u>. In the following image, the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane is outlined in red.

	System Re	lia	bility So	en	arios -	Risks							
Site Map	Reliability->SystemReliabili	<u>ty</u> ->;	System Reliabi	lity Ar	alysis Example	-> <u>Scenario forDiagra</u>	am B						
								Scer	nario: Scenari	o for Diagram B			•
Diagra	m Hierarchy	Dick	~c										5
Name	Δ.				,								ater
E-	Scenario for Diagram B		Name	Δ	Description	TTF	TTR	Planned Re	source Usages	Unplanned Resource (Jsages	Risks to Reset	_ P
	📰 Bottling Subsystem	Ŀ	Bearing Failu	<u>re</u>		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Res	source Usages	Unplanned Resource L	<u>Isages</u>		2 Ps
	📦 Bottling Line 1		Impeller Failu	re		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Res	source Usages	Unplanned Resource L	<u>Isages</u>		<u>0</u>
	📦 Bottling Line 2		Seal Failure			TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Res	source Usages	Unplanned Resource L	Jsages		<u>0</u>
	Bottling Line 3												
	Water Pump												
					Add Risk	Associate	e Distribution	Open Ana	alysis	Refresh Distribution		Delete Risk	
		Miti	gating Actions										
			L.							1			
		Ŀ	Name				Description			Resource Usages			
								Г					
									Assign	New Action	Assign Ex	isting Actions	

When you select an element in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, the associated Risks for that element are displayed in the **Risks** pane. For example, in the preceding image, the selected *Water Pump* has three associated Risks:

- Bearing Failure.
- Impeller Failure.
- Seal Failure.

Risks Pane

The **Risks** pane is displayed on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u> and on the **Risks Editor** window. The **Risks** pane displays the Risks associated with the Asset or Switch element selected in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy</u>. In the following image, the **Risks** pane is outlined in red.

System Re	liability S	cenario	os - Ris	sks					
Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>System Reliabili</u>	ty->System Reliab	oility Analysis	<u>s Example->S</u>	cenario for Diagra	<u>im B</u>				
						Scenario: Scenario f	for Diagram B		•
Diagram Hierarchy	Risks								Wat
Name 🛆	Name	∆ Desc	cription [T	TF	TTR	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	Risks to Reset	P P
Bottling Subsystem	Bearing Failu	ure	Π	TF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	(o and a
🕅 Bottling Line 1	Impeller Failu	ure	Π	TF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	(Q Prop
📦 Bottling Line 2	Seal Failure		Π	TF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	9	Q ertie
🦾 💓 Water Tank		Ac	dd Risk	Associat	e Distribution	Open Analysis	Refresh Distribution	Delete Risk	
	Mitigating Actions								
	Name]	Description		Resource Usages		
						Assign N	ew Action A	Assign Existing Actions	

The grid in the **Risks** pane contains the following columns of information:

- Name: Displays the value in the Name field in the System Risk record.
- Description: Displays the value in the Description field in the System Risk record.
- TTF: Displays the TTF Distribution link, which you can click to open the TTF Distribution window and view the <u>Time to Failure (TTF) distribution data for the associated System Risk record</u>.
- TTR: Displays the TTR Distribution link, which you can click to open the TTR Distribution window and view the <u>Time to Repair (TTR) distribution data for the associated System Risk record</u>.
- Planned Resource Usages: Displays the Planned Resource Usages link, which you can click to open the Planned Resource Usages window and view any <u>planned</u> Resource usages that have been assigned to the Risk.
- Unplanned Resource Usages: Displays the Unplanned Resource Usages link,

which you can click to open the **Unplanned Resource Usages** window and view any <u>unplanned Resource usages that have been assigned to the Risk</u>.

• **Risks to Reset:** Displays a number representing the number of <u>additional Risks</u> that will be reset following the planned or unplanned correction of the Risk in that row. This number appears as a hyperlink, which you can click to access the<u>Risks to</u> <u>Resetdialog box</u>, where you can manage the additional Risks that will be reset in the simulation following the planned or unplanned correction of the source Risk.

When you right-click any cell in the grid in the **Risks** pane, a <u>shortcut menu appears con-</u> <u>taining options that you can use to manage the Risks that you want to reset</u> following the planned or unplanned correction for the Risk in that row.

Below the grid in the **Risks** pane, the following buttons appear:

- Add Risk: Displays the Add New Risk window, where you create a new System Risk record to link to the currently selected System Asset or System Switch record.
- Associate Distribution: Displays the Find Items window, where you can search for a Reliability Distribution or Reliability Growth Analysis to associate with the selected Risk.
- Open Analysis: Displays the Reliability Distribution Summary page or the Reliability Growth Analysis page for Reliability Distribution Analysis or Reliability Growth Analysis that is associated with the selected Risk. This button is enabled only when the selected Risk is associated with a Reliability Distribution Analysis or a Reliability Growth Analysis.
- **Refresh Distribution:** Refreshes the associated distributions by replacing the TTF and TTR distribution information with the most current information from the associated Reliability Distribution Analysis or Reliability Growth Analysis. This link is enabled only when the selected Risk is associated with a Reliability Distribution Analysis or a Reliability Growth Analysis.
- **Delete Risk:** After asking for confirmation, deletes the System Risk record that is currently selected in the **Risks** pane.

Mitigating Actions Pane

The **Mitigating Actions** pane is displayed on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Risks</u> <u>page</u> and on the **Risks Editor** window. It displays the Mitigating Actions associated with the Risk selected in the <u>Risks pane</u>. In the following image, the **Mitigating Actions** pane is outlined in red.

System Re	liability S	cenarios -	Risks					
Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>System Reliabil</u>	<u>ity</u> -> <u>System Reliab</u>	oility Analysis Example	e-> <u>Scenario forDiagr</u>	ram B				
					Scenario: Scenario	for Diagram B		•
Diagram Hierarchy 📮	Risks							F
Name 🛆	[] Norma	A Description	1	1 7770	Diseased Diseases Lineases	Undersed Deserves Userses	Diele to Depart	pelle
Scenario for Diagram B	Repring Failu		TTE Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	RISKS TO RESEL	Fail
Bottling Subsystem	bearing Failu		TTE Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	<u>u</u>	ure'
Botting Line 1	Seal Failure		TTE Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	0	Prop
Bottling Line 3								pertic
Water Pump								8
📦 Water Tank								
		Add Risk	Associa	te Distribution	Open Analysis	Refresh Distribution	Delete Risk	
	Mitigating Actions							
	Name			Description		Resource Usages		
	▶ Redesign Im	pellers				Resource Usages		
					Assign N	ew Action As	ssign Existing Actions	
								1

When you select a Risk in the **Risks** pane, the associated Mitigating Actions for that Risk are displayed in the **Mitigating Actions** pane. For example, in the preceding image, the *Impeller Failure* Risk has one associated Mitigating Action, *Redesign Impellers*.

The grid in the **Mitigating Actions** pane contains the following columns of information:

- Name: Displays the value in the Name field in the System Action record.
- **Description:** Displays the value in the Description field in the <u>System Action</u> <u>record</u>.
- **Resource Usages:** Displays the **Resources Usages** link, which you can click to open the **Resource Usages** window to view and manage the Resources that have been assigned to the Action.

Below the grid in the **Actions** pane, the following buttons appear:

- Assign New Action: Displays the Select Action Type dialog box, where you can create a new System Action record to link to the currently selected System Asset or System Switch record. When you create a new Action by using the Assign New Action button, the Action will be assigned to mitigate the Risk currently selected in the Risks pane.
- Assign Existing Actions: Displays the Assign Actions window, where you can <u>assign</u> <u>an existing Action to mitigate the Risk currently selected in the Risks pane</u> or remove an existing Action from mitigating the Risk currently selected in the Risks pane.

Accessing the Properties Pane

The **Properties** pane on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page lets you view and modify the properties of the element that is currently selected in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, **Risks** pane, or **Mitigating Actions** pane.

To access the Properties pane:

- 1. Select the element on the **System Reliability Scenarios Risks** page for which you want to view or modify properties.
- 2. Pause on the **<Name>'s Properties** tab on the right side of the page.

The **<Name>'s Properties** pane appears. When you move your pointer away from the **<Name>'s Properties** tab, the **<Name>'s Properties** pane will collapse.

Note: If you want the **<Name>'s Properties** pane to remain on the page after you move your pointer away from the **<Name>'s Properties** tab, click the 😑 button.



About Fields Displayed on the Properties Pane

Different fields are displayed in the **Properties** pane depending upon the element that is selected on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page. When you select an element, the **Properties** pane will display the fields that belong to the record that is associated with the selected element. You can select any of the following elements to view the fields in the associated record in the **Properties** pane:

- Actions
- Assets
- <u>Risks</u>
- <u>Switches</u>

Risk Fields

When you select a Risk in the **Risks** pane on the**System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Risk. The following table lists:

• The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select a Risk in the **Risks** pane. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a *categorized* view.

Note: In the table, the **Distributions** category displays in alphabetical order ALL of the fields that can be displayed in the **Distributions** category in the **Properties** pane. In some cases, depending upon which Risk you select in the **Risks** pane, not all of these fields will appear in the **Properties** pane. The **Notes** column contains information about any exceptions.

- The family caption of the family containing the record whose value is displayed in that row.
- The field caption of the field whose value is displayed in that row.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes		
General					
Name	System Risk	Name	None		
Description	System Risk	Description	None		
Last Failure	System Risk	Last Failure	None		
Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost	System Risk	Fixed Unplanned Cor- rection Cost	None		
Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost	System Risk	Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost	None		
Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost Units	System Risk	Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost Units	None		
Planned Correction					

• Notes that provide more information about the value in a row.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes	
Planned Cor- rection Cost	System Risk	Planned Cor- rection Cost	None	
Planned Cor- rection Duration	System Risk	Planned Cor- rection Dur- ation	None	
Planned Cor- rection Duration Units	System Risk	Planned Cor- rection Dur- ation Units	None	
Simulation Options				
Is Active	System Risk	Is Active	None	
ls Latent	System Risk	ls Latent	None	
Failure Without Replacement	System Risk	Failure Without Replacement	None	
Number of Sub- components	System Risk	Number of Sub- components	None	
PF Interval	System Risk	PF Interval	None	
PF Interval Units	System Risk	PF Interval Units	None	
Repair Imme- diately	System Risk	Repair Imme- diately	None	
Percentage of PF Interval to Wait	System Risk	Percentage of PF Interval to Wait	None	
Distributions				

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Beta	Weibull	Beta	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Weibull.
Description	Distribution	Short Descrip- tion	None
Distribution Type	Distribution	Distribution Type	This row displays a list con- taining the available selec- tions for the distribution types for the Distribution record that is linked to the selected System Risk record. The list contains the following values: Expo- nential, Lognormal, Normal, SingleValue, and Weibull.
Eta	Weibull	Eta	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Weibull.
Gamma	Weibull	Gamma	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Weibull.
Gamma	Lognormal	Gamma	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Lognor- mal.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Mean	Normal	Mean	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Normal.
MTBF	Exponential	MTBF	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Expo- nential.
MTTR	Exponential	MTBF	This row appears only when the selected System Asset record is linked to a System Risk record that is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Exponential.
Mu	Lognormal	Mu	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Lognor- mal.
Name	Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, SingleValue, or Weibull	Name	None
Sigma	Lognormal	Sigma	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Lognor- mal.

Row Label	Record	Field	Notes
Standard Devi- ation	Normal	Standard Devi- ation	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is Normal.
Time Unit	Exponential, Lognormal, Normal, SingleValue, or Weibull	Units	None
Value	Normal	Value	This row appears only when the selected System Risk record is linked to a Distribution record whose Distribution Type is SingleValue, whose dis- tribution data is stored in a Normal record.

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Seal Failure Risk in Scenario B.

Sea	al Failure's Properties				
+ +	²↓				
	General				
	Name	Seal Failure			
	Description				
	Last Failure	1/1/1999			
	Fixed Unplanned Correction	1500			
	Variable Unplanned Correcti	1000			
	Variable Unplanned Correcti	Per Day			
	Planned Correction				
	Planned Correction Cost	1000			
	Planned Correction Duration	4			
	Planned Correction Duration	Hours			
Ξ	Simulation Options				
	Is Active	✓			
	Is Latent				
	Failure Without Replacemen				
	Number of Subcomponents	1			
	PF Interval	30			
	PF Interval Units	Days			
	Repair Immediately	✓			
	Percentage of PF Interval b	0			
	- Distributions				
	I I F Distribution	TTE Distribution			
	Description				
	Description Distribution Turos	Waihull			
	Distribution Type	weibuli			
	Time Unit	Years			
	Beta	4			
	Eta	3			
	Gamma				
		TTR Distribution			
	Name	T I K Distribution			
	Description	Cia da Valua			
	Distribution Type	Single Value			
	Time Unit	Hours			
	Value	12			

About Actions and Risks

After you create an Action in a System Reliability Analysis, you can assign a single Risk or multiple Risks to that Action. When you assign a Risk to an Action, a link is created between a System Risk Assessment record, which stores the GUID of the mitigated Risk in the Risk GUID field, and the Action. This allows the Action to *mitigate* the Risk. An Action may mitigate a Risk by changing certain properties, such as failure consequences or the failure distribution, of the Risk.

Actions mitigate Risks in different ways depending upon the type of Action that is assigned to the Risk. The different types of Actions mitigate Risks in the following ways:

- **Preventive Maintenance Action:** Can mitigate the Time to Fail (TTF) distribution of the Risk by increasing the maximum operating time of the Risk, as defined by the fields in the Distribution record that defines the TTF distribution associated with the Risk. For example the Replace Seal Action in <u>Scenario B</u> of the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> mitigates the Seal Failure Risk by creating more operating time by replacing the existing seals, which have a smaller amount of operating time, with new seals that have a larger amount of operating time.
- Condition Monitor or Inspection Action: Can mitigate the consequences of failure by fixing potential failures before they occur. This allows proactive repairs, or planned corrections, to be made to the system instead of reactively fixing a failure using an <u>unplanned correction</u>. Planned corrections can consume less Resources and lower the costs of a Scenario. For example, the Vibration Analysis Action in <u>Scenario B</u> of the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> mitigates the Bearing Failure Risk by identifying a potential Bearing Failure and executing a planned correction, which requires less Resources and less Resource usage than executing an unplanned correction.
- **Special Action:** Can mitigate the failure consequences of the Risk, as defined in the Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost field of the System Risk record, and the TTF distribution, as defined by the Distribution record that represents the TTF distribution associated with the Risk. For example, the occurrence of the Redesign Impeller Action in <u>Scenario B</u> of the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> mitigates the Impeller Failure by reducing the fixed unplanned correction cost and extending the TTF distribution of the Impeller Failure Risk.

Note: An Action does not have to mitigate a Risk, but associating an Action with a Risk and mitigating the Risk creates a more reliable system.

Creating Risks on the Risks Page

The following instructions provide details on creating Risk records and simultaneously assigning them to Actions via the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page. You can also complete this workflow using the **System Reliability Scenarios - Actions** page.

To add a Risk to an Asset or Switch element in a Scenario:

- While viewing the desired non-Active Scenario on the System Reliability Scenarios

 Risks page, in the Diagram Hierarchy pane, select the element to which you want to add a Risk.
- 2. Below the grid in the **Risks** pane, click the **Add Risk** button.

The **Add New Risk** window appears, displaying the default datasheet for the System Risk family.

🔜 Add New Risk		
Add New Risk		
Name:	New Risk	
Description:		
Last Failure:		•
Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost:	0	
Variable Unplanned Correction Cost:	0	Per Day
Planned Correction Cost:	0	
Planned Correction Duration:	0	Days
Is Active:		Is Latent:
Failure Without Replacement:		Number of Subcomponents: 1
PF Interval:	0	Days
Repair Immediately:		Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
		OK Cancel

3. In the fields on the **Add New Risk** window, <u>define the properties of the System</u> <u>Risk record as desired</u>.

4. Click OK.

TheSystem Risk record appears in the**Risks** pane.

Creating Risks on the Actions Page

The following instructions provide details on creating a Risk record and simultaneously assigning it to an Action using the **System Reliability Scenarios - Actions** page. You can also complete this workflow using the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page.

To assign a new Risk to an Action:

- While viewing the desired non-Active Scenario on the System Reliability Scenarios

 Actions page, in the Diagram Hierarchy pane, select the element that contains the Action to which you want to assign a Risk.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, select the Action to which you want to assign a Risk.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Mitigated Risks** pane, click the **Assign New Risk** button.

The **New Risk** window appears, displaying the default datasheet for the System Risk family.

🔜 New Risk		
New Risk		
Name:	New Risk	
Description:		
Last Failure:		•
Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost:	0	
Variable Unplanned Correction Cost:	0	Per Day
Planned Correction Cost:	0	
Planned Correction Duration:	0	Days
Is Active:		Is Latent:
Failure Without Replacement:		Number of Subcomponents: 1
PF Interval:	0	Days
Repair Immediately:		Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0
		OK Cancel

- 4. In the fields on the **New Risk** window, <u>define the properties of the System Risk</u> <u>record as desired</u>.
- 5. Click **OK**.

The new Risk is created, linked to the selected element, assigned to the Action, and it appears in the grid in the **Mitigated Risks** pane.

Assigning Existing Risks to Actions

To assign existing Risks to an Action:

- While viewing the desired Scenario on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Actions</u> page, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Action to which you want to assign a Risk.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, select the Action to which you want to assign a Risk.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Mitigated Risks** pane, click the **Assign Existing Risks** button.

The **Assign Risk** window appears, which shows the Risks that exist in the Scenario to which the Action belongs.

As	Assign Risks				
Assign Risks					
	Flag	Name	☑ Description	Is Selected	
	►	Bearing Failure			
		Impeller Failure			
		Seal Failure			
			ОК	Cancel	

In this image, the **Assign Risks** window displays some of the Risks that exist in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

4. On the **Assign Risks** window, in the **Is Selected** column of the grid, select the check box for the Risk(s) that you want to assign to the Action.

CE Hint: You can remove any Risk that is currently assigned to the Action by clearing the **Is Selected** check box.

5. Click OK.

The Risk(s) are assigned to the selected Action in the **Actions** pane and appear in the grid in the **Mitigated Risks** pane.

Options for Modifying Risks

You can modify the values in a System Risk record using either of the following pages:

- System Reliability Scenarios Risks
- System Reliability Scenarios Actions
Modifying Risks on the Risks Page

To modify a Risk using the System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page:

- 1. While viewing the desired Scenario on the **System Reliability Scenarios Risks** page, in the **Diagram Hierarch** pane, select the row that contains the Risk you want to modify.
- 2. In the **Name** column of the grid in the **Risks** pane, click the hyperlinked name of the Risk that you want to modify.

The **<Risk Name>** dialog box appears, where **<Risk Name>** is the name of the System Risk record that you selected.

🔜 v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis fro	m a query							
v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis from a query								
Name: w3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis from a query								
Description:	Description for v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Ar	nalysis from a query						
Last Failure:								
Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost:	1000							
Variable Unplanned Correction Cost:	10000	Per Day						
Planned Correction Cost:	0							
Planned Correction Duration:	0	Days						
Is Active:		Is Latent:						
Failure Without Replacement:		Number of Subcomponents: 1						
PF Interval:	0	Days						
Repair Immediately:		Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0						
		OK Cancel						

- 3. Modify the properties of the System Risk record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

Your changes to the System Risk record are saved.

Modifying Risks Using the Actions Page

To modify a Risk using the System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page:

- 1. While viewing the desired Scenario on the **System Reliability Scenarios Actions** page, in the **Diagram Hierarch** pane, select the row that contains the Risk you want to modify.
- 2. In the **Name** column of the grid in the **Mitigated Risks** pane, click the hyperlinked name of the Risk that you want to modify.

The **<Risk Name>** dialog box appears, where **<Risk Name>** is the name of the System Risk record that you selected.

🔜 v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis fro	m a query								
v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis from a query									
Name:	v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis from a qu	ery							
Description:	Description for v3.1.0 Rel. Dist. Analysis from a query								
Last Failure:			•						
Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost:	1000								
Variable Unplanned Correction Cost:	10000	Per Day	•						
Planned Correction Cost:	0								
Planned Correction Duration:	0	Days	•						
Is Active:	\checkmark	Is Latent:							
Failure Without Replacement:		Number of Subcomponents: 1							
PF Interval:	0	Days	•						
Repair Immediately:		Percentage of PF Interval to Wait (%): 0							
		OK Cancel							

- 3. Modify the properties of the System Risk record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

Your changes to the System Risk record are saved.

About Resources for Risks

After Resources exist for a System Reliability Analysis, you can assign them to Risks. When you do so, you associate the cost of that Resource with each failure that occurs as a result of that Risk. This allows you to assign a realistic, financial cost to the consequences of the Risk that can be included in the simulation results.

When you assign a Resource to a Risk, a System Resource Usage record will be created and will store information that specifies how the Resource will be used (e.g., the quantity and duration). There are two ways to assign Resources to Risks:

- Planned Resource Usage.
- Unplanned Resource Usage.

Assigning Resources to Risks

To assign a Resource to a Risk:

- 1. On the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Risk to which you want to assign a Resource.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk to which you want to assign a Resource, click the **Planned Resource Usages** link.

-or-

In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk to which you want to assign a Resource, click the **Unplanned Resource Usages** link.

The **<Resource Usages> - <Risk>** window appears, where **<Resource Usages>** is the type of Resource Usage that you selected and **<Risk>** is the name of the Risk that you selected.

Planned Resource Usages - Bearing Failure							
Resource	Usages						
Resource	Quantity	Duration	Duration Units	Total Fixed C	Total Variable		
🕨 Mechanic 🛛 💌	1	4	Hours	0	400		
	Add	Existing Add (Vew Delete	Help	Close		

In this image, the **Planned Resource Usages - Bearing Failure** window displays the Resources that are assigned to the current Risk.

3. Click the **Add Existing** button. This button will be enabled only if one or more Resources already exist for the analysis.

A new row appears in the grid.

CEHint: Alternatively, you can click the **Add New** button to <u>create a Resource</u> from scratch and assign it to a Risk. After you have created the Resource, you can skip to step 5.

- 4. In the **Resource** cell of the first row, click the **v** button, and select the Resource you want to assign to the Risk.
- 5. Type the desired values in the **Quantity**, **Duration**, and **Duration Units** cells. These values will be used to populate the corresponding fields in the <u>System Resource</u> <u>Usage record</u>.

Note: The Total Fixed Cost and Total Variable Cost columns display the actual value that will be incurred when the System Resource Usage is added to the simulation results. Since this value is a product of the values you enter on the **Resource** dialog box and **Resource Usage** window, the cells are disabled and you cannot type values in these cells.

6. Click the **Close** button.

The **<Resource Usages> - <Risk>** window closes and your choices are applied.

Modifying Resources Assigned To Risks

When you modify a Resource that is assigned to a Risk, you modify the *System Resource Usage record*. The actual System Resource record is not changed.

To modify a Resource assigned to a Risk:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element whose Risk has Resources you want to modify.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk whose Resources you want to modify, click the **Planned Resource Usages** link.

-or-

In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk whose Resources you want to modify, click the **Unplanned Resource Usages** link.

The **<Resource Usages> - <Risk>** window appears, where **<Resource Usages>** is the type of Resource Usage that you selected and **<Risk>** is the name of the Risk that you selected.

P	Planned Resource Usages - Bearing Failure								
Ľ		Resource	Usages						
		Resource	Quantity	Duration		Duration Units	Total Fixed C	Total Variable	
	▶	Mechanic 🗾	•	1	4	Hours	0	400	
			A	ld Existing	Add I	Vew Delete	Help	Close	

- 3. In the **Resource Usages** grid, <u>modify the properties of the Resource Usage record</u> <u>as desired</u>.
- 4. Click the **Close** button.

Your changes are saved.

Removing Resources from Risks

When you remove a Resource from a Risk, you delete the System Resource Usage record so that the Resource is no longer used by the selected Risk. The actual System Resource record is still available for the System Reliability Analysis and can be used if needed.

To delete a Resource assigned to Risk:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the Risk whose Resource you want to remove.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk whose Resources you want to remove, click the **Planned Resource Usages** link.

-or-

In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk whose Resources you want to remove, click the **Unplanned Resource Usages** link.

The **<Resource Usages> - <Risk>** window appears, where **<Resource Usages>** is the type of Resource Usage that you selected and **<Risk>** is the name of the Risk that you selected.

ł	Planned Resource Usages - Bearing Failure							
	Resource	Usages						
	Resource	Quantity	Duration	Duration Units	Total Fixed C	Total Variable		
	Mechanic 🔹	1	4	Hours	0	400		
		Add	Existing Add I	New Delete	Help	Close		

- 3. In the **Resource Usages** grid, select the Resource that you want to remove.
- 4. Click the **Delete** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the selected item(s).

5. Click the **Yes** button.

The Resource Usage is removed from the Risk.

About Defining Distribution Data for Risks

You have two options for defining distribution data for Risks. You can:

- Enter distribution data manually.
- Associate distribution data from existing Reliability Distribution Analyses and Reliability Growth Analyses.

Defining Distributions Data Manually

To define TTF or TTR distribution data manually:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element whose Risk distribution you want to define.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, in the row containing the Risk whose distribution data you want to define...
 - In the TTF column, click the TTF Distribution link.

-or-

• In the TTR column, click the TTR Distribution link.

The **TTR Distribution or TTR Distribution** window appears, depending on which link you clicked.

TTF Distribution		
TTF Dis	tribution	
Name	TTF Distribution	
Description		•
Distribution Type	Exponential	•
Time Unit	Days	•
MTBF	Infinity	
Enable Distributio	n Association	

- 3. Define the properties of the Distribution record as desired.
- 4. Click **OK**.

Your new distribution data is saved.

About Associating Existing Distribution Data with Risks

As an alternative to entering distribution data manually for Risks, you can associate distribution data from existing Reliability Growth Analyses and Reliability Distribution Analyses. When you enter data manually, you can choose any values that you desire for your distribution data, but when you associate existing distribution data with Risks, you use data stored in actual Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analyses in a system.

After existing distribution data has been associated with a Risk, you can update the information periodically. When you associate the distribution data, the Entity Key and Family Key of the Reliability Distribution and Reliability Growth Analysis are stored in the System Risk record, thereby establishing a connection between the two records that allows for future updates. This way your System Reliability Analysis uses the most current information available to calculate the simulation results.

Associating Existing Distribution Data with Risks

To associate an existing Reliability Distribution Analysis or Reliability Growth Analysis with a Risk:

- 1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Risk with which you want to associate distribution data.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, select the Risk with which you want to associate a distribution data.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Risks** pane, click the **Associate Distribution** button.

The **Find Items** window appears, where you can search for a Reliability Growth Analysis or Reliability Distribution Analysis whose distribution data you want to associate with a Risk.

🔎 Find Items	×
meridium	Simple Search
Search Type Simple search	Search In: Find Now Look For: Stop Match Case? New Search
	Open Cancel

- 4. In the **Find Items** window, perform a search to locate your desired analysis. The search results appear at the bottom of the window.
- 5. In the search results, select the desired record.
- 6. Click the **Open** button.

The distribution data from the selected record is imported, and a connection is established between the Risk and the selected Reliability Growth Analysis or Reliability Distribution Analysis.

Opening Associated Analyses

You can open the Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis that is associated with the Risk selected in the in the Diagram Hierarchy pane.

To open an associated analysis:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Risk whose associated Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis you want to view.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, select the Risk whose associated Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis you want to view.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Risks** pane, click the **Open Analysis** button.

Note: If your System Reliability Analysis has any unsaved changes, you will be prompted to save them.

The System Reliability Analysis is closed, and the Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis is opened.

Refreshing Distribution Data

To refresh the distribution data associated with a Risk:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Risk whose distribution data you want to refresh.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, select the Risk whose distribution data you want to refresh.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Risks** pane, click the **Refresh Distribution** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to refresh all distribution data for this Risk.

4. Click OK.

The distribution data is refreshed.

Removing the Association Between a Risk and a Growth or Distribution Analysis

To remove the association between a Risk and a Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis:

- 1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Risk for which you want to remove an analysis association.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, select the hyperlink that represents the analysis association that you want to remove.

The **<Distribution>** window appears, where **<Distribution>** is the TTF or TTR distribution that you selected.

TTF Distribution	n	
TTF		
Name	TTF	
Description		
Distribution Type	Weibull	
Time Unit	Days	_
Beta	2.72438312043926	
Eta	152.983892628505	
Gamma	0	
Enable Distribution	ion Association	
	ОК	

3. In the bottom of the **[Distribution]** window, clear the **Enable Distribution Association** check box.

The fields in the **TTF Distribution** window are enabled.

Note: You can keep the last values that have been imported from the associated analysis or you can enter new distribution data manually.

4. Click OK.

Your changes are saved.

About Resetting Risks

When a simulation is run, the occurrence of the Risks that are defined for a piece of equipment, location, or switch are simulated, based upon the TTF Distribution associated with that Risk. After a Risk occurs or after actions are performed that mitigate the occurrence of that Risk in the simulation, that Risk will be reset automatically. This means that the time in-service for the component associated with the Risk will be changed to zero (0), indicating that the component was replaced (or repaired to as good as new).

When a Risk will be reset automatically is determined by the failure type of that Risk. A Risk whose failure type is *Failure With Replacement* will be reset automatically when any of the following scenarios occurs:

- An unplanned correction takes place following the occurrence of a Risk.
- A planned correction takes place to mitigate the occurrence of a Risk.
- <u>Preventive Maintenance</u> is performed against a piece of equipment to mitigate the occurrence of a Risk.
- A <u>Special Action</u> with a <u>TTF replacement</u> is performed against a piece of equipment to mitigate the occurrence of a Risk.

A Risk whose failure type is *Failure Without Replacement* will be reset automatically when any of the following scenarios occurs:

- <u>Preventive Maintenance</u> is performed against a piece of equipment to mitigate the occurrence of a Risk.
- A <u>Special Action</u> with a <u>TTF replacement</u> is performed against a piece of equipment to mitigate the occurrence of a Risk.

For example, suppose that the following Risks with a failure type of *Failure With Replacement* are defined in your simulation for a *Water Pump*:

- Bearing Failure
- Impeller Failure
- Seal Failure

In the simulation, after unplanned correction is completed following the occurrence of the *Bearing Failure* Risk , the time in-service for the Bearing will be reset automatically to zero (0) to indicate that you will replace the Bearing after it fails so that the *Bearing Failure* Risk will not occur again until the defined TTF Distribution is reached.

In addition to Risks being reset automatically as described in the preceding scenarios, you can specify that *additional* Risks be reset following the planned or unplanned correction of a given Risk. In other words, you can specify a Risk as a *source* Risk, whose planned or unplanned correction triggers additional Risks to be reset at that time. This means that the time in-service for the components associated with the additional Risks will be changed to zero (0), indicating that the additional components were also

replaced (or repaired to as good as new) following the planned or unplanned correction of the source Risk.

Throughout the documentation we will use the term *source Risk* to refer to a Risk whose planned or unplanned correction triggers the resetting of additional Risks. We will use the term *additional Risk* to refer to Risks that are reset by the planned or unplanned correction of a source Risk.

You can specify that additional Risks should be reset *only* when:

• An unplanned correction takes place following the occurrence of a source Risk.

-or-

• A planned correction takes place to mitigate the occurrence of a source Risk.

It is important to note that source Risks that are mitigated as a result of Special Action with a TTF replacement or Preventive Maintenance will not trigger any additional Risks to be reset.

Continuing with the previous example, suppose that:

• You will replace the Seal, *in addition to* the Bearing, when the *Bearing Failure* Risk occurs.

-or-

• The planned correction that you perform to mitigate the occurrence of the *Bearing Failure* Risk will *also* mitigate the occurrence of the *Seal Failure* Risk.

In this case, you want to indicate in your simulation that the *Bearing Failure* Risk (i.e., the source Risk) should reset the *Seal Failure* Risk (i.e., the additional Risk). In other words, the time that the Seal has been in-service will *also* be changed to zero (0) to reflect that the Seal will be replaced (or repaired to as good as new) following the planned or unplanned correction of the *Bearing Failure* Risk.

You can manage the additional Risks that should be reset by a source Risk via the **Risks** to **Reset** dialog box or the shortcut menu in the **Risks** pane on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page. You can specify *any* Risk that is defined for a piece of equipment or location as a source Risk or an additional Risk, with a few <u>exceptions</u>.

Rules for Resetting Risks

When you set up a simulation to include source Risks and additional Risks, it is important to keep in mind the following rules:

- You can specify a Risk as a source Risk if the failure type for that Risk is:
 - Failure Without Replacement

-or-

- Failure With Replacement
- You can specify a Risk as an additional Risk *only* if the failure type for that Risk is *Failure With Replacement*.

Keep in mind that in the simulation, only Risks whose failure type is *Failure With Replacement* are reset following a planned or unplanned correction. Risks whose failure type is *Failure Without Replacement* are not reset following planned or unplanned correction because the components associated with these Risks are not replaced (or repaired to as good as new). Specifically, this means that a Risk whose failure type is *Failure Without Replacement...*

- can be specified as a *source* Risk. In other words, the planned or unplanned correction of these Risks can trigger additional Risks to be reset, if the failure type of the additional Risks is *Failure With Replacement*.
- *Cannot* be specified as additional Risks. In the **Risks to Reset** grid on the **Risks to Reset** dialog box, rows containing Risks whose failure type is *Failure Without Replacement* are disabled.

For example, suppose that the following Risks with the following failure types are defined for a *Shell and Tube Heat Exchanger*.

- A Tube Bundle Failure Risk whose failure type if *Failure Without Replacement*
- A Shell Head Failure Risk whose failure type is *Failure With Replacement*
- A Seals (gaskets) Failure Risk whose failure type is Failure With Replacement

Now suppose that when you complete planned or unplanned correction for the *Tube Bundle Failure* Risk, though you will not replace (or repair to as good as new) the Tube Bundle, you *will* replace (or repair to as good as new) the Seals (gaskets). In this case, you want to indicate in your simulation that the *Tube Bundle Failure* Risk is a source Risk that should trigger the resetting of the *Seals (gaskets) Failure* Risk (i.e., an additional Risk). In other words, the time that the Seals (gaskets) has been in service will be changed to zero (0) to reflect that the Seals (gaskets) will be replaced (or repaired to as good as new) following the planned or unplanned correction of the *Tube Bundle Failure* Risk.

Selecting Risks to Reset

The following instructions provide details on specifying which additional Risks should be reset by a source Risk, using the <u>Risks to Reset dialog box</u>. When you specify that an additional Risk should be reset, the time in-service for the component associated with the Risk will be changed to zero (0) in the simulation, following the planned or unplanned correction of the source Risk.

These instructions assume that you are viewing the desired scenario on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>.

To select Risks to reset:

1. In the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element whose Risks you want to manage.

The Risks defined for the piece of equipment or location represented by that element appear in the **Risks** pane.

Diagram	Hierarchy 📮	Ris	ks						
Name			Name	Description	[TTE		Ranned Resource	Lipplanad Resou	Dicks to Depart
⊡ • ⊭	🗼 Default System	ll ŀ-	Indiffe	Description	100	TIK	Fidilited Resource	onplanned Resource	Risks to Reset
Ē.	Bottling Subsystem		Impeller Failure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource U	Unplanned Resource	<u>0</u>
	Bottling Line 3		Bearing Failure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource U	Unplanned Resource	<u>0</u>
	📦 Bottling Line 2		Seal Failure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource U	Unplanned Resource	<u>0</u>
	Bottling Line 1	111-							
-	Water Pump								
L	😭 Water Tank								
				Add Risk	Associate Distribution	Open Analysi	is Refresh	Distribution	Delete Risk
					Associate Distribution	Open Analysi	Keiresii		Deletertisk

- 2. In the grid in the **<u>Risks pane</u>**, select the row containing the desired source Risk.
- 3. In the **Risks to Reset** cell, click the hyperlinked number.

The **<u>Risks to Reset</u>** dialog box appears.

sks to Reset	t for Water Pump	— ×					
Risks to Reset with Bearing Failure							
Image: Name Failure Without Replacement							
	Impeller Failure	No					
	Seal Failure	No					

4. In the **Risks to Reset** grid, select the check box in the row containing each additional Risk that you want to be reset by the source Risk.

In the following image, the *Seal Failure* Risk is selected to be reset by the *Bearing Failure* Risk.

Risks to Reset for Water Pump							
F	Risks to Reset with Bearing Failure						
		Name	Failure Without Replacement				
		Impeller Failure	No				
Þ		Seal Failure	No				
v s	elect All		OK Cancel				
0	oroot All						

<u>CE</u>Hint: You can use the **Select All** check box to select all the Risks.

5. Click **OK**.

The **Risks to Reset** dialog box closes, and the hyperlinked number in the **Risks to Reset** cell for the source System Risk record changes to reflect the number of additional Risks you selected. When you run the simulation, the time in-service for the components associated with the additional Risks will be changed to zero (0), following the planned or unplanned correction of the source Risk.

In the following image, you can see that the hyperlinked number in the **Risks to Reset** cell for the *Bearing Failure* Risk is *1*, indicating that the *Bearing failure* Risk resets one additional Risk.

Ris	isks									
	[1	Name	V	Description	TTF	TTR	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	Risks to Reset	
	5	Seal Failur	e		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	Q	
	Ī	Impeller Fa	ailure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	Q	
	► E	Bearing Fa	ilure		TTF Distribution	TTR Distribution	Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages	1	
Ľ										
		Ac	dd Risk		Associate Distribution	Open	Analysis Refres	h Distribution D	elete Risk	
	_									

In the example used in these instructions, when you run the simulation, the time that the Seal has been in service will be changed to zero (0) following the planned or unplanned correction of the *Bearing Failure* Risk to reflect that a the Seal was replaced (or repaired to as good as new).

Overview of the Risks to Reset Dialog Box

Using the **Risks to Reset** dialog box, you can specify per source Risk the additional Risks that should be reset following the planned or unplanned correction of that Risk.

The **Risks to Reset for <Asset ID>** dialog box contains the **Risks to Reset <Risk ID>** grid, where:

- **<Asset ID>** is the Entity ID of the record represented by the Asset element and to which the System Risk record for the source Risk is linked. Remember that Asset elements can represent records in one of the following families:
 - **System Asset:** This is the family that is used by default when an <u>Asset element is created from scratch</u>.
 - **Equipment:** This is the family that is used by default when an <u>Asset element</u> is imported for a piece of equipment.
 - Functional Location: This is the family that is used by default when an <u>Asset</u> element is imported for a location.
- **<Risk ID>** is the value stored in the Name field in the System Risk record of the source Risk for which you are specifying additional Risks to be reset.

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the **Risks to Reset for <Asset ID>** dialog box as the **Risks to Reset** dialog box, and we refer to the **Risks to Reset with <Risk ID>** grid as the **Risks to Reset** grid.

Consider the following image, which shows an example of what the **Risks to Reset** dialog box looks like when you access it from the *Bearing Failure* Risk that is defined for the *Water Pump*.

Risks to Reset for Water Pump						
Risks to Reset with Bearing Failure						
		Name		[1	Failure Without Repl	acement
►		Impeller Failure		1	No	
		Seal Failure		١	No	
	Select A	JI			OK	Cancel

In this image, you can see that the **Risks to Reset** grid displays the Risks that are defined for the *Water Pump*, except for the currently selected Risk, whose ID appears in the title above the grid. In the **Risks to Reset** grid, you can select additional Risks that should be reset in the simulation following a planned or unplanned correction of the *Bearing Failure* Risk (i.e., the source Risk).

Using the Risks to Reset Dialog Box

You can use the **Risks to Reset** dialog box to select the additional Risks that a source Risk should reset. You can access the **Risks to Reset** dialog box, via the following locations:

- System Reliability Scenarios Risks page.
- System Reliability Scenarios Actions page.
- Actions Editor window.
- Risks Editor window.

You can modify selections on the **Risks to Reset** dialog box only when it is accessed via the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page or the **Risks Editor** window. If you access the **Risks to Reset** dialog box using other methods, all the options will be disabled. The following image shows the **Risks to Reset** dialog box as it appears when you access it from the **System Reliability Scenarios - Risks** page or the **Risks Editor** window.

Risks to Reset for Water Pump						
Risks to Reset with Bearing Failure						
[Name	Failure Without Replacement				
	Impeller Failure	No				
	Seal Failure	No				
Select All		OK Cancel				

The **Risks to Reset** dialog box contains the **Risks to Reset** grid, which displays all the Risks that are defined for the selected Asset element, except for the currently selected Risk, whose ID appears in the title above the grid. This is the source Risk.

Each row in the **Risks to Reset** grid represents one Risk. For each Risk that is displayed in the grid, the following columns appear and contain values from the underlying System Risk record:

- Name: Displays the value stored in the Name field in the System Risk record.
- Failure Without Replacement: Displays one of the following read-only selections that is stored in the Failure Without Replacement field in the System Risk record:
 - No: Indicates that the failure type for the Risk in that row is *Failure With Replacement*. Risks with this failure type can be selected as an additional Risk to be reset.
 - Yes: Indicates that the failure type for the Risk in that row is *Failure Without Replacement*. Risks with this failure type *cannot* be selected as an additional Risk to be reset, and rows in the grid for these Risks will be disabled.

An additional, unlabeled column containing a check box appears to the left of the **Name** column and lets you select the Risks that should be reset by the source Risk.

Below the grid, the Select All check box appears, which you can use to:

- Select *all* the Risks defined for the piece of equipment or location.
 - -or-
- Clear *all* the currently selected Risks.

If one or more check boxes are selected in the grid (but not all), the **Select All** check box will be selected and colored gray. For example, the following image shows how the **Select All** check box appears in this case. A red outline has been added to the image to highlight this check box. You can clear the gray **Select All** check box to clear ALL the currently selected check boxes.

Risks to Reset for Water Pump					
Risks to Reset with Bearing Failure					
[Name		Failure Without Replacement	
1		Seal Failure		No	
		Impeller Failure		No	
⊡ Se	elect All			OK Cancel	

In addition, the following buttons are available on the **Risks to Reset** dialog box:

- OK: Saves your changes and closes the **Risks to Reset** dialog box.
- Cancel: Closes the Risks to Reset dialog box and discards your changes.

The Shortcut Menu in the Risks Pane

When you right-click any cell in the <u>Risks pane</u> on the **System Reliability Scenarios** - **Risks** page, a shortcut menu appears, as shown in the following image. This menu contains options that you can use to manage the additional Risks that you want to be reset by a source Risk. The source Risk is determined by the row from which you access the shortcut menu.

Select All Risks to Reset for Current Risk Unselect All Risks to Reset for Current Risk

Select All Risks to Reset for Asset

Unselect All Risks to Reset for Asset

The shortcut menu contains the following options:

- Select All Risks to Reset for the Current Risk: Specifies that *all* the Risks defined for the piece of equipment or location should be reset by the selected source Risk.
- Unselect All Risks to Reset for Current Risk: Specifies that *none* of the Risks defined for the piece of equipment or location should be reset by the selected source Risk.
- Select All Risks to Reset for Asset: Specifies that *any* Risk defined for the piece of equipment or location should reset *all* the remaining Risks defined for the piece of equipment or location.
- Unselect All Risks to Rest for Asset: Specifies that *none* of the Risks defined for the piece of equipment or location should be reset by any other Risk defined for the piece of equipment or location.

Deleting Risks

To delete a Risk:

- 1. On the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Risks page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element whose Risk you want to delete.
- 2. In the grid in the **Risks** pane, select the Risk that you want to delete.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Risks** pane, click the **Delete Risk** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the Risk.

4. Click the Yes button.

The System Risk record is removed from the grid in the **Risks** pane.

About Actions

In a System Reliability Analysis, an *Action* represents an operation that can be performed against a piece of equipment, location, or a switch. Actions can represent inspections, general maintenance, or specific events that mitigate Risks, such as training or procedures.

Actions can be unique events that happen only once during a simulation period, or they can be repeated at certain times during the simulation period. You can optionally assign Resources to Actions to associate a specific cost with the Action. When you assign Resources to Actions, a <u>System Resource Usage record</u> will be created.

Actions in System Reliability Analyses are stored in the following records, which can be linked to System Asset and System Switch records:

- <u>System Condition Monitor Records</u>: Store information about continuous, condition-based maintenance Actions. An example of this type of Action would be an Action that continuously monitors the level of fluid in a gauge.
- <u>System Inspection Records</u>: Store information about periodic, condition-based maintenance Actions. An example of this type of Action is the Vibration Analysis Action in <u>Scenario B</u> of our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.
- <u>System Preventive Maintenance Records</u>: Store information about time-based maintenance Actions. An example of this type of Action is the Replace Seals Action in <u>Scenario B</u> of our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.
- <u>System Special Action Records</u>: Store information about procedural, redesign, or training Actions. An example of this type of Action is the Redesign Impeller Action in <u>Scenario B</u> of our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Diagram Hierarchy Pane

The **Diagram Hierarchy** pane on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u> displays the elements in the Diagram that can have Actions associated with them. In the following image, the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane is outlined in red.

System Reliability Scenarios - Actions						
Site Map: <u>Reliability->System Reliability->System Reliability Analysis Example->Scenario for Diagram B</u>						
Diagram Hierarchy	Diagram Hierarchy					
Default System	Name Description Resource Usages					
Bottling Subsystem	m Resource Usages	lure's				
Botting Line 1	Vibration Analysis Resource Usages	Prop				
Bottling Line 3		erties				
···· 📦 Water Pump ···· 📦 Water Tank	Add Action Delete Action Optimize					
	Mitigated Risks					
	Name Description TTF △ TTR Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages Risks to Reset				
	Eearing Failure TIF Distribution TIR Distribution Planned Resource Usages	Unplanned Resource Usages 0				
	Assi	gn New Risk Assign Existing Risks				

When you select an element in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, the Actions that are currently defined for that element are displayed in the **Actions** pane. For example, in the preceding image, the selected *Water Pump* has three associated Actions:

- Redesign Impellers.
- Replace Seals.
- Vibration Analysis.

Actions Pane

The **Actions** pane is displayed on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u> and on the **Actions Editor** window. It displays the Actions associated with the selected Asset or Switch element in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>. In the following image, the **Actions** pane is outlined in red.

System Reliability Scenarios - Actions						
Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>SystemRelia</u>	bility->System Reliability Analysis	Example->Scenario for Diagra	am B			
			Scenario: Scenario for Diagram B	•		
Diagram Hierarchy	Actions			Bea		
Name	Name	Description	Descurree lisages	aring		
Default System	Redesign Impellers	Resource Usages		II Failu		
Bottling Subsystem	Replace Seals		Resource Usages			
Bottling Line 2	Vibration Analysis		esource Usages			
Bottling Line 3				ertie		
🖗 Water Pump						
····· 🕅 Water Tank	Add Action Delete Action Optimize					
	Mitigated Risks					
	Name Descripti	on [TTF ∆ [TTR	Planned Resource Usages Unplanned Resource Usages Risks to	Reset		
	Bearing Failure	TTF Distribution TTR D	Distribution Planned Resource Usages Unplanned Resource Usages	<u>0</u>		
			Assign New Risk Assign Exist	ting Risks		

The grid in the **Actions** pane contains the following columns of information:

- Name: Displays the value in the Name field in the System Action record.
- **Description:** Displays the value in the Description field in the <u>System Action</u> <u>record</u>.
- **Resource Usages:** Displays the **Resource Usages** link, which provides access to any Resources that have been assigned to the Action.

Below the grid in the **Actions** pane, the following buttons appear:

- Add Action: Displays the Select Action Type dialog box, where you can create a new System Action record to link to the current System Asset or System Switch record.
- **Delete Action:** After asking for confirmation, <u>deletes the System Action record</u> that is currently selected in the **Actions** pane.
- **Optimize:** Displays the **Action Interval Optimization** window, where you can <u>find</u> <u>the optimal interval</u> at which to implement an Action.

Mitigated Risks Pane

The **Mitigated Risks** pane is displayed on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Actions** page and on the **Actions Editor** window. It displays the Risks mitigated by the Action selected in the **Actions** pane. In the following image, the **Mitigated Risks** pane is outlined in red.

System Reliability Scenarios - Actions								
Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>System Reliab</u>	Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>SystemReliability</u> -> <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> -> <u>Scenario for Diagram B</u>							
			Scenar	rio: Scenario for Diagram B	•			
Diagram Hierarchy 📮	Actions				Bee			
Name	Name	Description	Pesource Lisages		ring			
- Default System	Redesign Impellers	Description	Resource Lisages					
Bottling Subsystem	Penlace Seals Personance Usages							
Bottling Line 2	Vibration Analysis	Vibration Analysis Desource Lisance			Pop			
Bottling Line 3			<u>Reboarce obageb</u>					
Water Pump								
🕅 Water Tank				Add Action [Pelete Action Optimize			
	Mitigated Risks							
	Name Descriptio		Planned Resource		Lisages Disks to Reset			
	Bearing Failure		Distribution Planned Resource	e Usages Unplanned Resource	Usages 0			
					<u>- 534(-5</u>			
	Assign New Risk Assign Existing Risks							

The **Mitigated Risks** pane contains the following columns of information:

- Name: Displays the value in the Name field in the System Risk record.
- Description: Displays the value in the Description field in the System Risk record.
- TTF: Displays the TTF Distribution link, which you can click to open the TTF Distribution window and view the Time to Failure (TTF) distribution data for the associated System Risk record.
- TTR: Displays the TTR Distribution link, which you can click to open the TTR Distribution window where and view the Time to Repair (TTR) distribution data for the associated System Risk record.
- Planned Resource Usages: Displays the Planned Resource Usages link, which you can click to open the Planned Resource Usages window and view any planned Resources that have been assigned to the Risk.
- Unplanned Resource Usages: Displays the Unplanned Resource Usages link, which you can click to open the Unplanned Resource Usages window and view any unplanned Resources that have been assigned to the Risk.
- **Risks to Reset:** Displays a number representing the number of <u>additional Risks</u> <u>that will be reset if the Risk in that row occurs or is mitigated as a result of</u> <u>planned correction</u>. This number appears as a hyperlink, which you can click to access the **Risks to Reset** dialog box, where you can view the additional Risks that

will be reset in the simulation if the source Risk occurs or is mitigated as a result of planned correction.

Below the **Mitigated Risks** grid, the following buttons appear:

- Assign New Risk: Displays the New Risk window, where you can create a new Risk that will be mitigated by the Action that is currently selected in the Actions pane.
- Assign Existing Risks: Displays the Assign Risks window, where you can assign an existing Risk to be mitigated by the Action that is currently selected in the Actions pane or remove an existing Risk from being mitigated by the Action that is currently selected in the Actions pane.
Accessing the Properties Pane

The Properties pane on the System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page lets you view and modify the properties of the element that is currently selected in the Diagram Hierarchy pane, Mitigated Risks pane, or Actions pane.

To access the Properties pane:

- 1. Select the element on the **System Reliability Scenarios Actions** page for which you want to view or modify properties.
- 2. Pause on the **<Name>'s Properties** tab on the right side of the page.

The **<Name>'s Properties** pane appears. When you move your pointer away from the **<Name>'s Properties** tab, the **<Name>'s Properties** pane will collapse.

Note: If you want the **<Name>'s Properties** pane to remain on the page after you move your pointer away from the **<Name>'s Properties** tab, click the 😑 button.

😵 Meri	🍄 Meridium APM Framework - System Reliability Scenarios - Actions - System Reliability Analysis Example								
<u>F</u> ile 🔅 Ba	<u>F</u> ile <u>F</u> ort <u>Ro</u> Iools <u>H</u> elp & Back + 🗧 Forward + 🏠 My Start Page + 🎉 New 🔎 Search 😹 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🕼 Graph + 🥩 Dataset + 📾 Dashboard +								
Relia	Weight Construction System Reliability Scenarios - Actions Tools Ste Map: Reliability->System Reliability->System Reliability Analysis Example->Scenario B								
1	Run Simulation				_	_			
	Optimize Actions Resources		Diagram Hierarchy	Actions Description		Rep	laces Seals's Properties	*	n Replace
Navig	Generate Report Recommendations Refresh Distribu Istion 😒 Summary Analysis Definition Diagram Actions		Kay Diagram for Scenar Sotting Line Sotti	Redecion Impellers Vibration Analysis Replaces Scals New Condition Monitor			General Name Description Action Type Action Cost Preventive Maintenanc Interval Units Duration Duration Units Shutdown Required One Time Action	Replaces Seals Time-Based Maintenance 2000 e 2 Years 4 Hours 	s Seals's Properties
Comm 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Risks Global Events Grid View Simulation Results Simulation Results Mew Analysis Open Analysis Save Analysis Save Analysis As Delete Analysis	*		Mitigated Risks Name Description TTF TTR Image: Seal Failure TTF Distribution TTR Distribution	utio				

About Fields Displayed on the Properties Pane

Different fields are displayed in the **Properties** pane depending upon the element that is selected on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Actions** page. When you select an element, the **Properties** pane will display the fields that belong to the record that is associated with the selected element. You can select any of the following elements to view the fields in the associated record in the **Properties** pane:

- Actions
- Assets
- Risks
- <u>Switches</u>

Action Fields

When you select an Action from the **Actions** pane on the **System Reliability Scenarios -Actions** page, the **Properties** pane displays information related to that Action. The following table lists:

- The row labels that are displayed in the **Properties** pane when you select an Action in the **Actions** pane. The table is organized by the categories that are displayed when you view the **Properties** pane in a categorized view.
- The name of the record whose value is displayed in that row. Note that there are several subfamilies of <u>System Action records</u>: System Condition Monitor records, System Inspection records, System Preventative Maintenance records, and System Special Action records.
- The field caption of the field whose value is displayed in that row.

Record	System Field	Notes
System Action	Name	None
System Action	Description	None
System Action	Action Type	This row is disabled and pop- ulated automatically with the cat- egory of System Action record to which it belongs. For System Condition Monitor and System Inspection records, this value is <i>Condition-Based Maintenance</i> (<i>Predictive</i>). For System Pre- ventative Maintenance records, this value is <i>Time-Based Main- tenance</i> (<i>Preventative</i>). For Sys- tem Special Action records, this value is one of the following: • Procedure (PROC) • Redesign (DSN)
	System Action System Action System Action	System Action Name System Action Description System Action Action Type

• Notes that provide more information about the value in that row.

Row Label	System Record	System Field	Notes
Conditioning Monitoring Type	System Action	Condition Monitoring Type	This row appears only when the selected System Action record is classified as a System Inspection or System Condition Monitor record.
Action Cost	System Action	Action Cost	None
Condition Mon	itor		This section and its cor- responding rows appear only when the selected System Action record is a Condition Monitor record.
Detection Probability	System Condi- tion Monitor	Detection probability	None
Inspection			This section and its cor- responding rows appear only when the selected System Action record is a System Inspection record.
Interval	System Inspec- tion	Interval	None
Interval Units	System Inspec- tion	Interval Units	None
Duration	System Inspec- tion	Duration	None
Duration Units	System Inspec- tion	Duration Units	None
Shutdown Required	System Inspec- tion	Shutdown Required	None
One Time Action	System Inspec- tion	One Time Action	None
Detection Probability	System Inspec- tion	Detection Probability	None

Row Label	System Record	System Field	Notes
Preventative Maintenance			This section and its cor- responding rows appear only when the selected System Action record is a System Preventative Maintenance record.
Interval	System Pre- ventative Maintenance	Interval	None
Interval Units	System Pre- ventative Maintenance	Interval Units	None
Duration	System Pre- ventative Maintenance	Duration	None
Duration Units	System Pre- ventative Maintenance	Duration Units	None
Shutdown Required	System Pre- ventative Maintenance	Shutdown Required	None
One Time Action	System Pre- ventative Maintenance	One Time Action	None
Special Action			This section and its cor- responding rows appear only when the selected System Action record is a Special Action record.
Interval	System Spe- cial Action	Interval	None
Interval Units	System Spe- cial Action	Interval Units	None
Duration	System Spe- cial Action	Duration	None
Duration Units	System Spe- cial Action	Duration Units	None

Row Label	System Record	System Field	Notes
Shutdown	System Spe-	Shutdown	None
Required	cial Action	Required	
One Time	System Spe-	One Time	None
Action	cial Action	Action	

The following image shows the categorized view of the **Properties** pane that would be displayed if you selected the Replace Seal Action in Scenario B.

Rep	Replaces Seals's Properties 🗧				
+ +					
	General				
	Name	Replaces Seals			
	Description				
	Action Type	Time-Based Maintenance			
	Action Cost	2000			
Ξ	Preventive Maintenance				
	Interval	2			
	Interval Units	Years			
	Duration	4			
	Duration Units	Hours			
	Shutdown Required	✓			
	One Time Action				

About Creating System Action Records

When you create an Action in a System Reliability Analysis, a record is created in a <u>sub</u><u>family of the System Action family</u>. The Meridium APM system determines the specific family in which to create the record based upon the following factors:

• Your selections in the Action Type and Condition Monitoring Type lists on the Select Action Type dialog box.

-and-

• The values that exist in System Action Mapping records.

After you select values on the **Select Action Type** dialog box, the Meridium APM system searches all System Action Mapping records for a record with identical values in the Action Type and Condition Monitoring fields, respectively. When it finds a record with matching values, the Meridium APM system creates a System Action record in the family whose caption appears in the ASO Action Type field in that System Action Mapping record.

About the Select Action Type Dialog Box

The **Select Action Type** dialog box lets you specify the type of Action that you want to create, using the combination of values that you select in the **Action Type** and **Condition Monitoring Type** lists. For more information, see the following table.

Before you can create an Action, you will need to access the **Select Action Type** dialog box. You can do so using the following methods:

• If you want to create a new Action and assign it to an Asset or Switch element without assigning it to a Risk, on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u>, in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, select the element to which you want to add an Action, and then click the **Add Action** button below the grid in the **Actions** pane.

-or-

• If you want to create a new Action and assign it to an Asset or Switch element and a risk, on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page</u>, in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, select the element that contains the Risk to which you want to assign an Action, and then click the **Assign New Action** button below the grid in the **Mitigating Actions** pane.

The following table shows the values that you can select in the **Action Type** list and **Condition Monitoring Type** list and the System Action subfamily in which the record for your action will be created.

Note: The **Condition Monitoring Type** list appears only if you select *Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)* in the **Action Type** list.

Action Type	Condition Monitoring Type	System Action Subfamily
Condition-Based Main- tenance (Predictive) (CM)	Periodic	System Inspection record
Condition-Based Main- tenance (Predictive) (CM)	Continuous	System Condition Monitor record
Procedure (PROC)	n/a	System Special Action record
Redesign (DSN)	n/a	System Special Action record
Time-Based Maintenance (Preventive) (PM)	n/a	System Preventive Main- tenance record
Training (TRN)	n/a	System Special Action record

For example, if you create an Action by selecting Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM) in the Action Type list and Continuous in the Condition Monitoring Type list, a <u>System Condition Monitor record</u> will be created.

Creating System Condition Monitor Records

To create a new System Condition Monitor record:

1. Using the desired method, access the **Select Action Type** dialog box.

The **Select Action Type** dialog box appears.

Select Action Type		×
Action Type	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)	•
Condition Monitoring Type	Periodic	-
	OK Cancel	

- 2. In the Action Type list, select Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM).
- 3. In the Condition Monitoring Type list, select Continuous.
- 4. Click OK.

The New Condition Monitor window appears.

🔡 New Condition Monit	η	
New Conditi	on Monitor	
Name:	New Condition Monitor	
Description:		<
Action Type:	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)	T
Condition Monitoring Type:	Continuous	•
Action Cost:	0	
Detection Probability (%):	100	
	ОК	ancel

- 5. In the fields on the **New Condition Monitor** window, define the values of the System Condition Monitor record as desired.
- 6. Click OK.

The System Condition Monitor record is saved, and the new Action appears in the **Actions** grid.

CE Hint: If desired, in the grid in the **Actions** pane, you can click the **Resource Usages** hyperlink to <u>assign Resources to the Action</u>.

Creating System Inspection Records

To create a new System Inspection record:

1. Using the desired method, access the Select Action Type dialog box.

The **Select Action Type** dialog box appears.

Select Action Type		×
Action Type	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)	-
Condition Monitoring Type	Periodic	•
	OK Cancel	

- 3. In the Action Type list, select Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM).
- 4. In the Condition Monitoring Type list, select Periodic.
- 5. Click OK.

The **New Inspection** window appears.

Rew Inspection				
New Inspect	ion			
Name:	New Inspection			
Description:				▲
Action Type:	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive	e) (⊂M)		
Condition Monitoring Type:	Periodic			-
Action Cost:	0			
Interval:	1	Days		•
Duration:	0	Days		•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:		
Detection Probability (%):	100			
				Close

- 6. In the fields on the **New Inspection** window, <u>define the values of the System</u> <u>Inspection record as desired</u>.
- 7. Click OK.

The System Inspection record is saved, and the new Action appears in the **Actions** grid.

CE Hint: If desired, in the grid in the **Actions** pane, you can click the **Resource Usages** hyperlink to <u>assign Resources to the Action</u>.

Creating System Preventative Maintenance Records

To create a new System Preventative Maintenance record:

1. Using the desired method, <u>access the Select Action Type dialog box</u>.

The **Select Action Type** dialog box appears.

Select Action Type		×
Action Type	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)	•
Condition Monitoring Type	Periodic	-
	OK Cancel	

- In the Action Type list, select Time-Based Maintenance (Preventative) (PM).
 The Condition Monitoring Type list is hidden.
- 3. Click OK.

The **New Preventative Maintenance** window appears.

🔜 New Preventive Main	tenance		
New Preven	tive Maintenance		
Name:	New Preventive Maintenance		
Description:			
Action Type:	Time-Based Maintenance (Preventive) (PM)		
Condition Monitoring Type:			•
Action Cost:	0		
Interval:	1	Days	•
Duration:	0	Days	•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:	
			Close

- 4. In the fields on the **New Preventative Maintenance** window, <u>define the values of</u> <u>the System Preventative Maintenance record as desired</u>.
- 5. Click OK.

The System Preventative Maintenance record is saved, and the new Action appears in the **Actions** grid.

CE Hint: If desired, in the grid in the **Actions** pane, you can click the **Resource Usages** hyperlink to <u>assign Resources to the Action</u>.

Creating System Special Action Records

To create a new System Special Action record:

1. Using the desired method, access the <u>Select Action Type dialog box</u>.

The **Select Action Type** dialog box appears.

Select Action Type		×
Action Type	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)	•
Condition Monitoring Type	Periodic	•
	OK Cancel	

- 2. In the Action Type list, select one of the following values:
 - Procedure (PROC)
 - Redesign (DSN)
 - Training (TRN)

The Condition Monitor Type list is hidden.

3. Click OK.

The **New Special Action** window appears.

New Special Action			
New Special	Action		
Action Properties Mitigated F	isks		
Name:	New Special Action		
Description:			
Action Type:	Training (TRN)		
Condition Monitoring Type:			_
Action Cost:	0		
Interval:	1	Days	•
Duration:	0	Days	•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:	
			Close

- 4. In the fields on the **New Special Action** window, <u>define the values of the New Special Action Record as desired</u>.
- 5. Click **OK**.

The System Special Action record is saved, and the new Action appears in the **Actions** grid.

CEHint: If desired, in the grid in the <u>Actions pane</u>, you can click the **Resource Usages** hyperlink to <u>assign Resources to the Action</u>.

Assigning Existing Actions to Risks

To assign one or more existing Actions to Risks:

- 1. While viewing the desired Scenario on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Risks</u> page, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Risk to which you want to assign an Action.
- 2. Below the grid in the **Mitigating Actions** pane, click the **Assign Existing Actions** button.

Assign Actions

 Assign Actions

 Flag
 Name

 Vibration Analysis

 Replace Seals

 Redesign Impellers

The **Assign Actions** window appears.

This image displays the Actions that are available to be assigned to Risks in the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

3. On the **Assign Actions** window, in the **Is Selected** column, select the check box for the Action(s) that you want to assign.

Note: You can remove any Action that is currently assigned to the Risk by clearing the **Is Selected** check box.

4. Click **OK**.

The Action(s) are assigned and appear in the grid in the **Mitigating Actions** pane.

Overview of the <Special Action> Window

When you view an existing System Special Action record, it appears in the **<Special Action>** window, where **<Special Action>** is the name of the Action as it appears in the Name field in the System Special Action record.

New Special Action			
New Special	Action		
Action Properties Mitigated Ri	isks		
Name:	New Special Action		
Description:			····
Action Type:	Training (TRN)		
Condition Monitoring Type:			
Action Cost:	0		
Interval:	1	Days	•
Duration:	0	Days	•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:	
			Close

Using the **<Special Action>** window, you can perform the following tasks:

- View and modify the System Special Action record.
- View a list of System Risk Assessment records that are linked to the System Special Action record.

Additionally, for each System Risk Assessment record, you can specify the failure consequence and TTF Distribution values that you want to use in the simulation.

The **<Special Action>** window contains the following tabs:

- Actions Properties: Displays the System Special Action datasheet.
- <u>Mitigated Risks</u>: Displays the list of System Risk Assessment records that are linked to the Action and provides options that you can use to specify the failure consequence and TTF Distribution values that you want to be used in the

simulation when a Special Action is completed to mitigate the occurrence of a given Risk.

The Mitigated Risks Tab

You can use the **Mitigated Risks** tab on the <u><Special Action> window</u> to specify for each Mitigated Risk that is associated with the Special Action the Failure Consequence and TTF Distribution values that you want to be used in the simulation when the Special Action is completed to mitigate the occurrence of the given Risk.

On the left, the **Mitigated Risks** tab displays the list of Mitigated Risks that are associated with the Special Action. Each Mitigated Risk represents one System Risk Assessment record that is linked to the System Special Action record. For each Mitigated Risk that appears in the list to the left, the following items are displayed to the right.

- New Failure Consequence tab: Contains the following items:
 - Replace Failure Consequence check box: Indicates that when the Special Action for the selected Mitigated Risk is completed, you want the simulation to use the value that you specify in the Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost field.
 - Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost text box: Stores the values that you want the simulation to use in place of the one that currently exists in the Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost field in the selected System Risk Assessment record. This text box is enabled only if the Replace Failure Consequence check box is selected.

The following image shows these items as they appear on the **New Failure Consequence** tab. A red outline has been added to the image to highlight this tab.

New Special Action	
New Special Action	
Action Properties Mitigated Risks	
Risk 1 Risk 3 Risk 2	New Failure Consequence Replace Failure Consequence Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost
	Close

- New TTF Distribution tab: Contains the following items:
 - Replace TTF Distribution check box: Indicates that when the Special Action for the selected Mitigated Risk is completed, you want the simulation to use the values that you specify in the Distribution fields.
 - Distribution datasheet: Contains the fields that appear in the Distribution record that is linked to the System Risk Assessment record. The fields on the datasheet are enabled only if the Replace TTF Distribution check box is selected.

The following image shows these items as they appear on the **New TTF Distribution** tab. A red outline has been added to the image to highlight this tab.

New Special Action			
New Special Action			
Action Properties Mitigated Risks			
Risk 1 Dick 3	New Failure Consequ	ience New TTF Distribution	
Risk 2	Replace TTF Dist	ribution	
	Name		
	Description		·
	Distribution Type	Exponential	
	Time Unit	Days	
	MTBF	Infinity	
			Close

Specifying Failure Consequence Values for the Simulation

If desired, you can use the <u>Special Action> window</u> to specify for each Mitigated Risk that is associated with the Special Action the Failure Consequence values that you want to be used in the simulation when the Special Action is completed to mitigate the occurrence of the given Risk.

To specify Failure Consequence values for the simulation:

- 1. On the **System Reliability Scenarios Actions** page, in the **Actions** pane, locate the row containing the desired Special Action.
- 2. In the **Name** cell, click the hyperlinked name of the Special Action.

The <u><Special Action> window</u> appears, where <Special Action> is the value that appears in the Name field in the System Special Action record.

Sew Special Action			
	Action		
Name:	New Special Action		
Description:			
Action Type:	Training (TRN)		•
Condition Monitoring Type:			T
Action Cost:	0		
Interval:	1	Days	•
Duration:	0	Days	•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:	
			Close

3. Click the **Mitigated Risks** tab.

The Mitigated Risks tab appears.

New Special Action		
New Special Action		
Action Properties Mitigated Risks		
Risk 1	New Failure Consequence New TTF Distribution	
Risk 2	Replace Failure Consequence	
	Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost 0	
		Close

- 4. In the list to the left, selected the Mitigated Risk whose Failure Consequence values you want to specify for the simulation.
- 5. On the **New Failure Consequence** tab, select the **Replaced Failure Consequence** check box.
- 6. In the **Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost** text box, modify the value as desired.
- 7. Repeat these steps for each Mitigated Risk whose failure consequence values you want to specify for the simulation, and then click the **Close** button.

Your changes are saved, and the values that you specified will be used the next time the simulation is run.

Specifying TTF Distribution Values for the Simulation

If desired, you can use the <u>Special Action> window</u> to specify for each Mitigated Risk that is associated with the Special Action the TTF Distribution values that you want to be used in the simulation when the Special Action is completed to mitigate the occurrence of the given Risk.

To specify TTF Distribution values for the simulation:

- 1. On the **System Reliability Scenarios Actions** page, in the **Actions** pane, locate the row containing the desired Special Action.
- 2. In the Name cell, click the hyperlinked name of the Special Action.

The <u><Special Action> window</u> appears, where <Special Action> is the value that appears in the Name field in the System Special Action record.

Shew Special Action			
New Special	Action		
Action Properties Mitigated Ri	isks		
Name:	New Special Action		
Description:			····
Action Type:	Training (TRN)		•
Condition Monitoring Type:			
Action Cost:	0		
Interval:	1	Days	.
Duration:	0	Days	•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:	
			Close

3. Click the **Mitigated Risks** tab.

The Mitigated Risks tab appears.

New Special Action		
New Special Action		
Action Properties Mitigated Risks		
Risk 1	New Failure Consequence New TTF Distribution	
Risk 2	Replace Failure Consequence	
	Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost 0	
		Close

4. To the right, click the **New TTF Distribution** tab.

The **New TTF Distribution** tab appears.

New Special Action			
New Special Action			
Action Properties Mitigated Risks			
Risk 1	New Failure Consequ	ience New TTF Distribution	
Risk 2	Replace TTF Dist	ribution	
	Name]
	Description		
	Distribution Type	Exponential	
	Time Unit	Days	
	MTBF	Infinity	
			Close

- 5. In the list to the left, select the Mitigated Risk whose TTF Distribution values you want to specify for the simulation
- 6. On the **New TTF Distribution** tab, select the **Replaced TTF Distribution** check box.

The fields in the Distribution datasheet section are enabled.

- 7. In the remaining fields, modify the values as desired.
- 8. Repeat these steps for each Mitigated Risk whose TTF Distribution values you want to specify for the simulation, and then click the **Close** button.

Your changes are saved, and the values that you specified will be used the next time the simulation is run.

Options for Modifying Actions

You can modify the values in a System Action record from either of the following pages:

- System Reliability Scenarios Actions
- System Reliability Scenarios Risks

Modifying Actions Using the Actions Page

To modify an existing Action using the System Reliability Scenarios - Actions page:

- 1. While viewing the desired Scenario on the **System Reliability Scenarios Actions** page, in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, select the element that contains the Action that you want to modify.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, click the hyperlinked name of the Action that you want to modify.

The **<Action Name>** window appears, where **<Action Name>** is the name of the Action that you selected.

😸 Vibration Analysis				
Vibration Ar	nalysis			
Name:	Vibration Analysis			
Description:				
Action Type:	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)			_
Condition Monitoring Type:	Periodic			-
Action Cost:	0			
Interval:	1	Days		•
Duration:	0	Days		•
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:		
Detection Probability (%):	100			
			ОК	Cancel

The content of the **Vibration Analysis** window is controlled by the default datasheet for the System Inspection family.

- 3. Modify the fields in the System Action record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

Your changes to the System Action record are saved.

Modifying Actions Using the Risks Page

To modify an existing Action using the System Reliability Scenarios - Risks page:

- 1. While viewing the desired Scenario on the **System Reliability Scenarios Risks** page, in the **Diagram Hierarchy** pane, select the element that contains the Action that you want to modify.
- 2. In the grid in the **Mitigating Actions** pane, click the hyperlinked name of the Action that you want to modify.

The **<Action Name>** window appears, where **<Action Name>** is the name of the Action that you selected.

🔜 Vibration Analysis						
Vibration Analysis						
Name:	Vibration Analysis					
Description:						
Action Type:	Condition-Based Maintenance (Predictive) (CM)			_		
Condition Monitoring Type:	Periodic			_		
Action Cost:	0					
Interval:	1	Days		•		
Duration:	0	Days		•		
Shutdown Required:		One Time Action:				
Detection Probability (%):	100					
			ОК	Cancel		

The content of the **Vibration Analysis** window is controlled by the default datasheet for the System Inspection family.

- 3. Modify the fields in the System Action record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

Your changes to the System Action record are saved.

About Resources for Actions

After Resources exist for a System Reliability Analysis, you can assign them to Actions. When you do so, you associate the cost of that Resource with each occurrence of the Action. This allows you to assign a realistic cost to the Action that can be included in the simulation results.

When you assign a Resource to an Action, a System Resource Usage record will be created and will store information that specifies how the Resource will be used (e.g., the quantity and duration).

Assigning Resources to Actions

To assign a Resource to an Action:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element that contains the Action to which you want to assign a Resource.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, in the row containing the Action to which you want to assign a Resource, click the **Resources Usages** link.

The **Resource Usages - <Action>** window appears, where **<Action>** is the name of the Action that you selected, displaying any Resources that are assigned to the Action.

Resource Usages - Vibration Analysis					
Resource Us	ages				
Resource	Quantity	Duration	Duration Units	Total Fixed Cost	Total Variable Cost
🕨 Vibration Technician 💌	1	1	Hours	0	50
	A	dd Existing	Add New D	elete Help	Close

In this image, the **Resource Usages - Vibration Analysis** window displays the Resources that are assigned to the Vibration Analysis Action.

3. Click the **Add Existing** button. This button will be enabled only if one or more Resources already exist for the analysis.

A new row appears in the grid.

Note: You can click the **Add New** button to <u>create a Resource from scratch</u> and assign it to an Action. After you have created the Resource, you can skip to step 5.

- 4. In the **Resource** cell of the first row, click the **verse** button, and select the Resource you want to assign to the Action.
- 5. Type the desired values in the **Quantity**, **Duration**, and **Duration Units** cells. These values will be used to populate the corresponding fields in the <u>System Resource</u> <u>Usage record</u>.

Note: The Total Fixed Cost and Total Variable Cost columns display the actual values that will be incurred when the System Resource Usage is added to the simulation results. The Total Fixed Cost is calculated in the following equation: <u>Fixed Cost of the Resource</u> *Quantity. The Total Variable Cost is calculated by the following calculation: <u>Variable Cost of the Resource</u> *Quantity* Duration. Since these values are a product of the values you enter in the Resource dialog box and Resource Usage window, the cells are disabled and you cannot type values in these cells.

6. Click the **Close** button.

The **Resource Usages - [Action]** window closes, and the selected Resources are assigned to the Action.

Modifying Resource Assigned to Actions

When you modify a Resource assignment, you are modifying the *System Resource Usage record*. The actual System Resource record is not changed.

To modify a Resource assigned to an Action:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u>, select the element whose Action has Resources you want to modify.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, in the row containing the Action whose Resources you want to modify, click the **Resource Usages** link.

The **Resource Usages - <Action>** window appears, where **<Action>** is the name of the Action that you selected.

Resource Usages - Vibration Analysis					
Resource Usa	ages				
Resource	Quantity	Duration	Duration Units	Total Fixed Cost	Total Variable Cost
🕨 Vibration Technician 💌	1	1	Hours	0	50
	A	dd Existing	Add New D	elete Help	Close

- 3. In the **Resource Usages** grid, <u>modify the properties of the Resource Usage record</u> <u>as desired</u>.
- 4. Click the **Close** button.

Your changes are saved.

Removing Resources from Actions

When you remove a Resource from an Action, you delete the *System Resource Usage record* so that the Resource is not used by the selected Action. The actual System Resource record is still available for the System Reliability Analysis and can be used again if needed.

To remove a Resource from an Action:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the Action whose Resource assignment you want to remove.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, in the row containing the Action whose Resource assignments you want to remove, click the **Resource Usages** link.

The **Resource Usages - <Action>** window appears, where **<Action>** is the name of the Action that you selected.

ł	Resource Usages - Vibration Analysis						
	Resource Usages						
	Resource	Quantity	Duration	Duration Units	Total Fixed Cost	Total Variable Cost	
	🕨 Vibration Technician 💌	1	1	Hours	0	50	
		A	dd Existing	Add New D	elete Help	Close	

- 3. In the **Resource Usages** grid, select the Resource Usage record that you want to delete.
- 4. Click the **Delete** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the selected item(s).

5. Click the **Yes** button.

The Resource Usage is removed from the grid, and the System Resource Usage record is deleted from the database.
6. Click the **Close** button.

The **Resource Usages - <Action>** window closes.

About Optimizing Actions

In a System Reliability Analysis, you can *optimize Actions* to determine the most efficient interval at which to perform inspection or preventive maintenance Actions. The optimal interval balances the cost of the Actions and the reliability of the system.

You have two options for optimizing Actions:

- You can optimize a single Action.
- You can optimize multiple Actions across multiple Scenarios.

After an optimal interval has been calculated, you can apply it to your analysis by <u>repla-</u> <u>cing the current interval value with the optimal interval value</u>.

When optimizing actions, you can run only one simulation at a time. While a simulation is running, however, you can continue working in other areas of the Meridium APM Framework by:

- Clicking anywhere on the Meridium APM Framework main window outside the **Run Simulation** dialog box. When you do so, the simulation will continue to run in the background, and the dialog box will be hidden behind the Meridium APM Framework window. When the simulation finishes, the dialog box will be returned to focus automatically.
- Clicking either the minimize or the close button on the **Run Simulation** dialog box. When you do so, the simulation will continue to run in the background, and the minimized dialog box will appear on your Windows taskbar. When the simulation finishes, the dialog box will be maximized and returned to focus automatically.

Optimizing a Single Action

To optimize a single Action:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Actions page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy pane</u>, select the element whose Action you want to optimize.
- 2. In the grid in the Actions pane, select the Action that you want to optimize.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Actions** pane, click the **Optimize** button.

Action Interval Opt	imization				
Action l	nterval Optimizatio	n			
Settings					
Action Name:	New Inspection	Interval Time Units:	Days	T	
Current Interval:	1	Optimal Interval:		Last Optimized:	
Min Interval:	1	Max Interval:	10	Increment:	1
				Run Simulation	Apply Optimal Value
Simulation Results					
b b b ·	· 🖪 💒 🕶 🦉 🖩 🔶 🕖	🏦 #% 🗊 匪 (8 8		
	No Data Available	-∎- Lost F → Unpla	Production Cost - Action Inned Correction Cost - Tota	on Cost 🚽	Planned Correction Cost
			[Close	<u>H</u> elp

The Action Interval Optimization window appears.

In this image, the **Action Interval Optimization** window displays the data necessary to optimize the *New Inspection* Action.

- 4. In the **Min Interval** text box, type the desired minimum interval.
- 5. In the Max Interval text box, type the desired maximum interval.
- 6. In the Increment text box, type the desired increment.

Note: If desired, you can change the value in the **Current Interval** text box, which represents the current interval at which the current Action is performed. This text box is populated with the value in the Current Interval field in the System Action record. Modifying the value in the **Action Interval Optimization** window will cause the value in the System Action record to be updated with the same value.

7. Click the **Run Simulation** button.

The **Optimization Progress** dialog box appears, displaying a progress bar that indicates the progress of the optimization process.

Optimization Pro	ogress
Simulation is running	g. Please do not change your analysis.
Current Action	(1/1) New Inspection
Steps Performed	2
Iterations Performed	1
Simulation Time	00:00:03
Remaining Time	00:00:13
	Cancel Go to Analysis Discard and Close

After the progress bar reaches the end, the **Go to Analysis** and **Discard and Close** buttons become enabled. If you do not want to view the results, you can click the **Discard and Close** button to close the **Optimization Progress** dialog box. These instructions assume that you want to view the results.

8. Click the **Go to Analysis** button.

The Action Interval Optimization window appears, displaying the Cost chart in the Simulation Results section and an updated value in Optimal Interval text box, as highlighted in the following image.

Action Interval Opt	imization				- • •
Action Ir	nterval Optimizatio	on			
Settings					
Action Name:	New Inspection	Interval Time Units:	Days	-	
Current Interval:	1	Optimal Interval:	3	Last Optimized:	7/10/2013 💌
Min Interval:	1	Max Interval:	10	Increment:	1
				Run Simulation	Apply Optimal Value
Simulation Results					
h 4 / * •	🔣 🔏 🔹 🥞 🏭 🗘 🕀 爹	🕼 #% 🗊 🗉	R %]
00.0008	Cost 2 4 6 8 Interval (Days)	Lost F Unpla	Production Cost - Action Inned Correction Cost - Tota	on Cost 📥	Planned Correction Cost
L			[Close	

Optimizing Multiple Actions

To optimize multiple Actions within a System Reliability Analysis:

1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the <u>Tools</u> <u>menu</u>, click the **Optimize Actions** link.

The **Multiple Action Interval Optimization** window appears, displaying Actions in the System Reliability Analysis that can be optimized.

Mult	iple Action	Interval Optimiz	ation									
1	Multip	le Action	Interva	l Optir	mization							
Actio	ons											
	Name		Action Type	Time Units	Current Interval	Last Optimized	Optimal Interval	Optimize?	Min	Max	Increment	Apply?
	Ė	Component A										
		New Preve	Preventiv	Days	1				1	10	1	
		··· New Inspec	Inspection	Days	1	7/10/2013	7		1	10	1	
I		New Action	Preventiv	Days	1				1	10	1	
Simu	lation Result	ts		0.021.0			Run	Simulation			Apply Optima	al Values
	10000.00 10000.00 5000.00 5000.00 0.00			Cost	4 #% ₽ Ε G	8 9	 Lost Prod Planned (Total Cos 10 	luction Cost Correction C it	-• ost -•	► Action	n Cost anned Corred	tion Cost
									Close			<u>H</u> elp

- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, select the **Optimize** check box for the Action that you want to optimize.
- 3. In the **Min Interval** text box, type the desired minimum interval.
- 4. In the **Max Interval** text box, type the desired maximum interval.
- 5. In the Increment text box, type the desired increment.
- 6. Repeat steps 2 through 5 for other Actions that you want to optimize.

Note: If desired, you can change the data in the **Current Interval** text box, which represents the current interval at which the current Action is performed. This text box is populated with the value in the Current Interval field in the System Action record. Modifying the value in the **Multiple Action Interval Optimization** window will cause the value in the System Action record to be updated with the same value.

7. Below the grid in the **Actions** pane, click the **Run Simulation** button.

The **Optimization Progress** dialog box appears, displaying a progress bar that indicates the progress of the optimization process.

🕑 Optimization Pro	gress 🗖 🗖 🗮 💌
Simulation is running	g. Please do not change your analysis.
Current Action	(1/2) New Inspection
Steps Performed	1
Iterations Performed	913
Simulation Time	00:00:24
Remaining Time	00:04:06
	Cancel Go to Analysis Discard and Close

After the progress bar reaches the end, the **Go to Analysis** and **Discard and Close** buttons become enabled. If you do not want to view the results, you can click the **Discard and Close** button to close the **Optimization Progress** dialog box. These instructions assume that you want to view the results.

8. Click the **Go to Analysis** button.

The **MultipleAction Interval Optimization** window appears, displaying the Cost chart in the **Simulation Results** section and updated values in **Optimal Interval** cells, as highlighted in the following image.



About Applying Optimal Action Intervals

When you <u>optimize Actions</u>, you can determine the most efficient interval in which to perform inspection or preventive maintenance Actions. After you have found the optimal interval for an Action you can apply it to that Action. When you do so, the value in the Current Interval text box in the <u>Actions pane</u> and the value in the Interval field in the <u>System Action record</u> will be overwritten with the value that exists in the Optimal Interval text box.

After you apply the optimal interval, you will need to <u>rerun the simulation</u> for the System Reliability Analysis to update the result based upon the new action interval.

Applying Optimal Intervals to Actions

Applying the Optimal Value to a Single Action:

To apply the optimal interval to a Single Action:

- 1. Find the optimal Action interval value for the Action you want to optimize.
- 2. On the **Action Interval Optimization** window, in the **Settings** section, click the **Apply Optimal Value** button.

Note: The **Apply Optimal Value** button is enabled only after you have optimized an Action. If you close the **Action Interval Optimization** window, you will have to optimize the Action again for the **Apply Optimal Value** button to become enabled.

The value in the **Optimal Interval** text box replaces the value in the **Current Interval** text box in the **Settings** section and in the Interval field in the associated System Action record.

Applying Optimal Intervals to Multiple Actions:

To apply optimal intervals to multiple Actions:

- 1. Find the optimal Action intervals for the <u>Actions you want to optimize</u>.
- 2. In the grid in the **Actions** pane, in the **Apply**column, select the check box for the Actions whose current interval you want to replace with the optimal interval.
- 3. Below the grid in the **Actions** pane, click the **Apply Optimal Values** button.

The values in the **Optimal Interval** text boxes replace the values in the respective **Current Interval** text boxes in the grid in the **Actions** pane and in the Interval field in the associated System Action records.

Deleting Actions

To delete an Action:

- 1. On the <u>System Reliability Scenarios Actions page</u>, in the <u>Diagram Hierarchy</u> <u>pane</u>, select the element whose Action you want to delete.
- 2. In the grid in the <u>Actions pane</u>, select the Action that you want to delete.
- 3. Under the grid in the **Actions** pane, click the **Delete Action** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the Action.

4. Click the Yes button.

The Action is removed from the grid in the Actions pane..

About Global Events

A *Global Event* is an optional component of a System Reliability Analysis that groups together Actions requiring a system shutdown so that they will be performed at the same time, thereby maximizing the availability of the system. The information for a Global Event is stored in a <u>System Global Event record</u>.

When you <u>create a Global Event</u>, you select Actions that may be rescheduled and performed as part of the Global Event. The execution of the selected Actions is called a *Global Event*. To be performed with the Global Event, Actions must occur during the time period defined by the Max Delay and Max Advance values in the System Global Event record. Actions assigned to the Global Event that are performed outside of this time period will not be included in the Global Event, and their occurrence is not be affected by the occurrence of the Global Event. The next occurrence of any recurring Actions that have been rescheduled and performed as part of a Global Event will be performed according to the values in the Interval and Interval Units fields in the System Action record.

Note: Actions that are represented by a <u>System Condition Monitor record</u> occur continuously and cannot be assigned to a Global Event. All other <u>Actions</u> can be performed in a Global Event.

For example, consider Scenario B in our System Reliability Analysis Example, which contains two Actions that require a system shutdown: Redesign Impellers and Replace Seals. The Redesign Impellers Action has a duration of one week, and the Replace Seals Action has a duration of one day. Performed independently of one another, they would result in a system shutdown lasting a total of eight days.

Now, assume that you group the two Actions together using a Global Event with a Max Delay value of 3 months and a Max Advance value of 4 weeks. This Global Event specifies that the two Actions will be rescheduled and performed together during the same system shutdown, as long as the Actions fall into the time period from 3 months before the Global Event and 4 weeks after the Global Event. Managing the Actions in this way would result in a shutdown lasting the longest of the two durations, or seven days. This approach is preferable, as it would save one day of costs associated with the system shutdown.

System Reliability Analyses support the use of two types of Global Events:

- Action-driven Global Events.
- Date-driven Global Events.

Note: While Global Events limit downtime and the history of a Global Event can be seen in the <u>Event Logs</u> generated from a System Reliability Analysis which contains a Global Event, the effects of Global Events are not presented explicitly anywhere in the simulation results. The effects of the Global Events are expressed as less downtime for the system, which means lower lost production costs.

About Action-Driven Global Events

An *Action-driven* Global Event is a collection of Actions that may occur based upon the occurrence of a driving Action. When the *driving Action* occurs, any Actions that fall into the time range specified by the Max Advance and Max Delay values are triggered to be rescheduled and performed with the driving Action. Action-driven Global Events can occur only one time in a simulation. If you select a recurring Action as the driving Action, the Global Event will occur the first time that the driving Action occurs. If you select more than one Action as the driving Action, then the first driving Action that occurs will trigger the other Actions in the Global Event.

For example, in Scenario B of our System Reliability Analysis Example, you might create an Action-driven Global Event, which is assigned both the Redesign Impellers and Replace Seal Actions, with the Redesign Impellers Action designated as the driving Action. In this case, when the Redesign Impellers Action occurs according to the properties specified in the System Action record that represents it, the Global Event will trigger any Replace Seals Action that falls within the time period specified by the Max Delay and Max Advance values to be rescheduled and completed with the occurrence of the Redesign Impellers Action.

About Date-Driven Global Events

A *date-driven* Global Event is a collection of Actions that may occur on a certain date. When the simulation reaches the date of the Global Event, any assigned Actions that fall into the time range specified by the Max Advance and Max Advance Duration values are triggered to be performed on the date of the Global Event. A date-driven Global Event can occur one or more times throughout the simulation period.

For example, in <u>Scenario B</u> of our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>, you might create a date-driven Global Event and specify that it should occur on a date halfway through the simulation. To this Global Event you would assign the Redesign Impellers and Replace Seals Actions. In this case, the Global Event would trigger both of the Actions which fall into the time period, specified by the Max Advance Duration and Max Delay Duration values, almost three and a half years into the simulation, regardless of what properties existed in the System Action records that represent the Redesign Impellers and Replace Seal Actions.

Global Events Pane

The **Global Events** pane appears on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events</u> page and displays the Global Events associated with the Scenario that you are currently viewing.

G	obal Events		
	Name	Description	Driver Type
	System Reliability Analysis Example Global Event		ActionDriven
		Add Globa	al Event Delete Global Event

The grid in the **Global Events** pane contains the following columns:

- Name: Displays the value stored in the Name field of the <u>System Global Event</u> record.
- **Description:** Displays the value stored in the Description field of the <u>System</u> <u>Global Event record</u>.
- **Driver Type:** Displays the value stored in the Driver Type field of the <u>System</u> <u>Global Event record</u>.

Below the grid in the **Global Events**pane, the following buttons appear:

- Add Global Event: Displays the New Global Event window, where you can create a new System Global Event record.
- **Delete Global Event:** After asking for confirmation, <u>deletes the System Global</u> <u>Event record</u> that is currently selected in the grid in the **Global Event** pane.

Actions to Align Pane

The Actions to Align pane appears on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Global Events</u> page and displays the Actions that are currently assigned to the Global Event that is selected in the **Global Events** pane.

Actions to Align	
Name	Is Driver
Diagram for Scenario B	
Water Pump	
Replace Seals	
Redesign Impellers	
	Assign Actions

The grid in the **Actions to Align** pane displays the following columns:

• Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Actions that exist in the Scenario Diagram. The Actions appear in the hierarchy below the element to which they belong, with elements appearing below the Scenario Diagram to which they belong.

Note: For example, the preceding image displays the <u>Replace Seals and</u> <u>Redesign Impellers Actions</u>, which are assigned to the Water Pump element, which exists in the Diagram for Scenario B.

• **Is Driver:** Displays check boxes that allow you to identify driving Action(s) for Action-driven Global Events. You cannot change the **Is Driver** status of the Action from this pane.

Below the grid in the Actions to Align pane, the following button appears:

• Assign Action: Displays the Assign Actions window, where you can <u>select Actions</u> to assign to the current Global Event.

About Creating Global Events

To create a Global Event, you must complete two steps:

- 1. <u>Create a System Global Event record</u>.
- 2. Assign Actions to the Global Event.

Creating System Global Event Records

To create a System Global Event record:

 While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page</u>, below the grid in the <u>Global Events</u> pane, click the <u>Add Global Event</u> button.

The New Global Event window appears, where you can create a new Global Event.

🖁 New Global Event			
New Globa	ıl Event		
Name:	New Global Event		
Description:			····
Driver Type:	Action Driven (ActionDriven)		•
First Date:			T
One Time Event:			
Interval:	1	Years	-
Max Delay Duration:	0	Days	•
Max Advance Duration:	0	Days	-
			incel

The content of the New Global Event window is controlled by the default datasheet that is defined for the System Global Event family.

- 2. Define the properties of the System Global Event record as desired.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The System Global Event record is created and appears in the grid in the <u>Global</u> <u>Events pane</u>.

About Assigning Actions to Global Events

When you assign Actions to a Global Event, you select the Actions that will be executed at the same time, as defined by the Global Event. Any Actions that should be performed during the qualifying time period, as defined by the values in the Max Delay Duration and Max Advance Duration fields, will be executed together.

Assigning Actions to Global Events

To assign an Action to a Global Event:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page</u>, in the grid in the <u>Global Events</u> pane, in the <u>Name</u> column, select the Global Event to which you want to assign Actions.
- 2. Below the grid in the **Actions to Align** pane, click the **Assign Actions** button.

The **Assign Actions** window appears, showing all of the Actions that exist for the Scenario.

ssign Actions						
Name	Is Selected	Is Driver				
Diagram for Scenario B						
Water Pump						
···· Vibration Analysis						
Replace Seals						
Redesign Impellers						
	[OK Cancel				

This image displays the Actions in <u>Scenario B</u> of our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>.

- 3. In the **Is Selected** column, select the check box for the Actions that you want to assign to the selected Global Event.
- 4. If the Global Event is driven by Actions, in the **Is Driver** column, select the check box for the Actions that you want to drive the selected Global Event.

Note: This column is disabled for date-driven Global Events.

5. Click OK.

Your selections are saved and appear in the **Actions to Align** pane.

CE Hint: If you want to select the **Is Driver** check box for an Action, you must first select the **Is Selected** check box.

Removing Actions from Global Events

When you remove an Action from a Global Event, it will no longer be delayed or advanced in time to be executed with the other grouped Actions in the Global Event.

To remove an Action from a Global Event:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page</u>, in the grid in the Global Events pane, in the Name column, select the Global Event that contains the Actions that you want to remove.
- 2. Below the grid in the Actions to Align pane, click the Assign Actions button.

Assign Actions		
Name	Is Selected	Is Driver
🕨 📑 Diagram for Scenario B		
Water Pump		
Vibration Analysis		
Replace Seals		
Redesign Impellers		
	[OK Cancel

The **Assign Actions** window appears.

- 3. In the **Is Selected** column, clear the check box for any Actions that you want to remove from the Global Event.
- 4. Click OK.

Your changes are saved, and the **Actions to Align** pane is updated to reflect those changes.

Modifying System Global Event Records

To modify a System Global Event record:

 While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page</u>, in the grid in the <u>Global Events</u> pane, click the hyperlinked name of the System Global Event record that you want to modify.

The **<Global Event>** window appears, where **<Global Event>** is the name of the Global Event that you selected.

😸 System Reliability	y Analsyis Example Global Event	
System Re	eliability Analsyis Example Global Event	
Name:	System Reliability Analsyis Example Global Event	
Description:		•
Driver Type:	Action Driven (ActionDriven)	•
First Date:		T
One Time Event:		
Interval:	1 Years	-
Max Delay Duration:	6 Months	•
Max Advance Duration:	: 6 Months	•
	ОК	Cancel

This image displays the datasheet for a possible System Reliability Analysis Example Global Event which could be used in our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>.

- 2. Modify the properties of the System Global Event record as desired.
- 3. Click OK.

Your changes are saved.

Deleting Global Events

When you delete a Global Event, the <u>System Global Event record</u> that represents the Global Event is deleted. This removes any properties of the Global Event, such as the interval at which the Global Event may be repeated and which Actions may be performed with the Global Event, but the <u>System Action records</u> that represent the Actions that exist in the Scenario are not modified or deleted in any way.

To delete a Global Event:

- While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis and Scenario on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Scenarios - Global Events page</u>, in the grid in the <u>Global Events</u> pane, select the Global Event that you want to delete.
- 2. Below the grid in the **Global Events** pane, click the **Delete Global Event** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the selected Global Event.

3. Click the Yes button.

The Global Event is removed from the grid in the **Global Events** pane and the System Global Event record is deleted from the database.

Overview of the System Reliability Scenarios - Grid Page

In addition to working with Scenarios on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram</u> page, you can also view Scenarios on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>. On this page, you can view and modify certain properties of elements that exist in a given Scenario, but you cannot use this page to add or delete Scenario elements. By using the **Scenario** and **Filter** lists at the top of the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid workspace</u>, you can select options to view data that is specific to a given Scenario and element.

	Scenario C							
	Filter: Asset							
	Name	Δ	Production Contribution	Fixed Cost (\$)	Variable Cost (\$)	Variable Cost Units	Lost Production Cost (\$)	Lost Production Cost
Þ	🖃 📆 Dia	agram for Scenario C	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	100,000.00	Per Day
		Bottling Subsystem	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
		🐨 😭 Bottling Line 1	40.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
	-	🐨 😭 Bottling Line 2	40.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
		🐨 🍘 Bottling Line 3	40.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day
	- 🏟	Water Pump 1	100.00	5,000.00	50.00	Per Hour	0.00	Per Day
	- 🕅	Water Pump 2	100.00	5,000.00	50.00	Per Hour	0.00	Per Day
		Water Source	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day

The main display area of the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u> contains a grid that shows information for the elements that exist in the selected Scenario. By default, the grid is configured to display certain columns in a particular order, depending upon the type of elements that are displayed. If desired, you can customize the appearance of the grid.

Within the grid, under the **Name** column, a *hierarchy* displays an organizational view of the elements in the Diagram associated with the selected Scenario. The root Subsystem is displayed at the top, with any elements belonging to the root Subsystem listed below it. Any other subsystems are listed below the root Subsystem, with any elements belonging to them listed below them.

For example, the preceding image shows <u>Scenario C</u> in our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>. In this image, *Diagram for Scenario C* appears at the top of the hierarchy and represents the root Subsystem for the Diagram. Below it appear the Subsystem and the Assets that exist at the main level of the Diagram: Bottling Subsystem, Water Pump 1, Water Pump 2, and Water Source. Below the Bottling Subsystem element are the Asset elements that make up that subsystem: Bottling Line 1, Bottling Line 2, and Bottling Line 3. The properties for each element appear in the columns to the right of the element name.

An icon appears to the left of each element to help identify it. The icons that appear in the list are the same as the ones used on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Diagram</u> <u>page</u>. Actions, Risks, and Distributions are not represented by icons in the Diagram, but

they are represented by the following icons on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid</u> <u>page</u>:

- Actions are represented by the 🏙 icon.
- Risks are represented by the 🐽 icon.
- Time to Failure Distributions are represented by the **IV** icon.
- Time to Repair Distributions are represented by the 🕍 icon.

Note: You can click the plus sign (+) to the left of any Subsystem icon to view additional information about a Subsystem element. Similarly, you can click any minus sign (-) to collapse that level of the hierarchy.

Within the grid, you can modify the properties of the Scenario elements. To do so, click in any cell, and modify the current value. Some properties cannot be modified via the grid. Editable cells correspond to modifiable fields in the records that store information for the elements in System Reliability Analyses. Disabled cells are used to display fields that do not exist or are disabled in the record for the element that is displayed in the grid. For example, in the image shown above, the **Production Contribution** cell for the Diagram for Scenario C Subsystem is disabled because the value in the Production Contribution field for a root System Subsystem record of a Diagram cannot be modified through System Reliability Analyses.

Using the **Scenario** and **Filter** lists, which appear at the top of the <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Scenarios - Grid workspace</u>, you can select options to view data that is specific to a given Scenario and element. For instance, selecting *Action* in the **Filter** list will display a list of Actions that exist for the Asset and Switch elements in the Scenario that you selected in the **Scenario** list. The **Scenario** list contains the names of the System Scenario records that are associated with the current System Reliability Analysis. You can select any name in the list to view elements of that Scenario in the grid. The **Filter** list contains the following options:

- <u>Action</u>
- <u>Asset</u>
- Buffer
- **Distribution**
- Link
- Risk
- Subsystem
- Switch

You can select any item in the **Filter** list to view those elements for the Scenario that is selected in the **Scenario** list.

By Action

When you select *Action* in the **Filter** list on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>, the grid will display data related to the Actions that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> when *Scenario B* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Action* is selected in the **Filter** list.

	Scenario: Scenario B								
Filter: Action									
Name 🛆	Action Cost (\$)	Interval	Interval Units	Duration	Duration Units	Detection Probability	Shutdown Required	One Time Action	
🕨 🖃 🚟 Diagram for Scenario B									
Bottling Subsystem									
Bottling Line 1									
Bottling Line 2									
Bottling Line 3									
Water Pump									
	1,600.00	2.00	Years	2.00	Days		v	v	
Replace Seals	2,000.00	2.00	Years	4.00	Hours		 Image: A start of the start of		
Vibration Analysis	0.00	3.00	Weeks	1.00	Hours	90.00			
							·		
L									

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Action* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Subsystems, Assets, Switches, and Actions that exist in the Scenario. Actions appear in the hierarchy below the Asset, Switch, or Subsystem element to which they belong.
- Action Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Action Cost field in the System Action record.
- Interval: Displays the value that exists in the Interval field in the <u>System Action</u> record.
- Interval Units: Displays the value that exists in the Interval Units field in the <u>System Action record</u>.
- **Duration:** Displays the value that exists in the Duration field in the <u>System Action</u> <u>record</u>.
- **Duration Units:** Displays the value that exists in the Duration Units field in the <u>System Action record</u>.
- **Detection Probability:** Displays the value that exists in the Detection Probability field in the <u>System Action record</u>.
- **Shutdown Required:** Displays the value that exists in the Shutdown Required field in the <u>System Action record</u>.
- **One Time Action:** Displays the value that exists in the One Time Action field in the <u>System Action record</u>.

By Asset

When you select *Asset* in the **Filter** list on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Grid** page, the grid will display data related to the Assets and Subsystems that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the **System Reliability Analysis Example** when *Scenario A* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Asset* is selected in the **Filter** list.

Scenario A								
	Filter: Asset							
Name	Δ	Production Contribution	Fixed Cost (\$)	Variable Cost (\$)	Variable Cost Units	Lost Production Cost (\$)	Lost Production Cost Units	
🕨 🕞 📆 Diagram for Scenario A		100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	100,000.00	Per Day	
Bottling Subsystem		100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day	
Bottling Line 1		40.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day	
Bottling Line 2		40.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day	
Bottling Line 3		40.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day	
		100.00	5,000.00	50.00	Per Hour	0.00	Per Day	
Water Source		100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day	

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Asset* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Subsystems and Assets that exist in the Scenario. Assets appear below the Subsystem element to which they belong.
- **Production Contribution:** Displays the value that exists in the Production Contribution field in the <u>System Asset</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Fixed Cost: Displays the value that exists in the Fixed Cost field in the <u>System</u> <u>Asset</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Variable Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Variable Cost field in the <u>System Asset</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Variable Cost Units: Displays the value that exists in the Variable Cost Units field in the <u>System Asset</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Lost Production Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Los Production Cost field in the <u>System Asset</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Lost Production Cost Units: Displays the value that exists in the Lost Production Cost Units field in the <u>System Asset</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.

By Buffer

When you select *Buffer* in the **Filter** list on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>, the grid will display data related to the Buffers that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> when *Scenario A* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Buffer* is selected in the **Filter** list.

Scenario: Scenario A								
Filter: Buffer								
Name	Description	Production Contribution	Initial Quantity in Percentage	Time to Empty	Time to Empty Units	Time to Refill	Time to Refill Units	
🕨 🖃 📆 Diagram for Scenario A		100.00						
		100.00	100.00	0.50	Days	5.00	Days	

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Buffer* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Buffers that exist in the Scenario, including Buffers that belong directly to the root Subsystem and Buffers that belong to any Subsystem elements.Buffers appear in the hierarchy below the Subsystem element to which they belong.
- **Description:** Displays the value that exists in the Description field in the <u>System</u> <u>Buffer record</u>.
- **Production Contribution:** Displays the value that exists in the Production Contribution field in the <u>System Buffer</u> or <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- **Initial Quantity in Percentage:** Displays the value that exists in the Initial Quantity in Percentage field in the <u>System Buffer record</u>.
- Time to Empty: Displays the value that exists in the Time to Empty field in the <u>System Buffer record</u>.
- **Time to Empty Units:** Displays the value that exists in the Time to Empty Units field in the <u>System Buffer record</u>.
- Time to Refill: Displays the value that exists in the Time to Refill field in the <u>System</u> <u>Buffer record</u>.
- **Time to Refill Units:** Displays the value that exists in the Time to Refill Units field in the <u>System Buffer record</u>.

By Distribution

When you select *Distribution* in the **Filter** list on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid</u> <u>page</u>, the grid will display data in the Distribution records associated with the Scenario selected in the <u>Scenario</u> list. On the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>, Distribution records are shown as *properties* of the Risk elements with which they are associated.

The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u> when *Scenario A* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Distribution* is selected in the **Filter** list.

			Scenario: Scenario	A	
			Filter: Distri	bution	
lame	Distribution Type	Time Unit	Parameter 1	Parameter 2	Parameter 3
🛛 🙀 Diagram for Scenario A					
📄 🎲 Water Source					
📄 🔘 Water Source Failure					
	Exponential	Years	20.00 (MTBF)		
TTR Distribution	Exponential	Weeks	2.00 (MTTR)		
📄 🎲 Water Pump					
📄 🔘 Seal Failure					
	Weibull	Years	4.00 (Beta)	3.00 (Eta)	0.00 (Gamma)
TTR Distribution	SingleValue	Hours	12.00 (Value)		
📄 🕼 Bearing Failure					
	Exponential	Months	60.00 (MTBF)		
TTR Distribution	Exponential	Hours	8.00 (MTTR)		
📄 🔘 Impeller Failure					
	Exponential	Months	24.00 (MTBF)		
TTR Distribution	SingleValue	Hours	12.00 (Value)		
- 🔚 Bottling Subsystem					
📄 🍘 Bottling Line 1					
Bottling Line Failure					
	Exponential	Months	12.00 (MTBF)		
TTR Distribution	Exponential	Days	1.00 (MTTR)		
Bottling Line 2					
🖃 🔘 Bottling Line Failure					
	Exponential	Months	12.00 (MTBF)		
TTR Distribution	Exponential	Days	1.00 (MTTR)		
Bottling Line 3					
- 💭 Bottling Line Failure					
TTF Distribution	Exponential	Months	12.00 (MTBF)		
TTR Distribution	Exponential	Days	1.00 (MTTR)		

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Distribution* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Subsystems, Assets, Switches, Risks, and distributions that exist in the Scenario. Distributions appear in the hierarchy below the Risk to which they belong.
- **Distribution Type:** Displays the name of the family to which the Distribution record belongs.
- **Time Unit:** Displays the value that exists in the Unit field of the Distribution record.
- Parameter 1: Displays the value that exists in the Beta field in a Weibull record,

the MTBF field in an Exponential record, the Mean field in a Normal record, or the Mu field in a Lognormal record.

Note: When you select the value *Single Value* in the **Distribution Type** list on the **TTF Distribution** or **TTR Distribution** window, you create a *Normal* record with a Standard Deviation value of *O* (zero). For these records, the **Parameter 1** column displays the value that exists in the *Value* field, rather than the Mean field.

- **Parameter 2:** Displays the value that exists in the Eta field in a Weibull record, the Standard Deviation for a Normal record, or the Sigma field for a Lognormal record.
- **Parameter 3:** Displays the value that exists in the Gamma field in the Weibull record or Lognormal record.

By Link

When you select *Link* in the **Filter** list on the **System Reliability Scenarios - Grid** page, the grid will display data related to the Links that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> when *Scenario A* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Link* is selected in the **Filter** list.

Scenario: Scenario A						
	Filter	: Link	•			
Name	Minimum Predecessors					
Diagram for Scenario A						
Bottling Subsystem						
Link			2			

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Link* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists only the Subsystems which contain Linksand the Links that exist in the Scenario. Links appear in the hierarchy below the Subsystem element to which they belong.
- **Minimum Predecessors:** Displays the value that exists in the Minimum Predecessors field in the <u>System Link record</u>. You cannot modify this value from the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>.

By Risk

When you select *Risk* in the **Filter** list on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>, the grid will display data related to the Risks that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> when *Scenario C* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Risk* is selected in the **Filter** list.

				Filter: Risk				
lame	Fixed Unplanned Correcti	Variable Unplanned Correcti	Variable Unplanned Correction Co	Planned Correct	Planned Correcti	Planned Correction Dur	PF	PF 1
🛛 📆 Diagram for Scenario A			Per Day					
📄 🍿 Water Source			Per Day					
🗌 🔘 Water Source Fa	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	0.00	Days	0.00	Day
📄 🍿 Water Pump 1			Per Hour					
- 🔘 Seal Failure	1,500.00	1,000.00	Per Day	1,000.00	4.00	Hours	30.00	Day
🔘 Bearing Failure	2,000.00	1,000.00	Per Day	1,000.00	4.00	Hours	6.00	Wee
📖 🔘 Impeller Failure	1,500.00	1,000.00	Per Day	1,000.00	4.00	Hours	0.00	Day
📄 🎲 Water Pump 2			Per Hour					
- 🔘 Seal Failure	1,500.00	1,000.00	Per Day	1,000.00	4.00	Hours	30.00	Day
🚺 Bearing Failure	2,000.00	1,000.00	Per Day	1,000.00	4.00	Hours	6.00	Wee
📖 🔘 Impeller Failure	1,500.00	1,000.00	Per Day	1,000.00	4.00	Hours	0.00	Day
Switch 1			Per Day					
🔟 Switch 2			Per Day					
E Bottling Subsystem			Per Day					
📄 🎲 Bottling Line 1			Per Day					
Bottling Line	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	0.00	Days	0.00	Day
📄 🎲 Bottling Line 2			Per Day					
🚺 Bottling Line	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	0.00	Days	0.00	Day
📄 🎲 Bottling Line 3			Per Day					
Bottling Line	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	0.00	Davs	0.00	Dav

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Risk* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Subsystems, Assets, Switches, and Risks that exist in the Scenario. Risks appear in the hierarchy placed below the Asset or Switch element to which they belong.
- Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost field in the System Risk record.
- Variable Unplanned Correction Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Variable Unplanned Correction Cost field in the System Risk record.
- Planned Correction Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Planned Correction Cost field in the System Risk record.
- **Planned Correction Cost Units:** Displays the value that exists in the Planned Correction Cost Units field in the System Risk record.
- **Planned Correction Duration:** Displays the value that exists in the Planned Correction Duration field in the System Risk record.
- **Planned Correction Duration Units:** Displays the value that exists in the Planned Correction Duration Units field in the System Risk record.
- **PF Interval:** Displays the value that exists in the PF Interval field in the System Risk record.

• **PF Interval Units:** Displays the value that exists in the PF Interval Units field in the System Risk record.

By Subsystem

When you select *Subsystem* in the **Filter** list on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid</u> <u>page</u>, the grid will display data related to the Subsystems that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> when *Scenario A* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Subsystem* is selected in the **Filter** list.

	Scenario: Scenario A										
	Filter: Subsystem										
Name	Production Contribution	Fixed Cost (\$) 🛛 🗸	Variable Cost (\$)	Variable Cost Units	Lost Production Cost (\$)	Lost Production Cost Units					
Diagram for Scenario A	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	100,000.00	Per Day					
Bottling Subsystem	100.00	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day					

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Subsystem* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Subsystems that exist in the Scenario.
- **Production Contribution:** Displays the value that exists in the Production Contribution field in the <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Fixed Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Fixed Cost field in the <u>System</u> <u>Subsystem record</u>.
- Variable Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Variable Cost field in the <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Variable Cost Units: Displays the value that exists in the Variable Cost Units field in the <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Lost Production Cost (\$): Displays the value that exists in the Lost Production Cost field in the <u>System Subsystem record</u>.
- Lost Production Cost Units: Displays the value that exists in the Lost Production Cost Units field in the <u>System Subsystem record</u>.

By Switch

When you select *Switch* in the **Filter** list on the <u>System Reliability Scenarios - Grid page</u>, the grid will display data related to the Switches that exist in the Scenario selected in the **Scenario** list. The following image shows the grid that is displayed for the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u> when *Scenario C* is selected in the **Scenario** list and *Switch* is selected in the **Filter** list.

Scenario: Scenario C								
Filter: Switch								
Name	Is Initially On	Fixed Cost (\$) 🛆	Variable Cost (\$)	Variable Cost Units	Lost Production Cost (\$)	Lost Production Cost Units		
🕨 🖃 👪 Diagram for Scenario A		0.00	0.00	Per Day	100,000.00	Per Day		
🔟 Switch 1	✓	0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day		
Switch 2		0.00	0.00	Per Day	0.00	Per Day		

The following columns of information are displayed in the grid when the *Switch* option is selected in the **Filter** list:

- Name: Displays a hierarchy that lists the Switches that exist in the Scenario, including Switches that belong directly to the root Subsystem and Switches that belong to any Subsystem elements. Buffers appear in the hierarchy below the Subsystem element to which they belong.
- Is Initially On: Displays the value that exists in the Is Initially On field in the <u>System</u> <u>Switch record</u>.

Note: Because this field does not exist in <u>System Subsystem records</u>, this cell is disabled in the row representing the root Subsystem.

- Fixed Cost: Displays the value that exists in the Fixed Cost field in the System Switchor the System Analysis record.
- Variable Cost: Displays the value that exists in the Variable Cost field in the <u>System</u> <u>Switch</u> or the <u>System Analysis record</u>.
- Variable Cost Units: Displays the value that exists in the Fixed Cost field in the <u>System Switch</u> or the <u>System Analysis record</u>.
- Lost Production Cost: Displays the value that exists in the Lost Production Cost field in the <u>System Switch</u> or the <u>System Analysis record</u>.
- Lost Production Cost Units: Displays the value that exists in the Lost Production Cost Units field in the <u>System Switch</u> or the <u>System Analysis record</u>.
About Resources

Resources are optional components in a System Reliability Analysis that represent physical parts or materials, such as spare bearings or seals, or human resources, such as mechanics or technicians, that you may want to use within the analysis. You can create a Resource by defining its properties via the **Resource** window, which is shown in the following image.

R	Resources						
	Resources						
		Name	Description	Fixed Cost	Variable Cost	Variable Cost Units	
	F	<u>Bearing</u>		200	0	Days	
		<u>Mechanic</u>		0	100	Hours	
		<u>Seal</u>		250	0	Days	
		Vibration Technician		0	100	Hours	
Ľ							
	Add New Import Delete Help Close						

The properties of a Resource are stored in a <u>System Resource record</u>, which is created when you save a new Resource.

After Resources exist for a System Reliability Analysis, you can assign them to Actions and Risks to tie the Resource and its cost with an occurrence of the associated event. For example, if you planned to create an Action that would perform certain maintenance actions, you might create a Mechanic Resource and assign the Mechanic to the Action.

Associating a Resource with an Action or a Risk will create a <u>System Resource Usage</u> <u>Record</u>, which is linked to the appropriate <u>System Action</u> or System Risk record, which will store information that specifics how the resource will be used (e.g., the quantity and duration).

About Adding Resources to Analyses

You have two options for adding Resources to a System Reliability Analysis. You can:

- Create new Resources from scratch.
- Import Resources that already exist in other System Reliability Analyses.

Note: Resources can also be created within the context of Actions and Risks. Doing so will cause those Resources to be available at the analysis level so that they can be assigned to other Actions and Risks.

Creating Resources from Scratch

To create a new Resource for a System Reliability Analysis:

1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the **Tools** menu, click the **Resources** link.

The **Resources** window appears.

Resources				
Resources	;			
Name	Description	Fixed Cost	Variable Cost	Variable Cost Units
	[Add New Import	Delete	Help Close

2. Click the Add New button.

The Add New Resource window appears.

🔜 Add New Re	esource		
Add N	ew Resource		
Name:			
Description:			
Fixed Cost:	0		
Variable Cost:	0	Per Day	•
Count Occurrer	nces:		
		ОК	Cancel

The **Add New Resources** window displays the default datasheet that has been defined for the System Resource family.

- 3. Define the properties of the System Resource record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

The Resource is created and appears in the grid on the **Resources** window.

Importing Existing Resources

When you import a Resource from one System Reliability Analysis into another, the Meridium APM system creates a copy of the existing System Resource and links the new record to the root System Analysis record of the target analysis.

To import a Resource from one analysis into another:

- 1. Open the System Reliability Analysis into which you want to import the Resource.
- 2. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the <u>Tools</u> <u>menu</u>, click the **Resources** link.

Resources				- • •
Resources	S			
Name	Description	Fixed Cost	Variable Cost	Variable Cost Units
		Add New Import	Delete	Help Close

The **Resource** window appears.

3. Click the **Import** button.

The **Resource Finder** window appears, which displays the Resources that are available to be imported.

Resource Finder					
Resource Fi	nder				
Name	Description	Fixed Cost	Variable Cost	Variable Cost Units	
Mechanic		0	100	Per Hour	
Vibration Technician		0	100	Per Hour	
Seal		250	0	Per Day	
Bearing		200	0	Per Day	
		0	ĸ	Cancel	

In this image, the **Resource Finder** window displays what Resources can be imported into an analysis, assuming the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example Resources</u> have already been created.

- 4. Select the row containing the Resource that you want to import.
- 5. Click **OK**.

A copy of the <u>System Resource record</u> is created, and the imported Resource appears on the **Resources** window.

Modifying Resources

To modify an existing Resource:

1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the **Tools** menu, click the **Resources** link.

The **Resources** window appears.

Resources				
Resource	S			
Name	Description	Fixed Cost	Variable Cost	Variable Cost Units
		Add New Import	Delete	Help Close

2. Click the hyperlinked name of the Resource that you want to modify.

The **<Resource Name>** dialog box appears, where **<Resource Name>** is the name of the System Resource record that you selected.

📙 Vibration T	echnician			
Vibrat	ion Technician			
Name:	Vibration Technician			
Description:				•
Fixed Cost:	0]		
Variable Cost:	100	Per Hour		
Count Occurre	nces:			
			ОК	Cancel

The **<Resource Name>** window displays the default datasheet that has been defined for the System Resource family. This image displays the **Vibration Technician** window, which defines the properties for the *Vibration Technician* System Resource record.

- 3. Modify the fields in the System Resource record as desired.
- 4. Click OK.

Your changes are saved.

Deleting Resources

To delete a Resource:

1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the <u>Tools</u> <u>menu</u>, click the **Resources** link.

The **Resource** window appears.

Res	Resources				
	Resources				
	Name	Description	Fixed Cost	Variable Cost	Variable Cost Units
					<u>.</u>
		Add	New Import	Delete H	elp Close

- 2. Select the row containing the System Resource record that you want to delete.
- 3. Click the **Delete** button.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to delete the Resource.

4. Click the Yes button.

The Resource is removed from the grid in the **Resources** window. The System Resource record will be deleted from the database when you save your changes to the System Reliability Analysis.

About Running Simulations

When you run a simulation, you start the process of running Monte Carlo iterations for each Scenario in a System Reliability Analysis and viewing the results calculated from those simulations.

You will want to run the simulation after you have finished creating the System Reliability Analysis or if you make changes to a System Reliability Analysis that would affect the simulation results, such as changing the simulation parameters or modifying a Scenario. When you run the simulation, all Diagrams are validated. If all the Diagrams are valid or contain only Isolated Element errors, then:

- If changes have been made to the <u>analysis parameters</u>, *all* Scenarios will be included in the simulation run.
- If no changes have been made to any of the analysis parameters, only the Scenarios that have been *modified* since the last simulation was run will be included in the new simulation run.
- If no changes have been made to the analysis parameters or any of the Scenarios, a message appears and you are directed to the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u>.

Note: If no changes have been made to the analysis parameters or any of the Scenarios, but the **Random Seed** or **Event Log** check box is selected, then the simulation will include every Scenario in the new simulation run.

Keep in mind that it will take time to run simulations. Various factors influence the speed of the simulation process, including:

- The number of iterations defined.
- The complexity of the Scenarios (i.e., the number of Assets, Risks, Actions, and Subsystems).
- The frequency at which Actions occur.
- The frequency at which failures occur.

To shorten the run time of your simulation, you can reduce the number of iterations or the complexity of the analysis.

You can run only one simulation at a time. While a simulation is running, however, you can continue working in other areas of the Meridium APM Framework by:

• Clicking anywhere on the Meridium APM Framework main window outside the **Run Simulation** dialog box. When you do so, the simulation will continue to run in the background, and the dialog box will be hidden behind the Meridium APM Framework window. When the simulation finishes, the dialog box will be returned to focus automatically.

-or-

• Clicking either the minimize or the close button on the **Run Simulation** dialog box. When you do so, the simulation will continue to run in the background, and the

minimized dialog box will appear on your Windows taskbar. When the simulation finishes, the dialog box will be maximized and returned to focus automatically.

Running Simulations

To run a simulation:

1. On any page in System Reliability, on the <u>Tools menu</u>, click the **Run Simulation** link.

The **Browse For Folder** window appears, where you can select or create a folder in which to store the Event Logs.

Browse For Folder				
Please select a folder to save event logs.				
▲ 🖳 Computer 🔹				
Floppy Disk Drive (A:)				
🛛 🚰 Local Disk (C:)				
DVD RW Drive (D:)				
▷ 🙀 CurrentHelp (\\Devbuildvs1) (T:)				
▷ 🙀 Live (\\Plaza3\Documentation) (U:)				
Releases (\\Devbuildvs1) (V:)				
▷ 🙀 RCMO_HELP (\\Plaza3) (W:)				
Releases (\\Devtermvs) (X:)				
Documentation (\\Library\USERS\ALL) (Y: 🔻				
Make New Folder OK Cancel				

Note: If the **Enable Event Log** check box is cleared on the <u>System Reliability Analysis Definition page</u>, the **Browse For Folder** dialog box will not appear.

- 2. Navigate to the location where you want to save the Event Logs.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The **Run Simulation** dialog box appears, displaying a progress bar that indicates the progress of the simulation.

🕘 Run Simulation - Vibration Analysis 📃 📼 💌							
Simulation is running	Simulation is running. Please do not change your analysis.						
Current Scenario	scenario 0						
Iterations Performed:	6						
Simulation Time:	00:00:10						
Remaining Time:	00:00:56						
	Cancel Go to Analysis Discard and Close						

Note: If there are already Event Logs files in the folder that you select, a warning message will appear, indicating that any existing Event Log files may be overwritten.

After the progress bar reaches the end, the **Go to Analysis** and **Discard and Close** buttons become enabled. If you do not want to view the results, you can click the **Discard and Close** button to close the **Run Simulation** dialog box. These instructions assume that you want to view the results.

4. Click the **Go to Analysis** button.

The **System Reliability Summary** page appears.

About Event Logs

The Event Log is a diagnostic tool that lets you see what happens when you run simulations for a System Reliability Analysis. When the Enable Event Log field in the root System Analysis record is set to *True*, when you run the simulation, one text file will be produced for every iteration of every Scenario in the System Reliability Analysis that records every event that happens in the iteration. Each file is named **<Scenario Name>-<Iteration Number>.txt** where:

- **<Scenario Name>** is the name of the Scenario in the System Reliability Analysis.
- **<Iteration number>** is the number of the iteration that is detailed in the file.

The Event Log files can be saved to any desired location <u>when you run a simulation</u>. The Event Log files are produced as text files, but can be opened in Microsoft Excel, where you will see the following columns of information:

- Time: The start time, in days, of the event.
- Name: The name of the Action, Risk, or element, as defined in its record, that is detailed in the row.
- **Event:** The event that is detailed in the row. The possible events that can be listed are:
 - Alert: A condition monitoring Action identifies a potential failure.
 - Complete: An Action is complete.
 - **Complete Unplanned Correction:** An unplanned correction has finished repairs to an element that has failed.
 - Failed: An element has failed. It will have to be replaced or repaired before it can run again.
 - **Global Event Occurs:** A Global Event has occurred and Actions that are assigned to that Global Event have been started.
 - **Running:** The element is running.
 - Schedule next <Action> in <Number> Days: A Global Event has changed the schedule of an Action, where <Action> is the name of the Action that has been rescheduled and <Number> is the number of days until the next occurrence of the Action.
 - Shutdown: An element is stopped because an Action has turned it off.
 - Simulation Ends: The simulation is complete.
 - Standby: A Switch element is turned off.
 - **Start:** An Action starts.
 - Start Unplanned Correction: An unplanned correction has started repairs to an element that has failed.
 - **Stopped:** The element is stopped.
- Path: The location in the Diagram of the item associated with the event.

Understanding the Content of the Event Log

The following image displays a part of the Event Log for one simulation of <u>Scenario A</u> for our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

	А	В	C	D
1	Time	Name	Event	Path
2	0	Start	Running	/Start
3	0	End	Running	/End
4	0	Start	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Start
5	0	End	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/End
6	0	Bottling Line Failure	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 1/Bottling Line Failure
7	0	Bottling Line 1	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 1
8	0	Bottling Line Failure	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 2/Bottling Line Failure
9	0	Bottling Line 2	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 2
10	0	Bottling Line Failure	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 3/Bottling Line Failure
11	0	Bottling Line 3	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 3
12	0	Link	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Link
13	0	Bottling Subsytem	Running	/Bottling Subsytem
14	0	Bearing Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Bearing Failure
15	0	Impeller Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
16	0	Seal Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Seal Failure
17	0	Water Pump	Running	/Water Pump
18	0	Water Source Failure	Running	/Water Source/Water Source Failure
19	0	Water Source	Running	/Water Source
20	0	Water Tank	Running	/Water Tank
21	0	Diagram for Scenario A	Running	/
22	4.434529076	Impeller Failure	Failed	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
23	4.434529076	Impeller Failure	Start Unplanned Correction	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
24	4.434529076	Water Pump	Stopped	/Water Pump
25	4.434529076	Bearing Failure	Stopped	/Water Pump/Bearing Failure
26	4.434529076	Seal Failure	Stopped	/Water Pump/Seal Failure
27	4.434529076	Water Pump	Failed	/Water Pump
28	4.434529076	Water Source	Stopped	/Water Source
29	4.434529076	Water Source Failure	Stopped	/Water Source/Water Source Failure
30	4.76786241	Impeller Failure	Stopped	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
31	4.76786241	Impeller Failure	Complete Unplanned Correction	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
32	4.76786241	Water Pump	Stopped	/Water Pump
33	4.76786241	Bearing Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Bearing Failure
34	4.76786241	Impeller Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
35	4.76786241	Seal Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Seal Failure
36	4.76786241	Water Pump	Running	/Water Pump
37	4.76786241	Water Source Failure	Running	/Water Source/Water Source Failure
38	4.76786241	Water Source	Running	/Water Source
39	260.4040794	Bottling Line Failure	Failed	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 2/Bottling Line Failure

As you can see in the following image, the simulation starts at time 0 (zero), at which point every element in the Diagram for Scenario A is listed as *Running*.

1	Time	Name	Event	Path
2	0	Start	Running	/Start
3	0	End	Running	/End
4	0	Start	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Start
5	0	End	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/End
6	0	Bottling Line Failure	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 1/Bottling Line Failure
7	0	Bottling Line 1	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 1
8	0	Bottling Line Failure	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 2/Bottling Line Failure
9	0	Bottling Line 2	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 2
10	0	Bottling Line Failure	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 3/Bottling Line Failure
11	0	Bottling Line 3	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 3
12	0	Link	Running	/Bottling Subsytem/Link
13	0	Bottling Subsytem	Running	/Bottling Subsytem
14	0	Bearing Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Bearing Failure
15	0	Impeller Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
16	0	Seal Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Seal Failure
17	0	Water Pump	Running	/Water Pump
18	0	Water Source Failure	Running	/Water Source/Water Source Failure
19	0	Water Source	Running	/Water Source
20	0	Water Tank	Running	/Water Tank
21	0	Diagram for Scenario A	Running	/

In the following image, at time 4.434529075, or about four days and ten hours, the *Impeller Failure* Risk caused a failure, which is detailed in row 22. This caused an unplanned correction to be started for the *Impeller Failure* Risk, which is detailed in row 23.

22	4.434529076 Impeller Failure	Failed	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
23	4.434529076 Impeller Failure	Start Unplanned Correction	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure

In the following image, because the *Impeller Failure* Risk had an unplanned correction, the Water Pump, *Bearing Failure* Risk, and *Seal Failure* Risk are stopped, in lines 24, 25, and 26 respectively. This caused the Water Pump to fail, as seen in line 27.

24	4.434529076 Water Pump	Stopped	/Water Pump
25	4.434529076 Bearing Failure	Stopped	/Water Pump/Bearing Failure
26	4.434529076 Seal Failure	Stopped	/Water Pump/Seal Failure
27	4.434529076 Water Pump	Failed	/Water Pump

At the same time, in line 29, the Water Source was stopped, as you can see in the following image.

29	4.434529076 Water Source Failure	Stopped	/Water Source/Water Source Failure
			, mater obtailer, mater obtailer anare

At time 4.76786241, the *Impeller Failure* Risk is still stopped, as you can see in line 30. In line 31, however, the unplanned correction for the*Impeller Failure* Risk is completed.

30	4.76786241 Impeller Failure	Stopped	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
31	4.76786241 Impeller Failure	Complete Unplanned Correction	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure

At time 4.76786241, or about eight and a half hours after the initial *Impeller Failure* Risk in line 22, the Water Pump is still stopped, as seen in line 32. In lines 33-38, all of the Risks and elements are running again, so the system is able to run. The system is able to run until the next failure occurs, in line 39, at time 260.4044794.

Understanding the Content of the Event Log

32	4.76786241	Water Pump	Stopped	/Water Pump
33	4.76786241	Bearing Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Bearing Failure
34	4.76786241	Impeller Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Impeller Failure
35	4.76786241	Seal Failure	Running	/Water Pump/Seal Failure
36	4.76786241	Water Pump	Running	/Water Pump
37	4.76786241	Water Source Failure	Running	/Water Source/Water Source Failure
38	4.76786241	Water Source	Running	/Water Source
39	260.4040794	Bottling Line Failure	Failed	/Bottling Subsytem/Bottling Line 2/Bottling Line Failure

Refreshing Multiple Distributions

Using the **Refresh Distributions** link on the <u>Tools menu</u> refreshes all the distribution data that was associated with Risks in the System Reliability Analysis.

To refresh multiple Distributions:

1. While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the <u>Tools</u> <u>menu</u>, select the **Refresh Distributions** link.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to refresh all distributions having associated distributions.

2. Click **OK**.

The distribution data is refreshed.

About the System Reliability Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the System Reliability Report, which you can used to view a summary of the results of a System Reliability Analysis. When you run the System Reliability Report, it will appear on theReport Viewer page.

The following table provides a list and description of the Catalog items that are used to generate the System Reliability Report. Each report provides a formatted view of the supporting query identified in the table. For additional details on the data that is included in the subreport, you can run any of the queries, which are stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.

Report	Supporting Query	Description
SystemReliability	System Reliability – Main	Provides the information that is displayed in the <u>Summary</u> and <u>Plots sec-</u> <u>tions</u> of the Sys- tem Reliability Report.
SystemReliabilitySummaryResultReport	SystemReliability – SummaryResult	Provides the information that is displayed in the <u>Simulation</u> <u>Result Summary</u> <u>section</u> of the Sys- tem Reliability Report.
SystemReliabilityElementResultReport	SystemReliability – ElementResult	Provides the information that is displayed in the <u>Simulation</u> <u>Results - Ele-</u> <u>ments section</u> of the System Reli- ability Report.

Report	Supporting Query	Description
SystemReliabilityActionResultReport	System Reliability – ActionResult	Provides the information that is displayed in the <u>Simulation</u> <u>Results - Actions</u> <u>section</u> of the Sys- tem Reliability Report.
SystemReliabilityResourceResultReport	SystemReliability - ResourceResult	Provides the information that is displayed in the <u>Simulation</u> <u>Results -</u> <u>Resources sec-</u> <u>tion</u> of the Sys- tem Reliability Report.

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreports, and the supporting queries collectively as the *System Reliability Report*.

Each report query contains a prompt on the ENTY_KEY field of the System Analysis family. When you run the System Reliability Report while viewing a System Reliability Analysis, the ENTY_KEY of the System Analysis record associated with the current analysis is passed automatically to the prompt, and the results for the current System Analysis will be displayed. If you run one of the reports or queries listed in the table directly from the Catalog, however, you will need to supply the ENTY_KEY of a System Analysis record manually to retrieve results.

The System Reliability Report contains the following sections:

- Summary
- Simulation Result Summary
- Plots
- Simulation Results Elements
- Simulation Results Actions
- <u>Simulation Results Resources</u>

Running the System Reliability Report

To run the System Reliability Report:

• While viewing the desired System Reliability Analysis on any page, on the <u>Tools</u> <u>menu</u>, click the **Generate Report** link.

The System Reliability Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.

🛞 Me	Meridium APM Framework - Report Viewer - SystemReliabilityMainReport								
<u>F</u> ile	<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp								
🎯 B	ack 👻 🏐 Forward 👻 🏠	i My Start Page 👻 🎽	🖺 New 🔑 Sea	rch 🚞 Catalo	g 🔞 Query 🗸	🛅 Report 🕶 🕜 Gra	iph 🚽 🥰 Datasel	t 🕶 🍱 Dashboard 🕇	,
m	eridium	i 📰 🐴 14 🖪	1 of 2) (C) 🔹 🖂 🔲	🔲 🛃 • 100%	•	Find	Next
	Report		•	Syste	em Reli	iability R	eport		=
1 1 12	Report Tasks 😵	merio	dium						
	View Properties	Summary							
	Advanced Export	Name		Compressor	Jnits with PMs				
M	Modify Report	Description		8 compresso	units in parall	el with			
6	Go to Query/Dataset	Analysis Sta	rt	2/8/2012 12:	57:08 PM				
	n na Taska 🛛 🕺	Analysis End	I	2/7/2022 11:09:08 PM					
Com		Analysis Per	iod	10 Years					
	New Report	Iterations		400					
	Open Report	Confidence		90 %					
	Save Report	Last Updated	d Date	9/7/2012 10:	25:02 AM				
×	Delete Report	Last Updated	d By	Administrator	, Meridium				
	Print Report	Cinudatian Decult Cummany							
=0	Send To >>	Conpario	Flomont	Failuras	Downtime	Cost	Beliability	Availability	Next Failure
0	Help	Scenario	Element	Failures	Downume	Cost	Reliability	Availability	Next Failure
		Current strategy for compressor units	System	11.97	203.69	I \$ 0.00	0.00	0.94	256.40

Summary Section

The **Summary** section of the <u>System Reliability Report</u> displays general summary information that is stored in the <u>System Analysis record</u>.

Summary	
Name	System Reliability Analysis Example
Description	This is an example of a System Reliability Analysis for a water bottling facility.
Analysis Start	1/1/2010 12:00:00 AM
Analysis End	12/31/2016 4:44:24 PM
Analysis Period	7 Years
Iterations	1000
Confidence	90 %
Last Updated Date	4/29/2010 8:58:07 AM
Last Updated By	Administrator, Meridium

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Summary** section and the corresponding Systems Analysis record fields whose data is displayed in the report:

Report Item	Record field(s)	Notes
Name	Analysis ID	None
Description	Description	None
Analysis Start	Analysis Start Date	None
Analysis End	Analysis End Date	None
Analysis Period	Period	None
	Period Units	
Iterations	Iterations	None
Confidence	Confidence	None
Last Updated Date	LAST_UPDT_DT	None
Updated By	LAST_UPBY_SEUS_KEY	The name of the Security User associated with this value is displayed in the report.

Simulation Result Summary

The **Simulation Result Summary** section of the <u>System Reliability Report</u> displays a summary of the information that is displayed in the <u>Elements grid</u> on the <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Simulation Results page</u>. Results for each scenario are stored in a System Element Result record. Additional information about each element within a scenario is displayed in the <u>Simulation Results - Elements Section</u> of the System Reliability Report.

Simulation Result Summary							
Scenario	Element	Failures	Downtime	Cost	Reliability	Availability	Next Failure
Scenario A	Diagram for Scenario A	0.87	5.13	\$ 994,803.63	0.41	1.00	1,095.69
Scenario B	Diagram for Scenario B	1.47	6.01	\$ 1,063,962.75	0.00	1.00	676.77
Scenario C	Diagram for Scenario C	0.43	4.15	\$ 899,180.69	0.66	1.00	1,213.28

The following table lists each item in the **Simulation Results Summary** section and the corresponding System Element Result record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)	Notes
Scenario	Scenario	None
Element	Element	None
Failures	Failures	None
Downtime	Downtime	None
Cost	Cost	None
Reliability	Reliability	The values in the Reliability column are formatted as decimals rather than as per-centages, as in the Elements grid.
Availability	Availability	The values in the Availability column are formatted as decimals rather than as per-centages, as in the Elements grid.
Next Failure	TTNF	None

Plots Section

The **Plots** section of the <u>System Reliability Report</u> displays the graphs that are shown on the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u>. The following image shows the <u>Total Cost graph</u> for our System Reliability Analysis Example.



The **Plots** section displays the following graphs:

- Total Cost.
- Total Cost Trend.
- Annual Action Cost.
- Action Cost Trend.
- <u>Resource Occurrence</u>.
- Resource Time.
- <u>Resource Cost</u>.

Simulation Results - Elements Section

The **Simulation Results - Elements** section of the <u>System Reliability Report</u> displays results for each Scenario and any Subsystems, Assets, Risks, Switches or Buffers that belong to it. This information, which is stored in System Element Result records, also appears in the <u>Elements grid</u> on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u>. The following image shows the <u>Simulation Results - Elements</u> section for <u>Scenario A</u> in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Simulation Results - Elements							
Element	Failures	Downtime	Cost	Reliability	Availability	Next Failure	
Scenario A							
Diagram for Scenario A	0.87	5.13	\$ 994,803.63	0.41	1.00	1,095.69	
Bottling Subsystem	0.13	0.07	\$ 0.00	0.88	1.00	1,316.77	
Bottling Line 1	6.92	6.82	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00	367.82	
Bottling Line Failure	6.92	6.82	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00	367.82	
Bottling Line 2	7.12	7.14	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00	356.85	
Bottling Line Failure	7.12	7.14	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00	356.85	
Bottling Line 3	7.03	7.11	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00	362.18	
Bottling Line Failure	7.03	7.11	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00	362.18	
Water Pump	8.01	3.77	\$ 63,024.32	0.00	1.00	5.62	
Bearing Failure	1.37	0.45	\$ 5,180.84	0.25	1.00	987.85	
Impeller Failure	3.52	1.76	\$ 7,040.00	0.03	1.00	641.76	
Seal Failure	3.12	1.56	\$ 6,235.77	0.00	1.00	5.68	
Water Source	0.36	5.12	\$ 0.00	0.69	1.00	1,226.70	
Water Source Failure	0.36	5.12	\$ 0.00	0.69	1.00	1,226.70	
Water Tank	7.31	5.06	\$ 0.00	0.00	1.00		

The results for each element are stored in a separate System Element Result record, and one row exists for each record. The following table lists each item in the **Simulation Results -Elements** section and the corresponding System Element Result record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)	Notes
Element	Element	The elements are listed directly below the root Subsystem of the Scenario to which they belong, with elements appearing below the element to which they belong.
Failures	Failures	None
Downtime	Downtime	None

Report Item	Record field(s)	Notes
Cost	Cost	None
Reliability	Reliability	The values in the Reliability column are formatted as decimals rather than as per-centages, as in the Elements grid.
Availability	Availability	The values in the Availability column are formatted as decimals rather than as per-centages, as in the Elements grid.
Next Failure	TTNF	None

Simulation Results - Actions Section

The **Simulation Results - Actions** section of the <u>System Reliability Report</u> displays results for the Actions that belong to each Scenario, which are stored in System Action Result records This is the same information that appears in the <u>Actions grid</u> on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u>. The following image shows the <u>Simulation Results -</u> <u>Actions section for Scenario B</u> in our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>.

Simulation Results - Actions						
Action	Occurrences	Cost	Detected Failures			
Scenario B						
Vibration Analysis	121.99	\$ 12,198.60	1.38			
Replace Seals	3.48	\$ 6,956.00	0.00			
Redesign Impellers	1.00	\$ 1,600.00	0.00			

The results for each action are stored in a separate System Action Result record, and one row exists for each record. The following table lists each item in the **Simulation Results -Actions** section and the corresponding System Action Result record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)	Notes
Action	Action	Actions are listed directly below the Scenario to which they belong.
Occurrences	Occurrences	None
Cost	Cost	None
Detected Failures	Detected Failures	None

Simulation Results - Resources Section

The **Simulation Results -Resources** section of the <u>System Reliability Report</u> displays results for each Resource used in the System Reliability Analysis, which are stored in System Resource Result records. This is the same information that appears in the <u>Resources grid</u> on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u>. The following image shows the <u>Simulation Results - Results section</u> for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>.

Simulation Results - Resources					
Resource	Occurrences	Time	Cost		
Scenario A					
Bearing	2.74	0.00	\$ 548.00		
Mechanic	0.00	0.46	\$ 1,096.00		
Seal	1.37	0.00	\$ 342.50		
Vibration Technician	0.00	0.00	\$ 0.00		
Scenario B		-			
Bearing	2.84	0.00	\$ 567.20		
Mechanic	0.00	0.24	\$ 582.00		
Seal	0.04	0.00	\$ 9.25		
Vibration Technician	0.00	5.08	\$ 12,198.60		
Scenario C					
Bearing	2.91	0.00	\$ 581.20		
Mechanic	0.00	0.48	\$ 1,162.40		
Seal	1.45	0.00	\$ 363.25		
Vibration Technician	0.00	0.00	\$ 0.00		

The results for each element are stored in a separate System Resource Result record, and one row exists for each record. The following table lists each item in the **Simulation Results -Resources** section and the corresponding System Resources Result record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Record field(s)	Notes
Resource	Action	The Resources are listed below the Scenario to which they belong.
Occurrences	Occurrences	None
Time	Time	None
Cost	Cost	None

What Can You Learn from a System Reliability Analysis?

When you run a Monte Carlo simulation, the Meridium APM system analyzes statistics about cost, performance, and reliability from the <u>iterations of the analysis</u> to calculate the simulation results. The simulation results are then presented on the <u>System Reliability Summary</u> and <u>System Reliability Simulation Results pages</u>.

By reviewing the results of a System Reliability Analysis, you will be able to answer questions such as:

- Which Scenario has the lowest overall cost associated with it?
- Which Scenario is the least reliable?
- Which Scenario has the highest failure rate?
- Which Actions were successful in mitigating risk and reducing cost?
- How many times were Resources used?
- How much did the Resources cost?
- For how long were the Resources used?
- How many times was an Action required?

After reviewing the results of a System Reliability Analysis, you can identify which Scenario consistently provides the best reliability and produces the least amount of downtime and cost. Based upon the results, you might decide to complete any of the following steps:

- Refine the Scenarios by modifying the <u>analysis parameters</u> or <u>components</u> within the analysis or create new <u>components</u> to further analyze reliability and costs.
- Create <u>Recommendations</u> to implement changes to the current physical system to align it with the most desirable Scenario.

Understanding the Analysis Results

When you run a <u>Monte Carlo simulation</u>, the Meridium APM system analyzes statistics about cost, performance, and reliability from the iterations of the Scenarios to calculate the simulation results. The data is presented in the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u> and the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u>.



The <u>System Reliability Summary page</u> provides an overview of the costs and Resource statistics for the simulation using graphs on the following tabs:

- Total Cost.
- Cost Trend.
- Annual Action Cost.
- Action Cost Trend.
- Resource Occurrence.
- Resource Time.
- Resource Cost.



300

250

200

100

50

0

0.00

Ĕ 150

System Reliability Simulation Results

0.10

80.0 <u>ĝ</u>

0.04

0.02

0.00

2010

Site Map: <u>Reliability->System Reliability->System Reliability Analysis Example</u>

Element	Δ	Failures	Downtime (Days)	Cost (\$)	Reliability	Availability	Next Failure (Days)
Diagram for Scenario A (Scenario A)		0.87	5.13	994,804	40.60 %	99.80 %	1,095.6
Bottling Subsystem		0.13	0.07	0	88.10 %	100.00 %	1,316.3
Bottling Line 1		6.92	6.82	0	0.10 %	99.73 %	367.8
i Bottling Line Failure		6.92	6.82	0	0.10 %	99.73 %	367.8
Bottling Line 2		7.12	7.14	0	0.00 %	99.72 %	356.8
E Bottling Line Failure		7.12	7.14	0	0.00 %	99.72 %	356.8
Bottling Line 3		7.03	7.11	0	0.20 %	99.72 %	362.3
E Bottling Line Failure		7.03	7.11	0	0.20 %	99.72 %	362.3
Water Pump		8.01	3.77	63,024	0.00 %	99.85 %	5.0
Bearing Failure		1.37	0.45	5,181	24.90 %	99.98 %	987.8
Impeller Failure		3.52	1.76	7,040	3.20 %	99.93 %	641.3
Seal Failure		3.12	1.56	6,236	0.00 %	99.94 %	5.6
Water Source		0.36	5.12	0	68.50 %	99.80 %	1,226.
Diagram for Scenario & (Scenario A)] [Diagram	n for Scenario A (Scen	ario A)		Diagram for Sce	nario A (Scenario A)
Histogram Plot		Diagram	Trend Plot	anorij		Imp Imp	act Plot

0.60

0.50

0.40

0.30

0.20

0.10

0.00

Failures



2012 2013 2015 2015 2016

2011

• Elements Grid.

1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 Failures

- Actions Grid.
- Resources Grid.

By clicking a cell in the grid, you can view more detailed information in the following graphs:

- Histogram.
- Trend.
- Impact.

What Is the Average Total?

The *average total* is the average of all the totals across all iterations of a simulation, which is calculated by the Meridium APM system for each simulation. Average totals are calculated for various types of numeric values in a simulation, such as cost in the <u>Total</u> <u>Cost Trend graph</u> or time in the <u>Resource Time graph</u>.

In our System Reliability Example, the Total Cost Trend Graph, which is shown in the following image, displays the average total cost for each of the three Scenarios for each year in the simulation period. Our analysis had one thousand iterations, so one thousand separate values were calculated by the Meridium APM system for the total cost of each of the three Scenarios.



In this image, the 2010 column for Scenario A represents the average cost of the one thousand cost values that were calculated for Scenario A by the Meridium APM system.

What is the Simulation Period?

Some results of a System Reliability Analysis are presented according to the *simulation period* that you have selected. The *simulation period* is defined by the values in the following text boxes in the <u>Analysis Parameters pane</u> on the <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Definition page</u>:

- The values in the two **Period** text boxes. The **Period**text boxes represent the Period and Period Units fields in the System Analysis record and determine the length of the simulation.
- The value in the **Time Analysis Type** text box. The **Time Analysis Type** text box represents the Time Analysis Type field in the System Analysis record, and the value determines whether results are calculated for each year or each month of the simulation. If the Time Analysis Type is set to:
 - *Yearly*, the graphs display values for each year included in the simulation period, which is defined by the values in the Period, Period Units, and Analysis Start Date fields in the System Analysis record.
 - Monthly, the graphs display values for each month included in the simulation period, which is determined by the values in the Period, Period Units, and Analysis Start Date fields in the System Analysis record.

For example, for our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>, the following values are selected.

System Analysis Field	Value
Period	7
Period Units	Years
Time Analysis Type	Yearly

So the <u>Total Cost Trend graph</u>, which is shown in the following image, has seven groupings of columns, one to represent each year in our simulation period, as defined by the selections in the **Start Date** and **Period** text boxes.



If the values were changed to reflect a *monthly* format, then the graph would change as well. For example, suppose the values were changed to those listed in the following table.

System Analysis Field	Value
Period	84
Period Units	Months
Time Analysis Type	Monthly

In this case, the following image shows what the graph would look like based on the updated values.



Show Total Check Box

The **Show Total** check box is a feature that is available on the following System Reliability Analysis results graphs:

- Total Cost graph
- <u>Annual Action Cost graph</u>
- <u>Resource Cost graph</u>

In these graphs, each column represents a separate Scenario. The **Show Total** check box determines how the columns are displayed, as described in the following list:

- When the **Show Total** check box is *cleared*, the graphs display one column that is divided into sections representing the individual cost types or resources within that Scenario. In addition, the legend displays labels for the individual categories that are represented in each column.
- When the **Show Total** check box is *selected*, the graphs display one column that is not divided into sections but instead displays the total cost associated with all categories in that Scenario. In addition, the legend displays the label *Total*.

The following image shows the <u>Total Cost graph</u> for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u> when the **Show Total** check box is *selected*.






Total Cost Tab

The **Total Cost** tab on the **System Reliability Summary** page contains the Total Cost graph, which displays the <u>average total</u> cost for each Scenario. The total cost represents the sum of costs in the following categories: Lost Production Cost, Action Cost, Planned Correction Cost, and Unplanned Correction Cost.



The following image shows an example of the Total Cost graph.

Note: If you prefer to see the various cost categories added together and presented in a single column for each Scenario, select the <u>Show Total</u> check box in the upper right corner of the plot.

The preceding image shows the **Total Cost** graph from our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>. Notice that in the Total Cost graph, <u>Scenario B</u> has the *highest* cost of all the Scenarios and that <u>Scenario C</u> has the *lowest* cost. Notice also that only Scenario B which is the only Scenario with Actions, has Action and Planned Correction costs, which are both associated with Actions. To see the data used to create these graphs, you can view the <u>Elements grid</u>.

The categories in the Total Cost graph are calculated for each Scenario as described here:

- Lost Production Cost: The average lost production cost across all iterations. Lost production cost includes the cost of lost production for any element when it is stopped or unable to run, according to the value in the Lost Product Cost field of the record that represents that element.
- Action Cost: The average Action cost across all the iterations. Action cost includes any materials or personnel needed to complete any Actions that exist in the Scenario and any Resources used to complete the Actions. The following fields are used to calculate Action costs:
 - System Action record: Action Cost.
 - System Resource record: Fixed Cost, Variable Cost, and Variable Cost Units.
 - **System Resource Usage record:** Duration, Duration Units, and Quantity.
- Planned Correction Cost: The average planned correction cost across all the iterations. Planned correction cost includes the cost to repair an element that is identified as having a potential failure by an inspection or condition monitoring Action and any Resources used. The following fields are used to calculate planned correction costs:
 - <u>System Subsystem record</u>: Variable Cost, and Variable Cost Units.
 - <u>System Asset record</u>: Variable Cost and Variable Cost Units.
 - System Switch record: Variable Cost and Variable Cost Units.
 - System Risk record: Planned Correction Cost, Planned Correction Duration, and Planned Correction Duration Units.
 - System Resource record: Fixed Cost, Variable Cost, and Variable Cost Units.
 - System Resource Usage record: Duration, Duration Units, and Quantity.
- Unplanned Correction Cost: The average unplanned correction cost across all the iterations. Unplanned correction cost includes the cost to repair any failed element and any Resources used to do so. The following fields are used to calculate unplanned correction costs:
 - System Subsystem record: Fixed Cost, Variable Cost and Variable Cost Units.
 - <u>System Asset record</u>: Fixed Cost, Variable Cost, and Variable Cost Units.
 - <u>System Switch record</u>: Fixed Cost, Variable Cost, and Variable Cost Units.
 - System Risk record: Fixed Unplanned Correction Cost, Variable Unplanned Correction Cost, and Variable Unplanned Correction Cost Units.
 - System Resource record: Fixed Cost, Variable Cost, and Variable Cost Units.
 - System Resource Usage record: Duration, Duration Units, and Quantity.

Total Cost Trend Tab

The **Total Cost Trend** tab on the **System Reliability Summary** page contains the Total Cost Trend graph, which displays the <u>average total cost</u> for each Scenario for each analysis time interval in the <u>simulation period</u>.

Total Cost Trend (1/1/2010-12/31/2016) 260,000 240,000 220,000 200,000 180.000 160,000 € 140,000 Scenario A Scenario B 0 120,000 Scenario C 100,000 80.000 60,000 40.000 20,000 0 2010 2012 2014 2016 2011 2013 2015

The following image shows an example of the Total Cost Trend graph.

This image shows the Total Cost Trend graph for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>. Note the following details about the Total Cost Trend graph shown in the image:

- The cost for Scenario A was the highest in 2015 and the lowest in 2011.
- The cost for <u>Scenario B</u> was the highest in 2012 and the lowest in 2011.
- The cost for <u>Scenario C</u> was the highest in 2011 and the lowest in 2014.

You can draw the following conclusions about the Scenarios from the graph shown in the image:

- Neither Scenario A nor Scenario C had large increases or decreases in costs over the simulation period.
- Scenario B had a large increase in costs in 2012. This was the year in which the *Redesign Impellers* Action took place, and the one singular occurrence of the

Redesign Impellers Action nearly doubled the costs of Scenario B. Additionally, by comparing the years *before* the Action to the years *after* the Action, you can see that the *Redesign Impellers* Action did not reduce the cost of the Scenario. In fact, costs were *higher* every year after the *Redesign Impellers* Action occurred. So, from the graph, you can conclude that you may want to refine Scenario B by modifying or replacing the *Redesign Impellers* Action.

CHint: While Scenario C had the lowest overall cost for the entire simulation period, according to the <u>Total Cost graph</u>, it had the highest overall cost in 2011 and a higher cost than Scenario B for multiple years in the simulation. Keep in mind that having the lowest overall cost does not necessarily mean that the Scenario always has the lowest cost for every analysis time interval.

Annual Action Cost Tab

The **Annual Action Cost** tab on the **System Reliability Summary** page contains the Annual Action Cost graph, which displays the average cost of actions per year for each Scenario.

The following image shows an example of the Annual Action Cost graph.



Note: If you prefer to see the various cost categories added together and presented in a single column for each Scenario, select the <u>Show Total</u> check box in the upper right corner of the plot.

This image shows the Annual Action Cost graph for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>, where you can see that Scenario B is the only Scenario that had any action costs. If Scenario A or Scenario C had action costs, you could compare the annual action costs for each scenario on this graph.

You can also compare the cost of different types of actions on this page. In our example, you can see that condition-based maintenance (*Vibration Analysis*) is displayed by the red bar, preventative maintenance (*Replace Seals*) is displayed by the green bar, and redesign maintenance (*Redesign Impellers*) is displayed by the blue bar.

From this graph, you can see that vibration analysis has the highest annual cost, and you may conclude that using the Vibration Technician Resource to perform this action at such a frequent interval causes annual costs to be high. This may lead you to investigate whether the Vibration Technician Resource can be used less often and be just as effective.

Action Cost Trend Tab

The **Action Cost Trend** tab on the **System Reliability Summary** page contains the Action Cost Trend graph, which displays the average total cost for actions in each Scenario for the analysis time interval in the <u>simulation period</u>.



The following image shows an example of the Action Cost Trend graph.

This image shows the Action Cost Trend graph for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>, where you can see that Scenario B is the only Scenario that had any action costs. If Scenario A or Scenario C had action costs, you could compare the action costs over time for each scenario on this graph.

You can also use this graph to see an increase or decrease in action cost over time. When you compare the Action Cost Trend graph to the Cost Trend graph, we can see there was a large increase in costs in 2012 for both graphs. You may conclude that the large increase in total cost was due to an increase in action cost. This was the year in which the *Redesign Impellers* Action took place, and the one singular occurrence of the *Redesign Impellers* Action in 2012 is more than the actions in 2011 and 2013 combined. By comparing the Action Cost Trend graphs with other graphs, you may be able to determine whether this action is worth the cost increase and if you should implement this action again in the future.

Resource Occurrence Tab

The **Resource Occurrence** tab on the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u> contains the Resource Occurrence graph, which displays statistics about the total use of each Resource when the value in the Count Occurrence field of the associated System Resource record is set to True. The Resource occurrence count is calculated from the average total usage across all iterations.

Note: For System Resource records where the Count Occurrence field is set to *False*, the occurrence count of that Resource will be zero, and it will not be displayed on the graph. Note that the *Mechanic* Resource, whose Count Occurrence field value contains the value *False*, does not appear on the Resource Occurrence graph but is still used in the simulation and appears in both the Resource Time graph and the Resource Cost graph.



The following image shows an example of the Resource Occurrence graph.

This image shows the Resource Occurrence graph for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>, where you can see that the *Bearing* Resource was used almost three times for each Scenario. The Seal Resource was used more than once for <u>Scenario Aand C</u> and about zero times for <u>Scenario B</u>. The Seal Resource was not used as often in Scenario B because seals were used only in *unplanned* Resource usages, which are due to Bearing failures, and the *Vibration Analysis* Action was able to find and repair any potential Bearing failure so that unplanned corrections did not occur.

From looking at this graph, you can conclude that you may want to refine this System Reliability Analysis by creating Actions to repair Bearings so they can be used longer, or you may want to add a *Vibration Analysis* Action to Scenario A and C so that the Seal Resource will be used less often.

Resource Time Tab

The **Resource Time** tab on the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u> contains the Resource Time graph, which displays the total amount of time that each Resource is used per Scenario. The total amount of time is calculated as the <u>average total</u> amount of time that the Resource is used for all the iterations.

The following image shows an example of the Resource Time graph.



This image shows the **Resource Time**graph for our <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>. Note that in the Resource Time graph, you can see that:

- The *Mechanic* Resource was used in all three Scenarios but more in Scenarios A and C than in Scenario B. This is because Scenario B has Actions that are designed to mitigate potential failures, so the Actions used the Mechanic Resources more efficiently for *maintaining* equipment and location rather than repairing failures. Based upon this information, you might further refine Scenario A and C by designing additional Actions to maintain equipment and locations in Scenario A and C.
- The *Vibration Technician* Resource was used by Scenario B but not by Scenario A or C. This is because the Vibration Technician Resource is assigned to an Action in Scenario B. You can see that the Vibration Technician Resource was used for

about five days in Scenario B. From this graph, you might conclude that you should refine Scenario B by investigating whether the Vibration Technician Resource can be used for less time and be just as effective.

Resource Cost Tab

The **Resource Cost** tab on the <u>System Reliability Summary page</u> contains the Resource Cost graph, which displays the total cost of all Resources used in the Scenario. The total cost is calculated for each Scenario as the <u>average total</u> Resource costs for all the iterations.

The following image shows an example of the Resource Cost graph.



Note: If you prefer to see the various cost categories added together and presented in a single column for each Scenario, select the <u>Show Total</u> check box in the upper right corner of the plot.

The preceding image shows the Resource Cost graph for our <u>System Reliability Analysis</u> <u>Example</u>. Note that in the Resource Cost Plot graph, you can see that:

- <u>Scenario Aand C</u> used the Bearing, Mechanic, and Seal Resources for a total cost of around two thousand dollars. These Resources were used during *unplanned* corrections that occurred after a failure caused by the Bearing Failure Risk.
- <u>Scenario B</u> used the Bearing, Mechanic, and Vibration Technician Resources for a total cost of over \$13,000.

- The Vibration Technician Resource was used by the Vibration Analysis Action, which was implemented to mitigate the Bearing Failure Risk. This Resource accounted for the majority of costs, over \$12,000, in Scenario B.
- The Bearing and Mechanic Resources were used during *planned* corrections that were performed as a result of executing the Vibration Analysis Action. These two Resources were not used as much as the Vibration Technician Resource and accounted for a little over one thousand dollars.

Whereas an *unplanned* correction associated with the Bearing Failure Risk requires the use of the Bearing, Mechanic, and Seal Resources, a *planned* correction requires the use of only the Bearing and Mechanic Resources. The cost of the Vibration Technician Resource, which is required to identify the need for a planned correction, however, is much higher than the cost of the Seal Resource that is needed for an unplanned correction. Therefore, we can conclude that the Resource cost of the Actions implemented in Scenario B to mitigate the Bearing Failure Risk is more costly than the actual failure itself.

Note: While the Resource Cost graph for our example suggests that the cost of risk mitigation is higher than the cost of the risk itself, keep in mind that the Resource Cost Plot graph is only one aspect of the simulation results. Other factors, such as lost production cost and total correction costs, must also be taken into account in determining the total cost associated with a Scenario.

Elements Grid

The **Elements** grid on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results</u> page displays specific results for the elements that exist in a System Reliability Analysis.

Lieniens Accions Resources							
Element 🛆	Failures	Downtime (Days)	Cost (\$)	Reliability	Availability	Next Failure (Days)	1
Diagram for Scenario A (Scenario A)	0.87	5.13	994,804	40.60 %	99.80 %	1,095.69	
Bottling Subsystem	0.13	0.07	0	88.10 %	100.00 %	1,316.77	
Bottling Line 1	6.92	6.82	0	0.10 %	99.73 %	367.82	=
Bottling Line Failure	6.92	6.82	0	0.10 %	99.73 %	367.82	
Bottling Line 2	7.12	7.14	0	0.00 %	99.72 %	356.85	
Bottling Line Failure	7.12	7.14	0	0.00 %	99.72 %	356.85	
Bottling Line 3	7.03	7.11	0	0.20 %	99.72 %	362.18	
Bottling Line Failure	7.03	7.11	0	0.20 %	99.72 %	362.18	
Water Pump	8.01	3.77	63,024	0.00 %	99.85 %	5.62	
Bearing Failure	1.37	0.45	5,181	24.90 %	99.98 %	987.85	
··· Impeller Failure	3.52	1.76	7,040	3.20 %	99.93 %	641.76	
Seal Failure	3.12	1.56	6,236	0.00 %	99.94 %	5.68	
Water Source	0.36	5.12	0	68.50 %	99.80 %	1,226.70	
Water Tank	7.31	5.06	0	0.00 %	99.80 %	Infinity	
Diagram for Scenario B (Scenario B)	1.47	6.01	1,063,963	0.00 %	99.77 %	676.77	
Bottling Subsystem	0.10	0.06	0	90.40 %	100.00 %	1,242.70	
Bottling Line 1	6.91	6.86	0	0.10 %	99.73 %	357.33	-

The following columns of information are displayed in the **Elements** grid:

- **Element:** Displays a hierarchy that lists the components in the System Reliability Analysis.
- **Failures:** The average number of times the selected item failed during the analysis period for all iterations of the Scenario to which it belongs.
- **Downtime (Days):** The average number of days that the selected item was out of service due to failures or shutdowns for all iterations of the Scenario to which it belongs.
- **Cost (\$):** The average total cost of the selected item for all iterations of the Scenario to which it belongs. This includes the cost of any items that belongs to the item, lost production costs, fixed costs, variable costs, Action costs, planned or unplanned correction costs, and Resource costs.
- **Reliability:** The percentage of iterations that the selected item never failed across the total number of iterations in the Scenario to which it belongs.

Note: Reliability is calculated from actual data collected from the iterations and does not represent an average value.

- Availability: The average percentage of the time that the selected item was available and running for the Scenario to which it belongs.
- Next Failure (Days): The average amount of time, in days, from the analysis Start Date until the next failure occurs for the selected item.

Actions Grid

The **Actions** grid on the **System Reliability Simulation Results** page displays specific results for each <u>Action</u> that exists in the System Reliability Analysis.

Elements Actions Resources					
Action	△ Occurrences Cost (\$) Detected Failures				
Diagram for Scenario A (Scenario A)					
Diagram for Scenario B (Scenario B)					
Water Pump					
···· Redesign Impellers	1.00 1,600	0.00			
Replace Seals	3.48 6,956	0.00			
Vibration Analysis	121.99 12,199	1.38			
Diagram for Scenario C (Scenario C)					

The following columns of information are displayed in the Actions grid:

- Action: Displays a hierarchy that displays the Actions that exist in a System Reliability Analysis. The Actions appear below the element in the Diagram to which they belong.
- Occurrences: The average number of occurrences of the Action from all iterations of the Scenario to which it belongs.
- **Cost (\$):** The average cost of the Action, including any Resources used by the Action, for the Scenario to which it belongs.
- **Detected Failures:** The average number of potential failures detected in advance by the Action. This result is calculated only for <u>inspection</u> and <u>condition mon-</u><u>itoring Actions</u>, which are the only Actions that can detect potential failures.

Resources Grid

The **Resources** grid on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u> displays specific results for each Resource that exists in a System Reliability Analysis.

Elements Actions Resources						
Resource △ Occurrences Time (Days) Cost (\$)						
Scenario A						
Bearing	2.74	0.00	548			
Mechanic	0.00	0.46	1,096			
Seal	1.37	0.00	343			
Vibration Technician	0.00	0.00	0			
Scenario B						
Bearing	2.84	0.00	567			
Mechanic	0.00	0.24	582			
Seal	0.04	0.00	9			
Vibration Technician	0.00	5.08	12,199			
Scenario C						
Bearing	2.91	0.00	581			
Mechanic	0.00	0.48	1,162			
Seal	1.45	0.00	363			
Vibration Technician	0.00	0.00	0			

The following columns of information are displayed in the **Resources** grid:

- **Resource:** Displays a hierarchy that displays the Resources that exist in the System Reliability Analysis. The Resources appear below the Scenario in the hierarchy to which they belong.
- Occurrences: The average number of times the Resource is used during the simulation period.

Note: For <u>System Resource records</u> in which the Count Occurrences field is set to *False*, the value in this column will be 0 (zero).

- Time (Days): The average amount of time, in days, accumulated by the Resource.
- **Cost (\$):** The average cost accrued by the Resource.

About the Histogram Plot

While the grids on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u> display average values, it can be helpful to understand the specific values that were used to calculate the averages. The Histogram Plot shows the distribution of the actual values from all iterations that were used to calculate the average value.

The distribution of the actual values spreads across a series of data ranges, which are called bins and are represented by columns on the Histogram Plot. When an actual value from an iteration falls into a bin, it is included in the associated column. The higher the column is, the more values have fallen into the bin.

Note: The number of columns that appear in the Histogram Plot is determined by the value in the Histogram Bins field in the root <u>System Analysis record</u>.

Additional values are represented by the following lines in the Histogram Plot:

- **Optimistic Value:** Leftmost gray vertical line in the Histogram Plot. This line represents the lower level of the confidence interval.
- Average Value: Red line in the Histogram Plot. This line represents the mean value, which is the mean value of the values from the iterations of the Scenario.
- **Realistic Value:** Blue line in the Histogram Plot. This line represents the median value, which is the median value of the values from the iterations of the Scenario.

Note:If the median value falls in between two values, then the larger value will be used as the Realistic value.

• **Pessimistic Value:** Rightmost gray vertical line in the Histogram Plot. This line represents the upper level of the confidence interval.



This image displays the Histogram Plot for the Failures of the Water Pump in Scenario B of the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>. In this example, 20 bins are defined for the Histogram Plot, and the actual iteration values fall into eight of those bins, which are visible on the chart:

- **Bin One:** Represents the range from 0.00 to 0.35 failures. This bin has a value of 17, indicating that there are 17 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 0.00 to 0.35 times.
- **Bin Three:** Represents the range from .70 to 1.05 failures. This bin has a value of 156, indicating that there are 156 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 0.70 to 1.05 times.
- **Bin Six:** Represents the range from 1.75 to 2.10 failures. This bin has a value of 324, indicating that there are 324 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 1.75 to 2.10 times.
- **Bin Nine:** Represents the range from 2.80 to 3.15 failures. This bin has a value of 254, indicating that there are 254 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 2.80 to 3.15 times.
- **Bin Twelve:** Represents the range from 3.85 to 4.20 failures. This bin has a value of 170, indicating that there are 170 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 3.85 to 4.20 times.
- **Bin Fifteen:** Represents the range from 3.85 to 4.20 failures. This bin has a value of 55, indicating that there are 55 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 3.85 to 4.20 times.

- **Bin Eighteen:** Represents the range from 4.90 to 5.25 failures. This bin has a value of 23, indicating that there are 23 iterations where the Water Pump failed from 4.90 to 5.25 times.
- **Bin Twenty:** Represents the range from 6.65 to 7.00 failures. This bin has a value of 1, indicating that there is 1 iteration where the Water Pump failed from 6.65 to 7.00 times.

Note: Bins that are not displayed on the graph and not listed here have a value of 0 (zero) for their ranges, indicating that NO iterations had a Water Pump failure within their ranges.

In addition, in the image shown above, four lines are visible:

- **Optimistic:** Represents the lower value of the confidence interval. This line has a value of 1.00, indicating that the lower confidence level value for a failure is 1.00.
- Average: Represents the mean value. This line has a value of 2.67, indicating the average number of failures is 2.67 failures.
- **Realistic:** Represents the median value. This line has a value of 3.00, indicating the median number of failures is 3.00 failures.
- **Pessimistic:** Represents the upper level of the confidence interval. This line has a value of 5.00, indicating that the upper confidence level value for a failure is 5.00.

Trend Plot

While the grids on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u> display average values, understanding the specific values that make up the average can be helpful as well. The Trend Plot shows the average value for each analysis time interval, as defined by the value in the Time Analysis Type field in the root System Analysis record. If the Time Analysis Type field is set to:

- *Yearly*, the Cost Trend Plot will display the Cost Trend for each year in the simulation period.
- *Monthly*, the Cost Trend Plot will display the Cost Trend for each month in the simulation period.



This image displays the Trend Plot for the Failures of the Water Pump in Scenario B of the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>, where you can see that the most Water Pump failures occurred in the second year of the simulation, while fewer occurred in the third year of the simulation. The information in the **Failure** column of the <u>Elements grid</u> indicates that the Water Pump failed a total average of 2.67 times across all iterations for Scenario A. The Trend Plot breaks out the total number of failures according to the year they occurred.

- **2010 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2010. This bar has a value of 0.55, indicating the Water Pump failed 0.55 times in 2010.
- **2011 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2011. This bar has a value of 0.72, indicating the Water Pump failed 0.72 times in 2011.

- **2012 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2012. This bar has a value of 0.03, indicating the Water Pump failed 0.03 times in 2012.
- **2013 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2013. This bar has a value of 0.22, indicating the Water Pump failed 0.22 times in 2013.
- **2014 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2014. This bar has a value of 0.23, indicating the Water Pump failed 0.23 times in 2014.
- **2015 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2015. This bar has a value of 0.54, indicating the Water Pump failed 0.54 times in 2015.
- **2016 Bar:** Represents the Water Pump failures in 2016. This bar has a value of 0.38, indicating that the Water Pump failed 0.38 times in 2016.

The value in the grid represents the total failures for the entire simulation period, or the sum of all values in the Trend Plot, in this case 2.67.

Impact Plot

While the grids on the <u>System Reliability Simulation Results page</u> display average values, understanding the values that make up the average can be helpful as well. The Impact Plot shows how the average failure value is calculated as a total of the individual Risk failure averages.

Note: This plot is not shown for the **Reliability** column in the **Elements** tab, the **Actions** tab, or the **Resources** tab.



This image displays the Impact Plot for the Failures of the Water Pump in Scenario B of the <u>System Reliability Analysis Example</u>. In this example, the information in the Failure column of the <u>Element grid</u> indicates that the Water Pump failed a total average of 2.67 times across all iterations for Scenario B. The Impact Plot breaks out the total number of failures according to the reason for the Water Pump failure:

- **Right bar:** Represents the Impeller Failure. This bar has a value of 2.03, indicating that the Water Pump failed as a result of an Impeller Failure 2.03 times.
- **Center bar:** Represents the Seal Failure. This bar has a value of 0.60, indicating that the Water Pump failed as a result of a Seal Failure .06 times.
- Left bar: Represents the Bearing Failure. This bar has a value of 0.04, indicating that the Water Pump failed as a result of a Bearing Failure 0.04 times.

The value in the grid represents the total of all failures for any reason, or the sum of all values in the Impact Plot, in this case 2.67.

Interpreting Simulation Results That Include Source and Additional Risks

The <u>results for a simulation</u> will appear differently depending upon whether or not the simulation includes source and additional Risks. It is important that you understand how to interpret simulation results that include source and additional Risks. When you set up a simulation to include source and additional Risks, you should keep in mind the information listed in this topic. This documentation assumes that you are familiar with System Risk records and their role in a System Reliability Analysis.

- If an unplanned correction causes a source Risk and any additional Risks to be reset, in the simulation results, the Failure associated with the unplanned correction of the source Risk will be attributed *only* to the source Risk.
- If a planned correction of a source Risk results in additional Risks being reset, in the simulation results, the following values will be attributed to each individual Risk:
 - Planned correction cost
 - Planned resource usages
 - Downtime

Downtime for each Risk will be calculated based upon the planned correction duration for that Risk.

- If an unplanned correction of a source Risk results in additional Risks being reset, in the simulation results, the following values will be attributed to each individual Risk:
 - Fixed unplanned correction cost
 - Variable unplanned correction cost
 - Unplanned resource usages
 - Downtime

Variable unplanned correction cost and downtime for each Risk will be calculated based upon the TTR distribution for that Risk.

- If planned or unplanned correction of a source Risk results in additional Risks being reset, in the simulation results, the Equipment or Functional Location record to which the System Risk records are linked will be populated with the *largest* downtime value of all the Risks (i.e. source and additional). For example, suppose that the following Risks are defined for a *Water Pump*:
 - A *Bearing failure* Risk that is a source Risk and whose downtime value is 1 *day*.
 - A *Seal failure* Risk that is an additional Risk and whose downtime value is *2 days*.

In this case, when the *Bearing failure* Risk resets the *Seal failure* Risk, in the simulation results, a downtime value of *2 days* will be attributed to the *Water Pump*.

• If planned or unplanned correction has started for an additional Risk, and then, planned or unplanned correction starts for the source Risk that resets that additional Risk, the additional Risk will be reset only once, as a result of its own planned or unplanned correction. The additional Risk will not be reset two times as a result of its own planned or unplanned or unplanned correction and the planned or unplanned or unplanned correction. This will be reflected in the simulation results.

What is a Cost of Unreliability Analysis?

Performing a Cost of Unreliability Analysis allows you to calculate the cost of unreliable elements, systems, or units. A Cost of Unreliability Analysis uses cost and failure data to calculate the cost and impacts of forced shutdowns, caused by unscheduled maintenance, due to equipment failure. These costs results from causes such as:

- Unplanned labor.
- Production and disposal of unusable product.
- Purging the system of contaminated product.
- Cleanup or fines associated with spills or other environmental hazards.
- Lost Profit Opportunities (LPO).

Meridium APM Reliability presents cost figures using a normalized time period for every production unit. Different downtime intervals can be compared to determine their effect on maintenance and LPO costs. The Failure Data used for analysis can be viewed in a table and Cost of Unreliability graphs are provided for easy analysis and comparison.

The production system at a plant contains several kinds of production units. Each production unit consists of several types of equipment. In some business contexts, several units can be treated as a group. For a high-level business analysis of the cost of unreliability of your plant, perform a Cost of Unreliability Analysis on the basis of production unit failures and downtime.

Based on these results, you can narrow your focus and perform a Cost of Unreliability Analysis on group of equipment or locations to determine if patterns exist that indicate specific failure causes or specific elements with reliability problems (i.e., the bad actors).

Cost of Unreliability Analyses results also include MTBF trends. MTBF is a simple statistic that characterizes the overall reliability of a piece of equipment or location or a population of equipment or locations. A MTBF trend analysis shows the MTBF for a selected population of equipment or locations over time.

Data Used in a Cost of Unreliability Analysis

The following table shows the possible data for Cost of Unreliability Analyses in Meridium APM.

Data Needed	Description	Notes
Production Unit or Asset ID	The ID of the production unit, piece of equipment, or location.	This is a required field.
Installation Date	The date on which the piece of equipment or location was installed.	This field is optional.
Failure Date	The last date on which the piece of equipment or loc- ation failed. This date can have many different descriptions such as Out of Service Date, Shutdown Date, or Failure Date.	This is a required field.
Downtime	If this information is available, it can be used to make the estimation more accurate. "Return to service date" or "date repaired" can be used to estimate downtime.	This field is optional.
Time Units	The time units used to measure the downtime.	This field is optional.
Maintenance Cost	The cost of fixing the equipment after a failure occurs, including both the labor and the material costs.	This field is optional.
Lost Profit Oppor- tunity	The profit that the company lost when it could not supply product to meet customer demand.	This field is optional.

Accessing the List of Cost of Unreliability Analyses

To view a list of existing Cost of Unreliability Analyses:

• On the **Reliability Start Screen**, click the **Unreliability Cost Analysis** link.

The Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page appears.

😵 Mer	🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis 📃 💷 💌					
<u>F</u> ile	<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
😌 Ba	ack 👻 🏐 Forward 👻 🦿	🕯 My Start Page 👻 🎉 N	New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🔞 Graph + 🧐 Dataset + 🖼	Dashboard -		
		Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Co</u>	st of Unreliability			
m	eridium					
Reli	iability Analytics	Sele	ect a Cost of Unreliability Analysis			
6	T l					
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 🕹					
	New Analysis	PublishedAnalyses	Any (%)	Run Query		
	Open Analysis	Last Updated By	Administrator, Meridium 👻			
	Save Analysis					
	Publish Analyses					
×	Delete Analyses	Analysis ID 🛆 🛛 Las	t Updated Updated By Maintenance Number of Fail Down			
=0	Send To >>					
0	Help					
0	Guidelines					
		1				

From this page, you can run the Unreliability Cost query to retrieve a list of Cost of Unreliability Analyses that exist in the database. From the list of analyses, you can access the analysis summary for any analysis. Alternatively, you can click the **New Analysis** link on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u> to begin the process of <u>creating a new analysis</u>.

Aspects of the Cost of Unreliability List Page

The <u>Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page</u> lets you run the Unreliability Cost query to access a list of existing Cost of Unreliability Analyses that meet your query criteria.

🛞 Me	😵 Meridium APM Framework - Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis 💼 💷 📧						
<u>F</u> ile	<u> </u>						
😌 B	ack 👻 🏵 Forward 👻 1	🏠 My Start Page 👻 🎽 I	New 🔑 Search 🗯 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🔞 Graph + 🍕 Dataset + 📼	Dashboard -			
		Site Map: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Co</u>	st of Unreliability				
m	eridium						
Rel	iability Analytics	Sele	ect a Cost of Unreliability Analysis				
Com	mon Tasks 🛛 📚						
1	New Analysis	Published Analyses	Any (%) 🗸	Run Query			
厚	Open Analysis	Last Updated By	Administrator Meridium				
2	Save Analysis		Administratory Previoun				
D _R	Save Analysis As						
â	Publish Analyses	Analysis ID △ Las	t Updated Updated By Maintenance Number of Fail Down				
X	Delete Analyses						
	Send To >>						
	Help						
	Guidelines						
•	Help Guidelines						

The Unreliability Cost query is stored in the Meridium APM Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. While the Unreliability Cost query can be <u>customized</u> for your specific implementation, the baseline Unreliability Cost query contains two prompts: **Published Analyses** and **Last Updated By**. These prompts appear at the top of the page as drop-down lists that contain various options.

The Published Analyses list contains the following options:

- Any (%): Will cause the query to return all Cost of Unreliability Analyses, either published or unpublished.
- Yes (Y): Will cause the query to return only published Cost of Unreliability Analyses.
- No (N): Will cause the query to return only unpublished Cost of Unreliability Analyses.

The Last Updated By list contains the following options:

- Your user name, which is selected by default and will cause the query to return only the Cost of Unreliability Analyses that were last updated by you.
- The user name of any user who last updated any Cost of Unreliability Analysis, which will cause the query to return only the Cost of Unreliability Analyses that were last updated by that user.
- The **[All Users]** option, which will cause the query to return a list of Cost of Unreliability Analyses updated by any user.

Each time you access the **Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from the List** page, the values that appear by default in the prompts will be used to filter the list. After you select different criteria, you can click the **Run Query** button to run the Unreliability Cost query and display the results in a grid at the bottom of the page.

Note: Although the results are returned by the Unreliability Cost query, query page size is ignored. The entire list of analyses is displayed at once.

The default Unreliability Cost query is configured to display the following columns of information: Analysis ID, Last Updated (date), Updated By, LPO, Downtime, Number of Failures, and Maintenance Cost. You can click any hyperlinked Analysis ID to open the associated analysis on the Cost of Unreliability Analysissummary page. In addition, you can use the options on the Common Tasks menu to perform various tasks for the analyses in the list.

CEHint: If desired, you cancustomize the column display.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from the List** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the <u>Cost of Unreliability Builder</u> to guide you through the process of creating a new Cost of Unreliability Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Displays the **Find Cost of Unreliability Analysis** window, where you can find and open an existing analysis.
- **Publish Analyses:**<u>Publishes</u> the selected analysis or analyses. If you select one or more analyses that are already published, this link reads **Unpublish Analyses** and will <u>unpublish</u> the selected analysis.
- Delete Analysis: After asking for confirmation, <u>deletes the analysis</u> or analyses selected in the list.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let youprovide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

Note: The **Save Analysis** and **Save Analysis As** options are always disabled on the **Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page.

Using the Cost of Unreliability Builder

Using the **Cost of Unreliability Builder**, you can create a new Cost of Unreliability Analysis:

- Based on a new or existing query or dataset.
- By manually entering data.

You can access the Cost of Unreliability Builder from either the <u>Select a Cost of Unre</u>-<u>liability Analysis</u> page or the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis</u> summary page.

Creating a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from a Query or Dataset

To create a Cost of Unreliability Analysis based on a query or dataset:

1. On the <u>Select a Cost of Unreliability</u> page or on the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis</u> <u>summary page</u>, on the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The **Cost of Unreliability Builder** appears, displaying the **Welcome** screen.



E Hint: Select the **Don't show this page again** check box to skip the **Welcome** screen in the future.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Data Source Type** screen appears.

Cost of Unreliability Builder - Select Data Source Type	
Select Data Source Type	
Query Based	
 Failure data will be loaded using an existing Query. 	
I will create a new Query and use it to load failure data.	
Dataset Based	
C Failure data will be copied from an existing Dataset.	
I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as failure data.	
No Data Source	
🔿 I will manually enter failure data.	
< Back Next > Finish Cancel	Help

- 3. Select one of the following options:
 - Failure data will be loaded using an existing Query. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired query in the Catalog.
 - I will create a new Query and use it to load the failure data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, theQuery Builder will appear so that you can design a new query. Click the Help button in the Query Builder for details on building a new query.
 - Failure data will be copied from an existing Dataset. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, you will be asked to find and select the desired dataset in the Catalog. Note that if the dataset you choose was created from a query that included installation, failure dates, or TTF data you will not be able to select either of those columns in the analysis. To avoid this problem,run the query in unformatted mode and then export to a dataset.
 - I will create a new Dataset and use it to load the failure data. If you select this option, when you click the Next button, theDataset Builder will appear so that you can design a new dataset. Click the Help button in the Dataset Builder for details on building a new dataset.

After you have selected or created the desired query or dataset, it appears on the **Select** screen of the **Cost of Unreliability Builder**.

4. Click the **Next** button.

The Select Failure Fields screen appears.

Cost of Unreliability B	uilder - Select Failure Fields	
Select Failure Fi	elds	
Unit ID:	Asset ID	•
Installation Date:		•
Failure Date:	Installation Date	•
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel	Help

- 5. Select the desired fields:
- Unit ID: The name of the field that contains the IDs of the failed entities. This field is required and must be a text field.
- Installation Date: The field that contains the Installation Date, which is the date when the piece of equipment was installed.
- Failure Date: The field that contains the Failure Date, which is the date on which the failure events occurred (for example, the Out of Service date).
- 6. Click the **Next** button if you have downtime information you want to include in the analysis.

The Provide Information for Downtime screen appears.

Cost of Unreliability Builder - Provide Information for Downtime					
Provid	le Informatio	n for Downti	me		
Down	time Field:	Downtime			
Time l	Units:	Days			•
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel	Help

- 7. In the **DowntimeField** list, select the appropriate field (e.g., Total Time to Repair).
- 8. In the **Time Units** list, select the time units for the downtime (e.g., Hours, Weeks, Months, Quarter, or Years).
- 9. Click the **Next** button if you want to provide information on cost.

The **Provide Information on Cost** screen appears.
Cost of Unreliability Builder - Provide Information on Cost							
Provide Informati	on on Cost						
Maintenance Cost:							
Lost Profit Opportunity:		•					
Currency:	\$						
content,)*						
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel	Help					

- 10. You can generate an analysis without completing the optional fields on this screen, but you should include any available cost data in your analysis. Select the following fields from the data source that contain cost information:
 - **Maintenance Cost:** The cost of fixing the equipment after a failure occurs. Maintenance costs represents both the labor and the material costs
 - LPO: The profit that the company loses when it cannot supply product to meet customer demand. If customer demand can be met by supplying product from reserves, LPO would represent any profit loss attributable to higher costs to produce reserves over costs to produce current production (had production not been interrupted.) If delivery of the product is simply delayed, LPO represents any loss of revenue attributable to change in market prices during the delay or price discounts offered to keep the order.
 - **Currency:** The type of currency in which the cost data will be presented. Meridium APM automatically populates this field based on the regional settings of your computer. After you create the analysis, you can change the currency type that appears in the results listed on the summary page and on the axis labels of the plots.
- 11. Click the **Finish** button.

Meridium APM validates the field mappings and generates the analysis displaying the summary page with the results of the analysis.

12. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis** link to save the analysis.

Creating a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from Manually Entered Data

To enter the failure data manually for the Cost of Unreliability Analysis:

1. On the <u>Select a Cost of Unreliability</u> page or on the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis</u> <u>summary page</u>, on the Common Tasks menu, click the New Analysis link.

The **Cost of Unreliability Builder** appears, displaying the Welcome screen.

Cost of Unreliability Builder - Welcome							
meridium	Welcome to the Cost of Unreliability Builder						
	In the next few steps you will create a new Cost of Unreliability analysis. You will be able to base the analysis on failure data obtained from a query, a dataset, or manually entered data.						
	🔲 Don't show this page again.						
	To continue, click Next.						
< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help						

CE Hint: If you do not want to view this screen the next time that you access the builder, select the **Don't show this page again** check box.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The Select Data Source Type screen appears.

Cost of Unreliability Builder - Select Data Source Type	
Select Data Source Type	
Query Based	
Failure data will be loaded using an existing Query.	
I will create a new Query and use it to load failure data.	
Dataset Based	
Failure data will be copied from an existing Dataset.	
\bigcirc I will create a new Dataset and use its contents as failure data.	
No Data Source	
🔿 I will manually enter failure data.	
<pre>< Back Next > Finish Cancel</pre>	Help

3. Click the **I will manually enter failure data** option, and then click the **Finish** button. The **Cost of Unreliability Builder** closes, and the **Failure Data** grid appears.

😼 Failure Data	1							
Failures Assets								
Asset ID	Failure D	Downtime	Mainten	LPO	Ignore	Remarks		
▶ (none) 💌								
						ОК	Cancel	Help

- 4. Enter the desired data on the <u>Failure Data grid</u>. To enter data, you can manually type the data in the cells or you can use the clipboard operations (cut, copy, paste) to transfer data to the grid from other applications.
- 5. Click **OK** to save the data and generate the analysis. Note that a minimum of three failure data points is required to perform a calculation; otherwise, a warning message appears and the analysis will not be generated.

The **Failure Data** grid closes. Preferences are retained for the changes that you made to the grid, including the addition and deletion of rows, resized columns, grouped columns, and any sorting. Meridium APM generates the analysis and displays the summary page.

6. On the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>, click the Save Analysis link to save the analysis.

Note:If any of the Installation dates specified on the **Assets** tab occur *after* any of the failure dates on the **Failures** tab, an error message appears explaining that "the value specified for MI_RELI_COST_MTBF_NBR is an undefined numeric value."

Accessing the Cost of Unreliability Analysis Summary Page

To access the Cost of Unreliability Analysis summary:

1. On the Reliability Start Screen, click the Unreliability Cost Analysis link.

The Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page appears.



- 2. At the top of the page, in the fields provided, select the criteria that you want to use for limiting the list of Cost of Unreliability Analyses. The available criteria will vary, depending on how the Unreliability Cost query has been configured.
- 3. Click the **Run Query** button.

Meridium APM runs the Unreliability Cost query and displays the results in the grid at the bottom of the page.

4. In the results list, click the hyperlinked Analysis ID of the analysis that you want to open.

The **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page appears, displaying the analysis summary for the analysis that you selected.

Note:When you open an existing analysis, the analysis will display the data and calculations that were last <u>saved</u> with the analysis. If you want to reload the underlying query or dataset and update calculations based on any changes to the underlying data, you must <u>reload the analysis</u> after opening it.

Overview of the Cost of Unreliability Analysis Summary

The **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page displays summary information about the Cost of Unreliability Analysis. The information is divided into three sections:

- Analysis Information
- Summary Results
- Analysis Options

In addition, the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** summary page contains three task menus: <u>Plot</u>, <u>Analysis Tasks</u>, and <u>Common Tasks</u>.

Analysis Information Section

Analysis Information Analysis Name: New Analysis 1 Description:

The **Analysis Information** section contains information that identifies the current analysis, including the following:

- Analysis Name: The ID of the analysis.
- **Description:** The description of the analysis as defined when the analysis was saved. You can click the **Rename** link in this section or on the **Current Analysis** menu if you want to change either the name or the description of the analysis.
- **Rename:** Displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>rename the</u> <u>analysis</u>.

Summary Results Section

The **Summary Results** section provides a summary of the results of the current analysis.

Summary Results		
Number of Units:	3	
Number of Failures:	32	
Maintenance Cost:	0.00 \$/Year	
LPO:	0.00 \$/Year	
Total Cost:	0.00 \$/Year	
Availability:	86.5168 %	
MTBF:	192.39 Days	
MTTR:	12.50 Days	
Downtime:	49.25 Days/Year	

It includes the following information:

- Number of Units: The number of production units included in the analysis.
- **Number of Failures:** The number of failure events that occurred in the units being analyzed.
- Maintenance Cost: The total maintenance cost due to the failures.
- LPO: Lost Profit Opportunity represents the profit that the company loses when it cannot supply product to meet customer demand. If customer demand can be met by supplying product from reserves, LPO would be any profit loss attributable to higher costs to produce reserves over costs to produce current production (had production not been interrupted). If delivery of the product is delayed, LPO recognizes any loss of revenue attributable to change in market prices during the delay or price discounts offered to keep the order.
- **Total Cost:** The total cost associated with the failure event (includes parts, labor, or LPO).
- Availability: The percentage of the time that the unit(s) are productive.
- MTBF: The Mean Time Between Failures for the units being analyzed.
- MTTR: The Mean Time to Repair is the average amount of time that it takes to restart the production units(s) after a failure occurs.
- **Downtime:** The amount of time that an item is not available for use for any reason.

Note: You can <u>change the currency</u> that is displayed for the cost fields on the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** summary page.

Analysis Options Section

The **Analysis Options** section contains the settings that were used to calculate the current analysis.

Analysis Options Analysis Period: The analysis covers the period from 3/9/1990 to 2/14/2011. Reporting Period: Pareto charts will be presenting Yearly results. Trend Frequency: Trends will be presented using a Monthly basis. MTBF Calculation: The MTBF is calculated using data from 1 Year.

It includes the following information:

• Analysis Period: The start and end dates of the analysis. You can change the analysis period.

Change

- **Reporting Period:** The interval in which results are calculated and presented for the pareto charts. You can <u>change the reporting period</u>.
- **Trend Frequency:** The interval in which results are calculated and presented for the trends. You can <u>change the trend frequency</u>.
- **MTBF Calculation:** Displays the time units used to calculate MTBF. You can <u>specify</u> the length of the MTBF Period.
- Change: Displays the Unit of Measure dialog box, where you can specify units of measure.

Note: To view the failure data for the analysis, click the **Failure Data** link on the **Current Analysis** menu.

Plot Menu

Plot	*
	Cost
	MTBF
	MTTR
	Availability
	Failures
	Downtime
	Trend

The Plot menu on the Cost of Unreliability Analysis page contains the following links:

- **Cost:** Displays the <u>Total Cost Pareto Chart</u> for the selected analysis.
- **MTBF:** Displays the <u>Mean Time Between Failures Pareto Chart</u> for the selected analysis.
- MTTR: Displays the Mean Time to Repair Pareto Chart for the selected analysis.
- Availability: Displays the <u>Availability Pareto Chart</u> for the selected analysis.
- Failures: Displays the Number of Failures Pareto Chart for the selected analysis.
- Downtime: Displays the Downtime Pareto Chart for the selected analysis.
- **Trend:** Displays the **Trend Builder**, which will walk you through the steps to <u>build</u>-<u>ing a Trend Plot</u>.

Plot Options Menu

Plot	۲	
Ē	Show Plot Data	
۵	Print	

The **Plot Options** menu on the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page contains the following links:

- Show Plot Data: Displays the <u>Plot Data page</u>, which contains the numeric data on which a given plot is based.
- Print: Displays the Print screen to print the Total Cost Pareto Chart.

Note:ThePlot Optionsmenu only appears on theTotal Cost Pareto Chartscreen.

Analysis Tasks Menu



The **Analysis Tasks** menu on the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page contains the following links:

- Analysis Period: Displays the Analysis Period dialog box, where you can <u>change</u> <u>the Start Date and End Date of the analysis period</u>.
- Units of Measure: Displays the Units of Measure dialog box where you can <u>specify the units</u> for the reporting period, trend frequency, MTBF, Downtime, and the currency.
- MTBF Calculation Options: Displays the MTBF Calculation Options dialog box, where you can select the MTBF period units and period length.
- Generate Report: Displays the Report Options dialog box, where you can select the elements of the analysis that you want to include in a report.

Note: You must save the analysis before you can generate a report.

- View Data Source: Displays the data that serves as the source of the analysis. This link appears only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- If the analysis is based on a query, this link will open the query results.
- If the analysis is based on a dataset, this link will open the dataset.
- **Reload Data:**<u>Reloads the data</u> stored in the database. This link appears only if the analysis is based on a query or a dataset.
- View Failure Data: Displays the Failure Data grid.
- **Rename:** Displays the **Rename Analysis** dialog box, where you can <u>change the</u> <u>name and description of the analysis</u>. Note that a **Rename** link is also available in the **Analysis Information** section on the summary page.
- View Analysis List: Displays the <u>Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page</u>, where you can view the list of existing Cost of Unreliability analyses.
- View Recommendations: Displays the <u>Recommendations page</u>, where you can view and manage the Recommendation records associated with the analysis.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page contains the following links:

- New Analysis: Displays the <u>Cost of Unreliability Builder</u>, which will guide you through the process of creating a new Cost of Unreliability Analysis.
- **Open Analysis:** Lets you locate an existing Cost of Unreliability analysis using the **Find Cost of Unreliability Analysis** window.
- Save Analysis: Saves the currently displayed analysis. If you are viewing a brand new analysis that has not yet been saved, this link will display the Save Analysis dialog box, where you can save the analysis. If you are viewing an existing analysis, when you click this link, Meridium APM will save any changes that you made to the analysis since it was last saved.
- Save Analysis As: Displays the Save this Analysis dialog box, where you can choose to save it with a different name.
- Delete Analysis: Deletes the currently displayed analysis.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let youprovide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Cost of Unreliability Analysis summary page.
- **Guidelines:** Displays the Reliability Concepts, which provide reliability workflows and descriptions of reliability concepts.

About the Failure Data Window

The **Failure Data** window allows you to view the data associated with a Cost of Unreliability Analysis. Most of the fields on the **Failure Data** window correspond to <u>values</u> that were used to create the analysis. For input fields:

- For an analysis based upon a query, the **Failure Data** window displays the information returned by the query.
- For an analysis based upon a dataset, the **Failure Data** window displays the information stored in the dataset.
- For an analysis based upon manually-entered data, the **Failure Data** window displays the information that you entered when you create the analysis.

Other fields show values that are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are readonly. All values in the **Failure Data** window are stored in the Failures field in the Unreliability Cost record.

You can modify certain values on this window in order to update data. In most cases, however, you would not want to change the data unless there was an error in the original data source. Some values are calculated by the Meridium APM system and cannot be modified.

The following image shows an example of the **Failure Data** window.

e	Failure Data								
F	ailures Assets						-	*	
	Asset ID	Failure Date 🛆	Downtime	Maintenance Cost	LPO	Ignore	Remarks	[
	PMP-5705 💌	2/1/1990	9	2020.20990042144	332.0143467081				
	PMP-5701	2/20/1990	9.3	1298.52692977848	19333.4427061766				
	PMP-5705	3/7/1990	6.9	2594.70203893168	21279.2490206692				
	PMP-5701	7/4/1990	1.1	4946.24735445916	34307.1673602369				
	PMP-5705	7/25/1990	7.2	4681.99434802873	44070.9819919655				
	PMP-5701	8/27/1990	1.5	9208.53814340028	41256.9948870403				
	PMP-5705	9/19/1990	6.6	3979.76199014252	31680.4930936872				
	PMP-5701	11/17/1990	3.9	9166.37633410612	45513.1356228871				
	PMP-5705	11/27/1990	8.9	7355.77518969623	44689.0231023271				
	PMP-5705	1/18/1991	4.5	3181.40800669455	1462.2379548532				
	PMP-5701	2/17/1991	9.6	5095.24725617142	45071.3023737928				
	PMP-5705	3/28/1991	0.9	6721.30374715849	21205.3046131296				
	PMP-5705	5/29/1991	5.8	2037.3708435215	17862.9555460439				
	PMP-5705	6/20/1991	9.4	1132.32422469399	42652.7676968302				
	PMP-5701	7/4/1991	9.2	2536.57285953918	5826.9630186398				
	PMP-5701	8/14/1991	1.7	3795.32353427688	37170.1560613366				
	PMP-5705	10/9/1991	6.5	2669.48071969945	3397.9005692467				
	PMP-5701	11/24/1991	1.2	5985.70013328063	8669.0283870865				
	PMP-5705	12/28/1991	4.2	9083.41816832789	31347.8405722019				
	PMP-5705	4/2/1992	8.9	363.10114818869	27708.6095949843				
	PMP-5701	4/8/1992	1	7674.27894908138	49094.1395769235				
	PMP-5701	4/14/1992	9.2	1206.82892822292	14111.134965814				
	DMD-5705	5/16/1002	8.2	8120 64636107317	36801 1803407153				•
						(OK Canc	el Help]

Data Mapped to the Failure Data Window

When you create a Cost of Unreliability Analysis from a query or dataset, the **Cost of Unreliability Builder** will prompt you to map values from columns in the query or dataset to certain values in the Cost of Unreliability Analysis. The values that you select to map on the **Select Failure Fields,Provide Information For Downtime**, and**Provide Information on Cost** screens in the **Cost of Unreliability Builder** will then appear in the associated columns in the **Failure Data** window.

Note: If the analysis is based on a query or a dataset and contains additional columns that are not mapped to columns in the analysis dataset, those columns will appear in the **Failure Data** window with the column name in parentheses.

The following chart displays which columns are mapped from fields in the **Cost of Unre**liability Builder to columns in the Failure Data window.

Cost of Unreliability Builder Screen	Cost of Unreliability Builder Field	Failure Data Win- dow Tab	Failure Data Win- dow Column
Select Failure Fields	Unit ID	Failures, Assets	Asset ID
Select Failure Fields	Failure Date	Failures	Failure Date
Provide Inform- ation for Down- time	Downtime Field	Failures	Downtime
Provide Inform- ation on Cost	Maintenance Cost	Failures	Maintenance Cost
Provide Inform- ation on Cost	Lost Profit Oppor- tunity	Failures	LPO
Select Failure Fields	Installation Date	Assets	Installation Date

Accessing the Failure Data for a Cost of Unreliability Analysis

To access the failure data on the Failure Data grid:

• On the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis summary page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the Failure Data link.

The Failure Data window appears.

R	🕞 Failure Data								
F	ailures Assets								
	Asset ID	Failure Date 🛆	Downtime	Maintenance Cost	LPO	Ignore	Remarks	^	
	/ PMP-5705 👻	2/1/1990	9	2020.20990042144	332.0143467081				
	PMP-5701	2/20/1990	9.3	1298.52692977848	19333.4427061766				
Ī	PMP-5705	3/7/1990	6.9	2594.70203893168	21279.2490206692			=	
Ī	PMP-5701	7/4/1990	1.1	4946.24735445916	34307.1673602369				
Ī	PMP-5705	7/25/1990	7.2	4681.99434802873	44070.9819919655			_	
I	PMP-5701	8/27/1990	1.5	9208.53814340028	41256.9948870403				
Ī	PMP-5705	9/19/1990	6.6	3979.76199014252	31680.4930936872				
Ī	PMP-5701	11/17/1990	3.9	9166.37633410612	45513.1356228871				
I	PMP-5705	11/27/1990	8.9	7355.77518969623	44689.0231023271				
I	PMP-5705	1/18/1991	4.5	3181.40800669455	1462.2379548532				
I	PMP-5701	2/17/1991	9.6	5095.24725617142	45071.3023737928				
Ī	PMP-5705	3/28/1991	0.9	6721.30374715849	21205.3046131296				
	PMP-5705	5/29/1991	5.8	2037.3708435215	17862.9555460439				
I	PMP-5705	6/20/1991	9.4	1132.32422469399	42652.7676968302				
I	PMP-5701	7/4/1991	9.2	2536.57285953918	5826.9630186398				
I	PMP-5701	8/14/1991	1.7	3795.32353427688	37170.1560613366				
I	PMP-5705	10/9/1991	6.5	2669.48071969945	3397.9005692467				
	PMP-5701	11/24/1991	1.2	5985.70013328063	8669.0283870865				
	PMP-5705	12/28/1991	4.2	9083.41816832789	31347.8405722019				
	PMP-5705	4/2/1992	8.9	363.10114818869	27708.6095949843				
	PMP-5701	4/8/1992	1	7674.27894908138	49094.1395769235				
	PMP-5701	4/14/1992	9.2	1206.82892822292	14111.134965814				
L	DMD_5705	5/16/1007	8.2	8120 64636107317	36821 1823407153				
	OK Cancel Help								

The failure data is divided into the **Failures** and **Assets** tabs. The <u>Failures tab</u> provides information about the failures. The <u>Assets tab</u> provides information about the equipment and locations involved in the failures.

Aspects of the Failure Data

ilures Assets							
Asset ID Failure Date △ Downtime		Maintenance Cost	LPO	Ignore	Remarks	[
PMP-5705	2/1/1990	9	2020.20990042144	332.0143467081			
PMP-5701	2/20/1990	9.3	1298.52692977848	19333.4427061766			
PMP-5705	3/7/1990	6.9	2594.70203893168	21279.2490206692			
PMP-5701	7/4/1990	1.1	4946.24735445916	34307.1673602369			
PMP-5705	7/25/1990	7.2	4681.99434802873	44070.9819919655			
PMP-5701	8/27/1990	1.5	9208.53814340028	41256.9948870403			
PMP-5705	9/19/1990	6.6	3979.76199014252	31680.4930936872			
PMP-5701	11/17/1990	3.9	9166.37633410612	45513.1356228871			
PMP-5705	11/27/1990	8.9	7355.77518969623	44689.0231023271			
PMP-5705	1/18/1991	4.5	3181.40800669455	1462.2379548532			
PMP-5701	2/17/1991	9.6	5095.24725617142	45071.3023737928			
PMP-5705	3/28/1991	0.9	6721.30374715849	21205.3046131296			
PMP-5705	5/29/1991	5.8	2037.3708435215	17862.9555460439			
PMP-5705	6/20/1991	9.4	1132.32422469399	42652.7676968302			
PMP-5701	7/4/1991	9.2	2536.57285953918	5826.9630186398			
PMP-5701	8/14/1991	1.7	3795.32353427688	37170.1560613366			
PMP-5705	10/9/1991	6.5	2669.48071969945	3397.9005692467			
PMP-5701	11/24/1991	1.2	5985.70013328063	8669.0283870865			
PMP-5705	12/28/1991	4.2	9083.41816832789	31347.8405722019			
PMP-5705	4/2/1992	8.9	363.10114818869	27708.6095949843			
PMP-5701	4/8/1992	1	7674.27894908138	49094.1395769235			
PMP-5701	4/14/1992	9.2	1206.82892822292	14111.134965814			
DMD-5705	5/16/1002	8.2	8120 64636107317	36921 1923407153			7

CEHint: You can group, filter, and sort the data on the Failure Data window.

By default, the following properties are listed on the Failures tab:

- **Datasheet:** The text *view*, which appears as a hyperlink that displays the datasheet associated with the event (e.g., a Work History record). This column appears only when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- Asset ID: The ID of the piece of equipment or location that failed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Failure Date:** The date on which the failure of the piece of equipment or location occurred. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis and is required.
- **Downtime:** The amount of corrective maintenance time for the piece of equipment or location after the failure occurs. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.

- **Maintenance Cost:** The cost of fixing the piece of equipment or location after a failure occurs (represents both the labor and the material costs). This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- LPO: The profit the company loses when the production fails in an oversold market. It represents the difference between the market price of the product and the cost of producing it. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- **Ignore:** A value that indicates whether or not the data on the selected row is *ignored*, meaning excluded from the analysis calculations and plots. When *selected*, the data in the associated row will be excluded from the analysis. When *cleared*, data in the selected row will be included in the analysis. You can modify this value manually.

Note: A minimum of three failure data points is required to perform a calculation. If you exceed the maximum number of ignored datapoints, the application will display a warning message after you click **OK** on the **Failure Data** grid. The failure events marked ignored on the grid will not appear on the plots. Ignored datapoints are not included in MTBF calculations.

• **Remarks:** Comments about the failure event. You can enter a value in this column manually.

Aspects of the Asset Data

ľ	∂ I Fai	Failure Data Iures Assets									
Γ	[Asset ID	Installati	Last Rep	Mainten	LPO	Total Cost	MTBF	MTTR	Downtime	Availability
ľ	F	PMP-5701	2/1/1990	5/18/2001	25913.678	122850.32	148764.00	73.670101	5.7058159	28.288168	92.254909
		PMP-5705	2/1/1990	3/21/1998	19112.636	104997.84	124110.48	91.678348	5.8288888	23.221877	93.642022
	*										
	•										×.
								0	к (Cancel	Help

By default, the following properties are listed on the **Assets** tab:

- **Datasheet:** The text *view*, which appears as a hyperlink that displays the datasheet associated with the event (e.g., a Work History record). This column only appears when a query is the data source for the analysis.
- Asset ID: The ID of the piece of equipment or location that failed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- Installation Date: The date on which the piece of equipment or location was installed. This value is mapped from a query or dataset or manually entered when you create the analysis.
- Last Failure Date: The last date on which the piece of equipment or location failed. This value is calculated by the Meridium APM system using the values in the Failure Date and the Downtime columns on the Failures tab and is read-only.
- Maintenance Cost: The total maintenance cost (represents both the labor and the material costs) of the corresponding piece of equipment or location in the Asset ID column. This value is the sum of the values in the Maintenance Cost column on

the **Failures** tab associated with each piece of equipment or location. This value is calculated by the Meridium APM system and is read-only.

- LPO: The total lost profit opportunity of the corresponding piece of equipment or location in the Asset ID column, which represents the difference between the market price of the product and the cost of producing it. This value is the sum of the values in the LPO column on the Failures tab associated with each piece of equipment or location. This value is calculated by the Meridium APM system and is read-only.
- **Total Cost:** The total cost caused by element failures and system shutdowns. It includes the cost of maintenance to fix problems and the lost profit opportunity of the reduction in output. This value is calculated by the Meridium APM system using the costs in the **LPO** and **Maintenance Cost** fields and is read-only.
- **MTBF:** The average time between failures for a production unit after a failure occurs. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only.
- MTTR: The time from when an item fails to when it is returned to productive service. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only.
- **Downtime:** The amount of time that an item is not available for use for any reason. This value is the sum of the values in the **Downtime** column on the **Failures** tab associated with each piece of equipment or location. This value is calculated by the Meridium APM system and is read-only.
- Availability: The percentage of the time that a production unit is up and running versus the Calendar time. Availability describes the past performance of equipment, but not time in service or capacity. Availability is not tied to production and profits. Values in this column are calculated by the Meridium APM system and are read-only.

Specifying the Units of Measurement

If you change the units of measurement for a Cost of Unreliability Analysis, the Meridium APM system recalculates the analysis results that appear on the plots and the summary page and converts them to the units that you select.

To change the units of measurement that are used to generate the analysis results:

1. On the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis summary page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **Units of Measure** link.

Note: You can also change the units of measurement by clicking the **Change** link in the <u>Analysis Options section</u> of the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** summary.

Units Of Measure					
Specify Units Of Measure					
Reporting Period:	Yearty 🗸				
Trend Frequency:	Monthly				
MTBF Units:	Days				
Downtime Units:	Days				
Currency:	\$				
	OK Cancel Help				
	OK Cancel Help				

The Units of Measure dialog box appears.

- 2. In the following text boxes, and select a unit from the list.
- **Reporting Period:** The interval in which results are calculated and presented for the Pareto charts (Yearly, Quarterly, Monthly, Daily, Weekly, or Hourly).
- **Trend Frequency:** The units of measure for the trend frequency (Yearly, Quarterly, Monthly, Weekly, Daily, or Hourly).
- **MTBF Units:** The units of measure for the MTBF (Year, Quarter, Month, Day, Week, or Hour).
- **Downtime Units:** The units of measure for the downtime (Year, Quarter, Month, Day, Week, or Hour).

Note: If you change the value in the **Downtime Units**text box, the units of measure for both the failure data and the analysis results will change to the value that you select. You cannot change the downtime units for the failure data independently from the analysis results.

• **Currency**: Populated based on the preference that is stored for the currency in the regional settings on your computer. If you enter a different currency in the **Currency** field, when you click **OK**, the system displays the new currency on the axis label of the plots.

Note:The system does not convert any existing values to the equivalent value of the new currency.

3. Click **OK** to accept the changes and close the **Units of Measure** dialog box.

The y-axis and x-axis on each plot will display the new units. The new units will also appear on the analysis summary screen.

Selecting MTBF Calculation Options

Mean Time Between Failures (MTBF) is a simple statistic that characterizes the overall reliability of an piece of equipment or location or a set of equipment or locations. The MTBF trend analysis shows the MTBF for a selected set of equipment or locations over time. The MTBF metric is trended using a moving average. You can control the period that will be used to calculate the MTBF at every step.

To determine how the system will calculate MTBF trends:

1. On the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis summary page</u>, on the <u>Analysis Tasks menu</u>, click the **MTBF Calculation** link.

The **MTBF Calculation Options** dialog box appears. On this dialog box, you can specify the period over which the calculation of MTBF is performed.

MTBF Calculation Options				
MTBF Calculation Options				
MTBF Period Units	Years			
MTBF Period Length	1			
ОК	Cancel Help			

- 2. In the **MTBF Period Units** list, select a unit for the MTBF Period from the following options:
 - Years
 - Quarters
 - Months
 - Weeks
 - Days
 - Hours
- 3. To specify the length of the MTBF period, type a number or click the or buttons to populate the MTBF Period Length text box with the appropriate number. For example, if you selected Years in the MTBF Period Units field, the number you enter in the MTBF Period Length field will indicate the number of years that will be used to calculate MTBF.
- 4. Click OK.

When you view the analysis summary page, the MTBF is recalculated and displayed in the specified time period.

Total Cost Pareto

The Total Cost Pareto chart displays the Total Cost per the specified reporting period. The Lost Profit Opportunity (LPO) per the reporting period and Maintenance Cost per reporting period are shown. The Cost of Unreliability is an estimate of the total cost caused by element failures and system shutdowns. It includes the cost of maintenance to fix problems and the lost profit opportunity of the reduction in output. The analyzed production units are listed on the x-axis and the specified reporting period is shown on the y-axis.



While viewing this plot, you can:

- Pause on the LPO bar or the Maintenance Cost bar on the Cost plot to display a tool tip listing the corresponding cost value associated with that production unit.
- Click the **Show Plot Data** link on the <u>Plot Options menu</u> to view the underlying plot data on the <u>Plot Data page</u>.

Note: Change the reporting period by specifying the units of measurement.

Mean Time Between Failures Pareto

The MTBF Pareto plot displays the Mean Time Between Failures for each production unit. MTBF is the average time between failures for a production unit. The MTBF plot displays the units on the x-axis and the MTBF values are shown on the y-axis.

Mean Time Between Failures Pareto Chart						
# 🖻 🕯	◙ @.• 🖪 "∥. • 🤁 🖩 Ф 🕀 🖉 📾	#% 🗊 🗉	R ×			
	Mean Time Be	etween Failures	Pareto Chart			
8.40						
8.10 -						
7.80 -						
7.50 -						
7 20 -						
0.00						
0.50						
6.60 — ≶						
ළූ 6.30 ස්					MTBF	
₩ 6.00						
5.70 -						
5.40 -						
5 10 -						
4.90						
4.80 -						
4.50 -						
4.20 -		L				
	Motor	Unit	Motor 2			

Note: The higher the value of MTBF for an item, the more reliable the item is.

While viewing this plot, you can:

- Pause on a piece of equipment or location to view a tool tip displaying the MTBF value for that production unit.
- Click the **Show Plot Data** link on the <u>Plot Options menu</u> to view the **Plot Data** page for the MTBF plot.

Note: You can change the MTBF Units by specifying the units of measurement.

Mean Time To Repair Pareto

The MTTR Pareto plot displays the Mean Time to Repair for each production unit. MTTR is the time from when a production unit fails to when it is returned to productive service. The MTTR plot displays MTTR values on the x-axis and the units on the y-axis.



Note: The higher the value of MTTR, the more costly and more difficult it will be to conduct repairs.

While viewing this plot, you can:

- Pause on a piece of equipment or location to display a tool tip displaying the MTTR value for that production unit.
- <u>View the underlying plot data</u>, by clicking the **Show Plot Data** link on the <u>Plot</u> <u>**Options** menu</u>.

Note: You can change the MTTR Units by specifying the units of measurement.

Availability Pareto

The Availability Pareto plot displays the percentage of time that a production unit is up and running versus the Calendar time. Availability describes the past performance of equipment but not time in service or capacity; availability is not tied to production and profits. The production units are listed on the x-axis and the availability is shown on the y-axis.



Availability is a measure of equipment or unit up-time. You can use the Availability value to determine how much product can be produced in a given period, assuming 100% capacity is normally achieved.

While viewing this plot, you can:

- Pause on a unit to display a tool tip listing the availability of that production unit.
- Click the **Show Plot Data** link on the <u>Plot Options menu</u> to view the underlying plot data on the <u>Plot Data page</u>.

Note: Change the equipment or unit up-time by <u>specifying the units of measurement</u>.

Number of Failures Pareto

The Number of Failures Pareto chart lists the number of failures per year for each of the production units being analyzed within the analysis period. The units are listed on the x-axis and the number of failures are shown on the y-axis.



While viewing this plot, you can:

- View the number of failures for a production unit. To do so, pause ona unit to display a tool tip listing the availability of that production unit.
- Click the **Show Plot Data** link on the <u>Plot Options menu</u> to view the <u>Plot Data page</u> for the current chart.

Note: Change the reporting period by specifying the units of measurement.

Downtime Pareto

Downtime is the amount of time that an item if not available for use for any reason. While the Failures Plot displays the number of shutdowns, the Downtime Pareto plot displays the downtime for each production unit. The units are listed on the x-axis and the values for the downtime are shown on the y-axis.

		Downtime Pareto Char	t				
	🛎 🖻 🎒 📠 🔹 🔣 📲 🗣 🖓 🧭 🔛 🕼 🖏 🐺 🗊 匪 🚱 🚿						
	140.00	Dow	ntime Pareto C	Chart			
	140.00						
	130.00						
	120.00						
	110.00						
	100.00						
Year	90.00						
ays /	80.00						
ItimeD	70.00					Downtime	
Dow	60.00						
	50.00						
	40.00						
	30.00						
	20.00						
	0.00						
	0.00	Motor	Unit	Motor 2	_		

While viewing this plot, you can:

- Pause on a unit to display a tool tip listing the downtime for that production unit.
- Click the **Show Plot Data** link on the <u>Plot Options menu</u> to view the <u>Plot Data page</u> for the current chart.

Note: Change the downtime by <u>specifying the units of measurement</u>.

Generating and Viewing a Trend Plot

The Trend plot shows the selected metric as a function of time. Using the Trend Builder, you can choose to either show a global trend for all units or show trends for individual units. The trend frequency determines the duration between the measurements in the Trend plot.

To generate a MTBF trend analysis that shows the MTBF for a selected set of equipment or locations over time:

1. On the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis summary page</u>, on the **Plot** menu, click the **Trend** link.

Trend Builder - Introduction					
meridium	Welcome to the Cost of Unreliability Trend Builder				
	This builder will allow you to build a trend plot for any selected metrics supported by Meridium Cost of Unreliability. You can specify to show the metric for individual units or as an overall result.				
	Don't show this page again.				
To continue, click Next.					
< Back Next >	> Finish Cancel Help				

The **Trend Builder** appears, displaying the **Welcome** screen.

CEHint: Select the **Don't show this page again** check box to skip the Welcome screen in the future.

2. Click the **Next** button.

The **Plot Type** screen appears.



3. Select either the **Show a global trend for all Units** option or the **Show trends for individual Units** option, and click the **Next** button.

The Select Units screen appears.

Trend Builder - Step 3 of 4						
Select Units					i 🔥	
 ✓ Baseline-101 ✓ Asset-202 ✓ HX-123 						
< Back	Next >	F	Finish	Cancel	Help	

Note: The production units that are included in the analysis are listed on this screen.

- 4. Click a check box in front of a unit to select that unit. If you do not want to view the trends for a selected unit, clear the check box located in front of the unit.
- 5. Click the **Next** button.

The **Select Measures** screen appears. You may select up to two measures to illustrate in the Trend plot.

Trend Builder - Step 4 of 4		
Select Measures		B
Primary Measure		
Secondary Measure		
<pre>< Back Next ></pre>	Finish Cancel He	lp

6. In the **Primary Measure** list, select the desired measure.

The **Finish** button will become enabled after you make a selection. If you do not want to select a secondary measure, skip to step 9 of these instructions.

- 7. In the **Secondary Measure** list, select the desired secondary measure.
- 8. Click the **Finish** button.

The Trend plot appears. The trend values on the plot match the values that you define on the <u>Units of Measurement dialog box</u>. Trend dates appear on the x-axis.


Note: To view the underlying plot data on which a given plot is based, click the Show Plot Data link in the Plot Options menu.

Viewing Underlying Plot Data

The **Plot Data** page displays the numeric data on which a given plot is based. Depending on the chart type, the numeric data includes information such as the Unit, Cost, MTBF, MTTR, Availability, Number of Failures, and Downtime.

<u>CEHint: You can specify the units of measurement</u>, which includes the downtime.</u>

Overview of the Cost of Unreliability Report

The baseline Meridium APM database includes the Cost of Unreliability Report, which you can use to view a summary of the results of a Cost of Unreliability Analysis. When you run the Cost of Unreliability Report, it will appear on the **Report Viewer** page.

The Cost of Unreliability Report is built from the following Catalog items:

- The main report, *CostAnalysisReport*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\SSRS.
- The subreport, *AssetsubreportUnreliability*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The subreport, *FailuresubreportUnreliability*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.
- The supporting query that supplies data in the main report and subreports, *Unreliability Cost Query*, which is stored in the Catalog folder \\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports.

Throughout this documentation, we refer to the main report, the subreports, and the supporting query collectively as the *Cost of Unreliability Report*.

The Cost of Unreliability Report contains a prompt on the ENTY_KEY field in the Unreliability Cost family. When you run the Cost of Unreliability Report while viewing a Cost of Unreliability Analysis, the ENTY_KEY of the Unreliability Cost record associated with the current analysis is passed automatically to the prompt, and the results for the current Cost of Unreliability Analysis are displayed. If you run the main report (i.e., *CostAnalysisReport*) or the supporting query (i.e., *Unreliability Cost Query*) directly from the Catalog, however, you will need to supply the ENTY_KEY of an Unreliability Cost record manually to retrieve results. The subreports (i.e., Catalog items *AssetsubreportUnreliability* and *FailuresubreportUnreliability*) cannot be run directly from the Catalog.

The Cost of Unreliability Report contains the following sections:

- Analysis Summary
- Assets
- Failure Data
- Plots

Running the Cost of Unreliability Report

You can run the Cost of Unreliability report to view a summary of the results of a Cost of Unreliability Analysis.

To run the Cost of Unreliability Report:

1. While viewing the desired Cost of Unreliability Analysis on any page, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Generate Report** link.

The **Report Options** dialog box appears. The following image shows what the **Report Options** dialog box looks like by default.

Report Options			
Select Elements to Include in the Report			
Cover Page	Plots		
Analysis Summary	Cost		
✓ Assets	I▼ MTBF		
Failure Data	☐ MTTR		
	Availability		
	Failures		
	C Downtime		
	OK Cancel Help		

Select the desired elements to be included in the report, and click OK.
 The Cost of Unreliability Report appears on the **Report Viewer** page.

Confidential and Proprietary Information of Meridium, Inc. • Page 976 of 1195



Analysis Summary Section

The **Analysis Summary** section of the Cost of Unreliability Report displays information that exists in the Unreliability Cost record.

Analysis Summary	
Analysis Name:	CUC Analysis 44
Analysis Description:	
Analysis Start Date:	2/20/1990
Analysis End Date:	5/19/2001 12:37:00 PM
Number of Assets:	2
Number of Failures:	101
Maintenance Cost:	45,026.32 \$/Year
LPO:	227,848.17 \$/Year
Total Cost:	272,874.49 \$/Year
Availability:	85.90 %
MTBF:	40.85 Days
MTTR:	5.76 Days
Downtime:	51.51 Days/Year
Last Modified:	8/15/2012
Modified By:	Administrator, Meridium

The following table lists each item in the **Analysis Summary** section and the corresponding Unreliability Cost record field whose data is displayed in the report.

Report Item	Unreliability Cost Field(s)	Notes
Analysis Name	Analysis ID	None
Analysis Description	Short Description	None
Analysis Start	Analysis Start Date	None
Analysis End	Analysis End Date	None
Number of Assets	Units	None
Number of Failures	Number of Failures	None
Maintenance Cost	Maintenance Cost	None
	Currency	

Report Item	Unreliability Cost Field(s)	Notes	
LPO	LPO	None	
	Currency		
Total Cost	Currency	The value in the Total Cost field is the sum of the values in the Main- tenance Cost and LPO fields.	
Availability	Availability	None	
MTBF	MTBF	None	
MTTR	MTTR	None	
Downtime	Downtime	None	
Last Modified	LAST_UPDT_DT	None	
Modified By	LAST_UPBY_SEUS_KEY	The name of the Security User associated with this value is displayed in the report.	

Assets Section

The **Assets** section of the Cost of Unreliability Report displays values that are stored in the Failures field in the Unreliability Cost record.

Assets									
Asset ID	Installation Date	Last Replacement	Maintenance Cost	LPO	Total Cost	MTBF	MTTR	Downtime	Availability
PMP-5701	2/1/1990	5/18/2001	25,913.68	122,8 50.30	148,764.0 0	73.67	5.71	28.29	92.25
PMP-5705	2/1/1990	3/21/1998	19,112.64	104,9 97.80	124,110.5 0	91.68	5.83	23.22	93.64

The following values are displayed in the **Assets** section, and they are stored in the Failures field in the Unreliability Cost record:

- Asset ID
- Installation Date
- Last Replacement
- Maintenance Cost
- LPO
- Total Cost
- MTBF
- MTTR
- Downtime
- Availability

Failure Data Section

The **Failure Data** section of the Cost of Unreliability Report displays values that are stored in the Failures field in the Unreliability Cost record.

ASSECTD	Failure Date	Downtime	Maintenance	LPO	Ignore	Remarks
			Cost			
PMP-5701						
	2/20/1990	9.30	1,298.53	19,333.44	false	
	7/4/1990	1.10	4,946.25	34,307.17	false	
	8/27/1990	1.50	9,208.54	41,257.00	false	
	11/17/1990	3.90	9,166.38	45,513.14	false	
	2/17/1991	9.60	5,095.25	45,071.30	false	
	7/4/1991	9.20	2,536.57	5,826.96	false	
	8/14/1991	1.70	3,795.32	37,170.16	false	
	11/24/1991	1.20	5,985.70	8,669.03	false	
	4/8/1992	1.00	7,674.28	49,094.14	false	
	4/14/1992	9.20	1,206.83	14,111.13	false	
	5/24/1992	0.30	4,380.17	46,022.85	false	

The following values are displayed in the **Failure Data** section, and they are stored in the Failures field in the Unreliability Cost record:

- Asset ID
- Failure Date
- Downtime
- Maintenance Cost
- LPO
- Ignore
- Remarks

Plots Section

The **Plots** section of the Cost of Unreliability Report displays the graphs that are accessed via the **Plots** menu on the <u>Cost of Unreliability Analysis Summary page</u>. The following image shows an example of a Total Cost Pareto Chart graph.



The **Plots** section of the Cost of Unreliability Report displays the following graphs:

- Total Cost Pareto Chart
- Mean Time Between Failures Pareto Chart
- Mean Time To Repair Pareto Chart
- <u>Availability Pareto Chart</u>
- <u>Number of Failures Pareto Chart</u>
- Downtime Pareto Chart

Results of a Cost of Unreliability Analysis

The Cost of Unreliability Analysis works much like a Distribution or Growth Analysis. The analysis can be based on a query or dataset, or the data can be entered manually. After the analysis is built, it is stored in the database and displayed in a list of the existing Cost of Unreliability Analyses for further analysis. If data is brought into the Cost of Unreliability analysis from a query, then results are automatically updated with the new data that has entered the Meridium APM database since the document was originally constructed.

The results of the Cost of Unreliability Analysis appear on the summary page and include the following properties:

- Number of Units: The number of production units included in the analysis.
- Number of Failures: The number of failure events that occurred in the units being analyzed.
- Maintenance Cost: The maintenance cost due to failures.
- LPO: The profit that the company lost when the production failed in an oversold market. It represents the difference between the market price of the product and the cost of producing it.
- **Total Cost:** The total cost associated with the failure event (includes parts, labor, LPO, etc.). It may be calculated in a query or a field in the database.
- Availability: The percentage of the time that the unit is productive.
- MTBF: The Mean Time Between Failures for the units being analyzed.
- MTTR: The Mean Time to Repair, i.e., the average amount of time that it takes to restart the production unit(s) after a failure occurs.
- **Downtime:** The amount of time that an item is not available for any reason.

In addition to the results shown on the summary page, a Cost of Unreliability Analysis generates the following graphs, which show all the data in a dynamic format:

- Cost Pareto
- MTBF Pareto
- MTTR Pareto
- Failures Pareto
- Downtime Pareto

In addition a Trend Plot can be generated that shows the MTBF for a set of equipment or locations over time. You can view the underlying plot data by clicking the **Show Plot Data** link on the **Plot Options** menu while you are viewing a plot. The numeric results are presented in a grid.

Saving Changes to an Existing Analysis

You must save an analysis any time you make changes that you want to retain. The following instructions provide details on saving changes to an existing analysis. You can use these instructions on any page where you see the **Save Analysis** link enabled on the **Common Tasks** menu. These instructions assume that the analysis has already been saved when it was originally created.

To save changes to an existing analysis:

• On the Common Tasks menu, click the Save Analysis link.

Your changes are saved to the existing analysis.

Copying an Analysis

You can use the **Save Analysis As** option to save an existing analysis with a different name. This will create two copies of the analysis: one with the original name and one with the new name.

To copy an existing analysis and save it with a different name:

1. On the analysis summary page of the analysis you are currently viewing, on the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Analysis As** link.

Save Analysis As		×
Enter a Name and I	Description for your Production Analysis	
Analysis Name:	v3.3.0 Production Analysis from a dataset	
Analysis Description:		
	OK Cancel	Help

The**Save Analysis As** dialog box appears.

Note: When you access this dialog box from the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** page, it is called the **Save Analysis** dialog box. The features and functions, however, are the same as shown in the preceding image.

- 2. In the **Analysis Name** text box, type the name that you want to use for the analysis copy. The name is required and must be unique for the type of analysis you are saving.
- 3. If desired, in the Analysis Description text box, type a description of the analysis.
- 4. Click **OK**.

The Meridium APM system creates a copy of the analysis and returns you to the page from which you initiated the Save As operation.

Renaming an Analysis

You can change the name of an analysis via the **Rename Analysis** dialog box. You can access this dialog box:

• By clicking the **Rename** link on the Analysis Tasks menu on the <u>Reliability Growth</u> <u>Analysis page</u>, the <u>Probability Distribution Results page</u>, and the <u>Cost of Unre-</u> <u>liability Analysis page</u>.

-or-

• By clicking the **Rename Analysis** link on the **Production Analysis** page.

To rename an analysis:

1. On the appropriate page and task menu, click the **Rename** or **Rename Analysis** link.

The Rename Analysis dialog box appears.

Rename Analysis	2
Enter a Name and [escription for your Production Analysis
Analysis Name:	
Analysis Description:	
	2
	Rename Cancel Help

- 2. In the Analysis Name text box, type a new name for the analysis.
- 3. If desired, in the **Analysis Description** text box, type a new description for the analysis.
- 4. Click the **Rename** button.

The analysis name is updated in any appropriate sections on the summary page and in the site map to reflect the change. In addition, the Description field in any appropriate sections will reflect any changes.

5. Click the **Save** link on the appropriate task menu to save the changes to the analysis name.

Note: While your changes appear as soon as you close the **Rename** dialog box, the new name is not actually saved until you <u>save the analysis</u>.

Setting the Confidence Level for an Analysis

For <u>Reliability Growth</u>, <u>Reliability Distribution</u>, and <u>Probability Distribution</u> Analyses, the confidence level specifies how the optimistic and realistic scenarios will be selected in a Monte Carlo Simulation. The confidence level will be checked against the number of iterations to ensure that the confidence limits are statistically significant. The default Confidence Level for an analysis is 90 percent.

Note: Confidence is not calculated for TTR distributions.

The following instructions provide details on setting the confidence level for these analysis types. Note that you can also <u>define the level of confidence for System Reliability</u> <u>Analyses</u>, but these instructions do not apply to that analysis type.

To set the confidence level for an analysis:

1. On the summary page of the analysis you are currently viewing, click the **Con-fidence Level** link on the appropriate task menu.

CE Hint: The **Confidence Level** link is located on the **Current Analysis**, **Analysis Tasks**, or **Distribution Options** task menu, depending upon the type of analysis you are viewing.

The **Confidence Level** dialog box appears.

Sonfidence Level	
Select to use Confidence and set the desi	red Level
☑ Use Confidence	Confidence Level 90 %
	OK Cancel Help

- 2. Select the **Use Confidence** check box to activate the Confidence Level and enable the Confidence Level field.
- 3. In the Confidence Level field, enter a numeric value between zero (0) and 100 to represent the desired Confidence Level.
- 4. Click **OK**.

The Meridium APM system calculates the confidence intervals for the analysis based on the percentage you entered in the Confidence Level field.

Changing the Distribution Type

When you create a Reliability Distribution Analysis or a Probability Distribution Analysis, the distribution type is set to Weibull by default. After the analysis is created, you can change the distribution type, if desired.

You can change the fit method via the **Distribution Type** dialog box. You can access this dialog box:

 For a Reliability Distribution Analysis by clicking the Distribution Type link on the Analysis Tasks menu on the <u>Time To Failure Distribution page</u> or the <u>Time to</u> <u>Repair Distribution page</u>.

-or-

• For a Probability Distribution Analysis by clicking the **Distribution Type** link on the **Distribution Options** menu on the **Probability Distribution Results** page.

To change the distribution type:

1. On the appropriate page and task menu, click the **Distribution Type** link.

The **Distribution Type** dialog box appears.

🍄 Distribution Type 🛛 🔀
Select a Distribution Type
○ Auto (Selection Based on Goodness of Fit)
⊖ Normal
OK Cancel Help

2. On the **Distribution Type** dialog box, select: **Auto**, **Weibull**, **Normal**, **LogNormal**, or **Exponential**.

E Hint: Select **Auto** if you want the Meridium APM system to select the appropriate distribution type based on the results of the Goodness of Fit test.

3. Click OK.

The analysis is recalculated based on the selected distribution type.

Modifying the Fit Method

The <u>Kolmogorov-Smirnov test</u> is a Goodness of Fit (GOF) test applied to Reliability Distribution and Probability Distribution Analyses to determine how well the data fits the analytical curve. When you create an analysis, the fit method is set to Least Squares by default. After you have created an analysis, you can modify the fit method using the instructions in this topic.

The method of fit for a Distribution Analysis can be:

- Least Squares: A curve-fitting estimation method that relies on linear regression techniques to estimate the parameters for the distribution.
- Maximum Likelihood Estimators: A curve-fitting estimation method that maximizes the likelihood function for a given population. This method includes a survivor function that estimates changes in reliability as the piece of equipment or location survives beyond a certain age.

To modify the fit method:

1. On the analysis summary page of the analysis you are currently viewing, click the **Fit Method** link on the appropriate task menu.

CE Hint: The **Fit Method** link is located on the **Analysis Tasks** or **Distribution Options** task menu, depending upon the type of Distribution Analysis you are viewing.

The Fit Method dialog box appears.

🍄 Fit Method	
Choose a fitting me	ethod
 O Least Squares O Maximum Likelihood 	
	OK Cancel Help

- 2. On the **Fit Method** dialog box, select the **Least Squares** or **Maximum Likelihood** option.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The analysis is recalculated based on the selected fit method.

Changing the Distribution Parameters

In Reliability Distribution Analyses and Probability Distribution Analyses, the parameters of the distribution are defined on the **Distribution Parameters** dialog box.

Distribution	Parameters	
Beta	0.862912822081257	☑ Calculate
Eta	149.913580848633	🔽 Calculate
Gamma	0	Calculate
	ОК Са	ancel Help

You have the option of specifying that these values should be calculated automatically or manually specifying values for the Beta, Eta, and Gamma parameters. On the **Distribution Parameters** dialog box, the **Calculate** check box is selected for any parameter that has been calculated by the system. By clearing the **Calculate** check box, you can enable the corresponding parameter text box and enter a different value.

You can access the **Distribution Parameters** dialog box:

 For Reliability Distribution Analyses by clicking the Change link in the Distribution Parameters section of the <u>Time To Failure Distribution page</u> or the <u>Time to Repair</u> <u>Distribution page</u>.

-or-

• For Probability Distribution Analyses by clicking the **Parameters** link on the **Distribution Options** menu on the **Probability Distribution Results** page.

To modify the distribution parameters:

1. Click the appropriate link on the appropriate page.

The **Distribution Parameters** dialog box appears.

Distribution	Parameters	×
Beta	0.862912822081257	🖌 Calculate
Eta	149.913580848633	Calculate
Gamma	0	Calculate
	OK Ca	ncel Help

2. Clear the **Calculate** check box next to the parameter(s) whose value you want to modify.

The parameter field(s) are enabled.

- 3. Type the desired value for the parameter.
- 4. Click **OK**.

Note: If you reselect the **Calculate** check box after manually entering data and then click **OK**, the manually entered data for the parameter will not be retained. If you decide not to use the parameters you entered, click **Cancel**, and the previous selection will be used in the calculations.

The system recalculates the analysis based on the selected distribution parameter.

Modifying the Analysis Period

In <u>Reliability Growth</u>, <u>Reliability Distribution</u>, and <u>Unreliability Cost</u> Analyses, the analysis period specifies the date range over which an analysis occurs. The start date specifies the first date of the analysis and the end date specifies the last date of the analysis. The default analysis period has a start date equal to the first failure date and an end date equal to the current date. When the default analysis period is used, each time you open an analysis, the end date is updated to the current date. You can adjust the analysis period to focus the analysis on a specific period of time.

The following instructions provide details on modifying the analysis period in these analysis types. Note that you can also <u>modify the analysis period for a Spares Analysis</u>, but these instructions do not apply to that analysis type.

To modify the current analysis period:

1. On the summary page of the analysis you are currently viewing, click the **Analysis Period** link on the appropriate task menu.

EHint: TheAnalysis Period link is located on theAnalysis Tasks or the Current Analysis task menu, depending upon the type of analysis you are viewing.

The	Ana	lysis	Perio	od o	lia	log	box	appears.	

lanalysis Period								
What is the time period that is c	covered by this analysis?							
Start Date End Date								
I want to use the first failure date as the start date for this analysis.	\overline{ullet} I want to use today's date as the end date for this analysis.							
3/9/1990	2/4/2011							
	OK Cancel Help							

2. Clear the Start Date check box, and then type or select the desired date.

Note: To ensure that all failure dates appear on the plots, make sure the start date is *before* the date associated with the first datapoint. Only failures that occur *after* the start date will appear on the plots.

- 3. Clear the End Date check box, and then type or select the desired date.
- 4. Click **OK**.

The Meridium APM system saves the analysis period and recalculates the analysis using the selected dates.

Note: If you want to change the analysis period back to the default analysis period, select the **Start Date** and **End Date** check boxes.

Choosing the Time Units for an Analysis

For <u>Reliability Growth</u> and <u>Reliability Distribution</u> Analyses, the time units are used for expressing time values for calculations performed within the analysis. For example, a calculation may indicate the amount of time that elapsed between a failure event and the end date of the analysis period. This value would be expressed in the Time Units for the analysis.

Your Time Units selection will depend on what type of data you are using and what type of analysis you are performing. For example, in an analysis that shows the distribution of failures for a number of equipment or locations over many years, *years* might be an appropriate unit of time. For an analysis designed to evaluate failures for a single piece of equipment or location within a very specific time period, a smaller unit of time would be appropriate. For this reason, you have the option of choosing the Time Units that are most appropriate for a given analysis.

Note: Downtime for TTF calculations should always be provided using days. When the failure data contains downtime, the system selects **Days** by default.

The following instructions provide details on modifying the time units for a Reliability Growth or Reliability Distribution Analysis. Note that you can also <u>modify the time units</u> for a System Reliability Analysis, but these instructions do not apply to that analysis type.

To change the time units for an analysis:

1. On the **Reliability Growth Analysis** page, on the **Current Analysis** menu, click the **Time Units** link.

-or-

On the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, click the **Time Units** link.

🍄 Time Units		
Select Time Units fo	r Analysis Results	
Operating Time Units	Days	<u> </u>
Downtime Units	Days	×
		OK Cancel Help

The **Time Units** dialog box appears.

- 2. On the **Time Units** dialog box, in the **Operating Time Units** list, select **Days**, **Years**, **Quarters**, **Months**, **Weeks**, or **Hours**.
- 3. In the **Downtime Units** list, select **Days**, **Years**, **Quarters**, **Months**, **Weeks**, or **Hours**.
- 4. Click OK.

The Meridium APM system automatically recalculates the analysis based on the new time units and displays the new units on the plot pages and the summary page.

Modifying Analysis Data via the Failure Data Window

You can use the **<Measurement> Data** window to modify the data in any enabled field. This allows you to correct errors in the data or adjust data as needed. Note that only certain fields in the **<Measurement> Data** window can be modified. Fields that contain calculations by the Meridium APM system are disabled.

2	Failures Data									
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Date	Time (Da	Downtim	Failures	Ignore	Remarks	Cumulati	Segment
IL,	view	000000000	9/2/1992	0	0	1	Ignore V	remana	0	
F	view	000000000	2/26/1995	0	0	1	Image: A state of the state		0	
ŀ	view	000000000	7/20/1998	0	0	1			0	
ŀ	view	000000000	12/14/1998	147	0	1			147	
ľ	view	000000000	2/7/1999	202	0	1			202	
ľ	<u>view</u>	00000000	6/26/1999	341	0	1			341	
ľ	view	000000000	8/1/1999	376.7	0	1			376.7	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	9/5/1999	411.8	0	1			411.8	
ľ	<u>view</u>	000000000	1/1/2001	895.8	0	1			895.8	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/2/2001	896.6	0	1			896.6	
	view	000000000	2/7/2002	1297.6	0	1			1297.6	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	7/11/2002	1451.9	0	1			1451.9	
	view	000000000	12/10/2002	1603.6	0	1			1603.6	
	<u>view</u>	000000000	5/12/2003	1756.6	0	1			1756.6	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	7/2/2003	1807.6	0	1			1807.6	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	11/28/2005	2687.6	0	1			2687.6	
	<u>view</u>	00000000	1/30/2006	2750.6	0	1			2750.6	
*	view	(none)								
	OK Cancel Help									

When you modify data and click **OK**, the analysis will be updated to reflect any changes that you made.

- For an analysis that is based upon manually entered data, the changes that you make via the **<Measurement> Data** window will be saved for the analysis.
- For an analysis that is based upon a query or a dataset, the query or dataset will not be modified with the updated data. Additionally, any record returned by the query will not be updated with your changes. The changes will be saved to the analysis *only*.

After you modify the data and save the analysis, the modified data will appear each time you open the analysis. If you want to revert to the original data, you can <u>reload the</u>

original data to the analysis. In addition, if a query or dataset has changed in the database, you can reload the data in order for your analysis to contain those changes.

Reloading Analysis Data

When you create and save analyses that are based on a query or dataset, the Meridium APM system takes a snapshot of the data that exists at the time of creation and saves it along with the analysis. When you open an existing analysis, the Meridium APM system loads the data that was last saved with the analysis. This means that any changes to the underlying query or dataset will not be reflected automatically when you open an existing analysis.

Note: If the query or dataset has been deleted or renamed, when you try to open an associated analysis, an error message will be displayed, and the data will not be refreshed.

If you want to refresh an analysis based upon changes to the underlying query or dataset or to load new data that has been added since the analysis was last saved (e.g., the analysis is based on a query that retrieves failures for a piece of equipment or location, and a new failure record has been added to the database), you will need to reload the analysis manually after opening it.

The instructions in this topic provide details on reloading a reliability analysis. This feature is available for the following analyses types:

- Production Analyses.
- <u>Reliability Growth Analyses</u>.
- Reliability Distribution Analyses.
- Production Analyses.
- Probability Distribution Analyses.
- Cost of Unreliability Analyses.

Note: Reloading analysis data resets the analysis period only if it is based on the analysis data. Start Dates and End Dates that have been set explicitly will not be overwritten.

To reload an analysis to display the most recent data:

1. On the summary page of the analysis you are current viewing, click the **Reload Data** link.

E Hint: The Reload Data link is located on the Analysis Tasks or Current Analysis task menu, depending upon the type of analysis you are viewing.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you want to overwrite the current data with the data stored in the database.

2. Click OK.

The analysis is updated to reflect the data currently stored in the query or dataset.

Note: If you are reloading analysis data that is based on a query and an index out of range error message appears, there is an error in the query. You should modify the query or recreate the analysis in order to reload the correct data.

Generating a Report for an Analysis

By generating a report for an analysis, you are converting the analysis into a format that can be printed. When you generate a report for an analysis, you will be given various options for what you can include in the report, such as a cover page and specific information about the analysis. The selections will vary, depending upon which analysis you are printing. Likewise, the selections you make will depend upon your printing needs.

The following instructions provide details on generating reports for the following analysis types:

- Production Analysis.
- Reliability Growth Analysis.
- Reliability Distribution Analysis.
- Probability Distribution Analysis.
- Cost of Unreliability Analysis.

The steps for <u>creating a report in a System Reliability Analysis</u> or a <u>Spares Analysis</u> differ from the steps to create a report in other analyses.

Note: Before you can generate a report for an analysis, you must save it to the database.

To generate a report for an analysis:

1. On the analysis summary page of the analysis you are currently viewing, click the **Generate Report** link.

EHint: The Generate Report link is located on the Analysis Tasks or Current Analysis task menu, depending upon the type of analysis you are viewing.

The **Report Options** dialog box appears.

Select Elements to Include in the Report								
 Cover Page Analysis Summary Growth Model Segments Assets Failures Data 	ots ITBF ailures ailures Rate							

The specific options that you see on the **Report Options** dialog box will vary, depending on which type of analysis you are printing.

- 2. Select the check boxes next to the items that you want to include in the report. Note that some options are selected by default. You can clear the check box for any item that you do not want to include the report.
- 3. Click **OK**.

The report appears on the Report Viewer page.

About Publishing and Unpublishing Analyses

Reliability analyses contain a field that lets you flag each analysis as either *published* or *unpublished*. If the **Published** flag is selected, the analysis is considered to be *published*. If the **Published** flag is not selected, the analysis is considered to be *unpublished*. The **Published** flag is meant to indicate to other users the state of a given analysis. New analyses are unpublished by default.

The **Published** flag is provided to let you customize the analysis list to display only published analyses, only unpublished analyses, or both. Each of the default analysis list queries (<u>Probability Distribution</u>, <u>Reliability Distribution</u>, <u>Reliability Growth</u>, <u>Systems Reliability</u>, <u>Unreliability Cost</u>, and <u>Spares</u>) contains a **Published Analyses** prompt, which lets you filter the analysis list on the value of the **Published** flag in each analysis.

Note: The baseline analysis list queries are stored in the Meridium APM Catalog in the following folder: Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses. While they are configured by default to contain the **Published Analyses** prompt, you can customize the queries to meet the specific needs of your implementation.

After you run the analysis list query and display the desired results in the analysis list, you can publish or unpublish any analysis from the following pages:

- Select a Growth Analysis from the Listpage.
- Select a Distribution Analysis from the Listpage.
- **Probability Distribution List**page.
- Select a System Reliability Analysis from the Listpage.
- Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page.
- Select a Spares Analysis from the List page.

Note that the **Published** flag is not available on the analysis summary page, only the analysis list page. You can also modify the value of this flag by opening the analysis record in Record Manager and modifying the value in the **Published** field of the record.

Note: There are no baseline permissions or recommended workflows that determine who can publish and unpublish analyses or that define when analyses should be published or unpublished. By default, any user can publish or unpublish any analysis at any time.

Publishing Analyses

To publish an analysis that is currently unpublished:

1. On the appropriate analysis list page, in the list of analyses, select one or more unpublished analyses that you want to publish.

Note: The **Common Tasks** link will appear as **Publish Analyses** only when you select an unpublished analysis. Otherwise, the link will appears as **Unpublish Analyses**. If you select a combination of published and unpublished analyses, the name of the link will be appropriate for the *last* analysis in the list. Clicking the link will perform that action for ALL the analyses. Therefore, to publish all analyses, you should select only unpublished analyses.

2. On the Common Tasks menu, click the Publish Analyses link.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to publish the selected analysis.

3. Click the **Yes** button.

The analysis is published.

Note: If you selected multiple analyses, a confirmation message appears for each analysis. Respond to the confirmation messages, as desired, until all the analyses have been published.

Unpublishing Analyses

To unpublish an analysis that is currently published:

1. On the appropriate analysis list page, in the list of analyses, select one or more analyses that you want to publish.

Note: The **Common Tasks** link will appear as **Unpublish Analyses** only when you select a published analysis. Otherwise, the link will appears as **Publish Analyses**. If you select a combination of published and unpublished analyses, the name of the link will be appropriate for the *last* analysis in the list. Clicking the link will perform that action for ALL the analyses. Therefore, to unpublish all analyses, you should select only published analyses.

2. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Unpublish Analyses** link.

A confirmation message appears, asking if you really want to unpublish the selected analysis.

3. Click the **Yes** button.

The analysis is unpublished.

Note: If you selected multiple analyses, a confirmation message appears for each analysis. Respond to the confirmation messages, as desired, until all the analyses have been unpublished.

Customizing the Display of Plots

You can customize the graph properties in the following ways:

- **Displaying logarithmic scales**. This is especially helpful for the y-axis of the Failure Rate plot, where very small values cannot be shown beside much larger values. Note that the **Probability** plot has a special built-in scaling and should not be changed under normal circumstances.
- Zooming in on a plot area.
- **Resetting the plot display**. If you change any setting on a plot, all user-defined settings will be saved with the analysis. Note that if labels and scaling are modified, they will no longer be dynamic. If you reset the plot display, you delete all user-defined settings and revert to the original chart configuration.

Note: Resetting the plot is a specific feature of Reliability Analytics and is not common to standard Meridium APM graphs.

To reset the display of the plot while you are viewing it:

• Right-click the background of the plot, and select the **Reset Chart Format** option from the shortcut menu.

The system applies the default settings to the plot.

Working with Data Censoring in Analyses

<u>Reliability Distribution</u> and <u>Probability Distribution Analyses</u> support the functionality of right-censoring, which accounts for the period of time from the last failure date to the analysis end date. You can censor datapoints in a Distribution Analysis to update the Time To Failure (TTF) values to exclude it as a failure but include the operating time of the piece of equipment or location.

For example, part of a piece of equipment could need replacing for maintenance reasons that are represented in your analysis by a datapoint. You can censor that datapoint since you do not know when the piece of equipment *would have failed* if this replacement had not occurred, but you still want to take into account the time that the piece of equipment did operate for calculation purposes.

When you censor datapoints on an analysis, the graph will shift up or down to account for the updated TTF values.

To censor datapoints in a Distribution analysis:

- For a Reliability Distribution or Probability Distribution Analysis, while viewing one of the following plots, right-click the desired datapoints and select **Censored**.
 - Probability Plot.
 - Failure Rate Plot.
 - Probability Density Function Plot.
 - Cumulative Density Function Plot.

-or-

• For a Distribution Analysis, on <u>the Failure Data window</u>, select the Censored check box for the desired datapoints.

0	🗞 Failure Data									
Fa	Failures ASSetS									
	Datasheet	Asset ID	Failure D	TTF	Downtime	Ignore	Remarks	Censored	(Taxono	(Maintai
Þ	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	2/25/2001	0	126			✓	Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	5/18/2001	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/19/2001	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	9/3/2001	0	216	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	view	G0014-037	1/3/2002	0	54	~			Centrifugal	SEALS - RO
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	4/16/2002	0	456	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
	view	G0014-037	7/7/2002	0	0	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - ME
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	8/1/2002	0	40.8	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	view	G0014-037	1/21/2003	689.45	20.4				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	3/21/2003	0	270	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	view	G0014-037	6/3/2003	0	244.8	~			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	7/27/2003	0	285.6	✓			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/29/2003	0	72	~			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	11/11/2004	659.05	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	2/26/2005	0	144	 Image: A start of the start of			Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	10/5/2006	679	168				Centrifugal	SEALS - CA
	view	G0014-037	10/11/2007	0	162	~			Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
	<u>view</u>	G0014-037	1/25/2009	836	336				Centrifugal	SEALS - FU
*	<u>view</u>	(none)								
	OK Cancel Help									

Additionally, when you first create a Reliability Distribution Analysis, an automatically censored datapoint for each defined piece of equipment or location will appear on the plot. Each automatically censored datapoint represents the analysis End Date (specified in the <u>Analysis Period dialog box</u>) for each defined piece of equipment or location.

Note: Probability Distribution Analyses do not use automatically censored datapoints.

For example, if the analysis contains three defined pieces of equipment, then three automatically censored datapoints will appear in each plot of a Reliability Distribution Analysis. If you change the analysis End Date (specified in the <u>Analysis Period dialog box</u>), then the plots will shift up or down to accommodate the updated analysis End Date and TTF values.

Note: Although automatically censored datapoints appear on the plots, they do not appear in the <u>Failure Data grid</u> and, therefore, cannot be uncensored.

When you pause on an automatically censored datapoint, the following information will appear:

- Auto-Censored
- Name: Specified on the Asset tab of the Failure Data grid.
- Installation Date: Specified on the Asset tab of the Failure Data grid.
- **TTF value:** Represents the time between the last failure date and the analysis End Date.

About Reliability Recommendations

When you perform an analysis in Reliability Analytics, you may determine that certain actions should be taken as a result of the analysis. For example, if the results of an analysis suggest that a piece of equipment is likely to fail soon, you may want to recommend that the piece of equipment be replaced.

These recommendations can be recorded in a Reliability Recommendation record and linked to the analysis. After Reliability Recommendation records have been created for an analysis, you will be able to <u>access the list of Recommendation records</u> associated with that analysis. From the list of Recommendation records, you can view the details of each Recommendation record.
Accessing the Recommendations Page

The <u>Recommendations page</u> serves as the starting point for accessing Recommendations functionality for a Reliability Analytics analysis. From the **Recommendations** page, you can view a summary of the existing Reliability Recommendation records, <u>create new Reliability Recommendation records</u>, and <u>access the details of any</u> <u>Reliability Recommendation record</u>.

To access the Recommendations page in Reliability Analytics:

• On the analysis summary page of the analysis you are currently viewing, click the **View Recommendations** link on the appropriate task menu.

CE Hint: The **View Recommendations** link is located on the **Current Analysis** or **Analysis Tasks** menu, depending on which type of analysis you are viewing.

-or-

On any page of a System Reliability Analysis that has been saved, click the **Recom**mendations link on the <u>Tools menu</u>.

The **Recommendations** page appears.



Aspects of the Recommendations Page

The **Recommendations** page displays a list of Reliability Recommendation records that are linked to a given Reliability Analytics analysis. The main display area contains a grid, which displays the list of Reliability Recommendation records.

Sit	Site Map: <u>Reliability->System_Reliability->SubSystem->Recommendations</u>						
	Recommendations						
D	rag a column header here to	o group by that column					
	Recommendation ID Δ	Recommendation Headline	Assigned To	Target Completion Date	Implemented Date		
►	Recommendation 1			5/15/2010			
	Recommendation 2			5/11/2010			
	Recommendation 3			5/10/2010	5/12/2010		
	Recommendation 4			5/29/2010			

By default, the grid contains the following columns of information:

- Recommendation ID
- Recommendation Headline
- Assigned To
- Target Completion Date
- Implemented Date

If desired, you can use the standard grid-customization featureto modify the appearance of the default display.

Each row in the list is color coded to indicate the status of the Reliability Recommendation record.

- **No color:** Indicates that the Reliability Recommendation record does not meet any of the following conditions.
- **Red:** Indicates that the Reliability Recommendation record is overdue. Recommendations are colored red when the Target Completion Date is on or before the current date.
- Yellow: Indicates that the Reliability Recommendation record is due in two weeks or less. Recommendations are colored yellow when the Target Completion Date is within 14 days of the current date.
- Green: Indicates that the Reliability Recommendation record has been completed.

About the Task Menus on the Recommendations Page

The <u>Common Tasks menu</u> on the **Recommendations** page offers options that are specific to the list of Reliability Recommendation records. The **Common Tasks** menu is always available on the **Recommendations** page and always contains the same options, regardless of the analysis type.

Common Tasks 🛛 😵			
1	陷 New Recommendation		
Þ	Open Recommendat		
Save Recommendation			
×	🗙 🛛 Delete Recommenda		
=2	Send To >>		
0	Help		

For the following analyses, the **Common Tasks** menu is the *only* task menu that appears on the **Recommendations** page:

- Production.
- Spares.
- System Reliability.

For the following analyses, the task menus that appear on the **Recommendations** page are specific to that type of analysis you are viewing, and their options are similar to those on the analysis summary page:

- Reliability Growth.
- Reliability Distribution.
- Probability Distribution.
- Unreliability Cost.

For example, if you are viewing the **Recommendations** page for a Reliability Distribution Analysis record, four task menus will be available: **Plots**, **Tools**, **Analysis Tasks**, and **Common Tasks**. The <u>Plots</u>, <u>Tools</u>, and <u>Analysis Tasks</u> menus are specific to the Reliability Distribution analysis and contain most of the same options that are available on the <u>Reliability Distribution Summary page</u>.

Note: When you are viewing a Reliability Recommendation record, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, the **View Summary** link appears in place of the **View Recommendations** link, which appears when you are viewing the analysis summary. Clicking this link will display the analysis summary for the current analysis.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **Recommendations** page contains the following links:

- New Recommendation: Displays the Recommendation Details page, displaying a <u>new Reliability Recommendation record</u>. You can enter details for the record and then save it to the database.
- **Open Recommendation:** Opens the selected Reliability Recommendation record on the <u>Recommendation Details page</u>.
- Save Recommendation: This link is always disabled on the <u>Recommendations</u> <u>page</u>.
- **Delete Recommendation:** After asking for confirmation, deletes the selected Reliability Recommendation record(s).
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the Recommendations page.

Aspects of the Recommendation Details Page

The **Recommendation Details** page displays the details of a Reliability Recommendation record. The main display area contains the Reliability Recommendation datasheet, which contains the **General Information** and **Alerts** tabs by default. You can use the fields in the datasheet to record information associated with the Reliability Recommendation record.

🍄 Meridium APM Framework - Recommendation Details					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
😵 Back 🔹 🚿 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻 🎽 New 🔎 Search 📁 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🖬 Report 🗝 🕅 Graph 🗸 🧔 Dataset 🕶 Dashboard 🗸					
s s	Site Man: Reliability->Spares Analysis->Oil Pump Analysis->Recommendations->REC-21				
meridium	All states				
incriaian					
Spares Analysis Edit Recommendation					
Common Tasks 🛛 😽	2 mm 2				
New Deserve dation	Datasheet Reliability Recommendation	n 🔽 🔞 🚽 🙀 🗙 🛍 🍇 🕓 🗒			
	General Information Alert				
View Recommendat		(Value(c)			
Save Recommendation	Recommendation ID	REC-21			
X Delete Recommenda	Recommendation Headline	Increase Holding Level			
ED Send To >>	Recommendation Description	Increase Holding Level from 1 to 2			
🕜 Help	Recommendation Basis	Spares Analysis			
	Analysis ID	Oil Pump Analysis			
	Required Equipment Status				
	Business Impact				
	Target Completion Date	8/28/2009 12:00:00 AM			
	Mandatory Date				
	Recommendation Priority	High (HIGH)			
	Status	Created (CREATED)			
	Author Name	Demo, Joe Demo			
	Reviewer Name				
	Assigned To Name	Implementer, Implementer			
	Final Approver Name				
	Implemented Date				
	Equipment ID	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	Technical Number				
	Functional Location ID	··· ·			

A toolbar appears above the datasheet and contains buttons that let you perform tasks associated with currently displayed Reliability Recommendation record. The following buttons are available:

Displays a blank datasheet on the **Recommendation Details** page so that you can

create a new Reliability Recommendation record. If you have not yet saved the change to the current record, the system first displays a message, asking if you want to save your changes.

Saves the currently displayed Reliability Recommendation record.

Saves the currently displayed Reliability Recommendation record and then immediately displays a blank datasheet on the **Recommendation Details** page so that you can create a new Reliability Recommendation record.

× After asking for confirmation, deletes the Reliability Recommendation record that is currently displayed.

Copies the information from the currently displayed record and displays it in a new record so that you can create a new Reliability Recommendation record based on an existing record.

Displays the **Preview** window, which shows a preview of how the Reliability Recommendation record will be printed. From the **Preview** window, you can print the record details.

Displays the **Reference Documents** window, where you can view, edit, and create reference documents for the current record. This button is enabled only if the Reliability Recommendation family is related to the Reference Document family through the Has Reference Documents relationship.

B Displays **Field Change History** dialog box, which shows the change log for all the fields for which history is set to be kept.

About the Task Menus on the Recommendation Details Page

The <u>Common Tasks menu</u> on the **Recommendation Details** page offers options that are specific to the Reliability Recommendation record you are viewing. The **Common Tasks** menu is always available on the **Recommendation Details** page and always contains the same options, regardless of the analysis type.

Common Tasks 🛛 😵				
1	New Recommendation			
٫٫,	View Recommendati			
	Save Recommendation			
×	Delete Recommenda			
=0	Send To >>			
0	Help			

The same task menus that are available for each analysis on the Recommendations page are available on the **Recommendation Details** page. They are specific to that type of analysis you are viewing and their options are similar to those on the analysis summary page.

For example, if you are viewing the **Recommendation Details** page for a Reliability Recommendation record that is linked to a Reliability Distribution Analysis record, four task menus will be available: **Plots, Tools, Analysis Tasks**, and **Common Tasks**. The <u>Plots</u>, <u>Tools</u>, and <u>Analysis Tasks</u> menus are specific to the Reliability Distribution analysis and contain most of the same options that are available on the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page.

Note: When you are viewing a Reliability Recommendation record, on the **Analysis Tasks** menu, the **View Summary** link appears in place of the **View Recommendations** link, which appears when you are viewing the analysis summary. Clicking this link will display the analysis summary for the analysis to which the current Reliability Recommendation record is linked.

Common Tasks Menu



The **Common Tasks** menu on the **<u>Recommendation Details page</u>** contains the following links:

- New Recommendation: Displays a blank datasheet on the Recommendation Details page. You can enter details for the record and then save it to the database by clicking the Save Recommendation link.
- View Recommendations: Takes you to the <u>Recommendations page</u>, which displays a list of all the Reliability Recommendation records that are linked to the current analysis.
- Save Recommendation: Saves the Reliability Recommendation record that you are currently viewing.
- **Delete Recommendation:** After asking for confirmation, deletes the currently displayed Recommendation record and then displays the **Recommendations** page.
- Send To: Displays a submenu with options that let you provide a link to the current page on your desktop (create shortcut), in an email message, or on a Home Page.
- Help: Displays the context-sensitive Help topic for the **Recommendations Details** page.

Creating a New Reliability Recommendation Record

You can create a new Reliability Recommendation record either from the <u>Recom-</u> <u>mendations page</u> or the <u>Recommendation Details page</u>. Note that when you create a new Reliability Recommendation record, it will be linked automatically to the Reliability Analytics analysis for which it is created.

To create a new Reliability Recommendation record:

1. On the **Recommendations** or **Recommendation Details** page, on the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **New Recommendation** link.

The **Recommendation Details** page appears, displaying a blank Reliability Recommendation datasheet.

See Meridium APM Framework - Recommendation Details					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
😤 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 🔹 🎽 New 🔑 Search 🚞 Catalog 🔞 Query 🛛 🛅 Report 🗸 🕼 Graph 🗸 🧐 Dataset 🕶 Dashboard 🗸					
Spares Analysis	SiteMap: <u>Reliability</u> -> <u>Spares Analysis</u> -> <u>Oil Pump Analysis</u> -> <u>Recommendations</u> -> <u>REC-843</u> Edit Recommendation				
New Recommendation	Datasheet Reliability Recommendation				
🗩 View Recommendati	General Information Alert				
Save Recommendation	Value(s)	^			
X Delete Recommenda	Recommendation ID REC-843				
≡@ Send To >>	Recommendation Headline				
😢 Help	Recommendation Besig				
-	Analysis TD Oil Pump Analysis				
	Required Equipment Status				
	Business Impact				
	Target Completion Date	=			
	Mandatory Date				
	Recommendation Priority				
	Status Created (CREATED)				
	Author Name Administrator, Meridium MIADMIN				
	Reviewer Name				
	Assigned To Name				
	Final Approver Name				
	Implemented Date				
	Equipment ID	•••			
	Technical Number				
	Functional Location ID	··· ▼			

- 2. On the General Information tab, enter values into any editable field.
- 3. If you want to notify the person responsible for completing the recommended action, click the **Alert** tab, and enter values as desired.
- 4. When you have finished defining all the properties of the Reliability

Recommendation record, on the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Save Recommendation** link.

The Reliability Recommendation record is saved to the database and linked to appropriate analysis. If you filled out the appropriate fields on the **Alert** tab *and* the value in the Status field of the Reliability Recommendation record is *Approved* or *In Progress*, an Alert record that is associated with the analysis is created. This creates a scheduled item in the Schedule Manager, and an email message is sent to the specified recipient(s) according to the schedule defined on the **Alert** tab.

For example, if on January 5, 2005, you specify to send an email message to John Smith one day before the Target Completion Date, and the Target Completion Date is set to January 29, 2005, the Alert record and scheduled item would be created on January 5, 2005, but the email message would not be sent until January 28, 2005.

Fields in Reliability Recommendation Records

The following table provides information about Reliability Recommendation fields that are unique to Reliability Recommendation records (i.e., they do not exist on the Meridium General Recommendation datasheet).

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Analysis ID	Character	The ID of the asso- ciated analysis.	This field is populated automatically with the Record ID of the ana- lysis to which the Reli- ability Recommendation record will be linked when it is saved.
Assigned To Name	Character	The first and last name of the per- son who should perform the recom- mended action.	This field contains a list of all Security Users in the database, presen- ted in the following format:
			name>, <user id=""></user>
Completion Com- ments	Text	Details about the completed recom- mendation.	This field is required when the value in the Status field is <i>Rejected</i> , <i>Superseded</i> , or <i>Can-</i> <i>celled</i> .
Final Approver Name	Character	The first and last name of the per- son who should approve the inform- ation in the Recom- mendation record after the recom- mended action has been performed.	This field contains a list of all Security Users in the database, presen- ted in the following format: <last name="">, <first name>, <user id=""></user></first </last>
Recommendation Basis	Character	The reason the recommended action is needed.	You can type any value in this field.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Reviewer Name	Character	The first and last name of the per- son who should review the inform- ation in the Recom- mendation record before the recom- mended action is performed.	This field contains a list of all Security Users in the database, presen- ted in the following format: <last name="">, <first name>, <user id=""></user></first </last>

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Status	Character	The status of the recommendation.	On the datasheet, the Status field contains a list of all System Codes in the MI_STATUS Sys- tem Code Table that ref- erence the CORE_ RECOMMENDATION_ STATUS System Code Table.
			The value in the Status field is set auto- matically to <i>Created</i> but can be changed if needed.
			You can change the status to:
			 Approved only if your Security User information is stored in the Final Approver Name field.
			 Reviewed only if your Security User information is stored in the Reviewer Name field.
			 Rejected, Can- celled, or Super- seded only if the Completion Com- ments field con- tains a value. The Completion Com- ments field is not, however, on the baseline Reli- ability Recom- mendation datasheet, so an administrative

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
			user will need to add it to the data- sheet before you can select one of these three statuses.
			 In Progress or Implemented only if you Secur- ity User inform- ation is stored in the Assigned To Name field.
			Note that the value in the Status field is not related in any way to the <i>state</i> (per the State Configuration) of the Recommendation record.

Opening an Existing Reliability Recommendation Record

To open an existing Reliability Recommendation record:

1. <u>Access the **Recommendations** page</u> for the appropriate analysis.

Se Meridium APM Framework - Recommendations					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> o To <u>T</u> ools	<u>H</u> elp				
😵 Back 👻 🛞 Forward 👻 🏠	My Start Page 👻 🎽 New	🔎 🔎 Search D Catalog	j 👩 Query 🗸 🛅 Repor	t 🕶 🕜 Graph 🗝 🥰 Data	set 👻 🔚 Dashboard 🗸
	SiteMap: <u>Reliability->SparesAnalysis->OilPumpAnalysis</u> -> <u>Recommendations</u>				
meriaium	04				
Spares Analysis	Recor	nmendations			
Common Tasks 🛛 🕏					
New Recommendation	Drag a column header here to	group by that column			
📁 Open Recommendat	Recommendation ID	Recommendation He	Assigned To	Target Completion D	Implemented Date
Save Recommendation	▶ <u>REC-21</u>	Increase Holding Level			
X Delete Recommenda					
₹? Send To >>					
🕐 Help					

2. In the list of Reliability Recommendation records, click the hyperlinked **Recommendation ID** of the Reliability Recommendation record that you want to view.

The selected Recommendation record appears on the **Recommendation Details** page, where you can view and modify the record information, as desired.

See Meridium APM Framework - Recommendation Details					
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oTo <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp					
😵 Back 🔹 🚿 Forward 👻 🏠 My Start Page 👻 🎁 New 🔎 Search 🚔 Catalog 🔞 Query + 🛅 Report + 🕼 Graph + 🝕 Dataset + 📟 Dashboard +					
	SiteMap: Reliability->Spares Analysi	s->OilPump Analysis->Recommendations->REC-21			
meridium	10.10				
Spares Analysis		mmendation			
Common Tasks 🛛 😽					
New Recommendation	Datasheet Reliability Recommendation	n 🔽 😼 🚽 🚰 🗙 🛍 🍓 🕓 🗒			
View Recommendati	General Information Alert				
Cours Recommendation		Value(s)	-		
Save Recommendation	Recommendation ID	REC-21			
Delete Recommenda	Recommendation Headline	Increase Holding Level			
Image: Send To >>	Recommendation Description	Increase Holding Level from 1 to 2			
🕐 Help	Recommendation Basis	Spares Analysis			
	Analysis ID	Oil Pump Analysis			
	Required Equipment Status				
	Business Impact		_		
	Target Completion Date	8/28/2009 12:00:00 AM			
	Mandatory Date				
	Recommendation Priority	High (HIGH)			
	Status	Created (CREATED)			
	Author Name	Demo, Joe Demo			
	Reviewer Name				
	Assigned To Name	Implementer, Implementer			
	Final Approver Name				
	Implemented Date				
	Equipment ID	···			
	Technical Number				
	Functional Location ID		-		

3. If you make any changes to the Reliability Recommendation record, on the <u>Common Tasks menu</u>, click the **Save Recommendation** link to save your changes.

Deleting an Analysis

You can use the following instructions to delete any type of analysis in Reliability Analytics.

To delete an analysis:

- 1. In the list of analyses, click the **Analysis ID** of the analysis you want to delete.
- 2. On the **Common Tasks** menu, click the **Delete Analysis** link.

If you selected one item to delete, a message will appear asking you to confirm that you want to delete the analysis. Click the **Yes** button to delete the item.

-or-

If you selected multiple items to delete, a message will appear, listing the first selected item. You must confirm that you want to delete the item(s), either simultaneously or one at a time.

- To delete the entire group of selected items without further confirmation, click the **Yes to All** button.
- To delete one item at a time, click the **Yes** button to delete only the item that is currently marked for deletion.
- If there is an item that you selected that you do not want to delete, click the **No** button when the confirmation message appears.
- If you do not want to perform any deletions, click Cancel.

The analysis is removed from the list and deleted from the database.

About the Reliability Analytics Catalog Folder Structure

The Reliability Manager Catalog folders contain queries and reports that are used by Reliability Analytics to display information contained in the records that participate in the various Reliability Analytics data models. The Catalog folder **\\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager** contains the following subfolders:

- **Analyses:** Contains queries that support the lists that are displayed on the following pages in Reliability Analytics:
 - <u>Select a Production Analysis from the List</u>
 - <u>Select a Spates Analysis from the List</u>
 - Select a Growth Analysis from the List
 - Select a Distribution Analysis from the List
 - Probability Distribution List
 - Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List
 - Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis
 - <u>Automation Rule List Screen</u>
- **Queries:** Contains queries that you can use for creating Reliability Growth Analyses and Reliability Distribution Analyses from Associated Pages. These queries are not used in the baseline product but can be by custom Associated Pages.
- **Reports:** Contains SQL Server Reporting Services reports that display data and information for Reliability Analyses.
- **SSRS:** Contains SQL Server Reporting Services reports that are not used by the Meridium APM system. If you want to use these reports, use the matching reports that exist in the **Reports** folder.

Analyses Folder

The Catalog folder **\\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Analyses** contains the following queries.

Query Name	Behavior and Usage
All Production Data	Returns fields from Production Data and Pro- duction Loss records. This query is used to map fields from records in the Production Loss Account- ing module to the Production Data field in a Pro- duction Analysis record.
Automation Rules	After prompting you to select a Security User, returns a list of all Reliability Automation Rules that were last updated by that Security User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Automation Rule List</u> <u>Screen</u> .
Combined Production Data Codes	Combines the results of the Production Event Code - Max Loss, Production Impact Code - Max Loss, and Production OEE Code- Max Loss queries. The All Production Data query uses this query to map values from Production Event Code, Impact Codes, and OEE Code fields in Production Loss records to the Production Data field in a Production Analysis record.
Probability Distribution	After prompting for the published status and a Security User, returns a list of all Probability Dis- tribution Analyses that meet the selected published criteria and were last updated by the selected Secur- ity User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Probability Distribution List page</u> .
Production Event Code - Max Loss	Returns the value in the Production Event field of a Production Loss record associated with a given date. If there are multiple Production Loss records for that date, this query retrieves the production event code associated with the highest loss.
Production Impact Code - Max Loss	Returns the value in the Impact Code field of a Pro- duction Loss record associated with a given date. If there are multiple Production Loss records for that date, this query retrieves the impact code asso- ciated with the highest loss.

Query Name	Behavior and Usage
Production OEE Code - Max Loss	Returns the value in the OEE Code field of a Pro- duction Loss record associated with a given date. If there are multiple Production Loss records for that date, this query retrieves the OEE code associated with the highest loss.
Production Weibull	After prompting for a Security User, returns a list of all Production Analyses that were last updated by the selected Security User. This query is run auto- matically on the <u>Select a Production Analysis from</u> <u>the List page</u> .
Reliability Distribution	After prompting for the published status and a Security User, returns a list of all Reliability Dis- tribution Analyses that meet the selected published criteria and were last updated by the selected Secur- ity User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page</u> .
Reliability Growth	After prompting for the published status and a Security User, returns a list of all Reliability Growth Analyses that meet the selected published criteria and were last updated by the selected Security User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Select</u> <u>a Growth Analysis from the List page</u> .
Spares	After prompting for the published status and a Security User, returns a list of all Spares Analyses that meet the selected published criteria and were last updated by the selected Security User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Select a Spares</u> <u>Analysis from the List page</u> .
System Reliability	After prompting for the published status and a Security User, returns a list of all System Reliability Analyses that meet the selected published criteria and were last updated by the selected Security User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Select</u> <u>a System Reliability Analysis from the List page</u> .
Unreliability Cost	After prompting for the published status and a Security User, returns a list of all Cost of Unre- liability Analyses that meet the selected published criteria and were last updated by the selected Secur- ity User. This query is run automatically on the <u>Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page</u> .

Note: You should not change the names of these queries or move them to another Catalog folder. Doing so will cause the pages referenced above to stop working. You can, however, modify the content of the queries if desired.

Queries Folder

The Catalog folder **\\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Queries** contains the following queries.

Query Name	Behavior and Usage
Equipment - Work History	After prompting you to select an Equipment ID, returns the Equipment record that contains the selected value in the Equipment ID field and the related Work History records to which the Equip- ment record is linked. This query can be used to cre- ate an Associated Page that will create Reliability Growth and Reliability Distribution Analyses auto- matically from an Equipment record.
Functional Location - Work History	After prompting you to select a Functional Location, the Functional Location record that contains the selected value in the Location field and the related Work History records to which that Functional Loca- tion record is linked. This query can be used to cre- ate an Associated Page that will create Reliability Growth and Reliability Distribution Analyses auto- matically from a Functional Location record.

Note: Before you use these queries to create Associated Pages for these families you should review them to determine whether you want to make modifications that will support the use of additional parameters within the <u>Reliability Growth</u> or <u>Reliability</u> <u>Distribution</u> URLs.

Reports Folder

The Catalog folder **\\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\Reports** contains the items with the following names:

- assetSubreportDistribution
- AssetsubreportGrowth
- AssetsubreportUnreliability
- **CostAnalysisReport:** Displays the **Enter Query Parameters** dialog box, where you must where you must supply information from the Unreliability Cost record for which you are trying to view the Cost of Unreliability Report.
- **DistributionAnalysisReport:** Displays the **Enter Query Parameters** dialog box, where you must where you must supply information from the Reliability Distribution record for which you are trying to view the Reliability Distribution Report.
- Exponential Distribution Query
- FailuresubreportGrowth
- FailuresubreportUnreliability
- GrowthAnalysisQuery
- **GrowthAnalysisReport:** Displays the **Enter Query Parameters** dialog box, where you must where you must supply information from the Reliability Growth record for which you are trying to view the Reliability Growth Report.
- Lognormal Distribution Query
- Normal Distribution Query
- ProbabilityDistributionQuery
- **ProbDistReport:** Displays the **Enter Query Parameters** dialog box, where you must where you must supply information from the Distribution record for which you are trying to view the Probability Distribution Report.
- ProductionAnalysisQuery
- ProductionAnalysisQueryLines
- ProductionAnalysisQueryRegions
- **ProductionAnalysisReport:** Displays the **Enter Query Parameters** dialog box, where you must where you must supply information from the Production Analysis record for which you are trying to view the Production Analysis Report.
- ReliabilityDistributionQuery
- ReliabilityDistritbutionTTR
- ReliabilityExponentialTTF
- ReliabilityExponentialTTR
- ReliabilityLognormalTTF

- ReliabilityLognormalTTR
- ReliabilityNormalTTF
- ReliabilityNormalTTR
- ReliabilityWeibullTTF
- ReliabilityWeibullTTR
- Spares
- Spares Analysis Applications
- Spares Analysis Charts
- Spares Analysis ChartsMain
- Spares Analysis Main
- Spares Analysis Spares
- Spares Analysis SparesMain
- SparesAnalysis
- SparesApplication
- SparesChart
- SubreportDistributionAnalysis
- SubReportProbDist
- SubreportProductionAnalysis
- System Reliability ActionResult
- System Reliability ElementResult
- System Reliability Main
- System Reliability ResourceResult
- System Reliability SummaryResult
- SystemReliabilityActionResultReport
- SystemReliabilityElementResultReport
- SystemReliabilityMainReport
- SystemReliabilityResourceResultReport
- SystemReliabilitySummaryResultReport
- Unreliability Cost Query
- Weibull Distribution Query

SSRS Folder

The items in the Catalog folder **\\Public\Meridium\Modules\Reliability Manager\SSRS** are not used by the Meridium APM system.

Production Analysis

A Production Analysis record stores information about an analysis used to determine the reliability of a production process. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the Production Analysis family, which appear by default on the Production Analysis datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Analysis ID	Analysis ID	Character	The name of the Production Ana- lysis.	This value is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value that you type in the Analysis Name text box when you save or rename the Pro- duction Analysis.
Analysis Type	Analysis Type	Character	The type of ana- lysis being con- ducted.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value <i>Production</i> <i>Analysis</i> . You can modify this value to something more specific, if desired.
Analysis End Date	End Date	Date	The last date that production output is measured for the analysis.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the latest date in your dataset in the field defined in the Pro- duction Date list on the Select Pro- duction Fields screen of the Pro- duction Analysis Builder .

Field Cap- tion	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Analysis Start Date	Start Date	Date	The first date that production output is measured for the analysis.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the earliest date in your dataset in the field defined in the Production Date list on the Select Production Fields screen of the Pro- duction Analysis Builder .
lgnored Points	lgnored Points	Number	The number of datapoints that were ignored because they would inaccurately skew the Reli- ability Loss cal- culations.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the number of points that have been ignored via the Edit Production Data window.
Margin Value	Margin Value	Number	The value by which the Meridium APM sys- tem will multiply the production loss to determine the cost. For example, if pro- duction was lost for 10 cases of bottles, and a pro- duction loss for one case costs 10 dollars, the Mar- gin Value would be 10. Production Loss (10 cases) x Margin Value (\$10) = a cost of \$100.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value 1. Altern- atively, you can change the margin value via the Mar- gin Value dialog box.

Field Cap- tion	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Margin Unit	Margin Value Unit	Number	The unit, or cur- rency, of the cost associated with the calculated pro- duction losses.	This field is set to \$by default. Altern- atively, you can change the margin units via the Mar- gin Currency dialog box.
Min Pro- duction	Min Pro- duction	Number	The minimum pro- duction value, or the value that is to replace data that cannot be plotted (i.e., zero or neg- ative output val- ues). If your data contains zeros or negative values, they will be replaced with the minimum pro- duction value.	If your dataset con- tains zeros or neg- ative values, this field is populated automatically with the minimum pro- duction value you chose when you cre- ated the analysis. Alternatively, you can change the min- imum production value via the <u>Min- imum Production</u> <u>Output dialog box</u> .
Pro Reli- ability	Proc Reli- ability	Number	The percentage of time in the Ana- lysis Period that the process is reli- able. For example, if the Pro Reli- ability value is 65%, the process would be reliable 65% of the time.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value of the Pro- cess Reliability line that you define on the Production Ana- lysis plot.
Short Description	Short Description	Character	Additional inform- ation about the analysis.	You can manually type additional information about the Production Ana- lysis in this field.

Field Cap- tion	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Total Points	Total Points	Number	The total number of datapoints in the analysis.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the number of points in the dataset that you defined when creating the ana- lysis.
Unit ID	Unit ID	Character	The name of the unit on which the analysis is being performed.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with values from your dataset in the field defined in the Unit ID list on the Select Production Fields screen of the Pro- duction Analysis Builder .
Unit of Measure	Unit of Measure	Character	The units of pro- duction output (e.g., barrels).	This value will be populated auto- matically with the value you define in the Units of Meas- ure dialog box. This value will be the basis for the units along the x- axis in the Pro- duction Analysis plot and in the Pro- duction Loss Regions pane.

Production Losses

A Production Losses record stores information about a loss of production and the cost associated with it. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the Production Losses family, which appear by default on the Production Losses datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Area Start	Number	The value of the data- point that marks the beginning of the area measured for losses.	The value in this field depends on the value identified in the Losses Type field. This field is applicable only to <u>Reliability</u> <u>and Sub-Reliability Losses</u> .
Area End	Number	The end of the area measured for losses.	This field depends on the value identified in the Losses Type field. This field is applicable only to <u>Sub-Reliability</u> Losses.
Losses Cost	Number	The total monetary amount that was lost as a result of the pro- duction loss.	This field is populated auto- matically with the cost of the production loss, which is cal- culated by multiplying the pro- duction loss in the defined region with the Margin Value. This value also appears in the Cost column of the Pro- duction Loss Regions window for the corresponding loss.
Losses Type	Character	A description of the type of production loss calculated by the Pro- duction Analysis.	 The value in this field is populated with one of the following values: Efficiency/Utilization Loss Reliability Loss Sub Reliability Loss Total Loss The value in this field will also serve as the Record ID for the Production Loss record.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Production Losses	Number	The amount of pro- duction that was lost as a result of the reli- ability of the pro- duction process.	This field is populated auto- matically with the amount of production output that was lost in the defined region. This value also appears in the Quantity column in Pro- duction Loss Regions window for the corresponding loss.
Unit of Cost	Character	The unit, or currency, of the cost associated with the production loss.	This value is populated auto- matically with <i>\$</i> by default. Alternatively, you can change the margin units via the Mar- gin Currency dialog box.
Unit of Measure	Character	The units of pro- duction output (e.g., barrels).	This value will be populated automatically with the value you define in the Units of Measure dialog box.

Reliability Growth

A Reliability Growth record stores information about an analysis that tracks changes in Mean Time Between Failure (MTBF) over a specified period of time to determine strategies or repairs necessary to increase the reliability of a product. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the Reliability Growth family. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Analysis End Date	Date	The date on which the Reliability Growth Analysis will end.	This field is only used for analyses based on dates. This value is pop- ulated automatically with the value in the End Date section of the <u>Analysis Period dialog</u> <u>box</u> .	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Analysis End Time	Num- ber	The cumulative operating time at which the analysis will end.	This field is only used for analyses based on cumulative operating time. This value is pop- ulated automatically with the value in the End Time section of the Analysis Period dialog box.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Analysis ID	Char- acter	The name of the Growth Analysis.	This field is populated automatically with the value that you entered in the Analysis Name text box when you save the Growth Analysis.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Analysis Start Date	Date	The date on which the Reliability Growth Analysis will begin.	This field is only used for analyses based on dates. This value is pop- ulated automatically with the value in the Start Date section of the <u>Analysis Period dia-</u> <u>log box</u> .	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Analysis Start Time	Time	The cumulative operating time at which the Reli- ability Growth Ana- lysis will begin.	This field is only used for analyses based on cumulative operating time. This value is pop- ulated automatically with the value in the Start Time section of the <u>Analysis Period dia- log box</u> .	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Asset Install- ation Field	Char- acter	The name of the field in the query or dataset that contains equip- ment or location installation data.	This field is populated automatically with the value you select in the Installation Date list on the Select Data Fields screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you create an analysis based on dates.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Date Based Extra- polation	Logical	Indicates if the user specified the extrapolation based on a date.	If you extrapolate the analysis results based on failure dates, this value is set auto- matically to <i>True</i> . If you choose to extrapolate based on time or there is no extrapolation at all, this value is set to <i>False</i> .	Reli- ability Growth
Downtime Field	Char- acter	The name of the field in the query or dataset that contains down- time data.	This field is populated automatically with the value you select in the Downtime Field list on the Provide Inform- ation for Downtime screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you create an analysis based on dates.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Downtime Units	Char- acter	The units asso- ciated with down- time.	This field is populated automatically with the value you select in the Time Units list on the Provide Information for Downtime screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you cre- ate an analysis based on dates. You can select one of the fol- lowing options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Quarters • Years	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Extra- polated	Logical	Indicates if the analysis results will be extra- polated beyond the analysis end date.	If you choose to <u>extra-</u> <u>polate the results</u> , this value will be auto- matically set to <i>True</i> .	Reli- ability Growth
Extra- polation Date	Date	Indicates the date and time you extrapolated the analysis.	If the Date Based Extra- polation field is set to <i>True</i> , this field is pop- ulated automatically with the date and time you extrapolated the analysis in the Meridium APM Frame- work.	Reli- ability Growth

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Extra- polation Time	Numeri- c	Indicates the total operating time that will be cumu- lated when the extrapolation point is reached.	If the Extrapolated field is set to <i>True</i> and the Date Based Extra- polation field is set to <i>False</i> , this field is pop- ulated automatically with the cumulative operating time that cor- responds with the extra- polation time you set in the Extrapolation dialog box.	Reli- ability Growth
Failure Date Field	Char- acter	The name of the field in the query or dataset that contains the dates on which the piece of equip- ment or location failed.	This field is populated automatically with the value you select in the Date list on the Select Data Fields screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you cre- ate an analysis based on dates.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Failure Number Field	Char- acter	The name of the field in the query or dataset that contains the num- ber of failures recorded at each measurement.	This field is populated automatically with the value you select in the < Measurement> list on the Select Data Fields screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you create an analysis.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
----------------------	--------------	--	--	--
Failure Rate Plot	Binary	Contains an image of the <meas-< b=""> urement> Rate Trend graph.</meas-<>	This field is used to dis- play the <meas-< b=""> urement> Rate Trend graph in the Plots sec- tion in the Reliability Growth report.</meas-<>	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Failures	Text	Contains the data that is displayed in the <meas-< b=""> urement> Data window.</meas-<>	This field is used to pop- ulate the Assets and <measurement> Data</measurement> sections in the Reli- ability Growth report.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Failures Plot	Binary	Contains an image of the Cumulative<meas- urement> Plot</meas- graph.	This field is used to dis- play the Cumulative <measurement> Plot</measurement> graph in the Plots sec- tion in the Reliability Growth report.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Failure Time Field	Char- acter	The name of the field in the query or dataset that contains the cumu- lative operating time at which the piece of equip- ment or location failed.	This field is populated automatically with the value you select in the Cumulative Operating Time list on the Select Data Fields screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you cre- ate an analysis based on cumulative oper- ating time.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
ls Grouped Data	Logic	Indicates whether or not the data is grouped.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the data is grouped data and contains more than one failure at each measurement. If this value is <i>False</i> , the data is not grouped and con- tains only one failure at each measurement. This value depends on the type of data that is mapped to the Failure Number Field.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
ls Non- Event Data	Logic	Indicates whether or not the data is event count.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the data is not event count (e.g., cost). If this value is <i>False</i> , the data is event count (e.g., num- ber of failures). This field is populated depending on the value you select in the Meas- urement Data Format section of the Select Data Format screen of the Reliability Growth Builder when you cre- ate the analysis.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Meas- urement Name	Char- acter	The name of the data you are meas- uring throughout the analysis (e.g., cost, events).	This field is populated automatically with the value you enter in the Measurement Name text box on the Select Data Format screen in the Reliability Growth Builder when you cre- ate an analysis. After you create an analysis, you can change the value in the Meas- urement Name field via the <u>Data Format dialog</u> box. The measurement name is displayed throughout the analysis results.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
MTBF Plot	Binary	Contains an image of the MTB <meas- urement> Trend graph.</meas- 	This field is used to display the MTB<meas< b="">urement>Trend graph in the Plots section in the Reliability Growth report.</meas<>	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.
Short Description	Char- acter	A brief description of the analysis.	This field is populated automatically with the value that you entered in the Analysis Descrip- tion text box when you save the Growth Ana- lysis.	This field does not exist by default on the Reli- ability Growth data- sheet.

Growth Model

A Growth Model record stores information about the Reliability Growth model used to develop a Reliability Growth Analysis. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the Growth Model family, which appear by default on the Growth Model datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Analysis ID	Character	The name of the Reliability Growth Analysis.	This field is populated automatically with the value in the Analysis ID field of the Reliability Growth record to which the Growth Model is linked.
Beta	Number	A value that represents the slope of the Cumulative Fail- ures plot.	This feld is populated automatically with the Beta value calculated by the Meridium APM sys- tem. The Beta value indicates whether the MTBF is increasing, decreasing, or remain- ing constant.
GOF Critical Value	Number	The value used to determ- ine whether the analysis passed the goodness of fit (GOF) test.	This value is calculated automatically by the Meridium APM system. If the value in this field is greater than the value in the GOF Statistic field, the Passed GOF field is set to <i>True</i> .
GOF Stat- istic	Number	A value that demonstrates the preciseness of fit.	This value is calculated automatically by the Meridium APM system. If the value in this field is less than the value in the GOF Critical Value field, the Passed GOF field is set to <i>True</i> .

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Lambda	Number	The scale parameter that equals the Y-intercept of the Cumulative Failures Plot at time <i>t</i> =1.	This field is populated automatically with the value calculated by the Meridium APM system.
Model Start Date	Date	The date the model was started.	This field is populated automatically with the start date of the seg- ment.
Number of Failures	Number	The total number of fail- ures in the dataset used to calculate the growth model.	This field is populated automatically with the total number of failures in the Failure Data grid.
Offset	Number	The operating time offset for this model relative to the beginning of the ana- lysis.	If there beginning oper- ating time and the begin- ning observation time are the same, this field will be automatically populated with <i>O</i> . If there is a difference, this field will be auto- matically populated with the difference between beginning operating time and beginning observation time.
Passed GOF	Logical	Indicates whether the model passed the Good- ness-of-Fit test or not.	The analysis passes the GOF test when the value in the GOF Statistic field is less than the value in the GOF Critical Value field.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Sequence	Number	The chronological order of this model in the analysis.	This field is populated automatically with the segment number that corresponds to the Growth Model record. If there is only one seg- ment, this field is pop- ulated automatically with <i>1 (None)</i> .
Time Ter- minated	Logical	Indicates if the end date of the model is time-based.	If this field is set to <i>True</i> , then the end of the model is time-based. Otherwise, the end of the model is failure- based.
Total Obser- vation Time	Number	The total amount of time that the equipment is in operation during the spe- cified analysis period.	This field is populated automatically with the total operating time cal- culated from your data- set. This value appears in the Analysis Period section of the Reliability Growth Analysis page and is the <i>t</i> value in the AMSAA Reliability Growth Model.

Distribution

A Distribution record stores information about the distribution of failures over the life of equipment. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the Distribution family, which appear by default on the Distribution, Exponential, Normal, MI Lognormal, and MI Weibull datasheets. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Caption	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Analysis ID	Analysis ID	Character	The name of the Reliability Dis- tribution Ana- lysis associated with the Dis- tribution record.	This field is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value in the Ana- lysis ID field of the Reliability Dis- tribution record to which the Dis- tribution record is linked.
Confidence Level	Confidence Level	Number	Indicates the percentage of uncertainty in a Goodness of Fit method.	This value is set to 90 by default. You can enter a value between one (1) and one hundred (100) using the <u>Con-</u> <u>fidence Level dia-</u> <u>log box</u> .

Field Caption	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Fit Method	Fit Method	Character	The type of Goodness-of-Fit test used to determine how well the data fits the analytical curve.	In a Reliability Dis- tribution Analysis, this value is dis- played in the Dis- tribution Properties section on the Time to Repair Distribution and Time to Failure Distribution pages. In a Probability Dis- tribution Analysis, this value is dis- played in the Dis- tribution section on the Probability Dis- tribution Results page. You can select one of the following options using the <u>Fit</u> <u>Method dialog box</u> : • Least Squares • Maximum
GOF P-Value	GOF P-	Number	The probability	This value is cal-
	Value		that the value in the GOF Statistic field is due to random error.	culated auto- matically by the Meridium APM sys- tem. The value used to determine whether the ana- lysis passed the goodness of fit (GOF) test.

Field Caption	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
GOF Statistic	GOF Stat- istic	Number	A value that indicates the preciseness of the fit of the data to the model.	This value is cal- culated auto- matically by the Meridium APM sys- tem. Typically, the lower the GOF Stat- istic, the better the fit.
Mean	Mean	Number	The average point of the dis- tribution. This is <i>not</i> necessarily the same as the average point of the dataset.	This value is cal- culated by the Meridium APM sys- tem and is pop- ulated automatically. The value is calculated using distribution parameters, which vary depending on the type of dis- tribution. For example, for a Weibuill dis- tribution, this value is calculated using the following for- mula: $Mean = Eta \times Gamma(1 + \frac{1}{Beta})$

Field Caption	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Median	Median	Number	The middle point of the dis- tribution. This is <i>not</i> necessarily the same as the middle point of the dataset.	This value is cal- culated by the Meridium APM sys- tem and is pop- ulated automatically. The value is calculated using distribution parameters, which vary depending on the type of dis- tribution. For example, for a Weibuill dis- tribution, this value is calculated using the following for- mula: $Median = Eta \times (Ln(2))^{\frac{1}{2}Eta}$
Passed	Passed	Logical	Indicates whether the model passed the Goodness- of-Fit test or not.	If the <u>P-value is less</u> than or equal to 1 <u>minus the con-</u> fidence level, the goodness of fit test has failed and this value is set auto- matically to <i>False</i> by the Meridium APM system. Other- wise, the goodness of fit test is suc- cessful and this value is set to <i>True</i> .
Published	Published	Logical	Indicates whether the ana- lysis has been published.	If the analysis has been published, this value is set to <i>True</i> . If the analysis has not been pub- lished, this value is set to <i>False</i> .

Field Caption	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
R-Squared	R-Squared	Number	The R-Squared Correlation Coef- ficient, which describes the strength of a lin- ear model.	This value is cal- culated by the Meridium APM sys- tem and populated automatically. This value measures how closely the points fall to the least squares line, providing an indic- ation of how con- fident one can be of predictions made with the line. An R-Squared value greater than 0.9 is considered a good fit for linear regres- sion.
Standard Deviation	Standard Deviation	Number	The variability of the random vari- able around the mean.	This value is cal- culated by the Meridium APM sys- tem and populated automatically.
Units	Units	Character	The time units associated with the independent variable.	This value is asso- ciated with the value in the Vari- able field. This value is only pop- ulated for a Dis- tribution record associated with a Probability Dis- tribution Analysis. This value is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value you specify in the Units text box on the Random Variable dialog box.

Field Caption	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Variable	Variable	Character	The name of the independent variable, which associates a numerical value with every event (e.g., Down- time).	This value is only populated for a Dis- tribution record associated with a Probability Dis- tribution Analysis. This value is pop- ulated auto- matically with the value you specify in the Random Vari- able text box on the <u>Random Vari-</u> able dialog box.

About System Action Families

Actions in System Reliability Analyses are represented by records in the following families:

- System Condition Monitor.
- System Inspection.
- System Preventive Maintenance.
- System Special Action.

System Condition Monitor

System Condition Monitor records store information about continuous, condition-based maintenance Actions. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Condition Monitor family and appear by default on the System Condition Monitor datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Action Cost	Number	A numeric value that spe- cifies the cost associated with any materials or per- sonnel needed to complete the Action.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default. For Sys- tem Condition Monitor records, this value rep- resents a one-time expense that is incurred when the Action is star- ted.
Action Type	Character	The category into which the Action can be classified.	This field is populated automatically with <i>Condi- tion-Based Maintenance</i> (<i>Predictive</i>) (<i>CM</i>) and is disabled.
Condition Monitoring Type	Character	A field that contains a value indicating whether the Action occurs continuously or periodically at regular intervals.	In System Condition Monitor records, which store information for Actions that occur con- stantly, this field is pop- ulated automatically with <i>Continuous</i> and is disabled.
Description	Text	A text field that stores any additional information about the Action.	On the System Inspec- tion datasheet, you can define this value manu- ally by clicking the button and entering text in the Description dialog box.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Detection Probability	Number	A numeric value rep- resenting the probability that the Action will identify a potential failure resulting from any Risk and correct that failure before it occurs.	This value is set to <i>100</i> by default. For an Action with no assigned Risks, any value stored in this field will be ignored. For example, a System Condition Monitor record with the Detec- tion Probability value <i>50</i> has a 50% chance of identifying a potential failure resulting from a Risk. In other words, the Action will detect one out of two potential fail- ures resulting from any Risks assigned to the Action.
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a Sys- tem Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Condition Monitor datasheet. In System Reliability Ana- lyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reli- ability Analysis may con- tain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely iden- tifies those records within the system.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Name	Character	The name of the Action.	You can define this value manually. This value is used to identify Actions in the System Reliability Analyses. For example, the Name column appears by default in the grid in the <u>Actions pane</u> on the <u>Sys- tem Reliability Scen-</u> <u>arios - Actions page</u> and displays values that exist in the Name field to identify the System Action records that are displayed in the grid.

System Inspection

System Inspection records store information about periodic, condition-based maintenance Actions. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Inspection family and appear by default on the System Inspection datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Action Cost	Number	A numeric value that spe- cifies the cost associated with any materials or per- sonnel needed to complete the Action.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default. For Sys- tem Inspection records, this value represents an expense that is incurred every time the Action occurs.
Action Type	Character	The category into which the Action can be classified.	This field is populated automatically with <i>Condi- tion-Based Maintenance</i> (<i>Predictive</i>) (<i>CM</i>) and is disabled.
Condition Monitoring Type	Character	A value that indicates whether the Action occurs continuously or periodically at regular intervals.	In System Inspection records, which store information for Actions that occur periodically, this field is populated automatically with <i>Peri- odic</i> and is disabled.
Description	Text	A text field that stores any additional information about the Action.	On the System Inspection datasheet, you can define this value manu- ally by clicking the <u>but-</u> ton and entering text in the Description dialog box.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Detection Probability	Number	A numeric value representing the probability that the Action will identify a potential failure resulting from any Risk and correct that failure before it occurs.	This value is set to <i>100</i> by default. For an Action with no assigned Risks, any value stored in this field will be ignored. An Action can detect a potential failure only when the Action occurs during a Risk's <u>PF Inter- val</u> , as defined by the value in the PF Interval and PF Interval Units fields in the <u>System Risk</u> <u>record</u> . If the Action does not occur during the PF Interval, the Action can- not identify the potential failure, and the value in the Detection Probability field will be ignored. To make the Action occur during the PF Interval of a Risk, you can manually modify the values in the PF Interval and PF Inter- val Units fields of the Sys- tem Risk record, or you can optimize the Action. For example, setting the Detection Probability to <i>50</i> would indicate that the Action has a 50% chance of identifying a potential failure resulting from any Risk if the Action occurs during the PF Interval of the Risks. In other words, the Action will detect one out of two potential failures resulting from any Risks assigned to the Action when the Action occurs

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
			during the PF Interval of the Risks.
Duration	Number	A numeric value that, com- bined with the value in the Duration Units field, iden- tifies the total time required to complete the Action. For example, if the value in the Duration field is 4 and the value in the Duration Units field is <i>Hours</i> , then the Action will take four hours to com- plete.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Duration Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Dur- ation field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Inspection datasheet. In System Reli- ability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Ana- lysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.
Interval	Number	A numeric value that, com- bined with the value in the Interval Units field, indic- ates how often the Action will occur. For example, if the value in the Interval field is 4 and the value in the Interval Units field is <i>Months</i> , then the Action will occur every four months during the simulation period.	This value is set to <i>1</i> by default.
Interval Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Inter- val field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Name	Character	The name of the Action.	You can define this value manually. This value is used to identify Actions in the System Reliability Analyses. For example, the Name column appears by default in the grid in the <u>Actions pane</u> on the <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Scenarios - Actions page</u> and displays values that exist in the Name field to identify the System Action records that are displayed in the grid.
One Time Action	Logical	Indicates whether the Action will occur one time or will be repeated more than once.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the Action will occur once. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Action will occur more than once. For example, an Action to inspect the vibration level of a pump might occur several times a year. In this case, the value in the One Time Action field of the corresponding System Inspection record would be <i>False</i> . An Action to inspect a newly installed pump for any installation errors might occur only once, in which case the value in the One Time Action field of the cor- responding System Inspection record would be <i>True</i> . This value is set to <i>False</i> by default.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Shutdown Required	Logical	Indicates whether the Action requires the piece of equipment or location to be shut down in order for the Action to be completed.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment or location must be shut down in order for the Action to be completed. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Action can be completed while the piece of equipment or location is running.
			For example, an Action to inspect the vibration level of a pump could be completed while the pump is running, so the value in the Shutdown Required field would be <i>False</i> . An Action to inspect the internal com- ponents of a pump would be completed while the pump is not running, so the value in the Shutdown Required field would be <i>True</i> . This value is set to <i>False</i> by default.

System Preventive Maintenance

System Preventative Maintenance records store information about time-based maintenance Actions. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Preventative Maintenance family and appear by default on the System Preventative Maintenance datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Action Cost	Number	A numeric value that spe- cifies the cost associated with any materials or per- sonnel needed to complete the Action.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default. For Sys- tem Preventive Main- tenance records, this value represents an expense that is incurred every time the Action occurs.
Action Type	Character	The category into which the Action can be classified.	This field is populated automatically with <i>Time- Based Maintenance (Pre- ventive) (PM)</i> and is dis- abled.
Condition Monitoring Type	Character	A value that indicates whether the Action occurs continuously or peri- odically at regular intervals.	This field is not used for System Preventive Main- tenance records and is disabled.
Description	Text	A text field that stores any additional information about the Action.	On the System Pre- ventative Maintenance datasheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the button and entering text in the Description dialog box.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Duration	Number	A numeric value that, com- bined with the value in the Duration Units field, iden- tifies the total time required to complete the Action. For example, if the value in the Duration field is 4 and the value in the Duration Units field is <i>Hours</i> , then the Action will take four hours to com- plete.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Duration Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Dur- ation field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Preventative Maintenance datasheet. In System Reliability Ana- lyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reli- ability Analysis may con- tain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Interval	Number	A numeric value that, com- bined with the value in the Interval Units field, indic- ates how often the Action will occur. For example, if the value in the Interval field is 4 and the value in the Interval Units field is <i>Months</i> , then the Action will occur every four months during the sim- ulation period.	This value is set to <i>1</i> by default.
Interval Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Inter- val field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
Name	Character	The name of the Action.	You can define this value manually. This value is used to identify Actions in the System Reliability Analyses. For instance, the Name column appears by default in the grid in the <u>Actions pane</u> on the <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Scenarios - Actions page</u> and displays values that exist in the Name field to identify the System Action records that are displayed in the grid.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
One Time Action	Logical	Indicates whether the Action will occur one time or will be repeated more than once.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the Action will occur once. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Action will occur more than once. For example, an Action to inspect the vibration level of a pump might occur several times a year. In this case, the value in the One Time Action field of the cor- responding System Inspection record would be <i>False</i> . An Action to inspect a newly installed pump for any installation errors might occur only once, in which case the value in the One Time Action field of the cor- responding System Inspection record would be <i>True</i> . This value is set to <i>False</i> by default.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Shutdown Required	Logical	Indicates whether the Action requires the piece of equipment or location to be shut down in order for the Action to be completed.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment or loc- ation must be shut down in order for the Action to be completed. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Action can be completed while the piece of equipment or location is running.
			For example, an Action to inspect the vibration level of a pump could be com- pleted while the pump is running, so the value in the Shutdown Required field would be <i>False</i> . An Action to inspect the internal components of a pump would be com- pleted while the pump is not running, so the value in the Shutdown Required field would be <i>True</i> . This value is set to <i>True</i> by default.

System Special Action

System Special Action records store information about procedural, redesign, or training Actions.. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Special Action family and appear by default on the System Special Action datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Action Cost	Number	A numeric value that spe- cifies the cost associated with any materials or per- sonnel needed to complete the Action.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default. For Sys- tem Special Action records, this value rep- resents an expense that is incurred every time the Action occurs.
Action Type	Character	The category into which the Action can be classified.	You can select a value from the following options when you create the System Special Action record: • Procedure (PROC) • Redesign (DSN)
			• Training (TRN) After you make your selection, this field will be disabled so that the value cannot be modified.
Condition Monitoring Type	Character	A value that indicates whether the Action occurs continuously or peri- odically at regular intervals.	This field is not used for System Special Action records and is disabled.
Description	Text	A text field that stores any additional information about the Action.	On the System Pre- ventative Maintenance datasheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the <u>button</u> and entering text in the Description dialog box.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Duration	Number	A numeric value that, com- bined with the value in the Duration Units field, iden- tifies the total time required to complete the Action. For example, if the value in the Duration field is <i>4</i> and the value in the Duration Units field is <i>Hours</i> , then the Action will take four hours to com- plete.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Duration Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Dur- ation field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Special Action datasheet. In System Reli- ability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Ana- lysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Interval	Number	A numeric value that, com- bined with the value in the Interval Units field, indic- ates how often the Action will occur. For example, if the value in the Interval field is 4 and the value in the Interval Units field is <i>Months</i> , then the Action will occur every four months during the sim- ulation period.	This value is set to <i>1</i> by default.
Interval Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Inter- val field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
Name	Character	The name of the Action.	You can define this field manually. This value is used to identify Actions in the System Reliability Analyses. For instance, the Name column appears by default in the grid in the <u>Actions pane</u> on the <u>System Reliability</u> <u>Scenarios - Actions page</u> and displays values that exist in the Name field to identify the System Action records that are displayed in the grid.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
One Time Action	Logical	Indicates whether the Action will occur one time or will be repeated more than once.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the Action will occur once. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Action will occur more than once. For example, an Action to inspect the vibration level of a pump might occur several times a year. In this case, the value in the One Time Action field of the cor- responding System Spe- cial Action record would be <i>False</i> . An Action to inspect a newly installed pump for any installation errors might occur only once, in which case the value in the One Time Action field of the cor- responding System Spe- cial Action record would be <i>True</i> . This value is set to <i>True</i> by default.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Shutdown Required	Logical	Indicates whether the Action requires the piece of equipment or location to be shut down in order for the Action to be completed.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment or loc- ation must be shut down in order for the Action to be completed. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Action can be completed while the piece of equipment or location is running.
			For example, an Action to inspect the vibration level of a pump could be com- pleted while the pump is running, so the value in the Shutdown Required field would be <i>False</i> . An Action to inspect the internal components of a pump would be com- pleted while the pump is not running, so the value in the Shutdown Required field would be <i>True</i> . This value is set to <i>True</i> by default.

System Analysis

System Analysis records store general information about a System Analysis. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Analysis family. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Note: In the following table, the bold field captions identify <u>properties that can be</u> <u>defined for a System Reliability Analysis</u> in the **Analysis Parameters** pane on the **System Reliability Analysis Definition** page.

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Action Cost Plot	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the image of the <u>Annual</u> <u>Action Cost</u> graph.	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.
Action Cost Trend Plot	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the image of the <u>Action</u> <u>Cost Trend</u> graph.	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Analysis End Date	None	Date	The date on which the analysis ends (i.e., when the simulation will stop running).	This value is calculated by adding the amount of time defined by the values in the Period and Period Units fields to the value in the Analysis Start Date field. This field is populated automatically.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.
Analysis ID	Name	Char- acter	A value that identifies the System Reliability Analysis throughout System Reli- ability.	This value is populated automatically with <i>New Ana-</i> <i>lysis 1</i> . You can define this field manually. The Analysis ID column appears by default on the <u>Select a Sys-</u> tem Reliability <u>Analysis from</u> <u>the List page</u> and displays values that exist in the Analysis ID field to identify the System Analysis records that are displayed in the grid.	System Analysis

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Analysis Result	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the data that appears in the <u>Ele-</u> <u>ments</u> , <u>Actions</u> , and <u>Resources</u> <u>grids on</u> the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability</u> <u>Simulation</u> <u>Results</u> <u>page</u> .	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Analysis Start Date	Start Date	Date	The first date of the analysis.	You can define this field manu- ally. This field is labeled Start Date in the Analysis Para- meters pane on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Ana-</u> <u>lysis Definition</u> <u>page</u> . The amount of time defined by the values in the Period and Period Units fields is added to the value in this field to determ- ine how long the simulation will run.	System Analysis
Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
-----------------	----------------------	--------------	--	--	--------------------
Con- fidence	Con- fidence (%)	Number	A numeric value that represents the con- fidence level of sim- ulation res- ults.	This value determines the Optimistic and Pessim- istic values in the <u>Histogram</u> Plot graph on the <u>System</u> Reliability Sim- ulation Results page. The default value for this field is 90. If you accept the default value, when you look at the His- togram Plot graph, you will know that there is a 90% chance that the value in any cell in the grids on the <u>System Reli- ability Sim- ulation Results</u> page in the analysis lies within the range between the Optimistic and Pessim- istic values.	System Analysis

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Cost Plot	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the image of the <u>Total</u> <u>Cost graph</u> .	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.
Cost Trend Plot	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the image of the <u>Total</u> <u>Cost Trend</u> graph.	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Currency	Currency	Char- acter	The cur- rency used to display financial results in various places throughout System Reli- ability.	This value is set to \$by default. The Cost column appears by default in the <u>Elements grid</u> on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Sim- ulation Results</u> <u>page</u> . The value that exists in the Currency field is included in the Cost column header. For example, if you specify \$ in the Cur- rency field, the label for the Cost column will be Cost (\$).	System Analysis
Descrip- tion	Descrip- tion	Text	A text field that stores any addi- tional inform- ation about the ana- lysis.	On the System Analysis data- sheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the by clicking the button and entering text in the Descrip- tion dialog box.	System Analysis

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Enable Event Log	Enable Event Log	Logical	Indicates whether <u>Event Log</u> <u>files</u> will be generated when a sim- ulation is run.	This value is <i>False</i> by default. If this field contains the value <i>True</i> , Event Log files will be gen- erated when a simulation is run. If this field contains the value <i>False</i> , Event Log files will not be gen- erated when the simulation is run.	System Analysis
Histogram Bins	Histogram Bins	Number	A numeric value that defines the number of bins, or columns, that will be displayed on the <u>His-</u> togram Plot <u>graph</u> on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability</u> <u>Simulation</u> <u>Results</u> <u>page</u> .	The default value for this field is 20. If you accept the default value, when you look at the His- togram Plot graph on the System Reli- ability Sim- ulation Results page, there will be twenty bins on the His- togram Plot graph.	System Analysis

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Iterations	Caption	Type Number	A numeric value that identifies the number of times the system will be sim- ulated in order to compile simulation results.	Usage In the simple <u>Monte Carlo</u> example provided in this doc- umentation, one iteration represents a single roll of the dice. The more iter- ations you use in an analysis, the more reli- able the sim- ulation results will be. The default value for this field is 1,000. The value you specify in the Iterations field must be com- patible with the value that you specify in the Confidence field. The required num- ber of iter- ations is dependent upon the con- fidence bound- ary, as defined by the value in the Confidence field. The fol- lowing equa-	sheet System Analysis
				determine the required num-	

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
				ber of iter- ations:	
				Minimum Number of lterations = 40/(1- Con- fidence Field Value)	
				In other words, the number of iter- ations must be high enough to provide a statistically sig- nificant con- fidence level. For example, a System Reli- ability Analysis with a value of <i>90</i> in the Con- fidence field would require a value of at least <i>400</i> in the Iterations field, as shown in the following calculation:	
				Minimum Number of lterations = 40/(1-90%)	
				Minimum Number of lterations = 40/.1	
				Minimum Number of lterations =	

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Field	Caption	Type	Description	Usage 400 If you enter a value in the Iterations field that is below the required value, an error message will appear, and you will be required to specify another value before you can save the ana- lysis.	sheet

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Period	Period	Number	A numeric value that identifies the time period over which an analysis occurs.	This value is set to 1by default. The value in the Period Units field determ- ines the time units that will be applied to the value in the Period field.	System Analysis
Period Units	Period	Char- acter	The time units asso- ciated with the value in the Period field.	You can select a value from one of the fol- lowing options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years	System Analysis
Published	None	Logical	A logical field that indicates whether an analysis is published.	The value in this field is <i>False</i> by default. If this value is <i>True</i> , the analysis is <u>published</u> . If this value is <i>False</i> , the ana- lysis is <u>unpub- lished</u> .	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Random Seed	Random Seed	Logical	Indicates whether or not dif- ferent ran- dom numbers will be used for the sys- tem-gen- erated inputs for each run of the sim- ulation so that dif- ferent res- ults are returned each time.	This value is set to <i>False</i> by default. If the Random Seed field is set to <i>True</i> , different inputs will be used for each simulation so that different results will be generated each time the simulation is run even if you have made no changes to the analysis. If the Random Seed field is set to <i>False</i> , the same results will be gen- erated each time you run the simulation, provided that you have made no changes to the analysis.	System Analysis
Resource Cost Plot	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the image of the <u>Resource</u> <u>Cost graph</u> .	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Resource Occur- rence Plot	None	Binary	A field that is used internally by the Meridium APM sys- tem to store the image of the <u>Resource</u> <u>Occurrence</u> graph.	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.
Time Ana- lysis Type	Time Ana- lysis Type	Char- acter	A field whose value determines how results are dis- played in the <u>Total</u> <u>Cost Trend</u> <u>Plot</u> on the <u>System Reli- ability Sum- mary page</u> and <u>Trend</u> <u>Plot</u> on the <u>System Reli- ability Sim- ulation</u> <u>Results</u> <u>page</u> .	This value is Yearlyby default. If this field is set to Yearly, the x- axis will dis- play results for every year in the simulation period. If this field is set to Monthly, the x- axis will dis- play results for every month in the simulation period.	System Analysis

Field	Datasheet Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Data- sheet
Visual Attributes	None	Text	A field that is used internally by Meridium APM and stores visual inform- ation, such as chart set- tings and diagram positioning.	You should not modify the value in this field. Doing so will cause the analysis to become cor- rupt, and you will no longer be able to open it.	This field does not exist by default on the System Analysis data- sheet.

System Asset

System Asset records store information about equipment and locations that exist in the System Analysis diagram. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Asset family and appear by default on the System Asset datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Description	Text	A detailed description that allows you to identify the piece of equipment or location and distinguish it from other pieces of equip- ment and locations.	On the System Asset data- sheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the <u>m</u> button and enter- ing text in the Description dialog box.
Equipment Type	Character	A detailed description of the equipment type that allows you to identify the equipment type and dis- tinguish it from other equipment types.	You can define this value manually by typing a value into the Equipment Type field.
Fixed Cost	Number	The fixed cost of the piece of equipment or location when it fails. Fixed cost does not change as a result of other variables such as downtime. An example of fixed unplanned cor- rection cost is the cost of a new piece of equip- ment.	The Fixed Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely identifies the record within a System Reli- ability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reli- ability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Analysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely iden- tifies those records within the system.
Lost Pro- duction Cost	Number	The financial amount of lost production per unit of time when the system is stopped or unable to run.	The Lost Production Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Lost Pro- duction Cost Units	Character	The time units asso- ciated with the value in the Lost Production Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month • Per Year
Name	Character	The name of the piece of equipment or location.	This value is populated automatically with <i>Asset.</i> You can define this value manually.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Production Contribution	oduction ntributionNumberThe percentage that this piece of equipment or location will contribute to the overall production capacity of its parent sys- tem, with respect to 		The Production Con- tribution is set to 100 by default. If the piece of equipment or location does not contribute to the overall production output of its parent system, you can set the Production Contribution to 0 (zero).
		For example, if two pieces of equipment are running in parallel with one another and each one contributes 50% to the overall production output, you would enter a value of 50 in the Pro- duction Contribution field of each piece of equipment or location. The Production Con- tribution of each ele- ment in the Diagram will be used to calculate the overall production loss of the parent system when one or more ele- ments are down.	
Variable Cost	Number	The cost incurred during downtime due to failures or shutdowns.	The Variable Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Variable Cost Units	Character	The time units asso- ciated with the value in the Variable Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options:
			• Per Dav
			• Per Week
			Per Month
			Per Year

System Buffer

System Buffer records store information about buffers that exist in the System Analysis diagram. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Buffer family and appear by default on the System Buffer datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Description	Text	Any additional inform- ation regarding the buf- fer.	On the System Buffer data- sheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the we button and entering text in the Description dia- log box.
Fixed Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction when the buf- fer fails.	The value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely identifies the record within a System Reli- ability Analysis.	This value is generated auto- matically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Ana- lyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Analysis may contain unsaved records, it is neces- sary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.
Initial Quant- ity in Per- centage	Number	The percentage of product that the stor- age tank contains at the time of a failure.	The value is set to 100 by default.
Lost Pro- duction Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction per unit of time when the buffer is not running.	The Lost Production Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Lost Pro- duction Cost Units	Character	The time units for the Lost Production Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month • Per Year
Name	Character	The name of the buffer.	This value is populated auto- matically with <i>Buffer</i> . You can define this value manu- ally.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Production Contribution	Number	The percentage that this piece of equipment or location will con- tribute to the overall production capacity of its parent system, with respect to other ele- ments that are running in parallel to the piece of equipment or loc- ation. For example, if two pieces of equip- ment are running in parallel with one another and each one contributes 50% to the overall production out- put, you would enter a value of 50 in the Pro- duction Contribution field of each piece of equipment. The Pro- duction Contribution of each element in the Dia- gram will be used to cal- culate the overall production loss of the parent system when one or more elements are down.	The Production Con- tribution is set to 100 by default. If the piece of equip- ment does not contribute to the overall production out- put of its parent system, you can set the Production Contribution to 0 (zero).
Time to Empty	Number	The time that it will take for the contents of a full buffer to empty when it is used.	The Time to Empty is set to 0 (zero) by default.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Time to Empty Units	Character	The time units that apply to the value in the Time to Empty field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
Time to Refill	Number	The time that it will take for the contents of an empty buffer to refill completely after it has been emptied.	The Time to Refill is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Time to Refill Units	Character	The time units that apply to the value in the Time to Refill field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
Variable Cost	Number	The cost incurred dur- ing the downtime due to the buffer failing.	The Variable Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Variable Cost Units	Character	The time units asso- ciated with the value in the Variable Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: Per Hour Per Day Per Week Per Month Per Year

System Global Event

System Global Event records store information about global events, which group together Actions requiring a system shutdown so that they will be performed at the same time, thereby maximizing the availability of the system. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Global Event family. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Description	Text	A text field that stores any addi- tional inform- ation about the Global Event.	On the System Global Event datasheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the we button and entering text in the Description dialog box.	System Global Event

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Driver Type	Character	Indicates whether the Global Event will be started with an action or on a certain date.	This value is required. The following options are available: • ActionDriven (ActionDriven): The Global Event will start on the date the driving Action(s) begin and will trigger the start of any other Actions that are assigned to the Global Event. If more than one Action has been designated as a driving Action, the Global Event will occur when the first driving Action occurs. If no Action has been designated as a driving Action, the Global Event will not occur. • DateDriven (DateDriven): The Global Event will start on the date in the First Date field. If no date exists in the First Date field, the Global Event will start one interval period, as defined by the values in the Inter- val and Interval Units fields, into	System Global Event

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
			the simulation.	
Event Definition	Text	The Actions assigned to the Global Event.	This value that is used internally by the Meridium APM system to store information identifying the Actions assigned to the Global Event and does not appear on the System Global Event datasheet.	None

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
First Date	Date	The date on which the Global Event will occur for the first time.	If no value exists in the First Date field, date- driven Global Events will start one interval period, as defined by the values in the Inter- val and Interval Units fields, into the sim- ulation. This field is dis- abled in System Global Event records that con- tain the value <i>Action</i> <i>Driven (ActionDriven)</i> in the Driver Type field.	System Global Event
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reli- ability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Global Event datasheet. In Sys- tem Reliability Ana- lyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a Sys- tem Reliability Analysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.	None

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Interval	Number	A numeric value that indic- ates how often the Global Event will occur. For example, if the value in the Interval field is 4 and the value Months exists in the Interval Units field, then the Global Event will occur every 4 months during the sim- ulation period.	This field is enabled only if the value in the Driver Type field is <i>Date Driven</i> (<i>DateDriven</i>) and the value in the One Time Event field is <i>False</i> .	System Global Event
Interval Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Interval field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years	System Global Event

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Max Advance Duration	Number	A numeric value that iden- tifies the max- imum time that an Action can be advanced for- ward to be completed with the other Actions assigned to the Global Event.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.	System Global Event
		For example, if the Max Advance Dur- ation field con- tains the value <i>3</i> and the Max Advance Dur- ation Units field contains the value <i>Months</i> , then any Action that would be per- formed 3 months or less after the Global Event can be moved forward in time and completed with the rest of the Actions that are assigned to the Global Event.		

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Max Advance Duration Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Max Advance Duration field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years	System Global Event

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Max Delay Duration	Number	A numeric value that iden- tifies the max- imum time that an Action can be delayed to be com- pleted with the other Actions that are assigned to the Global Event.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.	System Global Event
		For example, if the Max Delay Duration field contains the value 2 and the Max Advance Duration Units field contains the value <i>Weeks</i> , then any Action that would be per- formed 2 weeks or less before the Global Event can be delayed in time and completed with the rest of the Actions that are assigned to a Global Event.		

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Max Delay Duration Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Max Delay Dur- ation field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years	System Global Event
Name	Character	The name of the Global Event.	You can define this value manually. This value is used to identify Global Events in Sys- tem Reliability Ana- lyses. For example, the Name column appears by default in the <u>Global</u> <u>Events pane</u> on the <u>Sys- tem Reliability Scen- arios - Global Events</u> <u>page</u> and displays val- ues that exist in the Name field to identify the System Global Event records that are displayed in the grid.	System Global Event

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
One Time Event	Logical	Indicates whether the Global Event will occur one time or can be repeated more than once.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the Global Event will occur once. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Global Event will occur more than once. For example, you might create an Action to replace an expensive piece of machinery. If the Action requires a complete shutdown, to reduce total downtime of the system, you could create a one-time Global Event with the value is <i>True</i> in the One Time Event field that would reschedule any assigned Actions to be completed during the required shutdown. In contrast, Actions that are repeated several times would be assigned to a recurring Global Event with the value <i>False</i> in the One Time Event field because the Global Event would be needed several times to min- imize downtime in a simulation period.	System Global Event

System Link

System Link records store information about links that connect other elements that work together to produce output. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Link family and appear by default on the System Link datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Description	Text	Any additional inform- ation regarding the link.	On the System Link data- sheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the button and enter- ing text in the Description dialog box.
Fixed Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction when the link fails. Fixed cost does not change as a result of other variables such as downtime.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
GUID	Character	Contains a value that uniquely identifies the record within a System Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Analysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.
Lost Pro- duction Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction per unit of time when the link is not run- ning.	The Lost Production Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Lost Pro- duction Cost Units	Character	The time units for the Lost Production Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options:
			• Per Hour
			Per Day Por Wook
			Per Month
			Per Year
Minimum Predecessors	Number	The minimum number of predecessors that the link can have.	The value in this field can- not exceed the actual number of predecessors. Attempting to enter a number greater than the number of actual pre- decessors results in the value reverting to the pre- vious value.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Production Contribution	Number	The percentage that this piece of equipment or location will contribute to the overall production capacity of its parent sys- tem, with respect to other elements that are running in parallel to the piece of equipment or location.	The Production Con- tribution is set to 100 by default. If the piece of equipment or location does not contribute to the overall production output of its parent system, you can set the Production Contribution to 0 (zero).
		For example, if two pieces of equipment are running in parallel with one another and each one contributes 50% to the overall production output, you would enter a value of 50 in the Pro- duction Contribution field of each piece of equipment or location. The Production Con- tribution of each ele- ment in the Diagram will be used to calculate the overall production loss of the parent system when one or more ele- ments are down.	
Variable Cost	Number	The cost incurred during the downtime due to the link failing.	The Variable Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Variable Cost Units	Character	The time units asso- ciated with the value in the Variable Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month

System Resource

System Resource records store information about physical parts or materials, such as spare bearings or seals, or human resources, such as mechanics or technicians. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Resource family and appear by default on the System Resource datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Count Occur- rences	Logical	Indicates whether the occur- rences of the associated Resource Usages will be dis- played in the Resource Occur- rence Plot on the <u>System</u> <u>Reliability Summary page</u> .	If this value is <i>True</i> , the associated Resource Usages will be dis- played on the Resource Occurrence Plot. If this value is <i>False</i> , the Resource Usages will not be dis- played. This value is <i>True</i> by default.
Description	Text	Any additional information regarding the Resource.	On the System Resource datasheet, you can define this value manually by click- ing the end button and entering text in the Description dialog box.
Fixed Cost	Number	The expense of the Resource that is not dependent on the amount of time the Resource is used.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Name	Character	The name of the Resource (e.g., Mechanic).	You can define this value manually by typ- ing a value into the Name field.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a Sys- tem Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Resource datasheet by default. In System Reli- ability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reli- ability Analysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.
Variable Cost Units	Number	The time units associated with the Variable Cost Field.	The Variable Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Variable Cost	Character	The cost of the Resource that is dependent on the Variable Cost Units.	You can select a value from the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month • Per Year

System Resource Usage

System Resource records store information about how a Resource will be used. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Resource Usage family and appear by default on the System Resource Usage datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Duration	Number	The length of time that a Resource will be used by an Action or Risk. If an Action requires a Mechanic Resource for four hours, then the Dur- ation would be <i>four</i> .	This value is set to <i>0</i> (zero) by default.
Duration Units	Character	The units of time associated with the value in the Duration field. If an Action requires a Mechanic Resource for four hours, then the Duration Units would be <i>Hours</i> .	You can select a value from the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the System Resource Usage record within a System Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reli- ability Analysis may con- tain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely iden- tifies those records within the system.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Quantity	Number	The quantity of a Resource that will be used by an Action or Risk. If an Action requires three Mechanic Resources, then the quantity would be <i>three</i> .	This value is set to <i>1</i> (one) by default.
Resource GUID	Character	Contains a value that uniquely identifies the System Resource record that is asso- ciated with the System Resource Usage record within a System Reliability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reli- ability Analysis may con- tain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely iden- tifies those records within the system.

System Risk

System Risk records store details about a <u>Risk</u> in a System Analysis and the cost of an equipment or location failure due to that Risk. Multiple System Risk records can be linked to a single System Asset record to represent multiple ways in which that piece of equipment or location can fail. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Risk family and appear on the System Risk datasheet by default. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Description	Text	Additional information that is used to identify the Risk.	You can type a description of the Risk into this field manually or click the button to type a description using the Text Editor.
Failure Without Replacement	Logical	Indicates whether or not the piece of equipment or location is replaced after each failure that results from the Risk.	This field contains the value <i>False</i> by default. If this value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment or location is not replaced after each failure (as good as old). If this value is <i>False</i> , the piece of equipment or location is replaced after each failure (as good as new).
Fixed Unplanned Cor- rection Cost	Number	Indicates the set cost of a piece of equipment or location when it fails as a result of the Risk. Fixed cost does not change as a result of other variables such as downtime. An example of fixed unplanned correction cost is the cost of a new piece of equipment.	This field contains the value <i>0</i> by default.
Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
-----------	--------------	---	--
Is Active	Logical	Indicates whether or not the piece of equipment's or location's oper- ating time accu- mulates while the system is running. After a <u>potential failure</u> is detected, this value indicates whether the piece of equip- ment's or loc- ation's remaining life is reduced when the system is active or latent.	This value is a characteristic of the piece of equipment or loc- ation to which the Risk is related and should be the same for all Risks related to the same piece of equipment or location. This field contains the value <i>True</i> by default. If the value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment's or location's operating time will accumulate while the system is running, and the value in the Is Latent field should be <i>False</i> . This means that the v or loc- ation will lose lifetime while the system is running. For example, when a car (i.e., the system) is moving, a tire's (i.e., piece of equipment's) life- time is being used up. The tire is active.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
ls Latent	Logical	Indicates whether or not the piece of equipment's or location's oper- ating time accu- mulates while the system is idle. After a <u>potential failure</u> is detected, this value indicates whether the piece of equip- ment's or loc- ation's remaining life is reduced when the system is active or latent.	This value is a characteristic of the piece of equipment or loc- ation to which the Risk is related and should be the same for all Risks related to the same piece of equipment or location. This field contains the value <i>False</i> by default. If this value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment's or location's operating time will accumulate while the system is idle, and the value in the Is Act- ive field should be <i>False</i> . This means the piece of equipment or location will lose lifetime when the system is not running. For example, when a car (i.e., the system) is stopped, the brake's (i.e., piece of equip- ment's) lifetime is being used up. The brake is latent.
Last Failure	Date	Indicates the most recent date that the piece of equip- ment or loc- ation failed due to the Risk.	You can use the Calendar tool to select the date of the most recent equipment or location replacement.
Name	Character	The name of the Risk.	You can type the name of the Risk in this field manually. This value is used to identify Risks in the System Reliability Analysis. For instance, in the Risks pane on the System Reliability Scen- arios - Risks page, the Name column displays values that exist in the Name field to identify Risks that are displayed in the grid.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Number of Sub- components	Number	The number of subcomponents to which the Risk applies.	This field contains the value 1by default. The value should be greater than 1only if the value in the Failure Without Replacement field contains the value <i>True</i> .
Percentage of PF Interval to Wait	Number	A numeric value that indicates how long to wait to repair the piece of equipment or location after detecting a <u>potential failure</u> due to this Risk.	 This field contains the value <i>0</i> by default and should be used only if the value in the Repair Immediately field is <i>False</i>. This value indicates at what percentage of the value in the PF Interval field the piece of equipment or location should be repaired. For example, an engineer monitors a Risk more frequently after a potential failure is detected and does not want to repair the piece of equipment or location immediately. If a potential failure is detected at the start of the PF Interval, and the engineer knows that the piece of equipment or location will not actually fail for 10 more days (i.e., a PF Interval of <i>10</i>), he might decide to initiate a repair strategy six days later, or at 60 percent of the PF Interval. In this case, the Percentage of PF Interval to Wait is 60 percent.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
PF Interval	Number	The time between when a <u>potential failure</u> is detectable and when an actual failure will occur.	This field contains the value <i>0</i> by default. This value is used along with the value in the Per- centage of PF Interval to Wait field to determine when a piece of equipment or location should be repaired after a fail- ure. The P-F Interval is determ- ined by the user and is not calculated by the system.
PF Interval Units	Character	The time units associated with the PF Interval.	This value is set to <i>Days</i> by default. You can select from a list of the following options: • Minutes • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
Planned Cor- rection Cost	Number	The total cost (i.e., fixed cost plus variable cost) of a planned cor- rection that will prevent the Risk from resulting in a functional failure. An example of a planned cor- rection is a routine equip- ment cleaning.	This field contains the value <i>0</i> by default. A planned correction does not happen as a result of a failure.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Planned Cor- rection Dur- ation	Number	The time required to implement a planned cor- rection.	This field contains the value <i>0</i> by default.
Planned Cor- rection Dur- ation Units	Character	The time units associated with the Planned Cor- rection Dur- ation.	This value is set to <i>Days</i> by default. You can select from a list of the following options: • Hours • Days • Weeks • Months • Years
Repair Imme- diately	Logical	A value that indicates whether or not the piece of equipment or location should be repaired immediately if a <u>potential failure</u> due to this Risk is detected.	This value is set to <i>True</i> by default. If the value is <i>True</i> , the piece of equipment or location should be repaired as soon as an inspection detects a failure, regardless of the remaining life of the piece of equipment or location. If the value is <i>False</i> , the piece of equipment or location should be repaired according to the value in the Percentage of PF Interval to Wait field.

Field	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost	Number	A number that indicates the variable cost associated with the downtime of an piece of equipment or location when it fails due to the Risk. An example of vari- able unplanned correction cost is the cost of labor per time period of the mechanic that repairs the piece of equip- ment or loc- ation.	This field contains the value <i>0</i> by default.
Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost Units	Character	The time units associated with the Variable Unplanned Cor- rection Cost.	This value is set to <i>Per Day</i> by default. You can select from a list of the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month • Per Year

System Scenario

System Scenario records store general information about a scenario in a System Reliability Analysis. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Scenario family. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Description	Text	A brief description that helps dis- tinguish a given Scenario from other Scenarios that exist within a certain Sys- tem Reliability Ana- lysis. For example, the value in the Description field may indicate how the Diagram asso- ciated with one Scen- ario differs from the Diagram associated with another.	On the System Scenario data- sheet, you can define this value manually by click- ing the <u>button</u> and entering text in the Description dialog box.	System Scenario

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
GUID	Character	Contains a value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reli- ability Analysis.	This value is gen- erated auto- matically by the Meridium APM system and does not appear on the System Scenario datasheet. In Sys- tem Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Analysis may con- tain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely iden- tifies those records within the system.	None
Name	Character	The name of the scenario.	This value is pop- ulated auto- matically with <i>New Scenario 1.</i> You can define this value manu- ally.	System Scenario

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
ls Result Valid	Logical	A logical value that indicates whether the current sim- ulation results are valid.	If this value is <i>True</i> , the current simulation results are valid. If the simulation has been modified or changed in any way, this field will be set to <i>False</i> until the sim- ulation has been run again.	None

System Sensor

System Sensor records store information about a sensor that detects the failure of a piece of equipment or location and notifies Switches of the failure. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Sensor family. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields.

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Activated Switches	Text	Identifies the switches that the sensor activ- ates.	In the Sensor's Prop- erties pane on the Sys- tem Reliability Scenarios - Diagram page, the Activated Switches cell contains a list of all Switch ele- ments in the diagram. In the list, you can select the check box to the left of any switch that the sensor activates. After you make your selections, the names of those Switch elements will appear in the Activ- ated Switches cell. These values are stored as text in the Activated Switches field.	None

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Deactivated Switches	Text	Identifies the switches that the sensor deac- tivates.	In the Sensor's Prop- erties pane on the Sys- tem Reliability Scenarios - Diagram page, the Deactivated Switches cell contains a list of all Switch ele- ments in the diagram. In the list, you can select the check box to the left of any switch that the sensor deactivates. After you make your selections, the names of those Switch elements will appear in the Deactiv- ated Switches cell. These values are stored as text in the Deactivated Switches field.	None
Description	Text	Any additional information about the sensor.	On the System Sensor datasheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the <u>m</u> button and entering text in the Description dialog box.	System Sensor

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reliability Ana- lysis.	This value is gen- erated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a Sys- tem Reliability Ana- lysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the sys- tem.	System Sensor
Monitored Elements	Text	Identifies the Diagram ele- ments that the sensor mon- itors.	In the Sensor's Prop- erties pane on the Sys- tem Reliability Scenarios - Diagram page, the Monitored Elements cell con- tains a list of all ele- ments in the diagram. In the list, you can select the check box to the left of any ele- ment that a given sensor monitors. After you make your selections, the names of those elements will appear in the Mon- itored Elements cell. These values are stored as text in the Monitored Elements field.	None

Field Cap- tion	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Name	Character	The name of the sensor.	This value is pop- ulated automatically with <i>Sensor</i> . You can define this value manually.	System Sensor

System Subsystem

System Subsystem records store information about a system of equipment or locations. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Subsystem family. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Connections	Text	This field is used intern- ally by the Meridium APM system to store con- nections in the diagram.	This field does not appear on the System Subsystem datasheet.	None
Diagram	Binary	This field is used intern- ally by the Meridium APM system to store the diagram.	This field does not appear on the System Subsystem datasheet.	None
Description	Text	Any additional information regarding the subsystem.	On the System Subsystem datasheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the e button and entering text in the Description dia- log box.	System Sub- system
Element Properties	Text	This field is used intern- ally by the Meridium APM system to store ele- ment prop- erties.	This field does not appear on the System Subsystem datasheet.	None

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Fixed Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction when the sub- system fails. Fixed cost does not change as a result of other variables such as downtime.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.	System Sub- system
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely iden- tifies the record within a System Reli- ability Ana- lysis.	This value is gen- erated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a Sys- tem Reliability Ana- lysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the sys- tem.	System Sub- system
Lost Pro- duction Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction per unit of time when the sub- system is not running.	The Lost Production Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.	System Sub- system

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Lost Pro- duction Cost Units	Character	The time units for the Lost Production Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: Per Hour Per Day Per Week Per Month Per Year	System Sub- system

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
Production Contribution	Number	The per- centage that this piece of equipment or location will contribute to the overall production capacity of its parent sys- tem, with respect to other ele- ments that are running in parallel to the piece of equip- ment or loc- ation. For example, if two pieces of equipment are running in parallel with one another and each one contributes 50% to the overall pro- duction out- put, you would enter a value of 50 in the Pro- duction Con- tribution field of each piece of equipment. The Pro- duction Con- tribution of each element in the Dia-	The Production Con- tribution is set to 100 by default. If the piece of equipment or location does not contribute to the over- all production output of its parent system, you can set the Pro- duction Contribution to 0 (zero). The value in the Production Con- tribution field of the Default subsystem or Root Subsystem is dis- abled on that sub- system's Properties pane.	System Sub- system

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage	Datasheet
		gram will be used to cal- culate the overall pro- duction loss of the parent system when one or more elements are down.		
Variable Cost	Number	The cost incurred dur- ing the down- time due to subsystem failures or shutdowns.	The Variable Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.	System Sub- system
Variable Cost Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Vari- able Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month • Per Year	System Sub- system

System Switch

System Switch records store information about components that are activated or deactivated by a Sensor when a failure occurs. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the System Switch family and appear by default on the System Switch datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields. This list is not comprehensive.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Description	Text	A description of the switch that allows you to identify the switch and distinguish it from other switches.	On the System Switch data- sheet, you can define this value manually by clicking the button and enter- ing text in the Description dialog box.
Equipment Type	Character	A description of the equipment type that allows you to identify the equipment type and dis- tinguish it from other equipment types.	You can define this value manually by typing a value into the Equipment Type field.
Fixed Cost	Number	The cost to fix the switch when it fails. Fixed cost does not change as a res- ult of other variables such as downtime.	This value is set to 0 (zero) by default.
GUID	Character	A value that uniquely identifies the record within a System Reli- ability Analysis.	This value is generated automatically by the Meridium APM system and disabled. In System Reliability Analyses, GUIDs are used to identify records because Entity Keys will not exist until a record is saved. Because a System Reliability Analysis may contain unsaved records, it is necessary to use a value that uniquely identifies those records within the system.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
ls Initially On	Logical	A flag that indicates whether the Switch is ini- tially on or off.	If this value is <i>False</i> , then the Switch is turned off ini- tially. If this value is <i>True</i> , then the Switch is turned on initially. This value is set to <i>True</i> by default.
Lost Pro- duction Cost	Number	The cost of lost pro- duction per unit of time when the switch is not running.	The Lost Production Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Lost Pro- duction Cost Units	Character	The time units for the Lost Production Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options: • Per Hour • Per Day • Per Week • Per Month • Per Year
Name	Character	The name of the switch.	This value is populated automatically with <i>Switch</i> . You can define this value manually.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Production Contribution	Number	The percentage that this piece of equipment or location will contribute to the overall production capacity of its parent sys- tem, with respect to other elements that are running in parallel to the piece of equipment or location.	The Production Con- tribution is set to 100 by default. If the piece of equipment or location does not contribute to the overall production output of its parent system, you can set the Production Contribution to 0 (zero).
		For example, if two pieces of equipment are running in parallel with one another and each one contributes 50% to the overall production output, you would enter a value of 50 in the Pro- duction Contribution field of each piece of equipment. The Pro- duction Contribution of each element in the Dia- gram will be used to cal- culate the overall production loss of the parent system when one or more elements are down.	
Variable Cost	Number	The cost incurred during the downtime due to fail- ures or shutdowns.	The Variable Cost is set to 0 (zero) by default.
Variable Cost Units	Character	The time units associated with the value in the Vari- able Cost field.	You can select a value from the following options:
			• Per Hour
			Per Day
			Per Week Per Month
			Per Year

Unreliability Cost

An Unreliability Cost record stores information about an analysis that calculates the cost of unreliable elements, systems, or units. The following table provides an alphabetical list and description of the fields that exist for the Unreliability Cost family, which appear by default on the Unreliability Cost datasheet. The information in the table reflects the baseline state and behavior of these fields.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Analysis ID	Character	The name of the Cost of Unreliability Analysis.	This field is populated auto- matically with the value you entered in the Analysis Name text box when you save the Unreliability Cost Analysis.
Asset ID Field	Character	The field name in the query or dataset that retrieves the names of the equip- ment and locations on which the ana- lysis is being per- formed.	This value will be auto- matically populated with the value you selected in the Unit ID list on the Select Failure Fields screen of the Cost of Unreliability Builder .
Automatically Generated	Logical	Indicates whether the analysis is auto- matically generated.	If this value is set to <i>True</i> , the Cost of Unreliability Analysis is automatically generated by a Reliability Automation Rule.
Availability	Number	The percentage of the time that a pro- duction unit is up and running versus the Calendar time.	This value is calculated based on the downtime of a piece of equipment or location during the analysis period. This value also appears in the Avail- ability column on the Assets tab of the Failure Data win- dow.
Currency	Character	The currency used to display financial res- ults in various places throughout Unre- liability Cost.	This value is set to <i>\$</i> by default unless specified otherwise.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Datasource ID	Character	The location of the data source asso- ciated with the source data.	If the value in the Datasource Type field is <i>Query</i> or <i>Dataset</i> , this value is populated auto- matically with a file location where the data can be accessed.
Datasource Type	Character	The type of data source associated with the source data.	This value will be populated automatically with <i>Query</i> or <i>Dataset</i> if the failure data comes from a query or data- set. If you enter manual fail- ure data this value will be populated automatically with <i>None</i> .
Downtime	Number	The amount of time that a unit is not available for use for any reason.	This field is populated auto- matically with a value mapped from the query or dataset. The value cor- responds with the field named in the Downtime Field field.
Downtime Field	Character	The field name in the query or dataset that retrieves the Downtime data.	This field is populated auto- matically with the value you entered in the Downtime field on the Provide Inform- ation for Downtime screen in the Cost of Unreliability Builder .
Downtime Units	Character	The time unit that downtime is meas- ured in (e.g., days).	This field is populated auto- matically with the value you entered in the Time Units field on the Provide Inform- ation for Downtown screen in the Cost of Unreliability Builder . Alternatively, you can change this value via the Units of Measure dialog box.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Failure Date Field	Character	The field name in the query or dataset that retrieves the Fail- ure Date data. Fail- ure Dates are the dates on which the piece of equipment or location failed.	This value is populated auto- matically with the value you selected in the Failure Date list on the Select Failure Fields screen of the Cost of Unreliability Builder .
Failures	Text	The failure data used for the Unreliability Growth Analysis.	On the Unreliability Cost data- sheet, this field is populated automatically with the value <i><failuredataset></failuredataset></i> . When you click the <u>button</u> , the Fail- ures dialog box appears with the code for your failure data- set.
Installation Date Field	Character	The field name in the query or dataset that retrieves the installation date data. The installation date is the day on which the piece of equipment or loc- ation was installed.	This value is populated auto- matically with the value you selected in the Installation Date list on the Select Failure Fields screen of the Cost of Unreliability Builder .
LPO	Number	Lost Profit Oppor- tunity, or profit that the company loses when it cannot sup- ply product to meet customer demand.	This field is populated auto- matically with a value in the LPO column on the Assets tab of the Failure Data win- dow. The value corresponds with the field named in the LPO Field field.
LPO Field	Character	The field name in the query or dataset that retrieves lost profit opportunity data.	This value is populated auto- matically with the value you selected in the Lost Profit Opportunity list on the Provide Information on Cost screen of the Cost ofUnre- liability Builder .

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Maintenance Cost	Number	The cost of fixing the equipment after a failure occurs, includ- ing both the labor and the material costs.	This field is populated auto- matically with a value in the Maintenance Cost column on the Assets tab of the Failure Data window. The value cor- responds with the field named in the Maintenance Cost Field field.
Maintenance Cost Field	Character	The field name in the query or dataset that retrieves the maintenance cost data.	This value is populated auto- matically with the value you selected in the Maintenance Cost list on the Provide Information on Cost screen of the Cost of Unreliability Builder .
MTBF	Number	The Mean Time Between Failures for the units being ana- lyzed.	The value in this field is cal- culated by the Meridium APM system and is populated auto- matically.
MTBF Period Length	Number	The amount of time over which the cal- culation of MTBF is performed.	You can <u>define this value</u> <u>manually</u> using the MTBF Cal- culation dialog box.
MTBF Period Units	Character	The time units the MTBF Period are measured in.	You can <u>define this value</u> <u>manually</u> using the MTBF Cal- culation dialog box.
MTBF Units	Character	The units the MTBF are measure in.	You can <u>define this value</u> <u>manually</u> using the Units of Measure dialog box.
MTTR	Number	The Mean Time to Repair, or the aver- age amount of time that it takes to restart the pro- duction units(s) after a failure occurs.	The value in this field is cal- culated by the Meridium APM system and is populated auto- matically.

Field Caption	Data Type	Description	Behavior and Usage
Published	Logical	Indicates whether an analysis is <u>published</u> (<i>True</i>) or <u>unpub</u> - <u>lished</u> (<i>False</i>).	This field is set to <i>True</i> when the analysis is published.
Report Period	Character	The time interval in which results are cal- culated and presen- ted for the Pareto charts.	You can define <u>the reporting</u> <u>period</u> manually using the Units of Measure dialog box.
Trend Fre- quency	Character	The time interval in which results are cal- culated and presen- ted for the trends.	You can define <u>the trend fre</u> - <u>quency</u> manually using the Units of Measure dialog box.
Units	Number	The number of pro- duction units included in the ana- lysis.	This value is populated auto- matically with the number of units that were specified in the failure dataset you entered for this analysis.

Parameters for the Reliability Production URL

The URL for displaying Reliability Production Analyses, **meridium://Reliability/Production**, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the Page parameter.

Note: Some parameter values for the Reliability Production Analysis URL are case sensitive. When constructing URLs for Reliability Production Analyses, use the exact case that appears in the following table.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
EntyKey	Specifies which Reli- ability Pro- duction Analysis you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired ana- lysis.	Use this parameter when Page- e=ProductionAnalysis.
Page	Specifies whether to display the list of exist- ing analyses or a specific analysis.	List ProductionAnalysis Builder	 List:Displays the Select a Production Analysis from the list page. Production Analysis: Displays the Production Analysis page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey parameter. When you use the ProductionAnalysis parameter, you must also use the EntyKey parameter. Builder: Launches the Production Analysis Builder, which you can use to create a new analysis.
Query	Specifies the Catalog path of the query that you want to use for cre- ating a new analysis.	The Catalog path of the query that you want to use for creating a new analysis.	This parameter must be used when Page=Production Analysis. When you specify a query, the new analysis will be created using the first date field in the query as the production date and the first numeric field as the production amount.

Examples of the Production Analysis URLs

meridium://Reliability/Production?Page=List

Displays the **Select a Production Analysis from the list**page.

• meridium://Reliability/Production?Page=ProductionAnalysis&EntyKey=2866882

Displays the **Production Analysis** page for the Reliability Production Analysis with the Entity Key 2866882.

 meridium://Reliability/Production?Page=ProductionAnalysis&Queryy=Public\Meridium\Queries\Production Data

Creates a new analysis using the data returned by the Production Data query. The first date field in the query is used for the Production Date, and the first numeric field in the query is used for the Production amount.

• meridium://Reliability/Production?Page=Builder

Launches the **Production Analysis Builder**, where you can begin the process of creating a new analysis.

Parameters for the Spares Analysis URL

The URL for displaying Reliability Spares Analyses, meridi-

um://Reliability/Spares/Analysis, accepts the parameters described in the following table.

Para- meters	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Ana- lysisKey	Specifies the analysis for which you want to view Recom- mendations.	The Entity Key of the desired Spares Ana- lysis record.	Use this parameter when Page=Recommendations or Page- e=RecommendationDetail to view the Recom- mendation information for the Spares Analysis associated with the spe- cified Entity Key.
EntyKey	Specifies which Spares Analysis that you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired analysis.	You can use this para- meter alone to open the Spares Analysis asso- ciated with the specified Entity Key.
Page	Specifies whether to dis- play the Recom- mendations page or the Recom- mendation Details page for the analysis spe- cified by the EntyKey para- menter.	Recommendations Recom- mendationDetail	 Recommendations: Displays the Recommendations page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Recommendation Detail: Displays the Recommendation Details page for the Recommendation record identified by the RecommKey para- meter.

Para- meters	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Recom- mKey	Specifies which Recom- mendation record you want to view on the Recom- mendation Details page.	The Entity Key of the desired Recom- mendation record.	This parameter is required when Page- =Reco- mmendationDetail. You can set the parameter value to 0 (zero) to create a new Recommendation for the analysis defined by the specified Entity Key.

Examples of the Spares Analysis URLs

• meridium://Reliability/Spares/List

Displays the **Select a Spares Analysis from the List** page.

• meridium://Reliability/Spares/Analysis

Displays a new Spares Analysis record on the **Spares Analysis** page, where you can create a new Spares Analysis.

• meridium://Reliability/Spares/Analysis?EntyKey=64251730965

Displays the **Spares Analysis** page for the Spares Analysis record with the Entity Key 64251730965.

 meridium://Reliability/Spares/Analysis?Pagee=Recommendations&AnalysisKey=64251730965

Opens the **Recommendations** page, which displays the Recommendation records associated with the Spares Analysis record with the Entity Key 64251730965.

 meridium://Reliability/Spares/Analysis?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey=64251731123&AnalysisKey=64251731092

Opens the **Recommendations Details** page, which displays the Recommendation record with the Entity Key 64251731123 and linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 64251731092.

Parameters for the Reliability Growth URL

The URL for displaying Reliability Growth Analyses, **meridium://Reliability/Growth**, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the **Page** parameter.

Note: Some parameter values for the Reliability Growth Analysis URL are case sensitive. When constructing URLs for Reliability Growth Analyses, use the exact case that appears in the following table.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
	Performs the action spe- cified by the value.	Find Create CreateTask ReloadData AutoCreate	 Find: Launches the Find Reliability Growth Analysis window and dis- plays <i>Reliability</i> <i>Growth</i> in the Search In field. Create: Launches the Reliability Growth Builder. Create Task: Launches the New Task Builder. Reload Data: Reloads the under- lying query or data- set on which a given analysis is based, updating the analysis with the most current information in the database. This para- meter must be used in con- junction with the EntyKey parameter, as it is meant to reload that data for an <i>existing</i> ana- lysis. AutoCreate: Auto- matically creates a Reliability Growth Analysis using a query. This para- meter must be used in con- junction with the EntyKey parameter, as it or near to reload that data for an <i>existing</i> ana- lysis.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
			parameter with the values Find, Create, CreateTask, and ReloadData you must define the Page para- meter.
AssetIDField	Specifies the query column that contains the ID of the piece of equipment or location that will be used for the Reli- ability Growth Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	 This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and you are cre- ating a Reli- ability Growth Analysis based on failure dates. This parameter is optional when you are creating a Reliability Growth Analysis based on cumu- lative operating time.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
COTField	Specifies the query column that contains the cumu- lative oper- ating time for a Reliability Growth Ana- lysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and you are creating a Reli- ability Growth Ana- lysis based on cumulative operating time.
COTUnits	Specifies the units for cumulative operating time for a Reli- ability Growth Analysis.	Hours Days Weeks Months Quarters Years Custom	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL contains the COTField parameter.
CustomCOTUnits	Specifies cus- tom units for cumulative operating time for a Reli- ability Growth Analysis.	Any text (e.g., miles).	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL contains the COT Field parameter. If the value for the COTUnits parameter is <i>Custom</i> then this parameter is required and cannot be empty.
DowntimeField	Specifies the query column that contains the downtime (e.g., Total Time to Repair) that will be used for the Reli- ability Growth Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL contains the AssetIDField para- meter and the Fail- ureDateField parameter.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
DownTimeUnits	The time units that will be used for downtime.	Hours Days Weeks Months Quarters Years	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL contains the AssetIDField para- meter and the Fail- ureDateField parameter.
EntyKey	Specifies which Reli- ability Growth Analysis you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired ana- lysis.	Use this parameter when the Page para- meter is set to Sum- mary, MTBFPlot, FailuresPlot, Mul- tipleGrowthAnalysis, DetailedResults, Recommendations, or Recom- mendationDetail.
FailureDateField	Specifies the query column that contains the failure dates of the equipment or locations that will be used for the Reli- ability Growth Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	 This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and you are cre- ating a Reli- ability Growth Analysis based on failure dates. This parameter is optional when you are creating a Reliability Growth Analysis based on cumu- lative operating time.
Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
----------------------------	--	--	---
Install- ationDateField	Specifies the query column that contains the install- ation date of the equip- ment or loc- ations that will be used for the Reli- ability Growth Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL contains the AssetIDField para- meter and the Fail- ureDateField parameter.
IsEventData	Indicates whether the dataset used in the Reli- ability Growth Analysis con- tains event- based data.	True, true False, false	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL can be used when creating a Reli- ability Growth Ana- lysis based on dates or cumulative oper- ating time. If you do not specify a value for this parameter, the default value will be <i>True</i> .
Meas- urementName	Specifies the name of the data you are measuring throughout the analysis (e.g., failures, cost, events).	Any Text.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL can be used when creating a Reli- ability Growth Ana- lysis based on dates or cumulative oper- ating time. If you do not specify a value for this parameter, the default value will be <i>Failures</i> .

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Num- berOfFailuresField	Specifies the query column that contains the number of failures per datapoint in the Reliability Growth Ana- lysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when cre- ating a Reliability Growth Analysis based on failure dates or cumulative oper- ating time.
QueryPath	Specifies the path of the query you will use to auto- matically cre- ate a Reliability Growth Ana- lysis.	The path of the desired query in the Meridium APM Framework.	This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate in order to indicate which query will be used to create the Reli- ability Growth Ana- lysis.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Page	Specifies whether to display the list of existing analyses or a specific ana- lysis.	List Summary MTBFPlot FailuresPlot Mul- tipleGrowthAna- lysis DetailedResults Recommendations Recom- mendationDetail	 List:Displays the Select a Growth Analysis from the List page. Summary: Displays Reliability Growth Analysis page for the analysis spe- cified by the EntyKey parameter. MTBFPlot: Displays the MTBF Plot pagefor the ana- lysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. FailuresRatePlot: Displays the Fail- ures Rate Plot page for the analysis spe- cified by the EntyKey parameter. FailuresPlot: Dis- plays the Cumu- lative Failures Plot page for the ana- lysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Mul- tipleGrowthAna- lysis: Displays the Multiple Growth Analysis page for the analyses spe- cified by the EntyKey parameter. DetailedResults: Displays the AMSAA Reliability Growth Model page for the ana-

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
			 lysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Recom- mendations: Displays the Recommendations page for the ana- lysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Recom- mendationDetail: Displays the Recommendation Details page for the Recom- mendation record identified by the RecommKey para- meter.
RecommKey	Specifies which Recom- mendation record you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired Recom- mendation record.	Use this parameter in conjunction with the Recom- mendationDetail para- meter. You can set the parameter value to 0 (zero) to create a new Recommendation.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Start Time	Specifies the start time for the Reliability Growth Ana- lysis.	A numerical num- ber.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL contains the COTField parameter. You can set this para- meter to indicate a start time for the Reli- ability Growth Ana- lysis. If this parameter is not included, the start time will be the first failure time.

Examples of Reliability Growth URLs

meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=Summary&EntyKey=2866882

Displays the **Reliability Growth Analysis** summary for the Reliability Growth Analysis with the Entity Key 2866882.

 meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=Summary&Action=ReloadData&EntyKeyy=2866882

Opens the Reliability Growth Analysis with the Entity Key 2866882 but instead of displaying the results and calculations that were last saved, this URL *reloads* the underlying query or dataset to update the analysis with the most current information in the database. Note that if the analysis is based on a query that contains a prompt, using Action=ReloadData will cause the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to not be displayed. Instead, the query will be executed using the prompt values that were supplied when the analysis was last saved. To display the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to change the prompt values, you will need to use the **Reload Data** link on the task menu.

• meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=Summary&Action=Create

Launches the **Reliability Growth Builder**, which takes you step-by-step through the process of creating a new Reliability Growth Analysis.

• meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=MTBFPlot&EntyKey=2866882

Displays the **MTBF Plot Screen** for the analysis with the Entity Key 2866882.

• meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=Recommendations&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens the Recommendations page, which displays the Recommendation records associated with the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey=0&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens a new Recommendation record, which, when saved, will be linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey= 1234567&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens on the **Recommendation Details** page of the Recommendation record with the Entity Key 1234567 that is linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

- meridi
 - um://Reli-

ability/Growth?Page=MultipleGrowthAnalysis&AnalysisKeys=64251548660,64251622390

Opens the **MultipleGrowth Analysis**page, which displays both the analysis with the Entity Key 64251548660 and the analysis with the Entity Key 64251622390.

Parameters for the Reliability Distribution URL

The URL for displaying Reliability Distribution Analyses, **meridium://Reliability/Distribution**, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the Page parameter.

Note: Some parameter values for the Reliability Distribution URL are case sensitive. When constructing URLs for Reliability Distribution Analyses, use the exact case that appears in the following table.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Action	Performs the Action specified by the value.	Find Create CreateTask ReloadData AutoCreate	 Find: Launches the Find a Reliability Distribution Analysis window with <i>Reliability</i> <i>Growth</i> selected in the Search In field. Create: Launches the Reliability Growth Builder. CreateTask: Launches the New Task Builder. ReloadData: Reloads the underlying query or dataset on which a given analysis is based, updating the ana- lysis with the most current information in the database. This parameter must be used in conjunction with the EntyKey para- meter, as it is meant to reload that data for an <i>existing</i> analysis. AutoCreate: Automatically cre- ates a Reliability Distribution Ana- lysis using a query. This para- meter must be used in con-

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
			junction with the QueryPath para- meter.
			Note that to use this parameter with the values Find, Create, CreateTask, and ReloadData you must define the Page parameter.
AssetIDField	Specifies the query column that contains the ID of the equipment or locations that will be used for the Reliability Distribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate in order to identify the equipment or loc- ations that will be used for the Reli- ability Distribution Analysis.
DowntimeField	Specifies the query column that contains the downtime of the equip- ment or loc- ations that will be used for the Reli- ability Dis- tribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when creating a Reli- ability Distribution Analysis based on failure dates or time to failure.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
DownTimeUnits	The time units for downtime.	Hours Days Weeks Months Quarters Years	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when creating a Reli- ability Distribution Analysis based on failure dates or time to failure.
EntyKey	Specifies which Reli- ability Dis- tribution analysis you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired ana- lysis.	Use this parameter when the Page para- meter is set to Sum- mary, Distribution, ProbabilityPlot, Fail- ureRatePlot, CDFPlot, PDFPlot, PMOptimization, FailureProbability, Recommendations, or Recom- mendationDetail. Specify multiple Entity Keys when the Page parameter is set to Com- positePlot.
FailureDateField	Specifies the query column that contains the failure dates of the equip- ment or loc- ations that will be used for the Reli- ability Dis- tribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate in order to build a Reli- ability Distribution Analysis based on failure dates.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Fail- ureWithReplacement	Indicates whether the equipment or locations are replaced after a fail- ure. If this parameter does not exist, it means replaced after failure.	True False	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when creating a Reliability Dis- tribution Analysis based on failure dates or time to fail- ure.
InstallationDateField	Specifies the query column that contains the installation date of the equipment or locations that will be used for the Reliability Distribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL con- tains the Fail- ureDateField parameter.
NumberOfFailuresField	Specifies the query column that contains the number of failures per datapoint in the Reli- ability Dis- tribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when creating a Reli- ability Distribution Analysis based on failure dates or time to failure.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Num- ber- OfSubcomponentsField	Specifies the query column that contains the number of sub- components that will be used for the Reliability Distribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when creating a Reli- ability Distribution Analysis based on failure dates or time to failure.
QueryPath	Specifies the path of the query you will use to auto- matically cre- ate a Reliability Distribution Analysis.	The path of the desired query.	This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate to indicate which query will be used to create the Reli- ability Distribution Analysis.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
			 the analysis specified by the EntyKey parameter. PDFPlot: Displays the Probability Density Function Plot page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey parameter.
			 PMOptimization: Displays the Pre- ventive Main- tenance Optimization dia- log box, where you can record PM optimization values for the analysis specified by the EntyKey parameter.
			• Fail- ureProbability: Displays the Fail- ure Probability Calculation dia- log box, where you can perform calculation val- ues for the ana- lysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter.
			• CompositePlot: Displays the Mul- tiple Distribution Plots page for the analyses spe- cified by the EntyKey para- meter.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
			 Recom- mendations: Dis- plays the Recom- mendations page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter.
			 Recom- mend- ationDetail: Displays the Recom- mendation Details page for the Recom- mendation record identified by the Recom- mKey parameter.
RecommKey	Specifies which Recom- mendation record you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired Recom- mendation record.	Use this parameter in conjunction with the Recom- mendationDetail parameter. You can set the parameter value to (zero) to cre- ate a new Recom- mendation.
ReplacementField	Specifies the query column that contains the replace- ments that will be used for the Reli- ability Dis- tribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and can be used when creating a Reliability Dis- tribution Analysis based on failure dates or time to fail- ure.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
TTFField	Specifies the query column that contains the time to fail- ure of the equipment or locations that will be used for the Reliability Distribution Analysis.	The Alias of the desired field. If no Alias exists, the Field ID will be accepted.	This parameter is required when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate in order to build a Reli- ability Distribution Analysis based on time to failure.
TTFUnits	The time units for time to fail- ure.	Hours Days Weeks Months Quarters Years	This parameter is optional when the Action parameter is set to AutoCreate and the URL con- tains the TTFField parameter.
Туре	Specifies the type of mul- tiple dis- tribution plot to dis- play.	ProbabilityPlot FailureRatePlot PDFPlot CDFPlot	Use this parameter when Page- e=CompositePlot. Note also that to dis- play a multiple dis- tribution plot, you must specify more than one Entity Keys for the EntyKey para- meter.
Var	Specifies the type of dis- tribution to display.	TTF TTR	Use this parameter when Page- e=Distribution. If you do not specify this parameter, the distribution type will default to Time to Failure (TTF).

Examples of Reliability Distribution URLs

meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=List

Displays the Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page.

meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=Summary&EntyKey=1234567

Displays the **Reliability Distribution Summary** page for the Reliability Distribution Analysis with the Entity Key 1234567.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=Summary&Action=ReloadData&EntyKeyy=2866882

Opens the Reliability Distribution Analysis with the Entity Key 2866882 but instead of displaying the results and calculations that were last saved, this URL will *reload* the underlying query or dataset to update the analysis with the most current information in the database. Note that if the analysis is based on a query that contains a prompt, using Action=ReloadData will not cause the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to be displayed. Instead, the query will be executed using the prompt values that were supplied when the analysis was last saved. To display the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to change the prompt values, you will need to use the **Reload Data** link on the task menu.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=Distribution&Var=TTR&EntyKey=1234567

Displays the **Time to Repair Distribution** page for the Reliability Distribution Analysis with the Entity Key 1234567.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=CompositePlot&Typee=PDFPlot&EntyKey=123,124,125

Opens the **Multiple Distribution Plot** page, displaying the composite PDF plot for the entities with the Entity Keys 123, 124, and 125.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=Recommendations&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens the Recommendations page, which displays the Recommendation records associated with the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey=0&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens a new Recommendation record, which, when saved, will be linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey= 1234567&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175 Opens the **Recommendation Details** page, which displays the Recommendation record with the Entity Key 1234567 and linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

Parameters for the Probability Distribution URL

The URL for displaying Probability Distribution Analyses, **meridium://Reliability/Distribution/General**, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the Page parameter.

Note: Some parameter values for the Probability Distribution URL are case sensitive. When constructing URLs for Probability Distribution Analyses, use the exact case that appears in the following table.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Action	Description Performs the Action specified by the value.	Find Create CreateTask ReloadData	 Find: Launches the Find a Reliability Dis- tribution Analysis win- dow. Create: Launches the Reliability Growth Builder. CreateTask: Launches the New Task Builder. ReloadData: Reloads the underlying query or dataset on which a given analysis is based, updating the analysis with the most current information in the database. This parameter must be used in conjunction with the EntyKey para- meter, as it is meant to reload that data for an <i>existing</i> analysis.
			Note that to use this parameter, you must also define the Page parameter.

Parameters for the Probability Distribution URL

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
EntyKey	Specifies which Probability Dis- tribution ana- lysis you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired analysis.	Use this parameter when the Page parameter is set to Summary, Dis- tribution, ProbabilityPlot, FailureRatePlot, CDFPlot, PDFPlot, PMOp- timization, Fail- ureProbability, Recommendations, or RecommendationDetail. Specify multiple Entity Keys when Page- e=CompositePlot.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Page	Specifies whether to dis- play the list of existing ana- lyses or a spe- cific analysis.	List Summary ProbabilityPlot PDFPlot CDFPlot Recommendations Recom- mendationDetail	 List: Displays the Select a Distribution Analysis from the List page. Summary: Displays Reliability Dis- tribution Summary page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey parameter. ProbabilityPlot: Dis- plays the Probability Plot page for the ana- lysis specified by the EntyKey parameter. CDFPlot: Displays the Cumulative Dis- tribution Function Plot page for the ana- lysis specified by the EntyKey parameter. PDFPlot: Displays the Probability Density Function Plot page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Recommendations: Displays the Recom- mendations page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Recom- mendationDetail: Dis- plays the Recommendation Details page for the Recommendation record identified by the RecommKey para-

Parameters for the Probability Distribution URL

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
			meter.
Recom- mKey	Specifies which Recom- mendation record you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired Recom- mendation record.	Use this parameter in conjunction with the RecommendationDetail parameter. You can set the parameter value to 0 (zero) to create a new Recommendation.

Examples of Probability Distribution URLs

• meridium://Reliability/Distribution/General?Page=List

Displays the **Probability Distribution List** page, from which you can open an existing Probability Distribution Analysis.

• meridium://Reliability/Distribution/General?Page=Summary&EntyKey=1234567

Displays the **Probability Distribution Results** page for the Probability Distribution Analysis with the Entity Key 1234567.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution/General?Page=Summary&Actionn=ReloadData&EntyKey=2866882

Opens the Probability Distribution Analysis with the Entity Key 2866882 but instead of displaying the results and calculations that were last saved, this URL will *reload* the underlying query or dataset to update the analysis with the most current information in the database. Note that if the analysis is based on a query that contains a prompt, using Action=ReloadData will not cause the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to be displayed. Instead, the query will be executed using the prompt values that were supplied when the analysis was last saved. To display the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to change the prompt values, you will need to use the **Reload Data** link on the task menu.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution/General?Page=Recommendations&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens the Recommendations page, which displays the Recommendation records associated with the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Distribution/General?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey=0&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens a new Recommendation record, which, when saved, will be linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

• meridi-

um://Reliability/Distribution/General?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey= 1234567&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens on the **Recommendation Details** page the Recommendation record with the Entity Key 1234567 and linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

Parameters for the System Reliability URL

The URL for displaying Reliability System analyses, **meridi**-

um://Reliability/SystemReliability, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the Page parameter.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Ana- lysisKey	Specifies which System Reli- ability Analysis you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired System Ana- lysis record.	You can use this para- meter when the Page parameter is set to Ana- lysis,Recommendations or Recom- mendationDetail.
Page	Determines which page is	List	• List: Displays the Reli- ability System Ana-
	displayed.		lysis page.
		Recommendations	Analysis: Displays the System Reliability
		Recom- mendationDetail	Summary page for an analysis that has res- ults. Displays the Sys- tem Reliability Definition page for an analysis that <i>does not</i> have results.
			 Recommendations: Displays the Recom- mendations page.
			 Recom- mendationDetail: Dis- plays the Recommendation Details page.
			Depending on which value you specify for the Page parameter, other parameters and values may be required to cre- ate a fully functional URL. See the <u>examples</u> for more details.

Parameters for the System Reliability URL

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Recom- mKey	Determines which Reliability Recom- mendation record to dis- play on the Recom- mendation Details page.	The Entity Key of the desired Reliability Recommendation record.	You can use this para- meter when the Page parameter is set to <i>RecommendationDetail</i> .

Examples of the System Reliability URL

• meridium://Reliability/SystemReliability?Page=List

Displays the Select a System Reliability Analysis from the List page.

meridium://Reliability/SystemReliability?Page=Analysis

Displays a new System Reliability Analysis on the **System Reliability Analysis Definition** page.

 meridium://Reliability/SystemReliability?Page=Analysis&AnalysisKey=01234567890

If the System Analysis record identified by the Entity Key 01234567890 *has*results, displays the **System Reliability Summary** page.

-or-

If the System Analysis record identified by the Entity Key 01234567890 does not results, displays the **System Reliability Analysis Definition** page.

- meridi
 - um://Reli-

ability/SystemReliability?Page=Recommendations&AnalysisKey=01234567890

Displays the **Recommendations** page, which displays a list of Reliability Recommendation records that are linked to the System Analysis record identified by the Entity Key 01234567890.

• meridi-

um://Reli-

ability/SystemReliability?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey=11223344556&AnalysisKey=0

Displays the **Recommendation Details** page for the Reliability Recommendation record represented by the Entity Key 11223344556, which is linked to the System Analysis record identified by the Entity Key 01234567890.

Parameters for the Cost of Unreliability Analysis URL

The URL for displaying Cost of Unreliability Analyses, **meridium://Reliability/Cost**, accepts the parameters described in the following table. Note that to create a functional URL, you must define at least the Page parameter.

Note: Some parameter values for the Cost of Unreliability URL are case sensitive. When constructing URLs for Cost of Unreliability Analyses, use the exact case that appears in the following table.

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Action	Performs the action specified by the value.	Find Create CreateTask ReloadData	 Find: Launches the Find Cost of Unre- liability Analysis win- dow with Unreliability Cost selected in the Search In field. Create: Launches the Beliability Crowth
			 Builder. CreateTask: Launches the New Task Builder.
			• ReloadData: Reloads the underlying query or dataset on which a given analysis is based, updating the analysis with the most current information in the database. This parameter must be used in conjunction with the EntyKey para- meter, as it is meant to reload that data for an <i>existing</i> analysis.
			Note that to use this parameter, you must also define the Page parameter.

Parameters for the Cost of Unreliability Analysis URL

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
EntyKey	Specifies which Cost of Unre- liability Analysis you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired analysis.	Use this parameter when the Page parameter is set to Summary, Pare- toPlot, PlotData, Recom- mendations, or RecommendationDetail.
Metric	Metric Specifies the type of plot to display.	MaintCost,LPO	Use this parameter when you use the ParetoPlot or PlotData parameter.
		MTBF	
		MTTR	
	Avail		
		Failures	
		Downtime	

Parameter Name	Description	Accepted Value(s)	Notes
Page	Specifies whether to dis- play the list of existing ana- lyses or a spe- cific analysis.	List Summary ParetoPlot PlotData Recommendations Recom- mendationDetail	 List: Displays the Select a Cost of Unre- liability Analysis page. Summary: Displays the Cost of Unre- liability page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. ParetoPlot: Displays for the specified ana- lysis the plot indicated by the Metric para- meter. PlotData: Displays the Plot Data page for the specified analysis and the plot type indicated by the Metric para- meter. Recommendations: Displays the Recom- mendations page for the analysis specified by the EntyKey para- meter. Recom- mendationDetail: Dis- plays the Recommendation Details page for the Recommendation record identified by the RecommKey para- meter.
Recom- mKey	Specifies which Recom- mendation record you want to view.	The Entity Key of the desired Recom- mendation record.	Use this parameter in conjunction with the RecommendationDetail parameter. You can set the parameter value to 0 (zero) to create a new Recommendation.

Examples of Cost of Unreliability URLs

meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=List

Displays the Select a Cost of Unreliability Analysis page.

meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=Summary&EntyKey=1234567

Displays the **Cost of Unreliability Analysis** summary page for the analysis with the Entity Key 1234567.

 meridium://Reliability/Growth?Page=Summary&Actionn=ReloadData&EntyKey=2866882

Opens the Cost of Unreliability Analysis with the Entity Key 2866882 but instead of displaying the results and calculations that were last saved, this URL will *reload* the underlying query or dataset to update the analysis with the most current information in the database. Note that if the analysis is based on a query that contains a prompt, using Action=ReloadData will not cause the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to be displayed. Instead, the query will be executed using the prompt values that were supplied when the analysis was last saved. To display the **Enter parameter values** dialog box to change the prompt values, you will need to use the **Reload Data** link on the task menu.

• meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=ParetoPlot&Metric=MTBF&EntyKey=1234567

Displays the MTBF plot for the analysis with the Entity Key 1234567.

• meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=PlotData&Metric=Failures&EntyKey=1234567

Opens the **Plot Data** page, displaying the failure data for the analysis with the Entity Key 1234567.

meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=Recommendations&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens the **Recommendations** page, which displays the Recommendation records associated with the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey=0&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens a new Reliability Recommendation record, which, when saved, will be linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

 meridium://Reliability/Cost?Page=RecommendationDetail&RecommKey= 1234567&EntyKey=2812175&AnalysisKey=2812175

Opens on the **Recommendation Details** page the Recommendation record with the key 1234567 and linked to the analysis with the Entity Key 2812175.

Action

An operation that can be performed against a piece of equipment, location, or switch. Actions can represent inspections, general maintenance, or specific events that mitigate Risks, such as training or procedures.

Actions can be unique events that happen only once during a simulation period, or they can be repeated at certain times during the simulation period.

Average Total

The average of all the totals across all iterations of a simulation. Average totals are calculated for various types of numeric values in a simulation, such as cost in the <u>Total</u> <u>Cost Trend graph</u> or time in the <u>Resource Time graph</u>.

Confidence Level

A value that indicates the percentage of uncertainty of the Goodness of Fit method. This percentage is usually determined by experience or an industry standard and limits how closely the data must fit the model in order for it to pass the Goodness of Fit test.

Cumulative Operating Time (COT)

The amount of time a piece of equipment or location has been in operation.

Event Log

A text file that stores failure predictions and hypothetical repair scenarios. Event logs are created when you <u>run a Monte Carlo simulation</u>.

Failure

The inability of a piece of equipment to perform its intended function. A failure may involve the complete loss of function, a partial loss of function, or the potential loss of function.
Global Event

A component of a System Reliability Analysis that groups together Actions requiring a system shutdown so that they will be performed at the same time, thereby maximizing the availability of the system.

Goodness of Fit (GOF) Test

A test that determines how well your analysis data fits the calculated data model.

Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test

A Goodness of Fit (GOF) test applied to Reliability Distribution and Probability Distribution Analyses to determine how well the data fits the analytical curve.

Least Squares

A curve-fitting estimation method of fit that relies on linear regression techniques to estimate the parameters for a distribution.

Maximum Likelihood Estimators (MLE)

A curve-fitting estimation method of fit that maximizes the likelihood function for a given population. This method includes a survivor function that estimates changes in reliability as the piece of equipment or location survives beyond a certain age.

Reliability

How likely it is that a piece of equipment will perform its intended function without failure for a given period of time. Reliability is expressed as a percentage and is expressed mathematically as (1 - The Probability of Failure).

Resources

Components in a System Reliability Analysis that represent physical parts or materials, such as spare bearings or seals, or human resources, such as mechanics or technicians, that you may want to use within the analysis.